CHAPTER 2

GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND-USE CATEGORIES

Authors¹

Stephen Michael Ogle (USA), Werner Alexander Kurz (Canada), Carly Green (Australia), Andrea Brandon (New Zealand), Jeffrey Baldock (Australia), Grant Domke (USA), Martin Herold (Netherlands), Martial Bernoux (FAO), Ngonidzashe Chirinda (CGIAR, Zimbabwe), Robert de Ligt (Australia), Sandro Federici (San Marino), Emilio Garcia-Apaza (Bolivia), Giacomo Grassi, (EU), Thomas Gschwantner (Austria), Yasumasa Hirata (Japan), Richard Houghton (USA), Joanna Isobel House (UK), Shigehiro Ishizuka (Japan), Inge Jonckheere (Belgium), Haruni Krisnawati (Indonesia), Aleksi Lehtonen (Finland), Mwangi James Kinyanjui (Kenya), Brian McConkey (Canada), Erik Næsset (Norway), Sini M. Niinistö (Finland), Jean Pierre Ometto (Brazil), Luis Panichelli (Argentina), Thomas Paul (New Zealand), Hans Petersson (Sweden), Shanti Reddy (Australia), Kristiina Regina (Finland), Marcelo Theoto Rocha (Brazil), Joachim Rock (Germany), Maria José Sanz Sanchez (Spain), Carlos Sanquetta (Brazil), Atsushi Sato (Japan), Zoltan Somogyi (Hungary), Aleksandr Trunov (The Russian Federation), Gabriel Vazquez-Amabile (Argentina), Marina Vitullo (Italy), Changke Wang (China), Robert Michael Waterworth (Australia)

Contributing Authors

Max Collett (Australia), Mark Harmon (USA), Johannes Lehmann (USA), Cindy H. Shaw (Canada), Yasuhito Shirato (Japan), Dominic Woolf (USA), Ronald E. McRoberts (USA)

¹ **Biomass and Dead Organic Matter Sections** were prepared by lead authors, A. Brandon, G. Domke, M. Herold, Y. Hirata, E. Garcia-Apaza, T. Gschwantner, R. Houghton, S. Ishizuka, H. Krisnawati, M.J. Kinyanjui, E. Næsset, J.P. Ometto, J. Rock, C. Sanquetta, M.J. Sanz Sanchez, A. Sato, R.E. Malimbwi, S.J. Wakelin and M. Vitullo; and contributing authors, M. Harmon and C.H. Shaw.

Soil Carbon Section was prepared by lead authors, S.M. Ogle, J. Baldock, M. Bernoux, N. Chirinda, S. Ishizuka, A. Lehtonen, B. McConkey, S. Niinistö, K. Regina, A. Trunov, G. Vazquez-Amabile, and C. Wang; and contributing authors, J. Lehmann, Y. Shirato, and D. Woolf.

Additional Guidance on Tier 3 Methods Section was prepared by lead authors C. Green, I. Jonckheere, W. Kurz, R. de Ligt, E. Næsset, S.M. Ogle, L. Panichelli, H. Petersson, M. T. Rocha, and R.M. Waterworth.

Interannual Variability Section was prepared by lead authors W.A. Kurz, S. Federici, G. Grassi, R. Houghton, J.I. House, R. de Ligt, J.P. Ometto, T. Paul, H. Petersson, S. Reddy, M.T. Rocha, Z. Somogyi, and R.M. Waterworth.

Contents

2	(Generio	c met	hodologies applicable to multiple land use categories	2.7
	2.1	Intr	oduc	tion	2.7
	2.2	Inve	entor	y Framework	2.7
	2	2.2.1	0	verview of carbon stock change estimation	2.7
	2	2.2.2	0	verview of non-CO ₂ emission estimation	2.10
	2	2.2.3	С	conversion of C stock changes to CO ₂ emissions	2.13
	2.3	Ger	neric	methods for CO ₂ Emissions and Removals	2.13
	2	2.3.1	С	hange in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)	2.13
		2.3.	.1.1	Land remaining in a land-use category	2.13
		2.3.	.1.2	Land converted to a new land-use category	2.13
		2.3.	.1.3	Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods	2.13
	2	2.3.2	С	hange in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.20
		2.3.	.2.1	Land remaining in a land-use category	2.20
		2.3.	.2.2	Land conversion to a new land-use category	2.25
	2	2.3.3	С	hange in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
		2.3.	.3.1	Soil Organic C estimation methods (land remaining in a land-use category and conversion to a new land use)	1 land 2.29
	2.4	Nor	n-CO	₂ emissions	2.48
	2.5	Ado	dition	al generic guidance for Tier 3 methods	2.57
	2	2.5.1	Ν	Aeasurement-based Tier 3 inventories	2.57
	2	2.5.2	Ν	Iodel-based Tier 3 inventories	2.60
	2.6	Inte	er-anr	nual variability	2.67
	2	2.6.1	D	befinitional issues	2.68
		2.6.	.1.1	Direct and indirect human effects, and natural effects	2.68
		2.6.	.1.2	Natural disturbances	2.68
	2	2.6.2	R aı	elationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emi nd removals from interannual variability	ssions 2.69
	2	2.6.3	0	ptional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances	2.71
	2	2.6.4	R aı	eporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emi nd removals for managed lands	ssions 2.78
An	nex 2	2A.1		Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks	2.81
An	nex 2	2A.2		Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from B Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods	iochar 2.82
Ref	References 2.83			2.83	

Equations

Equation 2.1 Annual carbon stock changes for the AFOLU Sector estimated as the sum of changes in all land-use categories 2.7

Equation 2.2	Annual carbon stock changes for a land-use category as a sum of changes in stratum within the category	n each 2.8
Equation 2.3	Annual carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category as a sum of ch in all pools	anges 2.8
Equation 2.4	Annual carbon stock change in a given pool as a function of gains and losses (Loss Method)	(Gain- 2.10
Equation 2.5	Carbon stock change in a given pool as an annual average difference be estimates at two points in time (Stock-Difference Method)	tween 2.10
Equation 2.6	Non-CO ₂ emissions to the atmosphere	2.11
Equation 2.17	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.21
Equation 2.18	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Gain-Loss Method)	2.22
Equation 2.19	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Stock-Difference M	ethod) 2.23
Equation 2.20	Annual carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter	2.23
Equation 2.21	Annual biomass carbon loss due to mortality	2.24
Equation 2.22	Annual carbon transfer to slash	2.24
Equation 2.23	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter due to land conversion	2.25
Equation 2.24 (Updated)	Annual change in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
Equation 2.25	Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils	2.33
Equation 2.25a	Annual change in biochar carbon stock in mineral soils receiving biochar add	litions 2.41
Equation 2.27	Estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from fire	2.50
Equation 2A.1.1	Estimation of soil organic carbon stocks	2.81

Figures

Figure 2.1	Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flo carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the s	ws of ystem 2.9
Figure 2.2a	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate allometric models to est biomass or carbon stocks in organic matter	timate 2.15
Figure 2.3	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in dead organic matter for a land-use category	ges in 2.21
Figure 2.4	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in mineral soils by land-use category	ges in 2.30
Figure 2.5	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in organic soils by land-use category	ges in 2.31
Figure 2.6	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate greenhous emissions from fire in a land-use category	se gas 2.50
Figure 2.6a	Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and n factors simultaneously affect land-related GHG emissions and removals	atural 2.67
Figure 2.6b	Example of the disaggregation of fire emissions in Australia into natural 'backgr emissions and fires due to human activity	ound' 2.72

Figure 2.6c	Example of the separation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those to predominantly anthropogenic causes and those due to predominantly m disturbances	se due atural 2.74
Figure 2.6d	Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + n disturbance (ND) and area burned	atural 2.75
Figure 2.6e	Time series of managed forest land GHG net emissions and removals	2.77

Tables

Table 2.2 (Updated)	Tier 1 default values for litter and dead wood carbon stocks	2.27
Table 2.3 (Updated)	Default reference condition soil organic carbon stocks (SOC _{REF}) for mineral (Tonnes C ha ⁻¹ in 0-30 cm depth)	soils 2.35
Table 2.4 (Updated)	Fuel (dead organic matter plus live biomass) biomass consumption values (tonne matter ha ⁻¹) for fires in a range of vegetation types	es dry 2.52
Table 2.5	Emission factors (g kg-1 dry matter burnt) for various types of burning	2.54
Table 2.6 (Updated)	Combustion factor values (proportion of prefire fuel biomass consumed) for fire range of vegetation types	s in a 2.55
Table 2.6a (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 measurement based inventories	lier 3 2.60
Table 2.6b (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 model-based inventories	l'ier 3 2.66
Table 2.6c (New)	General Guidance on Whether or Not the estimation method is able to distin between the impact of the individual drivers below on the interannual variabil reported annual emission and removal estimates	guish ity of 2.70

Boxes

Box 2.0a (New)	Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guid	elines 2.11
Box 2.0b (New)	Allometric Definitions	2.14
Box 2.0c (New)	New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning	2.17
Box 2.0d (New)	Remote Sensing Technologies	2.18
Box 2.0e (New)	Using a biomass map for GHG estimation: an example from the Brazilian Ar	nazon 2.19
Box 2.1 (Updated)	Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data v Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices	versus 2.36
Box 2.2a (New)	Using equivalent mass methods to derive mineral soil organic carbon stock c factors	hange 2.40
Box 2.2b (New)	GHG Emission Sources with biochar production	2.42
Box 2.2c (New)	Representing the impact of soil erosion and deposition on soil carbon stock ch	anges 2.43
Box 2.2d (New)	Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods	2.44
Box 2.2e (New)	Consideration of equivalent mass methods within Tier 3 modelling approaches	2.47

Box 2.2f (New)	An example of model calibration, evaluation and improvement through data assimilation 2.62
Box 2.2g (New)	Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement 2.63
Box 2.2h (New)	Examples of Quantification of Model Uncertainty 2.64
Box 2.2i (New)	Australian approach to estimating interannual variability due to natural disturbances 2.73
Box 2.2j (New)	Canada's approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances 2.74
Box 2.2k (New)	Approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances based on the EU legislation 2.76

2 GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND USE CATEGORIES

2.1 INTRODUCTION

No refinement

2.2 INVENTORY FRAMEWORK

This section outlines a systematic approach for estimating carbon stock changes (and associated emissions and removals of carbon dioxide (CO_2) from biomass, dead organic matter, and soils, as well as for estimating non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. General equations representing the level of land-use categories and strata are followed by a short description of processes with more detailed equations for carbon stock changes in specific pools by land-use category. Principles for estimating non- CO_2 emissions and common equations are then given. Specific, operational equations to estimate emissions and removals by processes within a pool and by category, which directly correspond to worksheet calculations, are provided in Sections 2.3 and 2.4.

2.2.1 Overview of carbon stock change estimation

The emissions and removals of CO_2 for the AFOLU Sector, based on changes in ecosystem C stocks, are estimated for each land-use category (including both land remaining in a land-use category as well as land converted to another land use). Carbon stock changes are summarized by Equation 2.1.

EQUATION 2.1 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR THE AFOLU SECTOR ESTIMATED AS THE SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL LAND-USE CATEGORIES

$$\Delta C_{AFOLU} = \Delta C_{FL} + \Delta C_{CL} + \Delta C_{GL} + \Delta C_{WL} + \Delta C_{SL} + \Delta C_{OL}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{AFOLU} = Total annual carbon stock change in the AFOLU sector; tonnes C yr⁻¹

Indices denote the following land-use categories:

AFOLU = Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use

- FL = Forest Land
- CL = Cropland
- GL = Grassland
- WL = Wetlands
- SL = Settlements
- OL = Other Land

For each land-use category, carbon stock changes are estimated for all *strata* or subdivisions of land area (e.g., climate zone, ecotype, soil type, management regime etc., see Chapter 3) chosen for a land-use category (Equation 2.2). Carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by considering carbon cycle processes between the five carbon pools, as defined in Table 1.1 in Chapter 1. The generalized flowchart of the carbon cycle (Figure 2.1) shows all five pools and associated fluxes including inputs to and outputs from the system, as well as all possible transfers between the pools. Overall, carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by adding up changes in all pools as in Equation 2.3. Further, carbon stock changes in soil may be disaggregated as to changes in C stocks in mineral soils and emissions from organic soils. Harvested wood products (HWP) are also included as an additional pool.

EQUATION 2.2 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN EACH STRATUM WITHIN THE CATEGORY

$$\Delta C_{LU} = \sum_{i} \Delta C_{LU_{I}}$$

Where:

$$\Delta C_{LU}$$

= carbon stock changes for a land-use (LU) category as defined in Equation 2.1.

i

= denotes a specific stratum or subdivision within the land-use category (by any combination of species, climatic zone, ecotype, management regime etc., see Chapter 3), i = 1 to n.

EQUATION 2.3 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A STRATUM OF A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL POOLS

$$\Delta C_{LU_i} = \Delta C_{AB} + \Delta C_{BB} + \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LI} + \Delta C_{SO} + \Delta C_{HWP}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{LU_i} = carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category

Subscripts denote the following carbon pools:

AB	= above-ground biomass
BB	= below-ground biomass
DW	= deadwood
LI	= litter
SO	= soils
HWP	= harvested wood products

Estimating changes in carbon pools and fluxes depends on data and model availability, as well as resources and capacity to collect and analyse additional information (See Chapter 1, Section 1.3.3 on key category analysis). Table 1.1 in Chapter 1 outlines which pools are relevant for each land-use category for Tier 1 methods, including cross references to reporting tables. Depending on country circumstances and which tiers are chosen, stock changes may not be estimated for all pools shown in Equation 2.3. Because of limitations to deriving default data sets to support estimation of some stock changes, Tier 1 methods include several simplifying assumptions:

- change in below-ground biomass C stocks are assumed to be zero under Tier 1 (under Tier 2, country-specific data on ratios of below-ground to above-ground biomass can be used to estimate below-ground stock changes);
- under Tier 1, dead wood and litter pools are often lumped together as 'dead organic matter' (see discussion below); and
- dead organic matter stocks are assumed to be zero for non-forest land-use categories under Tier 1. For Forest Land converted to another land use, default values for estimating dead organic matter carbon stocks are provided in Tier 1.

The carbon cycle includes changes in carbon stocks due to both continuous processes (i.e., growth, decay) and discrete events (i.e., disturbances like harvest, fire, insect outbreaks, land-use change and other events). Continuous processes can affect carbon stocks in all areas in each year, while discrete events (i.e., disturbances) cause emissions and redistribute ecosystem carbon in specific areas (i.e., where the disturbance occurs) and in the year of the event.

Disturbances may also have long-lasting effects, such as decay of wind-blown or burnt trees. For practicality, Tier 1 methods assume that all post-disturbance emissions (less removal of harvested wood products) are estimated as part of the disturbance event, i.e., in the year of the disturbance. For example, rather than estimating the decay of dead organic matter left after a disturbance over a period of several years, all post-disturbance emissions are estimated in the year of the event.

Figure 2.1(unchanged) Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flows of carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the system.



Under Tier 1, it is assumed that the average transfer rate into dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) is equal to the average transfer rate out of dead organic matter, so that the net stock change is zero. This assumption means that dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) carbon stocks need not be quantified under Tier 1 for land areas that remain in a land-use category². The rationale for this approach is that dead organic matter stocks, particularly dead wood, are highly variable and site-specific, depending on forest type and age, disturbance history and management. In addition, data on coarse woody debris decomposition rates are scarce and thus it was deemed that globally applicable default factors and uncertainty estimates cannot be developed. Countries experiencing significant changes in forest types or disturbance or management regimes in their forests are encouraged to develop domestic data to estimate the impact from these changes using Tier 2 or 3 methodologies and to report the resulting carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions and removals.

All estimates of changes in carbon stocks, i.e., growth, internal transfers and emissions, are in units of carbon to make all calculations consistent. Data on biomass stocks, increments, harvests, etc. can initially be in units of dry matter that need to be converted to tonnes of carbon for all subsequent calculations. There are two fundamentally different and equally valid approaches to estimating stock changes: 1) the process-based approach, which estimates the net balance of additions to and removals from a carbon stock; and 2) the stock-based approach, which estimates the difference in carbon stocks at two points in time.

Annual carbon stock changes in any pool can be estimated using the process-based approach in Equation 2.4 which sets out the *Gain-Loss Method* that can be applied to all carbon gains or losses. Gains can be attributed to growth (increase of biomass) and to transfer of carbon from another pool (e.g., transfer of carbon from the live biomass carbon pool to the dead organic matter pool due to harvest or natural disturbances). Gains are always marked with a positive (+) sign. Losses can be attributed to transfers of carbon from one pool to another (e.g., the carbon in the

² Emissions from litter C stocks are accounted for under Tier 1 for forest conversion to other land-use.

slash during a harvesting operation is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool), or emissions due to decay, harvest, burning, etc. Losses are always marked with a negative (-) sign.

EQUATION 2.4	
ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGE IN A GIVEN POOL AS A FUNCTION OF GAINS A	ND LOSSES
(GAIN-LOSS METHOD)	
$\Delta C = \Delta C_G - \Delta C_L$	
5 L	

Where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \Delta C & = \mbox{ annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_G & = \mbox{ annual gain of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_L & = \mbox{ annual loss of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \end{array}$

Note that CO_2 removals are transfers from the atmosphere to a pool, whereas CO_2 emissions are transfers from a pool to the atmosphere. Not all transfers involve emissions or removals, since any transfer from one pool to another is a loss from the donor pool but is a gain of equal amount to the receiving pool. For example, a transfer from the above-ground biomass pool to the dead wood pool is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool and a gain of equal size for the dead wood pool, which does not necessarily result in immediate CO_2 emission to the atmosphere (depending on the Tier used).

The method used in Equation 2.4 is called the *Gain-Loss Method*, because it includes all processes that bring about changes in a pool. An alternative stock-based approach is termed the *Stock-Difference Method*, which can be used where carbon stocks in relevant pools are measured at two points in time to assess carbon stock changes, as represented in Equation 2.5.



Where:

 ΔC = annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_{t_1} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_1 , tonnes C

 C_{t_2} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_2 , tonnes C

If the C stock changes are estimated on a per hectare basis, then the value is multiplied by the total area within each stratum to obtain the total stock change estimate for the pool. In some cases, the activity data may be in the form of country totals (e.g., harvested wood) in which case the stock change estimates for that pool are estimated directly from the activity data after applying appropriate factors to convert to units of C mass. When using the Stock-Difference Method for a specific land-use category, it is important to ensure that the area of land in that category at times t_1 and t_2 is identical, to avoid confounding stock change estimates with area changes.

The process method lends itself to modelling approaches using coefficients derived from empirical research data. These will smooth out inter-annual variability to a greater extent than the stock change method which relies on the difference of stock estimates at two points in time. Both methods are valid so long as they are capable of representing actual disturbances as well as continuously varying trends and can be verified by comparison with actual measurements.

2.2.2 Overview of non-CO₂ emission estimation

Non-CO₂ emissions are derived from a variety of sources, including emissions from soils, livestock and manure, and from combustion of biomass, dead wood and litter. In contrast to the way CO₂ emissions are estimated from biomass stock changes, the estimate of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases usually involves an emission rate from a source

directly to the atmosphere. The rate (Equation 2.6) is generally determined by an emission factor for a specific gas (e.g., CH_4 , N_2O) and source category and an area (e.g., for soil or area burnt), population (e.g., for livestock) or mass (e.g., for biomass or manure) that defines the emission source.

EQUATION 2.6 NON-CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere

 $Emission = A \bullet EF$

Where:

Emission = non-CO₂ emissions, tonnes of the non-CO₂ gas

A = activity data relating to the emission source (can be area, animal numbers or mass unit, depending on the source type)

EF = emission factor for a specific gas and source category, tonnes per unit of A

Many of the emissions of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases are either associated with a specific land use (e.g., CH₄ emissions from rice) or are typically estimated from national-level aggregate data (e.g., CH₄ emissions from livestock and N₂O emissions from managed soils). Where an emission source is associated with a single land use, the methodology for that emission is described in the chapter for that specific land-use category (e.g., methane from rice in Chapter 5 on Cropland). Emissions that are generally based on aggregated data are dealt with in separate chapters (e.g., Chapter 10 on livestock-related emissions, and Chapter 11 on N₂O emissions from managed soils and CO₂ emissions from liming and urea applications). This chapter describes only methods to estimate non-CO₂ (and CO₂) emissions from biomass combustion, which can occur in several different land-use categories.

Box 2.0a (New) Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guidelines

The information presented in this Box is for information purposes only

IPCC guidelines have been designed for national GHG inventories (NGHGI). They are, however, often applied, in conjunction with other guidance, to estimate GHG emissions and removals for different situations than those in a NGHGI. These different situations include scales (i.e. to any sub-aggregation of land), time resolution (i.e., on a non-annual basis), length of time series (i.e., for a limited period) and/or for selected carbon pools. Using IPCC guidelines for estimating emissions and removals from sub-aggregations - i.e. projects and activities – can help countries maintain consistency with the NGHGI. However, projects and activities can introduce additional complexities including, but not limited to, system boundaries, double-counting, leakage, and attribution. Moreover, projects and activities may use different definitions, sources of data, data and methods compared to those used for the NGHGI, including different Approaches for land representation and methodological Tiers, impacting the consistency between the two. These need to be considered when applying the IPCC Guidelines outside of a NGHGI (IPCC, 2015), particularly when there is a need for consistency and comparability.

Thus, when using IPCC guidelines for projects and activities the following steps should be considered:

- i) Define the spatial boundaries of the territory impacted by the activity;
- ii) Identify the land-use categories and subcategories of the NGHGI impacted by the activity.
- iii) Identify pools and gases impacted by the activity;
- iv) Identify the time frame (temporal boundaries) of the activity and ensure full reporting of any legacy emissions and removals associated with it³;
- v) Develop estimates by applying methods consistent with IPCC guidance, so ensuring consistency among the results of activities and the trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

³ To deal with the limited time frame of reducing deforestation and forest degradation mitigation activities, reporting methods provided by the GFOI apply the stock difference approach to estimate the net difference between two long-term average C

BOX 2.0A (NEW) (CONTINUED)

CONSISTENCY BETWEEN AFOLU PROJECTS OR ACTIVITIES AND IPCC INVENTORY GUIDELINES

For example, 1) Reducing Emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries (REDD-plus) activities could be identified in the NGHGI as IPCC categories, subcategories, or sums of categories or sub-categories (GFOI, 2016), and relevant IPCC methods applied consistently; 2) The Australian Government has developed a framework as part of the Emissions Reduction Fund⁴ for ensuring consistency in emissions estimation between AFOLU project-level mitigation activities and Australia's NGHGI. This framework includes integrity standards⁵ to ensure emissions estimation methods are consistent with IPCC guidelines, and consequently estimated GHG reductions are consistent with trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

Emissions and removals estimates for activities are likely to apply Approach 2 or 3 and Tier 2 or 3 methods because of the need to prepare GHG estimates that are more disaggregated per activity, e.g. organic farming vs traditional farming or coppice vs high-stand, and per population, e.g. by livestock sub-populations, crop types and forest types. Moreover, stratification of NGHGI categories/subcategories into subdivisions helps avoid double counting of emissions and removals from a single category that is impacted by more than an activity.

Stratification also supports transparency among activity report and NGHGI estimates when the activity does not correspond to an entire NGHGI category. In many cases, activities and projects require tracking of land where they occur through time, e.g. no tillage. In such cases, Approach 3 for land representation is required since it is the only approach that provides the spatially explicit information (either wall-to-wall or from sampling) across time needed to track activities and drivers, and to support estimation of GHG emissions or removals with higher accuracy. Where activities are known to lead to permanent changes or the activity includes management practices that determine temporary changes in the land cover, Approach 2 methods may provide sufficient information to prepare accurate estimates.

Where activity and project data have been collected and analysed consistently with *good practice*, they can be used in the NGHGI either for deriving activity data and/or emission factors, or any other ancillary data used for preparing GHG estimates for the land subject to the activity, or for calibrating the model used in the NGHGI for the same land and/or verifying the outputs of such model. Where data have inconsistencies with those collected for the NGHGI, iterations and cross-checks between NGHGI experts and experts involved in the monitoring of the activity should be done until improvements applied to the activity and/or the NGHGI estimates enable consistency. When using data collected from activities and projects for improving or evaluating information and estimates reported in the NGHGI, it is important to:

- i) Define and report the reference conditions (e.g. climate, soil, management system) for which the data from the activity or project are valid and how it could be used in the NGHGI compilation;
- Determine if the activity or emissions factor data in the project are representative of the national average and, if not, apply methods that ensure the NGHGI is not biased by them, e.g. limiting the use of the data to the land subject to the activity or project only and modifying the data used in the NGHGI to prevent bias
- iii) Define and report the level of variability (heterogeneity) of the data;
- iv) Ensure the data is available and consistently applied for the entire time series.

stocks at a single point in time (i.e. by assuming instantaneous oxidation). This is to allow a complete reporting of total net C stock changes associated with the activities, including lagged emissions and removals.

⁴ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/government/emissions-reduction-fund/publications

⁵ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/emissions-reduction-fund/publications/erf-methods-development

2.2.3 Conversion of C stock changes to CO₂ emissions

For reporting purposes, changes in C stock categories (that involve transfers to the atmosphere) can be converted to units of CO_2 emissions by multiplying the C stock change by -44/12. In cases where a significant amount of the carbon stock change is through emissions of CO and CH₄, then these non-CO₂ carbon emissions should be subtracted from the estimated CO₂ emissions or removals using methods provided for the estimation of these gases. In making these estimates, inventory compilers should assess each category to ensure that this carbon is not already covered by the assumptions and approximations made in estimating CO₂ emissions.

It should also be noted that not every stock change corresponds to an emission. The conversion to CO_2 from C, is based on the ratio of molecular weights (44/12). The change of sign (-) is due to the convention that increases in C stocks, i.e. positive (+) stock changes, represent a removal (or 'negative' emission) from the atmosphere, while decreases in C stocks, i.e. negative (-) stock changes, represent a positive emission to the atmosphere

2.3 GENERIC METHODS FOR CO₂ EMISSIONS AND REMOVALS

No refinement.

2.3.1 Change in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)

No refinement.

2.3.1.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.2 LAND CONVERTED TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.3 Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods

A. USING ALLOMETRIC MODELS FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

This section provides new guidance to inventory compilers on the use of allometric models (see Box 2.0b for definitions) for quantifying volume, biomass and carbon stocks in land uses containing vegetation. Allometric models can be used with country specific data to estimate carbon stocks at the Tier 2 level. Allometric models may also form part of more sophisticated Tier 3 approaches including measurement-based inventories and model-based inventories.

Allometric models quantify the relationships between certain size variables of organisms. Allometric models⁶ can be used to estimate volume, biomass or carbon stocks of individuals, vegetation or forest stands. Allometric models have been developed for a wide range of species, habitats, regions and environmental conditions (e.g. documented in the GlobAllomeTree database (http://www.globallometree.org/; Schepaschenko et al, 2017). Allometric models used for forest tree species are commonly estimated from individual trees through destructive sampling from a population using a sampling design that provides accurate and representative data. As destructive sampling is usually costly and labour intensive or ecologically sensitive, it makes sense to utilize existing allometric models when valid under the respective conditions as outlined below (in the section on the use of allometric models).

⁶ The term "allometric equation" is also used when referencing to the mathematical descriptions of allometric models and relationships. When the parameters are estimated from sample data and/or uncertainty is involved, "model" is the correct term. Although allometric models are used to predict the values of a variable, for practical reasons in the context of these guidelines the term estimates is also used.

BOX 2.0B (NEW) Allometric Definitions

Allometry: The term allometry refers to the proportional relationship between the relative dimensional relationships or growth rates of two size variables and therefore allometric relations allow that one variable can be used to predict the corresponding value of another variable. For example, tree diameter at breast height (DBH) can be used to estimate tree volume or total tree biomass. Allometry can also describe the change of one part of an organism in relation to the change of its body size, either in the same organism (while growing over time), in populations (e.g., tree stands), or between species (e.g. different tree species). These changes follow rules, so the change in proportion between two variables of an organism can be described mathematically.

Allometric model: An allometric model is a formula that quantitatively describes an allometric relationship. The basic form is an equation: y=f(x) where y and x are the dependent and independent variables. Often the equation is in the form of $y = a^*x^b + c$, where a, b and c are parameters (please note: "c" is not identical to the statistical error term " ε "). If "x" is equal to zero (e.g., if height is below breast height when using DBH to estimate tree biomass), then "y" is equal to the parameter "c", noting that biologically "y" is always a positive number. Parameter "a" is the value of y if x is 1 and describes the initial ratio between x and y. The parameter "b" is also called an "allometric parameter" or "allometric constant" and gives the proportionality between the relative increases of "x" and "y" (Fabrika und Pretzsch 2013; Picard et al. 2012). The general form of an allometric model, without intercept (i.e. when "c" = 0), is also often represented in its logarithmic transformation as a linear relationship, $\log(y) = \log(a) + b^*\log(x)$ or $\ln(y) = \ln(a) + b^*\ln(x)$. Other mathematical functions have also been adopted to describe allometric relationships.

This basic model can be augmented by additional terms that include e.g. tree height as a second predictor variable (e.g. Ketterings et al. 2001). Models are usually provided with a residual error term (e.g., $y = f(x) + \varepsilon$), set in the model fitting against the sample data; to consider the residual error, calculated for each model, can be used to assess the uncertainty related to use of the selected model in the estimation process.

The use of allometric models

The choice of appropriate allometric models should be based on several criteria including the availability of country-specific data, the meta-data about the allometric models, the coincidence of data with the models' domain of validity according to the meta-data, and the appropriateness of the allometric model by comparing the estimates to ones obtained with the Tier 1 method (Figure 2.2a). The accuracy of the models may be lower than e.g. available default factors or Biomass Emission Factors (BEFs), so it is *good practice* to choose the method with the higher accuracy. When applying an allometric model for predicting the biomass of a given species or at a given site, data on required variables must be available as e.g. from national forest inventories (Tomppo et al. 2010, Vidal et al. 2016). For woody plant species, these variables commonly include DBH and height, and to lesser extent crown variables such as crown length or crown width. For shrubs or smaller trees and understorey vegetation, diameters nearer to the ground or shoot length may be used, among other variables. Carbon fractions and basic wood density may also be required for some models. Individual tree estimates can then be aggregated up to provide volume, biomass or carbon stock estimates at higher spatial scales (e.g. by plot, region or nation-wide). Tree-level estimates may refer to the whole tree, or individual components like above-ground and below-ground parts, stem, branches and/or foliage. Allometric models may be used within a specified forest stratum, to estimate above-ground and below-ground biomass estimation from direct measurements e.g. forest inventory plots. Allometric models may also be used for non-woody plant biomass estimates. Data collection programmes are often designed to collect the data specifically for this purpose.

Allometries are influenced by an individual's growing conditions and size classes, so in each case the allometric models developed will have a limited domain of validity. When selecting an appropriate allometric model, check the associated metadata supplied. Conditions such as:

- Ecoregion, geographic range, environmental factors (e.g., ecosystem, climatic or soil types),
- Representativeness of the model in consideration of individual size range and sampled population,
- Plant components estimated (e.g., above-ground, below-ground, stem, branches, foliage),
- Species functional traits (e.g., wood density and tree architecture),
- Land or crop management practices, current and historic,

should be assessed for their suitability (Henry et al. 2011; Rock 2007; Vieilledent et al. 2012) as well as sample size and accuracy assessment. The use of existing allometric models beyond the range they were developed for may result in a lack of accuracy (e.g. Mugasha et al 2016; Nam et al, 2016), depending on the degree to which external variables control the partitioning of biomass among components and the geometric relationships of the species. The applicability of a model can also be tested using a representative data set (e.g. Paul et al, 2016; Perez-Cruzado et al, 2015; Youkhana et al 2017). The accuracy of the allometric model should be assessed by evaluating the related statistical indicators.



Generalized and site or species-specific allometric models have been developed for use in different circumstances. While species-specific models will give more accurate estimates for the respective tree species (all other aspects being the same as the ones for which the model was developed) (Henry et al. 2011), generalized models may be

better suited in regions with a very large diversity of tree species, where models are lacking for a large proportion of species. The use of species-specific models however is encouraged for the species for which specific models and appropriate input data are available. For natural forests, which may contain many different species, application of species-specific allometric models may be impractical; in this case, a model specific for the ecosystem type can be used (Krisnawati et al, 2012). When species-specific or ecosystem-specific models are not available, regionally relevant allometric models can be applied (Chave et al., 2004). Generic models developed based on a large number of sample trees across landscapes tend to be more reliable than locally developed models if these are based on only a small number of individuals (Chave et al 2005; Chave et al 2014; Paul et al, 2016).

Stand level models and their equations

When individual or species specific allometric models for biomass or carbon stocks are not appropriate, stand level allometric models, which may include canopy height, basal area and community age as predictor variables, may be applicable to estimate biomass parameters. Stand-level allometric models using canopy height estimate carbon stocks per unit area based on the assumption that canopy height is directly proportional to biomass (Mascaro et al, 2011; Saatchi et al, 2011). Information on canopy height can be predicted from ground-based inventory or by remote sensing such as airborne Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR), polarimetric interferometry SAR or airborne imagery. Auxiliary information such as digital elevation models are necessary to predict canopy height from airborne and satellite-borne imagery because only canopy surface elevation can be predicted from them. The accuracy of carbon stock estimation from canopy height depends on the number of field measurement plots used to estimate the relationship between canopy height and carbon stocks. Basal area is an important parameter to understand stand characteristics and it is used in the model to estimate stand volume or stand biomass. Basal area is estimated easily in the field using simple equipment. When basal area is used in the stand-level model to estimate biomass or carbon stocks, mean tree height is also needed in the model (Lang et al, 2016; Mensah et al, 2016). The stand-level allometric model estimated from community age estimates carbon stocks per unit area by assuming that community biomass increases monotonically as the forest ages, and then drawing a saturation curve for community age (Inoue et al, 2010). It is applicable where land use is rotated at fixed intervals, so that a mosaic of communities of different ages exists.

Tier 3 methods

The hierarchical tier structure implies that use of higher tiers (Tier 2 or Tier 3) usually results in an increased accuracy of the method and/or emissions factor and other parameters used in the estimation of the emissions and removals. Tier 3 approaches for biomass carbon stock change estimation allow for a variety of methods, including measurement-based forest inventories. Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories require detailed national forest inventories containing data on growing stock, and, ideally, repeated measurements from which periodic increments can be estimated. In some circumstances these data are used directly in empirical models while in other cases they are supplemented with allometric models (for example, Chambers *et al.* (2001) and Baker *et al.* (2004) for the Amazon; Seiler et al. (2014) for tropical forest of Bolivia, Jenkins et al. (2004) and Kurz and Apps (2006) for North America; and Zianis *et al.* (2005) for Europe, Paul et al. (2016) for Australia, Luo et al. (2014) for China, Youkhana et al 2017 for tropical grasses), calibrated to national circumstances that allow for direct estimation of biomass increment or growth. Model-based Tier 3 inventories build on model-specific input data and may contain allometric models as empirical model components. Additional information related to the use of higher Tier methods can be found in Section 2.5.

Uncertainty

Sources of uncertainty when using allometric models include:

- 1. Model-related uncertainty, i.e. the uncertainty related to the model used, stemming from the estimation of the parameters of this model and residual variability around model;
- 2. Sampling variability and measurement errors in input data (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information);
- 3. The uncertainty of transferring the model to trees not used for estimation of the parameters (lack of representativeness) (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information).

Magnitudes of the effects of the first and second sources should be reported with the model, the latter can be reduced by careful selection of models.

Recalculations

Recalculations of C stocks may be necessary, if new and/or better data or methodology becomes available. When BEF's are replaced with parameters that are estimated using allometries, recalculations across the time series will be required. The replacement of generalised models with species-specific models also may require recalculations. It should be noted that allometry can change over time (Lopez-Serrano et al. 2005), for example, if the thinning regime in a plantation forest is changed. This may influence the ratio of crown biomass / DBH and, over time, the trees in this plantation may show different allometric relationships at two distant points in time. An updated

allometric model would therefore be required in order to reflect the impact of the changes. In this case, to ensure time series consistency, apply the guidance provided in Volume 1 Chapter 5 and in Volume 4, Chapter 4 in relation to the Forest Land category

New technologies

Remotely sensed data from airborne or terrestrial platforms can be useful sources of information for deriving variables relevant for constructing and validating allometric models. They can improve measurements of height, volume and crown dimensions of individual trees that are difficult to collect with traditional ground-based approaches, particularly in dense and complex canopies. They can underpin a new generation of allometric models which have tree height and crown size as explanatory variables (Jucker et al, 2017). Of particular potential is terrestrial laser scanning, offering a means to collect data on tree volume in a non-destructive manner (see Box 2.0c).

Box 2.0c (New) New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning

Terrestrial laser scanning is a ground-based active remote sensing technique which can be used to derive 3D vegetation structure, and compute key variables such as tree height, stem diameter, crown dimensions and tree volume for above-ground biomass predictions and to develop and validate allometric models (Calders et al., 2015). These under-canopy terrestrial laser systems emit millions of laser pulses that reflect off solid objects such as trunks, branches and leaves and form 3D point clouds. Individual trees can be segmented from plot-scale point cloud data and individual tree point clouds can then be used to reconstruct the woody elements of a tree.

Terrestrial laser scanning provides non-destructive and highly detailed measurements independent of the size and shape of a tree that are otherwise only available from destructive methods (Disney et al., 2018). Aboveground biomass calculated from the point cloud data is independent of allometry and with quantifiable accuracy. Many trees can be sampled and measured in an efficient manner and can provide most of the fundamental data needed to develop new or test the usefulness of existing allometric models for NGHGIs. Terrestrial laser scanning has proven useful for large and complex tropical trees (Gonzalez de Tanago et al., 2018). Terrestrial laser scanners cannot measure belowground or look inside trees, i.e. they do not provide information on wood density or whether a tree is hollow.

B. USING ABOVEGROUND BIOMASS DENSITY MAP CONSTRUCTED FROM REMOTELY SENSED DATA FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

Biomass density maps are wall-to-wall, polygon- or pixel-based predictions of above-ground biomass for woody plants and trees.

Consideration when developing biomass density maps

Biomass density maps are constructed by combining remotely sensed data (see Box 2.0d) and field observations. They have been developed at national scales (e.g., Avitabile et al., 2012) as well as for continental to global scales (e.g., Baccini et al., 2012; Saatchi et al., 2011, Avitabile et al., 2016). The characteristics and usefulness of biomass density maps for NGHGIs depend on multiple factors:

- 1. The definitions for forest and aboveground woody biomass used to produce the map and how this definition relates to the one used in the NGHGI.
- 2. The type of remotely sensed data sources in terms of spatial resolution, temporal coverage and the degree to which the signal responds to aboveground biomass (sensitivity). The response depends on the type and biomass ranges of the woody plants. Different remote sensing technologies have varying abilities for predicting biomass for different types of woody plants (i.e. boreal versus tropics) and combining remotely sensed data from multiple sources can increase sensitivity and the resulting accuracy of biomass density predictions.
- 3. The method used to construct the map. Such methods can range from simple interpolation of field estimates of biomass density using spatial covariates to more complex modelling of above-ground woody biomass using field estimates and observed remotely sensed signals.
- 4. The availability and reliability of biomass estimates obtained from field data needed to produce and validate the biomass density map. Combining co-located remotely sensed data and field observations can be challenging because of the size and shape of the primary elements (i.e. field plot size and shape versus geometric resolution of remotely sensed data), the timing of their acquisition, accuracy of geolocations, and

differences in the variables and parameters that are measured and estimated in the field and predicted from the remotely sensed data.

5. The degree to which map uncertainty is characterized and the manner in which it is used to assess bias and precision for large area estimates in support of NGHGIs (see Volume IV, Chapter 3).

BOX 2.0D (NEW) Remote Sensing Technologies

Optical, Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) and Light Detection and Ranging (Lidar) sensors are available currently as remote sensing data sources for producing biomass density maps. Data from optical satellite sensors are classified into three types on the basis of their spatial resolution; coarse resolution data with a pixel size greater than about 250 m (e.g., MODIS), medium resolution data with a pixel size of 10-80 m (e.g., Landsat and Sentinel 1 and 2), and fine resolution data with a pixel size smaller than 10 m (e.g., Rapideye or SPOT and ALOS-2).

SAR and LiDAR are active sensors available as air borne and space borne instruments whose derived metrics are used to predict height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees. SAR emits microwave pulses obliquely and measures attributes of the pulses that are reflected back from the Earth's surface towards the sensor. In forest land, emitted pulses reflect from the ground, or canopy or trunk of woody plants and trees. Using the strength of the signal of the reflected pulses, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted as demonstrated for satellite data from ALOS-PALSAR and Sentinel 1 (Santoro and Cartus, 2018). LiDAR emits laser pulses and measures the traveling time from the sensor to the target which can be converted to distance. When the LiDAR emitter is aimed at woody plants and trees, these laser pulses can be reflected by the woody components, the leaves within the canopy, or the ground surface. Using the difference of a laser pulse reflected from canopy and ground surface, the height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted (Næsset 1997a,b, Lim et al 2003). Starting in 2019, a series of targeted space-based missions will improve the capabilities for forest biomass predictions from LiDAR (e.g. GEDI, ICESAT-2) and SAR (e.g. BIOMASS, NISAR), that might be found useful for national purposes (Herold et al. 2019).

Besides mapping biomass density, there are evolving approaches that monitor changes in biomass density through time directly from remotely sensed data (Baccini et al., 2017). Such approaches require consistent measurements and estimates, and such consistency can be challenging when different satellite data sources and different ways of processing and analysing the data are used. In principle, the direct prediction of wall-to-wall biomass change has the advantage of including all detectable change events, including those occurring in forest remaining forest (i.e., forest degradation and regrowth) which are not considered when a single biomass map is combined with activity data characterizing land use change. However, the sensitivity of the remotely sensed data to subtle biomass changes needs to be carefully evaluated. The mapped biomass change might also not distinguish between anthropogenic or natural causes and not fully characterize all components of the carbon emissions. For example, some carbon loss may have accumulated as dead organic matter (e.g., dead wood or litter), and additional data are usually required to estimate the fate of that initial biomass (e.g., burned, left on site, and removed from the site).

Because above-ground woody biomass is the variable predicted from remotely sensed data, additional information such as country-specific data for root-to-shoot ratios are needed to estimate carbon stocks in other pools.

Guidance on the use of biomass density maps for national GHG inventories

Biomass density maps can be used to enhance the stratification of ground carbon inventories, to improve the estimation of carbon emissions by increasing data density in under-sampled or inaccessible areas, and as an independent data source for verification purposes (provided that the field data were not used to predict the biomass density maps used for stratification).

Use of biomass maps for the estimation of carbon emissions at Tier 2 and Tier 3 levels can be achieved in several ways:

- 1. Combination with activity data where a biomass density map provides the base to estimate emission factors. Such analyses require consistency among the activity data and biomass maps concerning definitions, geolocation, and spatial and temporal data characteristics. The use of regionally aggregated emission factor analysis (i.e., using average estimates for different forest types, or change trajectories) helps to reduce inherent pixel-level uncertainties in biomass map data for national-scale estimations. Countries have used such an approach to increase data density in areas under-sampled by ground inventories (see Box 2.0e).
- 2. Estimate biomass change directly from multi-temporal biomass density maps. Such an approach would provide an assessment of carbon stock changes in above-ground biomass from land use change and, in

particular, it would also include changes within forests remaining forests such as degradation and regrowth, management and harvest, and natural disturbances. Such analysis requires consistent and well-calibrated biomass density maps using ground and remotely sensed data to accurately estimate biomass changes; a quality requirement that has so far not been achieved for the NGHGIs at this stage. Improvements in both the field estimates of biomass change and remote sensing technologies and analysis in the coming years can lead to such approaches becoming more efficient and accurate for NGHGI purposes.

3. Biomass density maps can be integrated with remote sensing-assisted, time-series of land change and/or with Tier 3 models to localize emissions estimates. This way the biomass map data can be linked to land and carbon evolution over time that better reflect the complexity of forest-related carbon fluxes. Critical for this type of application is the consistency among the various data sources and models concerning definitions (forest, biomass pools), and, spatial and temporal data characteristics. Map unit uncertainties in biomass maps propagate to larger area estimates and can lead to substantial uncertainties in national emissions estimation if not properly considered.

The application of such approaches requires maps well-calibrated for national circumstances. Many available large-area biomass maps, such as global biomass maps, might not be consistent with national definitions of forest and/or biomass pools, and often exhibit large systematic errors in the estimation of carbon stock and changes for national and local assessments (Avitabile et al., 2016). Since countries may have national products, including biomass maps, large-area biomass maps can be useful for the purpose of independent comparison and verification. Depending on how a map is produced and how it is used to enhance NGHGIs, additional metadata on the applied models and procedures used to produce the map, such as for example the covariance matrix of model parameters of a model that was used to generate the map (see Volume 1, Chapter 6, section 6.1.4.2), may be required for characterization and reporting of uncertainty in a fully compliant way, particularly for application to country-specific circumstances.

BOX 2.0E (NEW)

USING A BIOMASS MAP FOR GHG ESTIMATION: AN EXAMPLE FROM THE BRAZILIAN AMAZON

Brazil is applying a methodology for estimating forest biomass combining data from airborne LiDAR, satellite remote sensing and forest inventories. The aim for using the biomass map for the NGHGI is to provide coverage over the whole Amazon where the availability and quality of ground data varies. Deforestation and associated land use change in the Amazon are heterogeneous and patchy. Related estimates of carbon emissions carry some level of uncertainty unless this spatial variability in both types of change and biomass variability is captured.

The methodology to estimate the biomass was based on 1,000 LiDAR transects randomly distributed across 3.5 million km² of the Amazon forests. Aboveground biomass is estimated at three different levels. At field plot level (first level), the data are used to validate the biomass estimated by LiDAR (second level) by adopting and using the models and data provided by Chave et al 2014 and Longo et al 2016. A total of 407 field plots were used for this validation. At the third level the biomass was estimated by extrapolating the biomass to the Brazilian Amazon Biome by the use of MODIS vegetation index, Shuttle Radar Topography Mission data, precipitation data from the Tropical Rainfall Measuring Mission and Synthetic Aperture Radar data of the Phased Array type L-band Synthetic Aperture Radar, soil and vegetation maps. A nonparametric regression method (Random Forest) is used for correlating the above ground biomass within the LiDAR transects to a list of variables, and then used for the extrapolation of the biomass to the region. The coefficient of determination and the root mean squared error between the third level extrapolated biomass data and the LiDAR data were R2=0.7485 and RMSE=27.18 MgCha⁻¹, respectively. In this process, the SRTM elevation data were the most important variable for the biomass extrapolation process, followed by the TRMM precipitation data and Enhanced Vegetation Index data. The estimated biomass map uncertainty is calculated by propagating the uncertainties through the different levels of biomass estimation, i.e., field plots, LiDAR and satellite (Longo et al 2016). This process allows us to obtain total uncertainty estimates for each pixel in the final biomass map.



2.3.2 Change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter

No refinement in Introduction.

2.3.2.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

The Tier 1 assumption for both dead wood and litter pools (see table 1.1 for definitions) for all land-use categories is that their stocks are not changing over time if the land remains within the same land-use category. Thus, the carbon in biomass killed during a disturbance or management event (less removal of harvested wood products) is assumed to be released entirely to the atmosphere in the year of the event. This is equivalent to the assumption that the carbon in non-merchantable and non-commercial components that are transferred to dead organic matter is equal to the amount of carbon released from dead organic matter to the atmosphere through decomposition and oxidation. Countries can use higher tier methods to estimate the carbon dynamics of dead organic matter. This section describes estimation methods if Tier 2 (or 3) methods are used.

Countries that use Tier 1 methods to estimate dead organic matter (DOM) pools in land remaining in the same land-use category, report zero changes in carbon stocks or carbon emissions from those pools. Following this rule, CO₂ emissions resulting from the combustion of dead organic matter during fire are not reported, nor are the increases in dead organic matter carbon stocks in the years following fire. However, emissions of non-CO₂ gases from burning of DOM pools are reported. Tier 2 methods for estimation of carbon stock changes in DOM pools calculate the changes in dead wood and litter carbon pools (Equation 2.17). Two methods can be used: either track inputs and outputs (the *Gain-Loss Method*, Equation 2.18) or estimate the difference in DOM pools at two points in time (*Stock-Difference Method*, Equation 2.19). These estimates require either detailed inventories that include repeated measurements of dead wood and litter pools, or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics. It is *good practice* to ensure that such models are tested against field measurements and are documented. Figure 2.3 provides the decision tree for identification of the appropriate tier to estimate changes in carbon stocks in dead organic matter.





Note:

1: See Volume 1 Chapter 4 "Methodological Choice and Identification of key Categories" (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees

2: The two methods are defined in Equations 2.18 and 2.19, respectively.

Equation 2.17 summarizes the calculation to estimate the annual changes in carbon stock in DOM pools:

EQUATION 2.17
ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD ORGANIC MATTER
$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LT}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter (includes dead wood and litter), tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{DW} = change in carbon stocks in dead wood, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{LT} = change in carbon stocks in litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

The changes in carbon stocks in the dead wood and litter pools for an area remaining in a land-use category between inventories can be estimated using two methods, described in Equation 2.18 and Equation 2.19. The same equation is used for dead wood and litter pools, but their values are calculated separately.



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in the dead wood/litter pool, tonnes C yr
Α	= area of managed land, ha
DOM _{in}	= average annual transfer of biomass into the dead wood/litter pool due to annual processes and disturbances, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1} yr ⁻¹ (see next Section for further details).
DOM _{out}	= average annual decay and disturbance carbon loss out of dead wood or litter pool, tonnes d.m. $ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.) ^{-1}

The net balance of DOM pools specified in Equation 2.18, requires the estimation of both the inputs and outputs from annual processes (litterfall and decomposition) and the inputs and losses associated with disturbances. In practice, therefore, Tier 2 and Tier 3 approaches require estimates of the transfer and decay rates as well as activity data on harvesting and disturbances and their impacts on DOM pool dynamics. Note that the biomass inputs into DOM pools used in Equation 2.18 are a subset of the biomass losses estimated in Equation 2.7. The biomass losses in Equation 2.7 contain additional biomass that is removed from the site through harvest or lost to the atmosphere, in the case of fire.

The method chosen depends on available data and will likely be coordinated with the method chosen for biomass carbon stocks. Transfers into and out of a dead wood or litter pool for Equation 2.18 may be difficult to estimate. The stock difference method described in Equation 2.19 can be used by countries with forest inventory data that include DOM pool information, other survey data sampled according to the principles set out in Annex 3A.3 (Sampling) in Chapter 3, and/or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics.

When the gain – loss method is chosen, inventory measurements may provide estimates for DOM stocks. Alternatively, relevant information on transfers out of the litter and dead wood pools through decomposition can be found in the literature. Care must be taken not to confound decomposition flow "rates" and decomposition "rate-constants" (e.g., k's) when DOM_{out} is estimated. DOM_{out} using the second approach is the product of the rate-constant describing the proportion lost per year and the stock of DOM (e.g., DOM_{out} = k *DOM). One should be aware that decomposition rate-constants describe total losses and not just those via respiration. The fate of leached and fragmented carbon is not well understood; much of the material is likely respired but whether this is slower or faster than the source material is highly variable. Negative exponential decay models are commonly used to determine the decomposition rate-constants that characterize the volume, mass, or density loss in dead wood and litter over time (Cook et al. 2016, Harmon et al. 2000, Russell et al. 2014). While models to predict volume, biomass, or density loss are relatively simple, the decomposition rate-constants may vary substantially. The decomposition of dead wood and litter mass is driven by many factors including: woodiness (i.e., wood and bark versus foliage); position (i.e., standing versus downed dead wood); species of the material decomposing; state of decomposition (i.e., fresh versus highly decomposed) and decomposers present (e.g., the presence of termites and/or soil biota); climate under the canopy (for example condition by openness of the canopy) (Lavelle et al., 1993; Hattenschwiler et al., 2005, Harmon et al. 2011, García-Palacios et al., 2013, Russell et al., 2014, Filser et al. 2016, Chertov et al. 2017, Hu et al., 2017, Kornarnov et al. 2017), among others. Having specific information on these attributes will help to assign a specific decomposition constant to a particular DOM stock (Rock et al. 2008).



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
A	= area of managed land, ha
DOM_{t_1}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_1 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1}
DOM_{t_2}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_2 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha ⁻¹
$\mathbf{T} = (\mathbf{t}_2 - \mathbf{t}_1)$	= time period between time of the second stock estimate and the first stock estimate, yr
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter (default for litter = 0.37 (Smith & Heath 2002), default for dead wood (temperate species) = 0.5 tonne C (tonne d.m.) ⁻¹

Note that whenever the stock change method is used (e.g., in Equation 2.19), the area used in the carbon stock calculations at times t_1 and t_2 must be identical. If the area is not identical then changes in area will confound the estimates of carbon stocks and stock changes. It is *good practice* to use the area at the end of the inventory period (t_2) to define the area of land remaining in the land-use category. The stock changes on all areas that change land-use category between t_1 and t_2 are estimated in the new land-use category, as described in the sections on land converted to a new land category.

INPUT OF BIOMASS TO DEAD ORGANIC MATTER

Whenever a tree is felled, non-merchantable and non-commercial components (such as tops, branches, leaves, roots, and non-commercial trees) are left on the ground and transferred to dead organic matter pools. In addition, annual mortality can add substantial amounts of dead wood to that pool. For Tier 1 methods, the assumption is that the carbon contained in all biomass components that are transferred to dead organic matter pools will be released in the year of the transfer, whether from annual processes (litterfall and tree mortality), land management activities, fuelwood gathering, or disturbances. For estimation procedures based on higher Tiers, it is necessary to estimate the amount of biomass carbon that is transferred to dead organic matter. The quantity of biomass transferred to DOM is estimated using Equation 2.20.



Where:

- DOM_{in} = total carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter, tonnes C yr⁻¹
- $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.21)

 L_{slash} = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equations 2.22)

 $L_{disturbance}$ = annual biomass carbon loss resulting from disturbances, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.14)

 f_{BLol} = fraction of biomass left to decay on the ground (transferred to dead organic matter) from loss due to disturbance. As shown in Table 2.1, the disturbance losses from the biomass pool are partitioned into the fractions that are added to dead wood (cell B in Table 2.1) and to litter (cell C), are released to the atmosphere in the case of fire (cell F) and, if salvage follows the disturbance, transferred to HWP (cell E).

Note: If root biomass increments are counted in Equation 2.10, then root biomass losses must also be counted in Equations 2.20, and 2.22.

Examples of the terms on the right-hand side of Equation 2.20 are obtained as follows:

Transfers to dead organic matter from mortality, L_{mortality}

Mortality is caused by competition during stand development, age, diseases, and other processes that are not included as disturbances. Mortality cannot be neglected when using higher Tier estimation methods. In extensively managed stands without periodic partial cuts, mortality from competition during the stem exclusion phase, may represent 30-50 percent of total productivity of a stand during its lifetime. In regularly tended stands, additions to the dead organic matter pool from mortality may be negligible because partial cuts extract forest biomass that would otherwise be lost to mortality and transferred to dead organic matter pools. Available data for increment will normally report net annual increment, which is defined as net of losses from mortality. Since in this text, net annual growth is used as a basis to estimate biomass gains, mortality must not be subtracted again as a loss from biomass pools. Mortality must, however, be counted as an addition to the dead wood pool for Tier 2 and Tier 3 methods.

The equation for estimating mortality is provided in Equation 2.21:



Where:

 $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹

- A = area of land remaining in the same land use, ha
- G_W = above-ground biomass growth, tonnes d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (see Equation 2.10)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹
- m = mortality rate expressed as a fraction of above-ground biomass growth

When data on mortality rates are expressed as proportion of growing stock volume, then the term Gw in Equation 2.21 should be replaced with growing stock volume to estimate annual transfer to DOM pools from mortality.

Mortality rates differ between stages of stand development and are highest during the stem exclusion phase of stand development. They also differ with stocking level, forest type, management intensity and disturbance history. Thus, providing default values for an entire climatic zone is not justified because the variation within a zone will be much larger than the variation between zones.

Annual carbon transfer to slash, Lslash

This involves estimating the quantity of slash left after wood removal or fuelwood removal and transfer of biomass from total annual carbon loss due to wood harvest (Equation 2.12). The estimate for logging slash is given in Equation 2.22 and which is derived from Equation 2.12 as explained below:



Where:

L _{slash}	= annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$, including dead roots, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$
Н	= annual wood harvest (wood or fuelwood removal), m ³ yr ⁻¹
BCEF _R	= biomass conversion and expansion factors applicable to wood removals, which transform merchantable volume of wood removal into above-ground biomass removals, tonnes biomass removal (m^3 of removals) ⁻¹ . If BCEF _R values are not available and if BEF and Density values are separately estimated then the following conversion can be used:

$$BCEF_R = BEF_R \bullet D$$

- \circ D is basic wood density, tonnes d.m. m⁻³
- Biomass Expansion Factors (BEF_R) expand merchantable wood removals to total aboveground biomass volume to account for non-merchantable components of the tree, stand and forest. BEF_R is dimensionless.
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass, in tonne d.m. below-ground biomass (tonne d.m. above-ground biomass)⁻¹. R must be set to zero if root biomass increment is not included in Equation 2.10 (Tier 1)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹

Fuelwood gathering that involves the removal of live tree parts does not generate any additional input of biomass to dead organic matter pools and is not further addressed here.

Inventories using higher Tier methods can also estimate the amount of logging slash remaining after harvest by defining the proportion of above-ground biomass that is left after harvest (enter these proportions in cells B and C of Table 2.2 for harvest disturbance) and by using the approach defined in Equation 2.14. In this approach, activity data for the area harvested would also be required.

2.3.2.2 LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

The reporting convention is that all carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions associated with a land-use change be reported in the new land-use category. For example, in the case of conversion of Forest Land to Cropland, both the carbon stock changes associated with the clearing of the forest as well as any subsequent carbon stock changes that result from the conversion are reported under the Cropland category.

The Tier 1 assumption is that DOM pools in non-forest land categories after the conversion are zero, i.e., they contain no carbon. The Tier 1 assumption for land converted from forest to another land-use category is that all DOM carbon losses occur in the year of land-use conversion. Conversely, conversion to Forest Land results in build-up of litter and dead wood carbon pools starting from zero carbon in those pools. DOM carbon gains on land converted to forest occur linearly, starting from zero, over a transition period (default assumption is 20 years). This default period may be appropriate for litter carbon stocks, but in temperate and boreal regions it is probably too short for dead wood carbon stocks. Countries that use higher Tier methods can accommodate longer transition periods by subdividing the remaining category to accommodate strata that are in the later stages of transition.

The estimation of carbon stock changes during transition periods following land-use conversion requires that annual cohorts of the area subject to land-use change be tracked for the duration of the transition period. For example, DOM stocks are assumed to increase for 20 years after conversion to Forest Land. After 20 years, the area converted enters the category *Forest Land Remaining Forest Land*, and no further DOM changes are assumed, if a Tier 1 approach is applied. Under Tier 2 and 3, the period of conversion can be varied depending on vegetation and other factors that determine the time required for litter and dead wood pools to reach steady state.

Higher Tier estimation methods can use non-zero estimates of litter and dead wood pools in the appropriate landuse categories or subcategories. For example, settlements and agro-forestry systems can contain some litter and dead wood pools, but because management, site conditions, and many other factors influence the pool sizes, no global default values can be provided here. Higher Tier methods may also estimate the details of dead organic matter inputs and outputs associated with the land-use change.

The conceptual approach to estimating changes in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter pools is to estimate the difference in C stocks in the old and new land-use categories and to apply this change in the year of the conversion (carbon losses), or to distribute it uniformly over the length of the transition period (carbon gains) Equation 2.23:

EQUATION 2.23 ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD WOOD AND LITTER DUE TO LAND CONVERSION

$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \frac{(C_n - C_o) \bullet A_{on}}{T_{on}}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_o = dead wood/litter stock, under the old land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹

- C_n = dead wood/litter stock, under the new land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹
- A_{on} = area undergoing conversion from old to new land-use category, ha
- T_{on} = time period of the transition from old to new land-use category, yr. The Tier 1 default is 20 years for carbon stock increases and 1 year for carbon losses.

Inventories using a Tier 1 method assume that all carbon contained in biomass killed during a land-use conversion event (less harvested products that are removed) is emitted directly to the atmosphere and none is added to dead wood and litter pools. Tier 1 methods also assume that dead wood and litter pool carbon losses occur entirely in the year of the transition.

Countries using higher Tier methods can modify C_o in Equation 2.23 by first accounting for the immediate effects of the land-use conversion in the year of the event. In this case, they would add to C_o the carbon from biomass killed and transferred to the dead wood and litter pools and remove from C_o any carbon released from dead wood and litter pools, e.g., during slash burning. In that case C_o in Equation 2.23 would represent the dead wood or litter carbon stocks immediately after the land-use conversion. C_o will transit to C_n over the transition period, using linear or more complex dynamics. A disturbance matrix (Table 2.1) can be defined to account for the pool transitions and releases during the land-use conversion, including the additions and removals to C_o .

Countries using a Tier 1 approach can apply the Tier 1 default carbon stock estimates for litter, and if available dead wood pools, provided in Table 2.2, but should recognize that these are broad-scale estimates with considerable uncertainty when applied at the country level. Table 2.2 is incomplete because of the paucity of published data. A review of the literature has identified several problems. The IPCC definitions of dead organic matter carbon stocks include litter and dead wood. The litter pool contains all litter plus fine woody debris up to a diameter limit of 10 cm (see Chapter 1, Table 1.1). Published litter data generally do not include the fine woody debris component, so the litter values in Table 2.2 are incomplete.

There are numerous published studies of coarse woody debris (Harmon and Hua, 1991; Karjalainen and Kuuluvainen, 2002) and a few review papers (e.g., Harmon *et al.*, 1986), and but to date only two studies are found to provide regional dead wood carbon pool estimates that are based on sample plot data. Krankina *et al.* (2002) included several regions in Russia and reported coarse woody debris (> 10 cm diameter) estimates of 2 to 7 Mg C ha⁻¹. Cooms *et al.* (2002) reported regional carbon pools based on a statistical sample design for a small region in New Zealand. Regional compilations for Canada (Shaw *et al.*, 2005) provide estimates of litter carbon pools based on a compilation of statistically non-representative sample plots, but do not include estimates of dead wood pools. Review papers such as Harmon *et al.* (1986) compile a number of estimates from the literature. For example, their Table 5 lists a range of coarse woody debris values for temperate deciduous forests of 11 – 38 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹ and for temperate coniferous forests of 10 - 511 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹. It is, however, statistically invalid to calculate a mean from these compilations as they are not representative samples of the dead wood pools in a region.

While it is the intent of these IPCC Guidelines to provide default values for all variables used in Tier 1 methodologies, it is currently not feasible to provide estimates of regional defaults values for litter (including fine woody debris < 10 cm diameter) and dead wood (> 10 cm diameter) carbon stocks. Litter pool estimates (excluding fine woody debris) are provided in Table 2.2. Tier 1 methodology only requires the estimates in Table 2.2 for lands converted from Forest Land to any other land-use category (carbon losses) and for lands converted to Forest Land (carbon gains). Tier 1 methods assume that litter and dead wood pools are zero in all non-forest categories and therefore transitions between non-forest categories involve no carbon stock changes in these two pools.

Table 2.2 (Updated) Tire 1 default values for litter and dead wood carbon stocks								
	Forest type							
	Broadleaf	deciduous	Needleleaf	evergreen	All vegetat	ion types	References ²	
Climate ¹	Litter carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)							
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max		
Boreal coniferous forest	19.1	4.0-38.7	40.3	4.0-117.4	31.4	4.0-117.4	93, 98, 99, 100, 101	
Boreal tundra woodland	29.3	23.7-33.7	67.4	23.7-85.1	49.5	23.7-85.1	100, 101	
Polar	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.	
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.	
Subtropical humid forest	5.6	4.4-8.1	6.8	4.7-11.6	8.7	1.2-24.0	6, 7, 44, 93, 98, 99, 103	
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	
Temperate continental forest	23.9	4.6-64.4	66.3	6.0-279.1	47.8	4.6-279.1	93, 98, 99, 100, 101	
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	
Temperate mountain system	3.4	n.a.	3.9	n.a.	3.7	3.4-3.9	98	
Temperate oceanic forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.9	n.a.	15	
Temperate steppe	36.9	7.6-98.8	26.4	7.1-43.0	28.7	3.8-98.8	97, 98, 100, 101	
Tropical dry forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.4	2.1-2.7	11	
Tropical moist forest	4.3	2.0-9.0	14.8	n.a.	5.9	1.9-14.8	21, 93, 98	
Tropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	
Tropical rainforest	2.5	n.a.	4.7	n.a.	4.8	2.1-16.4	11, 26, 35, 89, 93, 99	
Climate	Dead wood carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)							
	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	
Boreal coniferous forest	16.4	2.3-50.7	22.2	4.1-76.5	19.7	2.3-76.5	46, 54, 55, 56, 59, 62, 63, 70, 81, 87, 88, 93	
Boreal tundra woodland	5.7	n.a.	1.3	0.5-2.4	3.1	0.5-6.1	5, 70	
Polar	n.a	n.a	26.2	n.a.	26.2	n.a.	70	
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	64.4	14.4- 134.5	64.4	14.4- 134.5	40	
Subtropical humid forest	4.1	2.5-7.5	10.9	3.5-32.8	13.2	0.2-43.8	6,7,44, 46, 68, 93	
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	11.8	7.2-16.3	11.8	7.2-16.3	77	

TABLE 2.2 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED)TIRE 1 DEFAULT VALUES FOR LITTER AND DEAD WOOD CARBON STOCKS								
	Forest typ	e						
	Broadleaf deciduous		Needleleaf evergreen		All vegetation types		References ²	
Climate ¹	Dead wood carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)							
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max		
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	6.8	6.0-7.7	6.8	6.0-7.7	27	
Temperate continental forest	23.6	1.6-150.0	22.1	2.1-59.5	23.0	1.6-150.0	1, 2, 23, 28, 36, 37, 46, 54, 55, 64, 70, 80, 83, 87, 92, 93, 95,110	
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	22	
Temperate mountain system	21.2	2.8-80.6	48.1	1.7-181.8	37.6	1.7-181.8	3, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17, 25, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 39, 41, 50, 57, 58, 60, 67, 68, 69, 71, 75, 76, 78, 82, 84, 90, 91, 105, 109	
Temperate oceanic forest	40.5	2.8-95.0	24.3	n.a.	36.8	2.8-95.0	15, 16, 24, 32, 52, 61, 85, 86	
Temperate steppe	26.2	9.7-50.0	8.0	n.a	21.7	8.0 - 50.0	4, 70, 83, 98	
Tropical dry forest	16.0	14.7-17.3	n.a.	n.a.	9.0	1.3-17.3	11, 20	
Tropical moist forest	8.4	1.2-21.2	3.4	n.a.	8.0	1.2-21.2	19, 20, 21, 38, 4893, 96, 107	
Tropical mountain system	3.3	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	3.3	n.a.	20	
Tropical rainforest	17.7	0.9-218.9	1.9	n.a.	14.8	0.6-218.9	11, 14, 18, 26, 35, 42, 43, 45, 46, 47, 49, 51, 53, 65, 66, 72, 73, 74, 79, 89, 93, 94, 104, 105, 107, 108	

¹ FAO. 2012. Forest Resources Assessment Working Paper 179.

²References: 1Canada NFI, 2006; 2Alban and Perala, 1992; 3Arthur and Fahey, 1992; 4Barney and Fahey, 1992; 5Barney and Van Cleve, 1973; 6Beets et al. 2011; 7Beets et al. 2014; 8Beets, 1980; 9Bingham and Sawyer Jr., 1988; 10Blackwell et al., 1992; 11FRA2015, Brazil; 12Brown and See, 1981; 13Busing, 1998; 14Chambers et al., 2000; 15FRA2015, Chile; 16Christensen, 1977; 17Clark et al., 1998; 18Cochrane et al., 1999; 19Collins, 1981; 20Delaney et al., 1998; 21FRA2015, Ecuador; 22Fahey, 1983; 23Falinski, 1978; 24Frangi et al., 1997; 25Franklin et al., 1984; 26FRA2015, French Guyana; 27Fule and Covington, 1994; 28Goodburn and Lorimer, 1998; 29Gore and Patterson, III, 1986; 30Gosz, 1980; 31Grahom and Cromack, 1982; 32Green and Peterken, 1998; 33Grier, 1978; 34Grier et al., 1981; 35FRA2015, Guyana; 36Hale et al., 1999; 37Harmon and Chen, 1991; 38Harmon et al., 1995; 39Harmon et al., 1986; 40Harmon et al., 1987; 41Harmon, 1980; 42Higucki and Biot, 1995; 43Hofer et al., 1996; 44Holdaway et al., 2017; 45Hughes et al., 2000; 46Japanese NFI, 2018; 47John, 1973; 48Jordan, 1989; 49Kauffman and Uhl, 1990; 50Keenan et al., 1993; 51Kira, 1978; 52Kirby et al., 1998; 53Klinge, 1973; 54Krankina et al., 1999; 55Krankina, Unpublished; 56Lamas and Fries, 1994; 57Lambert et al., 1980; 58Lang, 1985; 59Lee et al., 1997; 60Lesica et al., 1990; 61Levett et al., 1985; 62Linder and Ostlund, 1992; 63Linder et al. 1997; 64MacMillan, 1981; 65Martinelli et al., 1988; 66Martius, 1997; 67McCarthy and Bailey, 1994; 68McMinn and Hardt, 1996; 69Muller and Liu, 1991; 70Canada NFI, 2018b; 71Nicholas and White, 1984; 72Proctor et al. 1983; 73Revilla, 1987; 74Robertson and Daniel, 1989; 75Robertson and Bowser, 1999; 76Roskoski, 1980; 77Sackett, 1980; 78Sackett, 1979; 79Saldarriaga et al., 1988; 80Shifley et al., 1997; 81Sippola, 1998; 82Sollins, 1982; 83Spetich et al., 1999; 84Spies et al., 1988; 85Stewart and Burrows, 1994; 86Stokland, ; 87Storozhenko, 1997; 88Sturtevant et al., 1997; 89FRA2015, Suriname; 90Taylor and Fonda, 1990; 91Tritton 1980; 92Tyrrell and Crow, 1994; 93Ugawa et al., 2012; 94Uhl et al., 1988; 95van Hees and Clerkx, 1999; 96Zhou et al.,; 97FRA2015, Argentina; 98Domke et al., 2016; 99Japan NFI, 2018; 100Canada NFI, 2018; 101Canada NFI, 2018a; 102Shaw et al. 2005; 103Beets et al., 2012; 104Klinge et al., 1975; 105Kaufman et al., 1988; 106Nicholas and White, 1985; 107Revilla, 1986; 108Revilla, 1988; 109Sollins et al., 1980; 110Lang and Forman, 1978

n.a. denotes 'not available'

2.3.3 Change in carbon stocks in soils

Although both organic and inorganic forms of C are found in soils, land use and management typically has a larger impact on organic C stocks. Consequently, the methods provided in these guidelines focus mostly on soil organic C. Overall, the influence of land use and management on soil organic C is dramatically different in a mineral versus an organic soil type. Organic (e.g., peat and muck) soils have a minimum of 12 percent organic C by mass (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for the specific criteria on organic soil classification), and develop under poorly drained conditions of wetlands (Brady & Weil 1999). All other soils are classified as mineral soil types, and typically have relatively low amounts of organic matter, occurring under moderate to well drained conditions, and predominate in most ecosystems except wetlands. Discussion about land-use and management influences on these contrasting soil types is provided in the next two sections.

MINERAL SOILS

Mineral soils contain an organic carbon pool that is influenced by land-use and management activities. Land use can have a large effect on the size of this pool through activities such as conversion of native Grassland and Forest Land to Cropland, where 20-40 percent of the original soil C stocks can be lost (Mann 1986; Davidson & Ackerman 1993; Ogle *et al.* 2005). Within a land-use type, a variety of management practices can also have a significant impact on soil organic C storage, particularly in Cropland and Grassland (e.g., Paustian *et al.* 1997; Conant *et al.* 2001; Ogle *et al.* 2004 and 2005). In principle, soil organic C stocks can change with management or disturbance if the net balance between C inputs and C losses from soil is altered. Management activities influence organic C inputs through changes in plant production (such as fertilisation or irrigation to enhance crop growth), direct additions of C in organic amendments, and the amount of carbon left after biomass removal activities, such as crop harvest, timber harvest, fire, or grazing. Decomposition largely controls C outputs and can be influenced by changes in moisture and temperature regimes as well as the level of soil disturbance resulting from the management activity. Other factors also influence decomposition, such as climate and edaphic characteristics. Specific effects of different land-use conversions and management regimes are discussed in the land-use specific chapters (Chapters 4 to 9).

Land-use change and management activity can also influence soil organic C storage by changing erosion rates and subsequent loss of C from a site; some eroded C decomposes in transport and CO_2 is returned to the atmosphere, while the remainder is deposited in another location. The net effect of changing soil erosion through land management is highly uncertain, however, because an unknown portion of eroded C is stored in buried sediments of wetlands, lakes, river deltas and coastal zones (Smith *et al.* 2001).

ORGANIC SOILS

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Sections 2.2 and 2.3 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

2.3.3.1 SOIL ORGANIC C ESTIMATION METHODS (LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY AND LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND USE)

Soil C inventories include estimates of soil organic C stock changes for mineral soils and CO_2 emissions from organic soils due to enhanced microbial decomposition caused by drainage and associated management activity. In addition, inventories can address C stock changes for soil inorganic C pools (e.g., calcareous grassland that become acidified over time) if sufficient information is available to use a Tier 3 approach. The equation for estimating the total change in soil C stocks is given in Equation 2.24:

EQUATION 2.24 (UPDATED) ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN SOILS

$$\Delta C_{Soils} = \Delta C_{Mineral} - L_{Organic} + \Delta C_{Inorganic}$$

Where:

 $\Delta C_{Soils} = \text{annual change in carbon stocks in soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $\Delta C_{Mineral} = \text{annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $L_{Organic} = \text{annual loss of carbon from drained organic soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $\Delta C_{Inorganic}$ = annual change in inorganic carbon stocks from soils, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (assumed to be 0 unless using a Tier 3 approach)

For Tier 1 methods, soil organic C stocks for mineral soils are computed to a default depth of 30 cm because default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF} – see Equation 2.25 and Table 2.3) and stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) are based on a 30 cm depth. In addition, the reference condition is defined as that present in native lands (i.e. non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation) for the default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF}). For Tier 2, a different reference condition and depth can be used as described in the section on Tier 2 methods. Residue/litter C stocks are not included in Tier 1 because they are addressed by estimating dead organic matter stocks (see section 2.3.2). Inventories can also estimate the change in mineral soil organic C stock due to biochar amendments to soils (Tier 2 and Tier 3 only). Stock changes in organic soils are based on emission factors that represent the annual loss of organic C throughout the profile due to drainage and associated management activity.

No Tier 1 or 2 methods are provided for estimating the change in soil inorganic C stocks ($\Delta C_{Inorganic}$) due to limited scientific data for derivation of stock change factors; thus, the net flux for inorganic C stocks is assumed to be zero. Tier 3 methods could be developed to estimate changes in the stock of inorganic carbon in mineral or organic soils.

It is possible that compilers will use different tiers to prepare estimates for mineral soils, organic soils, biochar amendments and soil inorganic C, depending on the availability of resources. Thus, stock changes are discussed separately for organic carbon in mineral and organic soils and for inorganic C pools (Tier 3 only). Generalised decision trees in Figures 2.4 and 2.5 can be used to assist inventory compilers in determining the appropriate tier for estimating stock changes for mineral and organic soil C, respectively.





Box 1:Tier 1





Tier 1 – Default Method

Mineral soils

For mineral soils, the stock change factor method is based on changes in soil C stocks ($\Delta C_{Mineral}$) over a finite period of time of 20 years (Equation 2.25). The change in organic C stock in mineral soil ($SOC_{Mineral}$) is computed by calculating the organic C stock remaining after a management change relative to the organic C stock in a reference condition and summing this change over all climate zones, soil types and management practices included in the inventory. The soil organic C stock present under the reference condition for the Tier 1 method is defined as that in non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation (Table 2.3). The following assumptions are made:

- (i) Over time, soil organic C stock reaches a spatially-averaged, stable value specific to the soil, climate, land-use and management practices; and
- (ii) Soil organic C stock change during the transition to a new equilibrium SOC occurs in a linear fashion over a period of 20 years.

Assumption (i), that under a given set of climate and management conditions soils tend towards an equilibrium organic C stock, is widely accepted. Although, soil organic C stock changes in response to management changes may often be best described by a curvilinear function, assumption (ii) greatly simplifies the Tier 1 methodology and provides a good approximation over a multi-year inventory period, where changes in management and land-use conversions are occurring throughout the inventory period.

Using the default method, changes in mineral soil organic C stocks are computed over an inventory time period. Inventory time periods will likely be established based on the years in which activity data are collected, such as 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, which would correspond to inventory time periods of 1990-1995, 1995-2000, 2000-2005, 2005-2010. For each inventory time period, the soil organic C stocks are estimated for the first (SOC_{0-T}) and last year (SOC₀) based on multiplying the reference C stocks by stock change factors. Annual rates of carbon stock change are estimated as the difference in stocks at two points in time divided by the time dependence of the stock change factors.

EQUATION 2.25 Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils
$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)})}{D}$
$SOC_{Mineral} = \sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i} \right)$
(Note: T is used in place of D in the $\Delta C_{Mineral}$ equation if T is ≥ 20 years, see note below associated with the parameter D)

Where:

$\Delta C_{Mineral}$	= annual change in organic C stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
SOC ₀	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) in the last year of an inventory time period, tonnes C
$SOC_{(0-T)}$	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) at the beginning of the inventory time period, tonnes C
Т	= number of years over a single inventory time period, yr
D	= Time dependence of mineral soil organic C stock change factors which is the default time period for transition between equilibrium SOC values, yr. Commonly 20 years, but depends on assumptions made in computing the factors F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_{I} . If T exceeds D, use the value for T to obtain an annual rate of change over the inventory time period (0-T years).
с	= represents the climate zones included in the inventory
S	= represents the soil types included in the inventory
i	= represents the set of management systems included in the inventory.
$SOC_{Mineral}$	= total mineral soil organic C stock at a defined time, tonnes C
$SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}}$	= the soil organic C stock for mineral soils in the reference condition, tonnes C ha ⁻¹ (Table 2.3)
$F_{LU_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C land-use systems or sub-systems for a particular land-use, dimensionless
	[Note: F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in forest soil organic C stock calculations to estimate the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion)].
$F_{MG_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for management regime, dimensionless
$F_{I_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for the input of organic amendments,
	dimensionless
$A_{c,s,i}$	= land area of the stratum being estimated, ha
	[Note: All land in the stratum should have common biophysical conditions (i.e., climate and soil type) and management history over the inventory time period to be treated together for analytical purposes.]

Inventory calculations are based on land areas that are stratified by climate regions (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for default classification of climate), and default soils types as shown in Table 2.3 (see Chapter 3, Annex 3A.5, for default classification of soils). The stock change factors are very broadly defined and include: 1) a land-use factor (F_{LU}) that reflects C stock changes associated with type of land use, 2) a management factor (F_{MG}) representing the principal management practice specific to the land-use sector (e.g., different tillage practices in cropland), and 3) an input factor (F_I) representing different levels of C input to soil. As mentioned above, F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in Forest Land to account for the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion). The stock change factors are provided in the soil C sections of the land-use chapters. Each of these factors represents the change over a specified number of years (D), which can vary across sectors, but is typically invariant within sectors (e.g., 20 years for the cropland systems). In some inventories, the time period for inventory (T years) may exceed D, and under those cases, an annual rate of change in C stock may be obtained by dividing the product of $[(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)}) \bullet A]$ by T, instead of D. See the soil C sections in the land-use chapters for detailed step-by-step guidance on the application of this method.

When applying the stock change factor method using Equation 2.25, the type of land-use and management activity data has a direct influence on the formulation of the equation (See Box 2.1). Formulation A is based on activity data collected with Approach 1, while Formulation B is based on activity data collected with Approaches 2 or 3 (Box 2.1). See Chapter 3 for additional discussion on the approaches for activity data collection.

Special consideration is needed if using Approach 1 activity data (see Chapter 3) as the basis for estimating landuse and management effects on soil C stocks, using Equation 2.25. Approach 1 data do not track individual land transitions, and so SOC stock changes are computed for inventory time periods equivalent to D years, or as close as possible to D, which is 20 years in the Tier 1 method. For example, Cropland may be converted from full tillage to no-till management between 1990 and 1995, and Formulation A (see Box 2.1) would estimate a gain in soil C for that inventory time period. However, assuming that the same parcel of land remains in no-till between 1995 and 2000, no additional gain in C would be computed (i.e., the stock for 1995 would be based on no-till management and it would not differ from the stock in 2000 (SOC₀), which is also based on no-till management). If using the default approach, there would be an error in this estimation because the change in soil C stocks occurs over 20 years (i.e., D = 20 years). Therefore, SOC_(0-T) is estimated for the most distant time that is used in the inventory calculations up to D years before the last year in the inventory time periods (SOC₀). For example, assuming D is 20 years and the inventory is based on activity data from 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, SOC₍₀ -T) will be computed for 1990 to estimate the change in soil organic C for each of the other years, (i.e., 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010). The year for estimating $SOC_{(0-T)}$ in this example will not change until activity data are gathered at 2011 or later (e.g., computing the C stock change for 2011 would be based on the most distant year up to, but not exceeding D, which in this example would be 1995).

If transition matrices are available (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data), the changes can be estimated between each successive year. From the example above, some no-till land may be returned to full tillage management between 1995 and 2000. In this case, the gain in C storage between 1990 and 1995 for the land base returned to full tillage would need to be discounted between 1995 and 2000. Further, no additional change in the C stocks would be necessary for land returned to full tillage after 2000 (assuming tillage management remained the same). Only land remaining in no-till would continue to gain C up to 2010 (i.e., assuming D is 20 years). Hence, inventories using transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data will need to be more careful in dealing with the time periods over which gains or losses of SOC are computed. See Box 2.2 for additional details. The application of the soil C estimation approach is much simpler if only using aggregated statistics with Approach 1 activity data. However, it is *good practice* for countries to use transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data statistics will provide an improved estimate of annual changes in soil organic C stocks.

There may be some cases in which activity data are collected over time spans longer than the time dependence of the stock change factors (D), such as every 30 years with a D of 20. For those cases, the annual stock changes can be estimated directly between each successive year of activity data collection (e.g., 1990, 2020 and 2050) without over- or under-estimating the annual change rate, as long as T is substituted for D in Equation 2.25.

TABLE 2.3 (UPDATED)DEFAULT REFERENCE CONDITION SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCKS (SOCREF) FOR MINERAL SOILS (TONNES C HA-1 IN 0-30 CM DEPTH) 1,2						
	IPCC soil class ⁶					
IPCC Climate Zone ⁵	High activity clay soils (HAC) ⁷	Low activity clay soils (LAC) ⁸	Sandy soils (SAN) ⁹			
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	59 ± 41% (24)	NA	27 ± 67% (18)			
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	63 ± 18% (35)	NA	$10\pm90\%$ 4			
Cool temperate dry (C2)	43 ± 8% (177)	$33 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	13 ± 33% (10)			
Cool temperate moist (C1)	81 ± 5% (334)	76 ± 51% (6)	51 ± 13% (126)			
Warm temperate dry (W2)	24 ± 5% (781)	19 ± 16% (41)	10 ± 5% (338)			
Warm temperate moist (W1)	64 ± 5% (489)	55 ± 8% (183)	36 ± 23% (39)			
Tropical dry (T4)	21 ± 5% (554)	19 ± 10% (135)	9 ± 9% (164)			
Tropical moist (T3)	40 ± 7% (226)	38 ± 5% (326)	27 ± 12% (76)			
Tropical wet (T2)	60 ± 8% (137)	52 ± 6% (271)	46 ± 20% (43)			
Tropical montane (T1)	51 ± 10% (114)	44 ± 11% (84)	52 ± 34% (11)			
	Spodic soils (POD) ¹⁰	Volcanic soils (VOL) ¹¹	Wetland soils (WET) ¹²			
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	NO	NA	NA			
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	$117 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	$20\pm90\%$ 4	116 ± 65% (6)			
Cool temperate dry (C2)	NO	$20\pm90\%$ 4	$87\pm90\%$ 3			
Cool temperate moist (C1)	128 ± 14% (45)	136 ± 14% (28)	128 ± 13% (42)			
Warm temperate dry (W2)	NO	84 ± 65% (10)	74 ± 17% (49)			
Warm temperate moist (W1)	143 ± 30% (9)	138 ± 12% (42)	135 ± 28% (28)			
Tropical dry (T4)	NA	$50\pm90\%$ 4	22 ± 17% (32)			
Tropical moist (T3)	NA	$70\pm90\%$ 4	68 ± 17% (55)			
Tropical wet (T2)	NA	77 ± 27% (14)	49 ± 19% (33)			
Tropical montane (T1)	NA	96 ± 31% (10)	82 ± 50% (12)			

Note: Data are derived from Batjes (2010) and Batjes (2011) unless otherwise noted through the use of superscripts.

¹NA denotes that soil categories the soil category may occur in a climate zone, but no data was available. NO denotes that the soil type does not normally occur within a climate zone. ² All values are presented in the format of the mean for the soil by climate combination \pm the 95% confidence limit expressed as a percentage of the mean (that is ± 1.96 * standard error /mean *100). Values in parentheses are the number of soils included in the derivation of mean and standard error values for each combination of soil and climate types. ³ Indicates where no data were available from Batjes (2011) but values were derived for the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and have been used in the table. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁴ Indicates where no data were available either from Batjes (2011) or in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Mean values present the default values used in the 1996 IPCC Guidelines. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁵ Climate classes are defined according to (IPCC 2006, p. 3.39) using elevation, mean annual temperature, mean annual precipitation, mean annual precipitation to potential evapotranspiration ratio and frost occurrence. ⁶ Soil classes are inferred from the FAO-1990/WRB-2006 classification in accordance with IPCC (2006, p. 3.40 - 3.41). ⁷ Soils with high activity clay (HAC) minerals are lightly to moderately weathered soils dominated by 2:1 silicate clay minerals (in the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB) classification: Leptosols, Vertisols, Kastanozems, Chernozems, Phaeozems, Luvisols, Alisols, Albeluvisols, Solonetz, Calcisols, Gypsisols, Umbrisols, Cambisols, Regosols; in USDA classification: Mollisols, Vertisols, high-base status Alfisols, Aridisols, Inceptisols). ⁸ Soils with low activity clay (LAC) minerals are highly weathered soils, dominated by 1:1 clay minerals and amorphous iron and aluminium oxides (in WRB classification: Acrisols, Lixisols, Nitisols, Ferralsols, Durisols; in USDA classification: Ultisols, Oxisols, acidic Alfisols). ⁹ Soils (regardless of taxonomic classification) having > 70% sand and < 8% clay (in WRB classification: Arenosols; in USDA classification: Psamments). ¹⁰ Soils exhibiting strong podzolization (in WRB classification includes Podzols; in USDA classification Spodosols). ¹¹ Soils derived from volcanic ash with allophanic mineralogy (in WRB classification Andosols; in USDA classification Andisols). ¹² Soils with restricted drainage leading to periodic flooding and anaerobic conditions (in WRB classification Gleysols; in USDA classification Aquic suborders). ¹³ The Boreal dry and Boreal moist zones and the Polar dry and Polar moist zones were not differentiated. Results presented represent the SOC₃₀ stocks for the undifferentiated (undiff.) Boreal (Bx) and Polar (Px) classes.

Box 2.1 (Updated) Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data versus Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Two alternative formulations are possible for Equation 2.25 depending on the Approach used to collect activity data, including

Formulation A (Approach 1 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{0} - \left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{(0-T)}}{D}$$

Formulation B (Approaches 2 and 3 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\sum_{c,s,p} \left[\begin{cases} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{0} - \\ \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{(0-T)} \right] \bullet A_{c,s,p}}{D}$$

Where:

p = a parcel of land representing an individual unit of area over which the inventory calculations are performed.

See the description of other terms under the Equation 2.25.

Activity data may only be available using Approach 1 for data collection (Chapter 3). These data provide the total area at two points in time for climate, soil and land-use/management systems, without quantification of the specific transitions in land use and management over the inventory time period (i.e., only the aggregate or net change is known, not the gross changes in activity). With Approach 1 activity data, mineral C stock changes are computed using formulation A of Equation 2.25. In contrast, activity data may be collected based on surveys, remote sensing imagery or other data providing not only the total areas for each land management system, but also the specific transitions in land use and management over time on individual parcels of land. These are considered Approach 2 and 3 activity data in Chapter 3, and soil C stock changes are computed using formulation B of Equation 2.25. Formulation B contains a summation by land parcel (i.e., "p" represents land parcels in formulation B rather than the set of management systems "i") that allows the inventory compiler to compute the changes in C stocks on a land parcel by land parcel basis.

BOX 2.2 (UPDATED)

COMPARISON BETWEEN USE OF APPROACH 1 AGGREGATE STATISTICS AND APPROACH 2 OR 3 ACTIVITY DATA WITH TRANSITION MATRICES

This box examines the application of Equation 2.25 to calculate $\Delta C_{mineral}$. Assume a country where a fraction of the land is subjected to land-use changes, as shown in the following table, where each line represents one land unit with an area of 1 Mha (F = Forest Land; C = Cropland; G = Grassland). Where a land-use change occurs, it is assumed to occur in the year following the previous inventory year (e.g. for land unit 1, the conversion from F to C occurred at the start of 1991 such that for the five years from the start of 1991 to the end of the 1995 inventory year the land was under land-use C)
OMPARI	SON BETWEEN USE	BO2 OF APPRO DAT	X 2.2 (UP) DACH 1 A A WITH T	DATED) (GGREGAT RANSITIC	CONTINU TE STATIS ON MATRI	ED) TICS AND CES	Approa	CH 2 OR 3
	Land Unit ID	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
	1	F	С	С	С	С	С	С
	2	F	С	С	С	G	G	G
	3	G	С	С	С	С	G	G
	4	G	G	F	F	F	F	F

C

G

C

G

G

G

G

C

С

C

С

С

5

6

For simplicity, it is assumed that the country has a single soil type, with a SOC_{REF} (0-30 cm soil C stock under native forest vegetation) value of 77 tonnes C ha⁻¹. Values for F_{LU} are 1.00, 1.05 and 0.92 for F, G and C, respectively. F_{MG} and F_I are assumed to be equal to 1. The time dependence of the stock change factors (D) is 20 years. Finally, the soil C stock is assumed to be at equilibrium in 1990 (i.e., no changes in land-use occurred during the 20 years prior to 1990). When using Approach 1 activity data (i.e., aggregate statistical data), annual changes in C stocks are computed for every inventory year following Equation 2.25 above. The following table shows the results of calculations¹:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
F (Mha)	2	0	1	1	1	1	1
G (Mha)	2	1	1	1	3	3	3
C (Mha)	2	5	4	4	2	2	2
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	435.1	441.2	441.2	461.2	461.2	461.2
SOC _(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	435.1	441.2
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.2	1.3	1.0

If Approach 2 or 3 data are used in which land-use changes are explicitly known, C stocks can be computed taking into account historical changes for every individual land unit. The total C stocks for the sum of all units is compared with the most immediate previous inventory year, rather than with the inventory of 20 years before to estimate annual changes in C stocks:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 1	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	70.8	70.8	70.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 2	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	74.5	76.6	78.7
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 3	80.9	78.3	75.8	73.3	70.8	73.3	75.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 4	80.9	80.9	79.9	78.9	78.0	77.0	77.0
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 5	70.8	70.8	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 6	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3	76.5	74.6
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1	455.4
SOC(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.4	0.9	1.0
Mineral	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.4	0.9	

Box 2.2 (Updated) (Continued) Comparison between use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics and Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Both methods yield different estimates of C stocks, and use of Approach 2 or 3 data with land transition matrices would be more accurate than use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics. However, estimates of annual changes of C stocks would not differ greatly, as shown in this example. The effect of underlying data approaches on the estimates differ more when there are multiple changes in land-use on the same piece of land (as in land units 2, 3 and 6 in the example). It is noteworthy that Approach 1, 2 and 3 activity data produce the same changes in C stocks if the systems reach a new equilibrium, which occurs with no change in land-use and management for a 20-year time period using the Tier 1 method. Consequently, no C stock increases or losses are inadvertently lost when applying the methods for Approach 1, 2 or 3 activity data, but the temporal dynamics do vary somewhat as demonstrated above. A spreadsheet is available with the full set of calculations: Vol4_Ch2_Spreadsheet_Box_2.2_Calculations.xlsx.

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 2 Methods

Mineral soils

A Tier 2 method is an extension of the Tier 1 method that allows an inventory to incorporate country-specific data. It is *good practice* for countries to use a Tier 2 method, if possible, even if they are only able to better specify certain components of the Tier 1 method. For example, a compiler may only have data to derive country-specific reference C stocks, which would then be used with default stock change factors to estimate changes in soil organic C stocks for mineral soils.

Country-specific data can be used to improve four components when applying the Tier 1 equations for estimating stock changes in mineral soils. The components include a) derivation of region or country-specific stock change factors, b) reference condition C stocks, c) specification of management systems, and/or d) classification of climate and soil categories (e.g., Ogle *et al.*, 2003; VandenBygaart *et al.*, 2004; Tate *et al.*, 2005). Inventory compilers can choose to derive specific values for all of these components, or any subset, which would be combined with default values provided in the Tier 1 method to complete the inventory calculations using Equation 2.25. Also, the Tier 2 method uses the same procedural steps for calculations as provided for Tier 1.

1) *Defining management systems*. Although the same management systems may be used in a Tier 2 inventory as found in the Tier 1 method, the default systems can be disaggregated into a finer categorisation that better represents management impacts on soil organic C stocks in a particular country based on empirical data (i.e., stock change factors vary significantly for the proposed management systems). Such an undertaking, however, is only possible if there is sufficient detail in the underlying data to classify the land area into the finer, more detailed set of management systems.

2) *Climate regions and soil types.* Countries that have detailed soil classifications and climatic data have the option of developing country-specific classifications. Moreover, it is considered *good practice* to specify better climate regions and soil types during the development of a Tier 2 inventory if the new classification improves the specification of reference C stocks and/or stock change factors. In practice, reference C stocks and/or stock change factors should differ significantly among the proposed climate regions and soil types based on an empirical analysis. Note that specifying new climate regions and/or soil types requires the derivation of country-specific reference C stocks and stock change factors. The default reference soil C stocks and stock change factors are only appropriate for inventories using the default climate and soil types.

3) *Reference C stocks.* Deriving country-specific reference condition soil C stocks (SOC_{REF}) is another possibility for improving an inventory using a Tier 2 method (Bernoux *et al.* 2002), which will likely produce more accurate and representative values. Country-specific stocks can be estimated from soil measurements, for example, as part of a country's soil survey. It is important that reliable taxonomic descriptions be used to group soils into categories. Three additional points require consideration when deriving the country-specific values, including possible specification of country-specific soil categories and climate regions (i.e., instead of using the IPCC default classification), choice of reference condition, and choice of depth increment over which the stocks are estimated.

Stocks are computed by multiplying the proportion of organic C (i.e., %C divided by 100) by the depth increment (default is 30 cm), bulk density, and the proportion of coarse-fragment free soil (i.e., < 2mm fragments) in the depth increment (Ogle *et al.* 2003). The coarse fragment-free proportion is on a mass basis (i.e., mass of coarse fragment-free soil/total mass of the soil). If the soil C reference condition differs from that used in Table 2.3 or the soil depth used differs from 30 cm, then appropriate country specific soil C stocks for the reference condition and stock change factors must be derived. For developing a Tier 2 method, it would also be possible to define reference SOC stocks and SOC stock change factors using an equivalent mass approach (see Box 2.2b) rather than an approach based on a fixed depth.

The soil reference condition is the land-use/cover category (or condition within a land-use/cover category) that is used for evaluating the relative effect of land-use change on the amount of soil C storage (e.g., relative difference in soil C storage between a reference condition, such as native lands, and another land use, such as cropland, forming the basis for F_{LU} in Equation 2.25). It is likely that many countries will use the Tier 1 default soil reference condition, which is *good practice* if it allows for a more accurate assessment of soil C stock changes. The same reference condition should be used for each climate zone and soil type, regardless of the land use. The soil C stock associated with the reference condition is then multiplied by land use, input and management factors to estimate the stocks at the beginning and last year in an inventory time period (See Equation 2.25).

Another consideration in deriving country-specific reference soil C stocks is the possibility of estimating C stocks to a different depth in the soil. Default soil C stocks given in Table 2.3 are based on the amount of soil organic C in the top 30 cm of a soil profile. A different depth can be selected and used for Tier 2 methods if all appropriate data are available. Consideration should be given to the introduction of bias (positive or negative) that may arise in response to the depth selected. For example, where depth is set to 20 cm and cultivation mixes soils to a depth >20 cm, an apparent difference in SOC stock between cultivated and uncultivated soils may be observed for the 20cm depth that is not representative of the change in SOC stocks to the depth over which mixing occurs in the cultivated soil. It is *good practice* to derive reference condition soil C stocks to the depth at which land use and management impact soil C stocks, but this will require that the data are available or could be acquired to the selected depth. Any change in the depth for reference condition soil C stocks will require derivation of new stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) consistent with the depth selected because the defaults are based on impacts to a 30 cm depth.

It is possible to use a soil C model to derive steady state soil C stocks indicative of the soil reference condition for the various combinations of soil type and climate that exist within a country. However, this would require sufficient testing of the model used to provide evidence that the model is adequate for this purpose (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Further information related to soil sampling strategies and how to derive soil reference C stocks can be found in Batjes (2011), as well as in a range of soil sampling and analysis texts (e.g. Carter & Gregorich 2008; de Gruijter *et al.* 2006)

4) *Stock change factors*. An important advancement for a Tier 2 method is the estimation of country-specific stock change factors (F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I). The derivation of country-specific factors can be accomplished using experimental/measurement data and computer model simulation. In practice, deriving stock change factors involves estimating a response ratio for each study or observation (i.e., the C stocks in different input or management classes are divided by the value for the nominal practice, respectively).

Optimally, stock change factors are based on experimental/measurement data in the country or surrounding region, by estimating the response ratios from each study and then analysing those values using an appropriate statistical technique (e.g., Ogle et al. 2003 and 2004; VandenBygaart et al. 2004). Studies may be found in published literature, reports and other sources, or inventory compilers may choose to conduct new experiments. Regardless of the data source, it is good practice that the plots being compared have similar histories and management as well as similar topographic position, soil physical properties and be located in close proximity. Studies should provide soil C stocks (i.e., mass per unit area to a specified depth) or the information needed to calculate soil C stocks (i.e., percent organic carbon together with bulk density; proportion of rock in soil, which is often measured as the greater than 2mm fraction and by definition contains negligible soil organic C). If percent organic matter is available instead of percent organic carbon, a conversion factor of 0.58 can be used to estimate the C content. Moreover, it is good practice that the measurements of soil C stocks are taken on an equivalent mass basis (e.g., Ellert et al. 2001; Gifford & Roderick, 2003). In order to use this method, the inventory compiler will need to determine a depth to measure the C stock for the nominal land use or practice, such as native lands or conventional tillage. This depth will need to be consistent with the depth for the reference C stocks. The soil C stock for the land-use or management change is then measured to a depth with the equivalent mass of soil. Box 2.2b provides further information on issues associated with conducting an inventory on an equivalent mass basis.

Another option for deriving country-specific values is to simulate stock change factors from advanced models (Bhatti *et al.*, 2001). To demonstrate the use of advanced models, simulated stock change factors can be compared to with measured changes in C stocks from experiments. It is *good practice* to provide the results of model

evaluation, citing published papers in the literature and/or placing the results in the inventory report. This approach is considered a Tier 2 method because it relies on the stock change factor concept and the C estimation method elaborated in the Tier 1 method.

Derivation of country-specific management factors (F_{MG}) and input factors (F_{I}), either with empirical data or advanced models, will need to be consistent with the management system classification. If more systems are specified for the inventory, unique factors will need to be derived representing the finer categories for a particular land use.

Another consideration in deriving country-specific stock change factors is their associated time dependence (D in Equation 2.25), which determines the number of years over which the majority of a soil C stock change occurs, following a management change. It is possible to use the default time dependence (D) for the land-use sector (e.g., 20 years for cropland), but the dependence can be changed if sufficient data are available to justify a different time period. In addition, the method is designed to use the same time dependence (D) for all stock change factors as presented in Equation 2.25. If different periods are selected for F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I , it will be necessary to compute the influence of land use, management and inputs separately and divide the associated stock change dependence. This can be accomplished by modifying Equation 2.25 so that SOC at time T and 0-T is computed individually for each of the stock change factors (i.e., SOC is computed with F_{LU} only, then computed with F_{MG} , and finally computed with F_I). The differences are computed for the stocks associated with land use, management, and input, dividing by their respective D values, and then the changes are summed.

Changes in soil C stocks normally occur in a non-linear fashion, and it is possible to further develop the time dependence of stock change factors to reflect this pattern. For changes in land use or management that cause a decrease in soil C content, the rate of change is highest during the first few years, and progressively declines with time. In contrast, when soil C is increasing due to land-use or management change, the rate of accumulation tends to follow a sigmoidal curve, with rates of change being slow at the beginning, then increasing and finally decreasing with time. If historical changes in land-use or management practices are explicitly tracked by resurveying the same locations (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data, see Chapter 3), it may be possible to implement a Tier 2 method that incorporates the non-linearity of changes in soil C stock.

BOX 2.2A (NEW)

USING EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS TO DERIVE MINERAL SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCK CHANGE FACTORS

Soil carbon stock estimates may be improved when deriving country-specific factors for F_{LU} and F_{MG} , by expressing carbon stocks on a soil-mass equivalent basis rather than a soil-volume equivalent (i.e. fixed depth) basis. This is because the soil mass to a certain soil depth changes in response to altered management practices associated with land use change (e.g. uprooting forest vegetation, land levelling, and rain compaction due to the disappearance of the cover of tree canopy). In addition, soil bulk density may be affected differently by particular management practices within a given land use (e.g. tillage and machinery traffic within cropping systems or the extent of compaction induced by different animal at stocking rates within pasture systems). Where the soil bulk density changes due to land use and/or management, the comparison of the soil carbon stocks between the cropland, settlements, grassland, wetlands, or forest land to the same depth introduces changes to soil carbon stocks as a direct consequence of changes in soil bulk density (Ellert & Bettany 1995). With a management induced change in soil bulk density, it is possible to calculate a change in soil carbon stock to a fixed depth in the absence of any change in soil carbon content. Therefore, it is more robust to calculate soil carbon stock change on an equivalent mass basis rather than on a fixed-depth basis (Toriyama et al. 2011; Bruun et al. 2013; Halvorson et al. 2016; Hu et al., 2016). The equivalent mass approach has more rigorous comparability when the bulk density between cropland, grassland, wetland, settlements and forest land is markedly different even if the site is within close proximity. It is important to realise that comprehensive data of soil carbon concentration and soil bulk density would be required to derive stock change factors across all land uses. The changing mass of organic carbon itself will affect the equivalent soil mass and therefore equivalent mass basis is not appropriate for organic soils. There are proposals for methods based on only equivalent mass of the mineral soil portion (McBratney & Minasny 2010) that would reduce the effect of changing soil organic mass distorting the equivalent soil mass. Adopting an equivalent-mass based carbon stock inventory requires thorough consideration of the challenges.

The impact of biochar C amendments on mineral soils can also be estimated with a Tier 2 method for mineral soils using Equation 2.25A and adding this estimate to the result in Equation 2.25.⁷

⁷ Biochar is a solid carbonised product from thermochemical conversion through pyrolysis (heating with limited air). The term biochar is used herein only to refer to materials that have been produced under process conditions in which relatively easily mineralisable organic materials are converted to more persistent forms by heating to above 350 °C with limited air through a



Where:

- $\Delta BC_{Mineral}$ = the total change in carbon stocks of mineral soils associated with biochar amendment, tonnes sequestered C yr⁻¹
- BC_{TOT_p} = the mass of biochar incorporated into mineral soil during the inventory year for each biochar production type p, tonnes biochar dry matter yr⁻¹
- F_{C_p} = the organic carbon content of biochar for each production type p, tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar dry matter
- F_{perm_p} = fraction of biochar carbon for each production type *p* remaining (unmineralised) after 100 years, tonnes sequestered C tonne⁻¹ biochar C
- n = the number of different production types of biochar

Country-specific values the C content of the forms of biochar included in the inventory (F_{C_p} in units of tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar on a dry mass basis) can be measured directly from representative samples of biochar. Country-specific values may also be based on published data on carbon content of biochar produced using the same feedstock and process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country.

The fraction of biochar C remaining after 100 years is defined by the parameter F_{perm_n} . It is not possible to measure

this value directly due to the time scales involved. So, this parameter is estimated from other data. The elemental composition of biochar, specifically the ratio of hydrogen to organic carbon (H/C_{org}) or ratio of oxygen to organic carbon (O/C_{org}), has been shown to correlate non-linearly with biochar residence time (Spokas 2010; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). Therefore, country-specific Tier 2 estimates of F_{perm_a} can be based on H/C_{org} or O/C_{org} measured directly

from representative samples of biochar, or from published data for biochar produced using similar process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country. This parameter can also be derived from the biochar elemental composition using published equations relating this composition to mean residence time or half-life (for example H/C_{org} , Lehmann *et al.* 2015; or O/C_{org} , Spokas 2010), and extrapolated to the permanence time frame assuming one-, two-, or three-pool exponential decay (Zimmerman 2010; Herath *et al.* 2015; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). A justification should be provided if a permanence time frame other than 100 years is used.

Since the impact of biochar amendments is a separate calculation and summed with the result from Equation 2.25 in the Tier 2 method, it is essential that biochar C is not included as an organic amendment in the estimates of $SOC_{Mineral}$ in Equation 2.25.

gasification or pyrolysis process. This guidance does not deal with pyrolytic organic materials that result from wild fires or open fires, and is only applicable for biochar added to mineral soils.

BOX 2.2B (NEW) GHG Emission Sources with biochar production

Biochar production involves emissions from several different sectors and source categories. All GHG emissions and removals are reported in a greenhouse gas inventory, but estimation and reporting is done based on sources in which the activity occurs. The guidance in this section is addressing C stock changes associated with the end-product use of biochar amendments to mineral soils. However, other emissions do occur along the biochar feedstock supply chains that are estimated in other source categories. For example, the harvesting and use of forest wood biomass for biochar production would be part of reported C stock changes in Forest Land Remaining Forest Land (Volume 4). Moreover, biomass may be grown specifically as a feedstock and the C stock changes are estimated and reported under the appropriate source categories for land use associated with feedstock production (Volume 4). For plant residues and manures, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input of organic amendments to soil and thereby affects soil C stocks in cropland and grassland, and possibly other land uses receiving manure amendments (Volume 4). For waste materials, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input to waste streams and is addressed in the calculation of emissions from waste management (Volume 5). There may also be use of fossil fuels in the harvesting, transport and pyrolysis of the feedstock and a potential release of other non-CO₂ greenhouse gases during the heating process that would be included in the energy sector (Volume 2).

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 3: Advanced estimation systems

Tier 3 approaches for soil C involve the development of an advanced estimation system that will typically better capture annual variability in fluxes, unlike Tier 1 and 2 approaches that mostly assume a constant annual change in C stocks over an inventory time period based on a stock change factor. Essentially, Tiers 1 and 2 represent land-use and management impacts on soil C stocks as a linear shift from one equilibrium state to another. To understand the implications better, it is important to note that soil C stocks typically do not exist in an absolute equilibrium state or change in a linear manner through a transition period, given that many of the driving variables affecting the stocks are dynamic, periodically changing at shorter time scales before a new "near" equilibrium is reached. Tier 3 approaches can address this non-linearity using more advanced models than Tiers 1 and 2 methods, and/or by developing a measurement-based inventory with a monitoring network. In addition, Tier 3 inventories are capable of capturing longer-term legacy effects of land use and management. In contrast, Tiers 1 and 2 approaches typically only address the most recent influence of land use and management, such as the last 20 years for mineral C stocks. See Section 2.5 (Generic Guidance for Tier 3 methods) for additional discussion on Tier 3 methods beyond the text given below.

Mineral soils

Model-based approaches can use mechanistic simulation models that capture the underlying processes driving carbon gains and losses from soils in a quantitative framework, such as the influence of land use and management on processes controlling carbon input resulting from plant production and litter fall as well as microbial decomposition (e.g., McGill, 1996; Smith *et al.*, 1997b; Smith *et al.*, 2000; Falloon and Smith, 2002; Tate *et al.*, 2005; Campbell&Paustian, 2015). Note that Tier 3 methods provide the only current opportunity to explicitly estimate the impact of soil erosion on C fluxes (Box 2.2d). In addition, Tier 3 model-based approaches may represent C transfers between biomass, dead biomass and soils, which are advantageous for ensuring conservation of mass in predictions of C stock changes in these pools relative to CO₂ removals and emissions to the atmosphere.

Tier 3 modelling approaches are capable of addressing the influence of land use and management with a dynamic representation of environmental conditions that affect the processes controlling soil C stocks, such as weather, edaphic characteristics, and other variables. The impact of land use and management on soil C stocks can vary as environmental conditions change, and such changes are not captured in lower Tiers, which may create biases in those results. Tier 3 methods can also include lateral flows of C associated with erosion and deposition (See Box 2.2c). Consequently, Tier 3 approaches are capable of providing a more accurate estimation of C stock changes associated with land-use and management activity if the modelling approach has been calibrated to the range of environmental conditions, soil properties and management practices to which the model will subsequently be applied (See Section 2.5 for more information).

For Tier 3 approaches, a set of benchmark sites will be needed to evaluate model results. Ideally, a series of permanent, benchmark monitoring sites would be established with statistically replicated design, capturing the major climatic regions, soil types, and management systems as well as system changes, and would allow for repeated measurements of soil organic C stocks over time (Smith, 2004a). Monitoring is based on re-sampling plots every 3 to 5 years or each decade; shorter sampling frequencies are not likely to produce significant differences due to small annual changes in C stocks relative to the large total amount of C in a soil (IPCC, 2000; Smith, 2004b).

Box 2.2C (NEW)

REPRESENTING THE IMPACT OF SOIL EROSION AND DEPOSITION ON SOIL CARBON STOCK CHANGES

Soil erosion and/or deposition can have marked effect on measured carbon stocks (Chappell *et al.* 2016). Soil carbon stock changes due to soil erosion/deposition are not considered to be embedded in factors for land-use change or land management. In practice, it is difficult to determine whether soil erosion/deposition effects are or are not included in stock change factors derived from empirical data. Different land use changes and subsequent management practices could result in different extents of soil movement. For example, land-use change from forest or grassland to cropland, or land management change from no-till to full tillage are typically associated with increased soil movement. The amounts of soil erosion or deposition are rarely measured or documented in datasets that have quantified soil carbon stock changes.

One option to include the effects of soil erosion and deposition is using well-tested models that capture these dynamics with required input data to make estimates of the effect of past erosion/deposition on soil carbon stocks (Van Oost *et al.* 2005; Causarano *et al.* 2007). However, use of such models also requires having empirical data on erosion/deposition effects on carbon stocks for evaluation of the model predictions. Another option is to consistently apply a rationale that identifies measured data of soil carbon stock changes that are affected by erosion/deposition for the development of Tier 2 or 3 methods, developing factors related to erosion/deposition impacts, and then applying these factors in areas affected by erosion/deposition.

In addition to model-based approaches, Tier 3 methods afford the opportunity to develop a measurement-based inventory using a similar monitoring network as needed for model evaluation. However, measurement networks, which serve as the basis for a complete inventory, will have a considerably larger sampling density to minimise uncertainty, and to represent all management systems and associated land-use changes, across all climatic regions and major soil types (Sleutel *et al.*, 2003; Lettens *et al.*, 2004). Measurement networks can be based on soil sampling at benchmark sites or flux tower networks. Flux towers, such as those using eddy covariance systems (Baldocchi *et al.*, 2001), constitute a unique case in that they measure the *net* exchange of CO_2 between the atmosphere and land surface. Thus, with respect to changes in C stocks for the soil pool, flux tower measurement networks are subject to the following caveats: 1) towers need to occur at a sufficient density to represent fluxes for the entire country; 2) flux estimates need to be attributed to individual land-use sectors and specific land-use and management activities; and 3) CO_2 fluxes need to be further attributed to individual pools including stock changes in soils (also biomass and dead organic matter). Additional considerations about soil measurements are given in the previous section on Tier 2 methods for mineral soils (See stock change factor discussion).

It is important to note that measurement-based inventories represent full C estimation approaches, addressing all influences on soil C stocks. Partial estimation of only land-use and management effects may be difficult, however. Examples in Box 2.2d provide illustrations of Tier 3 methods for estimating change in mineral soil C stocks, including information such as type of data required, brief description of the models and methods that are used to apply the models. For Tier 3 methods, it is important to calibrate and test models against field measurements that reflect the variability in climate, soil type and land use over which the model will be applied (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Application of the equivalent mass approach may be possible for calculating soil C stocks with Tier 3 models, and is discussed in Box 2.2e.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods

Four examples of Tier 3 model applications for soil organic C stock changes are elaborated in this section based on government reporting to the UNFCCC by the Australia, Finland, Japan and United States.

Australia

Australia has implemented a Tier 3 inventory approach based on the use of the FullCAM model (Richards 2001; Richards & Evans 2004) to estimate management induced changes in the stock of organic carbon held in the 0-30 cm soil depth layer over time. Australian lands included in the inventory were allocated to forest land, cropland, grassland, deforested land, forest land converted to cropland and grassland, grassland converted to forest land, and land with sparse woody vegetation based on national land use mapping (ABARES 2016) and remote sensing protocols (Caccetta *et al.* 2012) Detailed presentations of the soil carbon accounting processes under all land uses can be found in the National Inventory Reports (NIR) (http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-measurement/publications/national-inventory-report-2015). Here a summary is provided of the Tier 3 approach as applied to soil organic carbon stocks for cropland and grassland.

The FullCAM model simulates soil carbon stock change in 25m x 25m areas across Australia. This size was selected as it represented the finest scale to which the remote sensing process (Caccetta *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) can detect land use change and quantify movement of lands between the various classes included in the inventory. The data requirements and processes used to quantify the impact of management on Australia's 0-30 cm stock of soil organic carbon can be summarised as follows:

- 1) Spatially explicit daily and monthly climatic data (average temperature, total rainfall and total pan evaporation) are extracted from the Australian Bureau of Meteorology database and then interpolated using thin plate smoothing splines according to (Kesteven & Lansberg 2004). Additionally, spatially explicit estimates of soil clay content and water holding capacity are extracted from the Soil and Landscape Grid of Australia These data represent required inputs the (www.clw.csiro.au/aclep/soilandlandscapegrid/). modelling described in steps 4 and 5.
- 2) The initial 0-30 cm total soil organic carbon stock is defined using a national map derived by Viscarra Rossel *et al.* (2014). This total stock is then allocated to three measurable organic carbon fractions (particulate, humus and resistant forms) that provide estimates for the respective stocks of resistant plant material, humus and inert carbon required to initialize the FullCAM model (Baldock *et al.* 2013; Skjemstad *et al.* 2004; Viscarra Rossel & Hicks 2015).
- 3) The types of crops and pastures grown, the applied management practices (e.g. tillage and residue management) and their relative allocations within defined land areas are calculated using national agricultural statistics derived from censuses conducted every five years (http://www.abs.gov.au/Agriculture).
- 4) For the bulk of Australian crops and pastures, total growth is defined by the availability of water received as rainfall. Thus, a plant growth model applying species specific transpiration efficiency terms to the amount of water made available to growing plants is used to estimate above ground dry matter production. This production is then used along with plant species specific harvest indices (Unkovich *et al.* 2010) and root:shoot ratios to define the mass of carbon entering the soil and/or deposited on the soil surface for each monthly time step within the FullCAM simulation model. Within irrigated systems, plant growth attains defined plant specific maximum values each year.
- 5) The FullCAM model is then initialized and run on a monthly time step. During each step, decomposition of decomposable and resistant plant materials and humus pools of C occurs according to first order decay equations. The values of the decomposition rate constants associated with the resistant plant material and humus pools of carbon within the model were calibrated to Australian conditions to the corresponding measured stocks of soil carbon fractions

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

5) (continued) of soil temperature and water content on decomposition is modelled through the application of decomposition rate constant modifiers as done in the Rothamsted Carbon Model (RothC) soil carbon model (Jenkinson 1990).

The impact of management on soil carbon stocks is quantified by running the described modelling process forward from 1970 under two scenarios. In both scenarios, the same relative spatial allocation of regimes (combinations of crop or pasture species and management practice) is used from 1970 to 1990. From 1990 onwards, the relative spatial allocation of regimes is held constant at 1990 values in the first scenario. For the second scenario, the regimes are varied from 1991 onwards to reflect the temporal variations in regimes defined within the available data. The first scenario thus estimates the soil carbon stock that would have been attained with no change in management from that present in 1990; while the second scenario estimates the soil carbon stock attained when management changes over time are accounted for. The net impact of management since 1990 is then calculated as the difference in the soil organic carbon stock between the two scenarios.

Finland

Finland uses Yasso07 soil carbon model as a Tier 3 method to report carbon stock changes on forest and agricultural lands as well as in the cases of land use change (Statistics Finland 2017). Yasso07 is based on a few explicit assumptions on soil carbon cycling and these assumptions form a conceptual model further formulated into mathematical equations (Tuomi *et al.* 2011b; US EPA 2017). The model has four state variables based on the solubility of the organic material (acid-, water-, ethanol- and non-soluble and in addition, there is a humus pool that has the lowest decay rate.

The model is used in the NGHGI to generate annual C stock change rates per hectare based on regional estimates of organic matter input (forest and crop statistics) and annual climate parameters. Litter input is given in the four solubility fractions based on laboratory measurements. Organic matter decays in the five model fractions driven by temperature and precipitation. The resulting C stock change rates are applied on the respective land areas to produce regional estimates of C stock change. The model is used consistently across different land use categories so that e.g. the initial C allocation to different model compartments in forest land converted to cropland is based on the results of the simulation of forest soil remaining forest soil.

Model parameters rely on a large global database of measurements of litter decay, wood decay and soil carbon and all parameter values have been estimated using Markov chain Monte Carlo method. Alternative details in the model structure have been evaluated using Bayesian criteria (Tuomi *et al.* 2011a). The results of Yasso07 model are characterized by statistical probability distributions that represent uncertainty about the parameter values. The Yasso07 approach makes it possible and easy to add new data to the database and develop the model continuously (model-data-fusion). The model has been extensively tested against independent data on forest land (Dalsgaard *et al.* 2016; Lehtonen *et al.* 2016; Rantakari *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) and also on cropland (Karhu *et al.* 2012). Yasso07 is a standard component of Max Planck Institute Earth System Model (Goll *et al.* 2017) and the model is used for UNFCCC reporting in several countries (e.g. Austria, Benin, Czech Republic, Estonia, Ireland, Finland, Latvia, Norway, Romania and Switzerland), see Hernandez *et al.* (2017). The model is widely used because it is simple, transparent, verifiable, freely available and easy to apply. For more information, consult <u>http://en.ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/yasso.</u>

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

Japan

Japan uses a Tier 3 method to estimate soil organic C stock changes in agriculture land (cropland and managed grassland) based on RothC. RothC model is a soil carbon dynamic model validated by using long-term field experiments (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996). In order to apply the model to Japanese agricultural condition, the model was tested against long-term experimental data sets in Japanese agricultural lands. It was found that the original model could apply for non-volcanic upland soils without any modification or calibration (Shirato & Taniyama 2003), however, the model required modification for Andosols and paddy soils by taking unique mechanisms of soil C dynamics in these soils into account. For Andosols, the decomposition rate constant of the HUM (humified organic matter) pool of RothC was reduced because the presence of Al-humus complexes enhances its stability and resistance to decomposition (Shirato *et al.* 2004). For paddy soils, the decomposition rate constants of all four active C pools was reduced on the basis of differences in organic matter decomposition rates between upland and paddy (submerged in the rice growing season) soil conditions (Shirato & Yokozawa 2005). Model performance was verified by comparing the model output with measured soil C stock data under various climate condition, soil types and land uses.

The model is applied at the country scale (Yagasaki & Shirato 2014) using weather data (monthly average temperature, precipitation, and open-pan evaporation), soil property data (soil clay content, depth of surface soil, carbon content at the starting year, and bulk density), land use data and other activity data (carbon input from crop residue and organic manure) and calculated at each standard mesh (100 x 100m). The weather, soil property and land use data are available as spatially explicit data set, while carbon input from crop residue and organic manure are calculated by statistical data and survey data available based on public administration boundary basis. The all obtained data are allocated to each standard mesh and then run the model.

In the NGHGI, the model is used to generate average C stock change rates per hectare in each prefecture and in each sub-category (rice field, upland crop fields, orchards and managed grassland). This is because the land use data used for the model estimation (grid-based data set) and used for the official land classification in the NGHGI (statistical data) are not consistent very much and so Japan put its priority using a consistent land area data among every estimate relating to agriculture land in AFOLU sector. This is one of the key challenges of the model application to the NGHGI and the development of a standard spatially explicit land use data set is needed for the further improvement of estimations.

United States of America

The United States uses a Tier 3 method based on the DayCent Ecosystem Model to estimate soil C stock changes in cropland and grassland (Ogle *et al.* 2010, US EPA 2017). DayCent is a processbased model that simulated soil organic matter dynamics using a three-pool structure originally developed for the Century Model (Parton *et al.* 1998; Parton *et al.* 1987). Model testing and parameterisation of DayCent has been conducted across a wide range of cropland and grassland sites globally. For the inventory, the model is applied using land use data that are compiled through a national survey, National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser *et al.* 1998; Nusser & Goebel 1997). The NRI has a two-stage sample with recorded history, starting in 1979, for approximately 400,000 survey locations that are cropland or grassland throughout the conterminous United States. Each survey location that is identified as cropland also has the specific crop rotation histories that were grown by the farmer. Daily weather and soils data are needed to drive the model, and this information is based on national datasets. Remote sensing data is used to inform production estimates based on MODIS Enhanced Vegetation Index products. Other data are also incorporated into the analysis, such as N fertilization rate data compiled through surveys.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

One of the key challenges in developing a Tier 3 method is to robustly address uncertainties. Compilers in the United States have addressed uncertainties in model inputs (e.g., fertilization rates, tillage practices and organic amendments), model structure and parameterization, and propagate uncertainty through the model application using an Approach 2 method (i.e., Monte Carlo Analysis) (Ogle et al. 2010). Model structure and parameterization is addressed using an empirically-based method in which observed experimental data are compared to simulation results, and predictive ability of the model is quantified using statistical methods (Ogle et al. 2007). These experimental observations are independent from the data that are used to parameterise the model. The resulting statistical equation is applied to adjust for biases in model results, if needed, and address the precision of the model C stock changes. The major advantage of the Tier 3 method is that the results are much more precise than Tier 1 and 2 methods, with uncertainty ranging from $\pm 60\%$ in the Tier 1 method to about $\pm 20\%$ for the Tier 3 method (US-EPA 2017). The improved precision is due to the process-based framework in the DayCent model that incorporates more drivers of soil C stock changes than lower Tier methods. However, without adequate activity data or a model with sufficient prediction capability, a Tier 3 method could produce less precise results than lower-tier methods.

BOX 2.2E (NEW)

CONSIDERATION OF EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS WITHIN TIER 3 MODELLING APPROACHES

Process models that are used to estimate carbon stock changes over time, such as Century (Parton et al. 1987) and RothC (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996) can also be affected by changing soil bulk density by the nature of the carbon stock data used for model parameterisation. These types of models simulate the mass balance of organic carbon over time to a defined soil depth (e.g., 30 cm or an alternative). The models require initialisation at which point an initial carbon stock is determined along with an initial soil mass in some cases (although the soil mass is rarely determined explicitly, it is implicit in the model application). The models therefore use an equivalent soil mass approach to simulate changes in carbon stocks since the estimated carbon stocks are unaffected by concurrent soil bulk density changes. If the models are parameterised to carbon stocks on an equivalent mass basis, then the carbon stock changes estimated by the parametrised model, and for a factor derived from those modelled estimates, will be for soil carbon change on an equivalent mass basis. However, the carbon stock change calculated from carbon stock measurements for a fixed depth is the net effect of the effect of soil bulk density changes on carbon stocks and the effect of biochemical processes on carbon stocks. Therefore, when parameterised using fixed-depth carbon stock data, the model will be estimating the net effect of these processes, so the modelled carbon stock estimates only will be appropriate for the fixed depth and cannot address changes in mass of the soil over time. Careful consideration of the effects of model assumptions and choice of data used for model parametrisation and testing is required to understand and properly report the basis of the carbon stock changes that are estimated directly or indirectly by a model based on parameterisation with data from fixed depths.

Tier 3 methods can be used to model the loss of biochar C over time after its application to mineral soils and to account for GHG sources and sinks not captured in Tier 2, to address changes to N_2O or CH₄ fluxes from soils⁸, to estimate changes to net primary production (and associated C inputs to soil organic C pool), the mechanisms and effects underlying interactions with soil, climate and other environmental variables. Although positive priming of labile soil organic matter is not expected to have a significant impact in the long term (Annex 2A.2), negative priming leading to an increase in soil organic carbon stocks could have a substantial impact in soils amended with biochar (Woolf *et al.* 2012). Similarly, to the extent that there are reductions in net emissions of N_2O and CH₄ from soil and increases in plant growth, there could be a larger impact of biochar additions on reducing greenhouse gas emissions (Gaunt & Lehmann 2008; Woolf *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011). It is also important to recognise

⁸ Impacts of biochar amendments on N₂O are estimated in the methods for soil N₂O emissions (Chapter 11), and impacts on CH₄ emissions are estimated from specific land uses in the inventory, such as Rice Cultivation (Chapter 5) and Wetlands (Chapter 7).

that the dynamic nature of biochar decomposition is important because its net impact on soil C stocks and GHG emissions varies with time, which can be better addressed with a Tier 3 model.

Examples of advanced modelling approaches include representing the dynamic impact of biochar decomposition over long time scales (Lenton & Vaughan 2009), and process-based modelling using biochar-specific LCA models (e.g. Roberts *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011; Shackley *et al.* 2012; Sparrevik *et al.* 2013). There are also applications that have focused on soil greenhouse gas emission balances, together with modelling of decomposition rates (H/C_{org} ratio; Lehmann *et al.* 2015) and priming (Woolf & Lehmann, 2012; Wang *et al.* 2016). In addition, models have been used to simulate nitrous oxide reductions (Cayuela *et al.* 2013, 2014) as a function of H/C_{org} ratio (Cayuela *et al.* 2015) and feedbacks to primary plant productivity (Jeffery *et al.* 2011, 2015) and associated impacts on SOC stocks (Whitman *et al.* 2010, 2011).

Organic soils

No Refinement. See Chapter 2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No Refinement.

2.4 NON-CO₂ EMISSIONS

There are significant emissions of non-greenhouse gases from biomass burning, livestock and manure management, or soils. N_2O emissions from soils are covered in Chapter 11, where guidance is given on methods that can be applied nationally (i.e., irrespective of land-use types) if a country chooses to use national scale activity data. The guidance on CH₄ and N₂O emissions from livestock and manure are addressed only in Chapter 10 because emissions do not depend on land characteristics. A generic approach to estimating greenhouse gas emissions from fire (both CO₂ and non-CO₂ gases) is described below, with land-use specific enhancements given in the Forest Land, Grassland and Cropland chapters. It is *good practice* to check for complete coverage of CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions due to losses in carbon stocks and pools to avoid omissions or double counting.

Emissions from fire include not only CO₂, but also other greenhouse gases, or precursors of greenhouse gases, that originate from incomplete combustion of the fuel. These include carbon monoxide (CO), methane (CH₄), non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOC) and nitrogen (e.g., N₂O, NO_x) species (Levine, 1994). In the *1996 IPCC Guidelines* and *GPG2000*, non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions from fire in savannas and burning of crop residues were addressed along with emissions from Forest Land and Grassland conversion. The methodology differed somewhat by vegetation type, and fires in Forest Land were not included. In the *GPG-LULUCF*, emissions (CO₂ and non-CO₂) from fires were addressed, particularly in the chapter covering Forest Land (losses of carbon resulting from disturbances). In the Cropland and Grassland chapters, only non-CO₂ emissions were considered, with the assumption that the CO₂ emissions would be counterbalanced by CO₂ removals from the subsequent regrowth of the vegetation within one year. This assumption implies maintenance of soil fertility – an assumption which countries may ignore if they have evidence of fertility decline due to fire. In Forest Land, there is generally a lack of synchrony (non-equivalence of CO₂ emissions and removals in the year of reporting).

These Guidelines provide a more generic approach for estimating emissions from fire. Fire is treated as a disturbance that affects not only the biomass (in particular, above-ground), but also the dead organic matter (litter and dead wood). The term `biomass burning` is widely used and is retained in these Guidelines but acknowledging that fuel components other than live biomass are often very significant, especially in forest systems. For Cropland and Grassland having little woody vegetation, reference is usually made to biomass burning, since biomass is the main pool affected by the fire.

Countries should apply the following principles when estimating greenhouse gas emissions resulting from fires in Forest Land, Cropland and Grassland:

- Coverage of reporting: Emissions (CO₂ and non- CO₂) need to be reported for all fires (prescribed fires and wildfires) on managed lands (the exception is CO₂ from Grassland, as discussed below). Where there is a land-use change, any greenhouse gas emission from fire should be reported under the new land-use category (transitional category). Emissions from wildfires (and escaped prescribed fires) that occur on unmanaged lands do not need to be reported, unless those lands are followed by a land-use change (i.e., become managed land).
- Fire as a management tool (prescribed burning): greenhouse gas emissions from the area burnt are reported, and if the fire affects unmanaged land, greenhouse gas emissions should also be reported if the fire is followed by a land-use change.
- Equivalence (synchrony) of CO₂ emissions and removals: CO₂ net emissions should be reported where the CO₂ emissions and removals for the biomass pool are not equivalent in the inventory year. For grassland

biomass burning and burning of agriculture residues, the assumption of equivalence is generally reasonable. However, woody vegetation may also burn in these land categories, and greenhouse gas emissions from those sources should be reported using a higher Tier method. Further, in many parts of the world, grazing is the predominant land use in Forest Land that are regularly burnt (e.g., grazed woodlands and savannas), and care must be taken before assuming synchrony in such systems. For Forest Land, synchrony is unlikely if significant woody biomass is killed (i.e., losses represent several years of growth and C accumulation), and the net emissions should be reported. Examples include: clearing of native forest and conversion to agriculture and/or plantations and wildfires in Forest Land.

- Fuels available for combustion: Factors that reduce the amount of fuels available for combustion (e.g., from grazing, decay, removal of biofuels, livestock feed, etc.) should be accounted for. A mass balance approach should be adopted to account for residues, to avoid underestimation or double counting (refer to Section 2.3.2).
- Annual reporting: despite the large inherent spatial and temporal variability of fire (in particular that from wildfires), countries should estimate and report greenhouse gas emissions from fire on an annual basis.

These Guidelines provide a comprehensive approach for estimating carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions resulting from fire in the Forest Land (including those resulting from forest conversion), and non-CO₂ emissions in the Cropland and Grassland. Non-CO₂ emissions are addressed for the following five types of burning: (1) grassland burning (which includes perennial woody shrubland and savanna burning); (2) agricultural residues burning; (3) burning of litter, understory and harvest residues in Forest Land, (4) burning following forest clearing and conversion to agriculture; and (5) other types of burning (including those resulting from wildfires). Direct emissions of CO₂ are also addressed for items (3) and (4) and (5). Since estimating emissions in these different categories have many elements in common, this section provides a generic approach to estimate CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions from fire, to avoid repetition in specific land-use sections that address emissions from fire in these Guidelines.

Prescribed burning of savannas is included under the grassland biomass burning section (Chapter 6, Grassland, Section 6.3.4). It is important to avoid double counting when estimating greenhouse gas emissions from savannas that have a vegetation physiognomy characteristic of Forest Land. An example of this is the cerradão (dense woodland) formation in Brazil which, although being a type of savanna, is included under Forest Land, due to its biophysical characteristics.

In addition to the greenhouse gas emissions from combustion, fires may lead to the creation of an inert carbon stock (charcoal or char). Post-fire residues comprise unburned and partially burnt components, as well as a small amount of char that due to its chemical nature is highly resistant to decomposition. The knowledge of the rates of char formation under contrasting burning conditions and subsequent turnover rates is currently too limited (Forbes *et al.*, 2006; Preston and Schmidt, 2006) to allow development of a reliable methodology for inventory purposes, and hence is not included in these Guidelines. A technical basis for further methodological development is included in Appendix 1.

Additionally, although emissions of NMVOC also occur as a result of fire, they are not addressed in the present Guidelines due to the paucity of the data and size of uncertainties in many of the key parameters needed for the estimation, which prevent the development of reliable emission estimates.

METHOD DESCRIPTION

Each relevant section in these Guidelines includes a three-tiered approach to address CO_2 (where applicable) and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. The choice of Tier can be made following the steps in the decision tree presented in Figure 2.6. Under the Tier 1 approach, the formulation presented in Equation 2.27 can be applied to estimate CO_2 and non- CO_2 emissions from fire, using the default data provided in this chapter and in the relevant land-use sections of these Guidelines. Higher Tiers involve a more refined application of Equation 2.27.

Since Tier 1 methodology adopts a simplified approach to estimating the dead organic matter pool (see Section 2.3.2), certain assumptions must be made when estimating net greenhouse gas emissions from fire in those systems (e.g. Forest Land, and Forest Land converted to another land use), where dead organic matter can be a major component of the fuel burnt. Emissions of CO_2 from dead organic matter are assumed to be zero in forests that are burnt, but not killed by fire. If the fire is of sufficient intensity to kill a portion of the forest stand, under Tier 1 methodology, the C contained in the killed biomass is assumed to be immediately released to the atmosphere. This Tier 1 simplification may result in an overestimation of actual emissions in the year of the fire, if the amount of biomass carbon killed by the fire is greater than the amount of dead wood and litter carbon consumed by the fire.

Non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions are estimated for all fire situations. Under Tier 1, non-CO₂ emissions are best estimated using the actual fuel consumption provided in Table 2.7, and appropriate emission factors (Table 2.8) (i.e., not including newly killed biomass as a component of the fuel consumed). Clearly, if fire in forests contributes significantly to net greenhouse gas emissions, countries are encouraged to develop a more complete methodology

(higher tiers) which includes the dynamics of dead organic matter and improves the estimates of direct and postfire emissions.

For Forest Land converted to other land uses, organic matter burnt is derived from both newly felled vegetation and existing dead organic matter, and CO_2 emissions should be reported. In this situation, estimates of total fuel consumed (Table 2.6) can be used to estimate emissions of CO_2 and non- greenhouse gases using Equation 2.27. Care must be taken, however, to ensure that dead organic matter carbon losses during the land-use conversion are not double counted in Equations 2.27 (as losses from burning) and Equation 2.23 (as losses from decay).

A generic methodology to estimate the emissions of individual greenhouse gases for any type of fire is summarised in Equation 2.27.

EQUATION 2.27 ESTIMATION OF GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS FROM FIRE

 $L_{fire} = A \bullet M_B \bullet C_f \bullet G_{ef} \bullet 10^{-3}$

Where:

- L_{fire} = amount of greenhouse gas emissions from fire, tonnes of each GHG e.g., CH₄, N₂O, etc.
- A = area burnt, ha
- M_B = mass of fuel available for combustion, tonnes ha⁻¹. This includes biomass, ground litter and dead wood. When Tier 1 methods are used then litter and dead wood pools are assumed zero, except where there is a land-use change (see Section 2.3.2.2).
- C_f = combustion factor, dimensionless (default values in Table 2.6)
- G_{ef} = emission factor, g kg⁻¹ dry matter burnt (default values in Table 2.5)

Note. Where data for M_B and C_f are not available, a default value for the amount of fuel actually burnt (the product of M_B and C_f) can be used (Table 2.4) under Tier 1 methodology.

For CO_2 emissions, Equation 2.27 relates to Equation 2.14, which estimates the annual amount of live biomass loss from any type of disturbance.

The amount of fuel that can be burnt is given by the area burnt and the density of fuel present on that area. The fuel density can include biomass, dead wood and litter, which vary as a function of the type, age and condition of the vegetation. The type of fire also affects the amount of fuel available for combustion. For example, fuel available for low-intensity ground fires in forests will be largely restricted to litter and dead organic matter on the surface, while a higher-intensity 'crown fire' can also consume substantial amounts of tree biomass.

The combustion factor is a measure of the proportion of the fuel that is actually combusted, which varies as a function of the size and architecture of the fuel load (i.e., a smaller proportion of large, coarse fuel such as tree stems will be burnt compared to fine fuels, such as grass leaves), the moisture content of the fuel and the type of fire (i.e., intensity and rate of spread which is markedly affected by climatic variability and regional differences as reflected in Table 2.4). Finally, the emission factor gives the amount of a particular greenhouse gas emitted per unit of dry matter combusted, which can vary as a function of the carbon content of the biomass and the completeness of combustion. For species with high N concentrations, NO_x and N_2O emissions from fire can vary as a function of the N content of the fuel. A comprehensive review of emission factors was conducted by Andreae and Merlet (2001) and is summarised in Table 2.5.

Tier 2 methods employ the same general approach as Tier 1 but make use of more refined country-derived emission factors and/or more refined estimates of fuel densities and combustion factors than those provided in the default tables. Tier 3 methods are more comprehensive and include considerations of the dynamics of fuels (biomass and dead organic matter).





Note:

1. See Volume 1 Chapter 4, Methodological Choice and Identification of Key Categories (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees.

Table 2.4 (Updated) Fuel (dead organic matter plus live biomass) biomass consumption values (tonnes dry matter ha ⁻¹) for Fires in a range of vegetation types					
(To be used in Equat	ion 2.27, to estimate the product of quantities 'M	в • С _f ', i.e.	., an abs	olute amount)	
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SE	References	
	Primary tropical forest	83.9	25.8	7, 15, 66, 3, 16, 17, 45	
Primary tropical forest (slash	Primary open tropical forest	163.6	52.1	21,	
and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	160.4	11.8	37, 73	
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66	
All primary tropical forests		119.6	50.7		
	Young secondary tropical forest (3-5 yrs)	8.1	-	61	
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	41.1	27.4	61, 35	
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	46.4	8.0	61, 73	
All secondary tropical forests		42.2	23.6	66, 30	
All Tertiary tropical forest		54.1	-	66, 30	
	Wildfire (general)	52.8	48.4	2, 33, 66	
	Crown fire	25.1	7.9	11, 43, 66, 41, 63, 64	
Boreal forest	Surface fire	21.6	25.1	43, 69, 66, 63, 64, 1	
	Post logging slash burn	69.6	44.8	49, 40, 66, 18	
	Land clearing fire	87.5	35.0	10, 67	
All boreal forest		41.0	36.5	43, 45, 69, 47	
	Wildfire	53.0	53.6	66, 32, 9	
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	16.0	13.7	66, 72, 54, 60, 9	
Eucalypt forests	Post logging slash burn	168.4	168. 8	25, 58, 46	
	Felled, wood removed, and burned (land- clearing fire)	132.6	-	62, 9	
All Eucalypt forests		69.4	100.		
	Wildfire	19.8	6.3	32, 66	
Other temperate forests	Post logging slash burn	77.5	65.0	55, 19, 14, 27, 66	
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	48.4	62.7	53, 24, 71	
All "other" temperate forests			53.7	43, 56	
	Shrubland (general)	26.7	4.2	43	
Shruhlands	Calluna heath	11.5	4.3	26, 39	
Sin utranus	Sagebrush	5.7	3.8	66	
	Fynbos	12.9	0.1	70, 66	
All Shrublands	14.3	9.0			

TABLE 2.4 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) FUEL (DEAD ORGANIC MATTER PLUS LIVE BIOMASS) BIOMASS CONSUMPTION VALUES (TONNES DRY MATTER HA ⁻¹) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (To be used in Equation 2.27 to estimate the product of supertities 'Mathematica' is an elevable amount)						
Vegetation type	Subsectorery	Mon	, an aos	Bafaranaas		
vegetation type	Subcategory		SE	References		
Savanna woodlands (early dry	Savanna woodland	2.5	-	28		
season burns)*	Savanna parkland	2.7	-	57		
All savanna woodlands (early dry season burns)			0.1			
	Savanna woodland	3.3	-	57		
Savanna woodlands (mid/late	Savanna parkland	4.0	1.1	57, 6, 51		
dry season burns)*	Tropical savanna	6	1.8	52, 73		
	Other savanna woodlands	5.3	1.7	59, 57, 31		
All savanna woodlands (mid/late dry season burns)*			1.5			
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (early dry season burns)*	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	2.1	-	28		
	Grassland	-	-	48		
All savanna grasslands (early	dry season burns)*	2.1	-			
	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	5.2	1.7	9, 73, 12, 57		
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures	Grassland	4.1	3.1	43, 9		
(mid/late dry season burns)*	Tropical pasture~	23.7	11.8	4, 23, 38, 66		
	Savanna	7.0	2.7	42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 65		
All savanna grasslands (mid/la	ate dry season burns)*	10.0	10.1			
Other sector time to make	Peatland	41	1.4	68, 33		
Other vegetation types	Tundra	10	-	33		
Agricultural residues (post- harvest field burning) $M_B = AGR_{(T)} \times Frac_{Brunt(T)}$ See Equation 11.6 in Chapter 11, Volume 4 for AGR _(T) calculation						
 * Surface layer combustion only ~ Derived from slashed tropical forest (includes unburned woody material) a For sugarcane, data refer to burning before harvest of the crop. b Expert assessment by authors. 						

TABLE 2.5 EMISSION FACTORS (g kg ⁻¹ DRY MATTER BURNT) FOR VARIOUS TYPES OF BURNING. VALUES ARE MEANS ± SD AND ARE BASED ON THE COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW BY ANDREAE AND MERLET (2001) (To be used as quantity 'Gef' in Equation 2.27)							
Category	CO ₂	СО	CH4	N ₂ O	NO _X		
Savanna and grassland	1613 ± 95	65 ± 20	2.3 ± 0.9	0.21 ± 0.10	3.9 ± 2.4		
Agricultural residues	1515 ± 177	92 ± 84	2.7	0.07	2.5 ± 1.0		
Tropical forest	1580 ± 90	104 ± 20	6.8 ± 2.0	0.20	1.6 ± 0.7		
Extra tropical forest	1569 ± 131	107 ± 37	4.7 ± 1.9	0.26 ±0.07	3.0 ± 1.4		
Biofuel burning	1550 ±95	78 ± 31	6.1 ± 2.2	0.06	$\begin{array}{c} 1.1 \\ \pm 0.6 \end{array}$		

Note: The "extra tropical forest' category includes all other forest types.

Note: For combustion of non-woody biomass in Grassland and Cropland, CO_2 emissions do not need to be estimated and reported, because it is assumed that annual CO_2 removals (through growth) and emissions (whether by decay or fire) by biomass are in balance (see earlier discussion on synchrony in Section 2.4.

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity Cf in Equation 2.27)						
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References		
	Primary tropical forest	0.32	0.12	7, 8, 15, 56, 66, 3, 16, 53, 17, 45,		
Primary tropical forest	Primary open tropical forest	0.45	0.09	21		
(slash and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	0.50	0.03	37, 73		
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66		
All primary tropical fores	ts	0.36	0.13			
	Young secondary tropical forest (3- 5 yrs)	0.46	-	61		
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	0.67	0.21	61, 35		
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	0.50	0.10	61, 73		
All secondary tropical for	0.55	0.06	56, 66, 34, 30			
All tertiary tropical forest		0.59	-	66, 30		
	Wildfire (general)	0.40	0.06	33		
	Crown fire	0.43	0.21	66, 41, 64, 63		
Boreal forest	surface fire	0.15	0.08	64, 63		
	Post logging slash burn	0.33	0.13	49, 40, 18		
	Land clearing fire	0.59	-	67		
All boreal forest		0.34	0.17	45, 47		
	Wildfire	-	-			
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	0.61	0.11	72, 54, 60, 9		
Eucalyptus forests	Post logging slash burn	0.68	0.14	25, 58, 46		
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.49	-	62		
All Eucalyptus forests	All Eucalyptus forests					
	Post logging slash burn	0.62	0.12	55, 19, 27, 14		
Other temperate forests	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.51	-	53, 24, 71		
All "other" temperate for	0.45	0.16	53, 56			

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity C _f in Equation 2.27)						
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References		
Shrublands	Shrubland (general)	0.95	-	44		
	Calluna heath	0.71	0.30	26, 56, 39		
	Fynbos	0.61	0.16	70, 44		
All shrublands	•	0.72	0.25			
	Savanna woodland	0.22	-	28		
Savanna woodlands (early dry season burns)*	Savanna parkland	0.73	-	57		
	Other savanna woodlands	0.37	0.19	22, 29		
All savanna woodlands (ea	rly dry season burns)	0.40	0.22			
	Savanna woodland	0.72	-	66, 57		
Savanna woodlands	Savanna parkland	0.82	0.07	57, 6, 51		
(mid/late dry season burns)*	Tropical savanna	0.73	0.04	52, 73, 66, 12		
	Other savanna woodlands	0.68	0.19	22, 29, 44, 31, 57		
All savanna woodlands (m	id/late dry season burns)*	0.74	0.14			
Savanna Grasslands/	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.74	-	28		
burns)*	Grassland	-	-	48		
All savanna grasslands (ea	rly dry season burns)*	0.74	-			
	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.92	0.11	44, 73, 66, 12, 57		
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (mid/late dry	Tropical pasture~	0.35	0.21	4, 23, 38, 66		
season burns)*	Savanna	0.86	0.12	53, 5, 56, 42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 44, 65, 66		
All savanna grasslands (m	id/late dry season burns)*	0.77	0.26			
Other vegetation types	Peatland	0.50	-	20, 44		
Other vegetation types	Tropical Wetlands	0.70	-	44		
	Wheat residues	0.90	-	see Note b		
	Maize residues	0.80	-	see Note b		
(Post-harvest field	Rice residues	0.80	-	see Note b		
burning)	Sugarcane a	0.80	-	see Note b		
	Other Crops	0.85	-	see Note b		
* Surface layer combustion only refer to burning before harvest	y; [~] Derived from slashed tropical forest (of the crop; ^b Expert assessment by author	includes unburned	woody materia	l); ^a For sugarcane, data		

2.5 ADDITIONAL GENERIC GUIDANCE FOR TIER 3 METHODS

Tier 3 inventories are advanced systems using measurements and/or modelling, with the goal of improving the estimation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and removals, beyond what is possible with Tier 1 or 2 methods.

In this section, guidelines are elaborated that provide a sound scientific basis for the development of Tier 3 Inventories in the AFOLU sector. These guidelines do not limit the selection of Tier 3 sampling schemes or modelling methods but provide general guidance to assist the inventory developer in their implementation. AFOLU inventory compilers are advised to read this section in conjunction with general guidance for Tier 3 methods relevant to all sectors found in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

2.5.1 Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories

Inventories can be based on direct measurements from which emissions and removals of carbon are estimated. Purely measurement-based inventories, e.g., based on repeated measurements using a national forest inventory or similar estimation methods can produce carbon stock change estimates but still rely on appropriate statistical models, such as allometric models or volume and wood density functions. Inventories using measurement-based methods also need to select appropriate statistical sampling estimators to produce a national inventory from the plot estimates. Moreover, inventory plot remeasurements will typically require additional data or methods to arrive at estimates of GHG emissions from disturbance events, in particular for non-CO₂ GHG. Measurement of non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions is possible, but because of the high spatial and temporal variability, Tier 3 methods for estimating non-CO₂ emissions typically use a combination of models (see Section 2.5.2) and measurements.

Many countries using a measurement-based Tier 3 method will already have well established national inventories. Typically, these inventories have been established for purposes other than collecting data for estimating carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions (e.g., National Forest Inventories for timber resource assessments or soil resource mapping for agricultural planning). In general, the following six steps should be considered when implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory.

Step 1. Develop a sampling scheme, including sample unit (plot) design and measurements to be collected.

Sampling schemes can be developed using a variety of methods such as simple random, stratified random, systematic or model-based sampling. When designing a sampling scheme, countries often also consider factors such as spatial variability and temporal dynamics of carbon stocks, key environmental variables (e.g., climate) and management systems (e.g., harvested forest land, grazed grassland).

When using a repeated measurement design, the timing of re-measurement may be influenced by the rate of change experienced. For example, re-measurement periods in boreal and some temperate regions, where trees grow slowly and DOM pools change little in single years, can be longer than in environments where carbon dynamics are more rapid. When implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory, the inventory compiler should take into consideration that it will not be possible to estimate emissions and removals using the stock-difference method until a minimum of two measurement cycles have been conducted (often 10 years or longer in total).

Some sampling schemes do not include re-sampling of the same sites (e.g., temporary inventory plot designs). Such designs may limit the statistical power of the analysis when estimating change, and therefore lead to greater uncertainty in estimates of carbon stock change. Repeated measurement designs with permanent plot locations typically provide a better basis for estimating carbon stock changes or emissions. The utility of permanent plots is often greater if they are accurately georeferenced to facilitate the use of spatial auxiliary variables, such as from remote sensing (GFOI, 2016).

For some carbon pools, such as soil carbon, litter and woody debris, it is not necessarily possible to remeasure the same material through time (i.e., if taking a soil core, that soil has been removed from the site and cannot be remeasured, unlike measuring the same trees through time). However, multiple samples can be taken at each time step to capture local site scale heterogeneity in the carbon stock and detect changes over time with each re-sampling of a site (Ellert et al., 2002, Conant et al., 2003). Where countries use direct measurement methods for soil C, the sampling design needs to ensure that a sufficient number of samples are taken at each measurement time for estimating stock change (Spencer et al., 2011).

Inventory and plot designs should consider the practicality of implementation given country circumstances (e.g., terrain, access, safety, vegetation type). The types and number of measurements will depend on the plot design, the underlying population of carbon pools to be reported and the data requirements of methods adopted to estimate carbon stocks and stock changes from the plot data.

It is *good practice* to develop a methodology handbook (e.g., Canadian Forest Service, 2008; US Forest Service, 2006) explaining the entire sampling scheme as part of Step 1. This handbook can be useful for those involved with the measurements, laboratory analyses and other aspects of the process, as well as possibly providing supporting material for documentation purposes. The handbook should document the plot design, in particular how plots are to be located and, in the case of repeated measurement designs, re-located for future measurements (Vidal et al., 2016).

Step 2. Select sample sites.

Specific sampling sites will be located based on sampling design. It is *good practice* to have an appropriate process in place for selecting alternative sites in case it is not possible to sample some original locations. In a repeated measurement design, the sites will become a monitoring network that is periodically re-sampled.

Determining sampling locations will likely involve the use of a geographic information system. A geographic database may include information on land use and land-use changes (i.e., activity data) as well as a variety of environmental and management data, such as climate, soils, land use, and livestock operations, depending on the source category and stratification. If key geographic data are not available at the national scale, or are spatially inconsistent, the inventory developer may either 1) re-evaluate the design and stratification (if used) in Step 1 and possibly modify the sampling design or 2) re-develop the geographic data to meet the inventory requirements.

Normally the sampling intensity should be the same within a stratum but not necessarily between strata. However, where the stratification is based on land use and is updated for each inventory, changes in land use between measurement periods can complicate the estimation of changes in carbon stocks over time. As such, it is *good practice* to use stratification methods that do not lead to bias or time-series inconsistencies due to changes in land use.

Sampling may require coordination among different national ministries, provincial or state governments, corporate and private land owners. Establishing relationships among these stakeholders can be undertaken before collecting initial samples. Informing stakeholders about ongoing monitoring may also be helpful and lead to greater success in implementing monitoring programs.

Step 3. Collect initial samples.

Once the plot locations have been determined, a measurement team can visit those locations, establish plots and collect initial measurements and samples. It is helpful to take geographic coordinates of plot locations or sample points with a global positioning system (GPS) to help relocate them later, noting that GPS readings are often not accurate enough to relocate the exact plot location, especially under dense forest canopies. As such, if repeated measurements are planned, it is *good practice* to permanently mark the location for ease of finding and re-sampling the site in the future. Where possible these markers should not be visible to the land owner (e.g., utility ball markers that can be buried in the soil and re-located precisely over time).

It is *good practice* to take relevant measurements and notes of the environmental conditions and management at the site. This will confirm that the conditions were consistent with the design of the sampling scheme, and also may be used in data analysis (Step 5). If a stratified sampling approach is used, and it becomes apparent that many or most sites are not consistent with the expected environmental conditions and management systems, it is *good practice* to repeat Step 1, re-evaluating and possibly modifying the sampling scheme based on the new information.

Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.

For repeated measurement designs, sampling sites will be periodically re-sampled with the time between remeasurement dependant on the rate of stock changes or the variability in emissions, the resources available for the monitoring program, and the design of the sampling scheme. It is *good practice* to avoid any impact of measurement techniques on C stocks and their dynamics (i.e. no destructive sampling) where permanent sample plots are used.

If destructive sampling is involved, such as removing a soil core or dead organic matter sample, it is *good practice* to re-sample at the same site but not at the exact location in which the sample was removed during the past. Destructive sampling the exact location is likely to create bias in the measurements. Such biases would compromise the monitoring and produce results that are not representative of national trends. When destructive sampling of trees is undertaken, for example to develop or validate allometric equations, the samples are usually taken from locations or species that are considered representative of the trees in the plots.

Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes/non-CO₂ emissions, and infer national emissions and removal estimates and their uncertainty.

A well-designed sampling scheme will provide an unbiased estimate and variance for the measured quantities (See Volume I, Chapter 3 for more information). The overall result of the statistical analysis will be estimates of carbon stock changes or measurements of emissions from which the national emission and removal estimates can be derived.

To derive estimates of carbon stock changes or emissions from measurements collected on the plots typically requires the use of models that relate these measurements to carbon stocks. The types of models and the uncertainty associated with them vary depending on measurements taken and the carbon pools being estimated. Examples of these models include allometric equations for estimating tree and deadwood biomass, root:shoot ratios for estimating belowground biomass (Mokany et al., 2006) and the use of spectral signatures to estimate soil carbon (Baldock et al., 2013).

When estimating uncertainty for carbon stock changes and/or emissions it is *good practice* to include all relevant sources of uncertainty, including the sampling scheme, plot measurements and model parameters and structure and laboratory processing methods (see discussion for each source category later in this volume in addition to the uncertainty chapter in Volume 1). Overall uncertainty can be reduced by increasing the sampling intensity, using additional strata or covariates to explain more of the variance or improving the models. Model uncertainty may be relatively small, at least in situations with well-developed models calibrated for national situations, or relatively large where global models are applied.

To obtain national estimates of carbon stock changes or emission of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases, it may be necessary to interpolate or extrapolate measurements using spatial statistical analyses and models that take into consideration environmental conditions, management and other activity data. Such models are necessary because of the expense and difficulty in obtaining a sufficient sampling intensity to infer C stock changes or emissions directly from the survey sample. For example, CH₄ and N₂O emissions from forest fires are typically inferred from data on the area burnt, and fuel consumption estimates derived from specific case studies. In a similar fashion, soil N₂O emissions could be readily estimated using chambers, but this can be very expensive to establish a network with the sampling intensity needed to provide national emission estimates based solely on measurements without use of models for extrapolation. Alternatively, compilers may use a model-based approach in these cases, which is informed by the limited sample of C stock or emission measurements (See Section 2.1.2).

It is *good practice* to analyse emissions relative to environmental conditions in addition to the contribution of various management practices to those trends. Interpretation of the patterns will be useful in evaluating possibilities for future mitigation.

Step 6. Reporting and Documentation.

It is good practice to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes.

Documentation typically includes a description of the sampling scheme and statistical methods, sampling schedule (including re-sampling), stock change and emissions estimates and the interpretation of emission trends (e.g., contributions of management activities). In addition, QA/QC should be completed and documented in the report. For details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the section dealing with the specific source category later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

When developing/collating documentation for reporting Tier 3 measurement-based methods it is good practice to:

- describe the sampling design and/or measurements;
- describe any changes in the design or measurements through time and how these changes are addressed to ensure time series consistency in carbon stocks or emissions;
- describe the models used to calculate carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions from the measurements, including the uncertainty;
- describe how area estimates are derived from the survey, such as a national forest inventory, and harmonized with land representation data for other land-uses;
- discuss the influence of time periods between measurement cycles on estimated C stock changes or emission estimates, and how this impact is incorporated into the uncertainty analysis; and
- document, if applicable, how Tier 3 measurement methods are applied consistently with Tier 2 or Tier 3 model-based methods to prevent errors of omission or commission in reported carbon stock changes or emissions for the entire spatial and temporal domain of the country.

Table 2.6a (New) Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of Tier 3 measurement Based inventories				
Step 1. Develop sampling scheme, including sample size and design and measurements to be collected.	A description of the sampling scheme including size and design and measurements to be collected Reason for adopting the selected sampling scheme			
Step 2. Select sample sites.	Description of the process for selecting sample sites and processes for dealing with exclusions/replacements			
Step 3. Collect initial samples.	Sample collection and quality assurance / quality control protocols.			
Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.	Description of re-sampling strategy and reasoning for adopted resampling period			
Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes and other sources of emissions, and infer national emissions and removals estimates and measures of uncertainty.	Data processing and quality assurance / quality control protocols including how adopted re-sampling period is handled when making carbon stock change estimates and their associated uncertainty.			
Step 6. Reporting and Documentation	All of the above material summarised into a report for third party review.			

2.5.2 Model-based Tier 3 inventories

Model-based Tier 3 inventories are developed using empirical (e.g. forest growth curves that represent carbon stock increase with tree age.), process-based (e.g. model representation of underlying physiological, biophysical, and management processes that drive carbon dynamics in ecosystems), hybrid (e.g. the development of forest growth curves from empirical data combined with a process model calibrated from research data on dead organic matter dynamics) and/or other types of models. Just as Tier 3 measurement-based methods typically also require models to estimate carbon stock changes (see Section 2.1.1), Tier 3 model-based inventories require measurements to calibrate and validate the models used to estimate carbon stock changes.

It is unlikely that one single model will be suitable for estimating emissions and removals for all carbon pools and non- CO_2 gases across all land uses, land-use changes and management actions. Therefore, inventory compilers will need to select a suite of different models to develop estimates of interest. In many cases existing models need to be adapted, coupled and/or integrated to provide a complete estimate of emissions and removals in the source categories of interest.

When selecting a model, it is important to consider how it will be used and interact with other models. This is particularly important when using Tier 3 mass-balance models in combination with Tier 1 or 2 emissions factors (e.g. if different soil carbon models or methods are used for different land-uses, how will the carbon pools be transferred between them in the case of land-use change). If changes in modelling methods within the reporting time series occur adequate steps should be taken to ensure time series consistency.

Models may be run individually for different land uses and carbon pools and the results combined or brought together in a single framework using coupling and integration techniques. Individual model simulations are typically used where multiple agencies are responsible for developing different parts of the inventory (e.g., the forest agency responsible for forest lands, the agriculture agency responsible for cropland and grassland).

Coupling different models is a convenient strategy for addressing effects with different time and space scales. In contrast, model integration links different modelling approaches to elucidate the complex dimension of time and space dynamics (Panichelli & Gnansounou, 2015), helping ensure consistency in land representation, carbon pools and input variables (Brack et al., 2006). Integration frameworks can also help organize data and estimation methods at any level of methodological complexity and facilitate the systematic progression from simpler to more complex methods (GFOI, 2016).

In all cases, models used in Tier 3 methods ensure higher accuracy only when they are correctly implemented and capable of representing the population of interest. In general, the following seven steps are used to correctly implement a Tier 3 model-based inventory (see also Figure 1, Volume 1, Chapter 6, Section 2.4).

Step 1. Model selection or development

Inventory compilers can choose from a wide range of model types depending on reporting needs, data availability and capacity. As part of model selection or development, it is *good practice* to consider if the model/s:

• adequately represent the range of land uses, ecosystems and management practices in the region or country;

- allow for the quantification of uncertainty;
- reduce uncertainty relative to other available methods (e.g., Tier 1 methods) or estimates are improved in other ways (e.g., more complete coverage of carbon pools or lands);
- can be run and maintained in an operational context with available time and resources (e.g., input data is readily available, staff have sufficient experience and knowledge, suitable compute infrastructure is available);
- produce outputs that can be used for reporting emissions and removals by relevant land-use categories;
- produce time-series consistent results;
- are compatible with other existing models used in the inventory; and
- are well documented and tested.

Multiple models will likely be selected as potentially suitable as part of Step 1. These models can then be tested prior to implementation using steps 2 and 3 below. Therefore, before moving to Step 2, at least a sub-set of the input data required to run the model should be collected or collated, including input variables (such as forest species or type, climate, soil characteristics), and any existing parameters and data required for further model calibration and evaluation. In some cases, input data may be a limiting factor in model selection or development, requiring some models to be discarded or modified to accommodate the available activity and/or environmental data.

Step 2. Model Calibration

Model calibration (i.e. parameterisation) is the process of selecting or adjusting model parameters to obtain results that best represent the processes of interest in the region (and time period) for which the model will be applied. The model calibration procedure readies a model for its further use in analyses. For example, replacing default growth curves with those specific to the tree species or site conditions to which the model will be applied or replacing climate averages with regional climate data are examples of model parameterisation.

Calibration data should represent the population. In practice, this does not mean that all environmental conditions are covered, but that the calibration data includes a range of the conditions existing the country that is representative of national circumstances.

Model sensitivity analyses may be used to determine the most important parameters for calibration. In a sensitivity analysis, parameter values are varied through a series of simulations to determine the associated change in model output. The parameters are ranked from most to least sensitive based on the level of change in model output. Some techniques also incorporate measurements into the sensitivity analysis (Sobol, 2001). The most sensitive parameters are typically calibrated to improve the agreement between modelled and measured carbon stocks, stock changes or non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions.

There are multiple methods for calibrating models. Simpler empirical models (e.g., empirical forest growth models based on forest age or site indices) are commonly developed by fitting functions to data on carbon stocks or stock changes using standard statistical methods and software. More advanced models (e.g., hybrid or process-based models) typically have numerous, interrelated parameters. For these models calibration is often completed using parameter optimisation methods that vary the model parameters within known ranges to best match known results (e.g., carbon stocks). There are several methods for doing this, including generic algorithms, machine learning and Bayesian. The methods may also be used to propagate error through the inventory analysis (e.g., Hararuk et al., 2017).

In all cases it is good practice to document the calibration procedure and results.

Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. Full evaluation of the model is described in Step 3. See Box 2.2f for examples of model calibration.

BOX 2.2F (NEW)

AN EXAMPLE OF MODEL CALIBRATION, EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT THROUGH DATA ASSIMILATION

The development of Canada's Carbon Budget Model for the Canadian Forest Sector started in 1989 and is continually being improved through new data collection, analysis and model enhancements. As part of this process, Shaw et al., (2014) assessed CBM-CFS3's ability to predict ecosystem carbon stocks in independent plots established as part of Canada's national forest inventory (NFI). The study demonstrated close agreement in the predictions of total ecosystem carbon stocks (within 1percent) but found some compensating errors (bias) in specific pools, ecozones, and plots with different tree species.

To further improve the CBM-CFS3 performance in Canadian forest ecosystems, a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) technique was used to calibrate 45 model parameters by assimilating carbon stocks of six deadwood and soil carbon pools estimated from 635 plots from Canada's National Forest Inventory (Hararuk et al., 2017). These plots were randomly split into two groups; calibration (n = 326), used to calibrate the parameters, and validation (n = 309), used to evaluate the performance of the model with calibrated parameters.

Calibration led to most improvement in the simulation of carbon stocks in small and fine woody debris, reducing RMSE by 54.3 percent, followed by the snag stems (RMSE reduced by 23.2 percent), and coarse woody debris (13 percent). Twenty of the 45 parameters were well constrained by the available data. The calibrated parameters resulted in increased rates of carbon cycling in fine and coarse woody debris and the soil organic layer, distinct carbon dynamics in hardwood and softwood dominated stands, and increased temperature sensitivity of the carbon contained in the mineral soil.

While parameter calibration considerably improved the simulation of the small and fine woody debris and snags stem pools, model representation of the branch snag, coarse woody debris, soil organic layer, and mineral soil pools were not substantially improved. This indicated the need for the inclusion of additional processes in carbon dynamics simulation or a change in the modelling paradigm. Model improvements may be achieved by including a lignin effect on deadwood decay and by including the effects of tree species, soil types, and mosses (see Box 2.2g) in the CBM-CFS3. Further data assimilation analyses are ongoing.

Step 3. Evaluation of Model Behaviour

Once the model has been calibrated, it should be evaluated to demonstrate that the model effectively simulates measured trends for the source category of interest. Evaluation can also support the justification for selecting, developing or possibly improving a particular model for the inventory analysis.

It is *good practice* to use measurements independent of those used for model calibration when evaluating model behaviour and to confirm that the model is capable of estimating emissions and removals in the source categories of interest (Falloon and Smith, 2002; Prisley and Mortimer, 2004). In practice, this is typically achieved by setting aside a subset of data collected for model calibration to be used exclusively for model evaluation. Comparisons between model output and independent measurements can be made using statistical tests and/or graphically. In addition to evaluation with independent data, other evaluation checks may be useful, including:

- range checks to show that estimates of carbon stocks and changes in all pools do not exceed pre-defined expected limits;
- in models that track both stocks and flows between carbon pools and the atmosphere, that mass-balance is been maintained through all simulations;
- use of other statistical methods for assessing model behaviour, such as resampling methods (e.g., bootstrapping); and
- assessment of the sensitivity of various parameters in the model (sensitivity analysis).

It is *good practice* to ensure that the model responds appropriately to variations in activity data and environmental conditions occurring in the spatial and temporal domain where the model will be applied. Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure (i.e., algorithms) may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. In some cases, a new model may be selected or developed based on this evaluation. Evaluation results are an important component of the reporting documentation. See Box 2.2g for examples of model evaluation and improvement.

BOX 2.2G (NEW) Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement

Finland

The sample sizes in soil carbon inventories are usually not adequate for national level soil carbon stock change assessment with few exceptions (e.g., Sweden, and Germany, see Gamfeldt et al., 2014 and Grüneberg et al., 2014). As such, most countries use soil carbon models to estimate carbon stock changes then evaluate the results using repeated soil inventories. In general, it has been shown that models can estimate soil carbon stock change in the same magnitude as that measured, but uncertainties of both measurements and model estimates are often higher than actual measurements (Ortiz et al., 2009; Rantakari et al., 2012). This makes the evaluation of model outputs challenging.

Two soils carbon models are commonly used in Finland: Yasso07 and ROMULv. An evaluation of the performance of these models against forest soil carbon stock measurements was undertaken by Lehtonen et al. (2016). Both models require estimates of carbon input from vegetation. Litter input from trees was estimated using litter production rates from research sites and stem volume maps from the National Forest Inventory. Inputs from understorey vegetation were estimated using new biomass models.

To evaluate the models, both were applied across Finland and run until steady state was achieved; thereafter, measured soil carbon stocks were compared with model estimates. The evaluation showed that the role of understorey litter input was underestimated by Yasso07, especially in northern Finland, and the inclusion of soil water holding capacity in the ROMULv model improved predictions, especially in southern Finland. Simulations and measurements indicated that models using only litter quality and quantity and weather data underestimate soil carbon stock in southern Finland, and this underestimation is due to omission of the impact of droughts on the decomposition of organic layers. The model evaluation results imply improving estimates of understorey litter production in the northern latitudes would be an area for improvement in greenhouse gas inventories (Lehtonen et al., 2016).

Canada

An evaluation of CBM-CFS3 ability to predict ecosystem carbon stock estimates derived from an entirely independent data set from the initial establishment of Canada's new National Forest Inventory (Gillis et al., 2005) was undertaken (Stinson et al., 2016). Estimates of aboveground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon stocks from up to 696 ground plots were compared to model-derived estimates (Shaw et al., 2014). Model simulations for each ground plot used only the type of input data available to the NFCMARS for the NIR in 2010.None of the model's default parameters were altered. Ecosystem total C stocks estimated by CBM-CFS3 were unbiased (mean difference = 1.9 Mg ha⁻¹, p = 0.397), and significantly correlated (r = 0.54, p > 0.001) with ground plot-based estimates. Although the overall C stock estimates were within 1 percent of the observed values, detailed analyses also revealed compensating biases specific to pools, ecozones or leading species. Contribution to ecosystem total C stocks error from soil was large, and from deadwood and aboveground biomass small. Results for percent error in the aboveground biomass (7.5 percent) and deadwood (30.8 percent) pools compared favourably to the *GPG-LULUCF* standards of 8 percent and 30 percent, respectively. Further details are provided in Shaw et al. (2014).

Subsequent analyses assessed the reasons for the consistent under prediction of organic carbon stocks in low productivity boreal sites, in which mosses can contribute 30 percent or more of total ecosystem Net Primary Production (Bona et al., 2013). Although mosses are not a carbon stock that is included in the IPCC pools, it is increasingly evident that omitting them will result in significant under prediction of both carbon stocks and fluxes in forest ecosystems with high moss cover. Bona et al. (2016) estimated that in poorly drained upland black spruce forests of boreal Canada as much as 31–49 percent of the total carbon stocks are potentially contributed by mosses alone. A new moss module was developed and added to the CBM-CFS3 and off-line comparisons indicate that representing moss carbon stocks and inputs will reduce bias in organic carbon stock estimates (Bona et al., 2016).

Step 4. Collect and collate require model data inputs

Models require specific input data to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with a source category. These inputs may range from weather and soils data to livestock numbers, forest types, natural disturbances or cropping management practices. While much of this data may have been collected as part of the model selection process (Step 1), additional data may need to be collected prior to full implementation. For

example, the climate data used in model selection may have only been for specific points, while for implementation the model will require the data spatially over large areas. In these cases, the new spatial input data may need to be developed to implement the model at the desired spatio-temporal scale.

Step 5. Model Implementation

The major consideration when implementing the model is to obtain enough computing resources and personnel time to prepare the input data, conduct the model simulations, and analyse the results. In some cases, limitations in computing resources may constrain the complexity and range of spatial or temporal resolution that can be used in implementing the model at the national scale (i.e. simulating at finer spatial and temporal scales will require greater computing resources). An initial analysis of computing needs should be explored during model selection and development (Step 1). It may be possible to increase the efficiency of this process using programming scripts, re-coding parts of the model and adjusting the spatial and temporal extent and resolution of the simulations. It may also be possible to implement the model on computing resources that are outside the agency (e.g. cloud-based computing).

Step 6. Assess uncertainty

Uncertainty analysis should not be confused with sensitivity analysis. Uncertainty analysis determines the probabilities of a range of estimates that can be used to derive confidence intervals for the estimates, and to develop plans to further reduce uncertainties. Sensitivity analysis is conducted to determine the relative change in model output given changes in model input values, which can be informative for model calibration (See Step 3).

In many Tier 3 models, Monte Carlo analyses can be used to simulate the uncertainty arising from the large number of possible parameters in the systems. Empirical analyses may also be an option to quantify uncertainty in model structure and parameterization based on an evaluation of model prediction error for sites with known inputs (See Box 2.2h). In general, uncertainties are quantified at national scales on annual time steps for reporting but may also be estimated at finer spatial and temporal scales. However, it may not be feasible or sensible to apply full Monte Carlo simulations to, for example, every spatial unit in a country. Given the computing resource and time requirements, it may also not be necessary to repeat a full Monte Carlo analysis every year. For example, in the case where only the activity data time series has been updated, but no other material changes to the inventory have been made, uncertainty estimates can be extrapolated to the additional years in the time series. A smaller test may also be run to demonstrate there has been no material change in uncertainty.

BOX 2.2H (NEW)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

This box is provided for information purposes and for the presentation of examples of quantification of uncertainties in Tier 3 modelling approaches.

<u>Canada</u>

Both uncertainty and sensitivity analyses were conducted on Canada's CBM-CFS3 integration framework (Metsaranta et al., 2017) and uncertainty analysis results are summarized below.

A wide range of factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the model estimates were varied using Monte-Carlo simulations using the entire national system. These factors include the processes used to initialize dead organic matter and soil carbon pools, biomass increment data (a multiplier with a range of ± 50 percent was applied to net biomass increment), activity data (wildfire (± 10 percent), insects (± 25 percent), and harvest (range varies by jurisdiction)), selection of stands during the allocation of natural disturbances to affected stands, and parameters defining litter input and dead organic matter pool dynamics. Parameter ranges for 32 biomass turnover and dead organic matter carbon modelling parameters were obtained from the literature and used as minimum and maximum values of triangular distributions (with mode set to the CBM-CFS3 default value). All parameters values and input data were varied independently, because the correlation structure among parameters could not be estimated.

Input data for Canada's 230 million ha of managed forest are contained in 20 CBM-CFS3 databases, each representing a specific region in Canada. Monte Carlo simulations for each of

BOX 2.2H (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

these 20 databases were conducted independently and the sample size for national totals was increased by summing random combinations of the 100 Monte Carlo runs from the 20 projects to generate 1000 randomly recombined estimates of national totals. The approximated 95 percent confidence interval (CI) was defined from the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles of these national estimates.

Under the assumptions of this analysis, the 95 percent confidence interval width averaged 32.2 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ (+16.6 and -15.6 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$) for net biome production (total stock changes) relative to an overall simulation median of -0.8 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ from 1990 to 2014. The largest sources of uncertainty were related to factors determining biomass increment and the parameters used to model soil and dead organic matter carbon dynamics. Some of these processes also vary in their intrinsic degree of predictability (Luo et al., 2015), and some factors causing large contributions to uncertainty may prove difficult to reduce (e.g., fine root turnover and its spatial and temporal variations).

United States of America

Uncertainty analysis for agricultural soil carbon and N_2O emissions have been conducted for the US greenhouse gas inventory (Ogle et al. 2010; Del Grosso et al. 2010; US EPA, 2017). A Tier 3 method is applied to generate emissions estimates with application of the DayCent ecosystem model. This process-based model simulates plant production, soil organic matter formation, nutrient cycling, water flows, and temperature regimes (Parton et al. 1998). Uncertainty is quantified through a combination of Monte Carlo simulations, an empirical analysis of model prediction error, and propagation of variance associated with the land representation survey data.

The inventory is compiled by simulating plant production and soil processes based on land use histories at about 400,000 locations that are part of a national survey, the National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser et al. 1998, Nusser and Goebel 1997). The major input uncertainties in the Tier 3 model application are associated with fertilization and tillage management and are quantified in probability distribution functions (PDFs), representing the likelihood of different fertilization rates, tillage practices and manure amendments. The model is applied using a Monte Carlo Analysis in a series of 100 simulations for each NRI survey locations based on random draws from the PDFs. In turn, the analysis produces 100 estimates of soil C stock changes and N₂O emissions for each survey location.

Model prediction error, including bias and precision, is quantified in statistical models with an empirical analysis based on a comparison of model output to measured observations of soil C stocks and N_2O emissions from experimental sites (Ogle et al. 2007). The model inputs are mostly known for the DayCent model simulations of the experimental sites and so the primary sources of uncertainty that are quantified in this analysis are associated with model structure and parameterisation, in addition to the variance in measured observations. Moreover, the experimental sites are independent from model calibration allowing for an independent evaluation of model prediction error. The resulting empirical model is applied to the DayCent model output to adjust for biases, to the extent needed, and to quantify precision in model results.

In a final step, variance associated with the NRI is derived based on the standard variance estimator for a stratified two-stage sample design (Särndal et al. 1992) and propagated through calculations to estimate national totals for the inventory (Ogle et al. 2010). The largest source of uncertainty in the analysis is associated with model structure and parameterization, as quantified in the empirical analysis. This source accounts for more than 80 percent of the total uncertainty in soil carbon stock change and N_2O emission estimates at the national scale, highlighting the importance of further improving the model to reduce uncertainty.

Step 7. Verification of inventory estimates with independent data

NGHGI estimates from Tier 3 models can be difficult to verify because alternative measurements often do not exist at the national scale. This is not unique to the AFOLU sector. There may however, be opportunities to verify component estimates against independent data. For example, model derived estimates of crop yield, or timber harvest can be compared against independent data such as crop or timber production statistics. Such comparisons require a good understanding of the methods used for both the Tier 3 and the comparative estimates, to avoid interpreting possible discrepancies as an indicator of problems in the Tier 3 model, when the discrepancy is in fact due to methodological differences.

Another useful step in verification of inventory estimates is to compare current estimates against those in the inventory submissions of prior years. Changes in time series estimates that are not consistent with changes in activity or other input data should be examined and understood as these could be indicative of a variety of problems, including errors in data processing. Developing quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) procedures that document the changes in estimates attributed to each change in input data, model parameters, or other methodological changes can assist inventory compilers in the verification of inventory estimates.

Verification of inventory estimates can also be based on measurements from a monitoring network or from research sites that were not used to calibrate model parameters or evaluate model behaviour. The network would be similar in principle to a series of sites that are used for a measurement-based inventory. However, the uncertainty of the estimates (output) from a model-based approach does not depend directly on the sample size and therefore the sampling need not be as dense. In some cases, verification may demonstrate that the model-based estimation system is inappropriate due to large and unexplainable differences between model results and the measured trends from the monitoring network. Problems may stem from one of three possibilities: errors in the implementation step, poor input data, or an inappropriate model. Implementation problems typically arise from computer programming or data input errors, while model inputs may generate erroneous results if these data are not representative of management activity or environmental conditions. In these cases, it is *good practice* for the inventory compiler to return to either Steps 2 or 5 depending on the issue. It seems less likely that the model would be inappropriate if Step 2 was deemed reasonable. However, if this is the case, it is *good practice* to return to the model selection/development phase (Step 1) or to further refine the existing model.

In addition to verifying inventory estimates, independent data may also be used to check areas estimates for landuse and land use change including

- that land area is conserved over time;
- changes between land-use types are logical in terms of the type, frequency and time periods between changes, defined by the country;
- consistency between input data (e.g. area to be disturbed by disturbance type X) and model simulation results (e.g., area actually disturbed in the model by disturbance type X).

Step 8. Reporting and Documentation

It is *good practice* to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes. Documentation of model-based Tier 3 inventory systems should include those items listed in Table 2.6b. For further details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the sections dealing with the specific source categories later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

Table 2.6b (New) Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of Tier 3 model-based inventories				
Step 1 – Model selection or development	 A description of the model Reason for choosing or designing the model demonstrating applicability Discussion of any likely consequences if the model is used outside the domain that the model is parameterised to simulate. 			
Step 2 - Model calibration	• Description of the process undertaken to calibrate the model and documentation of the data sources informing the manual or automated calibration.			
Step 3 – Evaluate model behaviour	• Results of the analysis verifying model behaviour using independent measurements to confirm that the model is capable of estimating carbon stocks, stock changes and/or emissions and removals in the source/sink categories of interest. The sources of independent data should also be documented.			
Step 5 - Implement the model	• Overview of procedures that are used to apply the model.			
Step 6 - Quantify uncertainties	• Description of the approach taken to estimate uncertainty in the model outputs.			
Step 7 - Verification of inventory estimates	• Summary of the verification results for the inventory.			
Step 8 – Reporting and Documentation	Information on QA/QC steps			

2.6 INTER-ANNUAL VARIABILITY

In the AFOLU sector, the management of land is used as the best approximation of human influence and thus, estimates of emissions and removals on managed land are used as a proxy for anthropogenic emissions and removals on the basis that the preponderance of anthropogenic effects occurs on managed lands (see Vol. 4 Chapter 1). This allows for consistency, comparability, and transparency in estimation. Referred to as the Managed Land Proxy (MLP), this approach is currently recognised by the IPCC as the only universally applicable approach to estimating anthropogenic emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector (IPCC 2006, IPCC 2010). However, it is also recognised that the estimated emissions and removals on managed lands can represent a combination of both anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural effects (Vol. 4 Chapter 1 p1.5; IPCC 2010; see Fig. 2.6A).

Some of the emissions and removals from managed land are characterised by high interannual variability. Interannual variability (IAV) refers to the variability in the annual emissions and removals (E/R) estimates between years within a time series. In the AFOLU sector, the application of the MLP means that IAV can be caused by both anthropogenic and natural causes. The three main causes of IAV in GHG emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector are (1) natural disturbances (such as wildfires, insects, windthrow, and ice storms), which can cause large immediate and delayed emissions and respiration (Ciais *et al.* 2005; Aragão *et al.* 2018); and, (3) variation in the rate of human activities, including land use (such as forest harvesting), and land-use change (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Pilli *et al.* 2016; Kurz *et al.* 2018).

In some countries IAV in emissions from natural disturbances can be larger than the IAV of emissions caused by human activities such as forest management. For example, IAV in Canada's 1990 to 2016 time series of annual emission and removals due to natural disturbances is much larger than the IAV in the emissions and removals on the remaining managed forest land (Figure 2.6C). The NGHGIs for Portugal (Figure 6-32 of Portugal's NIR 2018 (Portuguese Environmental Agency 2018)) and Australia (Table 6.21 of Australia's NIR 2016 Volume 2 (Commonwealth of Australia 2018)) are two other examples of time series with high IAV. In some countries, the areas burned by wildfires can vary by two orders of magnitude between years (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Miller *et al.* 2012; Genet *et al.* 2018). In other countries, the majority of IAV may be due to human activities.

When the MLP is used and the IAV in emissions and removals due to natural disturbances is large, it is difficult to gain a quantitative understanding of the role of human activities compared to the impacts of natural effects. In such situations, disaggregating⁹ MLP emissions and removals into those that are considered to result from human activities and those understood to result from natural effects may provide increased understanding of the emissions and removals that are due to human activities such as, land use (including harvesting) and land-use change. In this way, disaggregation can contribute to improved understanding of the trends in emission and removals due to human activities and mitigation actions that are taken to reduce anthropogenic emissions and preserve and enhance carbon stocks.

Disaggregating emissions and removals according to anthropogenic and natural effects has been recognised as a scientific challenge (Canadell *et al.* 2007; Vetter *et al.* 2008; IPCC 2010; Kurz 2010; Smith 2010; Brando *et al.* 2014; Henttonen *et al.* 2017). It is not yet possible to fully and accurately separate emissions and removals associated with human activity from those associated with natural effects. The last IPCC Expert Meeting Report on this topic encouraged further development of scientific methods (IPCC 2010).

Recognizing that some but not all countries may choose to address emissions and removals from natural disturbances on managed land outside the inventory process, this guidance is provided as an option that may be used by countries that choose to disaggregate their reported MLP emissions and removals (i.e. all emissions and removals on managed land) into those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from natural disturbances. These supplementary approaches may be of interest to countries with AFOLU sector emissions where IAV due to natural effects is large. The section first addresses definitional issues, followed by a description of whether or not different methodological approaches used to estimate C stock changes quantify the IAV of emissions and removals. A generic approach to report on disaggregation of the contribution of natural disturbances in reporting on total emissions and removals on managed lands is then provided, along with country-specific examples of methodological approaches to disaggregating anthropogenic effects and natural disturbances on managed lands.

⁹ Disaggregating means that an estimate is separated into its component parts.

2.6.1 Definitional issues

2.6.1.1 DIRECT AND INDIRECT HUMAN EFFECTS, AND NATURAL EFFECTS

Anthropogenic (i.e., direct and indirect human) effects and natural effects are described in Vol. 4 Chapter 1. Figure 2.6a summarizes the main factors that cause these effects and their occurrences in managed and unmanaged lands. The specific effects included in estimates reported in NGHGIs depend on the estimation method and data used, which differ in approach and complexity among countries (see Table 2.6c). Describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, based on the estimation method and data used, increases the transparency of the NGHGI and its understanding by the scientific and policy communities (Grassi *et al.* 2018, section 2.6.2). Useful information may include definition and spatial maps of managed land, information on areas of forest being harvested and those subject to other management, and information on the main determinants of the GHG fluxes (e.g., forest age structure, harvested volumes, harvest cycle).

Figure 2.6a:

Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural factors affect land-related GHG emissions and removals in managed and unmanaged lands (Source: Grassi *et al.* (2018)).



Direct human-induced effects of any management activity on emissions or removals, by definition, only occur on managed lands. Indirect human-induced effects (i.e., the second order impacts of human activities on emissions or removals mediated through environmental change) and natural effects can occur on both unmanaged and managed lands. The "anthropogenic GHG emissions and removals by sinks are defined as all those occurring on 'managed land'" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1). The natural effects "tend to average out over time and space" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1), provided that there are no trends in disturbance rates, such as increased annual area burned as a result of climate change. Nonetheless, their IAV in emissions and removals can have an important impact on annual NGHGIs. Depending on the estimation method and data used, GHG estimates for managed land may capture all or only some of this IAV (see Section 2.6.2).

The IPCC describes the MLP as a method to approximate estimates of anthropogenic emissions and removals, but this proxy estimate also contains emissions and removals resulting from natural disturbances (IPCC 2006; IPCC 2010). This section introduces an approach that countries can apply on a voluntary basis within the MLP in order to indicate those emissions and removals considered to result from human activity, and those that are understood to result from natural disturbances. This is achieved by disaggregating the estimated emissions and removals due to natural disturbances (ND E/R) within the estimated total MLP emissions and removals. This remaining aggregate of emissions and removals associated with human activity might still include some effects of IAV of natural disturbances and other natural effects on anthropogenic emissions and removals.

2.6.1.2 NATURAL DISTURBANCES

Disturbances, in particular wildfires, can contribute to large IAV in emissions. The number, frequency and intensity of fire events are strongly controlled by climate and weather, fuels, ignition sources, and human activities. High temperatures, past levels of fire suppression, and persistent drought events are key drivers of forest fires, for

instance in the Western US (Westerling 2016), in the Amazon region (Morton *et al.* 2013) or in Indonesia (Schimel *et al.* 2015). However, land use and land-use change such as deforestation and peatland drainage can influence the likelihood and impacts of fire (Page & Hooijer 2016). In the Brazilian Cerrado, severe drought events explain the loss of almost 30 percent of aboveground woody biomass (de Miranda *et al.* 2014). Other natural disturbances with large IAV include storm damage (Yamashita *et al.* 2002; Lindner *et al.* 2010). Insects tend to follow outbreak cycles, thus causing more long-term trends that contribute to interdecadal rather than interannual variations (Kurz *et al.* 2008; Hicke *et al.* 2012). However, like IAV, the inter-decadal variability can also make it difficult to identify trends in emissions and removals that result from human activities.

Definition of natural disturbances

Natural disturbances in the context of the AFOLU sector are non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. These include wildfires, insect and disease infestations, extreme weather events and/or geological disturbances, beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. Natural disturbances exclude human activities such as harvesting, prescribed burning and fires associated with activities such as slash and burn.¹⁰

Non-anthropogenic events refer to non-human induced events (e.g. fire initiated by lightening, damage by wind storms), non-anthropogenic circumstances refer to non-human induced conditions that exacerbate these disturbances (e.g., fire occurring during particularly harsh conditions like strong winds, high temperature, drought, etc.). For information on how to document that disturbances are beyond the control of and not materially influenced by the country, see Section 2.6.4 below.

The methodological guidance provided in this section is aimed at disaggregating emissions and removals in ecosystems where natural disturbances cause large IAV in emissions within the MLP and where subsequent removals occur over a multi-year period of time. Therefore, this methodological guidance is applicable to natural disturbances in forests, and in woody grassland, undrained wetlands or undrained peatlands, but not in other land categories where human actions materially determine and/or deeply influence the conditions and circumstances associated with significant emissions by disturbances (such in drained peatlands and in cropland).

Balance of emissions and subsequent removals

A fundamental assumption under the MLP is that carbon emissions and removals associated with natural effects will average out over space and time (see also Volume 4, Chapter 1). Therefore, consistent with this assumption, the CO_2 emissions (from above and below ground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon) from areas affected by natural disturbances are expected to be balanced by subsequent removals across the landscape at some future point in time. This expectation has no established time limit because the time to balance depends on the types of ecosystems affected by disturbances and their rates of regrowth.

At stand level, changes in growing conditions could affect this expectation, in particular if environmental conditions contribute to regeneration failure of stands that were affected by natural disturbances, e.g. landslides and erosion after wildfire, making it more difficult to achieve the balance. Conversely, if environmental changes contribute to increased growth rates or reduced mortality rates, then the balance will be achieved faster. In the case of repeated disturbances on the same area, the time to reach balance for that area may increase.

2.6.2 Relationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emissions and removals from interannual variability

The choice of estimation method and data affects the extent to which the IAV of different drivers is reflected in reported estimates (see Table 2.6c). Countries can apply different estimation methods to report their emissions and removals capturing the anthropogenic components with different temporal resolution and disaggregation of variables (annual to periodic, averaged or disaggregated by drivers). Table 2.6c provides information on how the choice of estimation method affects whether or not factors contributing to IAV of reported emissions and removals are captured in NGHGIs. This table may help countries in understanding and describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, therefore increasing the understanding of NGHGIs by the scientific and policy communities.

¹⁰ Information on natural disturbance definitions and approaches applied in the Kyoto Protocol accounting can be found in IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.

Table 2.6c (New) General Guidance on Whether or Not the estimation method is able to distinguish between the impact of the individual drivers below on the interannual variability of reported annual emission and removal estimates - Note that some exceptions may occur, depending on the data used

			Drivers				
Metho	Method		Direct Human	Indirect Human	Natural climate variability	Natural Disturbances	
Stock Difference ¹¹ Periodic measurements (multi-year)		No	No	No	No		
Stock Difference ¹² Annual measurements		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Gai n- Loss 13	iass pools	Biomass growth based on Emission Factors or empirical yield tables	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	oil organic matter pools Live bion	Growth based on process (or hybrid) model	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
		Dead and soil organic matter dynamics based on Emission Factors	Yes	No	No	No	
		Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with constant climate	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	Dead and s	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with variable climate	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	

The Stock Difference method calculates net emissions/removals (E/R) as the difference in estimated C stocks for relevant pools measured at two points in time. Average annual net E/R can be calculated by dividing the C stock difference of a period by the number of years between the two observations. Periodic stock assessments without auxiliary data therefore do not allow the quantification of the IAV of emissions and removals and its relation to the various drivers.

With annual measurements of ecosystem carbon stocks, e.g. via subsets of annual plot measurements in a continuous forest inventory, the quantification of IAV of emissions and removals becomes possible. Periodic or annual subsets of inventories can by themselves not detect IAV unless auxiliary data – such as area annually burned, harvest rates or other specific plot-level measurements on the timing of tree mortality – are used to inform about IAV (Röhling *et al.* 2016). For non-CO₂ emissions (e.g., CH₄ and N₂O from fires), auxiliary data on the type of disturbance that caused carbon losses would be required when the stock difference method is used.

The Gain-Loss method requires annual data on forest management, land-use change and natural disturbances and when these are available it can provide estimates of the IAV of net emissions. Depending on the estimation methodology and the data sets used, it may capture some or all of the impacts of drivers of the IAV of annual emissions and removals. A Gain-Loss approach utilising yield tables or constant emission factors (EF) will be insensitive to natural climate variability and, therefore, will only be able to distinguish between the direct human impact and natural disturbance impacts on IAV of emissions and removals. Gain-Loss methods that utilise climate-sensitive growth and mortality models (Richards & Evans 2004; Waterworth *et al.* 2007; Hember *et al.* 2018), or

¹¹ Forest inventories with multi-year period remeasurement and no auxiliary data cannot detect IAV. In some cases, periodic measurements on permanent sample plots are augmented with additional annual data thus increasing the ability to estimate IAV.

¹² Forest inventories with annual remeasurements for the same plots can detect IAV but are rarely implemented.

¹³ The assumption for the Gain-Loss method is that activity data such as harvest, land-use change, and natural disturbances are available annually.

climate sensitive models of dead and soil organic matter dynamics (see Figure 6 in Liski *et al.* (2006)) can, in addition, estimate the indirect human and natural climate variability impacts on the IAV of emissions and removals.

2.6.3 Optional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances

It is *good practice* for countries to apply the MLP and to estimate and report all emissions and removals that occur on managed lands. This section describes a generic approach for use by countries that choose to report on the further disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals from natural disturbances from the total emissions and removals estimated using the MLP. As discussed above, disturbances may have a natural and an anthropogenic component. This reporting guidance aims to assist countries choosing to report on the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals associated with human activity and those associated with natural disturbances within the total emissions and subsequent removals estimates of the MLP.

The elements of a generic approach are provided below, followed by examples of how the approach has been implemented to date:

1. Quantification of the total emissions and removals from Managed Lands (consistent with MLP)

Estimate total E/R consistent with the MLP. Guidance provided by the IPCC for each relevant land category applies for the estimation of associated emissions and subsequent removals due to regrowth within the MLP. This is the total MLP flux, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals, which also includes emissions and subsequent removals from areas that are identified as subject to natural disturbances.

2. Reporting on the country-specific approach to applying the definition of natural disturbances

Consistent with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in section 2.6.1.2, countries describe their approach when applying the definition of natural disturbances consistently over time. The country description includes the types of disturbances for which the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals is implemented. The description also explains how the country excludes from natural disturbances the impacts of human activities, e.g., salvage logging, prescribed burning, slash and burn and deforestation.

3. Identification of emissions and removals due to natural disturbances

The emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances are identified by applying the ND definition to either the individual (stand-level) disturbed areas or the total (landscape-level) emissions from all disturbances in the year¹⁴. In identifying those emissions and removals, it is *good practice* to avoid the inclusion of emissions and removals that are materially affected by human actions¹⁵. Both approaches provide for the:

- (i) Identification of the lands and area of land affected by each disturbance, as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.
- (ii) For those lands, estimation of the emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances only (e.g. salvage logging emissions and associated subsequent removals are not included), as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.

If a country chooses to disaggregate ND emissions and removals, then it is *good practice* to disaggregate as anthropogenic the emissions and subsequent removals associated with management activities occurring on land affected by natural disturbances, including salvage logging and deforestation. Consequently, subsequent removals are disaggregated between human activities and natural disturbances, proportionally to the C stock losses these activities have caused, until the CO₂ emissions from natural disturbances are balanced by removals.

For example, if salvage logging follows wildfire, and the wildfire caused instant emissions of 20 t CO_2 per hectare and subsequent salvage logging caused an additional 40 t CO_2 , then 20 t CO_2 of subsequent removals are disaggregated as natural disturbances, and all remaining removals are disaggregated as anthropogenic effects. This could be implemented sequentially (i.e. the first 20 t CO_2 removals are disaggregated as due to natural causes, and all subsequent removals to anthropogenic causes) or in parallel (i.e. in this example, for every tonne of CO_2 removal, one third is disaggregated as due to natural causes, and the remaining two thirds to anthropogenic causes). In both cases, once natural emissions are balanced by removals disaggregated as natural causes, the remaining removals are considered anthropogenic.

¹⁴ Methodological guidance on quantification of associated emissions and removals are given in the chapters with general guidance (Chapter 2 and 3) as well in the category-specific chapters (Chapter 4 and 6)".

¹⁵ Noting that a portion of the emissions and removals considered to be associated with natural disturbances may be affected by human actions.

Disaggregation of CO_2 removals following natural disturbances can be implemented at the landscape level by apportioning these based on, for instance, the proportion of area disturbed of total forest area and the proportion of C stock lost of total C stock. For example, if in a year X in a country Y, Z ha of forest land is subject to wildfires, representing 0.1 percent of the total forest area and 25 percent of the total carbon stock present in the burned area is lost; the percentage of total CO_2 removals in the entire forest land apportioned to natural disturbances in this example is 0.025 percent (i.e., 0.1 percent*25 percent) for year X. If the emissions from natural disturbances in year X were 25 Mt CO_2 , then the removals in subsequent years are considered natural until the sum of the removals equals that amount.

Although the different approaches above (i.e., sequential or parallel disaggregation of removals subsequent to natural disturbances, stand vs. landscape level) affect the annual disaggregation, as long as the expectation of the balance between emissions from natural disturbances and the subsequent removals is fulfilled (see Section 6.2.1.2), and as long as emissions and subsequent removals are treated consistently, in the long term the totals are the same. Furthermore, in all cases it is *good practice* to report information on assumptions and methods implemented to disaggregate subsequent CO_2 removals.

When land-use change (e.g., forest land converted to cropland) follows a natural disturbance (e.g., wildfire), then emissions associated with land-use changes after natural disturbances as well as the emissions from the prior natural disturbance, are considered to be anthropogenic emissions. If regrowth occurs on that land, then any subsequent removals are also considered anthropogenic.

4. Disaggregation of the MLP

The natural disturbance component is subtracted from the total estimate of MLP emissions and removals, yielding an estimate of the emissions and removals associated with human activity on managed land. Both components are estimated and reported as part of the total MLP emissions and removals. In countries where natural disturbance contributes large IAV to E/R, the component of the MLP emissions and removals identified as associated with human activity is expected to have a lower IAV than the MLP emissions and removals because the variability resulting from natural disturbances has been disaggregated.

Given the expectation of the balance described above (Section 2.6.1.2), when emissions from natural disturbances are disaggregated, it is *good practice* that subsequent removals are also disaggregated until the balance has been reached. In this case, it is also *good practice* to disaggregate to the natural disturbance component those removals in each inventory year that are contributed by lands that were affected by natural disturbances prior to the start of the time series. In many ecosystems it may take decades for removals following natural disturbances to balance emissions from the disturbances. If it is not possible to estimate directly the amount of emissions that need to be balanced, for example if natural disturbances occurred before the reporting period, the time when the balance is expected can be approximated based on the estimated length (years) of the recovery period (see example in Box 2.2j). This ensures a consistent application of the balance principle throughout the time series.

In addition to CO_2 emissions, natural disturbances may cause non- CO_2 emissions, e.g. wildfires cause N_2O and CH_4 emissions. While CO_2 emissions are assumed to average out across time because of vegetation regrowth after disturbance, non- CO_2 emissions are not taken up by vegetation and therefore there is no expectation that these emissions will be balanced by removals because the biological, chemical and physical processes that result in the complete decay of CH_4 and N_2O in the atmosphere are not captured in existing IPCC inventory methods.

Examples of methodological approaches that have been developed are presented for Australia (Box 2.2i), Canada (Box 2.2j) and for an EU country (Box 2.2k).
BOX 2.2I (NEW)

AUSTRALIAN APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY DUE TO NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In Australia, all lands are considered managed lands. All areas and carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and 'natural disturbances'¹⁶ are reported, consistent with the MLP. 'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are considered to be caused by non-anthropogenic events and circumstances beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, human activity despite extensive efforts by emergency management organizations to prevent, manage and control such events.

Both initial carbon losses and subsequent recoveries in carbon stocks are modelled as part of the disturbance event, and carbon stocks are spatially tracked until pre-disturbance levels are reached to ensure completeness and balance in reporting. Most Australian wildfires are not stand-replacing and carbon stocks typically recover after 11 years (Roxburgh *et al.* 2015). Estimates are prepared using a process (hybrid) model with DOM/SOM dynamics with variable climate (FullCAM).

'Natural disturbances' are defined as occurring in a year which is an outlier (exceeding the 95percent probability level) in the series of annual carbon stock losses due to wildfire at the national level and, spatially, as fires in those regions (States) experiencing abnormal fire activity in that year. (A full description of the method to identify outliers can be found in Volume 2 of Australia's NIR 2016 - Section 6.4.1.3)

'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are modelled on a spatial basis and, consistent with the MLP, included in reporting after averaging out initial carbon stock losses and subsequent recovery¹⁷. This leaves the trend in carbon stock changes as the dominant result of human activity (e.g. from prescribed burning, normal seasonal wildfires – see "B" in Figure 2.6B).

The approach ensures that Australia's modelled implementation of the MLP is comparable with estimates generated using other methods, such as Tier 3 stock-difference approaches, that tend to average out IAV due to natural causes over space (scaling from plots to region) and time (averaging between periodic re-measurements). All carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and natural disturbances are transparently reported in Australia's NIR.



activity.

¹⁶ References to 'natural disturbances' in this box refer to the *natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks* described in 2006 *IPCC Guidelines* Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space."

¹⁷ 2006 IPCC Guidelines Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of

BOX 2.2J (NEW)

CANADA'S APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In the 2017 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁸ Canada revised its reporting approach to increase the transparency of the reporting of anthropogenic emissions and removals on Forest Land remaining Forest Land (FL-FL). The new approach disaggregated the emissions and subsequent removals on managed lands affected by natural disturbances from those on the remaining lands subject to forest management. The concept of the MLP was maintained: the sum of these two emission and removal components are identical to the total emissions and removals for FL-FL under the MLP. Canada's 2018 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁹ further refined the approach. The methods are described in detail by (Kurz *et al.* 2018) and are summarized here.

Canada defined natural disturbances as all stand-replacing wildfires and all disturbances of other natural causes (insects, windthrow etc.) that result in more than 20 percent tree mortality (biomass) in affected stands. The threshold of 20 percent was selected because large areas of forests are affected by insects that cause low levels of mortality and/or growth reductions. Disturbances with impacts below this threshold are considered part of the natural, small-scale forest mortality that affect stand dynamics such as self-thinning.

For all areas affected by stand-replacing fire disturbances, annual CO₂ and non-CO₂ GHG emissions and subsequent CO_2 removals are summarized in the natural disturbance land category for several decades following the fire event. The time at which stands affected by natural disturbances transition back to the category of lands affected by forest management varies across Canada and is determined by the age at which stands are eligible for harvest, typically 60 to 90 years. For other natural disturbances that cause more than 20 percent biomass mortality, E/R are summarised in the natural disturbance category until the pre-disturbance biomass values are reached. For the 1990 to 2016 time series, stands regenerating following wildfire that are younger than the age at which stands are eligible for harvest is summarised in the natural disturbance category: removals that occur after 1989 in stands that have been affected by stand-replacing wildfires prior to 1990 are therefore contributing to balancing emissions from wildfires that occurred since 1990. The 56 Mha of managed forest affected by wildfire disturbances prior to 1990 contribute in 1990 estimated removals of 64 Mt CO₂e yr⁻¹. From 1990 to 1994 these cumulative annual removals are larger than the emissions from wildfires since 1990, making the lands subject to natural disturbances net sinks (Kurz et al. 2018). This approach contributes to balanced reporting as otherwise only removals from stands affected by natural disturbances after 1990 would appear in the natural disturbance component.

The disaggregation of fluxes improves the estimate of human impacts: reported emissions and removals without natural disturbances showed clear temporal trends that are correlated with changes in the rates of human activities such as rates of clear-cut harvesting (Figure 2.6C). In areas strongly affected by the Mountain Pine Beetle outbreak (Kurz *et al.* 2008) the trend in emissions reported for lands affected by forest management is still somewhat influenced by the impacts of the beetle because that area is decreasing (Kurz *et al.* 2018). The high IAV resulting primarily from fires is reported separately (Table 6.5 in Canada's NIR 2018). Further methodological details are provided in Canada's NIR 2018, Sections 6.3.1 and in Annex 3.5.2.3 and in (Kurz *et al.* 2018).

greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space. This leaves the greenhouse gas emission and removals from managed lands as the dominant result of human activity."

 $[\]label{eq:http://unfccc.int/files/national_reports/annex_i_ghg_inventories/national_inventories_submissions/application/zip/can-2017-nir-13apr17.zip$

¹⁹ https://unfccc.int/documents/65715



Figure 2.6c: Example of the disaggregation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those occurring on lands dominated by natural disturbance impacts and those occurring in the remaining managed forest (A). Note the high IAV in the natural disturbance fluxes (up to 250 Mt CO₂e/yr) (B) on the area affected by natural disturbances (primarily wildfires) and the low IAV of fluxes on the remaining managed forest area (C) which are correlated with forest management activities (e.g. primarily area of forest harvest). Fluxes in panel C are shown without (solid line) and with (dashed line) the emissions from harvested wood products. Data from Canada's 2018 NIR and figure from (Kurz *et al.* 2018)).

BOX 2.2K (NEW)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION²⁰

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided. This example demonstrates a methodological approach that has not yet been implemented.

Forests of example country Z^{21} are prone to wildfires that in years with extreme weather conditions (e.g. drought, especially if combined with strong winds) may cause large emissions from biomass burning and cause high IAV in the net CO_2 balance. Although, the country recognizes that most of its wildfires are human-induced either intentionally, e.g. pyromaniacs, or unintentionally, e.g. campfires, fireworks, cigarettes or other causes, some have natural causes. Consequently, emissions from wildfires have both an anthropogenic and a natural component.



Figure 2.6d: Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + natural disturbance (ND) and area burned. Blue bars (left Y-axis) represent annual total net GHG emission (Gg $CO_{2}e$) from managed forest land net sink. The dashed red line (right Y-axis) represents the annual area burned (kha).

To disaggregate the natural component of emissions and removals from wildfires, the country uses its national definition of natural disturbances: *Natural Disturbances are those wildfires that are nonanthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions in forests and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, the Country's land use and management practices. These practices exclude salvage logging and prescribed burning.*

All wildfires are considered not materially influenced by the country's land use and management practices since the use of fire is forbidden in any forest land and the country has an advanced national fire management system for fire prevention, fire monitoring and fire suppression in all land uses, including forest land.

To identify wildfires that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of the country's fire management system and are therefore considered natural disturbances, the country looks for statistical outliers that fall outside the 95 percent confidence interval of the variability of the historical time series of the annual GHG emissions from wildfires²². To do so, the distribution of emissions from wildfires is established, and it is assumed that all values within the normal

 $^{^{20}}$ The presented methodology is based on the EU Regulation 2018/841

²¹ Data for this example are derived from the Italian GHG inventory

²² Such time series do not include emissions from salvage logging nor emissions from wildfires that are followed by a deforestation event. The time series can start before the base year of the country and may include all years for which data are available. For this example, the time series starts in 1971.

BOX 2.2K (NEW) (CONTINUED)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION

distribution are exclusively associated with the anthropogenic component²³, any outlier value, in the upper tail, is considered as the signal of a disturbance event that is unlikely to have been generated by anthropogenic causes alone and therefore includes a natural component.

In practice, first a historical time series of annual emissions²⁴ from wildfires is constructed starting from 1971, i.e., the base year (1990) of the NGHGI of the country minus 20 years. Then, using an iterative process, outliers (if any) that are larger than the mean plus two times²⁵ the standard deviation are removed from the time series in successive iterations, until an outlier-free normal distribution is obtained.

The resulting time series, as well as its mean (referred to below as the background level of anthropogenic emissions from wildfires) and two times its standard deviation (referred to below as the margin) excludes all outliers. Based on these statistics, natural disturbances are those that occur in years when the total immediate emissions from wildfires are larger than the background level plus the margin and emissions from these natural disturbances are quantified as the amount exceeding the background level. This amount is disaggregated from the anthropogenic component.

To establish the balance between immediate CO₂ emissions (F) and total subsequent CO₂ removals²⁶ (R) due to natural disturbances, and to avoid introducing artificial trends to the time series, the country also estimates and reports removals occurring from land disturbed in the X years prior to the inventory year, where X^{27} is the length of the period that is needed for forest vegetation (by relevant forest types and site types) to recover the pre-disturbance C stock. The CO₂ removals are quantified under the assumption that forest vegetation fully recovers within X years after wildfires. This assumption is based on the current legislation that forbids conversion of burnt forests to other land uses and that prescribes post-fire management activities aimed at rehabilitating the pre-fire forest vegetation. Consequently, the average amount of subsequent annual removals (R_{annual}) to be disaggregated for X years of a past ND event²⁸ is equivalent to $\frac{F}{x}$ and $\sum_{0}^{x} R_{annual} = R = F$ (where 0 is the year in which the natural disturbances occur and X the time needed for C stocks to recover to their pre-disturbance level).

²³ The average value of this distribution is the so -called background level of emissions associated with disturbances and it is considered anthropogenic.

²⁴ The country includes the emissions of fire events only, delayed emissions associated with the decay of biomass that was killed during the fire are not considered

²⁵ This is an approximation of Student's t value for data series with number of data ≥ 30 .

²⁶ Calculated directly from the biomass net increment (ΔC_G of IPCC equation 2.7)

²⁷ For this example, X has been estimated to be 20 years for the entire country's territory.

²⁸ This means that in any year Y of the NGHGI the amount of CO₂ removals to be disaggregated is equivalent to the $\sum_{Y-X}^{Y} \left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ (where $\left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ are the annual CO= removals occurring on all lands disturbed in the period Y-X that have not yet achieved their pre-disturbance level of C stocks.)



2.6.4 Reporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emissions and removals for managed lands

Voluntary disaggregation of the total of emissions and removals in the MLP into those that are associated with human effects and those due to natural disturbances may provide a clearer picture of the impact of management activities. It is understood that a complete separation of the direct human impacts from natural impacts is, at this time, not possible due to limitations of scientific methods (IPCC 2010) but disaggregating the emissions and subsequent removals that are associated with natural disturbances on managed lands may be a helpful first step.

The MLP total is the sum of all emissions and removals on managed land. Box 2.2l describes a possible approach to reporting the total E/R from MLP plus the two components from:

- 1. Natural disturbances;
- 2. Anthropogenic activities (direct and indirect human effects).

The first component includes emissions from natural disturbances and subsequent net removals from regrowth. Emissions may include delayed emissions from dead organic matter that was added by the disturbance to the already existing dead organic matter pools.

The second component includes emissions and removals directly and indirectly associated with human activity calculated as the difference between MLP total emissions and removals minus those associated with natural disturbances.

In those cases where natural disturbance fluxes are large compared to the anthropogenic component of the MLP, the optional disaggregation of estimates of the emissions and removals associated with natural disturbances can identify the estimated trends of the emissions and removals on managed land associated with human activity, as demonstrated in recent NGHGI reports (e.g., Boxes 2.2I, 2.2J).

Transparency:

For those countries that choose to identify, quantify and report disaggregated natural disturbance emissions and subsequent removals, it is *good practice* to document disaggregated emissions and removals in the MLP, and the approaches, assumptions and methods used.

It is *good practice* to document the following:

- Consistency of the country approach with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in Section 2.6.1.2, if any.
- The **types** of natural disturbances for which emissions and subsequent removals are identified, quantified and disaggregated within MLP reporting.
- How the **requirements** associated with the above definition of natural disturbances are met, including that the identified ND events are "non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances", which can be demonstrated by providing information to show that the disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country".
- How the emissions and removals that are materially influenced by human actions are excluded from the natural disturbances component.

The demonstration that natural disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country" is based on scientific reasoning or evidence and documentation on practicable efforts to prevent, manage or control the occurrences that led to the natural disturbances. Such evidence and practicable efforts may include but are not limited to:

- Studies showing the prevalent direct cause of fires in a given region, forest type and climate zone; information on weather conditions related to the disturbance events or to the cumulative affected areas;
- Application of preventative measures or modifying factors related to the occurrence or propagation of the disturbances that may reduce the likelihood and/or magnitude of the disturbances occurring;
- Efforts to manage or control the disturbances when they occur, to the extent possible.

It is *good practice* to document the **methods** used to identify, quantify and disaggregate the impact of ND on GHG emissions and removals, including information on:

- How the method is consistent with the expectation that the CO₂ emissions from areas affected by natural disturbance will be balanced by subsequent removals.
- The methods by which GHG fluxes are disaggregated from total MLP fluxes.
- For lands subject to ND, documentation on how subsequent land use and land-use change, if any, is identified and how GHG fluxes previously disaggregated as associated with natural disturbances are re-assigned to the anthropogenic component following land-use change.

Documentation on the manner in which emissions associated with human activities that occur after the natural disturbance event (such as salvage logging and site rehabilitation or other activities that do not cause a land-use to change), and subsequent removals, are estimated and disaggregated.

Land-use category	e.g	. Forest land	l remai	ining	forest	land
Years		Start year [†]			•••	Inventory yea
Total Area under the MLP (kha)					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions					
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total*					
Annual area of natural disturba	ances (kha) ²⁹					
Area subject to natural distu	urbances (kha) ³⁰					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions					
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total					
Remaining area of managed	land (kha)					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions			1		
Net E/R plus non-CO2	Total #					

[†] This is the first year in the inventory time series, e.g. 1990.

* This is the total MLP estimate of net emissions and removals, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

This is the optional disaggregated estimate of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

²⁹ The area of natural disturbance in the year it first occurs.

 $^{^{30}}$ The cumulative area which has been subject to natural disturbances up to and including the current inventory year, minus the area of natural disturbances on which past CO₂ emissions are considered to be balanced by subsequent removals since the occurrence of the natural disturbance. In the cumulative area totals, areas affected multiple times are included only once.

Annex 2A.1 Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks

Data presented in Table 2.3 were derived from Batjes (2011) and Batjes (2010) unless no values were available for particular combinations of IPCC Climate Zones and IPCC soil types. Where no values were available, values were taken from the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas or the 1996 IPCC Guidelines.

Reference C Stocks for the mineral soils C method were derived for IPCC climate zones (IPCC 2006 p. 3.39) and IPCC soil classes (IPCC 2006 pp. 3.40-3.41). Soil data are from the ISRIC-WISE database (10250 profiles) complimented with 1900 additional geo-referenced profiles from under represented temperate and boreal sites. Data from all soils were screened and where organic carbon contents were determined using the Walkley Black analysis, values were adjusted based on a conversion factor of 1.3 to estimate corresponding values that would have been obtained by dry combustion analysis. Profiles were collected between 1925 and 2010 with two-thirds of the pedons sampled between 1955 and 1995. Profiles were classified as "cultivated or disturbed" vs "(semi)natural". Only profiles flagged as being under native vegetation (classified as "(semi)natural") were included (a total of 5560 profiles equating to approximately 1.6 times that used in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines). The profiles also had a better geographical distribution across the globe compared to those use to derive reference carbon stock values within the 2006 IPCC Guidelines.

The following equation was used to compute SOC stocks:



Where:

- T_d = total amount of organic carbon over depth, d, (in kg m⁻²) ρ_i = bulk density of layer i (Mg m⁻³) P_i = the proportion of organic carbon in layer i (g C Kg⁻¹) D_i = thickness of the layer (m)
- S_i = volume of the fraction of fragments >2 mm

Gaps in bulk density and coarse fragment >2mm content data were filled using pedo(taxo)-transfer functions presented by Batjes *et al.* (2007) on the basis of soil type, soil textural class and soil depth. IPCC Tier 1 methods consider changes in 0-30 cm soil depth layer; however, best-estimates were also derived for 0-50 and 0-100 cm soil depth layers.

Annex 2A.2 Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from Biochar Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods

Thermochemical Conversion Technologies

For the purpose of this methodology, biochar is defined as a solid material generated by heating biomass to a temperature in excess of 350 °C under conditions of controlled and limited oxidant concentrations to prevent combustion. These processes can be classified as either pyrolysis (in which oxidants are excluded), or gasification (in which oxidant concentrations are low enough to generate syngas).

Torrefaction and hydrothermal carbonisation (also called liquefaction) are not included because they do not generate solid products that are significantly more persistent in soil than the original organic feedstock material (Libra *et al.* 2011; Kammann *et al.* 2012). Both of these processes typically utilise temperatures below 350°C, with torrefaction operating under dry feedstock conditions in ambient pressure, while hydrothermal carbonisation uses pressurised wet aqueous slurries. In contrast, pyrolysis operates at temperatures at 350°C and above (typically but not always below 700°C) under variable times, and gasification utilises temperatures between 500 and 1500°C and typically short times (Boateng *et al.* 2015), both in dry conditions. Dry conditions are defined here in terms of the feedstock moisture, whereby feedstocks can have moisture up to 20percent after pre-drying; in comparison, wet slurries typically have liquid water contents above 80percent.

Priming of native soil organic carbon by biochar amendments

Mineralisation of native soil organic carbon is on average reduced by 4 percent (95 percent CI = -8.1-0.8percent) after biochar additions to soil (Wang *et al.* 2015). Similar to laboratory trials (Kuzyakov *et al.* 2014), field trials also show reductions in mineralisation of native soil organic carbon close to a decade after biochar additions (Weng *et al.* 2017) as well as in biochar-rich soils after several millennia (Liang *et al.* 2010). Known mechanisms that would cause an increase in mineralisation involve co-metabolism (Whitman *et al.* 2015) that operates over the short term by supplying easily mineralisable organic matter as a source of energy to metabolise native organic matter (Zimmerman *et al.* 2011). Conservatively, we assume no effect of biochar on existing soil organic matter in the long term.

Nitrous oxide emissions from soil after biochar amendments

Meta-analyses have found that nitrous oxide emissions are on average reduced between 54 percent (Cayuela *et al.* 2014), 38 percent (Borchard *et al.* 2018), 32 percent (Liu *et al.* 2018) to 0 percent (Verhoeven *et al.* 2017) after addition of biochar to soil. Any reductions in nitrous oxide emissions due to biochar additions typically decline over several years after application (Fungo *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, assessments of nitrous oxide emissions several years after biochar additions are indicative of long-term emission reductions although at lower rates, since changes in biochar properties occur slowly over long periods of time (decades and centuries) compared to changes observed during the initial days to years (Nguyen *et al.* 2008).

High-N feedstocks generate biochar with some microbially available N (Wang *et al.* 2012) and can lead to short-term (days to weeks) increases in total nitrous oxide emissions if produced at lower temperatures (< 600 °C) (Cayuela *et al.* 2013). However, charring consistently reduces nitrous oxide emissions originating from the nitrogen in nitrogen-rich organic materials (Rose *et al.* 2016), as easily mineralisable amino-groups are converted to polyaromatic nitrogen-carbon structures (Knicker 2007).

Due to limiting evidence demonstrating the long-term persistence of soil nitrous oxide emission reductions, it is conservatively assumed that biochar does not reduce nitrous oxide emissions from soil in the Tier 1 method. However, any bioavailable N additions associated with biochar amendments should be included in the calculations of direct and indirect soil nitrous oxide emissions (Volume 4, Chapter 11) as part of organic N inputs. This approach will be conservative in terms of the influence of biochar on greenhouse gas emissions for the Tier 1 method.

Biochar Amendments to Organic Soils

No methods are provided in this guidance for estimating the impact of amending organic soils with biochar. Compilers may be able to develop a Tier 3 method for estimating the impact of biochar C amendments to organic soils, but it is important to recognise that the dynamics may be different, particularly with respect to priming. Few studies have investigated the impact of priming by biochar on organic soils. However, one study that has investigated priming of organic horizons in a forest soil found substantial losses of soil C over a ten-year period with charcoal additions (Wardle *et al.* 2008). Wardle *et al.* (2008) did not use isotopes and were therefore unable to attribute these losses unequivocally to the organic soil C or to the charcoal. Nor was their study able to determine the extent to which enhanced mass loss of organic soil carbon was due to mineralisation, or was due to vertical transport of the C into the soil column as dissolved or colloidal organic carbon (Lehmann & Sohi 2008). Nonetheless, the Wardle *et al.* (2008) study did indicate the possibility that priming of soil organic matter decomposition by biochar may lead to a net loss of soil C in organic soils.

References

REFERENCES NEWLY CITED IN THE 2019 REFINEMENT

Inventory Framework

- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- IPCC (2015) *Application of 2006 IPCC Guidelines to Other Areas*. Eds: Baasansuren, J., Tanabe, K. and Fukuda, Meeting Report of the IPCC Expert Meeting, Pub. IGES, Japan.

Biomass C (Allometric Models and Biomass Maps)

- Avitabile, V., Baccini, A., Friedl, M. A. & Schmullius, C. (2012) Capabilities and limitations of Landsat and land cover data for aboveground woody biomass estimation of Uganda. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 117: 366-380.
- Avitabile, V., Herold, M., Heuvelink, G. B., Lewis, S. L., Phillips, O. L., Asner, G. P., Armston, J., Ashton, P. S., Banin, L. & Bayol, N. (2016) An integrated pan-tropical biomass map using multiple reference datasets. *Global change biology* 22(4): 1406-1420.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S., Walker, W., Laporte, N., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J., Beck, P., Dubayah, R. & Friedl, M. (2012) Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature climate change* 2(3): 182.
- Baccini, A., Walker, W., Carvalho, L., Farina, M., Sulla-Menashe, D. & Houghton, R. (2017) Tropical forests are a net carbon source based on aboveground measurements of gain and loss. *Science* **358**(6360): 230-234.
- Baker, T. R., Phillips, O. L., Malhi, Y., Almeida, S., Arroyo, L., Di Fiore, A., Erwin, T., Higuchi, N., Killeen, T. J. & Laurance, S. G. (2004) Increasing biomass in Amazonian forest plots. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 353-365.
- Calders, K., Newnham, G., Burt, A., Murphy, S., Raumonen, P., Herold, M., Culvenor, D., Avitabile, V., Disney, M. & Armston, J. (2015) Nondestructive estimates of above-ground biomass using terrestrial laser scanning. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 198–208. In.
- Chambers, J. Q., dos Santos, J., Ribeiro, R. J. & Higuchi, N. (2001) Tree damage, allometric relationships, and above-ground net primary production in central Amazon forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 152(1-3): 73-84.
- Chave, J., Condit, R., Aguilar, S., Hernandez, A., Lao, S. & Perez, R. (2004) Error propagation and scaling for tropical forest biomass estimates. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 409-420.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M. S., Delitti, W. B., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P. M. & Goodman, R. C. (2014) Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global change biology* 20(10): 3177-3190.
- Chave, J. r., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M. A., Chambers, J., Eamus, D., Fölster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N. & Kira, T. (2005) Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia* 145(1): 87-99.
- Disney, M., Boni Vicari, M., Burt, A., Calders, K., Lewis, S., Raumonen, P. & Wilkes, P. (2018) Weighing trees with lasers: advances, challenges and opportunities. *Interface Focus* 8(2): 20170048.
- Fabrika, M. & Pretzsch, H. (2013) *Forest Ecosystem Analysis and Modelling*. TECHNICAL University in Zvolen, Zvolen, Slovakia: Faculty of Forestry, Department of Forest Management and Geodesy.
- Gonzalez de Tanago, J., Lau, A., Bartholomeus, H., Herold, M., Avitabile, V., Raumonen, P., Martius, C., Goodman, R. C., Disney, M. & Manuri, S. (2018) Estimation of above-ground biomass of large tropical trees with terrestrial LiDAR. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9(2): 223-234.
- Henry, M., Picard, N., Trotta, C., Manlay, R., Valentini, R., Bernoux, M. & Saint André, L. (2011) Estimating tree biomass of sub-Saharan African forests: a review of available allometric equations. *Silva Fennica* 45(3B): 477-569.
- Herold, M., Carter, S., Avitabile, V., Espejo, A. B., Jonckheere, I., Lucas, R., McrRoberts, R. E., Næsset, E., Nightingale, J., Petersen, R., Reiche, J., Romijn, E., Rosenqvist, A., Rozendaal, D. M. A., Seifert, F. M., Sanz,

M. J. & de Sy, V. (2019). The Role and Need for Space-Based Forest Biomass-Related Measurements in Environmental Management and Policy. In : Surveys in Geophysics, 22 p. 10.1007/s10712-019-09510-6

- Inoue, Y., Kiyono, Y., Asai, H., Ochiai, Y., Qi, J., Olioso, A., Shiraiwa, T., Horie, T., Saito, K. & Dounagsavanh, L. (2010) Assessing land-use and carbon stock in slash-and-burn ecosystems in tropical mountain of Laos based on time-series satellite images. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 12(4): 287-297.
- Jenkins, J. C., Chojnacky, D. C., Heath, L. S. & Birdsey, R. A. (2004) Comprehensive database of diameter-based biomass regressions for North American tree species. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-319. Newtown Square, PA: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 45 p.[1 CD-ROM]. 319.
- Jucker, T., Caspersen, J., Chave, J., Antin, C., Barbier, N., Bongers, F., Dalponte, M., van Ewijk, K. Y., Forrester, D. I. & Haeni, M. (2017) Allometric equations for integrating remote sensing imagery into forest monitoring programmes. *Global change biology* 23(1): 177-190.
- Ketterings, Q. M., Coe, R., van Noordwijk, M. & Palm, C. A. (2001) Reducing uncertainty in the use of allometric biomass equations for predicting above-ground tree biomass in mixed secondary forests. *Forest Ecology and management* 146(1-3): 199-209.
- Krisnawati, H., Adinugroho, W. C. & Imanuddin, R. (2012) Allometric models for estimating tree biomass at various forest ecosystem types in Indonesia. Bogor, Java, Indonesia: Research and Development Center for Conservation and Rehabilitation, Forestry Research and Development Agency.
- Kurz, W. & Apps, M. (2006) Developing Canada's national forest carbon monitoring, accounting and reporting system to meet the reporting requirements of the Kyoto Protocol. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 11(1): 33-43.
- Lang, M., Lilleleht, A., Neumann, M., Bronisz, K., Rolim, S. G., Seedre, M., Uri, V. & Kiviste, A. (2016) Estimation of above-ground biomass in forest stands from regression on their basal area and height. *Forestry Studies* 64(1): 70-92.
- Liaw, A. & Wiener, M. (2002) Classification and regression by randomForest. *R news* 2(3): 18-22.
- Lim, K., Treitz, P., Baldwin, K., Morrison, I. & Green, J. (2003) Lidar remote sensing of biophysical properties of tolerant northern hardwood forests. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing* 29(5): 658-678.
- Longo, M., Keller, M., dos-Santos, M. N., Leitold, V., Pinagé, E. R., Baccini, A., Saatchi, S., Nogueira, E. M., Batistella, M. & Morton, D. C. (2016) Aboveground biomass variability across intact and degraded forests in the Brazilian Amazon. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **30**(11): 1639-1660.
- López-Serrano, F., Garcia-Morote, A., Andres-Abellan, M., Tendero, A. & Del Cerro, A. (2005) Site and weather effects in allometries: a simple approach to climate change effect on pines. *Forest Ecology and Management* 215(1-3): 251-270.
- Luo, Y., Zhang, X., Wang, X. & Lu, F. (2014) Biomass and its allocation of Chinese forest ecosystems. *Ecology* 95(7): 2026-2026.
- Mascaro, J., Asner, G. P., Muller-Landau, H. C., van Breugel, M., Hall, J. & Dahlin, K. (2011) Controls over aboveground forest carbon density on Barro Colorado Island, Panama. *Biogeosciences* 8(6).
- Mensah, S., Veldtman, R., Du Toit, B., Glèlè Kakaï, R. & Seifert, T. (2016) Aboveground biomass and carbon in a South African mistbelt forest and the relationships with tree species diversity and forest structures. *Forests* **7**(4): 79.
- Mugasha, W. A., Mwakalukwa, E. E., Luoga, E., Malimbwi, R. E., Zahabu, E., Silayo, D. S., Sola, G., Crete, P., Henry, M. & Kashindye, A. (2016) Allometric models for estimating tree volume and aboveground biomass in lowland forests of Tanzania. *International Journal of Forestry Research* 2016.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Determination of mean tree height of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* **52**(2): 49-56.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Estimating timber volume of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **61**(2): 246-253.
- Nam, V. T., Van Kuijk, M. & Anten, N. P. (2016) Allometric equations for aboveground and belowground biomass estimations in an evergreen forest in Vietnam. *PloS one* **11**(6): e0156827.
- Ometto, J. P., Assis, M. L., Cantinho, R, Pereira, F., Gorgens, E., Satto, L., Siqueira, E., Tejada, G. (2018): Biomass map of Amazon with a 250m pixel size, link to GeoTIFF. *PANGAEA*, https://doi.pangaea.de/10.1594/PANGAEA.891345

- Paul, K. I., Roxburgh, S. H., Chave, J., England, J. R., Zerihun, A., Specht, A., Lewis, T., Bennett, L. T., Baker, T. G. & Adams, M. A. (2016) Testing the generality of above-ground biomass allometry across plant functional types at the continent scale. *Global change biology* 22(6): 2106-2124.
- Pérez-Cruzado, C., Fehrmann, L., Magdon, P., Cañellas, I., Sixto, H. & Kleinn, C. (2015) On the site-level suitability of biomass models. *Environmental Modelling & Software* 73: 14-26.
- Picard, N., Saint-André, L. & Henry, M. (2012) *Manual for building tree volume and biomass allometric equations: from field measurement to prediction*. Rome, Italy & Montpellier, France Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations & Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement.
- Rock, J. (2007) Suitability of published biomass equations for aspen in Central Europe—Results from a case study. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **31**(5): 299-307.
- Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T. A., Salas, W., Zutta, B. R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S. L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M. & Morel, A. (2011) Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108(24): 9899-9904.
- Santoro, M. & Cartus, O. (2018) Research Pathways of Forest Above-Ground Biomass Estimation Based on SAR Backscatter and Interferometric SAR Observations. *Remote Sensing* **10**(4): 608.
- Schepaschenko, D., Shvidenko, A., Usoltsev, V., Lakyda, P., Luo, Y., Vasylyshyn, R., Lakyda, I., Myklush, Y., See, L., McCallum, I., Fritz, S., Kraxner, F. & Obersteiner, M. (2017) A dataset of forest biomass structure for Eurasia. *Scientific Data* 4: 170070.
- Seiler, C., Hutjes, R. W. A., Kruijt, B., Quispe, J., Añez, S., Arora, V. K., Melton, J. R., Hickler, T. & Kabat, P. (2014) Modeling forest dynamics along climate gradients in Bolivia. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 119(5): 758-775.
- Tomppo, E., Gschwantner, T., Lawrence, M. & McRoberts, R. E. (2010) National Forest Inventories Pathways for Common Reporting. Springer, USA.
- Vidal, C., Alberdi, I., Hernandez, L. & J., R. (2016) National Forest Inventories Assessment of Wood Availability and Use. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Vieilledent, G., Vaudry, R., Andriamanohisoa, S. F. D., Rakotonarivo, O. S., Randrianasolo, H. Z., Razafindrabe, H. N., Rakotoarivony, C. B., Ebeling, J. & Rasamoelina, M. (2012) A universal approach to estimate biomass and carbon stock in tropical forests using generic allometric models. *Ecological Applications* 22(2): 572-583.
- Youkhana, A. H., Ogoshi, R. M., Kiniry, J. R., Meki, M. N., Nakahata, M. H. & Crow, S. E. (2017) Allometric Models for Predicting Aboveground Biomass and Carbon Stock of Tropical Perennial C4 Grasses in Hawaii. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8(650).
- Zianis, D., Muukkonen, P., Mäkipää, R. & Mencuccini, M. (2005) Biomass and Stem Volume Equations for Tree Species in Europe. *Silva Fennica Monographs* **4**: 63.

Dead Organic Matter C

- Chertov, O., Komarov, A., Shaw, C., Bykhovets, S., Frolov, P., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputin, I., Zubkova, E., & Shashkov, M. (2017). Romul_Hum-A model of soil organic matter formation coupling with soil biota activity. II. Parameterisation of the soil food web biota activity. Ecological Modelling 345: 125-139.
- Cook, G.D., Meyer, C.P., Muepu, M. & Liedloff, A.C. (2017). Dead organic matter and the dynamics of carbon and greenhouse gas emissions in frequently burnt savannas. International Journal of Wildland Fire **25**(12): 1252-1263.
- Filser, J., Faber, J.H., Tiunov, A.V., Brussaard, L., Frouz, J., De Deyn, G., Uvarov, A.V., Berg, M.P., Lavelle, P., Loreau, M., Wall, D.H., Querner, P., Eijsackers, H. & Jimenez J.J. (2016). Soil fauna: key to new carbon models. Soil 2: 565-582.
- García-Palacios P., Maestre F.T., Kattge J. & Wall, D.H. (2013). Climate and litter quality differently modulate the effects of soil fauna on litter decomposition across biomes. Ecology Letters **16**(8): 1045-1053.
- Harmon, M. E., Bond-Lamberty, B., Tang, J. & Vargas, R. (2011). Heterotrophic respiration in disturbed forests: A review with examples from North America. Journal Geophysical Research **116**.
- Harmon, M.E., Fasth, B., Woodall, C.W. & Sexton, J. (2013). Carbon concentration of standing and downed woody detritus: Effects of tree taxa, decay class, position, and tissue type. Forest Ecology and Management 291: 259-267.

- Harmon, M.E., Krankina, O.N. & Sexton, J. (2000). Decomposition vectors: a new approach to estimating woody detritus decomposition dynamics. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **30**(1): 76-84.
- Hattenschwiler S., Tiunov A.V. & Scheu, S. (2005). Biodiversity and litter decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review Ecology, Evolution, Systematics, **36**: 191–218.
- Hu, Z., Xu, C., McDowell, N.G., Johnson, D.J., Wang, M., Luo, Y., Zhou, X. & Huang, Z. (2017). Linking microbial community composition to C loss rates during wood decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 104: 108-116.
- Komarov, A., Chertov, O., Bykhovets, S., Shaw, C., Nadporozhskaya, M., Frolov, P., Shashkov, M., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputina, I. & Zubkova, E. (2017). Romul_ Hum model of soil organic matter formation coupled with soil biota activity. I. Problem formulation, model description, and testing, Ecological Modelling 345: 113–124.
- Lavelle, P., Blanchart, E., Martin, A. & Martin, S. (1993). A hierarchical model for decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems: application to soils of the humid tropics. Biotropica **25**: 130–150.
- Rock J., Badek, F.-W. & Harmon M. E. (2008). Estimating decomposition rate constants for European tree species from the literature. European Journal of Forest Research **127**: 301-313.
- Russell, M.B., Woodall, C.W., D'Amato, A.W., Fraver S. & Bradford, J.B. (2014). Linking climate change and downed woody debris decomposition across forests of the eastern United States. Biogeosciences 11: 6417-6425.
- Smith, J. E. & Heath, L. S. (2002). A model of forest floor carbon mass for United States forest types. Newton Square, PA, USDA Forest Service.
- References for defaults in Table 2.2
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N. (2012). The national inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's pre-1990 planted forest using a LiDAR incomplete-transect approach. Forest Ecology and Management 280: 187–197.
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N.B. (2011). The inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's post-1989 planted forest. Forest Ecology and Management 262: 1119–1130.
- Canada's National Forest Inventory. 2018. https://nfi.nfis.org/en. Contact: Cindy Shaw (cindy.shaw@canada.ca)
- Domke, G.M., Perry, C.H., Walters, B.F., Woodall, C.W., Russell, M.B. & Smith, J.E. (2016). Estimating litter carbon stocks on forest land in the United States. Science of the Total Environment **557**: 469-478.
- FAO, 2014a: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Argentina. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az153s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014b: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Brazil. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az172e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014c: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Chile. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az185s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014d: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Ecuador. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az203s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014e: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report French Guiana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az215f.pdf].
- FAO, 2014f: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Guyana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az232e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014g: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Suriname. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az343e.pdf].
- Holdaway, R.J., Easdale, T.A., Carswell, F.E., Richardson, S.J., Peltzer, D.A., Mason, N.W., Brandon, A.M. & Coomes, D.A. (2017). Nationally representative plot network reveals contrasting drivers of net biomass change in secondary and old-growth forests. Ecosystems 20(5): 944-959.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012a). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: site and profile information. http://bwc.lbl.gov/StaticReports/ISCN/SiteProfile_LATEST.xls.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012b). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: Per-layer data. http://bwc.lbl.gov/ StaticReports/ISCN/ISCNLayerData_LATEST.xlsx.

Japan's National Forest Inventory. 2018. Contact: Shigehiro Ishizuka (ishiz02@ffpri.affrc.go.jp)

- Shaw, C., Bhatti, J.S. & Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests (Vol. 403). Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre. [http://www.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/bookstore_pdfs/ 25626.pdf]
- Ugawa, S., Takahashi, M., Morisada, K., Tabeuchi, M., Kaneko, S. (2012). Carbon stocks of dead wood, litter, and soil in the forest sector of Japan: general description of the National Forest Soil Carbon Inventory. Bulletin of Forestry and Forest Research **11**(4): 207-221.

Soil C

- ABARES. (2016) Land Use of Australia 2010-11. A Derived map showing land use clasified in 17 broad groupings of ALUMC version 7 tertiary classes. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences
- Baldock, J., Sanderman, J., Macdonald, L., Massis, A., Hawke, B., Szarvas, S. & McGowan, J. (2013) Quantifying the allocation of soil organic carbon to biologically significant fractions. Soil Research **51**: 561-576.
- Batjes, N. (2010) A global framework of soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. In: p. 79. Wageningen, The Netherlands: ISRIC World Soil Information.
- Batjes, N. (2011) Soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation Revised estimates for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 142: 365-373.
- Batjes, N. H., Al-Adamat, R., Bhattacharyya, T., Bernoux, M., Cerri, C. E. P., Gicheru, P., Kamoni, P., Milne, E., Pal, D. K. & Rawajfih, Z. (2007) Preparation of consistent soil data sets for modelling purposes: Secondary SOTER data for four case study areas. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 122(1): 26-34.
- Boateng, A. A., Garcia-Perez, M., Mašek, O., Brown, R. & del Campo, B. (2015) Biochar production technology. In: Biochar for Environmental Management, pp. 95-120. Routledge.
- Borchard, N., Schirrmann, M., Cayuela, M.L., Kammann, C., Wrage-Mönnig, N., Estavillo, J.M., Fuertes-Mendizábal, T., Sigua, G., Spokas, K., Ippolito, J.A. & Novak, J. (2018) Biochar, soil and land-use interactions that reduce nitrate leaching and N₂O emissions: A meta-analysis. Science of The Total Environment 651: 2354-2364.
- Bruun, T. B., Mertz, O. & Elberling, B. (2006) Linking yields of upland rice in shifting cultivation to fallow length and soil properties. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **113**: 139-149.
- Caccetta, P., Furby, S., Wallace, J., Wu, X., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. (2012) Long-term monitoring of Autralian land cover change using landsat data: development, implementation and opertation. In: Global Forest Monitoring from Earth Observation, eds. F. Achard & M. Hansen, pp. 243-258. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Cayuela, M. L., Aguilera, E., Sanz-Coben, a. A., Adams, D. C., Abalos, D., Barton, L., Ryals, R., Silver, W. L., Alfaro, M. A., Pappa, V. A., Smith, P., Garnier, J., Billen, G., Bouwman, L., Bondeau, A. & Lassaletta, L. (2017) Direct nitrous oxide emissions in Mediterranean climate cropping systems: Emission factors based on a meta-analysis of available measurement data. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 238: 25-35.
- Cayuela, M. L., Jeffery, S. & van Zwieten, L. (2015) The molar H:Corg ratio of biochar is a key factor in mitigating N₂O emissions from soil. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **202**: 135-138.
- Cayuela, M. L., Sánchez-Monedero, M. A., Roig, A., Hanley, K., Enders, A. & Lehmann, J. (2013) Biochar and denitrification in soils: when, how much and why does biochar reduce N₂O emissions? Scientific Reports **3**: 1-7.
- Cayuela, M. L., van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Jeffery, S., Roig, A. & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2014) Biochar's role in mitigating soil nitrous oxide emissions: A review and meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 191: 5-16.
- Chappell, A. & Baldock, J. (2014) Modelling Australian Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics. In: p. 36. Melbourne, Australia: CSIRO.
- Coleman, K. & Jenkinson, D. S. (1996) RothC-26.3 A Model for the turnover of carbon in soil. In: Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models: Using Existing Long-Term Datasets, eds. D. S. Powlson, P. Smith & J. U. Smith, pp. 237-246. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Dalsgaard, L., Lange, H., Strand, L., Callesen, I., Borgen, S. K., Liski, J. & Astrup, R. (2016): Underestimation of boreal forest soil carbon stocks related to soil classification and drainage. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 46: 1413-1425

- de Gruijter, J., Brus, D., Bierkens, M. & Knotters, M. (2006) Sampling for Natural Resource Monitoring. Berlin: Springer.
- Díaz-Zorita, M., Barraco, M. & Alvarez, C. (1999) Efectos de doce años de labranzas en un Hapludol del noroeste de Buenos Aires, Argentina. Ciencia del Suelo 22: 11-18.
- Fungo, B., Lehmann, J., Kalbitz, K., Tenywa, M., Thiongo, M. & Neufeldt, H. (2017) Emissions intensity and carbon stocks of a tropical Ultisol after amendment with Tithonia green manure, urea and biochar. Field Crops Research 209: 179-188.
- Gaunt, J. L. & Lehmann, J. (2008) Energy balance and emissions associated with biochar sequestration and pyrolysis bioenergy production. Environmental Science & Technology **42**(11): 4152-4158.
- Goll, D. S., Winkler, A. J., Raddatz, T., Dong, N., Prentice, I. C., Ciais, P. & Brovkin, V. (2017) Carbon-nitrogen interactions in idealized simulations with JSBACH (version 3.10). Geoscientific Model Development 10(5): 2009-2030.
- Hammond, J., Shackley, S., Sohi, S. & Brownsort, P. (2011) Prospective life cycle carbon abatement for pyrolysis biochar systems in the UK. Energy Policy 39(5): 2646-2655.
- Hernandez, L., Jandl, R., Blujdea, V. N. B., Lehtonen, A., Kriiska, K., Alberdi, I., Adermann, V., Canellas, I., Marin, G., Moreno-Fernandez, D., Ostonen, I., Varik, M. & Didion, M. (2017) Towards complete and harmonized assessment of soil carbon stocks and balance in forests: The ability of the Yasso07 model across a wide gradient of climatic and forest conditions in Europe. Science of the Total Environment **599**: 1171-1180.
- Jeffery, S., Abalos, D., Spokas, K. A. & Verheijen, F. G. A. (2015) Biochar effects on crop yield. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2.
- Jeffery, S., Verheijen, F. G. A., van der Velde, M. & Bastos, A. C. (2011) A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 144(1): 175-187.
- Kammann, C., Ratering, S., Eckhard, C. & Müller, C. (2012) Biochar and Hydrochar Effects on Greenhouse Gas (Carbon Dioxide, Nitrous Oxide, and Methane) Fluxes from Soils. Journal of Environmental Quality 41(4): 1052-1066.
- Karhu, K., Gardenas, A. I., Heikkinen, J., Vanhala, P., Tuomi, M. & Liski, J. (2012) Impacts of organic amendments on carbon stocks of an agricultural soil - Comparison of model-simulations to measurements. Geoderma 189: 606-616.
- Kesteven, J. & Lansberg, J. (2004) Developing a national forest productivty model. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 23. Australian Greenhoude Office, Canberra, Australia. In.
- Knicker, H. (2007) How does fire affect the nature and stability of soil organic nitrogen and carbon? A review. Biogeochemistry **85**(1): 91-118.
- Lehmann, J., Abiven, S., Kleber, M., Pan, G., Singh, B. P., Sohi, S. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Persistence of biochar in soil. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation: 233-280.
- Lehmann, J. & Sohi, S. (2008) Comment on "Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus". Science 321(5894): 1295-1295.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievanen, R., Makipaa, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. Geoscientific Model Development 9(11): 4169-4183.
- Lenton, T. M. & Vaughan, N. E. (2009) The radiative forcing potential of different climate geoengineering options. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics **9**(15): 5539-5561.
- Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Sohi, S. P., Thies, J. E., O'Neill, B., Trujillo, L., Gaunt, J., Solomon, D., Grossman, J., Neves, E. G. & Luizão, F. J. (2010) Black carbon affects the cycling of non-black carbon in soil. Organic Geochemistry 41(2): 206-213.
- Libra, J. A., Ro, K. S., Kammann, C., Funke, A., Berge, N. D., Neubauer, Y., Titirici, M.-M., Fühner, C., Bens, O., Kern, J. & Emmerich, K.-H. (2011) Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass residuals: a comparative review of the chemistry, processes and applications of wet and dry pyrolysis. Biofuels 2(1): 71-106.Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Amonette, J.E., Lin, Z., Liu, G., Ambus, P. & Xie, Z. (2018) How does biochar influence soil N cycle? A meta-analysis. Plant and Soil 426(1-2): 211-225.

- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, E. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and estimation for investigating the dynamics of natural resources. Ecological Applications 8(2): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The National Resources Inventory: A long-term multi-resource monitoring programme. Environmental and Ecological Statistics **4**(3): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. Global Change Biology **16**(2): 810-822.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) An empirically based approach for estimating uncertainty associated with modelling carbon sequestration in soils. Ecological Modelling 205(3-4): 453-463.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M., Ojima, D. & Schimel, D. (1998) DAYCENT and its land surface submodel: description and testing. Global and Planetary Change 19(1–4): 35-48.
- Parton, W. J., Schimel, D. S., Cole, C. V. & Ojima, D. S. (1987) Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains Grasslands. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51: 1173-1179.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Makipaa, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievanen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model - Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. Forest Ecology and Management 286: 137-147.
- Richards, G. (2001) The FullCam carbon accounting model: development, calibration and implementation for the National Carbon Accounting System. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 28.
- Richards, G. & Evans, D. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM v1.0) for the Australian continent. Australian Forestry **67**: 277-283.
- Roberts, K. G., Gloy, B. A., Joseph, S., Scott, N. R. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Life Cycle Assessment of Biochar Systems: Estimating the Energetic, Economic, and Climate Change Potential. Environmental Science & Technology 44(2): 827-833.
- Rose, T. J., Keen, B., Morris, S. G., Quin, P., Rust, J., Kearney, L., Kimber, S. & Van Zwieten, L. (2016) Application of woody biochar and woody mulch to mitigate nitrous oxide emissions from a poultry litteramended soil in the subtropics. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 228: 1-8.
- Shackley, S., Carter, S., Knowles, T., Middelink, E., Haefele, S. & Haszeldine, S. (2012) Sustainable gasification– biochar systems? A case-study of rice-husk gasification in Cambodia, Part II: Field trial results, carbon abatement, economic assessment and conclusions. Energy Policy 41: 618-623.
- Shirato, Y., Hakamata, T. & Taniyama, I. (2004) Modified Rothamsted carbon model for andosols and its validation: Changing humus decomposition rate constant with pyrophosphate-extractable Al. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **50**(1): 149-158.
- Shirato, Y. & Taniyama, I. (2003) Testing the suitability of the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese non-volcanic upland soils. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **49**(6): 921-925.
- Shirato, Y. & Yokozawa, M. (2005) Applying the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese paddy soils and modifying it by simple mining of the decomposition rate. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 51(3): 405-415.
- Sparrevik, M., Field, J. L., Martinsen, V., Breedveld, G. D. & Cornelissen, G. (2013) Life Cycle Assessment to Evaluate the Environmental Impact of Biochar Implementation in Conservation Agriculture in Zambia. Environmental Science & Technology 47(3): 1206-1215.
- Spokas, K. A. (2010) Review of the stability of biochar in soils: predictability of O:C molar ratios. Carbon Management 1(2): 289-303.
- Tuomi, M., Laiho, R., Repo, A. & Liski, J. (2011) Wood decomposition model for boreal forests. Ecological Modelling 222(3): 709-718.
- Tupek, B., Ortiz, C. A., Hashimoto, S., Stendahl, J., Dahlgren, J., Karltun, E. & Lehtonen, A. (2016) Underestimation of boreal soil carbon stocks by mathematical soil carbon models linked to soil nutrient status. Biogeosciences 13(15): 4439-4459.
- Unkovich, M., Baldock, J. & Forbes, M. (2010) Variability in harvest index of grain crops and potential significance for carbon accounting: examples from Australian agriculture. Advances in Agronomy 105: 173-219.

- US-EPA. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. Report EPA 430-P-17-001. In: Washington, D.C.: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Verhoeven, E., Pereira, E., Decock, C., Suddick, E., Angst, T. & Six, J. (2017) Toward a Better Assessment of Biochar–Nitrous Oxide Mitigation Potential at the Field Scale. Journal of Environmental Quality 46(2): 237-246.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A. & Hicks, W. S. (2015) Soil organic carbon and its fractions estimated by visible-near infrared transfer functions. European Journal of Soil Science **66**(3): 438-450.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A., Webster, R., Bui, E. N. & Baldock, J. A. (2014) Baseline map of organic carbon in Australian soil to support national carbon accounting and monitoring under climate change. Global Change Biology **20**(9): 2953-2970.
- Wang, J., Xiong, Z. & Kuzyakov, Y. (2016) Biochar stability in soil: meta-analysis of decomposition and priming effects. GCB Bioenergy 8(3): 512-523.
- Wang, T., Camps Arbestain, M., Hedley, M. & Bishop, P. (2012) Chemical and bioassay characterisation of nitrogen availability in biochar produced from dairy manure and biosolids. Organic Geochemistry 51: 45-54.
- Wardle, D. A., Nilsson, M.-C. & Zackrisson, O. (2008) Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus. Science 320(5876): 629-629.
- Weng, Z., Van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Tavakkoli, E., Joseph, S., Macdonald, L. M., Rose, T. J., Rose, M. T., Kimber, S. W. L., Morris, S., Cozzolino, D., Araujo, J. R., Archanjo, B. S. & Cowie, A. (2017) Biochar built soil carbon over a decade by stabilizing rhizodeposits. Nature Climate Change 7(5): 371-376.
- Whitman, T., Nicholson, C. F., Torres, D. & Lehmann, J. (2011) Climate Change Impact of Biochar Cook Stoves in Western Kenyan Farm Households: System Dynamics Model Analysis. Environmental Science & Technology 45(8): 3687-3694.
- Whitman, T., Scholz, S. M. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Biochar projects for mitigating climate change: an investigation of critical methodology issues for carbon accounting. Carbon Management **1**(1): 89-107.
- Whitman, T., Singh, B. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Priming effects in biocharamended soils: implications of biochar-soil organic matter interactions for carbon storage. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2: 455-488.
- Woolf, D., Amonette, J. E., Street-Perrott, F. A., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2010) Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change. Nature Communications 1: 56.
- Woolf, D. & Lehmann, J. (2012) Modelling the long-term response to positive and negative priming of soil organic carbon by black carbon. Biogeochemistry 111(1): 83-95.
- Yagasaki, Y. & Shirato, Y. (2014) Assessment on the rates and potentials of soil organic carbon sequestration in agricultural lands in Japan using a process-based model and spatially explicit land-use change inventories -Part 2: Future potentials. Biogeosciences 11(16): 4443-4457.
- Zimmerman, A. R. (2010) Abiotic and Microbial Oxidation of Laboratory-Produced Black Carbon (Biochar). Environmental Science & Technology **44**(4): 1295-1301.

Generic Guidance for Tier 3 Methods

- Baldock, J. A., Hawke, B., Sanderman, J. & Macdonald, L. M. (2013) Predicting contents of carbon and its component fractions in Australian soils from diffuse reflectance mid-infrared spectra. *Soil Research* (51): 577-595.
- Bona, K. A., Fyles, J. W., Shaw, C., Kurz & W.A. (2013) Are mosses required to accurately predict upland black spruce forest soil carbon in national-scale forest C accounting models? *Ecosystems* **16**: 1071–1086.
- Bona, K. A. & Shaw, C. H. F., J.W Kurz, W.A. (2016) Modelling moss-derived carbon in upland black spruce forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 46: 520-534.
- Brack, C., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. M. (2006) Integrated and comprehensive estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from land systems. *Sustainability Science* **1**(1): 91-106.
- Conant, R. T., Smith, G. R. & Paustian, K. (2003) Spatial variability of soil carbon in forested and cultivated sites: Implications for change detection. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (32): 278-286.
- Ellert, B. H., Janzen, H. H. & Entz, T. (2002) Assessment of a method to measure temporal change in soil carbon storage. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* (66): 1687-1695.

- EPA., U. S. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. In: ed. E. P. Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Falloon, P. & Smith, P. (2003) Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* **19**: 265-269.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M. C., Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J. & Philipson, C. D. (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. *Nature Communications* 4: 1340.
- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- Gillis, M. D., Omule, A. Y. & Brierley, T. (2005) Monitoring Canada's forests: The National Forest Inventory. *Forestry Chronicle* **81**: 214-221.
- Grosso, D., S., Ogle, S. M., Parton, W. J. & Breidt, F. J. (2010) Estimating uncertainty in N₂O emissions from US cropland soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* (24): GB1009.
- Grüneberg, E., Ziche, D. & Wellbrock, N. (2014) Organic carbon stocks and sequestration rates of forest soils in Germany. *Global Change Biology* 20(2644-2662).
- Hararuk, O., Shaw, C. & Kurz, W. A. (2017) Constraining the organic matter decay parameters in the CBM-CFS3 using Canadian National Forest Inventory data and a Bayesian inversion technique. *Ecological Modelling* **364**: 1-12.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievänen, R., Mäkipää, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. *Geoscientific Model Development* 9: 4169–4183.
- Luo, Y., Keenan, T. F. & Smith, M. (2015) Predictability of the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology* 21: 1737-1751.
- Metsaranta, J. M., Shaw, C. H., Kurz, W. A., Boisvenue, C. & Morken, S. (2017) Uncertainty of inventory-based estimates of the carbon dynamics of Canada's managed forest (1990–2014). *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 47: 1082-1094.
- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, F. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and Estimation for Investigating the Dynamics of Natural Resources. *Ecological Applications* (8): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The national resources inventory: a long term monitoring programme. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* (4): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. *Global Change Biology* (16): 810-820.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) Empirically-Based Uncertainty Associated with Modeling Carbon Sequestration Rates in Soils. *Ecological Modeling* (205): 453-463.
- Ortiz, C., Lundblad, M., Liski, J., Stendahl, J., Karltun, E., Lehtonen, A. & Gärdenäs, A., eds. (2009) *Measurements and models – a comparison of quantification methods for SOC changes in forest soils*. Norrköping, Sweden: Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute.
- Panichelli, L. & Gnansounou, E. (2015) Impact of agricultural-based biofuel production on greenhouse gas emissions from land-use change: Key modelling choices. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 42: 344-360.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M. D., Ojima, D. S. & Schimel, D. S. (1998) DAYCENT: Its Land Surface Submodel: Description and Testing. *Global and Planetary Change* (19): 35-48.
- Prisley, S. P. & Mortimer, M. J. (2004) A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* (198): 89-103.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Mäkipää, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievänen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model – Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 286: 137-147.
- Särndal, C.E., Swensson, B. & Wretman. J. (1992) Model Assisted Survey Sampling. Springer, New York.

- Service, C. F., ed. (2008) Canada's National Forest Inventory Ground Sampling Guidelines: Specifications for Ongoing Measurement.
- Service, U. F., ed. (2006) Forest Inventory and Analysis National Core Field Guide, Volume I: Field Data Collection Procedures for Phase 2 Plots Version 3.1. Northern Research Station Forest Service.: US Department of Agriculture.
- Shaw, C. H., Hilger, A. B., Metsaranta, J., Kurz, W. A., Russo, G., Eichel, F., Stinson, G., Smyth, C. & Filiatrault, M. (2014) Evaluation of simulated estimates of forest ecosystem carbon stocks using ground plot data from Canada's National Forest Inventory. *Ecological Modelling* 272: 323-347.
- Sobol, I. M. (2001) Global sensitivity indices for nonlinear mathematical models and their monte carlo estimates. *Mathematical Modelling and Computation Experiment* **55**: 271-280.
- Spencer, S., Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F., Goebel, J. & Paustian, K. (2011) Designing a national soil carbon monitoring network to support climate change policy: a case example for US agricultural lands. . Greenhouse Gas Management & Measurement (1): 167-178.
- Stinson, G., Magnussen, S., Boudewyn, P., Eichel, F., Russo, G., Cranny, M. & Song, A. (2016) Canada. In: *National Forest Inventories*, eds. V. C, A. I, H. M. L & R. J: Springer, Cham.
- Vidal, C. & Alberdi, I., Hernández, L., Redmond, J.J., eds. (2016) *National Forest Inventories*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.

Inter-annual variability

- Aragão, L. E. O. C., Anderson, L. O., Fonseca, M. G., Rosan, T. M., Vedovato, L. B., Wagner, F. H., Silva, C. V. J., Silva Junior, C. H. L., Arai, E., Aguiar, A. P., Barlow, J., Berenguer, E., Deeter, M. N., Domingues, L. G., Gatti, L., Gloor, M., Malhi, Y., Marengo, J. A., Miller, J. B., Phillips, O. L. & Saatchi, S. (2018) 21st Century drought-related fires counteract the decline of Amazon deforestation carbon emissions. *Nature Communications* 9(1): 536.
- Brando, P. M., Balch, J. K., Nepstad, D. C., Morton, D. C., Putz, F. E., Coe, M. T., Silvério, D., Macedo, M. N., Davidson, E. A., Nóbrega, C. C., Alencar, A. & Soares-Filho, B. S. (2014) Abrupt increases in Amazonian tree mortality due to drought–fire interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **111**(17): 6347-6352.
- Canadell, J. G., Le Quere, C., Raupach, M. R., Field, C. B., Buitenhuis, E. T., Ciais, P., Conway, T. J., Gillett, N. P., Houghton, R. A. & Marland, G. (2007) Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(47): 18866-18870.
- Ciais, P., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Ogee, J., Allard, V., Aubinet, M., Buchmann, N., Bernhofer, C., Carrara, A., Chevallier, F., De Noblet, N., Friend, A. D., Friedlingstein, P., Grunwald, T., Heinesch, B., Keronen, P., Knohl, A., Krinner, G., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Matteucci, G., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J. M., Papale, D., Pilegaard, K., Rambal, S., Seufert, G., Soussana, J. F., Sanz, M. J., Schulze, E. D., Vesala, T. & Valentini, R. (2005) Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. *Nature* 437(7058): 529-533.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2018) National Inventory Report 2016. 2.0: 348 pages.
- de Miranda, S. d. C., Bustamante, M., Palace, M., Hagen, S., Keller, M. & Ferreira, L. G. (2014) Regional Variations in Biomass Distribution in Brazilian Savanna Woodland. *Biotropica* **46**(2): 125-138.
- E., Koven, C. D., Lee, D., Nabel, J. E. M. S., Nassikas, A. A., Perugini, L., Rossi, S., Sitch, S., Viovy, N., Wiltshire, A. & Zaehle, S. (2018) Reconciling global-model estimates and country reporting of anthropogenic forest CO₂ sinks. *Nature Climate Change* 8(10): 914-920.
- Genet, H., He, Y., Lyu, Z., McGuire, A. D., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J., D'Amore, D., Bennett, A., Breen, A., Biles, F., Euskirchen, E. S., Johnson, K., Kurkowski, T., Schroder, S., Pastick, N., Rupp, T. S., Wylie, B., Zhang, Y., Zhou, X. & Zhu, Z. (2018) The role of driving factors in historical and projected carbon dynamics of upland ecosystems in Alaska. *Ecological Applications* 28(1): 5-27.
- Grassi, G., House, J., Kurz, W. A., Cescatti, A., Houghton, R. A., Peters, G. P., Sanz, M. J., Viñas, R. A., Alkama, R., Arneth, A., Bondeau, A., Dentener, F., Fader, M., Federici, S., Friedlingstein, P., Jain, A. K., Kato,
- Hember, R. A., Coops, N. C. & Kurz, W. A. (2018) Statistical performance and behaviour of environmentallysensitive composite models of lodgepole pine growth. *Forest Ecology and Management* **408**: 157-173.

- Henttonen, H. M., Nöjd, P. & Mäkinen, H. (2017) Environment-induced growth changes in the Finnish forests during 1971–2010 – An analysis based on National Forest Inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 386(Supplement C): 22-36.
- Hicke, J. A., Allen, C. D., Desai, A. R., Dietze, M. C., Hall, R. J., Hogg, E. H., Kashian, D. M., Moore, D., Raffa, K. F., Sturrock, R. N. & Vogelmann, J. (2012) Effects of biotic disturbances on forest carbon cycling in the United States and Canada. *Global Change Biology* 18(1): 7-34.
- IPCC. (2006) In: *IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programm*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara & K. Tanabe, IGES, Japan.
- IPCC. (2010) In: Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals. Meeting Report 5-7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & J. Baasansuren, IGES, Japan
- IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.
- Kurz, W. A. (2010) Large inter-annual variations in carbon emissions and removals, Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & B. J., pp. 41-48. Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Kurz, W. A., Dymond, C. C., Stinson, G., Rampley, G. J., Neilson, E. T., Carroll, A. L., Ebata, T. & Safranyik, L. (2008) Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. *Nature* 452(7190): 987-990.
- Kurz, W. A., Hayne, S., Fellows, M., MacDonald, J. D., Metsaranta, J. M., Hafer, M. & Blain, D. (2018) Quantifying the impacts of human activities on reported greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Canada's managed forest: conceptual framework and implementation. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 48(10): 1227-1240.
- Lehmann, C. E. R., Anderson, T. M., Sankaran, M., Higgins, S. I., Archibald, S., Hoffmann, W. A., Hanan, N. P., Williams, R. J., Fensham, R. J., Felfili, J., Hutley, L. B., Ratnam, J., San Jose, J., Montes, R., Franklin, D., Russell-Smith, J., Ryan, C. M., Durigan, G., Hiernaux, P., Haidar, R., Bowman, D. M. J. S. & Bond, W. J. (2014) Savanna Vegetation-Fire-Climate Relationships Differ Among Continents. *Science* 343(6170): 548-552.
- Lindner, M., Maroschek, M., Netherer, S., Kremer, A., Barbati, A., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Seidl, R., Delzon, S., Corona, P., Kolström, M., Lexer, M. J. & Marchetti, M. (2010) Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 698-709.
- Liski, J., Lehtonen, A., Palosuo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Eggers, T., Muukkonen, P. & Mäkipää, R. (2006) Carbon accumulation in Finland's forests 1922–2004 an estimate obtained by combination of forest inventory data with modelling of biomass, litter and soil. *Ann. For. Sci.* **63**(7): 687-697.
- Miller, J. D., Skinner, C. N., Safford, H. D., Knapp, E. E. & Ramirez, C. M. (2012) Trends and causes of severity, size, and number of fires in northwestern California, USA. *Ecological Applications* **22**(1): 184-203.
- Morton, D. C., Le Page, Y., DeFries, R., Collatz, G. J. & Hurtt, G. C. (2013) Understorey fire frequency and the fate of burned forests in southern Amazonia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **368**(1619).
- Page, S. E. & Hooijer, A. (2016) In the line of fire: the peatlands of Southeast Asia. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **371**(1696): 20150176.
- Pilli, R., Grassi, G., Kurz, W. A., Viñas, R. A. & Guerrero, N. H. (2016) Modelling forest carbon stock changes as affected by harvest and natural disturbances. I. Comparison with countries' estimates for forest management. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(5).
- Portuguese Environmental Agency. (2018) Portuguese National Inventory Report on Greenhouse Gases, 1990 2016.: 750 pages.
- Richards, G. P. & Evans, D. M. W. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM Vers. 1.0) for the Australian continent. *Australian Forestry* **67**(4): 277-283.
- Röhling, S., Dunger, K., Kändler, G., Klatt, S., Riedel, T., Stümer, W. & Brötz, J. (2016) Comparison of calculation methods for estimating annual carbon stock change in German forests under forest management in the German greenhouse gas inventory. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(1): 12.

- Roxburgh, S., Volkova, L., Surawski, N., Meyer, M. & Weston, C. (2015) Review of fuel loads, burn efficiencies, emissions factors, and recovery functions used to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with wildfire on temperate forested lands. Report prepared for the Department of the Environment. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). Canberra. In.
- Schimel, D., Stephens, B. B. & Fisher, J. B. (2015) Effect of increasing CO₂ on the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **112**(2): 436-441.
- Smith, P. (2010) Fingerprinting as a technique for attributing direct and indirect human induced effects (including changes in C stocks in crop & grasslands caused by climate change). Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava & K. Tanabe, Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Stinson, G., Kurz, W. A., Smyth, C. E., Neilson, E. T., Dymond, C. C., Metsaranta, J. M., Boisvenue, C., Rampley, G. J., Li, Q., White, T. M. & Blain, D. (2011) An inventory-based analysis of Canada's managed forest carbon dynamics, 1990 to 2008. *Global Change Biology* 17(6): 2227-2244.
- Vetter, M., Churkina, G., Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Zaehle, S., Bondeau, A., Chen, Y., Ciais, P., Feser, F., Freibauer, A., Geyer, R., Jones, C., Papale, D., Tenhunen, J., Tomelleri, E., Trusilova, K., Viovy, N. & Heimann, M. (2008) Analyzing the causes and spatial pattern of the European 2003 carbon flux anomaly using seven models. *Biogeosciences* 5(2): 561-583.
- Waterworth, R., Richards, G., Brack, C. & Evans, D. M. W. (2007) A generalised hybrid process-empirical model for predicting plantation forest growth . *Forest Ecology and Management* **238**(1-3): 231-243.
- Westerling, A. L. (2016) Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371**(1696): 20150178.
- Yamashita, A., Sano, J. & Yamamoto, S.-I. (2002) Impact of a strong typhoon on the structure and dynamics of an old-growth beech (Fagus crenata) forest, southwestern Japan. *Folia Geobotanica* **37**: 5-16.

REFERENCES COPIED FROM THE 2006 IPCC GUIDELINES

- Andrea, M.O. and Merlet, P. (2001). Emission of trace gases and aerosols from biomass burning. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15:955-966.
- Armentano, T.V. and Menges, E.S. (1986). Patterns of change in the carbon balance of organic soil-wetlands of the temperate zone. *Journal of Ecology* 74: 755-774.
- Baldocchi, D., Falge, E., Gu, L.H., Olson, R., Hollinger, D., Running, S., Anthoni, P., Bernhofer, C., Davis, K., Evans, R., Fuentes, J., Goldstein, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Lee, X.H., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Munger, W., Oechel, W., Pilegaard, K., Schmid, H.P., Valentini, R., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K. and Wofsy, S. (2001). FLUXNET: A new tool to study the temporal and spatial variability of ecosystem-scale carbon dioxide, water vapor, and energy flux densities. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 82: pp. 2415-2434.
- Bernoux, M., Carvalho, M.D.S., Volkoff, B. and Cerri, C.C. (2002). Brazil's soil carbon stocks. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:888-896.
- Bhatti, J.S., Apps, M.J. and Jiang, H. (2001). Examining the carbon stocks of boreal forest ecosystems at stand and regional scales. In: Lal R. *et al.* (eds.) Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton FL, pp. 513-532.
- Brady, N.C. and Weil, R.R. (1999). The Nature and Properties of Soils. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 881 pp.
- Clymo, R.S. (1984). The limits to peat bog growth. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 303:605-654.
- Conant, R.T., Paustian, K. and Elliott, E.T. (2001). Grassland management and conversion into grassland: Effects on soil carbon. *Ecological Application* **11**:343-355.
- Coomes, D.A., Allen, R.B., Scott, N.A., Goulding, C. and Beets, P. (2002). Designing systems to monitor carbon stocks in forests and shrublands. *Forest Ecology and Management* **164**, pp. 89 108.
- Davidson, E. A. and Ackerman, I.L. (1993). Changes in soil carbon inventories following cultivation of previously untilled soils. *Biogeochemistry* 20:161–164.
- Ellert, B.H., Janzen, H.H. and McConkey, B.G. (2001). Measuring and comparing soil carbon storage. In: R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett and B.A. Stewart (eds.). Soil Management for Enhancing Carbon Sequestration. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.: pp. 593-610.

- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2002). Simulating SOC changes in long-term experiments with the RothC and Century; model evaluation for a regional application. *Soil Use and Management* **18**:101-111.
- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2003). Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* 19:265-269.
- Forbes, M.S., Raison, R.J. and Skjemstad, J.O. (2006). Formation, transformation and transport of black carbon (charcoal) in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. *Journal of the Science of the Total Environment* (in press).
- Gifford, R.M. and Roderick, M.L. (2003). Soil carbon stocks and bulk density: spatial and cumulative mass coordinates as a basis for expression? *Global Change Biology* **9**:1507-1513.
- Gorham, E. (1991). Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probably responses to climatic warming. *Ecological Applications* **1**:182-195.
- Harmon, M.E. and Hua, C. (1991). Coarse woody debris dynamics in two old-growth ecosystems. *BioScience* **41**: 604-610.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D., Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack, J.R. and Cummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. *Advances in Ecological Research* 15: 133–302.
- IPCC (1997). Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Inventories. Houghton J.T., Meira Filho L.G., Lim B., Tréanton K., Mamaty I., Bonduki Y., Griggs D.J. Callander B.A. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA, Paris, France.
- IPCC (2000). Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Penman J., Kruger D., Galbally I., Hiraishi T., Nyenzi B., Emmanuel S., Buendia L., Hoppaus R., Martinsen T., Meijer J., Miwa K., Tanabe K. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2000). Watson R., Noble I.R., Bolin B., Ravindranath, N.H., Verardo D.J. and Dokken D.J. (Eds). Land use, Land-use Change, and Forestry: A Special Report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK.
- IPCC (2003). Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry. Penman J., Gytarsky M., Hiraishi T., Krug, T., Kruger D., Pipatti R., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T., Tanabe K., Wagner F. (Eds).Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- Karjalainen, L. and Kuuluvainen, T. (2002). Amount and diversity of coarse woody debris within a boreal forest landscape dominated by *Pinus sylvestris* in Vienansalo wilderness, eastern Fennoscandia. *Silva Fennica* 36(1): 147–167.
- Kasimir-Klemedtsson, A, Klemedtsson, L., Berglund, K., Martikainen, P., Silvola, J. and Oenema, O. (1997). Greenhouse gas emissions from farmed organic soils: a review. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:245-250.
- Krankina, O.N., Harmon, M.E., Kukuev, Y.A., Treyfeld, R.E., Kashpor, N.N., Kresnov, V.G., Skudin, V.M., Protasov, N.A., Yatskov, M., Spycher, G. and Povarov, E.D. (2002). Coarse woody debris in forest regions of Russia, *Can.J. For. Res.* 32: 768-778.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Webb, T.M. and McNamee, P.J. (1992). The carbon budget of the Canadian forest sector: phase I. Forestry Canada, Northwest Region. Information Report NOR-X-326, 93 pp.
- Lettens, S., van Orshoven, J., van Wesemael, B. and Muys, B. (2004). Soil organic and inorganic carbon contents of landscape units in Belgium derived using data from 1950 to 1970. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 40-47.
- Mann, L.K. (1986). Changes in soil carbon storage after cultivation. Soil Science 142:279-288.
- Martikainen, P.J., Nykanen, H., Alm, J. and Silvola, J. (1995). Change in fluxes of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide due to forest drainage of mire sites of different trophy. *Plant & Soil* **169**: 571-577.
- McGill, W. B. (1996). Review and classification of ten soil organic matter models. In: Powlson D.S., Smith P., and Smith J.U. (eds.). Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models Using Existing Long-Term Datasets. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg: pp. 111-132.
- Nykänen, H., Alm, J., Lang, K., Silvola, J. and Martikainen, P.J. (1995). Emissions of CH₄, N₂O, and CO₂ from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. *Journal of Biogeography* **22**:351-357.
- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J., Eve, M.D. and Paustian, K. (2003). Uncertainty in estimating land-use and management impacts on soil organic carbon storage for U.S. agricultural lands between 1982 and 1997. *Global Change Biology* **9**:1521-1542.

- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J. and Paustian, K (2005). Agricultural management impacts on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. *Biogeochemistry* **72**:87-121.
- Ogle, S.M., Conant, R.T. and Paustian, K. (2004). Deriving grassland management factors for a carbon accounting approach developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Environmental Management* **33**:474-484.
- Paustian, K, Andren, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., van Noordwijk, M. and Woomer, P.L. (1997). Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO₂ emissions. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:230-244.
- Preston, C.M. and Schmidt, M.W.I. (2006). Black (pyrogenic) carbon in the boreal forests: a synthesis of current knowledge and uncertainties. *Biogeosciences Discussions* **3**,211-271.
- Prisley, S.P. and Mortimer, M.J. (2004). A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* **198**:89-103.
- Shaw, C.H., Bhatti, J.S. and Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta, Information Report NOR-X-403.
- Siltanen *et al.* (1997). A soil profile and organic carbon data base for Canadian forest and tundra mineral soils. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Sleutel, S, de Neve, S., Hofman, G., Boeckx, P., Beheydt, D., van Cleemput, O., Mestdagh, I., Lootens, P., Carlier, L., van Camp, N., Verbeeck, H., Vand Walle, I., Sampson, R., Lust, N. and Lemeur, R. (2003). Carbon stock changes and carbon sequestration potential of Flemish cropland soils. *Global Change Biology* 9:1193-1203.
- Smith, J. E. and Heath, L.S. (2001). Identifying influences on model uncertainty: an application using a forest carbon budget model. *Environmental Management* 27:253-267.
- Smith, P. (2004a). Monitoring and verification of soil carbon changes under Article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 264-270.
- Smith, P. (2004b). How long before a change in soil organic carbon can be detected? *Global Change Biology* **10**: 1878-1883.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U. and Elliott, E.T. (eds) (1997b). Evaluation and comparison of soil organic matter models. Special Issue, *Geoderma* 81:1-225.
- Smith, S.V., Renwick, W.H., Buddemeier, R.W. and Crossland, C.J. (2001). Budgets of soil erosion and deposition for sediments and sedimentary organic carbon across the conterminous United States. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 15:697-707.
- Smith, W.N., Desjardins, R.L. and Pattey, E. (2000). The net flux of carbon from agricultural soils in Canada 1970-2010. *Global Change Biology* **6**:557-568.
- Somogyi, Z., Cienciala, E., Mäkipää, R., Muukkonen, P., Lehtonen, A. and Weiss, P. (2006). Indirect methods of large-scale forest biomass estimation. *European Journal of Forest Research*.
- Tate, K.R., Wilde, R.H., Giltrap, D.J., Baisden, W.T., Saggar, S., Trustrum, N.A., Scott, N.A. and Barton, J.P. (2005). Soil organic carbon stocks and flows in New Zealand: measurement and modelling. *Canadian Journal* of Soil Science, in press.
- Thormann M.N., Szumigalski A.R. and Bayley S.E. (1999). Above-ground peat and carbon accumulation potentials along a bog-fen-marsh wetland gradient in southern boreal Alberta, Canada. *Wetlands* **19** (2): 305-317.
- Tremblay, S., Ouimet, R. and Houle, D. (2002). Prediction of organic carbon content in upland forest soils of Quebec, Canada. *Can. J. For. Res.* **32**: pp. 903-914.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., Gregorich, E.G., Angers, D.A., et al. (2004). Uncertainty analysis of soil organic carbon stock change in Canadian cropland from 1991 to 2001. Global Change Biology 10:983-994.
- Vogt, K.A., Vogt, D.J., Pamiotto, P.A., Boon, P., O'Hara, J. and Asbjornsen, H. (1996). Review of root dynamics in forest ecosystems grouped by climate, climatic forest type, and species. *Plant and Soil* 187: pp. 159-219.
- Yavitt, J. B., Fahey, T.J. and Simmons, J.A. (1997). Methane and carbon dioxide dynamics in a northern hardwood ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 59: 796-804.

CHAPTER 2

GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND-USE CATEGORIES

Authors¹

Stephen Michael Ogle (USA), Werner Alexander Kurz (Canada), Carly Green (Australia), Andrea Brandon (New Zealand), Jeffrey Baldock (Australia), Grant Domke (USA), Martin Herold (Netherlands), Martial Bernoux (FAO), Ngonidzashe Chirinda (CGIAR, Zimbabwe), Robert de Ligt (Australia), Sandro Federici (San Marino), Emilio Garcia-Apaza (Bolivia), Giacomo Grassi, (EU), Thomas Gschwantner (Austria), Yasumasa Hirata (Japan), Richard Houghton (USA), Joanna Isobel House (UK), Shigehiro Ishizuka (Japan), Inge Jonckheere (Belgium), Haruni Krisnawati (Indonesia), Aleksi Lehtonen (Finland), Mwangi James Kinyanjui (Kenya), Brian McConkey (Canada), Erik Næsset (Norway), Sini M. Niinistö (Finland), Jean Pierre Ometto (Brazil), Luis Panichelli (Argentina), Thomas Paul (New Zealand), Hans Petersson (Sweden), Shanti Reddy (Australia), Kristiina Regina (Finland), Marcelo Theoto Rocha (Brazil), Joachim Rock (Germany), Maria José Sanz Sanchez (Spain), Carlos Sanquetta (Brazil), Atsushi Sato (Japan), Zoltan Somogyi (Hungary), Aleksandr Trunov (The Russian Federation), Gabriel Vazquez-Amabile (Argentina), Marina Vitullo (Italy), Changke Wang (China), Robert Michael Waterworth (Australia)

Contributing Authors

Max Collett (Australia), Mark Harmon (USA), Johannes Lehmann (USA), Cindy H. Shaw (Canada), Yasuhito Shirato (Japan), Dominic Woolf (USA), Ronald E. McRoberts (USA)

¹ **Biomass and Dead Organic Matter Sections** were prepared by lead authors, A. Brandon, G. Domke, M. Herold, Y. Hirata, E. Garcia-Apaza, T. Gschwantner, R. Houghton, S. Ishizuka, H. Krisnawati, M.J. Kinyanjui, E. Næsset, J.P. Ometto, J. Rock, C. Sanquetta, M.J. Sanz Sanchez, A. Sato, R.E. Malimbwi, S.J. Wakelin and M. Vitullo; and contributing authors, M. Harmon and C.H. Shaw.

Soil Carbon Section was prepared by lead authors, S.M. Ogle, J. Baldock, M. Bernoux, N. Chirinda, S. Ishizuka, A. Lehtonen, B. McConkey, S. Niinistö, K. Regina, A. Trunov, G. Vazquez-Amabile, and C. Wang; and contributing authors, J. Lehmann, Y. Shirato, and D. Woolf.

Additional Guidance on Tier 3 Methods Section was prepared by lead authors C. Green, I. Jonckheere, W. Kurz, R. de Ligt, E. Næsset, S.M. Ogle, L. Panichelli, H. Petersson, M. T. Rocha, and R.M. Waterworth.

Interannual Variability Section was prepared by lead authors W.A. Kurz, S. Federici, G. Grassi, R. Houghton, J.I. House, R. de Ligt, J.P. Ometto, T. Paul, H. Petersson, S. Reddy, M.T. Rocha, Z. Somogyi, and R.M. Waterworth.

Contents

2	C	Generic 1	methodologies applicable to multiple land use categories	2.7
	2.1	Introc	luction	2.7
	2.2	Inven	tory Framework	2.7
	2	2.2.1	Overview of carbon stock change estimation	2.7
	2	2.2.2	Overview of non-CO ₂ emission estimation	2.10
	2	2.2.3	Conversion of C stock changes to CO ₂ emissions	2.13
	2.3	Gener	ric methods for CO ₂ Emissions and Removals	2.13
	2	2.3.1	Change in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)	2.13
		2.3.1.	1 Land remaining in a land-use category	2.13
		2.3.1.	2 Land converted to a new land-use category	2.13
		2.3.1.	3 Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods	2.13
	2	2.3.2	Change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.20
		2.3.2.	1 Land remaining in a land-use category	2.20
		2.3.2.	2 Land conversion to a new land-use category	2.25
	2	2.3.3	Change in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
		2.3.3.	1 Soil Organic C estimation methods (land remaining in a land-use category and conversion to a new land use)	land 2.29
	2.4	Non-0	CO ₂ emissions	2.48
	2.5	Addit	ional generic guidance for Tier 3 methods	2.57
	2	2.5.1	Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories	2.57
	2	2.5.2	Model-based Tier 3 inventories	2.60
	2.6	Inter-	annual variability	2.67
	2	2.6.1	Definitional issues	2.68
		2.6.1.	1 Direct and indirect human effects, and natural effects	2.68
		2.6.1.	2 Natural disturbances	2.68
	2	2.6.2	Relationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emis and removals from interannual variability	sions 2.69
	2	2.6.3	Optional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances	2.71
	2	2.6.4	Reporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emis	sions 2.78
An	nex 2	2A.1	Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks	2.81
An	nex 2	2A.2	Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from Bi Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods	ochar 2.82
Ref	eren	ces		2.83

Equations

Equation 2.1 Annual carbon stock changes for the AFOLU Sector estimated as the sum of changes in all land-use categories 2.7

Equation 2.2	Annual carbon stock changes for a land-use category as a sum of changes in stratum within the category	n each 2.8
Equation 2.3	Annual carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category as a sum of ch in all pools	anges 2.8
Equation 2.4	Annual carbon stock change in a given pool as a function of gains and losses (Loss Method)	(Gain- 2.10
Equation 2.5	Carbon stock change in a given pool as an annual average difference be estimates at two points in time (Stock-Difference Method)	tween 2.10
Equation 2.6	Non-CO ₂ emissions to the atmosphere	2.11
Equation 2.17	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.21
Equation 2.18	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Gain-Loss Method)	2.22
Equation 2.19	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Stock-Difference M	ethod) 2.23
Equation 2.20	Annual carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter	2.23
Equation 2.21	Annual biomass carbon loss due to mortality	2.24
Equation 2.22	Annual carbon transfer to slash	2.24
Equation 2.23	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter due to land conversion	2.25
Equation 2.24 (Updated)	Annual change in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
Equation 2.25	Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils	2.33
Equation 2.25a	Annual change in biochar carbon stock in mineral soils receiving biochar add	litions 2.41
Equation 2.27	Estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from fire	2.50
Equation 2A.1.1	Estimation of soil organic carbon stocks	2.81

Figures

Figure 2.1	Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flow carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the sy	vs of vstem 2.9
Figure 2.2a	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate allometric models to estibiomass or carbon stocks in organic matter	imate 2.15
Figure 2.3	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in dead organic matter for a land-use category	es in 2.21
Figure 2.4	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in mineral soils by land-use category	es in 2.30
Figure 2.5	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in organic soils by land-use category	es in 2.31
Figure 2.6	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate greenhous emissions from fire in a land-use category	e gas 2.50
Figure 2.6a	Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and na factors simultaneously affect land-related GHG emissions and removals	itural 2.67
Figure 2.6b	Example of the disaggregation of fire emissions in Australia into natural 'backgro emissions and fires due to human activity	ound' 2.72

Figure 2.6c	Example of the separation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those to predominantly anthropogenic causes and those due to predominantly m disturbances	se due atural 2.74
Figure 2.6d	Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + n disturbance (ND) and area burned	atural 2.75
Figure 2.6e	Time series of managed forest land GHG net emissions and removals	2.77

Tables

Table 2.2 (Updated)	Tier 1 default values for litter and dead wood carbon stocks	2.27
Table 2.3 (Updated)	Default reference condition soil organic carbon stocks (SOC _{REF}) for mineral (Tonnes C ha ⁻¹ in 0-30 cm depth)	soils 2.35
Table 2.4 (Updated)	Fuel (dead organic matter plus live biomass) biomass consumption values (tonne matter ha ⁻¹) for fires in a range of vegetation types	es dry 2.52
Table 2.5	Emission factors (g kg-1 dry matter burnt) for various types of burning	2.54
Table 2.6 (Updated)	Combustion factor values (proportion of prefire fuel biomass consumed) for fire range of vegetation types	s in a 2.55
Table 2.6a (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 measurement based inventories	lier 3 2.60
Table 2.6b (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 model-based inventories	l'ier 3 2.66
Table 2.6c (New)	General Guidance on Whether or Not the estimation method is able to distin between the impact of the individual drivers below on the interannual variabil reported annual emission and removal estimates	guish ity of 2.70

Boxes

Box 2.0a (New)	Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guid	elines 2.11
Box 2.0b (New)	Allometric Definitions	2.14
Box 2.0c (New)	New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning	2.17
Box 2.0d (New)	Remote Sensing Technologies	2.18
Box 2.0e (New)	Using a biomass map for GHG estimation: an example from the Brazilian Ar	nazon 2.19
Box 2.1 (Updated)	Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data v Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices	versus 2.36
Box 2.2a (New)	Using equivalent mass methods to derive mineral soil organic carbon stock c factors	hange 2.40
Box 2.2b (New)	GHG Emission Sources with biochar production	2.42
Box 2.2c (New)	Representing the impact of soil erosion and deposition on soil carbon stock ch	anges 2.43
Box 2.2d (New)	Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods	2.44
Box 2.2e (New)	Consideration of equivalent mass methods within Tier 3 modelling approaches	2.47

Box 2.2f (New)	An example of model calibration, evaluation and improvement through data assimilation 2.62
Box 2.2g (New)	Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement 2.63
Box 2.2h (New)	Examples of Quantification of Model Uncertainty 2.64
Box 2.2i (New)	Australian approach to estimating interannual variability due to natural disturbances 2.73
Box 2.2j (New)	Canada's approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances 2.74
Box 2.2k (New)	Approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances based on the EU legislation 2.76

2 GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND USE CATEGORIES

2.1 INTRODUCTION

No refinement

2.2 INVENTORY FRAMEWORK

This section outlines a systematic approach for estimating carbon stock changes (and associated emissions and removals of carbon dioxide (CO_2) from biomass, dead organic matter, and soils, as well as for estimating non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. General equations representing the level of land-use categories and strata are followed by a short description of processes with more detailed equations for carbon stock changes in specific pools by land-use category. Principles for estimating non- CO_2 emissions and common equations are then given. Specific, operational equations to estimate emissions and removals by processes within a pool and by category, which directly correspond to worksheet calculations, are provided in Sections 2.3 and 2.4.

2.2.1 Overview of carbon stock change estimation

The emissions and removals of CO_2 for the AFOLU Sector, based on changes in ecosystem C stocks, are estimated for each land-use category (including both land remaining in a land-use category as well as land converted to another land use). Carbon stock changes are summarized by Equation 2.1.

EQUATION 2.1 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR THE AFOLU SECTOR ESTIMATED AS THE SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL LAND-USE CATEGORIES

$$\Delta C_{AFOLU} = \Delta C_{FL} + \Delta C_{CL} + \Delta C_{GL} + \Delta C_{WL} + \Delta C_{SL} + \Delta C_{OL}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{AFOLU} = Total annual carbon stock change in the AFOLU sector; tonnes C yr⁻¹

Indices denote the following land-use categories:

AFOLU = Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use

- FL = Forest Land
- CL = Cropland
- GL = Grassland
- WL = Wetlands
- SL = Settlements
- OL = Other Land

For each land-use category, carbon stock changes are estimated for all *strata* or subdivisions of land area (e.g., climate zone, ecotype, soil type, management regime etc., see Chapter 3) chosen for a land-use category (Equation 2.2). Carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by considering carbon cycle processes between the five carbon pools, as defined in Table 1.1 in Chapter 1. The generalized flowchart of the carbon cycle (Figure 2.1) shows all five pools and associated fluxes including inputs to and outputs from the system, as well as all possible transfers between the pools. Overall, carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by adding up changes in all pools as in Equation 2.3. Further, carbon stock changes in soil may be disaggregated as to changes in C stocks in mineral soils and emissions from organic soils. Harvested wood products (HWP) are also included as an additional pool.

EQUATION 2.2 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN EACH STRATUM WITHIN THE CATEGORY

$$\Delta C_{LU} = \sum_{i} \Delta C_{LU_{I}}$$

Where:

$$\Delta C_{LU}$$

= carbon stock changes for a land-use (LU) category as defined in Equation 2.1.

i

= denotes a specific stratum or subdivision within the land-use category (by any combination of species, climatic zone, ecotype, management regime etc., see Chapter 3), i = 1 to n.

EQUATION 2.3 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A STRATUM OF A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL POOLS

$$\Delta C_{LU_i} = \Delta C_{AB} + \Delta C_{BB} + \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LI} + \Delta C_{SO} + \Delta C_{HWP}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{LU_i} = carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category

Subscripts denote the following carbon pools:

AB	= above-ground biomass
BB	= below-ground biomass
DW	= deadwood
LI	= litter
SO	= soils
HWP	= harvested wood products

Estimating changes in carbon pools and fluxes depends on data and model availability, as well as resources and capacity to collect and analyse additional information (See Chapter 1, Section 1.3.3 on key category analysis). Table 1.1 in Chapter 1 outlines which pools are relevant for each land-use category for Tier 1 methods, including cross references to reporting tables. Depending on country circumstances and which tiers are chosen, stock changes may not be estimated for all pools shown in Equation 2.3. Because of limitations to deriving default data sets to support estimation of some stock changes, Tier 1 methods include several simplifying assumptions:

- change in below-ground biomass C stocks are assumed to be zero under Tier 1 (under Tier 2, country-specific data on ratios of below-ground to above-ground biomass can be used to estimate below-ground stock changes);
- under Tier 1, dead wood and litter pools are often lumped together as 'dead organic matter' (see discussion below); and
- dead organic matter stocks are assumed to be zero for non-forest land-use categories under Tier 1. For Forest Land converted to another land use, default values for estimating dead organic matter carbon stocks are provided in Tier 1.

The carbon cycle includes changes in carbon stocks due to both continuous processes (i.e., growth, decay) and discrete events (i.e., disturbances like harvest, fire, insect outbreaks, land-use change and other events). Continuous processes can affect carbon stocks in all areas in each year, while discrete events (i.e., disturbances) cause emissions and redistribute ecosystem carbon in specific areas (i.e., where the disturbance occurs) and in the year of the event.

Disturbances may also have long-lasting effects, such as decay of wind-blown or burnt trees. For practicality, Tier 1 methods assume that all post-disturbance emissions (less removal of harvested wood products) are estimated as part of the disturbance event, i.e., in the year of the disturbance. For example, rather than estimating the decay of dead organic matter left after a disturbance over a period of several years, all post-disturbance emissions are estimated in the year of the event.

Figure 2.1(unchanged) Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flows of carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the system.



Under Tier 1, it is assumed that the average transfer rate into dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) is equal to the average transfer rate out of dead organic matter, so that the net stock change is zero. This assumption means that dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) carbon stocks need not be quantified under Tier 1 for land areas that remain in a land-use category². The rationale for this approach is that dead organic matter stocks, particularly dead wood, are highly variable and site-specific, depending on forest type and age, disturbance history and management. In addition, data on coarse woody debris decomposition rates are scarce and thus it was deemed that globally applicable default factors and uncertainty estimates cannot be developed. Countries experiencing significant changes in forest types or disturbance or management regimes in their forests are encouraged to develop domestic data to estimate the impact from these changes using Tier 2 or 3 methodologies and to report the resulting carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions and removals.

All estimates of changes in carbon stocks, i.e., growth, internal transfers and emissions, are in units of carbon to make all calculations consistent. Data on biomass stocks, increments, harvests, etc. can initially be in units of dry matter that need to be converted to tonnes of carbon for all subsequent calculations. There are two fundamentally different and equally valid approaches to estimating stock changes: 1) the process-based approach, which estimates the net balance of additions to and removals from a carbon stock; and 2) the stock-based approach, which estimates the difference in carbon stocks at two points in time.

Annual carbon stock changes in any pool can be estimated using the process-based approach in Equation 2.4 which sets out the *Gain-Loss Method* that can be applied to all carbon gains or losses. Gains can be attributed to growth (increase of biomass) and to transfer of carbon from another pool (e.g., transfer of carbon from the live biomass carbon pool to the dead organic matter pool due to harvest or natural disturbances). Gains are always marked with a positive (+) sign. Losses can be attributed to transfers of carbon from one pool to another (e.g., the carbon in the

² Emissions from litter C stocks are accounted for under Tier 1 for forest conversion to other land-use.

slash during a harvesting operation is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool), or emissions due to decay, harvest, burning, etc. Losses are always marked with a negative (-) sign.

EQUATION 2.4
ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGE IN A GIVEN POOL AS A FUNCTION OF GAINS AND LOSSES
(GAIN-LOSS METHOD)
$\Delta C = \Delta C_G - \Delta C_L$

Where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \Delta C & = \mbox{ annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_G & = \mbox{ annual gain of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_L & = \mbox{ annual loss of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \end{array}$

Note that CO_2 removals are transfers from the atmosphere to a pool, whereas CO_2 emissions are transfers from a pool to the atmosphere. Not all transfers involve emissions or removals, since any transfer from one pool to another is a loss from the donor pool but is a gain of equal amount to the receiving pool. For example, a transfer from the above-ground biomass pool to the dead wood pool is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool and a gain of equal size for the dead wood pool, which does not necessarily result in immediate CO_2 emission to the atmosphere (depending on the Tier used).

The method used in Equation 2.4 is called the *Gain-Loss Method*, because it includes all processes that bring about changes in a pool. An alternative stock-based approach is termed the *Stock-Difference Method*, which can be used where carbon stocks in relevant pools are measured at two points in time to assess carbon stock changes, as represented in Equation 2.5.



Where:

 ΔC = annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_{t_1} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_1 , tonnes C

 C_{t_2} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_2 , tonnes C

If the C stock changes are estimated on a per hectare basis, then the value is multiplied by the total area within each stratum to obtain the total stock change estimate for the pool. In some cases, the activity data may be in the form of country totals (e.g., harvested wood) in which case the stock change estimates for that pool are estimated directly from the activity data after applying appropriate factors to convert to units of C mass. When using the Stock-Difference Method for a specific land-use category, it is important to ensure that the area of land in that category at times t_1 and t_2 is identical, to avoid confounding stock change estimates with area changes.

The process method lends itself to modelling approaches using coefficients derived from empirical research data. These will smooth out inter-annual variability to a greater extent than the stock change method which relies on the difference of stock estimates at two points in time. Both methods are valid so long as they are capable of representing actual disturbances as well as continuously varying trends and can be verified by comparison with actual measurements.

2.2.2 Overview of non-CO₂ emission estimation

Non-CO₂ emissions are derived from a variety of sources, including emissions from soils, livestock and manure, and from combustion of biomass, dead wood and litter. In contrast to the way CO₂ emissions are estimated from biomass stock changes, the estimate of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases usually involves an emission rate from a source

directly to the atmosphere. The rate (Equation 2.6) is generally determined by an emission factor for a specific gas (e.g., CH_4 , N_2O) and source category and an area (e.g., for soil or area burnt), population (e.g., for livestock) or mass (e.g., for biomass or manure) that defines the emission source.

EQUATION 2.6 NON-CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere

 $Emission = A \bullet EF$

Where:

Emission = non-CO₂ emissions, tonnes of the non-CO₂ gas

A = activity data relating to the emission source (can be area, animal numbers or mass unit, depending on the source type)

EF = emission factor for a specific gas and source category, tonnes per unit of A

Many of the emissions of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases are either associated with a specific land use (e.g., CH₄ emissions from rice) or are typically estimated from national-level aggregate data (e.g., CH₄ emissions from livestock and N₂O emissions from managed soils). Where an emission source is associated with a single land use, the methodology for that emission is described in the chapter for that specific land-use category (e.g., methane from rice in Chapter 5 on Cropland). Emissions that are generally based on aggregated data are dealt with in separate chapters (e.g., Chapter 10 on livestock-related emissions, and Chapter 11 on N₂O emissions from managed soils and CO₂ emissions from liming and urea applications). This chapter describes only methods to estimate non-CO₂ (and CO₂) emissions from biomass combustion, which can occur in several different land-use categories.

Box 2.0a (New) Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guidelines

The information presented in this Box is for information purposes only

IPCC guidelines have been designed for national GHG inventories (NGHGI). They are, however, often applied, in conjunction with other guidance, to estimate GHG emissions and removals for different situations than those in a NGHGI. These different situations include scales (i.e. to any sub-aggregation of land), time resolution (i.e., on a non-annual basis), length of time series (i.e., for a limited period) and/or for selected carbon pools. Using IPCC guidelines for estimating emissions and removals from sub-aggregations - i.e. projects and activities – can help countries maintain consistency with the NGHGI. However, projects and activities can introduce additional complexities including, but not limited to, system boundaries, double-counting, leakage, and attribution. Moreover, projects and activities may use different definitions, sources of data, data and methods compared to those used for the NGHGI, including different Approaches for land representation and methodological Tiers, impacting the consistency between the two. These need to be considered when applying the IPCC Guidelines outside of a NGHGI (IPCC, 2015), particularly when there is a need for consistency and comparability.

Thus, when using IPCC guidelines for projects and activities the following steps should be considered:

- i) Define the spatial boundaries of the territory impacted by the activity;
- ii) Identify the land-use categories and subcategories of the NGHGI impacted by the activity.
- iii) Identify pools and gases impacted by the activity;
- iv) Identify the time frame (temporal boundaries) of the activity and ensure full reporting of any legacy emissions and removals associated with it³;
- v) Develop estimates by applying methods consistent with IPCC guidance, so ensuring consistency among the results of activities and the trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

³ To deal with the limited time frame of reducing deforestation and forest degradation mitigation activities, reporting methods provided by the GFOI apply the stock difference approach to estimate the net difference between two long-term average C

BOX 2.0A (NEW) (CONTINUED)

CONSISTENCY BETWEEN AFOLU PROJECTS OR ACTIVITIES AND IPCC INVENTORY GUIDELINES

For example, 1) Reducing Emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries (REDD-plus) activities could be identified in the NGHGI as IPCC categories, subcategories, or sums of categories or sub-categories (GFOI, 2016), and relevant IPCC methods applied consistently; 2) The Australian Government has developed a framework as part of the Emissions Reduction Fund⁴ for ensuring consistency in emissions estimation between AFOLU project-level mitigation activities and Australia's NGHGI. This framework includes integrity standards⁵ to ensure emissions estimation methods are consistent with IPCC guidelines, and consequently estimated GHG reductions are consistent with trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

Emissions and removals estimates for activities are likely to apply Approach 2 or 3 and Tier 2 or 3 methods because of the need to prepare GHG estimates that are more disaggregated per activity, e.g. organic farming vs traditional farming or coppice vs high-stand, and per population, e.g. by livestock sub-populations, crop types and forest types. Moreover, stratification of NGHGI categories/subcategories into subdivisions helps avoid double counting of emissions and removals from a single category that is impacted by more than an activity.

Stratification also supports transparency among activity report and NGHGI estimates when the activity does not correspond to an entire NGHGI category. In many cases, activities and projects require tracking of land where they occur through time, e.g. no tillage. In such cases, Approach 3 for land representation is required since it is the only approach that provides the spatially explicit information (either wall-to-wall or from sampling) across time needed to track activities and drivers, and to support estimation of GHG emissions or removals with higher accuracy. Where activities are known to lead to permanent changes or the activity includes management practices that determine temporary changes in the land cover, Approach 2 methods may provide sufficient information to prepare accurate estimates.

Where activity and project data have been collected and analysed consistently with *good practice*, they can be used in the NGHGI either for deriving activity data and/or emission factors, or any other ancillary data used for preparing GHG estimates for the land subject to the activity, or for calibrating the model used in the NGHGI for the same land and/or verifying the outputs of such model. Where data have inconsistencies with those collected for the NGHGI, iterations and cross-checks between NGHGI experts and experts involved in the monitoring of the activity should be done until improvements applied to the activity and/or the NGHGI estimates enable consistency. When using data collected from activities and projects for improving or evaluating information and estimates reported in the NGHGI, it is important to:

- i) Define and report the reference conditions (e.g. climate, soil, management system) for which the data from the activity or project are valid and how it could be used in the NGHGI compilation;
- Determine if the activity or emissions factor data in the project are representative of the national average and, if not, apply methods that ensure the NGHGI is not biased by them, e.g. limiting the use of the data to the land subject to the activity or project only and modifying the data used in the NGHGI to prevent bias
- iii) Define and report the level of variability (heterogeneity) of the data;
- iv) Ensure the data is available and consistently applied for the entire time series.

stocks at a single point in time (i.e. by assuming instantaneous oxidation). This is to allow a complete reporting of total net C stock changes associated with the activities, including lagged emissions and removals.

⁴ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/government/emissions-reduction-fund/publications

⁵ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/emissions-reduction-fund/publications/erf-methods-development
2.2.3 Conversion of C stock changes to CO₂ emissions

For reporting purposes, changes in C stock categories (that involve transfers to the atmosphere) can be converted to units of CO_2 emissions by multiplying the C stock change by -44/12. In cases where a significant amount of the carbon stock change is through emissions of CO and CH₄, then these non-CO₂ carbon emissions should be subtracted from the estimated CO₂ emissions or removals using methods provided for the estimation of these gases. In making these estimates, inventory compilers should assess each category to ensure that this carbon is not already covered by the assumptions and approximations made in estimating CO₂ emissions.

It should also be noted that not every stock change corresponds to an emission. The conversion to CO_2 from C, is based on the ratio of molecular weights (44/12). The change of sign (-) is due to the convention that increases in C stocks, i.e. positive (+) stock changes, represent a removal (or 'negative' emission) from the atmosphere, while decreases in C stocks, i.e. negative (-) stock changes, represent a positive emission to the atmosphere

2.3 GENERIC METHODS FOR CO₂ EMISSIONS AND REMOVALS

No refinement.

2.3.1 Change in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)

No refinement.

2.3.1.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.2 LAND CONVERTED TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.3 Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods

A. USING ALLOMETRIC MODELS FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

This section provides new guidance to inventory compilers on the use of allometric models (see Box 2.0b for definitions) for quantifying volume, biomass and carbon stocks in land uses containing vegetation. Allometric models can be used with country specific data to estimate carbon stocks at the Tier 2 level. Allometric models may also form part of more sophisticated Tier 3 approaches including measurement-based inventories and model-based inventories.

Allometric models quantify the relationships between certain size variables of organisms. Allometric models⁶ can be used to estimate volume, biomass or carbon stocks of individuals, vegetation or forest stands. Allometric models have been developed for a wide range of species, habitats, regions and environmental conditions (e.g. documented in the GlobAllomeTree database (http://www.globallometree.org/; Schepaschenko et al, 2017). Allometric models used for forest tree species are commonly estimated from individual trees through destructive sampling from a population using a sampling design that provides accurate and representative data. As destructive sampling is usually costly and labour intensive or ecologically sensitive, it makes sense to utilize existing allometric models when valid under the respective conditions as outlined below (in the section on the use of allometric models).

⁶ The term "allometric equation" is also used when referencing to the mathematical descriptions of allometric models and relationships. When the parameters are estimated from sample data and/or uncertainty is involved, "model" is the correct term. Although allometric models are used to predict the values of a variable, for practical reasons in the context of these guidelines the term estimates is also used.

BOX 2.0B (NEW) Allometric Definitions

Allometry: The term allometry refers to the proportional relationship between the relative dimensional relationships or growth rates of two size variables and therefore allometric relations allow that one variable can be used to predict the corresponding value of another variable. For example, tree diameter at breast height (DBH) can be used to estimate tree volume or total tree biomass. Allometry can also describe the change of one part of an organism in relation to the change of its body size, either in the same organism (while growing over time), in populations (e.g., tree stands), or between species (e.g. different tree species). These changes follow rules, so the change in proportion between two variables of an organism can be described mathematically.

Allometric model: An allometric model is a formula that quantitatively describes an allometric relationship. The basic form is an equation: y=f(x) where y and x are the dependent and independent variables. Often the equation is in the form of $y = a^*x^b + c$, where a, b and c are parameters (please note: "c" is not identical to the statistical error term " ε "). If "x" is equal to zero (e.g., if height is below breast height when using DBH to estimate tree biomass), then "y" is equal to the parameter "c", noting that biologically "y" is always a positive number. Parameter "a" is the value of y if x is 1 and describes the initial ratio between x and y. The parameter "b" is also called an "allometric parameter" or "allometric constant" and gives the proportionality between the relative increases of "x" and "y" (Fabrika und Pretzsch 2013; Picard et al. 2012). The general form of an allometric model, without intercept (i.e. when "c" = 0), is also often represented in its logarithmic transformation as a linear relationship, $\log(y) = \log(a) + b^*\log(x)$ or $\ln(y) = \ln(a) + b^*\ln(x)$. Other mathematical functions have also been adopted to describe allometric relationships.

This basic model can be augmented by additional terms that include e.g. tree height as a second predictor variable (e.g. Ketterings et al. 2001). Models are usually provided with a residual error term (e.g., $y = f(x) + \varepsilon$), set in the model fitting against the sample data; to consider the residual error, calculated for each model, can be used to assess the uncertainty related to use of the selected model in the estimation process.

The use of allometric models

The choice of appropriate allometric models should be based on several criteria including the availability of country-specific data, the meta-data about the allometric models, the coincidence of data with the models' domain of validity according to the meta-data, and the appropriateness of the allometric model by comparing the estimates to ones obtained with the Tier 1 method (Figure 2.2a). The accuracy of the models may be lower than e.g. available default factors or Biomass Emission Factors (BEFs), so it is *good practice* to choose the method with the higher accuracy. When applying an allometric model for predicting the biomass of a given species or at a given site, data on required variables must be available as e.g. from national forest inventories (Tomppo et al. 2010, Vidal et al. 2016). For woody plant species, these variables commonly include DBH and height, and to lesser extent crown variables such as crown length or crown width. For shrubs or smaller trees and understorey vegetation, diameters nearer to the ground or shoot length may be used, among other variables. Carbon fractions and basic wood density may also be required for some models. Individual tree estimates can then be aggregated up to provide volume, biomass or carbon stock estimates at higher spatial scales (e.g. by plot, region or nation-wide). Tree-level estimates may refer to the whole tree, or individual components like above-ground and below-ground parts, stem, branches and/or foliage. Allometric models may be used within a specified forest stratum, to estimate above-ground and below-ground biomass estimation from direct measurements e.g. forest inventory plots. Allometric models may also be used for non-woody plant biomass estimates. Data collection programmes are often designed to collect the data specifically for this purpose.

Allometries are influenced by an individual's growing conditions and size classes, so in each case the allometric models developed will have a limited domain of validity. When selecting an appropriate allometric model, check the associated metadata supplied. Conditions such as:

- Ecoregion, geographic range, environmental factors (e.g., ecosystem, climatic or soil types),
- Representativeness of the model in consideration of individual size range and sampled population,
- Plant components estimated (e.g., above-ground, below-ground, stem, branches, foliage),
- Species functional traits (e.g., wood density and tree architecture),
- Land or crop management practices, current and historic,

should be assessed for their suitability (Henry et al. 2011; Rock 2007; Vieilledent et al. 2012) as well as sample size and accuracy assessment. The use of existing allometric models beyond the range they were developed for may result in a lack of accuracy (e.g. Mugasha et al 2016; Nam et al, 2016), depending on the degree to which external variables control the partitioning of biomass among components and the geometric relationships of the species. The applicability of a model can also be tested using a representative data set (e.g. Paul et al, 2016; Perez-Cruzado et al, 2015; Youkhana et al 2017). The accuracy of the allometric model should be assessed by evaluating the related statistical indicators.



Generalized and site or species-specific allometric models have been developed for use in different circumstances. While species-specific models will give more accurate estimates for the respective tree species (all other aspects being the same as the ones for which the model was developed) (Henry et al. 2011), generalized models may be

better suited in regions with a very large diversity of tree species, where models are lacking for a large proportion of species. The use of species-specific models however is encouraged for the species for which specific models and appropriate input data are available. For natural forests, which may contain many different species, application of species-specific allometric models may be impractical; in this case, a model specific for the ecosystem type can be used (Krisnawati et al, 2012). When species-specific or ecosystem-specific models are not available, regionally relevant allometric models can be applied (Chave et al., 2004). Generic models developed based on a large number of sample trees across landscapes tend to be more reliable than locally developed models if these are based on only a small number of individuals (Chave et al 2005; Chave et al 2014; Paul et al, 2016).

Stand level models and their equations

When individual or species specific allometric models for biomass or carbon stocks are not appropriate, stand level allometric models, which may include canopy height, basal area and community age as predictor variables, may be applicable to estimate biomass parameters. Stand-level allometric models using canopy height estimate carbon stocks per unit area based on the assumption that canopy height is directly proportional to biomass (Mascaro et al, 2011; Saatchi et al, 2011). Information on canopy height can be predicted from ground-based inventory or by remote sensing such as airborne Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR), polarimetric interferometry SAR or airborne imagery. Auxiliary information such as digital elevation models are necessary to predict canopy height from airborne and satellite-borne imagery because only canopy surface elevation can be predicted from them. The accuracy of carbon stock estimation from canopy height depends on the number of field measurement plots used to estimate the relationship between canopy height and carbon stocks. Basal area is an important parameter to understand stand characteristics and it is used in the model to estimate stand volume or stand biomass. Basal area is estimated easily in the field using simple equipment. When basal area is used in the stand-level model to estimate biomass or carbon stocks, mean tree height is also needed in the model (Lang et al, 2016; Mensah et al, 2016). The stand-level allometric model estimated from community age estimates carbon stocks per unit area by assuming that community biomass increases monotonically as the forest ages, and then drawing a saturation curve for community age (Inoue et al, 2010). It is applicable where land use is rotated at fixed intervals, so that a mosaic of communities of different ages exists.

Tier 3 methods

The hierarchical tier structure implies that use of higher tiers (Tier 2 or Tier 3) usually results in an increased accuracy of the method and/or emissions factor and other parameters used in the estimation of the emissions and removals. Tier 3 approaches for biomass carbon stock change estimation allow for a variety of methods, including measurement-based forest inventories. Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories require detailed national forest inventories containing data on growing stock, and, ideally, repeated measurements from which periodic increments can be estimated. In some circumstances these data are used directly in empirical models while in other cases they are supplemented with allometric models (for example, Chambers *et al.* (2001) and Baker *et al.* (2004) for the Amazon; Seiler et al. (2014) for tropical forest of Bolivia, Jenkins et al. (2004) and Kurz and Apps (2006) for North America; and Zianis *et al.* (2005) for Europe, Paul et al. (2016) for Australia, Luo et al. (2014) for China, Youkhana et al 2017 for tropical grasses), calibrated to national circumstances that allow for direct estimation of biomass increment or growth. Model-based Tier 3 inventories build on model-specific input data and may contain allometric models as empirical model components. Additional information related to the use of higher Tier methods can be found in Section 2.5.

Uncertainty

Sources of uncertainty when using allometric models include:

- 1. Model-related uncertainty, i.e. the uncertainty related to the model used, stemming from the estimation of the parameters of this model and residual variability around model;
- 2. Sampling variability and measurement errors in input data (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information);
- 3. The uncertainty of transferring the model to trees not used for estimation of the parameters (lack of representativeness) (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information).

Magnitudes of the effects of the first and second sources should be reported with the model, the latter can be reduced by careful selection of models.

Recalculations

Recalculations of C stocks may be necessary, if new and/or better data or methodology becomes available. When BEF's are replaced with parameters that are estimated using allometries, recalculations across the time series will be required. The replacement of generalised models with species-specific models also may require recalculations. It should be noted that allometry can change over time (Lopez-Serrano et al. 2005), for example, if the thinning regime in a plantation forest is changed. This may influence the ratio of crown biomass / DBH and, over time, the trees in this plantation may show different allometric relationships at two distant points in time. An updated

allometric model would therefore be required in order to reflect the impact of the changes. In this case, to ensure time series consistency, apply the guidance provided in Volume 1 Chapter 5 and in Volume 4, Chapter 4 in relation to the Forest Land category

New technologies

Remotely sensed data from airborne or terrestrial platforms can be useful sources of information for deriving variables relevant for constructing and validating allometric models. They can improve measurements of height, volume and crown dimensions of individual trees that are difficult to collect with traditional ground-based approaches, particularly in dense and complex canopies. They can underpin a new generation of allometric models which have tree height and crown size as explanatory variables (Jucker et al, 2017). Of particular potential is terrestrial laser scanning, offering a means to collect data on tree volume in a non-destructive manner (see Box 2.0c).

Box 2.0c (New) New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning

Terrestrial laser scanning is a ground-based active remote sensing technique which can be used to derive 3D vegetation structure, and compute key variables such as tree height, stem diameter, crown dimensions and tree volume for above-ground biomass predictions and to develop and validate allometric models (Calders et al., 2015). These under-canopy terrestrial laser systems emit millions of laser pulses that reflect off solid objects such as trunks, branches and leaves and form 3D point clouds. Individual trees can be segmented from plot-scale point cloud data and individual tree point clouds can then be used to reconstruct the woody elements of a tree.

Terrestrial laser scanning provides non-destructive and highly detailed measurements independent of the size and shape of a tree that are otherwise only available from destructive methods (Disney et al., 2018). Aboveground biomass calculated from the point cloud data is independent of allometry and with quantifiable accuracy. Many trees can be sampled and measured in an efficient manner and can provide most of the fundamental data needed to develop new or test the usefulness of existing allometric models for NGHGIs. Terrestrial laser scanning has proven useful for large and complex tropical trees (Gonzalez de Tanago et al., 2018). Terrestrial laser scanners cannot measure belowground or look inside trees, i.e. they do not provide information on wood density or whether a tree is hollow.

B. USING ABOVEGROUND BIOMASS DENSITY MAP CONSTRUCTED FROM REMOTELY SENSED DATA FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

Biomass density maps are wall-to-wall, polygon- or pixel-based predictions of above-ground biomass for woody plants and trees.

Consideration when developing biomass density maps

Biomass density maps are constructed by combining remotely sensed data (see Box 2.0d) and field observations. They have been developed at national scales (e.g., Avitabile et al., 2012) as well as for continental to global scales (e.g., Baccini et al., 2012; Saatchi et al., 2011, Avitabile et al., 2016). The characteristics and usefulness of biomass density maps for NGHGIs depend on multiple factors:

- 1. The definitions for forest and aboveground woody biomass used to produce the map and how this definition relates to the one used in the NGHGI.
- 2. The type of remotely sensed data sources in terms of spatial resolution, temporal coverage and the degree to which the signal responds to aboveground biomass (sensitivity). The response depends on the type and biomass ranges of the woody plants. Different remote sensing technologies have varying abilities for predicting biomass for different types of woody plants (i.e. boreal versus tropics) and combining remotely sensed data from multiple sources can increase sensitivity and the resulting accuracy of biomass density predictions.
- 3. The method used to construct the map. Such methods can range from simple interpolation of field estimates of biomass density using spatial covariates to more complex modelling of above-ground woody biomass using field estimates and observed remotely sensed signals.
- 4. The availability and reliability of biomass estimates obtained from field data needed to produce and validate the biomass density map. Combining co-located remotely sensed data and field observations can be challenging because of the size and shape of the primary elements (i.e. field plot size and shape versus geometric resolution of remotely sensed data), the timing of their acquisition, accuracy of geolocations, and

differences in the variables and parameters that are measured and estimated in the field and predicted from the remotely sensed data.

5. The degree to which map uncertainty is characterized and the manner in which it is used to assess bias and precision for large area estimates in support of NGHGIs (see Volume IV, Chapter 3).

BOX 2.0D (NEW) Remote Sensing Technologies

Optical, Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) and Light Detection and Ranging (Lidar) sensors are available currently as remote sensing data sources for producing biomass density maps. Data from optical satellite sensors are classified into three types on the basis of their spatial resolution; coarse resolution data with a pixel size greater than about 250 m (e.g., MODIS), medium resolution data with a pixel size of 10-80 m (e.g., Landsat and Sentinel 1 and 2), and fine resolution data with a pixel size smaller than 10 m (e.g., Rapideye or SPOT and ALOS-2).

SAR and LiDAR are active sensors available as air borne and space borne instruments whose derived metrics are used to predict height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees. SAR emits microwave pulses obliquely and measures attributes of the pulses that are reflected back from the Earth's surface towards the sensor. In forest land, emitted pulses reflect from the ground, or canopy or trunk of woody plants and trees. Using the strength of the signal of the reflected pulses, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted as demonstrated for satellite data from ALOS-PALSAR and Sentinel 1 (Santoro and Cartus, 2018). LiDAR emits laser pulses and measures the traveling time from the sensor to the target which can be converted to distance. When the LiDAR emitter is aimed at woody plants and trees, these laser pulses can be reflected by the woody components, the leaves within the canopy, or the ground surface. Using the difference of a laser pulse reflected from canopy and ground surface, the height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted (Næsset 1997a,b, Lim et al 2003). Starting in 2019, a series of targeted space-based missions will improve the capabilities for forest biomass predictions from LiDAR (e.g. GEDI, ICESAT-2) and SAR (e.g. BIOMASS, NISAR), that might be found useful for national purposes (Herold et al. 2019).

Besides mapping biomass density, there are evolving approaches that monitor changes in biomass density through time directly from remotely sensed data (Baccini et al., 2017). Such approaches require consistent measurements and estimates, and such consistency can be challenging when different satellite data sources and different ways of processing and analysing the data are used. In principle, the direct prediction of wall-to-wall biomass change has the advantage of including all detectable change events, including those occurring in forest remaining forest (i.e., forest degradation and regrowth) which are not considered when a single biomass map is combined with activity data characterizing land use change. However, the sensitivity of the remotely sensed data to subtle biomass changes needs to be carefully evaluated. The mapped biomass change might also not distinguish between anthropogenic or natural causes and not fully characterize all components of the carbon emissions. For example, some carbon loss may have accumulated as dead organic matter (e.g., dead wood or litter), and additional data are usually required to estimate the fate of that initial biomass (e.g., burned, left on site, and removed from the site).

Because above-ground woody biomass is the variable predicted from remotely sensed data, additional information such as country-specific data for root-to-shoot ratios are needed to estimate carbon stocks in other pools.

Guidance on the use of biomass density maps for national GHG inventories

Biomass density maps can be used to enhance the stratification of ground carbon inventories, to improve the estimation of carbon emissions by increasing data density in under-sampled or inaccessible areas, and as an independent data source for verification purposes (provided that the field data were not used to predict the biomass density maps used for stratification).

Use of biomass maps for the estimation of carbon emissions at Tier 2 and Tier 3 levels can be achieved in several ways:

- 1. Combination with activity data where a biomass density map provides the base to estimate emission factors. Such analyses require consistency among the activity data and biomass maps concerning definitions, geolocation, and spatial and temporal data characteristics. The use of regionally aggregated emission factor analysis (i.e., using average estimates for different forest types, or change trajectories) helps to reduce inherent pixel-level uncertainties in biomass map data for national-scale estimations. Countries have used such an approach to increase data density in areas under-sampled by ground inventories (see Box 2.0e).
- 2. Estimate biomass change directly from multi-temporal biomass density maps. Such an approach would provide an assessment of carbon stock changes in above-ground biomass from land use change and, in

particular, it would also include changes within forests remaining forests such as degradation and regrowth, management and harvest, and natural disturbances. Such analysis requires consistent and well-calibrated biomass density maps using ground and remotely sensed data to accurately estimate biomass changes; a quality requirement that has so far not been achieved for the NGHGIs at this stage. Improvements in both the field estimates of biomass change and remote sensing technologies and analysis in the coming years can lead to such approaches becoming more efficient and accurate for NGHGI purposes.

3. Biomass density maps can be integrated with remote sensing-assisted, time-series of land change and/or with Tier 3 models to localize emissions estimates. This way the biomass map data can be linked to land and carbon evolution over time that better reflect the complexity of forest-related carbon fluxes. Critical for this type of application is the consistency among the various data sources and models concerning definitions (forest, biomass pools), and, spatial and temporal data characteristics. Map unit uncertainties in biomass maps propagate to larger area estimates and can lead to substantial uncertainties in national emissions estimation if not properly considered.

The application of such approaches requires maps well-calibrated for national circumstances. Many available large-area biomass maps, such as global biomass maps, might not be consistent with national definitions of forest and/or biomass pools, and often exhibit large systematic errors in the estimation of carbon stock and changes for national and local assessments (Avitabile et al., 2016). Since countries may have national products, including biomass maps, large-area biomass maps can be useful for the purpose of independent comparison and verification. Depending on how a map is produced and how it is used to enhance NGHGIs, additional metadata on the applied models and procedures used to produce the map, such as for example the covariance matrix of model parameters of a model that was used to generate the map (see Volume 1, Chapter 6, section 6.1.4.2), may be required for characterization and reporting of uncertainty in a fully compliant way, particularly for application to country-specific circumstances.

BOX 2.0E (NEW)

USING A BIOMASS MAP FOR GHG ESTIMATION: AN EXAMPLE FROM THE BRAZILIAN AMAZON

Brazil is applying a methodology for estimating forest biomass combining data from airborne LiDAR, satellite remote sensing and forest inventories. The aim for using the biomass map for the NGHGI is to provide coverage over the whole Amazon where the availability and quality of ground data varies. Deforestation and associated land use change in the Amazon are heterogeneous and patchy. Related estimates of carbon emissions carry some level of uncertainty unless this spatial variability in both types of change and biomass variability is captured.

The methodology to estimate the biomass was based on 1,000 LiDAR transects randomly distributed across 3.5 million km² of the Amazon forests. Aboveground biomass is estimated at three different levels. At field plot level (first level), the data are used to validate the biomass estimated by LiDAR (second level) by adopting and using the models and data provided by Chave et al 2014 and Longo et al 2016. A total of 407 field plots were used for this validation. At the third level the biomass was estimated by extrapolating the biomass to the Brazilian Amazon Biome by the use of MODIS vegetation index, Shuttle Radar Topography Mission data, precipitation data from the Tropical Rainfall Measuring Mission and Synthetic Aperture Radar data of the Phased Array type L-band Synthetic Aperture Radar, soil and vegetation maps. A nonparametric regression method (Random Forest) is used for correlating the above ground biomass within the LiDAR transects to a list of variables, and then used for the extrapolation of the biomass to the region. The coefficient of determination and the root mean squared error between the third level extrapolated biomass data and the LiDAR data were R2=0.7485 and RMSE=27.18 MgCha⁻¹, respectively. In this process, the SRTM elevation data were the most important variable for the biomass extrapolation process, followed by the TRMM precipitation data and Enhanced Vegetation Index data. The estimated biomass map uncertainty is calculated by propagating the uncertainties through the different levels of biomass estimation, i.e., field plots, LiDAR and satellite (Longo et al 2016). This process allows us to obtain total uncertainty estimates for each pixel in the final biomass map.



2.3.2 Change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter

No refinement in Introduction.

2.3.2.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

The Tier 1 assumption for both dead wood and litter pools (see table 1.1 for definitions) for all land-use categories is that their stocks are not changing over time if the land remains within the same land-use category. Thus, the carbon in biomass killed during a disturbance or management event (less removal of harvested wood products) is assumed to be released entirely to the atmosphere in the year of the event. This is equivalent to the assumption that the carbon in non-merchantable and non-commercial components that are transferred to dead organic matter is equal to the amount of carbon released from dead organic matter to the atmosphere through decomposition and oxidation. Countries can use higher tier methods to estimate the carbon dynamics of dead organic matter. This section describes estimation methods if Tier 2 (or 3) methods are used.

Countries that use Tier 1 methods to estimate dead organic matter (DOM) pools in land remaining in the same land-use category, report zero changes in carbon stocks or carbon emissions from those pools. Following this rule, CO₂ emissions resulting from the combustion of dead organic matter during fire are not reported, nor are the increases in dead organic matter carbon stocks in the years following fire. However, emissions of non-CO₂ gases from burning of DOM pools are reported. Tier 2 methods for estimation of carbon stock changes in DOM pools calculate the changes in dead wood and litter carbon pools (Equation 2.17). Two methods can be used: either track inputs and outputs (the *Gain-Loss Method*, Equation 2.18) or estimate the difference in DOM pools at two points in time (*Stock-Difference Method*, Equation 2.19). These estimates require either detailed inventories that include repeated measurements of dead wood and litter pools, or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics. It is *good practice* to ensure that such models are tested against field measurements and are documented. Figure 2.3 provides the decision tree for identification of the appropriate tier to estimate changes in carbon stocks in dead organic matter.





Note:

1: See Volume 1 Chapter 4 "Methodological Choice and Identification of key Categories" (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees

2: The two methods are defined in Equations 2.18 and 2.19, respectively.

Equation 2.17 summarizes the calculation to estimate the annual changes in carbon stock in DOM pools:

EQUATION 2.17
ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD ORGANIC MATTER
$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LT}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter (includes dead wood and litter), tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{DW} = change in carbon stocks in dead wood, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{LT} = change in carbon stocks in litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

The changes in carbon stocks in the dead wood and litter pools for an area remaining in a land-use category between inventories can be estimated using two methods, described in Equation 2.18 and Equation 2.19. The same equation is used for dead wood and litter pools, but their values are calculated separately.



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in the dead wood/litter pool, tonnes C yr
Α	= area of managed land, ha
DOM _{in}	= average annual transfer of biomass into the dead wood/litter pool due to annual processes and disturbances, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1} yr ⁻¹ (see next Section for further details).
DOM _{out}	= average annual decay and disturbance carbon loss out of dead wood or litter pool, tonnes d.m. $ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.) ^{-1}

The net balance of DOM pools specified in Equation 2.18, requires the estimation of both the inputs and outputs from annual processes (litterfall and decomposition) and the inputs and losses associated with disturbances. In practice, therefore, Tier 2 and Tier 3 approaches require estimates of the transfer and decay rates as well as activity data on harvesting and disturbances and their impacts on DOM pool dynamics. Note that the biomass inputs into DOM pools used in Equation 2.18 are a subset of the biomass losses estimated in Equation 2.7. The biomass losses in Equation 2.7 contain additional biomass that is removed from the site through harvest or lost to the atmosphere, in the case of fire.

The method chosen depends on available data and will likely be coordinated with the method chosen for biomass carbon stocks. Transfers into and out of a dead wood or litter pool for Equation 2.18 may be difficult to estimate. The stock difference method described in Equation 2.19 can be used by countries with forest inventory data that include DOM pool information, other survey data sampled according to the principles set out in Annex 3A.3 (Sampling) in Chapter 3, and/or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics.

When the gain – loss method is chosen, inventory measurements may provide estimates for DOM stocks. Alternatively, relevant information on transfers out of the litter and dead wood pools through decomposition can be found in the literature. Care must be taken not to confound decomposition flow "rates" and decomposition "rate-constants" (e.g., k's) when DOM_{out} is estimated. DOM_{out} using the second approach is the product of the rate-constant describing the proportion lost per year and the stock of DOM (e.g., DOM_{out} = k *DOM). One should be aware that decomposition rate-constants describe total losses and not just those via respiration. The fate of leached and fragmented carbon is not well understood; much of the material is likely respired but whether this is slower or faster than the source material is highly variable. Negative exponential decay models are commonly used to determine the decomposition rate-constants that characterize the volume, mass, or density loss in dead wood and litter over time (Cook et al. 2016, Harmon et al. 2000, Russell et al. 2014). While models to predict volume, biomass, or density loss are relatively simple, the decomposition rate-constants may vary substantially. The decomposition of dead wood and litter mass is driven by many factors including: woodiness (i.e., wood and bark versus foliage); position (i.e., standing versus downed dead wood); species of the material decomposing; state of decomposition (i.e., fresh versus highly decomposed) and decomposers present (e.g., the presence of termites and/or soil biota); climate under the canopy (for example condition by openness of the canopy) (Lavelle et al., 1993; Hattenschwiler et al., 2005, Harmon et al. 2011, García-Palacios et al., 2013, Russell et al., 2014, Filser et al. 2016, Chertov et al. 2017, Hu et al., 2017, Kornarnov et al. 2017), among others. Having specific information on these attributes will help to assign a specific decomposition constant to a particular DOM stock (Rock et al. 2008).



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
A	= area of managed land, ha
DOM_{t_1}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_1 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1}
DOM_{t_2}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_2 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha ⁻¹
$\mathbf{T} = (\mathbf{t}_2 - \mathbf{t}_1)$	= time period between time of the second stock estimate and the first stock estimate, yr
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter (default for litter = 0.37 (Smith & Heath 2002), default for dead wood (temperate species) = 0.5 tonne C (tonne d.m.) ⁻¹

Note that whenever the stock change method is used (e.g., in Equation 2.19), the area used in the carbon stock calculations at times t_1 and t_2 must be identical. If the area is not identical then changes in area will confound the estimates of carbon stocks and stock changes. It is *good practice* to use the area at the end of the inventory period (t_2) to define the area of land remaining in the land-use category. The stock changes on all areas that change land-use category between t_1 and t_2 are estimated in the new land-use category, as described in the sections on land converted to a new land category.

INPUT OF BIOMASS TO DEAD ORGANIC MATTER

Whenever a tree is felled, non-merchantable and non-commercial components (such as tops, branches, leaves, roots, and non-commercial trees) are left on the ground and transferred to dead organic matter pools. In addition, annual mortality can add substantial amounts of dead wood to that pool. For Tier 1 methods, the assumption is that the carbon contained in all biomass components that are transferred to dead organic matter pools will be released in the year of the transfer, whether from annual processes (litterfall and tree mortality), land management activities, fuelwood gathering, or disturbances. For estimation procedures based on higher Tiers, it is necessary to estimate the amount of biomass carbon that is transferred to dead organic matter. The quantity of biomass transferred to DOM is estimated using Equation 2.20.



Where:

- DOM_{in} = total carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter, tonnes C yr⁻¹
- $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.21)

 L_{slash} = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equations 2.22)

 $L_{disturbance}$ = annual biomass carbon loss resulting from disturbances, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.14)

 f_{BLol} = fraction of biomass left to decay on the ground (transferred to dead organic matter) from loss due to disturbance. As shown in Table 2.1, the disturbance losses from the biomass pool are partitioned into the fractions that are added to dead wood (cell B in Table 2.1) and to litter (cell C), are released to the atmosphere in the case of fire (cell F) and, if salvage follows the disturbance, transferred to HWP (cell E).

Note: If root biomass increments are counted in Equation 2.10, then root biomass losses must also be counted in Equations 2.20, and 2.22.

Examples of the terms on the right-hand side of Equation 2.20 are obtained as follows:

Transfers to dead organic matter from mortality, L_{mortality}

Mortality is caused by competition during stand development, age, diseases, and other processes that are not included as disturbances. Mortality cannot be neglected when using higher Tier estimation methods. In extensively managed stands without periodic partial cuts, mortality from competition during the stem exclusion phase, may represent 30-50 percent of total productivity of a stand during its lifetime. In regularly tended stands, additions to the dead organic matter pool from mortality may be negligible because partial cuts extract forest biomass that would otherwise be lost to mortality and transferred to dead organic matter pools. Available data for increment will normally report net annual increment, which is defined as net of losses from mortality. Since in this text, net annual growth is used as a basis to estimate biomass gains, mortality must not be subtracted again as a loss from biomass pools. Mortality must, however, be counted as an addition to the dead wood pool for Tier 2 and Tier 3 methods.

The equation for estimating mortality is provided in Equation 2.21:



Where:

 $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹

- A = area of land remaining in the same land use, ha
- G_W = above-ground biomass growth, tonnes d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (see Equation 2.10)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹
- m = mortality rate expressed as a fraction of above-ground biomass growth

When data on mortality rates are expressed as proportion of growing stock volume, then the term Gw in Equation 2.21 should be replaced with growing stock volume to estimate annual transfer to DOM pools from mortality.

Mortality rates differ between stages of stand development and are highest during the stem exclusion phase of stand development. They also differ with stocking level, forest type, management intensity and disturbance history. Thus, providing default values for an entire climatic zone is not justified because the variation within a zone will be much larger than the variation between zones.

Annual carbon transfer to slash, Lslash

This involves estimating the quantity of slash left after wood removal or fuelwood removal and transfer of biomass from total annual carbon loss due to wood harvest (Equation 2.12). The estimate for logging slash is given in Equation 2.22 and which is derived from Equation 2.12 as explained below:



Where:

L _{slash}	= annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$, including dead roots, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$
Н	= annual wood harvest (wood or fuelwood removal), m ³ yr ⁻¹
BCEF _R	= biomass conversion and expansion factors applicable to wood removals, which transform merchantable volume of wood removal into above-ground biomass removals, tonnes biomass removal (m^3 of removals) ⁻¹ . If BCEF _R values are not available and if BEF and Density values are separately estimated then the following conversion can be used:

$$BCEF_R = BEF_R \bullet D$$

- \circ D is basic wood density, tonnes d.m. m⁻³
- Biomass Expansion Factors (BEF_R) expand merchantable wood removals to total aboveground biomass volume to account for non-merchantable components of the tree, stand and forest. BEF_R is dimensionless.
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass, in tonne d.m. below-ground biomass (tonne d.m. above-ground biomass)⁻¹. R must be set to zero if root biomass increment is not included in Equation 2.10 (Tier 1)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹

Fuelwood gathering that involves the removal of live tree parts does not generate any additional input of biomass to dead organic matter pools and is not further addressed here.

Inventories using higher Tier methods can also estimate the amount of logging slash remaining after harvest by defining the proportion of above-ground biomass that is left after harvest (enter these proportions in cells B and C of Table 2.2 for harvest disturbance) and by using the approach defined in Equation 2.14. In this approach, activity data for the area harvested would also be required.

2.3.2.2 LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

The reporting convention is that all carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions associated with a land-use change be reported in the new land-use category. For example, in the case of conversion of Forest Land to Cropland, both the carbon stock changes associated with the clearing of the forest as well as any subsequent carbon stock changes that result from the conversion are reported under the Cropland category.

The Tier 1 assumption is that DOM pools in non-forest land categories after the conversion are zero, i.e., they contain no carbon. The Tier 1 assumption for land converted from forest to another land-use category is that all DOM carbon losses occur in the year of land-use conversion. Conversely, conversion to Forest Land results in build-up of litter and dead wood carbon pools starting from zero carbon in those pools. DOM carbon gains on land converted to forest occur linearly, starting from zero, over a transition period (default assumption is 20 years). This default period may be appropriate for litter carbon stocks, but in temperate and boreal regions it is probably too short for dead wood carbon stocks. Countries that use higher Tier methods can accommodate longer transition periods by subdividing the remaining category to accommodate strata that are in the later stages of transition.

The estimation of carbon stock changes during transition periods following land-use conversion requires that annual cohorts of the area subject to land-use change be tracked for the duration of the transition period. For example, DOM stocks are assumed to increase for 20 years after conversion to Forest Land. After 20 years, the area converted enters the category *Forest Land Remaining Forest Land*, and no further DOM changes are assumed, if a Tier 1 approach is applied. Under Tier 2 and 3, the period of conversion can be varied depending on vegetation and other factors that determine the time required for litter and dead wood pools to reach steady state.

Higher Tier estimation methods can use non-zero estimates of litter and dead wood pools in the appropriate landuse categories or subcategories. For example, settlements and agro-forestry systems can contain some litter and dead wood pools, but because management, site conditions, and many other factors influence the pool sizes, no global default values can be provided here. Higher Tier methods may also estimate the details of dead organic matter inputs and outputs associated with the land-use change.

The conceptual approach to estimating changes in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter pools is to estimate the difference in C stocks in the old and new land-use categories and to apply this change in the year of the conversion (carbon losses), or to distribute it uniformly over the length of the transition period (carbon gains) Equation 2.23:

EQUATION 2.23 ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD WOOD AND LITTER DUE TO LAND CONVERSION

$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \frac{(C_n - C_o) \bullet A_{on}}{T_{on}}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_o = dead wood/litter stock, under the old land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹

- C_n = dead wood/litter stock, under the new land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹
- A_{on} = area undergoing conversion from old to new land-use category, ha
- T_{on} = time period of the transition from old to new land-use category, yr. The Tier 1 default is 20 years for carbon stock increases and 1 year for carbon losses.

Inventories using a Tier 1 method assume that all carbon contained in biomass killed during a land-use conversion event (less harvested products that are removed) is emitted directly to the atmosphere and none is added to dead wood and litter pools. Tier 1 methods also assume that dead wood and litter pool carbon losses occur entirely in the year of the transition.

Countries using higher Tier methods can modify C_o in Equation 2.23 by first accounting for the immediate effects of the land-use conversion in the year of the event. In this case, they would add to C_o the carbon from biomass killed and transferred to the dead wood and litter pools and remove from C_o any carbon released from dead wood and litter pools, e.g., during slash burning. In that case C_o in Equation 2.23 would represent the dead wood or litter carbon stocks immediately after the land-use conversion. C_o will transit to C_n over the transition period, using linear or more complex dynamics. A disturbance matrix (Table 2.1) can be defined to account for the pool transitions and releases during the land-use conversion, including the additions and removals to C_o .

Countries using a Tier 1 approach can apply the Tier 1 default carbon stock estimates for litter, and if available dead wood pools, provided in Table 2.2, but should recognize that these are broad-scale estimates with considerable uncertainty when applied at the country level. Table 2.2 is incomplete because of the paucity of published data. A review of the literature has identified several problems. The IPCC definitions of dead organic matter carbon stocks include litter and dead wood. The litter pool contains all litter plus fine woody debris up to a diameter limit of 10 cm (see Chapter 1, Table 1.1). Published litter data generally do not include the fine woody debris component, so the litter values in Table 2.2 are incomplete.

There are numerous published studies of coarse woody debris (Harmon and Hua, 1991; Karjalainen and Kuuluvainen, 2002) and a few review papers (e.g., Harmon *et al.*, 1986), and but to date only two studies are found to provide regional dead wood carbon pool estimates that are based on sample plot data. Krankina *et al.* (2002) included several regions in Russia and reported coarse woody debris (> 10 cm diameter) estimates of 2 to 7 Mg C ha⁻¹. Cooms *et al.* (2002) reported regional carbon pools based on a statistical sample design for a small region in New Zealand. Regional compilations for Canada (Shaw *et al.*, 2005) provide estimates of litter carbon pools based on a compilation of statistically non-representative sample plots, but do not include estimates of dead wood pools. Review papers such as Harmon *et al.* (1986) compile a number of estimates from the literature. For example, their Table 5 lists a range of coarse woody debris values for temperate deciduous forests of 11 – 38 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹ and for temperate coniferous forests of 10 - 511 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹. It is, however, statistically invalid to calculate a mean from these compilations as they are not representative samples of the dead wood pools in a region.

While it is the intent of these IPCC Guidelines to provide default values for all variables used in Tier 1 methodologies, it is currently not feasible to provide estimates of regional defaults values for litter (including fine woody debris < 10 cm diameter) and dead wood (> 10 cm diameter) carbon stocks. Litter pool estimates (excluding fine woody debris) are provided in Table 2.2. Tier 1 methodology only requires the estimates in Table 2.2 for lands converted from Forest Land to any other land-use category (carbon losses) and for lands converted to Forest Land (carbon gains). Tier 1 methods assume that litter and dead wood pools are zero in all non-forest categories and therefore transitions between non-forest categories involve no carbon stock changes in these two pools.

TABLE 2.2 (UPDATED) TIRE 1 DEFAULT VALUES FOR LITTER AND DEAD WOOD CARBON STOCKS									
				Forest typ)e				
	Broadleaf	deciduous	Needleleaf	References ²					
Climate ¹			Litter ca	rbon stocks (1	tonnes C ha ⁻¹)			
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max			
Boreal coniferous forest	19.1	4.0-38.7	40.3	4.0-117.4	31.4	4.0-117.4	93, 98, 99, 100, 101		
Boreal tundra woodland	29.3	23.7-33.7	67.4	23.7-85.1	49.5	23.7-85.1	100, 101		
Polar	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.		
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.		
Subtropical humid forest	5.6	4.4-8.1	6.8	4.7-11.6	8.7	1.2-24.0	6, 7, 44, 93, 98, 99, 103		
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.		
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.		
Temperate continental forest	23.9	4.6-64.4	66.3	6.0-279.1	47.8	4.6-279.1	93, 98, 99, 100, 101		
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.		
Temperate mountain system	3.4	n.a.	3.9	n.a.	3.7	3.4-3.9	98		
Temperate oceanic forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.9	n.a.	15		
Temperate steppe	36.9	7.6-98.8	26.4	7.1-43.0	28.7	3.8-98.8	97, 98, 100, 101		
Tropical dry forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.4	2.1-2.7	11		
Tropical moist forest	4.3	2.0-9.0	14.8	n.a.	5.9	1.9-14.8	21, 93, 98		
Tropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.		
Tropical rainforest	2.5	n.a.	4.7	n.a.	4.8	2.1-16.4	11, 26, 35, 89, 93, 99		
Climate			Dead wood	carbon stock	s (tonnes C h	a ⁻¹)	1		
	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max		
Boreal coniferous forest	16.4	2.3-50.7	22.2	4.1-76.5	19.7	2.3-76.5	46, 54, 55, 56, 59, 62, 63, 70, 81, 87, 88, 93		
Boreal tundra woodland	5.7	n.a.	1.3	0.5-2.4	3.1	0.5-6.1	5, 70		
Polar	n.a	n.a	26.2	n.a.	26.2	n.a.	70		
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	64.4	14.4- 134.5	64.4	14.4- 134.5	40		
Subtropical humid forest	4.1	2.5-7.5	10.9	3.5-32.8	13.2	0.2-43.8	6,7,44, 46, 68, 93		
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	11.8	7.2-16.3	11.8	7.2-16.3	77		

TABLE 2.2 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) TIRE 1 DEFAULT VALUES FOR LITTER AND DEAD WOOD CARBON STOCKS												
	Forest typ	e										
Climate 1	Broadleaf	deciduous	Needlelea	af evergreen	All vegeta	tion types	References ²					
Climate ¹	Dead wood carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)											
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max						
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	6.8	6.0-7.7	6.8	6.0-7.7	27					
Temperate continental forest	23.6	1.6-150.0	22.1	2.1-59.5	23.0	1.6-150.0	1, 2, 23, 28, 36, 37, 46, 54, 55, 64, 70, 80, 83, 87, 92, 93, 95,110					
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	22					
Temperate mountain system	21.2	2.8-80.6	48.1	1.7-181.8	37.6	1.7-181.8	3, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17, 25, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 39, 41, 50, 57, 58, 60, 67, 68, 69, 71, 75, 76, 78, 82, 84, 90, 91, 105, 109					
Temperate oceanic forest	40.5	2.8-95.0	24.3	n.a.	36.8	2.8-95.0	15, 16, 24, 32, 52, 61, 85, 86					
Temperate steppe	26.2	9.7-50.0	8.0	n.a	21.7	8.0 - 50.0	4, 70, 83, 98					
Tropical dry forest	16.0	14.7-17.3	n.a.	n.a.	9.0	1.3-17.3	11, 20					
Tropical moist forest	8.4	1.2-21.2	3.4	n.a.	8.0	1.2-21.2	19, 20, 21, 38, 4893, 96, 107					
Tropical mountain system	3.3	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	3.3	n.a.	20					
Tropical rainforest	17.7	0.9-218.9	1.9	n.a.	14.8	0.6-218.9	11, 14, 18, 26, 35, 42, 43, 45, 46, 47, 49, 51, 53, 65, 66, 72, 73, 74, 79, 89, 93, 94, 104, 105, 107, 108					

¹ FAO. 2012. Forest Resources Assessment Working Paper 179.

²References: 1Canada NFI, 2006; 2Alban and Perala, 1992; 3Arthur and Fahey, 1992; 4Barney and Fahey, 1992; 5Barney and Van Cleve, 1973; 6Beets et al. 2011; 7Beets et al. 2014; 8Beets, 1980; 9Bingham and Sawyer Jr., 1988; 10Blackwell et al., 1992; 11FRA2015, Brazil; 12Brown and See, 1981; 13Busing, 1998; 14Chambers et al., 2000; 15FRA2015, Chile; 16Christensen, 1977; 17Clark et al., 1998; 18Cochrane et al., 1999; 19Collins, 1981; 20Delaney et al., 1998; 21FRA2015, Ecuador; 22Fahey, 1983; 23Falinski, 1978; 24Frangi et al., 1997; 25Franklin et al., 1984; 26FRA2015, French Guyana; 27Fule and Covington, 1994; 28Goodburn and Lorimer, 1998; 29Gore and Patterson, III, 1986; 30Gosz, 1980; 31Grahom and Cromack, 1982; 32Green and Peterken, 1998; 33Grier, 1978; 34Grier et al., 1981; 35FRA2015, Guyana; 36Hale et al., 1999; 37Harmon and Chen, 1991; 38Harmon et al., 1995; 39Harmon et al., 1986; 40Harmon et al., 1987; 41Harmon, 1980; 42Higucki and Biot, 1995; 43Hofer et al., 1996; 44Holdaway et al., 2017; 45Hughes et al., 2000; 46Japanese NFI, 2018; 47John, 1973; 48Jordan, 1989; 49Kauffman and Uhl, 1990; 50Keenan et al., 1993; 51Kira, 1978; 52Kirby et al., 1998; 53Klinge, 1973; 54Krankina et al., 1999; 55Krankina, Unpublished; 56Lamas and Fries, 1994; 57Lambert et al., 1980; 58Lang, 1985; 59Lee et al., 1997; 60Lesica et al., 1990; 61Levett et al., 1985; 62Linder and Ostlund, 1992; 63Linder et al. 1997; 64MacMillan, 1981; 65Martinelli et al., 1988; 66Martius, 1997; 67McCarthy and Bailey, 1994; 68McMinn and Hardt, 1996; 69Muller and Liu, 1991; 70Canada NFI, 2018b; 71Nicholas and White, 1984; 72Proctor et al. 1983; 73Revilla, 1987; 74Robertson and Daniel, 1989; 75Robertson and Bowser, 1999; 76Roskoski, 1980; 77Sackett, 1980; 78Sackett, 1979; 79Saldarriaga et al., 1988; 80Shifley et al., 1997; 81Sippola, 1998; 82Sollins, 1982; 83Spetich et al., 1999; 84Spies et al., 1988; 85Stewart and Burrows, 1994; 86Stokland, ; 87Storozhenko, 1997; 88Sturtevant et al., 1997; 89FRA2015, Suriname; 90Taylor and Fonda, 1990; 91Tritton 1980; 92Tyrrell and Crow, 1994; 93Ugawa et al., 2012; 94Uhl et al., 1988; 95van Hees and Clerkx, 1999; 96Zhou et al.,; 97FRA2015, Argentina; 98Domke et al., 2016; 99Japan NFI, 2018; 100Canada NFI, 2018; 101Canada NFI, 2018a; 102Shaw et al. 2005; 103Beets et al., 2012; 104Klinge et al., 1975; 105Kaufman et al., 1988; 106Nicholas and White, 1985; 107Revilla, 1986; 108Revilla, 1988; 109Sollins et al., 1980; 110Lang and Forman, 1978

n.a. denotes 'not available'

2.3.3 Change in carbon stocks in soils

Although both organic and inorganic forms of C are found in soils, land use and management typically has a larger impact on organic C stocks. Consequently, the methods provided in these guidelines focus mostly on soil organic C. Overall, the influence of land use and management on soil organic C is dramatically different in a mineral versus an organic soil type. Organic (e.g., peat and muck) soils have a minimum of 12 percent organic C by mass (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for the specific criteria on organic soil classification), and develop under poorly drained conditions of wetlands (Brady & Weil 1999). All other soils are classified as mineral soil types, and typically have relatively low amounts of organic matter, occurring under moderate to well drained conditions, and predominate in most ecosystems except wetlands. Discussion about land-use and management influences on these contrasting soil types is provided in the next two sections.

MINERAL SOILS

Mineral soils contain an organic carbon pool that is influenced by land-use and management activities. Land use can have a large effect on the size of this pool through activities such as conversion of native Grassland and Forest Land to Cropland, where 20-40 percent of the original soil C stocks can be lost (Mann 1986; Davidson & Ackerman 1993; Ogle *et al.* 2005). Within a land-use type, a variety of management practices can also have a significant impact on soil organic C storage, particularly in Cropland and Grassland (e.g., Paustian *et al.* 1997; Conant *et al.* 2001; Ogle *et al.* 2004 and 2005). In principle, soil organic C stocks can change with management or disturbance if the net balance between C inputs and C losses from soil is altered. Management activities influence organic C inputs through changes in plant production (such as fertilisation or irrigation to enhance crop growth), direct additions of C in organic amendments, and the amount of carbon left after biomass removal activities, such as crop harvest, timber harvest, fire, or grazing. Decomposition largely controls C outputs and can be influenced by changes in moisture and temperature regimes as well as the level of soil disturbance resulting from the management activity. Other factors also influence decomposition, such as climate and edaphic characteristics. Specific effects of different land-use conversions and management regimes are discussed in the land-use specific chapters (Chapters 4 to 9).

Land-use change and management activity can also influence soil organic C storage by changing erosion rates and subsequent loss of C from a site; some eroded C decomposes in transport and CO_2 is returned to the atmosphere, while the remainder is deposited in another location. The net effect of changing soil erosion through land management is highly uncertain, however, because an unknown portion of eroded C is stored in buried sediments of wetlands, lakes, river deltas and coastal zones (Smith *et al.* 2001).

ORGANIC SOILS

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Sections 2.2 and 2.3 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

2.3.3.1 SOIL ORGANIC C ESTIMATION METHODS (LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY AND LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND USE)

Soil C inventories include estimates of soil organic C stock changes for mineral soils and CO_2 emissions from organic soils due to enhanced microbial decomposition caused by drainage and associated management activity. In addition, inventories can address C stock changes for soil inorganic C pools (e.g., calcareous grassland that become acidified over time) if sufficient information is available to use a Tier 3 approach. The equation for estimating the total change in soil C stocks is given in Equation 2.24:

EQUATION 2.24 (UPDATED) ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN SOILS

$$\Delta C_{Soils} = \Delta C_{Mineral} - L_{Organic} + \Delta C_{Inorganic}$$

Where:

 $\Delta C_{Soils} = \text{annual change in carbon stocks in soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $\Delta C_{Mineral} = \text{annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $L_{Organic} = \text{annual loss of carbon from drained organic soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $\Delta C_{Inorganic}$ = annual change in inorganic carbon stocks from soils, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (assumed to be 0 unless using a Tier 3 approach)

For Tier 1 methods, soil organic C stocks for mineral soils are computed to a default depth of 30 cm because default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF} – see Equation 2.25 and Table 2.3) and stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) are based on a 30 cm depth. In addition, the reference condition is defined as that present in native lands (i.e. non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation) for the default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF}). For Tier 2, a different reference condition and depth can be used as described in the section on Tier 2 methods. Residue/litter C stocks are not included in Tier 1 because they are addressed by estimating dead organic matter stocks (see section 2.3.2). Inventories can also estimate the change in mineral soil organic C stock due to biochar amendments to soils (Tier 2 and Tier 3 only). Stock changes in organic soils are based on emission factors that represent the annual loss of organic C throughout the profile due to drainage and associated management activity.

No Tier 1 or 2 methods are provided for estimating the change in soil inorganic C stocks ($\Delta C_{Inorganic}$) due to limited scientific data for derivation of stock change factors; thus, the net flux for inorganic C stocks is assumed to be zero. Tier 3 methods could be developed to estimate changes in the stock of inorganic carbon in mineral or organic soils.

It is possible that compilers will use different tiers to prepare estimates for mineral soils, organic soils, biochar amendments and soil inorganic C, depending on the availability of resources. Thus, stock changes are discussed separately for organic carbon in mineral and organic soils and for inorganic C pools (Tier 3 only). Generalised decision trees in Figures 2.4 and 2.5 can be used to assist inventory compilers in determining the appropriate tier for estimating stock changes for mineral and organic soil C, respectively.





Box 1:Tier 1





Tier 1 – Default Method

Mineral soils

For mineral soils, the stock change factor method is based on changes in soil C stocks ($\Delta C_{Mineral}$) over a finite period of time of 20 years (Equation 2.25). The change in organic C stock in mineral soil ($SOC_{Mineral}$) is computed by calculating the organic C stock remaining after a management change relative to the organic C stock in a reference condition and summing this change over all climate zones, soil types and management practices included in the inventory. The soil organic C stock present under the reference condition for the Tier 1 method is defined as that in non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation (Table 2.3). The following assumptions are made:

- (i) Over time, soil organic C stock reaches a spatially-averaged, stable value specific to the soil, climate, land-use and management practices; and
- (ii) Soil organic C stock change during the transition to a new equilibrium SOC occurs in a linear fashion over a period of 20 years.

Assumption (i), that under a given set of climate and management conditions soils tend towards an equilibrium organic C stock, is widely accepted. Although, soil organic C stock changes in response to management changes may often be best described by a curvilinear function, assumption (ii) greatly simplifies the Tier 1 methodology and provides a good approximation over a multi-year inventory period, where changes in management and land-use conversions are occurring throughout the inventory period.

Using the default method, changes in mineral soil organic C stocks are computed over an inventory time period. Inventory time periods will likely be established based on the years in which activity data are collected, such as 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, which would correspond to inventory time periods of 1990-1995, 1995-2000, 2000-2005, 2005-2010. For each inventory time period, the soil organic C stocks are estimated for the first (SOC_{0-T}) and last year (SOC₀) based on multiplying the reference C stocks by stock change factors. Annual rates of carbon stock change are estimated as the difference in stocks at two points in time divided by the time dependence of the stock change factors.

EQUATION 2.25 Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils
$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)})}{D}$
$SOC_{Mineral} = \sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i} \right)$
(Note: T is used in place of D in the $\Delta C_{Mineral}$ equation if T is ≥ 20 years, see note below associated with the parameter D)

Where:

$\Delta C_{Mineral}$	= annual change in organic C stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
SOC ₀	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) in the last year of an inventory time period, tonnes C
$SOC_{(0-T)}$	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) at the beginning of the inventory time period, tonnes C
Т	= number of years over a single inventory time period, yr
D	= Time dependence of mineral soil organic C stock change factors which is the default time period for transition between equilibrium SOC values, yr. Commonly 20 years, but depends on assumptions made in computing the factors F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_{I} . If T exceeds D, use the value for T to obtain an annual rate of change over the inventory time period (0-T years).
с	= represents the climate zones included in the inventory
S	= represents the soil types included in the inventory
i	= represents the set of management systems included in the inventory.
$SOC_{Mineral}$	= total mineral soil organic C stock at a defined time, tonnes C
$SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}}$	= the soil organic C stock for mineral soils in the reference condition, tonnes C ha ⁻¹ (Table 2.3)
$F_{LU_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C land-use systems or sub-systems for a particular land-use, dimensionless
	[Note: F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in forest soil organic C stock calculations to estimate the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion)].
$F_{MG_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for management regime, dimensionless
$F_{I_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for the input of organic amendments,
	dimensionless
$A_{c,s,i}$	= land area of the stratum being estimated, ha
	[Note: All land in the stratum should have common biophysical conditions (i.e., climate and soil type) and management history over the inventory time period to be treated together for analytical purposes.]

Inventory calculations are based on land areas that are stratified by climate regions (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for default classification of climate), and default soils types as shown in Table 2.3 (see Chapter 3, Annex 3A.5, for default classification of soils). The stock change factors are very broadly defined and include: 1) a land-use factor (F_{LU}) that reflects C stock changes associated with type of land use, 2) a management factor (F_{MG}) representing the principal management practice specific to the land-use sector (e.g., different tillage practices in cropland), and 3) an input factor (F_I) representing different levels of C input to soil. As mentioned above, F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in Forest Land to account for the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion). The stock change factors are provided in the soil C sections of the land-use chapters. Each of these factors represents the change over a specified number of years (D), which can vary across sectors, but is typically invariant within sectors (e.g., 20 years for the cropland systems). In some inventories, the time period for inventory (T years) may exceed D, and under those cases, an annual rate of change in C stock may be obtained by dividing the product of $[(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)}) \bullet A]$ by T, instead of D. See the soil C sections in the land-use chapters for detailed step-by-step guidance on the application of this method.

When applying the stock change factor method using Equation 2.25, the type of land-use and management activity data has a direct influence on the formulation of the equation (See Box 2.1). Formulation A is based on activity data collected with Approach 1, while Formulation B is based on activity data collected with Approaches 2 or 3 (Box 2.1). See Chapter 3 for additional discussion on the approaches for activity data collection.

Special consideration is needed if using Approach 1 activity data (see Chapter 3) as the basis for estimating landuse and management effects on soil C stocks, using Equation 2.25. Approach 1 data do not track individual land transitions, and so SOC stock changes are computed for inventory time periods equivalent to D years, or as close as possible to D, which is 20 years in the Tier 1 method. For example, Cropland may be converted from full tillage to no-till management between 1990 and 1995, and Formulation A (see Box 2.1) would estimate a gain in soil C for that inventory time period. However, assuming that the same parcel of land remains in no-till between 1995 and 2000, no additional gain in C would be computed (i.e., the stock for 1995 would be based on no-till management and it would not differ from the stock in 2000 (SOC₀), which is also based on no-till management). If using the default approach, there would be an error in this estimation because the change in soil C stocks occurs over 20 years (i.e., D = 20 years). Therefore, SOC_(0-T) is estimated for the most distant time that is used in the inventory calculations up to D years before the last year in the inventory time periods (SOC₀). For example, assuming D is 20 years and the inventory is based on activity data from 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, SOC₍₀ -T) will be computed for 1990 to estimate the change in soil organic C for each of the other years, (i.e., 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010). The year for estimating $SOC_{(0-T)}$ in this example will not change until activity data are gathered at 2011 or later (e.g., computing the C stock change for 2011 would be based on the most distant year up to, but not exceeding D, which in this example would be 1995).

If transition matrices are available (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data), the changes can be estimated between each successive year. From the example above, some no-till land may be returned to full tillage management between 1995 and 2000. In this case, the gain in C storage between 1990 and 1995 for the land base returned to full tillage would need to be discounted between 1995 and 2000. Further, no additional change in the C stocks would be necessary for land returned to full tillage after 2000 (assuming tillage management remained the same). Only land remaining in no-till would continue to gain C up to 2010 (i.e., assuming D is 20 years). Hence, inventories using transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data will need to be more careful in dealing with the time periods over which gains or losses of SOC are computed. See Box 2.2 for additional details. The application of the soil C estimation approach is much simpler if only using aggregated statistics with Approach 1 activity data. However, it is *good practice* for countries to use transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data if that information is available because the more detailed statistics will provide an improved estimate of annual changes in soil organic C stocks.

There may be some cases in which activity data are collected over time spans longer than the time dependence of the stock change factors (D), such as every 30 years with a D of 20. For those cases, the annual stock changes can be estimated directly between each successive year of activity data collection (e.g., 1990, 2020 and 2050) without over- or under-estimating the annual change rate, as long as T is substituted for D in Equation 2.25.

DEFAULT REFERENCE CONDITION S	TABLE 2.3 (UI OIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCI CM DEPTH	PDATED) KS (SOC _{REF}) FOR MINERAL SO () ^{1, 2}	DILS (TONNES C HA ⁻¹ in 0-30
		IPCC soil class ⁶	
IPCC Climate Zone ⁵	High activity clay soils (HAC) ⁷	Low activity clay soils (LAC) ⁸	Sandy soils (SAN) ⁹
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	59 ± 41% (24)	NA	27 ± 67% (18)
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	63 ± 18% (35)	NA	$10\pm90\%$ 4
Cool temperate dry (C2)	43 ± 8% (177)	$33 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	13 ± 33% (10)
Cool temperate moist (C1)	81 ± 5% (334)	76 ± 51% (6)	51 ± 13% (126)
Warm temperate dry (W2)	24 ± 5% (781)	19 ± 16% (41)	10 ± 5% (338)
Warm temperate moist (W1)	64 ± 5% (489)	55 ± 8% (183)	36 ± 23% (39)
Tropical dry (T4)	21 ± 5% (554)	19 ± 10% (135)	9 ± 9% (164)
Tropical moist (T3)	40 ± 7% (226)	38 ± 5% (326)	27 ± 12% (76)
Tropical wet (T2)	60 ± 8% (137)	52 ± 6% (271)	46 ± 20% (43)
Tropical montane (T1)	51 ± 10% (114)	44 ± 11% (84)	52 ± 34% (11)
	Spodic soils (POD) ¹⁰	Volcanic soils (VOL) ¹¹	Wetland soils (WET) ¹²
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	NO	NA	NA
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	$117 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	$20\pm90\%$ 4	116 ± 65% (6)
Cool temperate dry (C2)	NO	$20\pm90\%$ 4	$87\pm90\%$ 3
Cool temperate moist (C1)	128 ± 14% (45)	136 ± 14% (28)	128 ± 13% (42)
Warm temperate dry (W2)	NO	84 ± 65% (10)	74 ± 17% (49)
Warm temperate moist (W1)	143 ± 30% (9)	138 ± 12% (42)	135 ± 28% (28)
Tropical dry (T4)	NA	$50\pm90\%$ 4	22 ± 17% (32)
Tropical moist (T3)	NA	$70\pm90\%$ 4	68 ± 17% (55)
Tropical wet (T2)	NA	77 ± 27% (14)	49 ± 19% (33)
Tropical montane (T1)	NA	96 ± 31% (10)	82 ± 50% (12)

Note: Data are derived from Batjes (2010) and Batjes (2011) unless otherwise noted through the use of superscripts.

¹NA denotes that soil categories the soil category may occur in a climate zone, but no data was available. NO denotes that the soil type does not normally occur within a climate zone. ² All values are presented in the format of the mean for the soil by climate combination \pm the 95% confidence limit expressed as a percentage of the mean (that is ± 1.96 * standard error /mean *100). Values in parentheses are the number of soils included in the derivation of mean and standard error values for each combination of soil and climate types. ³ Indicates where no data were available from Batjes (2011) but values were derived for the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and have been used in the table. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁴ Indicates where no data were available either from Batjes (2011) or in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Mean values present the default values used in the 1996 IPCC Guidelines. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁵ Climate classes are defined according to (IPCC 2006, p. 3.39) using elevation, mean annual temperature, mean annual precipitation, mean annual precipitation to potential evapotranspiration ratio and frost occurrence. ⁶ Soil classes are inferred from the FAO-1990/WRB-2006 classification in accordance with IPCC (2006, p. 3.40 - 3.41). ⁷ Soils with high activity clay (HAC) minerals are lightly to moderately weathered soils dominated by 2:1 silicate clay minerals (in the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB) classification: Leptosols, Vertisols, Kastanozems, Chernozems, Phaeozems, Luvisols, Alisols, Albeluvisols, Solonetz, Calcisols, Gypsisols, Umbrisols, Cambisols, Regosols; in USDA classification: Mollisols, Vertisols, high-base status Alfisols, Aridisols, Inceptisols). ⁸ Soils with low activity clay (LAC) minerals are highly weathered soils, dominated by 1:1 clay minerals and amorphous iron and aluminium oxides (in WRB classification: Acrisols, Lixisols, Nitisols, Ferralsols, Durisols; in USDA classification: Ultisols, Oxisols, acidic Alfisols). ⁹ Soils (regardless of taxonomic classification) having > 70% sand and < 8% clay (in WRB classification: Arenosols; in USDA classification: Psamments). ¹⁰ Soils exhibiting strong podzolization (in WRB classification includes Podzols; in USDA classification Spodosols). ¹¹ Soils derived from volcanic ash with allophanic mineralogy (in WRB classification Andosols; in USDA classification Andisols). ¹² Soils with restricted drainage leading to periodic flooding and anaerobic conditions (in WRB classification Gleysols; in USDA classification Aquic suborders). ¹³ The Boreal dry and Boreal moist zones and the Polar dry and Polar moist zones were not differentiated. Results presented represent the SOC₃₀ stocks for the undifferentiated (undiff.) Boreal (Bx) and Polar (Px) classes.

Box 2.1 (Updated) Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data versus Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Two alternative formulations are possible for Equation 2.25 depending on the Approach used to collect activity data, including

Formulation A (Approach 1 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{0} - \left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{(0-T)}}{D}$$

Formulation B (Approaches 2 and 3 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\sum_{c,s,p} \left[\begin{cases} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{0} - \\ \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{(0-T)} \right] \bullet A_{c,s,p}}{D}$$

Where:

p = a parcel of land representing an individual unit of area over which the inventory calculations are performed.

See the description of other terms under the Equation 2.25.

Activity data may only be available using Approach 1 for data collection (Chapter 3). These data provide the total area at two points in time for climate, soil and land-use/management systems, without quantification of the specific transitions in land use and management over the inventory time period (i.e., only the aggregate or net change is known, not the gross changes in activity). With Approach 1 activity data, mineral C stock changes are computed using formulation A of Equation 2.25. In contrast, activity data may be collected based on surveys, remote sensing imagery or other data providing not only the total areas for each land management system, but also the specific transitions in land use and management over time on individual parcels of land. These are considered Approach 2 and 3 activity data in Chapter 3, and soil C stock changes are computed using formulation B of Equation 2.25. Formulation B contains a summation by land parcel (i.e., "p" represents land parcels in formulation B rather than the set of management systems "i") that allows the inventory compiler to compute the changes in C stocks on a land parcel by land parcel basis.

BOX 2.2 (UPDATED)

COMPARISON BETWEEN USE OF APPROACH 1 AGGREGATE STATISTICS AND APPROACH 2 OR 3 ACTIVITY DATA WITH TRANSITION MATRICES

This box examines the application of Equation 2.25 to calculate $\Delta C_{mineral}$. Assume a country where a fraction of the land is subjected to land-use changes, as shown in the following table, where each line represents one land unit with an area of 1 Mha (F = Forest Land; C = Cropland; G = Grassland). Where a land-use change occurs, it is assumed to occur in the year following the previous inventory year (e.g. for land unit 1, the conversion from F to C occurred at the start of 1991 such that for the five years from the start of 1991 to the end of the 1995 inventory year the land was under land-use C)

OMPARI	SON BETWEEN USE	BO2 OF APPRO DAT	X 2.2 (UP) DACH 1 A A WITH T	DATED) (GGREGAT RANSITIC	CONTINU TE STATIS ON MATRI	ED) TICS AND CES	Approa	CH 2 OR 3
	Land Unit ID	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
	1	F	С	С	С	С	С	С
	2	F	С	С	С	G	G	G
	3	G	С	С	С	С	G	G
	4	G	G	F	F	F	F	F

C

G

C

G

G

G

G

C

С

C

С

С

5

6

For simplicity, it is assumed that the country has a single soil type, with a SOC_{REF} (0-30 cm soil C stock under native forest vegetation) value of 77 tonnes C ha⁻¹. Values for F_{LU} are 1.00, 1.05 and 0.92 for F, G and C, respectively. F_{MG} and F_I are assumed to be equal to 1. The time dependence of the stock change factors (D) is 20 years. Finally, the soil C stock is assumed to be at equilibrium in 1990 (i.e., no changes in land-use occurred during the 20 years prior to 1990). When using Approach 1 activity data (i.e., aggregate statistical data), annual changes in C stocks are computed for every inventory year following Equation 2.25 above. The following table shows the results of calculations¹:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
F (Mha)	2	0	1	1	1	1	1
G (Mha)	2	1	1	1	3	3	3
C (Mha)	2	5	4	4	2	2	2
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	435.1	441.2	441.2	461.2	461.2	461.2
SOC _(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	435.1	441.2
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.2	1.3	1.0

If Approach 2 or 3 data are used in which land-use changes are explicitly known, C stocks can be computed taking into account historical changes for every individual land unit. The total C stocks for the sum of all units is compared with the most immediate previous inventory year, rather than with the inventory of 20 years before to estimate annual changes in C stocks:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 1	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	70.8	70.8	70.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 2	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	74.5	76.6	78.7
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 3	80.9	78.3	75.8	73.3	70.8	73.3	75.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 4	80.9	80.9	79.9	78.9	78.0	77.0	77.0
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 5	70.8	70.8	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 6	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3	76.5	74.6
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1	455.4
SOC(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.4	0.9	1.0
Mineral	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.4	0.9	

Box 2.2 (Updated) (Continued) Comparison between use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics and Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Both methods yield different estimates of C stocks, and use of Approach 2 or 3 data with land transition matrices would be more accurate than use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics. However, estimates of annual changes of C stocks would not differ greatly, as shown in this example. The effect of underlying data approaches on the estimates differ more when there are multiple changes in land-use on the same piece of land (as in land units 2, 3 and 6 in the example). It is noteworthy that Approach 1, 2 and 3 activity data produce the same changes in C stocks if the systems reach a new equilibrium, which occurs with no change in land-use and management for a 20-year time period using the Tier 1 method. Consequently, no C stock increases or losses are inadvertently lost when applying the methods for Approach 1, 2 or 3 activity data, but the temporal dynamics do vary somewhat as demonstrated above. A spreadsheet is available with the full set of calculations: Vol4_Ch2_Spreadsheet_Box_2.2_Calculations.xlsx.

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 2 Methods

Mineral soils

A Tier 2 method is an extension of the Tier 1 method that allows an inventory to incorporate country-specific data. It is *good practice* for countries to use a Tier 2 method, if possible, even if they are only able to better specify certain components of the Tier 1 method. For example, a compiler may only have data to derive country-specific reference C stocks, which would then be used with default stock change factors to estimate changes in soil organic C stocks for mineral soils.

Country-specific data can be used to improve four components when applying the Tier 1 equations for estimating stock changes in mineral soils. The components include a) derivation of region or country-specific stock change factors, b) reference condition C stocks, c) specification of management systems, and/or d) classification of climate and soil categories (e.g., Ogle *et al.*, 2003; VandenBygaart *et al.*, 2004; Tate *et al.*, 2005). Inventory compilers can choose to derive specific values for all of these components, or any subset, which would be combined with default values provided in the Tier 1 method to complete the inventory calculations using Equation 2.25. Also, the Tier 2 method uses the same procedural steps for calculations as provided for Tier 1.

1) *Defining management systems*. Although the same management systems may be used in a Tier 2 inventory as found in the Tier 1 method, the default systems can be disaggregated into a finer categorisation that better represents management impacts on soil organic C stocks in a particular country based on empirical data (i.e., stock change factors vary significantly for the proposed management systems). Such an undertaking, however, is only possible if there is sufficient detail in the underlying data to classify the land area into the finer, more detailed set of management systems.

2) *Climate regions and soil types.* Countries that have detailed soil classifications and climatic data have the option of developing country-specific classifications. Moreover, it is considered *good practice* to specify better climate regions and soil types during the development of a Tier 2 inventory if the new classification improves the specification of reference C stocks and/or stock change factors. In practice, reference C stocks and/or stock change factors should differ significantly among the proposed climate regions and soil types based on an empirical analysis. Note that specifying new climate regions and/or soil types requires the derivation of country-specific reference C stocks and stock change factors. The default reference soil C stocks and stock change factors are only appropriate for inventories using the default climate and soil types.

3) *Reference C stocks.* Deriving country-specific reference condition soil C stocks (SOC_{REF}) is another possibility for improving an inventory using a Tier 2 method (Bernoux *et al.* 2002), which will likely produce more accurate and representative values. Country-specific stocks can be estimated from soil measurements, for example, as part of a country's soil survey. It is important that reliable taxonomic descriptions be used to group soils into categories. Three additional points require consideration when deriving the country-specific values, including possible specification of country-specific soil categories and climate regions (i.e., instead of using the IPCC default classification), choice of reference condition, and choice of depth increment over which the stocks are estimated.

Stocks are computed by multiplying the proportion of organic C (i.e., %C divided by 100) by the depth increment (default is 30 cm), bulk density, and the proportion of coarse-fragment free soil (i.e., < 2mm fragments) in the depth increment (Ogle *et al.* 2003). The coarse fragment-free proportion is on a mass basis (i.e., mass of coarse fragment-free soil/total mass of the soil). If the soil C reference condition differs from that used in Table 2.3 or the soil depth used differs from 30 cm, then appropriate country specific soil C stocks for the reference condition and stock change factors must be derived. For developing a Tier 2 method, it would also be possible to define reference SOC stocks and SOC stock change factors using an equivalent mass approach (see Box 2.2b) rather than an approach based on a fixed depth.

The soil reference condition is the land-use/cover category (or condition within a land-use/cover category) that is used for evaluating the relative effect of land-use change on the amount of soil C storage (e.g., relative difference in soil C storage between a reference condition, such as native lands, and another land use, such as cropland, forming the basis for F_{LU} in Equation 2.25). It is likely that many countries will use the Tier 1 default soil reference condition, which is *good practice* if it allows for a more accurate assessment of soil C stock changes. The same reference condition should be used for each climate zone and soil type, regardless of the land use. The soil C stock associated with the reference condition is then multiplied by land use, input and management factors to estimate the stocks at the beginning and last year in an inventory time period (See Equation 2.25).

Another consideration in deriving country-specific reference soil C stocks is the possibility of estimating C stocks to a different depth in the soil. Default soil C stocks given in Table 2.3 are based on the amount of soil organic C in the top 30 cm of a soil profile. A different depth can be selected and used for Tier 2 methods if all appropriate data are available. Consideration should be given to the introduction of bias (positive or negative) that may arise in response to the depth selected. For example, where depth is set to 20 cm and cultivation mixes soils to a depth >20 cm, an apparent difference in SOC stock between cultivated and uncultivated soils may be observed for the 20cm depth that is not representative of the change in SOC stocks to the depth over which mixing occurs in the cultivated soil. It is *good practice* to derive reference condition soil C stocks to the depth at which land use and management impact soil C stocks, but this will require that the data are available or could be acquired to the selected depth. Any change in the depth for reference condition soil C stocks will require derivation of new stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) consistent with the depth selected because the defaults are based on impacts to a 30 cm depth.

It is possible to use a soil C model to derive steady state soil C stocks indicative of the soil reference condition for the various combinations of soil type and climate that exist within a country. However, this would require sufficient testing of the model used to provide evidence that the model is adequate for this purpose (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Further information related to soil sampling strategies and how to derive soil reference C stocks can be found in Batjes (2011), as well as in a range of soil sampling and analysis texts (e.g. Carter & Gregorich 2008; de Gruijter *et al.* 2006)

4) *Stock change factors*. An important advancement for a Tier 2 method is the estimation of country-specific stock change factors (F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I). The derivation of country-specific factors can be accomplished using experimental/measurement data and computer model simulation. In practice, deriving stock change factors involves estimating a response ratio for each study or observation (i.e., the C stocks in different input or management classes are divided by the value for the nominal practice, respectively).

Optimally, stock change factors are based on experimental/measurement data in the country or surrounding region, by estimating the response ratios from each study and then analysing those values using an appropriate statistical technique (e.g., Ogle et al. 2003 and 2004; VandenBygaart et al. 2004). Studies may be found in published literature, reports and other sources, or inventory compilers may choose to conduct new experiments. Regardless of the data source, it is good practice that the plots being compared have similar histories and management as well as similar topographic position, soil physical properties and be located in close proximity. Studies should provide soil C stocks (i.e., mass per unit area to a specified depth) or the information needed to calculate soil C stocks (i.e., percent organic carbon together with bulk density; proportion of rock in soil, which is often measured as the greater than 2mm fraction and by definition contains negligible soil organic C). If percent organic matter is available instead of percent organic carbon, a conversion factor of 0.58 can be used to estimate the C content. Moreover, it is good practice that the measurements of soil C stocks are taken on an equivalent mass basis (e.g., Ellert et al. 2001; Gifford & Roderick, 2003). In order to use this method, the inventory compiler will need to determine a depth to measure the C stock for the nominal land use or practice, such as native lands or conventional tillage. This depth will need to be consistent with the depth for the reference C stocks. The soil C stock for the land-use or management change is then measured to a depth with the equivalent mass of soil. Box 2.2b provides further information on issues associated with conducting an inventory on an equivalent mass basis.

Another option for deriving country-specific values is to simulate stock change factors from advanced models (Bhatti *et al.*, 2001). To demonstrate the use of advanced models, simulated stock change factors can be compared to with measured changes in C stocks from experiments. It is *good practice* to provide the results of model

evaluation, citing published papers in the literature and/or placing the results in the inventory report. This approach is considered a Tier 2 method because it relies on the stock change factor concept and the C estimation method elaborated in the Tier 1 method.

Derivation of country-specific management factors (F_{MG}) and input factors (F_{I}), either with empirical data or advanced models, will need to be consistent with the management system classification. If more systems are specified for the inventory, unique factors will need to be derived representing the finer categories for a particular land use.

Another consideration in deriving country-specific stock change factors is their associated time dependence (D in Equation 2.25), which determines the number of years over which the majority of a soil C stock change occurs, following a management change. It is possible to use the default time dependence (D) for the land-use sector (e.g., 20 years for cropland), but the dependence can be changed if sufficient data are available to justify a different time period. In addition, the method is designed to use the same time dependence (D) for all stock change factors as presented in Equation 2.25. If different periods are selected for F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I , it will be necessary to compute the influence of land use, management and inputs separately and divide the associated stock change dependence. This can be accomplished by modifying Equation 2.25 so that SOC at time T and 0-T is computed individually for each of the stock change factors (i.e., SOC is computed with F_{LU} only, then computed with F_{MG} , and finally computed with F_I). The differences are computed for the stocks associated with land use, management, and input, dividing by their respective D values, and then the changes are summed.

Changes in soil C stocks normally occur in a non-linear fashion, and it is possible to further develop the time dependence of stock change factors to reflect this pattern. For changes in land use or management that cause a decrease in soil C content, the rate of change is highest during the first few years, and progressively declines with time. In contrast, when soil C is increasing due to land-use or management change, the rate of accumulation tends to follow a sigmoidal curve, with rates of change being slow at the beginning, then increasing and finally decreasing with time. If historical changes in land-use or management practices are explicitly tracked by resurveying the same locations (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data, see Chapter 3), it may be possible to implement a Tier 2 method that incorporates the non-linearity of changes in soil C stock.

BOX 2.2A (NEW)

USING EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS TO DERIVE MINERAL SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCK CHANGE FACTORS

Soil carbon stock estimates may be improved when deriving country-specific factors for F_{LU} and F_{MG} , by expressing carbon stocks on a soil-mass equivalent basis rather than a soil-volume equivalent (i.e. fixed depth) basis. This is because the soil mass to a certain soil depth changes in response to altered management practices associated with land use change (e.g. uprooting forest vegetation, land levelling, and rain compaction due to the disappearance of the cover of tree canopy). In addition, soil bulk density may be affected differently by particular management practices within a given land use (e.g. tillage and machinery traffic within cropping systems or the extent of compaction induced by different animal at stocking rates within pasture systems). Where the soil bulk density changes due to land use and/or management, the comparison of the soil carbon stocks between the cropland, settlements, grassland, wetlands, or forest land to the same depth introduces changes to soil carbon stocks as a direct consequence of changes in soil bulk density (Ellert & Bettany 1995). With a management induced change in soil bulk density, it is possible to calculate a change in soil carbon stock to a fixed depth in the absence of any change in soil carbon content. Therefore, it is more robust to calculate soil carbon stock change on an equivalent mass basis rather than on a fixed-depth basis (Toriyama et al. 2011; Bruun et al. 2013; Halvorson et al. 2016; Hu et al., 2016). The equivalent mass approach has more rigorous comparability when the bulk density between cropland, grassland, wetland, settlements and forest land is markedly different even if the site is within close proximity. It is important to realise that comprehensive data of soil carbon concentration and soil bulk density would be required to derive stock change factors across all land uses. The changing mass of organic carbon itself will affect the equivalent soil mass and therefore equivalent mass basis is not appropriate for organic soils. There are proposals for methods based on only equivalent mass of the mineral soil portion (McBratney & Minasny 2010) that would reduce the effect of changing soil organic mass distorting the equivalent soil mass. Adopting an equivalent-mass based carbon stock inventory requires thorough consideration of the challenges.

The impact of biochar C amendments on mineral soils can also be estimated with a Tier 2 method for mineral soils using Equation 2.25A and adding this estimate to the result in Equation 2.25.⁷

⁷ Biochar is a solid carbonised product from thermochemical conversion through pyrolysis (heating with limited air). The term biochar is used herein only to refer to materials that have been produced under process conditions in which relatively easily mineralisable organic materials are converted to more persistent forms by heating to above 350 °C with limited air through a



Where:

- $\Delta BC_{Mineral}$ = the total change in carbon stocks of mineral soils associated with biochar amendment, tonnes sequestered C yr⁻¹
- BC_{TOT_p} = the mass of biochar incorporated into mineral soil during the inventory year for each biochar production type p, tonnes biochar dry matter yr⁻¹
- F_{C_p} = the organic carbon content of biochar for each production type p, tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar dry matter
- F_{perm_p} = fraction of biochar carbon for each production type *p* remaining (unmineralised) after 100 years, tonnes sequestered C tonne⁻¹ biochar C
- n = the number of different production types of biochar

Country-specific values the C content of the forms of biochar included in the inventory (F_{C_p} in units of tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar on a dry mass basis) can be measured directly from representative samples of biochar. Country-specific values may also be based on published data on carbon content of biochar produced using the same feedstock and process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country.

The fraction of biochar C remaining after 100 years is defined by the parameter F_{perm_n} . It is not possible to measure

this value directly due to the time scales involved. So, this parameter is estimated from other data. The elemental composition of biochar, specifically the ratio of hydrogen to organic carbon (H/C_{org}) or ratio of oxygen to organic carbon (O/C_{org}), has been shown to correlate non-linearly with biochar residence time (Spokas 2010; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). Therefore, country-specific Tier 2 estimates of F_{perm_a} can be based on H/C_{org} or O/C_{org} measured directly

from representative samples of biochar, or from published data for biochar produced using similar process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country. This parameter can also be derived from the biochar elemental composition using published equations relating this composition to mean residence time or half-life (for example H/C_{org} , Lehmann *et al.* 2015; or O/C_{org} , Spokas 2010), and extrapolated to the permanence time frame assuming one-, two-, or three-pool exponential decay (Zimmerman 2010; Herath *et al.* 2015; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). A justification should be provided if a permanence time frame other than 100 years is used.

Since the impact of biochar amendments is a separate calculation and summed with the result from Equation 2.25 in the Tier 2 method, it is essential that biochar C is not included as an organic amendment in the estimates of $SOC_{Mineral}$ in Equation 2.25.

gasification or pyrolysis process. This guidance does not deal with pyrolytic organic materials that result from wild fires or open fires, and is only applicable for biochar added to mineral soils.

BOX 2.2B (NEW) GHG Emission Sources with biochar production

Biochar production involves emissions from several different sectors and source categories. All GHG emissions and removals are reported in a greenhouse gas inventory, but estimation and reporting is done based on sources in which the activity occurs. The guidance in this section is addressing C stock changes associated with the end-product use of biochar amendments to mineral soils. However, other emissions do occur along the biochar feedstock supply chains that are estimated in other source categories. For example, the harvesting and use of forest wood biomass for biochar production would be part of reported C stock changes in Forest Land Remaining Forest Land (Volume 4). Moreover, biomass may be grown specifically as a feedstock and the C stock changes are estimated and reported under the appropriate source categories for land use associated with feedstock production (Volume 4). For plant residues and manures, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input of organic amendments to soil and thereby affects soil C stocks in cropland and grassland, and possibly other land uses receiving manure amendments (Volume 4). For waste materials, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input to waste streams and is addressed in the calculation of emissions from waste management (Volume 5). There may also be use of fossil fuels in the harvesting, transport and pyrolysis of the feedstock and a potential release of other non-CO₂ greenhouse gases during the heating process that would be included in the energy sector (Volume 2).

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 3: Advanced estimation systems

Tier 3 approaches for soil C involve the development of an advanced estimation system that will typically better capture annual variability in fluxes, unlike Tier 1 and 2 approaches that mostly assume a constant annual change in C stocks over an inventory time period based on a stock change factor. Essentially, Tiers 1 and 2 represent land-use and management impacts on soil C stocks as a linear shift from one equilibrium state to another. To understand the implications better, it is important to note that soil C stocks typically do not exist in an absolute equilibrium state or change in a linear manner through a transition period, given that many of the driving variables affecting the stocks are dynamic, periodically changing at shorter time scales before a new "near" equilibrium is reached. Tier 3 approaches can address this non-linearity using more advanced models than Tiers 1 and 2 methods, and/or by developing a measurement-based inventory with a monitoring network. In addition, Tier 3 inventories are capable of capturing longer-term legacy effects of land use and management. In contrast, Tiers 1 and 2 approaches typically only address the most recent influence of land use and management, such as the last 20 years for mineral C stocks. See Section 2.5 (Generic Guidance for Tier 3 methods) for additional discussion on Tier 3 methods beyond the text given below.

Mineral soils

Model-based approaches can use mechanistic simulation models that capture the underlying processes driving carbon gains and losses from soils in a quantitative framework, such as the influence of land use and management on processes controlling carbon input resulting from plant production and litter fall as well as microbial decomposition (e.g., McGill, 1996; Smith *et al.*, 1997b; Smith *et al.*, 2000; Falloon and Smith, 2002; Tate *et al.*, 2005; Campbell&Paustian, 2015). Note that Tier 3 methods provide the only current opportunity to explicitly estimate the impact of soil erosion on C fluxes (Box 2.2d). In addition, Tier 3 model-based approaches may represent C transfers between biomass, dead biomass and soils, which are advantageous for ensuring conservation of mass in predictions of C stock changes in these pools relative to CO₂ removals and emissions to the atmosphere.

Tier 3 modelling approaches are capable of addressing the influence of land use and management with a dynamic representation of environmental conditions that affect the processes controlling soil C stocks, such as weather, edaphic characteristics, and other variables. The impact of land use and management on soil C stocks can vary as environmental conditions change, and such changes are not captured in lower Tiers, which may create biases in those results. Tier 3 methods can also include lateral flows of C associated with erosion and deposition (See Box 2.2c). Consequently, Tier 3 approaches are capable of providing a more accurate estimation of C stock changes associated with land-use and management activity if the modelling approach has been calibrated to the range of environmental conditions, soil properties and management practices to which the model will subsequently be applied (See Section 2.5 for more information).

For Tier 3 approaches, a set of benchmark sites will be needed to evaluate model results. Ideally, a series of permanent, benchmark monitoring sites would be established with statistically replicated design, capturing the major climatic regions, soil types, and management systems as well as system changes, and would allow for repeated measurements of soil organic C stocks over time (Smith, 2004a). Monitoring is based on re-sampling plots every 3 to 5 years or each decade; shorter sampling frequencies are not likely to produce significant differences due to small annual changes in C stocks relative to the large total amount of C in a soil (IPCC, 2000; Smith, 2004b).

Box 2.2C (NEW)

REPRESENTING THE IMPACT OF SOIL EROSION AND DEPOSITION ON SOIL CARBON STOCK CHANGES

Soil erosion and/or deposition can have marked effect on measured carbon stocks (Chappell *et al.* 2016). Soil carbon stock changes due to soil erosion/deposition are not considered to be embedded in factors for land-use change or land management. In practice, it is difficult to determine whether soil erosion/deposition effects are or are not included in stock change factors derived from empirical data. Different land use changes and subsequent management practices could result in different extents of soil movement. For example, land-use change from forest or grassland to cropland, or land management change from no-till to full tillage are typically associated with increased soil movement. The amounts of soil erosion or deposition are rarely measured or documented in datasets that have quantified soil carbon stock changes.

One option to include the effects of soil erosion and deposition is using well-tested models that capture these dynamics with required input data to make estimates of the effect of past erosion/deposition on soil carbon stocks (Van Oost *et al.* 2005; Causarano *et al.* 2007). However, use of such models also requires having empirical data on erosion/deposition effects on carbon stocks for evaluation of the model predictions. Another option is to consistently apply a rationale that identifies measured data of soil carbon stock changes that are affected by erosion/deposition for the development of Tier 2 or 3 methods, developing factors related to erosion/deposition impacts, and then applying these factors in areas affected by erosion/deposition.

In addition to model-based approaches, Tier 3 methods afford the opportunity to develop a measurement-based inventory using a similar monitoring network as needed for model evaluation. However, measurement networks, which serve as the basis for a complete inventory, will have a considerably larger sampling density to minimise uncertainty, and to represent all management systems and associated land-use changes, across all climatic regions and major soil types (Sleutel *et al.*, 2003; Lettens *et al.*, 2004). Measurement networks can be based on soil sampling at benchmark sites or flux tower networks. Flux towers, such as those using eddy covariance systems (Baldocchi *et al.*, 2001), constitute a unique case in that they measure the *net* exchange of CO_2 between the atmosphere and land surface. Thus, with respect to changes in C stocks for the soil pool, flux tower measurement networks are subject to the following caveats: 1) towers need to occur at a sufficient density to represent fluxes for the entire country; 2) flux estimates need to be attributed to individual land-use sectors and specific land-use and management activities; and 3) CO_2 fluxes need to be further attributed to individual pools including stock changes in soils (also biomass and dead organic matter). Additional considerations about soil measurements are given in the previous section on Tier 2 methods for mineral soils (See stock change factor discussion).

It is important to note that measurement-based inventories represent full C estimation approaches, addressing all influences on soil C stocks. Partial estimation of only land-use and management effects may be difficult, however. Examples in Box 2.2d provide illustrations of Tier 3 methods for estimating change in mineral soil C stocks, including information such as type of data required, brief description of the models and methods that are used to apply the models. For Tier 3 methods, it is important to calibrate and test models against field measurements that reflect the variability in climate, soil type and land use over which the model will be applied (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Application of the equivalent mass approach may be possible for calculating soil C stocks with Tier 3 models, and is discussed in Box 2.2e.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods

Four examples of Tier 3 model applications for soil organic C stock changes are elaborated in this section based on government reporting to the UNFCCC by the Australia, Finland, Japan and United States.

Australia

Australia has implemented a Tier 3 inventory approach based on the use of the FullCAM model (Richards 2001; Richards & Evans 2004) to estimate management induced changes in the stock of organic carbon held in the 0-30 cm soil depth layer over time. Australian lands included in the inventory were allocated to forest land, cropland, grassland, deforested land, forest land converted to cropland and grassland, grassland converted to forest land, and land with sparse woody vegetation based on national land use mapping (ABARES 2016) and remote sensing protocols (Caccetta *et al.* 2012) Detailed presentations of the soil carbon accounting processes under all land uses can be found in the National Inventory Reports (NIR) (http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-measurement/publications/national-inventory-report-2015). Here a summary is provided of the Tier 3 approach as applied to soil organic carbon stocks for cropland and grassland.

The FullCAM model simulates soil carbon stock change in 25m x 25m areas across Australia. This size was selected as it represented the finest scale to which the remote sensing process (Caccetta *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) can detect land use change and quantify movement of lands between the various classes included in the inventory. The data requirements and processes used to quantify the impact of management on Australia's 0-30 cm stock of soil organic carbon can be summarised as follows:

- 1) Spatially explicit daily and monthly climatic data (average temperature, total rainfall and total pan evaporation) are extracted from the Australian Bureau of Meteorology database and then interpolated using thin plate smoothing splines according to (Kesteven & Lansberg 2004). Additionally, spatially explicit estimates of soil clay content and water holding capacity are extracted from the Soil and Landscape Grid of Australia These data represent required inputs the (www.clw.csiro.au/aclep/soilandlandscapegrid/). modelling described in steps 4 and 5.
- 2) The initial 0-30 cm total soil organic carbon stock is defined using a national map derived by Viscarra Rossel *et al.* (2014). This total stock is then allocated to three measurable organic carbon fractions (particulate, humus and resistant forms) that provide estimates for the respective stocks of resistant plant material, humus and inert carbon required to initialize the FullCAM model (Baldock *et al.* 2013; Skjemstad *et al.* 2004; Viscarra Rossel & Hicks 2015).
- 3) The types of crops and pastures grown, the applied management practices (e.g. tillage and residue management) and their relative allocations within defined land areas are calculated using national agricultural statistics derived from censuses conducted every five years (http://www.abs.gov.au/Agriculture).
- 4) For the bulk of Australian crops and pastures, total growth is defined by the availability of water received as rainfall. Thus, a plant growth model applying species specific transpiration efficiency terms to the amount of water made available to growing plants is used to estimate above ground dry matter production. This production is then used along with plant species specific harvest indices (Unkovich *et al.* 2010) and root:shoot ratios to define the mass of carbon entering the soil and/or deposited on the soil surface for each monthly time step within the FullCAM simulation model. Within irrigated systems, plant growth attains defined plant specific maximum values each year.
- 5) The FullCAM model is then initialized and run on a monthly time step. During each step, decomposition of decomposable and resistant plant materials and humus pools of C occurs according to first order decay equations. The values of the decomposition rate constants associated with the resistant plant material and humus pools of carbon within the model were calibrated to Australian conditions to the corresponding measured stocks of soil carbon fractions

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

5) (continued) of soil temperature and water content on decomposition is modelled through the application of decomposition rate constant modifiers as done in the Rothamsted Carbon Model (RothC) soil carbon model (Jenkinson 1990).

The impact of management on soil carbon stocks is quantified by running the described modelling process forward from 1970 under two scenarios. In both scenarios, the same relative spatial allocation of regimes (combinations of crop or pasture species and management practice) is used from 1970 to 1990. From 1990 onwards, the relative spatial allocation of regimes is held constant at 1990 values in the first scenario. For the second scenario, the regimes are varied from 1991 onwards to reflect the temporal variations in regimes defined within the available data. The first scenario thus estimates the soil carbon stock that would have been attained with no change in management from that present in 1990; while the second scenario estimates the soil carbon stock attained when management changes over time are accounted for. The net impact of management since 1990 is then calculated as the difference in the soil organic carbon stock between the two scenarios.

Finland

Finland uses Yasso07 soil carbon model as a Tier 3 method to report carbon stock changes on forest and agricultural lands as well as in the cases of land use change (Statistics Finland 2017). Yasso07 is based on a few explicit assumptions on soil carbon cycling and these assumptions form a conceptual model further formulated into mathematical equations (Tuomi *et al.* 2011b; US EPA 2017). The model has four state variables based on the solubility of the organic material (acid-, water-, ethanol- and non-soluble and in addition, there is a humus pool that has the lowest decay rate.

The model is used in the NGHGI to generate annual C stock change rates per hectare based on regional estimates of organic matter input (forest and crop statistics) and annual climate parameters. Litter input is given in the four solubility fractions based on laboratory measurements. Organic matter decays in the five model fractions driven by temperature and precipitation. The resulting C stock change rates are applied on the respective land areas to produce regional estimates of C stock change. The model is used consistently across different land use categories so that e.g. the initial C allocation to different model compartments in forest land converted to cropland is based on the results of the simulation of forest soil remaining forest soil.

Model parameters rely on a large global database of measurements of litter decay, wood decay and soil carbon and all parameter values have been estimated using Markov chain Monte Carlo method. Alternative details in the model structure have been evaluated using Bayesian criteria (Tuomi *et al.* 2011a). The results of Yasso07 model are characterized by statistical probability distributions that represent uncertainty about the parameter values. The Yasso07 approach makes it possible and easy to add new data to the database and develop the model continuously (model-data-fusion). The model has been extensively tested against independent data on forest land (Dalsgaard *et al.* 2016; Lehtonen *et al.* 2016; Rantakari *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) and also on cropland (Karhu *et al.* 2012). Yasso07 is a standard component of Max Planck Institute Earth System Model (Goll *et al.* 2017) and the model is used for UNFCCC reporting in several countries (e.g. Austria, Benin, Czech Republic, Estonia, Ireland, Finland, Latvia, Norway, Romania and Switzerland), see Hernandez *et al.* (2017). The model is widely used because it is simple, transparent, verifiable, freely available and easy to apply. For more information, consult <u>http://en.ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/yasso.</u>

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

Japan

Japan uses a Tier 3 method to estimate soil organic C stock changes in agriculture land (cropland and managed grassland) based on RothC. RothC model is a soil carbon dynamic model validated by using long-term field experiments (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996). In order to apply the model to Japanese agricultural condition, the model was tested against long-term experimental data sets in Japanese agricultural lands. It was found that the original model could apply for non-volcanic upland soils without any modification or calibration (Shirato & Taniyama 2003), however, the model required modification for Andosols and paddy soils by taking unique mechanisms of soil C dynamics in these soils into account. For Andosols, the decomposition rate constant of the HUM (humified organic matter) pool of RothC was reduced because the presence of Al-humus complexes enhances its stability and resistance to decomposition (Shirato *et al.* 2004). For paddy soils, the decomposition rate constants of all four active C pools was reduced on the basis of differences in organic matter decomposition rates between upland and paddy (submerged in the rice growing season) soil conditions (Shirato & Yokozawa 2005). Model performance was verified by comparing the model output with measured soil C stock data under various climate condition, soil types and land uses.

The model is applied at the country scale (Yagasaki & Shirato 2014) using weather data (monthly average temperature, precipitation, and open-pan evaporation), soil property data (soil clay content, depth of surface soil, carbon content at the starting year, and bulk density), land use data and other activity data (carbon input from crop residue and organic manure) and calculated at each standard mesh (100 x 100m). The weather, soil property and land use data are available as spatially explicit data set, while carbon input from crop residue and organic manure are calculated by statistical data and survey data available based on public administration boundary basis. The all obtained data are allocated to each standard mesh and then run the model.

In the NGHGI, the model is used to generate average C stock change rates per hectare in each prefecture and in each sub-category (rice field, upland crop fields, orchards and managed grassland). This is because the land use data used for the model estimation (grid-based data set) and used for the official land classification in the NGHGI (statistical data) are not consistent very much and so Japan put its priority using a consistent land area data among every estimate relating to agriculture land in AFOLU sector. This is one of the key challenges of the model application to the NGHGI and the development of a standard spatially explicit land use data set is needed for the further improvement of estimations.

United States of America

The United States uses a Tier 3 method based on the DayCent Ecosystem Model to estimate soil C stock changes in cropland and grassland (Ogle *et al.* 2010, US EPA 2017). DayCent is a processbased model that simulated soil organic matter dynamics using a three-pool structure originally developed for the Century Model (Parton *et al.* 1998; Parton *et al.* 1987). Model testing and parameterisation of DayCent has been conducted across a wide range of cropland and grassland sites globally. For the inventory, the model is applied using land use data that are compiled through a national survey, National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser *et al.* 1998; Nusser & Goebel 1997). The NRI has a two-stage sample with recorded history, starting in 1979, for approximately 400,000 survey locations that are cropland or grassland throughout the conterminous United States. Each survey location that is identified as cropland also has the specific crop rotation histories that were grown by the farmer. Daily weather and soils data are needed to drive the model, and this information is based on national datasets. Remote sensing data is used to inform production estimates based on MODIS Enhanced Vegetation Index products. Other data are also incorporated into the analysis, such as N fertilization rate data compiled through surveys.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

One of the key challenges in developing a Tier 3 method is to robustly address uncertainties. Compilers in the United States have addressed uncertainties in model inputs (e.g., fertilization rates, tillage practices and organic amendments), model structure and parameterization, and propagate uncertainty through the model application using an Approach 2 method (i.e., Monte Carlo Analysis) (Ogle et al. 2010). Model structure and parameterization is addressed using an empirically-based method in which observed experimental data are compared to simulation results, and predictive ability of the model is quantified using statistical methods (Ogle et al. 2007). These experimental observations are independent from the data that are used to parameterise the model. The resulting statistical equation is applied to adjust for biases in model results, if needed, and address the precision of the model C stock changes. The major advantage of the Tier 3 method is that the results are much more precise than Tier 1 and 2 methods, with uncertainty ranging from $\pm 60\%$ in the Tier 1 method to about $\pm 20\%$ for the Tier 3 method (US-EPA 2017). The improved precision is due to the process-based framework in the DayCent model that incorporates more drivers of soil C stock changes than lower Tier methods. However, without adequate activity data or a model with sufficient prediction capability, a Tier 3 method could produce less precise results than lower-tier methods.

BOX 2.2E (NEW)

CONSIDERATION OF EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS WITHIN TIER 3 MODELLING APPROACHES

Process models that are used to estimate carbon stock changes over time, such as Century (Parton et al. 1987) and RothC (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996) can also be affected by changing soil bulk density by the nature of the carbon stock data used for model parameterisation. These types of models simulate the mass balance of organic carbon over time to a defined soil depth (e.g., 30 cm or an alternative). The models require initialisation at which point an initial carbon stock is determined along with an initial soil mass in some cases (although the soil mass is rarely determined explicitly, it is implicit in the model application). The models therefore use an equivalent soil mass approach to simulate changes in carbon stocks since the estimated carbon stocks are unaffected by concurrent soil bulk density changes. If the models are parameterised to carbon stocks on an equivalent mass basis, then the carbon stock changes estimated by the parametrised model, and for a factor derived from those modelled estimates, will be for soil carbon change on an equivalent mass basis. However, the carbon stock change calculated from carbon stock measurements for a fixed depth is the net effect of the effect of soil bulk density changes on carbon stocks and the effect of biochemical processes on carbon stocks. Therefore, when parameterised using fixed-depth carbon stock data, the model will be estimating the net effect of these processes, so the modelled carbon stock estimates only will be appropriate for the fixed depth and cannot address changes in mass of the soil over time. Careful consideration of the effects of model assumptions and choice of data used for model parametrisation and testing is required to understand and properly report the basis of the carbon stock changes that are estimated directly or indirectly by a model based on parameterisation with data from fixed depths.

Tier 3 methods can be used to model the loss of biochar C over time after its application to mineral soils and to account for GHG sources and sinks not captured in Tier 2, to address changes to N_2O or CH₄ fluxes from soils⁸, to estimate changes to net primary production (and associated C inputs to soil organic C pool), the mechanisms and effects underlying interactions with soil, climate and other environmental variables. Although positive priming of labile soil organic matter is not expected to have a significant impact in the long term (Annex 2A.2), negative priming leading to an increase in soil organic carbon stocks could have a substantial impact in soils amended with biochar (Woolf *et al.* 2012). Similarly, to the extent that there are reductions in net emissions of N_2O and CH₄ from soil and increases in plant growth, there could be a larger impact of biochar additions on reducing greenhouse gas emissions (Gaunt & Lehmann 2008; Woolf *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011). It is also important to recognise

⁸ Impacts of biochar amendments on N₂O are estimated in the methods for soil N₂O emissions (Chapter 11), and impacts on CH₄ emissions are estimated from specific land uses in the inventory, such as Rice Cultivation (Chapter 5) and Wetlands (Chapter 7).

that the dynamic nature of biochar decomposition is important because its net impact on soil C stocks and GHG emissions varies with time, which can be better addressed with a Tier 3 model.

Examples of advanced modelling approaches include representing the dynamic impact of biochar decomposition over long time scales (Lenton & Vaughan 2009), and process-based modelling using biochar-specific LCA models (e.g. Roberts *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011; Shackley *et al.* 2012; Sparrevik *et al.* 2013). There are also applications that have focused on soil greenhouse gas emission balances, together with modelling of decomposition rates (H/C_{org} ratio; Lehmann *et al.* 2015) and priming (Woolf & Lehmann, 2012; Wang *et al.* 2016). In addition, models have been used to simulate nitrous oxide reductions (Cayuela *et al.* 2013, 2014) as a function of H/C_{org} ratio (Cayuela *et al.* 2015) and feedbacks to primary plant productivity (Jeffery *et al.* 2011, 2015) and associated impacts on SOC stocks (Whitman *et al.* 2010, 2011).

Organic soils

No Refinement. See Chapter 2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No Refinement.

2.4 NON-CO₂ EMISSIONS

There are significant emissions of non-greenhouse gases from biomass burning, livestock and manure management, or soils. N_2O emissions from soils are covered in Chapter 11, where guidance is given on methods that can be applied nationally (i.e., irrespective of land-use types) if a country chooses to use national scale activity data. The guidance on CH₄ and N₂O emissions from livestock and manure are addressed only in Chapter 10 because emissions do not depend on land characteristics. A generic approach to estimating greenhouse gas emissions from fire (both CO₂ and non-CO₂ gases) is described below, with land-use specific enhancements given in the Forest Land, Grassland and Cropland chapters. It is *good practice* to check for complete coverage of CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions due to losses in carbon stocks and pools to avoid omissions or double counting.

Emissions from fire include not only CO₂, but also other greenhouse gases, or precursors of greenhouse gases, that originate from incomplete combustion of the fuel. These include carbon monoxide (CO), methane (CH₄), non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOC) and nitrogen (e.g., N₂O, NO_x) species (Levine, 1994). In the *1996 IPCC Guidelines* and *GPG2000*, non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions from fire in savannas and burning of crop residues were addressed along with emissions from Forest Land and Grassland conversion. The methodology differed somewhat by vegetation type, and fires in Forest Land were not included. In the *GPG-LULUCF*, emissions (CO₂ and non-CO₂) from fires were addressed, particularly in the chapter covering Forest Land (losses of carbon resulting from disturbances). In the Cropland and Grassland chapters, only non-CO₂ emissions were considered, with the assumption that the CO₂ emissions would be counterbalanced by CO₂ removals from the subsequent regrowth of the vegetation within one year. This assumption implies maintenance of soil fertility – an assumption which countries may ignore if they have evidence of fertility decline due to fire. In Forest Land, there is generally a lack of synchrony (non-equivalence of CO₂ emissions and removals in the year of reporting).

These Guidelines provide a more generic approach for estimating emissions from fire. Fire is treated as a disturbance that affects not only the biomass (in particular, above-ground), but also the dead organic matter (litter and dead wood). The term `biomass burning` is widely used and is retained in these Guidelines but acknowledging that fuel components other than live biomass are often very significant, especially in forest systems. For Cropland and Grassland having little woody vegetation, reference is usually made to biomass burning, since biomass is the main pool affected by the fire.

Countries should apply the following principles when estimating greenhouse gas emissions resulting from fires in Forest Land, Cropland and Grassland:

- Coverage of reporting: Emissions (CO₂ and non- CO₂) need to be reported for all fires (prescribed fires and wildfires) on managed lands (the exception is CO₂ from Grassland, as discussed below). Where there is a land-use change, any greenhouse gas emission from fire should be reported under the new land-use category (transitional category). Emissions from wildfires (and escaped prescribed fires) that occur on unmanaged lands do not need to be reported, unless those lands are followed by a land-use change (i.e., become managed land).
- Fire as a management tool (prescribed burning): greenhouse gas emissions from the area burnt are reported, and if the fire affects unmanaged land, greenhouse gas emissions should also be reported if the fire is followed by a land-use change.
- Equivalence (synchrony) of CO₂ emissions and removals: CO₂ net emissions should be reported where the CO₂ emissions and removals for the biomass pool are not equivalent in the inventory year. For grassland
biomass burning and burning of agriculture residues, the assumption of equivalence is generally reasonable. However, woody vegetation may also burn in these land categories, and greenhouse gas emissions from those sources should be reported using a higher Tier method. Further, in many parts of the world, grazing is the predominant land use in Forest Land that are regularly burnt (e.g., grazed woodlands and savannas), and care must be taken before assuming synchrony in such systems. For Forest Land, synchrony is unlikely if significant woody biomass is killed (i.e., losses represent several years of growth and C accumulation), and the net emissions should be reported. Examples include: clearing of native forest and conversion to agriculture and/or plantations and wildfires in Forest Land.

- Fuels available for combustion: Factors that reduce the amount of fuels available for combustion (e.g., from grazing, decay, removal of biofuels, livestock feed, etc.) should be accounted for. A mass balance approach should be adopted to account for residues, to avoid underestimation or double counting (refer to Section 2.3.2).
- Annual reporting: despite the large inherent spatial and temporal variability of fire (in particular that from wildfires), countries should estimate and report greenhouse gas emissions from fire on an annual basis.

These Guidelines provide a comprehensive approach for estimating carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions resulting from fire in the Forest Land (including those resulting from forest conversion), and non-CO₂ emissions in the Cropland and Grassland. Non-CO₂ emissions are addressed for the following five types of burning: (1) grassland burning (which includes perennial woody shrubland and savanna burning); (2) agricultural residues burning; (3) burning of litter, understory and harvest residues in Forest Land, (4) burning following forest clearing and conversion to agriculture; and (5) other types of burning (including those resulting from wildfires). Direct emissions of CO₂ are also addressed for items (3) and (4) and (5). Since estimating emissions in these different categories have many elements in common, this section provides a generic approach to estimate CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions from fire, to avoid repetition in specific land-use sections that address emissions from fire in these Guidelines.

Prescribed burning of savannas is included under the grassland biomass burning section (Chapter 6, Grassland, Section 6.3.4). It is important to avoid double counting when estimating greenhouse gas emissions from savannas that have a vegetation physiognomy characteristic of Forest Land. An example of this is the cerradão (dense woodland) formation in Brazil which, although being a type of savanna, is included under Forest Land, due to its biophysical characteristics.

In addition to the greenhouse gas emissions from combustion, fires may lead to the creation of an inert carbon stock (charcoal or char). Post-fire residues comprise unburned and partially burnt components, as well as a small amount of char that due to its chemical nature is highly resistant to decomposition. The knowledge of the rates of char formation under contrasting burning conditions and subsequent turnover rates is currently too limited (Forbes *et al.*, 2006; Preston and Schmidt, 2006) to allow development of a reliable methodology for inventory purposes, and hence is not included in these Guidelines. A technical basis for further methodological development is included in Appendix 1.

Additionally, although emissions of NMVOC also occur as a result of fire, they are not addressed in the present Guidelines due to the paucity of the data and size of uncertainties in many of the key parameters needed for the estimation, which prevent the development of reliable emission estimates.

METHOD DESCRIPTION

Each relevant section in these Guidelines includes a three-tiered approach to address CO_2 (where applicable) and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. The choice of Tier can be made following the steps in the decision tree presented in Figure 2.6. Under the Tier 1 approach, the formulation presented in Equation 2.27 can be applied to estimate CO_2 and non- CO_2 emissions from fire, using the default data provided in this chapter and in the relevant land-use sections of these Guidelines. Higher Tiers involve a more refined application of Equation 2.27.

Since Tier 1 methodology adopts a simplified approach to estimating the dead organic matter pool (see Section 2.3.2), certain assumptions must be made when estimating net greenhouse gas emissions from fire in those systems (e.g. Forest Land, and Forest Land converted to another land use), where dead organic matter can be a major component of the fuel burnt. Emissions of CO_2 from dead organic matter are assumed to be zero in forests that are burnt, but not killed by fire. If the fire is of sufficient intensity to kill a portion of the forest stand, under Tier 1 methodology, the C contained in the killed biomass is assumed to be immediately released to the atmosphere. This Tier 1 simplification may result in an overestimation of actual emissions in the year of the fire, if the amount of biomass carbon killed by the fire is greater than the amount of dead wood and litter carbon consumed by the fire.

Non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions are estimated for all fire situations. Under Tier 1, non-CO₂ emissions are best estimated using the actual fuel consumption provided in Table 2.7, and appropriate emission factors (Table 2.8) (i.e., not including newly killed biomass as a component of the fuel consumed). Clearly, if fire in forests contributes significantly to net greenhouse gas emissions, countries are encouraged to develop a more complete methodology

(higher tiers) which includes the dynamics of dead organic matter and improves the estimates of direct and postfire emissions.

For Forest Land converted to other land uses, organic matter burnt is derived from both newly felled vegetation and existing dead organic matter, and CO_2 emissions should be reported. In this situation, estimates of total fuel consumed (Table 2.6) can be used to estimate emissions of CO_2 and non- greenhouse gases using Equation 2.27. Care must be taken, however, to ensure that dead organic matter carbon losses during the land-use conversion are not double counted in Equations 2.27 (as losses from burning) and Equation 2.23 (as losses from decay).

A generic methodology to estimate the emissions of individual greenhouse gases for any type of fire is summarised in Equation 2.27.

EQUATION 2.27 ESTIMATION OF GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS FROM FIRE

 $L_{fire} = A \bullet M_B \bullet C_f \bullet G_{ef} \bullet 10^{-3}$

Where:

- L_{fire} = amount of greenhouse gas emissions from fire, tonnes of each GHG e.g., CH₄, N₂O, etc.
- A = area burnt, ha
- M_B = mass of fuel available for combustion, tonnes ha⁻¹. This includes biomass, ground litter and dead wood. When Tier 1 methods are used then litter and dead wood pools are assumed zero, except where there is a land-use change (see Section 2.3.2.2).
- C_f = combustion factor, dimensionless (default values in Table 2.6)
- G_{ef} = emission factor, g kg⁻¹ dry matter burnt (default values in Table 2.5)

Note. Where data for M_B and C_f are not available, a default value for the amount of fuel actually burnt (the product of M_B and C_f) can be used (Table 2.4) under Tier 1 methodology.

For CO_2 emissions, Equation 2.27 relates to Equation 2.14, which estimates the annual amount of live biomass loss from any type of disturbance.

The amount of fuel that can be burnt is given by the area burnt and the density of fuel present on that area. The fuel density can include biomass, dead wood and litter, which vary as a function of the type, age and condition of the vegetation. The type of fire also affects the amount of fuel available for combustion. For example, fuel available for low-intensity ground fires in forests will be largely restricted to litter and dead organic matter on the surface, while a higher-intensity 'crown fire' can also consume substantial amounts of tree biomass.

The combustion factor is a measure of the proportion of the fuel that is actually combusted, which varies as a function of the size and architecture of the fuel load (i.e., a smaller proportion of large, coarse fuel such as tree stems will be burnt compared to fine fuels, such as grass leaves), the moisture content of the fuel and the type of fire (i.e., intensity and rate of spread which is markedly affected by climatic variability and regional differences as reflected in Table 2.4). Finally, the emission factor gives the amount of a particular greenhouse gas emitted per unit of dry matter combusted, which can vary as a function of the carbon content of the biomass and the completeness of combustion. For species with high N concentrations, NO_x and N_2O emissions from fire can vary as a function of the N content of the fuel. A comprehensive review of emission factors was conducted by Andreae and Merlet (2001) and is summarised in Table 2.5.

Tier 2 methods employ the same general approach as Tier 1 but make use of more refined country-derived emission factors and/or more refined estimates of fuel densities and combustion factors than those provided in the default tables. Tier 3 methods are more comprehensive and include considerations of the dynamics of fuels (biomass and dead organic matter).





Note:

1. See Volume 1 Chapter 4, Methodological Choice and Identification of Key Categories (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees.

FUEL (DEAD ORGANIC MATTH	TABLE 2.4 (UPDATED) ER PLUS LIVE BIOMASS) BIOMASS CONSUMPTION V FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPE	VALUES (TO ES	ONNES D	RY MATTER HA ⁻¹) FOR
(To be used in Equat	ion 2.27, to estimate the product of quantities 'M	в • С _f ', i.e.	., an abs	olute amount)
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SE	References
	Primary tropical forest	83.9	25.8	7, 15, 66, 3, 16, 17, 45
Primary tropical forest (slash	Primary open tropical forest	163.6	52.1	21,
and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	160.4	11.8	37, 73
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66
All primary tropical forests		119.6	50.7	
	Young secondary tropical forest (3-5 yrs)	8.1	-	61
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	41.1	27.4	61, 35
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	46.4	8.0	61, 73
All secondary tropical forests		42.2	23.6	66, 30
All Tertiary tropical forest		54.1	-	66, 30
	Wildfire (general)	52.8	48.4	2, 33, 66
Boreal forest	Crown fire	25.1	7.9	11, 43, 66, 41, 63, 64
	Surface fire	21.6	25.1	43, 69, 66, 63, 64, 1
	Post logging slash burn	69.6	44.8	49, 40, 66, 18
	Land clearing fire	87.5	35.0	10, 67
All boreal forest		41.0	36.5	43, 45, 69, 47
	Wildfire	53.0	53.6	66, 32, 9
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	16.0	13.7	66, 72, 54, 60, 9
Eucalypt forests	Post logging slash burn	168.4	168. 8	25, 58, 46
	Felled, wood removed, and burned (land- clearing fire)	132.6	-	62, 9
All Eucalypt forests		69.4	100.	
	Wildfire	19.8	6.3	32, 66
Other temperate forests	Post logging slash burn	77.5	65.0	55, 19, 14, 27, 66
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	48.4	62.7	53, 24, 71
All "other" temperate forests		50.4	53.7	43, 56
	Shrubland (general)	26.7	4.2	43
Shruhlands	Calluna heath	11.5	4.3	26, 39
Sin utranus	Sagebrush	5.7	3.8	66
	Fynbos	12.9	0.1	70, 66
All Shrublands		14.3	9.0	

FUEL (DEAD ORGANIC MATTE	TABLE 2.4 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED CR PLUS LIVE BIOMASS) BIOMASS CONSUMPTION FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYP) VALUES (TO PES	ONNES I	DRY MATTER HA ⁻¹) FOR
Vegetation type	Subsectorery	Mon	, an aos	Bafaranaas
vegetation type	Subcategory		SE	References
Savanna woodlands (early dry	Savanna woodland	2.5	-	28
season burns)*	Savanna parkland	2.7	-	57
All savanna woodlands (early	dry season burns)	2.6	0.1	
	Savanna woodland 3.3		-	57
Savanna woodlands (mid/late	Savanna parkland	4.0	1.1	57, 6, 51
dry season burns)*	Tropical savanna	6	1.8	52, 73
	Other savanna woodlands	5.3	1.7	59, 57, 31
All savanna woodlands (mid/l	ate dry season burns)*	4.6	1.5	
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (early dry season burns)*	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	2.1	-	28
	Grassland	-	-	48
All savanna grasslands (early	dry season burns)*	2.1	-	
	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	5.2	1.7	9, 73, 12, 57
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures	Grassland	4.1	3.1	43, 9
(mid/late dry season burns)*	Tropical pasture~	23.7	11.8	4, 23, 38, 66
	Savanna	7.0	2.7	42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 65
All savanna grasslands (mid/la	ate dry season burns)*	10.0	10.1	
Other sector time to man	Peatland	41	1.4	68, 33
Other vegetation types	Tundra	10	-	33
Agricultural residues (post- harvest field burning)	$M_B = AGR_{(T)} \ x \ Frac_{Brunt(T)}$			See Equation 11.6 in Chapter 11, Volume 4 for AGR _(T) calculation
* Surface layer combustion only ~ Derived from slashed tropical for ^a For sugarcane, data refer to burnin ^b Expert assessment by authors.	est (includes unburned woody material) ng before harvest of the crop.			

TABLE 2.5 EMISSION FACTORS (g kg ⁻¹ DRY MATTER BURNT) FOR VARIOUS TYPES OF BURNING. VALUES ARE MEANS ± SD AND ARE BASED ON THE COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW BY ANDREAE AND MERLET (2001) (To be used as quantity 'Get' in Equation 2.27)					
Category	CO ₂	СО	CH4	N ₂ O	NO _X
Savanna and grassland	1613 ± 95	65 ± 20	2.3 ± 0.9	0.21 ± 0.10	3.9 ± 2.4
Agricultural residues	1515 ± 177	92 ± 84	2.7	0.07	2.5 ± 1.0
Tropical forest	1580 ± 90	104 ± 20	6.8 ± 2.0	0.20	1.6 ± 0.7
Extra tropical forest	1569 ± 131	107 ± 37	4.7 ± 1.9	0.26 ±0.07	3.0 ± 1.4
Biofuel burning	1550 ±95	78 ± 31	6.1 ± 2.2	0.06	$\begin{array}{c} 1.1 \\ \pm 0.6 \end{array}$

Note: The "extra tropical forest' category includes all other forest types.

Note: For combustion of non-woody biomass in Grassland and Cropland, CO_2 emissions do not need to be estimated and reported, because it is assumed that annual CO_2 removals (through growth) and emissions (whether by decay or fire) by biomass are in balance (see earlier discussion on synchrony in Section 2.4.

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity Cf in Equation 2.27)				
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References
	Primary tropical forest	0.32	0.12	7, 8, 15, 56, 66, 3, 16, 53, 17, 45,
Primary tropical forest	Primary open tropical forest	0.45	0.09	21
(slash and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	0.50	0.03	37, 73
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66
All primary tropical fores	ts	0.36	0.13	
	Young secondary tropical forest (3- 5 yrs)	0.46	-	61
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	0.67	0.21	61, 35
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	0.50	0.10	61, 73
All secondary tropical for	ests	0.55	0.06	56, 66, 34, 30
All tertiary tropical forest		0.59	-	66, 30
	Wildfire (general)	0.40	0.06	33
	Crown fire	0.43	0.21	66, 41, 64, 63
Boreal forest	surface fire	0.15	0.08	64, 63
	Post logging slash burn	0.33	0.13	49, 40, 18
	Land clearing fire	0.59	-	67
All boreal forest		0.34	0.17	45, 47
	Wildfire	-	-	
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	0.61	0.11	72, 54, 60, 9
Eucalyptus forests	Post logging slash burn	0.68	0.14	25, 58, 46
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.49	-	62
All Eucalyptus forests		0.63	0.13	
	Post logging slash burn	0.62	0.12	55, 19, 27, 14
Other temperate forests	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.51	-	53, 24, 71
All "other" temperate for	ests	0.45	0.16	53, 56

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity C _f in Equation 2.27)					
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References	
	Shrubland (general)	0.95	-	44	
Shrublands	Calluna heath	0.71	0.30	26, 56, 39	
	Fynbos	0.61	0.16	70, 44	
All shrublands	•	0.72	0.25		
	Savanna woodland	0.22	-	28	
Savanna woodlands (early dry season burns)*	Savanna parkland	0.73	-	57	
	Other savanna woodlands	0.37	0.19	22, 29	
All savanna woodlands (ea	rly dry season burns)	0.40	0.22		
	Savanna woodland	0.72	-	66, 57	
Savanna woodlands (mid/late dry season burns)*	Savanna parkland	0.82	0.07	57, 6, 51	
	Tropical savanna	0.73	0.04	52, 73, 66, 12	
	Other savanna woodlands	0.68	0.19	22, 29, 44, 31, 57	
All savanna woodlands (m	id/late dry season burns)*	0.74	0.14		
Savanna Grasslands/	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.74	-	28	
Pastures (early dry season burns)*	Grassland	-	-	48	
All savanna grasslands (ea	rly dry season burns)*	0.74	-		
	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.92	0.11	44, 73, 66, 12, 57	
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (mid/late dry	Tropical pasture~	0.35	0.21	4, 23, 38, 66	
season burns)*	Savanna	0.86	0.12	53, 5, 56, 42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 44, 65, 66	
All savanna grasslands (m	id/late dry season burns)*	0.77	0.26		
Other vegetation types	Peatland	0.50	-	20, 44	
Other vegetation types	Tropical Wetlands	0.70	-	44	
	Wheat residues	0.90	-	see Note b	
	Maize residues	0.80	-	see Note b	
(Post-harvest field	Rice residues	0.80	-	see Note b	
burning)	Sugarcane a	0.80	-	see Note b	
	Other Crops	0.85	-	see Note b	
* Surface layer combustion only refer to burning before harvest	y; [~] Derived from slashed tropical forest (of the crop; ^b Expert assessment by author	includes unburned	woody materia	l); ^a For sugarcane, data	

2.5 ADDITIONAL GENERIC GUIDANCE FOR TIER 3 METHODS

Tier 3 inventories are advanced systems using measurements and/or modelling, with the goal of improving the estimation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and removals, beyond what is possible with Tier 1 or 2 methods.

In this section, guidelines are elaborated that provide a sound scientific basis for the development of Tier 3 Inventories in the AFOLU sector. These guidelines do not limit the selection of Tier 3 sampling schemes or modelling methods but provide general guidance to assist the inventory developer in their implementation. AFOLU inventory compilers are advised to read this section in conjunction with general guidance for Tier 3 methods relevant to all sectors found in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

2.5.1 Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories

Inventories can be based on direct measurements from which emissions and removals of carbon are estimated. Purely measurement-based inventories, e.g., based on repeated measurements using a national forest inventory or similar estimation methods can produce carbon stock change estimates but still rely on appropriate statistical models, such as allometric models or volume and wood density functions. Inventories using measurement-based methods also need to select appropriate statistical sampling estimators to produce a national inventory from the plot estimates. Moreover, inventory plot remeasurements will typically require additional data or methods to arrive at estimates of GHG emissions from disturbance events, in particular for non-CO₂ GHG. Measurement of non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions is possible, but because of the high spatial and temporal variability, Tier 3 methods for estimating non-CO₂ emissions typically use a combination of models (see Section 2.5.2) and measurements.

Many countries using a measurement-based Tier 3 method will already have well established national inventories. Typically, these inventories have been established for purposes other than collecting data for estimating carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions (e.g., National Forest Inventories for timber resource assessments or soil resource mapping for agricultural planning). In general, the following six steps should be considered when implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory.

Step 1. Develop a sampling scheme, including sample unit (plot) design and measurements to be collected.

Sampling schemes can be developed using a variety of methods such as simple random, stratified random, systematic or model-based sampling. When designing a sampling scheme, countries often also consider factors such as spatial variability and temporal dynamics of carbon stocks, key environmental variables (e.g., climate) and management systems (e.g., harvested forest land, grazed grassland).

When using a repeated measurement design, the timing of re-measurement may be influenced by the rate of change experienced. For example, re-measurement periods in boreal and some temperate regions, where trees grow slowly and DOM pools change little in single years, can be longer than in environments where carbon dynamics are more rapid. When implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory, the inventory compiler should take into consideration that it will not be possible to estimate emissions and removals using the stock-difference method until a minimum of two measurement cycles have been conducted (often 10 years or longer in total).

Some sampling schemes do not include re-sampling of the same sites (e.g., temporary inventory plot designs). Such designs may limit the statistical power of the analysis when estimating change, and therefore lead to greater uncertainty in estimates of carbon stock change. Repeated measurement designs with permanent plot locations typically provide a better basis for estimating carbon stock changes or emissions. The utility of permanent plots is often greater if they are accurately georeferenced to facilitate the use of spatial auxiliary variables, such as from remote sensing (GFOI, 2016).

For some carbon pools, such as soil carbon, litter and woody debris, it is not necessarily possible to remeasure the same material through time (i.e., if taking a soil core, that soil has been removed from the site and cannot be remeasured, unlike measuring the same trees through time). However, multiple samples can be taken at each time step to capture local site scale heterogeneity in the carbon stock and detect changes over time with each re-sampling of a site (Ellert et al., 2002, Conant et al., 2003). Where countries use direct measurement methods for soil C, the sampling design needs to ensure that a sufficient number of samples are taken at each measurement time for estimating stock change (Spencer et al., 2011).

Inventory and plot designs should consider the practicality of implementation given country circumstances (e.g., terrain, access, safety, vegetation type). The types and number of measurements will depend on the plot design, the underlying population of carbon pools to be reported and the data requirements of methods adopted to estimate carbon stocks and stock changes from the plot data.

It is *good practice* to develop a methodology handbook (e.g., Canadian Forest Service, 2008; US Forest Service, 2006) explaining the entire sampling scheme as part of Step 1. This handbook can be useful for those involved with the measurements, laboratory analyses and other aspects of the process, as well as possibly providing supporting material for documentation purposes. The handbook should document the plot design, in particular how plots are to be located and, in the case of repeated measurement designs, re-located for future measurements (Vidal et al., 2016).

Step 2. Select sample sites.

Specific sampling sites will be located based on sampling design. It is *good practice* to have an appropriate process in place for selecting alternative sites in case it is not possible to sample some original locations. In a repeated measurement design, the sites will become a monitoring network that is periodically re-sampled.

Determining sampling locations will likely involve the use of a geographic information system. A geographic database may include information on land use and land-use changes (i.e., activity data) as well as a variety of environmental and management data, such as climate, soils, land use, and livestock operations, depending on the source category and stratification. If key geographic data are not available at the national scale, or are spatially inconsistent, the inventory developer may either 1) re-evaluate the design and stratification (if used) in Step 1 and possibly modify the sampling design or 2) re-develop the geographic data to meet the inventory requirements.

Normally the sampling intensity should be the same within a stratum but not necessarily between strata. However, where the stratification is based on land use and is updated for each inventory, changes in land use between measurement periods can complicate the estimation of changes in carbon stocks over time. As such, it is *good practice* to use stratification methods that do not lead to bias or time-series inconsistencies due to changes in land use.

Sampling may require coordination among different national ministries, provincial or state governments, corporate and private land owners. Establishing relationships among these stakeholders can be undertaken before collecting initial samples. Informing stakeholders about ongoing monitoring may also be helpful and lead to greater success in implementing monitoring programs.

Step 3. Collect initial samples.

Once the plot locations have been determined, a measurement team can visit those locations, establish plots and collect initial measurements and samples. It is helpful to take geographic coordinates of plot locations or sample points with a global positioning system (GPS) to help relocate them later, noting that GPS readings are often not accurate enough to relocate the exact plot location, especially under dense forest canopies. As such, if repeated measurements are planned, it is *good practice* to permanently mark the location for ease of finding and re-sampling the site in the future. Where possible these markers should not be visible to the land owner (e.g., utility ball markers that can be buried in the soil and re-located precisely over time).

It is *good practice* to take relevant measurements and notes of the environmental conditions and management at the site. This will confirm that the conditions were consistent with the design of the sampling scheme, and also may be used in data analysis (Step 5). If a stratified sampling approach is used, and it becomes apparent that many or most sites are not consistent with the expected environmental conditions and management systems, it is *good practice* to repeat Step 1, re-evaluating and possibly modifying the sampling scheme based on the new information.

Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.

For repeated measurement designs, sampling sites will be periodically re-sampled with the time between remeasurement dependant on the rate of stock changes or the variability in emissions, the resources available for the monitoring program, and the design of the sampling scheme. It is *good practice* to avoid any impact of measurement techniques on C stocks and their dynamics (i.e. no destructive sampling) where permanent sample plots are used.

If destructive sampling is involved, such as removing a soil core or dead organic matter sample, it is *good practice* to re-sample at the same site but not at the exact location in which the sample was removed during the past. Destructive sampling the exact location is likely to create bias in the measurements. Such biases would compromise the monitoring and produce results that are not representative of national trends. When destructive sampling of trees is undertaken, for example to develop or validate allometric equations, the samples are usually taken from locations or species that are considered representative of the trees in the plots.

Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes/non-CO₂ emissions, and infer national emissions and removal estimates and their uncertainty.

A well-designed sampling scheme will provide an unbiased estimate and variance for the measured quantities (See Volume I, Chapter 3 for more information). The overall result of the statistical analysis will be estimates of carbon stock changes or measurements of emissions from which the national emission and removal estimates can be derived.

To derive estimates of carbon stock changes or emissions from measurements collected on the plots typically requires the use of models that relate these measurements to carbon stocks. The types of models and the uncertainty associated with them vary depending on measurements taken and the carbon pools being estimated. Examples of these models include allometric equations for estimating tree and deadwood biomass, root:shoot ratios for estimating belowground biomass (Mokany et al., 2006) and the use of spectral signatures to estimate soil carbon (Baldock et al., 2013).

When estimating uncertainty for carbon stock changes and/or emissions it is *good practice* to include all relevant sources of uncertainty, including the sampling scheme, plot measurements and model parameters and structure and laboratory processing methods (see discussion for each source category later in this volume in addition to the uncertainty chapter in Volume 1). Overall uncertainty can be reduced by increasing the sampling intensity, using additional strata or covariates to explain more of the variance or improving the models. Model uncertainty may be relatively small, at least in situations with well-developed models calibrated for national situations, or relatively large where global models are applied.

To obtain national estimates of carbon stock changes or emission of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases, it may be necessary to interpolate or extrapolate measurements using spatial statistical analyses and models that take into consideration environmental conditions, management and other activity data. Such models are necessary because of the expense and difficulty in obtaining a sufficient sampling intensity to infer C stock changes or emissions directly from the survey sample. For example, CH₄ and N₂O emissions from forest fires are typically inferred from data on the area burnt, and fuel consumption estimates derived from specific case studies. In a similar fashion, soil N₂O emissions could be readily estimated using chambers, but this can be very expensive to establish a network with the sampling intensity needed to provide national emission estimates based solely on measurements without use of models for extrapolation. Alternatively, compilers may use a model-based approach in these cases, which is informed by the limited sample of C stock or emission measurements (See Section 2.1.2).

It is *good practice* to analyse emissions relative to environmental conditions in addition to the contribution of various management practices to those trends. Interpretation of the patterns will be useful in evaluating possibilities for future mitigation.

Step 6. Reporting and Documentation.

It is good practice to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes.

Documentation typically includes a description of the sampling scheme and statistical methods, sampling schedule (including re-sampling), stock change and emissions estimates and the interpretation of emission trends (e.g., contributions of management activities). In addition, QA/QC should be completed and documented in the report. For details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the section dealing with the specific source category later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

When developing/collating documentation for reporting Tier 3 measurement-based methods it is good practice to:

- describe the sampling design and/or measurements;
- describe any changes in the design or measurements through time and how these changes are addressed to ensure time series consistency in carbon stocks or emissions;
- describe the models used to calculate carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions from the measurements, including the uncertainty;
- describe how area estimates are derived from the survey, such as a national forest inventory, and harmonized with land representation data for other land-uses;
- discuss the influence of time periods between measurement cycles on estimated C stock changes or emission estimates, and how this impact is incorporated into the uncertainty analysis; and
- document, if applicable, how Tier 3 measurement methods are applied consistently with Tier 2 or Tier 3 model-based methods to prevent errors of omission or commission in reported carbon stock changes or emissions for the entire spatial and temporal domain of the country.

TABLE 2. Examples of documentation to assemble in suppor based in	6A (NEW) it of transparent reporting of Tier 3 measurement /entories
Step 1. Develop sampling scheme, including sample size and design and measurements to be collected.	A description of the sampling scheme including size and design and measurements to be collected Reason for adopting the selected sampling scheme
Step 2. Select sample sites.	Description of the process for selecting sample sites and processes for dealing with exclusions/replacements
Step 3. Collect initial samples.	Sample collection and quality assurance / quality control protocols.
Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.	Description of re-sampling strategy and reasoning for adopted resampling period
Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes and other sources of emissions, and infer national emissions and removals estimates and measures of uncertainty.	Data processing and quality assurance / quality control protocols including how adopted re-sampling period is handled when making carbon stock change estimates and their associated uncertainty.
Step 6. Reporting and Documentation	All of the above material summarised into a report for third party review.

2.5.2 Model-based Tier 3 inventories

Model-based Tier 3 inventories are developed using empirical (e.g. forest growth curves that represent carbon stock increase with tree age.), process-based (e.g. model representation of underlying physiological, biophysical, and management processes that drive carbon dynamics in ecosystems), hybrid (e.g. the development of forest growth curves from empirical data combined with a process model calibrated from research data on dead organic matter dynamics) and/or other types of models. Just as Tier 3 measurement-based methods typically also require models to estimate carbon stock changes (see Section 2.1.1), Tier 3 model-based inventories require measurements to calibrate and validate the models used to estimate carbon stock changes.

It is unlikely that one single model will be suitable for estimating emissions and removals for all carbon pools and non- CO_2 gases across all land uses, land-use changes and management actions. Therefore, inventory compilers will need to select a suite of different models to develop estimates of interest. In many cases existing models need to be adapted, coupled and/or integrated to provide a complete estimate of emissions and removals in the source categories of interest.

When selecting a model, it is important to consider how it will be used and interact with other models. This is particularly important when using Tier 3 mass-balance models in combination with Tier 1 or 2 emissions factors (e.g. if different soil carbon models or methods are used for different land-uses, how will the carbon pools be transferred between them in the case of land-use change). If changes in modelling methods within the reporting time series occur adequate steps should be taken to ensure time series consistency.

Models may be run individually for different land uses and carbon pools and the results combined or brought together in a single framework using coupling and integration techniques. Individual model simulations are typically used where multiple agencies are responsible for developing different parts of the inventory (e.g., the forest agency responsible for forest lands, the agriculture agency responsible for cropland and grassland).

Coupling different models is a convenient strategy for addressing effects with different time and space scales. In contrast, model integration links different modelling approaches to elucidate the complex dimension of time and space dynamics (Panichelli & Gnansounou, 2015), helping ensure consistency in land representation, carbon pools and input variables (Brack et al., 2006). Integration frameworks can also help organize data and estimation methods at any level of methodological complexity and facilitate the systematic progression from simpler to more complex methods (GFOI, 2016).

In all cases, models used in Tier 3 methods ensure higher accuracy only when they are correctly implemented and capable of representing the population of interest. In general, the following seven steps are used to correctly implement a Tier 3 model-based inventory (see also Figure 1, Volume 1, Chapter 6, Section 2.4).

Step 1. Model selection or development

Inventory compilers can choose from a wide range of model types depending on reporting needs, data availability and capacity. As part of model selection or development, it is *good practice* to consider if the model/s:

• adequately represent the range of land uses, ecosystems and management practices in the region or country;

- allow for the quantification of uncertainty;
- reduce uncertainty relative to other available methods (e.g., Tier 1 methods) or estimates are improved in other ways (e.g., more complete coverage of carbon pools or lands);
- can be run and maintained in an operational context with available time and resources (e.g., input data is readily available, staff have sufficient experience and knowledge, suitable compute infrastructure is available);
- produce outputs that can be used for reporting emissions and removals by relevant land-use categories;
- produce time-series consistent results;
- are compatible with other existing models used in the inventory; and
- are well documented and tested.

Multiple models will likely be selected as potentially suitable as part of Step 1. These models can then be tested prior to implementation using steps 2 and 3 below. Therefore, before moving to Step 2, at least a sub-set of the input data required to run the model should be collected or collated, including input variables (such as forest species or type, climate, soil characteristics), and any existing parameters and data required for further model calibration and evaluation. In some cases, input data may be a limiting factor in model selection or development, requiring some models to be discarded or modified to accommodate the available activity and/or environmental data.

Step 2. Model Calibration

Model calibration (i.e. parameterisation) is the process of selecting or adjusting model parameters to obtain results that best represent the processes of interest in the region (and time period) for which the model will be applied. The model calibration procedure readies a model for its further use in analyses. For example, replacing default growth curves with those specific to the tree species or site conditions to which the model will be applied or replacing climate averages with regional climate data are examples of model parameterisation.

Calibration data should represent the population. In practice, this does not mean that all environmental conditions are covered, but that the calibration data includes a range of the conditions existing the country that is representative of national circumstances.

Model sensitivity analyses may be used to determine the most important parameters for calibration. In a sensitivity analysis, parameter values are varied through a series of simulations to determine the associated change in model output. The parameters are ranked from most to least sensitive based on the level of change in model output. Some techniques also incorporate measurements into the sensitivity analysis (Sobol, 2001). The most sensitive parameters are typically calibrated to improve the agreement between modelled and measured carbon stocks, stock changes or non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions.

There are multiple methods for calibrating models. Simpler empirical models (e.g., empirical forest growth models based on forest age or site indices) are commonly developed by fitting functions to data on carbon stocks or stock changes using standard statistical methods and software. More advanced models (e.g., hybrid or process-based models) typically have numerous, interrelated parameters. For these models calibration is often completed using parameter optimisation methods that vary the model parameters within known ranges to best match known results (e.g., carbon stocks). There are several methods for doing this, including generic algorithms, machine learning and Bayesian. The methods may also be used to propagate error through the inventory analysis (e.g., Hararuk et al., 2017).

In all cases it is good practice to document the calibration procedure and results.

Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. Full evaluation of the model is described in Step 3. See Box 2.2f for examples of model calibration.

BOX 2.2F (NEW)

AN EXAMPLE OF MODEL CALIBRATION, EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT THROUGH DATA ASSIMILATION

The development of Canada's Carbon Budget Model for the Canadian Forest Sector started in 1989 and is continually being improved through new data collection, analysis and model enhancements. As part of this process, Shaw et al., (2014) assessed CBM-CFS3's ability to predict ecosystem carbon stocks in independent plots established as part of Canada's national forest inventory (NFI). The study demonstrated close agreement in the predictions of total ecosystem carbon stocks (within 1percent) but found some compensating errors (bias) in specific pools, ecozones, and plots with different tree species.

To further improve the CBM-CFS3 performance in Canadian forest ecosystems, a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) technique was used to calibrate 45 model parameters by assimilating carbon stocks of six deadwood and soil carbon pools estimated from 635 plots from Canada's National Forest Inventory (Hararuk et al., 2017). These plots were randomly split into two groups; calibration (n = 326), used to calibrate the parameters, and validation (n = 309), used to evaluate the performance of the model with calibrated parameters.

Calibration led to most improvement in the simulation of carbon stocks in small and fine woody debris, reducing RMSE by 54.3 percent, followed by the snag stems (RMSE reduced by 23.2 percent), and coarse woody debris (13 percent). Twenty of the 45 parameters were well constrained by the available data. The calibrated parameters resulted in increased rates of carbon cycling in fine and coarse woody debris and the soil organic layer, distinct carbon dynamics in hardwood and softwood dominated stands, and increased temperature sensitivity of the carbon contained in the mineral soil.

While parameter calibration considerably improved the simulation of the small and fine woody debris and snags stem pools, model representation of the branch snag, coarse woody debris, soil organic layer, and mineral soil pools were not substantially improved. This indicated the need for the inclusion of additional processes in carbon dynamics simulation or a change in the modelling paradigm. Model improvements may be achieved by including a lignin effect on deadwood decay and by including the effects of tree species, soil types, and mosses (see Box 2.2g) in the CBM-CFS3. Further data assimilation analyses are ongoing.

Step 3. Evaluation of Model Behaviour

Once the model has been calibrated, it should be evaluated to demonstrate that the model effectively simulates measured trends for the source category of interest. Evaluation can also support the justification for selecting, developing or possibly improving a particular model for the inventory analysis.

It is *good practice* to use measurements independent of those used for model calibration when evaluating model behaviour and to confirm that the model is capable of estimating emissions and removals in the source categories of interest (Falloon and Smith, 2002; Prisley and Mortimer, 2004). In practice, this is typically achieved by setting aside a subset of data collected for model calibration to be used exclusively for model evaluation. Comparisons between model output and independent measurements can be made using statistical tests and/or graphically. In addition to evaluation with independent data, other evaluation checks may be useful, including:

- range checks to show that estimates of carbon stocks and changes in all pools do not exceed pre-defined expected limits;
- in models that track both stocks and flows between carbon pools and the atmosphere, that mass-balance is been maintained through all simulations;
- use of other statistical methods for assessing model behaviour, such as resampling methods (e.g., bootstrapping); and
- assessment of the sensitivity of various parameters in the model (sensitivity analysis).

It is *good practice* to ensure that the model responds appropriately to variations in activity data and environmental conditions occurring in the spatial and temporal domain where the model will be applied. Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure (i.e., algorithms) may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. In some cases, a new model may be selected or developed based on this evaluation. Evaluation results are an important component of the reporting documentation. See Box 2.2g for examples of model evaluation and improvement.

BOX 2.2G (NEW) Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement

Finland

The sample sizes in soil carbon inventories are usually not adequate for national level soil carbon stock change assessment with few exceptions (e.g., Sweden, and Germany, see Gamfeldt et al., 2014 and Grüneberg et al., 2014). As such, most countries use soil carbon models to estimate carbon stock changes then evaluate the results using repeated soil inventories. In general, it has been shown that models can estimate soil carbon stock change in the same magnitude as that measured, but uncertainties of both measurements and model estimates are often higher than actual measurements (Ortiz et al., 2009; Rantakari et al., 2012). This makes the evaluation of model outputs challenging.

Two soils carbon models are commonly used in Finland: Yasso07 and ROMULv. An evaluation of the performance of these models against forest soil carbon stock measurements was undertaken by Lehtonen et al. (2016). Both models require estimates of carbon input from vegetation. Litter input from trees was estimated using litter production rates from research sites and stem volume maps from the National Forest Inventory. Inputs from understorey vegetation were estimated using new biomass models.

To evaluate the models, both were applied across Finland and run until steady state was achieved; thereafter, measured soil carbon stocks were compared with model estimates. The evaluation showed that the role of understorey litter input was underestimated by Yasso07, especially in northern Finland, and the inclusion of soil water holding capacity in the ROMULv model improved predictions, especially in southern Finland. Simulations and measurements indicated that models using only litter quality and quantity and weather data underestimate soil carbon stock in southern Finland, and this underestimation is due to omission of the impact of droughts on the decomposition of organic layers. The model evaluation results imply improving estimates of understorey litter production in the northern latitudes would be an area for improvement in greenhouse gas inventories (Lehtonen et al., 2016).

Canada

An evaluation of CBM-CFS3 ability to predict ecosystem carbon stock estimates derived from an entirely independent data set from the initial establishment of Canada's new National Forest Inventory (Gillis et al., 2005) was undertaken (Stinson et al., 2016). Estimates of aboveground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon stocks from up to 696 ground plots were compared to model-derived estimates (Shaw et al., 2014). Model simulations for each ground plot used only the type of input data available to the NFCMARS for the NIR in 2010.None of the model's default parameters were altered. Ecosystem total C stocks estimated by CBM-CFS3 were unbiased (mean difference = 1.9 Mg ha⁻¹, p = 0.397), and significantly correlated (r = 0.54, p > 0.001) with ground plot-based estimates. Although the overall C stock estimates were within 1 percent of the observed values, detailed analyses also revealed compensating biases specific to pools, ecozones or leading species. Contribution to ecosystem total C stocks error from soil was large, and from deadwood and aboveground biomass small. Results for percent error in the aboveground biomass (7.5 percent) and deadwood (30.8 percent) pools compared favourably to the *GPG-LULUCF* standards of 8 percent and 30 percent, respectively. Further details are provided in Shaw et al. (2014).

Subsequent analyses assessed the reasons for the consistent under prediction of organic carbon stocks in low productivity boreal sites, in which mosses can contribute 30 percent or more of total ecosystem Net Primary Production (Bona et al., 2013). Although mosses are not a carbon stock that is included in the IPCC pools, it is increasingly evident that omitting them will result in significant under prediction of both carbon stocks and fluxes in forest ecosystems with high moss cover. Bona et al. (2016) estimated that in poorly drained upland black spruce forests of boreal Canada as much as 31–49 percent of the total carbon stocks are potentially contributed by mosses alone. A new moss module was developed and added to the CBM-CFS3 and off-line comparisons indicate that representing moss carbon stocks and inputs will reduce bias in organic carbon stock estimates (Bona et al., 2016).

Step 4. Collect and collate require model data inputs

Models require specific input data to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with a source category. These inputs may range from weather and soils data to livestock numbers, forest types, natural disturbances or cropping management practices. While much of this data may have been collected as part of the model selection process (Step 1), additional data may need to be collected prior to full implementation. For

example, the climate data used in model selection may have only been for specific points, while for implementation the model will require the data spatially over large areas. In these cases, the new spatial input data may need to be developed to implement the model at the desired spatio-temporal scale.

Step 5. Model Implementation

The major consideration when implementing the model is to obtain enough computing resources and personnel time to prepare the input data, conduct the model simulations, and analyse the results. In some cases, limitations in computing resources may constrain the complexity and range of spatial or temporal resolution that can be used in implementing the model at the national scale (i.e. simulating at finer spatial and temporal scales will require greater computing resources). An initial analysis of computing needs should be explored during model selection and development (Step 1). It may be possible to increase the efficiency of this process using programming scripts, re-coding parts of the model and adjusting the spatial and temporal extent and resolution of the simulations. It may also be possible to implement the model on computing resources that are outside the agency (e.g. cloud-based computing).

Step 6. Assess uncertainty

Uncertainty analysis should not be confused with sensitivity analysis. Uncertainty analysis determines the probabilities of a range of estimates that can be used to derive confidence intervals for the estimates, and to develop plans to further reduce uncertainties. Sensitivity analysis is conducted to determine the relative change in model output given changes in model input values, which can be informative for model calibration (See Step 3).

In many Tier 3 models, Monte Carlo analyses can be used to simulate the uncertainty arising from the large number of possible parameters in the systems. Empirical analyses may also be an option to quantify uncertainty in model structure and parameterization based on an evaluation of model prediction error for sites with known inputs (See Box 2.2h). In general, uncertainties are quantified at national scales on annual time steps for reporting but may also be estimated at finer spatial and temporal scales. However, it may not be feasible or sensible to apply full Monte Carlo simulations to, for example, every spatial unit in a country. Given the computing resource and time requirements, it may also not be necessary to repeat a full Monte Carlo analysis every year. For example, in the case where only the activity data time series has been updated, but no other material changes to the inventory have been made, uncertainty estimates can be extrapolated to the additional years in the time series. A smaller test may also be run to demonstrate there has been no material change in uncertainty.

BOX 2.2H (NEW)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

This box is provided for information purposes and for the presentation of examples of quantification of uncertainties in Tier 3 modelling approaches.

<u>Canada</u>

Both uncertainty and sensitivity analyses were conducted on Canada's CBM-CFS3 integration framework (Metsaranta et al., 2017) and uncertainty analysis results are summarized below.

A wide range of factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the model estimates were varied using Monte-Carlo simulations using the entire national system. These factors include the processes used to initialize dead organic matter and soil carbon pools, biomass increment data (a multiplier with a range of ± 50 percent was applied to net biomass increment), activity data (wildfire (± 10 percent), insects (± 25 percent), and harvest (range varies by jurisdiction)), selection of stands during the allocation of natural disturbances to affected stands, and parameters defining litter input and dead organic matter pool dynamics. Parameter ranges for 32 biomass turnover and dead organic matter carbon modelling parameters were obtained from the literature and used as minimum and maximum values of triangular distributions (with mode set to the CBM-CFS3 default value). All parameters values and input data were varied independently, because the correlation structure among parameters could not be estimated.

Input data for Canada's 230 million ha of managed forest are contained in 20 CBM-CFS3 databases, each representing a specific region in Canada. Monte Carlo simulations for each of

BOX 2.2H (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

these 20 databases were conducted independently and the sample size for national totals was increased by summing random combinations of the 100 Monte Carlo runs from the 20 projects to generate 1000 randomly recombined estimates of national totals. The approximated 95 percent confidence interval (CI) was defined from the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles of these national estimates.

Under the assumptions of this analysis, the 95 percent confidence interval width averaged 32.2 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ (+16.6 and -15.6 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$) for net biome production (total stock changes) relative to an overall simulation median of -0.8 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ from 1990 to 2014. The largest sources of uncertainty were related to factors determining biomass increment and the parameters used to model soil and dead organic matter carbon dynamics. Some of these processes also vary in their intrinsic degree of predictability (Luo et al., 2015), and some factors causing large contributions to uncertainty may prove difficult to reduce (e.g., fine root turnover and its spatial and temporal variations).

United States of America

Uncertainty analysis for agricultural soil carbon and N_2O emissions have been conducted for the US greenhouse gas inventory (Ogle et al. 2010; Del Grosso et al. 2010; US EPA, 2017). A Tier 3 method is applied to generate emissions estimates with application of the DayCent ecosystem model. This process-based model simulates plant production, soil organic matter formation, nutrient cycling, water flows, and temperature regimes (Parton et al. 1998). Uncertainty is quantified through a combination of Monte Carlo simulations, an empirical analysis of model prediction error, and propagation of variance associated with the land representation survey data.

The inventory is compiled by simulating plant production and soil processes based on land use histories at about 400,000 locations that are part of a national survey, the National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser et al. 1998, Nusser and Goebel 1997). The major input uncertainties in the Tier 3 model application are associated with fertilization and tillage management and are quantified in probability distribution functions (PDFs), representing the likelihood of different fertilization rates, tillage practices and manure amendments. The model is applied using a Monte Carlo Analysis in a series of 100 simulations for each NRI survey locations based on random draws from the PDFs. In turn, the analysis produces 100 estimates of soil C stock changes and N₂O emissions for each survey location.

Model prediction error, including bias and precision, is quantified in statistical models with an empirical analysis based on a comparison of model output to measured observations of soil C stocks and N_2O emissions from experimental sites (Ogle et al. 2007). The model inputs are mostly known for the DayCent model simulations of the experimental sites and so the primary sources of uncertainty that are quantified in this analysis are associated with model structure and parameterisation, in addition to the variance in measured observations. Moreover, the experimental sites are independent from model calibration allowing for an independent evaluation of model prediction error. The resulting empirical model is applied to the DayCent model output to adjust for biases, to the extent needed, and to quantify precision in model results.

In a final step, variance associated with the NRI is derived based on the standard variance estimator for a stratified two-stage sample design (Särndal et al. 1992) and propagated through calculations to estimate national totals for the inventory (Ogle et al. 2010). The largest source of uncertainty in the analysis is associated with model structure and parameterization, as quantified in the empirical analysis. This source accounts for more than 80 percent of the total uncertainty in soil carbon stock change and N_2O emission estimates at the national scale, highlighting the importance of further improving the model to reduce uncertainty.

Step 7. Verification of inventory estimates with independent data

NGHGI estimates from Tier 3 models can be difficult to verify because alternative measurements often do not exist at the national scale. This is not unique to the AFOLU sector. There may however, be opportunities to verify component estimates against independent data. For example, model derived estimates of crop yield, or timber harvest can be compared against independent data such as crop or timber production statistics. Such comparisons require a good understanding of the methods used for both the Tier 3 and the comparative estimates, to avoid interpreting possible discrepancies as an indicator of problems in the Tier 3 model, when the discrepancy is in fact due to methodological differences.

Another useful step in verification of inventory estimates is to compare current estimates against those in the inventory submissions of prior years. Changes in time series estimates that are not consistent with changes in activity or other input data should be examined and understood as these could be indicative of a variety of problems, including errors in data processing. Developing quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) procedures that document the changes in estimates attributed to each change in input data, model parameters, or other methodological changes can assist inventory compilers in the verification of inventory estimates.

Verification of inventory estimates can also be based on measurements from a monitoring network or from research sites that were not used to calibrate model parameters or evaluate model behaviour. The network would be similar in principle to a series of sites that are used for a measurement-based inventory. However, the uncertainty of the estimates (output) from a model-based approach does not depend directly on the sample size and therefore the sampling need not be as dense. In some cases, verification may demonstrate that the model-based estimation system is inappropriate due to large and unexplainable differences between model results and the measured trends from the monitoring network. Problems may stem from one of three possibilities: errors in the implementation step, poor input data, or an inappropriate model. Implementation problems typically arise from computer programming or data input errors, while model inputs may generate erroneous results if these data are not representative of management activity or environmental conditions. In these cases, it is *good practice* for the inventory compiler to return to either Steps 2 or 5 depending on the issue. It seems less likely that the model would be inappropriate if Step 2 was deemed reasonable. However, if this is the case, it is *good practice* to return to the model selection/development phase (Step 1) or to further refine the existing model.

In addition to verifying inventory estimates, independent data may also be used to check areas estimates for landuse and land use change including

- that land area is conserved over time;
- changes between land-use types are logical in terms of the type, frequency and time periods between changes, defined by the country;
- consistency between input data (e.g. area to be disturbed by disturbance type X) and model simulation results (e.g., area actually disturbed in the model by disturbance type X).

Step 8. Reporting and Documentation

It is *good practice* to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes. Documentation of model-based Tier 3 inventory systems should include those items listed in Table 2.6b. For further details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the sections dealing with the specific source categories later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

EXAMPLES OF DOCUMENTATION TO ASSEMB	Table 2.6b (New) ile in support of transparent reporting of Tier 3 model-based inventories
Step 1 – Model selection or development	 A description of the model Reason for choosing or designing the model demonstrating applicability Discussion of any likely consequences if the model is used outside the domain that the model is parameterised to simulate.
Step 2 - Model calibration	• Description of the process undertaken to calibrate the model and documentation of the data sources informing the manual or automated calibration.
Step 3 – Evaluate model behaviour	• Results of the analysis verifying model behaviour using independent measurements to confirm that the model is capable of estimating carbon stocks, stock changes and/or emissions and removals in the source/sink categories of interest. The sources of independent data should also be documented.
Step 5 - Implement the model	• Overview of procedures that are used to apply the model.
Step 6 - Quantify uncertainties	• Description of the approach taken to estimate uncertainty in the model outputs.
Step 7 - Verification of inventory estimates	• Summary of the verification results for the inventory.
Step 8 – Reporting and Documentation	Information on QA/QC steps

2.6 INTER-ANNUAL VARIABILITY

In the AFOLU sector, the management of land is used as the best approximation of human influence and thus, estimates of emissions and removals on managed land are used as a proxy for anthropogenic emissions and removals on the basis that the preponderance of anthropogenic effects occurs on managed lands (see Vol. 4 Chapter 1). This allows for consistency, comparability, and transparency in estimation. Referred to as the Managed Land Proxy (MLP), this approach is currently recognised by the IPCC as the only universally applicable approach to estimating anthropogenic emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector (IPCC 2006, IPCC 2010). However, it is also recognised that the estimated emissions and removals on managed lands can represent a combination of both anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural effects (Vol. 4 Chapter 1 p1.5; IPCC 2010; see Fig. 2.6A).

Some of the emissions and removals from managed land are characterised by high interannual variability. Interannual variability (IAV) refers to the variability in the annual emissions and removals (E/R) estimates between years within a time series. In the AFOLU sector, the application of the MLP means that IAV can be caused by both anthropogenic and natural causes. The three main causes of IAV in GHG emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector are (1) natural disturbances (such as wildfires, insects, windthrow, and ice storms), which can cause large immediate and delayed emissions and respiration (Ciais *et al.* 2005; Aragão *et al.* 2018); and, (3) variation in the rate of human activities, including land use (such as forest harvesting), and land-use change (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Pilli *et al.* 2016; Kurz *et al.* 2018).

In some countries IAV in emissions from natural disturbances can be larger than the IAV of emissions caused by human activities such as forest management. For example, IAV in Canada's 1990 to 2016 time series of annual emission and removals due to natural disturbances is much larger than the IAV in the emissions and removals on the remaining managed forest land (Figure 2.6C). The NGHGIs for Portugal (Figure 6-32 of Portugal's NIR 2018 (Portuguese Environmental Agency 2018)) and Australia (Table 6.21 of Australia's NIR 2016 Volume 2 (Commonwealth of Australia 2018)) are two other examples of time series with high IAV. In some countries, the areas burned by wildfires can vary by two orders of magnitude between years (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Miller *et al.* 2012; Genet *et al.* 2018). In other countries, the majority of IAV may be due to human activities.

When the MLP is used and the IAV in emissions and removals due to natural disturbances is large, it is difficult to gain a quantitative understanding of the role of human activities compared to the impacts of natural effects. In such situations, disaggregating⁹ MLP emissions and removals into those that are considered to result from human activities and those understood to result from natural effects may provide increased understanding of the emissions and removals that are due to human activities such as, land use (including harvesting) and land-use change. In this way, disaggregation can contribute to improved understanding of the trends in emission and removals due to human activities and mitigation actions that are taken to reduce anthropogenic emissions and preserve and enhance carbon stocks.

Disaggregating emissions and removals according to anthropogenic and natural effects has been recognised as a scientific challenge (Canadell *et al.* 2007; Vetter *et al.* 2008; IPCC 2010; Kurz 2010; Smith 2010; Brando *et al.* 2014; Henttonen *et al.* 2017). It is not yet possible to fully and accurately separate emissions and removals associated with human activity from those associated with natural effects. The last IPCC Expert Meeting Report on this topic encouraged further development of scientific methods (IPCC 2010).

Recognizing that some but not all countries may choose to address emissions and removals from natural disturbances on managed land outside the inventory process, this guidance is provided as an option that may be used by countries that choose to disaggregate their reported MLP emissions and removals (i.e. all emissions and removals on managed land) into those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from natural disturbances. These supplementary approaches may be of interest to countries with AFOLU sector emissions where IAV due to natural effects is large. The section first addresses definitional issues, followed by a description of whether or not different methodological approaches used to estimate C stock changes quantify the IAV of emissions and removals. A generic approach to report on disaggregation of the contribution of natural disturbances in reporting on total emissions and removals on managed lands is then provided, along with country-specific examples of methodological approaches to disaggregating anthropogenic effects and natural disturbances on managed lands.

⁹ Disaggregating means that an estimate is separated into its component parts.

2.6.1 Definitional issues

2.6.1.1 DIRECT AND INDIRECT HUMAN EFFECTS, AND NATURAL EFFECTS

Anthropogenic (i.e., direct and indirect human) effects and natural effects are described in Vol. 4 Chapter 1. Figure 2.6a summarizes the main factors that cause these effects and their occurrences in managed and unmanaged lands. The specific effects included in estimates reported in NGHGIs depend on the estimation method and data used, which differ in approach and complexity among countries (see Table 2.6c). Describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, based on the estimation method and data used, increases the transparency of the NGHGI and its understanding by the scientific and policy communities (Grassi *et al.* 2018, section 2.6.2). Useful information may include definition and spatial maps of managed land, information on areas of forest being harvested and those subject to other management, and information on the main determinants of the GHG fluxes (e.g., forest age structure, harvested volumes, harvest cycle).

Figure 2.6a:

Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural factors affect land-related GHG emissions and removals in managed and unmanaged lands (Source: Grassi *et al.* (2018)).



Direct human-induced effects of any management activity on emissions or removals, by definition, only occur on managed lands. Indirect human-induced effects (i.e., the second order impacts of human activities on emissions or removals mediated through environmental change) and natural effects can occur on both unmanaged and managed lands. The "anthropogenic GHG emissions and removals by sinks are defined as all those occurring on 'managed land'" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1). The natural effects "tend to average out over time and space" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1), provided that there are no trends in disturbance rates, such as increased annual area burned as a result of climate change. Nonetheless, their IAV in emissions and removals can have an important impact on annual NGHGIs. Depending on the estimation method and data used, GHG estimates for managed land may capture all or only some of this IAV (see Section 2.6.2).

The IPCC describes the MLP as a method to approximate estimates of anthropogenic emissions and removals, but this proxy estimate also contains emissions and removals resulting from natural disturbances (IPCC 2006; IPCC 2010). This section introduces an approach that countries can apply on a voluntary basis within the MLP in order to indicate those emissions and removals considered to result from human activity, and those that are understood to result from natural disturbances. This is achieved by disaggregating the estimated emissions and removals due to natural disturbances (ND E/R) within the estimated total MLP emissions and removals. This remaining aggregate of emissions and removals associated with human activity might still include some effects of IAV of natural disturbances and other natural effects on anthropogenic emissions and removals.

2.6.1.2 NATURAL DISTURBANCES

Disturbances, in particular wildfires, can contribute to large IAV in emissions. The number, frequency and intensity of fire events are strongly controlled by climate and weather, fuels, ignition sources, and human activities. High temperatures, past levels of fire suppression, and persistent drought events are key drivers of forest fires, for

instance in the Western US (Westerling 2016), in the Amazon region (Morton *et al.* 2013) or in Indonesia (Schimel *et al.* 2015). However, land use and land-use change such as deforestation and peatland drainage can influence the likelihood and impacts of fire (Page & Hooijer 2016). In the Brazilian Cerrado, severe drought events explain the loss of almost 30 percent of aboveground woody biomass (de Miranda *et al.* 2014). Other natural disturbances with large IAV include storm damage (Yamashita *et al.* 2002; Lindner *et al.* 2010). Insects tend to follow outbreak cycles, thus causing more long-term trends that contribute to interdecadal rather than interannual variations (Kurz *et al.* 2008; Hicke *et al.* 2012). However, like IAV, the inter-decadal variability can also make it difficult to identify trends in emissions and removals that result from human activities.

Definition of natural disturbances

Natural disturbances in the context of the AFOLU sector are non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. These include wildfires, insect and disease infestations, extreme weather events and/or geological disturbances, beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. Natural disturbances exclude human activities such as harvesting, prescribed burning and fires associated with activities such as slash and burn.¹⁰

Non-anthropogenic events refer to non-human induced events (e.g. fire initiated by lightening, damage by wind storms), non-anthropogenic circumstances refer to non-human induced conditions that exacerbate these disturbances (e.g., fire occurring during particularly harsh conditions like strong winds, high temperature, drought, etc.). For information on how to document that disturbances are beyond the control of and not materially influenced by the country, see Section 2.6.4 below.

The methodological guidance provided in this section is aimed at disaggregating emissions and removals in ecosystems where natural disturbances cause large IAV in emissions within the MLP and where subsequent removals occur over a multi-year period of time. Therefore, this methodological guidance is applicable to natural disturbances in forests, and in woody grassland, undrained wetlands or undrained peatlands, but not in other land categories where human actions materially determine and/or deeply influence the conditions and circumstances associated with significant emissions by disturbances (such in drained peatlands and in cropland).

Balance of emissions and subsequent removals

A fundamental assumption under the MLP is that carbon emissions and removals associated with natural effects will average out over space and time (see also Volume 4, Chapter 1). Therefore, consistent with this assumption, the CO_2 emissions (from above and below ground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon) from areas affected by natural disturbances are expected to be balanced by subsequent removals across the landscape at some future point in time. This expectation has no established time limit because the time to balance depends on the types of ecosystems affected by disturbances and their rates of regrowth.

At stand level, changes in growing conditions could affect this expectation, in particular if environmental conditions contribute to regeneration failure of stands that were affected by natural disturbances, e.g. landslides and erosion after wildfire, making it more difficult to achieve the balance. Conversely, if environmental changes contribute to increased growth rates or reduced mortality rates, then the balance will be achieved faster. In the case of repeated disturbances on the same area, the time to reach balance for that area may increase.

2.6.2 Relationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emissions and removals from interannual variability

The choice of estimation method and data affects the extent to which the IAV of different drivers is reflected in reported estimates (see Table 2.6c). Countries can apply different estimation methods to report their emissions and removals capturing the anthropogenic components with different temporal resolution and disaggregation of variables (annual to periodic, averaged or disaggregated by drivers). Table 2.6c provides information on how the choice of estimation method affects whether or not factors contributing to IAV of reported emissions and removals are captured in NGHGIs. This table may help countries in understanding and describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, therefore increasing the understanding of NGHGIs by the scientific and policy communities.

¹⁰ Information on natural disturbance definitions and approaches applied in the Kyoto Protocol accounting can be found in IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.

TABLE 2.6C (NEW) GENERAL GUIDANCE ON WHETHER OR NOT THE ESTIMATION METHOD IS ABLE TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN THE IMPACT OF THE INDIVIDUAL DRIVERS BELOW ON THE INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY OF REPORTED ANNUAL EMISSION AND REMOVAL ESTIMATES - NOTE THAT SOME EXCEPTIONS MAY OCCUR, DEPENDING ON THE DATA USED

			Drivers				
Metho	d		Direct Human	Indirect Human	Natural climate variability	Natural Disturbances	
Stock I Periodi	Differe c mea	ence ¹¹ surements (multi-year)	No	No	No	No	
Stock I Annual	Differe meas	ence ¹² surements	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Gai n- Loss ¹³	iass pools	Biomass growth based on Emission Factors or empirical yield tables	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	Live bion	Growth based on process (or hybrid) model	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
	atter pools	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics based on Emission Factors	Yes	No	No	No	
	soil organic m	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with constant climate	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	Dead and s	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with variable climate	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	

The Stock Difference method calculates net emissions/removals (E/R) as the difference in estimated C stocks for relevant pools measured at two points in time. Average annual net E/R can be calculated by dividing the C stock difference of a period by the number of years between the two observations. Periodic stock assessments without auxiliary data therefore do not allow the quantification of the IAV of emissions and removals and its relation to the various drivers.

With annual measurements of ecosystem carbon stocks, e.g. via subsets of annual plot measurements in a continuous forest inventory, the quantification of IAV of emissions and removals becomes possible. Periodic or annual subsets of inventories can by themselves not detect IAV unless auxiliary data – such as area annually burned, harvest rates or other specific plot-level measurements on the timing of tree mortality – are used to inform about IAV (Röhling *et al.* 2016). For non-CO₂ emissions (e.g., CH₄ and N₂O from fires), auxiliary data on the type of disturbance that caused carbon losses would be required when the stock difference method is used.

The Gain-Loss method requires annual data on forest management, land-use change and natural disturbances and when these are available it can provide estimates of the IAV of net emissions. Depending on the estimation methodology and the data sets used, it may capture some or all of the impacts of drivers of the IAV of annual emissions and removals. A Gain-Loss approach utilising yield tables or constant emission factors (EF) will be insensitive to natural climate variability and, therefore, will only be able to distinguish between the direct human impact and natural disturbance impacts on IAV of emissions and removals. Gain-Loss methods that utilise climate-sensitive growth and mortality models (Richards & Evans 2004; Waterworth *et al.* 2007; Hember *et al.* 2018), or

¹¹ Forest inventories with multi-year period remeasurement and no auxiliary data cannot detect IAV. In some cases, periodic measurements on permanent sample plots are augmented with additional annual data thus increasing the ability to estimate IAV.

¹² Forest inventories with annual remeasurements for the same plots can detect IAV but are rarely implemented.

¹³ The assumption for the Gain-Loss method is that activity data such as harvest, land-use change, and natural disturbances are available annually.

climate sensitive models of dead and soil organic matter dynamics (see Figure 6 in Liski *et al.* (2006)) can, in addition, estimate the indirect human and natural climate variability impacts on the IAV of emissions and removals.

2.6.3 Optional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances

It is *good practice* for countries to apply the MLP and to estimate and report all emissions and removals that occur on managed lands. This section describes a generic approach for use by countries that choose to report on the further disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals from natural disturbances from the total emissions and removals estimated using the MLP. As discussed above, disturbances may have a natural and an anthropogenic component. This reporting guidance aims to assist countries choosing to report on the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals associated with human activity and those associated with natural disturbances within the total emissions and subsequent removals estimates of the MLP.

The elements of a generic approach are provided below, followed by examples of how the approach has been implemented to date:

1. Quantification of the total emissions and removals from Managed Lands (consistent with MLP)

Estimate total E/R consistent with the MLP. Guidance provided by the IPCC for each relevant land category applies for the estimation of associated emissions and subsequent removals due to regrowth within the MLP. This is the total MLP flux, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals, which also includes emissions and subsequent removals from areas that are identified as subject to natural disturbances.

2. Reporting on the country-specific approach to applying the definition of natural disturbances

Consistent with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in section 2.6.1.2, countries describe their approach when applying the definition of natural disturbances consistently over time. The country description includes the types of disturbances for which the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals is implemented. The description also explains how the country excludes from natural disturbances the impacts of human activities, e.g., salvage logging, prescribed burning, slash and burn and deforestation.

3. Identification of emissions and removals due to natural disturbances

The emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances are identified by applying the ND definition to either the individual (stand-level) disturbed areas or the total (landscape-level) emissions from all disturbances in the year¹⁴. In identifying those emissions and removals, it is *good practice* to avoid the inclusion of emissions and removals that are materially affected by human actions¹⁵. Both approaches provide for the:

- (i) Identification of the lands and area of land affected by each disturbance, as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.
- (ii) For those lands, estimation of the emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances only (e.g. salvage logging emissions and associated subsequent removals are not included), as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.

If a country chooses to disaggregate ND emissions and removals, then it is *good practice* to disaggregate as anthropogenic the emissions and subsequent removals associated with management activities occurring on land affected by natural disturbances, including salvage logging and deforestation. Consequently, subsequent removals are disaggregated between human activities and natural disturbances, proportionally to the C stock losses these activities have caused, until the CO₂ emissions from natural disturbances are balanced by removals.

For example, if salvage logging follows wildfire, and the wildfire caused instant emissions of 20 t CO_2 per hectare and subsequent salvage logging caused an additional 40 t CO_2 , then 20 t CO_2 of subsequent removals are disaggregated as natural disturbances, and all remaining removals are disaggregated as anthropogenic effects. This could be implemented sequentially (i.e. the first 20 t CO_2 removals are disaggregated as due to natural causes, and all subsequent removals to anthropogenic causes) or in parallel (i.e. in this example, for every tonne of CO_2 removal, one third is disaggregated as due to natural causes, and the remaining two thirds to anthropogenic causes). In both cases, once natural emissions are balanced by removals disaggregated as natural causes, the remaining removals are considered anthropogenic.

¹⁴ Methodological guidance on quantification of associated emissions and removals are given in the chapters with general guidance (Chapter 2 and 3) as well in the category-specific chapters (Chapter 4 and 6)".

¹⁵ Noting that a portion of the emissions and removals considered to be associated with natural disturbances may be affected by human actions.

Disaggregation of CO_2 removals following natural disturbances can be implemented at the landscape level by apportioning these based on, for instance, the proportion of area disturbed of total forest area and the proportion of C stock lost of total C stock. For example, if in a year X in a country Y, Z ha of forest land is subject to wildfires, representing 0.1percent of the total forest area and 25percent of the total carbon stock present in the burned area is lost; the percentage of total CO_2 removals in the entire forest land apportioned to natural disturbances in this example is 0.025percent (i.e., 0.1percent*25percent) for year X. If the emissions from natural disturbances in year X were 25 Mt CO_2 , then the removals in subsequent years are considered natural until the sum of the removals equals that amount.

Although the different approaches above (i.e., sequential or parallel disaggregation of removals subsequent to natural disturbances, stand vs. landscape level) affect the annual disaggregation, as long as the expectation of the balance between emissions from natural disturbances and the subsequent removals is fulfilled (see Section 6.2.1.2), and as long as emissions and subsequent removals are treated consistently, in the long term the totals are the same. Furthermore, in all cases it is *good practice* to report information on assumptions and methods implemented to disaggregate subsequent CO_2 removals.

When land-use change (e.g., forest land converted to cropland) follows a natural disturbance (e.g., wildfire), then emissions associated with land-use changes after natural disturbances as well as the emissions from the prior natural disturbance, are considered to be anthropogenic emissions. If regrowth occurs on that land, then any subsequent removals are also considered anthropogenic.

4. Disaggregation of the MLP

The natural disturbance component is subtracted from the total estimate of MLP emissions and removals, yielding an estimate of the emissions and removals associated with human activity on managed land. Both components are estimated and reported as part of the total MLP emissions and removals. In countries where natural disturbance contributes large IAV to E/R, the component of the MLP emissions and removals identified as associated with human activity is expected to have a lower IAV than the MLP emissions and removals because the variability resulting from natural disturbances has been disaggregated.

Given the expectation of the balance described above (Section 2.6.1.2), when emissions from natural disturbances are disaggregated, it is *good practice* that subsequent removals are also disaggregated until the balance has been reached. In this case, it is also *good practice* to disaggregate to the natural disturbance component those removals in each inventory year that are contributed by lands that were affected by natural disturbances prior to the start of the time series. In many ecosystems it may take decades for removals following natural disturbances to balance emissions from the disturbances. If it is not possible to estimate directly the amount of emissions that need to be balanced, for example if natural disturbances occurred before the reporting period, the time when the balance is expected can be approximated based on the estimated length (years) of the recovery period (see example in Box 2.2j). This ensures a consistent application of the balance principle throughout the time series.

In addition to CO_2 emissions, natural disturbances may cause non- CO_2 emissions, e.g. wildfires cause N_2O and CH_4 emissions. While CO_2 emissions are assumed to average out across time because of vegetation regrowth after disturbance, non- CO_2 emissions are not taken up by vegetation and therefore there is no expectation that these emissions will be balanced by removals because the biological, chemical and physical processes that result in the complete decay of CH_4 and N_2O in the atmosphere are not captured in existing IPCC inventory methods.

Examples of methodological approaches that have been developed are presented for Australia (Box 2.2i), Canada (Box 2.2j) and for an EU country (Box 2.2k).

BOX 2.2I (NEW)

AUSTRALIAN APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY DUE TO NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In Australia, all lands are considered managed lands. All areas and carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and 'natural disturbances'¹⁶ are reported, consistent with the MLP. 'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are considered to be caused by non-anthropogenic events and circumstances beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, human activity despite extensive efforts by emergency management organizations to prevent, manage and control such events.

Both initial carbon losses and subsequent recoveries in carbon stocks are modelled as part of the disturbance event, and carbon stocks are spatially tracked until pre-disturbance levels are reached to ensure completeness and balance in reporting. Most Australian wildfires are not stand-replacing and carbon stocks typically recover after 11 years (Roxburgh *et al.* 2015). Estimates are prepared using a process (hybrid) model with DOM/SOM dynamics with variable climate (FullCAM).

'Natural disturbances' are defined as occurring in a year which is an outlier (exceeding the 95percent probability level) in the series of annual carbon stock losses due to wildfire at the national level and, spatially, as fires in those regions (States) experiencing abnormal fire activity in that year. (A full description of the method to identify outliers can be found in Volume 2 of Australia's NIR 2016 - Section 6.4.1.3)

'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are modelled on a spatial basis and, consistent with the MLP, included in reporting after averaging out initial carbon stock losses and subsequent recovery¹⁷. This leaves the trend in carbon stock changes as the dominant result of human activity (e.g. from prescribed burning, normal seasonal wildfires – see "B" in Figure 2.6B).

The approach ensures that Australia's modelled implementation of the MLP is comparable with estimates generated using other methods, such as Tier 3 stock-difference approaches, that tend to average out IAV due to natural causes over space (scaling from plots to region) and time (averaging between periodic re-measurements). All carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and natural disturbances are transparently reported in Australia's NIR.



activity.

¹⁶ References to 'natural disturbances' in this box refer to the *natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks* described in 2006 *IPCC Guidelines* Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space."

¹⁷ 2006 IPCC Guidelines Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of

BOX 2.2J (NEW)

CANADA'S APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In the 2017 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁸ Canada revised its reporting approach to increase the transparency of the reporting of anthropogenic emissions and removals on Forest Land remaining Forest Land (FL-FL). The new approach disaggregated the emissions and subsequent removals on managed lands affected by natural disturbances from those on the remaining lands subject to forest management. The concept of the MLP was maintained: the sum of these two emission and removal components are identical to the total emissions and removals for FL-FL under the MLP. Canada's 2018 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁹ further refined the approach. The methods are described in detail by (Kurz *et al.* 2018) and are summarized here.

Canada defined natural disturbances as all stand-replacing wildfires and all disturbances of other natural causes (insects, windthrow etc.) that result in more than 20 percent tree mortality (biomass) in affected stands. The threshold of 20 percent was selected because large areas of forests are affected by insects that cause low levels of mortality and/or growth reductions. Disturbances with impacts below this threshold are considered part of the natural, small-scale forest mortality that affect stand dynamics such as self-thinning.

For all areas affected by stand-replacing fire disturbances, annual CO₂ and non-CO₂ GHG emissions and subsequent CO_2 removals are summarized in the natural disturbance land category for several decades following the fire event. The time at which stands affected by natural disturbances transition back to the category of lands affected by forest management varies across Canada and is determined by the age at which stands are eligible for harvest, typically 60 to 90 years. For other natural disturbances that cause more than 20 percent biomass mortality, E/R are summarised in the natural disturbance category until the pre-disturbance biomass values are reached. For the 1990 to 2016 time series, stands regenerating following wildfire that are younger than the age at which stands are eligible for harvest is summarised in the natural disturbance category: removals that occur after 1989 in stands that have been affected by stand-replacing wildfires prior to 1990 are therefore contributing to balancing emissions from wildfires that occurred since 1990. The 56 Mha of managed forest affected by wildfire disturbances prior to 1990 contribute in 1990 estimated removals of 64 Mt CO₂e yr⁻¹. From 1990 to 1994 these cumulative annual removals are larger than the emissions from wildfires since 1990, making the lands subject to natural disturbances net sinks (Kurz et al. 2018). This approach contributes to balanced reporting as otherwise only removals from stands affected by natural disturbances after 1990 would appear in the natural disturbance component.

The disaggregation of fluxes improves the estimate of human impacts: reported emissions and removals without natural disturbances showed clear temporal trends that are correlated with changes in the rates of human activities such as rates of clear-cut harvesting (Figure 2.6C). In areas strongly affected by the Mountain Pine Beetle outbreak (Kurz *et al.* 2008) the trend in emissions reported for lands affected by forest management is still somewhat influenced by the impacts of the beetle because that area is decreasing (Kurz *et al.* 2018). The high IAV resulting primarily from fires is reported separately (Table 6.5 in Canada's NIR 2018). Further methodological details are provided in Canada's NIR 2018, Sections 6.3.1 and in Annex 3.5.2.3 and in (Kurz *et al.* 2018).

greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space. This leaves the greenhouse gas emission and removals from managed lands as the dominant result of human activity."

 $[\]label{eq:http://unfccc.int/files/national_reports/annex_i_ghg_inventories/national_inventories_submissions/application/zip/can-2017-nir-13apr17.zip$

¹⁹ https://unfccc.int/documents/65715



Figure 2.6c: Example of the disaggregation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those occurring on lands dominated by natural disturbance impacts and those occurring in the remaining managed forest (A). Note the high IAV in the natural disturbance fluxes (up to 250 Mt CO₂e/yr) (B) on the area affected by natural disturbances (primarily wildfires) and the low IAV of fluxes on the remaining managed forest area (C) which are correlated with forest management activities (e.g. primarily area of forest harvest). Fluxes in panel C are shown without (solid line) and with (dashed line) the emissions from harvested wood products. Data from Canada's 2018 NIR and figure from (Kurz *et al.* 2018)).

BOX 2.2K (NEW)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION²⁰

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided. This example demonstrates a methodological approach that has not yet been implemented.

Forests of example country Z^{21} are prone to wildfires that in years with extreme weather conditions (e.g. drought, especially if combined with strong winds) may cause large emissions from biomass burning and cause high IAV in the net CO_2 balance. Although, the country recognizes that most of its wildfires are human-induced either intentionally, e.g. pyromaniacs, or unintentionally, e.g. campfires, fireworks, cigarettes or other causes, some have natural causes. Consequently, emissions from wildfires have both an anthropogenic and a natural component.



Figure 2.6d: Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + natural disturbance (ND) and area burned. Blue bars (left Y-axis) represent annual total net GHG emission (Gg $CO_{2}e$) from managed forest land net sink. The dashed red line (right Y-axis) represents the annual area burned (kha).

To disaggregate the natural component of emissions and removals from wildfires, the country uses its national definition of natural disturbances: *Natural Disturbances are those wildfires that are nonanthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions in forests and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, the Country's land use and management practices. These practices exclude salvage logging and prescribed burning.*

All wildfires are considered not materially influenced by the country's land use and management practices since the use of fire is forbidden in any forest land and the country has an advanced national fire management system for fire prevention, fire monitoring and fire suppression in all land uses, including forest land.

To identify wildfires that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of the country's fire management system and are therefore considered natural disturbances, the country looks for statistical outliers that fall outside the 95 percent confidence interval of the variability of the historical time series of the annual GHG emissions from wildfires²². To do so, the distribution of emissions from wildfires is established, and it is assumed that all values within the normal

 $^{^{20}}$ The presented methodology is based on the EU Regulation 2018/841

²¹ Data for this example are derived from the Italian GHG inventory

²² Such time series do not include emissions from salvage logging nor emissions from wildfires that are followed by a deforestation event. The time series can start before the base year of the country and may include all years for which data are available. For this example, the time series starts in 1971.

BOX 2.2K (NEW) (CONTINUED)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION

distribution are exclusively associated with the anthropogenic component²³, any outlier value, in the upper tail, is considered as the signal of a disturbance event that is unlikely to have been generated by anthropogenic causes alone and therefore includes a natural component.

In practice, first a historical time series of annual emissions²⁴ from wildfires is constructed starting from 1971, i.e., the base year (1990) of the NGHGI of the country minus 20 years. Then, using an iterative process, outliers (if any) that are larger than the mean plus two times²⁵ the standard deviation are removed from the time series in successive iterations, until an outlier-free normal distribution is obtained.

The resulting time series, as well as its mean (referred to below as the background level of anthropogenic emissions from wildfires) and two times its standard deviation (referred to below as the margin) excludes all outliers. Based on these statistics, natural disturbances are those that occur in years when the total immediate emissions from wildfires are larger than the background level plus the margin and emissions from these natural disturbances are quantified as the amount exceeding the background level. This amount is disaggregated from the anthropogenic component.

To establish the balance between immediate CO₂ emissions (F) and total subsequent CO₂ removals²⁶ (R) due to natural disturbances, and to avoid introducing artificial trends to the time series, the country also estimates and reports removals occurring from land disturbed in the X years prior to the inventory year, where X^{27} is the length of the period that is needed for forest vegetation (by relevant forest types and site types) to recover the pre-disturbance C stock. The CO₂ removals are quantified under the assumption that forest vegetation fully recovers within X years after wildfires. This assumption is based on the current legislation that forbids conversion of burnt forests to other land uses and that prescribes post-fire management activities aimed at rehabilitating the pre-fire forest vegetation. Consequently, the average amount of subsequent annual removals (R_{annual}) to be disaggregated for X years of a past ND event²⁸ is equivalent to $\frac{F}{x}$ and $\sum_{0}^{x} R_{annual} = R = F$ (where 0 is the year in which the natural disturbances occur and X the time needed for C stocks to recover to their pre-disturbance level).

²³ The average value of this distribution is the so -called background level of emissions associated with disturbances and it is considered anthropogenic.

²⁴ The country includes the emissions of fire events only, delayed emissions associated with the decay of biomass that was killed during the fire are not considered

²⁵ This is an approximation of Student's t value for data series with number of data ≥ 30 .

²⁶ Calculated directly from the biomass net increment (ΔC_G of IPCC equation 2.7)

²⁷ For this example, X has been estimated to be 20 years for the entire country's territory.

²⁸ This means that in any year Y of the NGHGI the amount of CO₂ removals to be disaggregated is equivalent to the $\sum_{Y-X}^{Y} \left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ (where $\left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ are the annual CO= removals occurring on all lands disturbed in the period Y-X that have not yet achieved their pre-disturbance level of C stocks.)



2.6.4 Reporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emissions and removals for managed lands

Voluntary disaggregation of the total of emissions and removals in the MLP into those that are associated with human effects and those due to natural disturbances may provide a clearer picture of the impact of management activities. It is understood that a complete separation of the direct human impacts from natural impacts is, at this time, not possible due to limitations of scientific methods (IPCC 2010) but disaggregating the emissions and subsequent removals that are associated with natural disturbances on managed lands may be a helpful first step.

The MLP total is the sum of all emissions and removals on managed land. Box 2.2l describes a possible approach to reporting the total E/R from MLP plus the two components from:

- 1. Natural disturbances;
- 2. Anthropogenic activities (direct and indirect human effects).

The first component includes emissions from natural disturbances and subsequent net removals from regrowth. Emissions may include delayed emissions from dead organic matter that was added by the disturbance to the already existing dead organic matter pools.

The second component includes emissions and removals directly and indirectly associated with human activity calculated as the difference between MLP total emissions and removals minus those associated with natural disturbances.

In those cases where natural disturbance fluxes are large compared to the anthropogenic component of the MLP, the optional disaggregation of estimates of the emissions and removals associated with natural disturbances can identify the estimated trends of the emissions and removals on managed land associated with human activity, as demonstrated in recent NGHGI reports (e.g., Boxes 2.2I, 2.2J).

Transparency:

For those countries that choose to identify, quantify and report disaggregated natural disturbance emissions and subsequent removals, it is *good practice* to document disaggregated emissions and removals in the MLP, and the approaches, assumptions and methods used.

It is *good practice* to document the following:

- Consistency of the country approach with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in Section 2.6.1.2, if any.
- The **types** of natural disturbances for which emissions and subsequent removals are identified, quantified and disaggregated within MLP reporting.
- How the **requirements** associated with the above definition of natural disturbances are met, including that the identified ND events are "non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances", which can be demonstrated by providing information to show that the disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country".
- How the emissions and removals that are materially influenced by human actions are excluded from the natural disturbances component.

The demonstration that natural disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country" is based on scientific reasoning or evidence and documentation on practicable efforts to prevent, manage or control the occurrences that led to the natural disturbances. Such evidence and practicable efforts may include but are not limited to:

- Studies showing the prevalent direct cause of fires in a given region, forest type and climate zone; information on weather conditions related to the disturbance events or to the cumulative affected areas;
- Application of preventative measures or modifying factors related to the occurrence or propagation of the disturbances that may reduce the likelihood and/or magnitude of the disturbances occurring;
- Efforts to manage or control the disturbances when they occur, to the extent possible.

It is *good practice* to document the **methods** used to identify, quantify and disaggregate the impact of ND on GHG emissions and removals, including information on:

- How the method is consistent with the expectation that the CO₂ emissions from areas affected by natural disturbance will be balanced by subsequent removals.
- The methods by which GHG fluxes are disaggregated from total MLP fluxes.
- For lands subject to ND, documentation on how subsequent land use and land-use change, if any, is identified and how GHG fluxes previously disaggregated as associated with natural disturbances are re-assigned to the anthropogenic component following land-use change.

Documentation on the manner in which emissions associated with human activities that occur after the natural disturbance event (such as salvage logging and site rehabilitation or other activities that do not cause a land-use to change), and subsequent removals, are estimated and disaggregated.

Land-use category	e.g	. Forest land	l remai	ining	forest	land
Years		Start year [†]			•••	Inventory yea
Total Area under the MLP (kha)					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions					
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total*					
Annual area of natural disturba	ances (kha) ²⁹					
Area subject to natural distu	urbances (kha) ³⁰					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions					
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total					
Remaining area of managed	land (kha)					
	Gains					
Carbon stock change	Losses					
	Net					
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions			1		
Net E/R plus non-CO2	Total #					

[†] This is the first year in the inventory time series, e.g. 1990.

* This is the total MLP estimate of net emissions and removals, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

This is the optional disaggregated estimate of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

²⁹ The area of natural disturbance in the year it first occurs.

 $^{^{30}}$ The cumulative area which has been subject to natural disturbances up to and including the current inventory year, minus the area of natural disturbances on which past CO₂ emissions are considered to be balanced by subsequent removals since the occurrence of the natural disturbance. In the cumulative area totals, areas affected multiple times are included only once.

Annex 2A.1 Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks

Data presented in Table 2.3 were derived from Batjes (2011) and Batjes (2010) unless no values were available for particular combinations of IPCC Climate Zones and IPCC soil types. Where no values were available, values were taken from the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas or the 1996 IPCC Guidelines.

Reference C Stocks for the mineral soils C method were derived for IPCC climate zones (IPCC 2006 p. 3.39) and IPCC soil classes (IPCC 2006 pp. 3.40-3.41). Soil data are from the ISRIC-WISE database (10250 profiles) complimented with 1900 additional geo-referenced profiles from under represented temperate and boreal sites. Data from all soils were screened and where organic carbon contents were determined using the Walkley Black analysis, values were adjusted based on a conversion factor of 1.3 to estimate corresponding values that would have been obtained by dry combustion analysis. Profiles were collected between 1925 and 2010 with two-thirds of the pedons sampled between 1955 and 1995. Profiles were classified as "cultivated or disturbed" vs "(semi)natural". Only profiles flagged as being under native vegetation (classified as "(semi)natural") were included (a total of 5560 profiles equating to approximately 1.6 times that used in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines). The profiles also had a better geographical distribution across the globe compared to those use to derive reference carbon stock values within the 2006 IPCC Guidelines.

The following equation was used to compute SOC stocks:



Where:

- T_d = total amount of organic carbon over depth, d, (in kg m⁻²) ρ_i = bulk density of layer i (Mg m⁻³) P_i = the proportion of organic carbon in layer i (g C Kg⁻¹) D_i = thickness of the layer (m)
- S_i = volume of the fraction of fragments >2 mm

Gaps in bulk density and coarse fragment >2mm content data were filled using pedo(taxo)-transfer functions presented by Batjes *et al.* (2007) on the basis of soil type, soil textural class and soil depth. IPCC Tier 1 methods consider changes in 0-30 cm soil depth layer; however, best-estimates were also derived for 0-50 and 0-100 cm soil depth layers.

Annex 2A.2 Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from Biochar Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods

Thermochemical Conversion Technologies

For the purpose of this methodology, biochar is defined as a solid material generated by heating biomass to a temperature in excess of 350 °C under conditions of controlled and limited oxidant concentrations to prevent combustion. These processes can be classified as either pyrolysis (in which oxidants are excluded), or gasification (in which oxidant concentrations are low enough to generate syngas).

Torrefaction and hydrothermal carbonisation (also called liquefaction) are not included because they do not generate solid products that are significantly more persistent in soil than the original organic feedstock material (Libra *et al.* 2011; Kammann *et al.* 2012). Both of these processes typically utilise temperatures below 350°C, with torrefaction operating under dry feedstock conditions in ambient pressure, while hydrothermal carbonisation uses pressurised wet aqueous slurries. In contrast, pyrolysis operates at temperatures at 350°C and above (typically but not always below 700°C) under variable times, and gasification utilises temperatures between 500 and 1500°C and typically short times (Boateng *et al.* 2015), both in dry conditions. Dry conditions are defined here in terms of the feedstock moisture, whereby feedstocks can have moisture up to 20percent after pre-drying; in comparison, wet slurries typically have liquid water contents above 80percent.

Priming of native soil organic carbon by biochar amendments

Mineralisation of native soil organic carbon is on average reduced by 4 percent (95 percent CI = -8.1-0.8percent) after biochar additions to soil (Wang *et al.* 2015). Similar to laboratory trials (Kuzyakov *et al.* 2014), field trials also show reductions in mineralisation of native soil organic carbon close to a decade after biochar additions (Weng *et al.* 2017) as well as in biochar-rich soils after several millennia (Liang *et al.* 2010). Known mechanisms that would cause an increase in mineralisation involve co-metabolism (Whitman *et al.* 2015) that operates over the short term by supplying easily mineralisable organic matter as a source of energy to metabolise native organic matter (Zimmerman *et al.* 2011). Conservatively, we assume no effect of biochar on existing soil organic matter in the long term.

Nitrous oxide emissions from soil after biochar amendments

Meta-analyses have found that nitrous oxide emissions are on average reduced between 54 percent (Cayuela *et al.* 2014), 38 percent (Borchard *et al.* 2018), 32 percent (Liu *et al.* 2018) to 0 percent (Verhoeven *et al.* 2017) after addition of biochar to soil. Any reductions in nitrous oxide emissions due to biochar additions typically decline over several years after application (Fungo *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, assessments of nitrous oxide emissions several years after biochar additions are indicative of long-term emission reductions although at lower rates, since changes in biochar properties occur slowly over long periods of time (decades and centuries) compared to changes observed during the initial days to years (Nguyen *et al.* 2008).

High-N feedstocks generate biochar with some microbially available N (Wang *et al.* 2012) and can lead to short-term (days to weeks) increases in total nitrous oxide emissions if produced at lower temperatures (< 600 °C) (Cayuela *et al.* 2013). However, charring consistently reduces nitrous oxide emissions originating from the nitrogen in nitrogen-rich organic materials (Rose *et al.* 2016), as easily mineralisable amino-groups are converted to polyaromatic nitrogen-carbon structures (Knicker 2007).

Due to limiting evidence demonstrating the long-term persistence of soil nitrous oxide emission reductions, it is conservatively assumed that biochar does not reduce nitrous oxide emissions from soil in the Tier 1 method. However, any bioavailable N additions associated with biochar amendments should be included in the calculations of direct and indirect soil nitrous oxide emissions (Volume 4, Chapter 11) as part of organic N inputs. This approach will be conservative in terms of the influence of biochar on greenhouse gas emissions for the Tier 1 method.

Biochar Amendments to Organic Soils

No methods are provided in this guidance for estimating the impact of amending organic soils with biochar. Compilers may be able to develop a Tier 3 method for estimating the impact of biochar C amendments to organic soils, but it is important to recognise that the dynamics may be different, particularly with respect to priming. Few studies have investigated the impact of priming by biochar on organic soils. However, one study that has investigated priming of organic horizons in a forest soil found substantial losses of soil C over a ten-year period with charcoal additions (Wardle *et al.* 2008). Wardle *et al.* (2008) did not use isotopes and were therefore unable to attribute these losses unequivocally to the organic soil C or to the charcoal. Nor was their study able to determine the extent to which enhanced mass loss of organic soil carbon was due to mineralisation, or was due to vertical transport of the C into the soil column as dissolved or colloidal organic carbon (Lehmann & Sohi 2008). Nonetheless, the Wardle *et al.* (2008) study did indicate the possibility that priming of soil organic matter decomposition by biochar may lead to a net loss of soil C in organic soils.

References

REFERENCES NEWLY CITED IN THE 2019 REFINEMENT

Inventory Framework

- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- IPCC (2015) *Application of 2006 IPCC Guidelines to Other Areas*. Eds: Baasansuren, J., Tanabe, K. and Fukuda, Meeting Report of the IPCC Expert Meeting, Pub. IGES, Japan.

Biomass C (Allometric Models and Biomass Maps)

- Avitabile, V., Baccini, A., Friedl, M. A. & Schmullius, C. (2012) Capabilities and limitations of Landsat and land cover data for aboveground woody biomass estimation of Uganda. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 117: 366-380.
- Avitabile, V., Herold, M., Heuvelink, G. B., Lewis, S. L., Phillips, O. L., Asner, G. P., Armston, J., Ashton, P. S., Banin, L. & Bayol, N. (2016) An integrated pan-tropical biomass map using multiple reference datasets. *Global change biology* 22(4): 1406-1420.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S., Walker, W., Laporte, N., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J., Beck, P., Dubayah, R. & Friedl, M. (2012) Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature climate change* 2(3): 182.
- Baccini, A., Walker, W., Carvalho, L., Farina, M., Sulla-Menashe, D. & Houghton, R. (2017) Tropical forests are a net carbon source based on aboveground measurements of gain and loss. *Science* **358**(6360): 230-234.
- Baker, T. R., Phillips, O. L., Malhi, Y., Almeida, S., Arroyo, L., Di Fiore, A., Erwin, T., Higuchi, N., Killeen, T. J. & Laurance, S. G. (2004) Increasing biomass in Amazonian forest plots. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 353-365.
- Calders, K., Newnham, G., Burt, A., Murphy, S., Raumonen, P., Herold, M., Culvenor, D., Avitabile, V., Disney, M. & Armston, J. (2015) Nondestructive estimates of above-ground biomass using terrestrial laser scanning. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 198–208. In.
- Chambers, J. Q., dos Santos, J., Ribeiro, R. J. & Higuchi, N. (2001) Tree damage, allometric relationships, and above-ground net primary production in central Amazon forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 152(1-3): 73-84.
- Chave, J., Condit, R., Aguilar, S., Hernandez, A., Lao, S. & Perez, R. (2004) Error propagation and scaling for tropical forest biomass estimates. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 409-420.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M. S., Delitti, W. B., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P. M. & Goodman, R. C. (2014) Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global change biology* 20(10): 3177-3190.
- Chave, J. r., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M. A., Chambers, J., Eamus, D., Fölster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N. & Kira, T. (2005) Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia* 145(1): 87-99.
- Disney, M., Boni Vicari, M., Burt, A., Calders, K., Lewis, S., Raumonen, P. & Wilkes, P. (2018) Weighing trees with lasers: advances, challenges and opportunities. *Interface Focus* 8(2): 20170048.
- Fabrika, M. & Pretzsch, H. (2013) *Forest Ecosystem Analysis and Modelling*. TECHNICAL University in Zvolen, Zvolen, Slovakia: Faculty of Forestry, Department of Forest Management and Geodesy.
- Gonzalez de Tanago, J., Lau, A., Bartholomeus, H., Herold, M., Avitabile, V., Raumonen, P., Martius, C., Goodman, R. C., Disney, M. & Manuri, S. (2018) Estimation of above-ground biomass of large tropical trees with terrestrial LiDAR. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9(2): 223-234.
- Henry, M., Picard, N., Trotta, C., Manlay, R., Valentini, R., Bernoux, M. & Saint André, L. (2011) Estimating tree biomass of sub-Saharan African forests: a review of available allometric equations. *Silva Fennica* 45(3B): 477-569.
- Herold, M., Carter, S., Avitabile, V., Espejo, A. B., Jonckheere, I., Lucas, R., McrRoberts, R. E., Næsset, E., Nightingale, J., Petersen, R., Reiche, J., Romijn, E., Rosenqvist, A., Rozendaal, D. M. A., Seifert, F. M., Sanz,

M. J. & de Sy, V. (2019). The Role and Need for Space-Based Forest Biomass-Related Measurements in Environmental Management and Policy. In : Surveys in Geophysics, 22 p. 10.1007/s10712-019-09510-6

- Inoue, Y., Kiyono, Y., Asai, H., Ochiai, Y., Qi, J., Olioso, A., Shiraiwa, T., Horie, T., Saito, K. & Dounagsavanh, L. (2010) Assessing land-use and carbon stock in slash-and-burn ecosystems in tropical mountain of Laos based on time-series satellite images. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 12(4): 287-297.
- Jenkins, J. C., Chojnacky, D. C., Heath, L. S. & Birdsey, R. A. (2004) Comprehensive database of diameter-based biomass regressions for North American tree species. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-319. Newtown Square, PA: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 45 p.[1 CD-ROM]. 319.
- Jucker, T., Caspersen, J., Chave, J., Antin, C., Barbier, N., Bongers, F., Dalponte, M., van Ewijk, K. Y., Forrester, D. I. & Haeni, M. (2017) Allometric equations for integrating remote sensing imagery into forest monitoring programmes. *Global change biology* 23(1): 177-190.
- Ketterings, Q. M., Coe, R., van Noordwijk, M. & Palm, C. A. (2001) Reducing uncertainty in the use of allometric biomass equations for predicting above-ground tree biomass in mixed secondary forests. *Forest Ecology and management* 146(1-3): 199-209.
- Krisnawati, H., Adinugroho, W. C. & Imanuddin, R. (2012) Allometric models for estimating tree biomass at various forest ecosystem types in Indonesia. Bogor, Java, Indonesia: Research and Development Center for Conservation and Rehabilitation, Forestry Research and Development Agency.
- Kurz, W. & Apps, M. (2006) Developing Canada's national forest carbon monitoring, accounting and reporting system to meet the reporting requirements of the Kyoto Protocol. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 11(1): 33-43.
- Lang, M., Lilleleht, A., Neumann, M., Bronisz, K., Rolim, S. G., Seedre, M., Uri, V. & Kiviste, A. (2016) Estimation of above-ground biomass in forest stands from regression on their basal area and height. *Forestry Studies* 64(1): 70-92.
- Liaw, A. & Wiener, M. (2002) Classification and regression by randomForest. *R news* 2(3): 18-22.
- Lim, K., Treitz, P., Baldwin, K., Morrison, I. & Green, J. (2003) Lidar remote sensing of biophysical properties of tolerant northern hardwood forests. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing* 29(5): 658-678.
- Longo, M., Keller, M., dos-Santos, M. N., Leitold, V., Pinagé, E. R., Baccini, A., Saatchi, S., Nogueira, E. M., Batistella, M. & Morton, D. C. (2016) Aboveground biomass variability across intact and degraded forests in the Brazilian Amazon. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **30**(11): 1639-1660.
- López-Serrano, F., Garcia-Morote, A., Andres-Abellan, M., Tendero, A. & Del Cerro, A. (2005) Site and weather effects in allometries: a simple approach to climate change effect on pines. *Forest Ecology and Management* 215(1-3): 251-270.
- Luo, Y., Zhang, X., Wang, X. & Lu, F. (2014) Biomass and its allocation of Chinese forest ecosystems. *Ecology* 95(7): 2026-2026.
- Mascaro, J., Asner, G. P., Muller-Landau, H. C., van Breugel, M., Hall, J. & Dahlin, K. (2011) Controls over aboveground forest carbon density on Barro Colorado Island, Panama. *Biogeosciences* 8(6).
- Mensah, S., Veldtman, R., Du Toit, B., Glèlè Kakaï, R. & Seifert, T. (2016) Aboveground biomass and carbon in a South African mistbelt forest and the relationships with tree species diversity and forest structures. *Forests* **7**(4): 79.
- Mugasha, W. A., Mwakalukwa, E. E., Luoga, E., Malimbwi, R. E., Zahabu, E., Silayo, D. S., Sola, G., Crete, P., Henry, M. & Kashindye, A. (2016) Allometric models for estimating tree volume and aboveground biomass in lowland forests of Tanzania. *International Journal of Forestry Research* 2016.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Determination of mean tree height of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* **52**(2): 49-56.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Estimating timber volume of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **61**(2): 246-253.
- Nam, V. T., Van Kuijk, M. & Anten, N. P. (2016) Allometric equations for aboveground and belowground biomass estimations in an evergreen forest in Vietnam. *PloS one* **11**(6): e0156827.
- Ometto, J. P., Assis, M. L., Cantinho, R, Pereira, F., Gorgens, E., Satto, L., Siqueira, E., Tejada, G. (2018): Biomass map of Amazon with a 250m pixel size, link to GeoTIFF. *PANGAEA*, https://doi.pangaea.de/10.1594/PANGAEA.891345
- Paul, K. I., Roxburgh, S. H., Chave, J., England, J. R., Zerihun, A., Specht, A., Lewis, T., Bennett, L. T., Baker, T. G. & Adams, M. A. (2016) Testing the generality of above-ground biomass allometry across plant functional types at the continent scale. *Global change biology* 22(6): 2106-2124.
- Pérez-Cruzado, C., Fehrmann, L., Magdon, P., Cañellas, I., Sixto, H. & Kleinn, C. (2015) On the site-level suitability of biomass models. *Environmental Modelling & Software* 73: 14-26.
- Picard, N., Saint-André, L. & Henry, M. (2012) *Manual for building tree volume and biomass allometric equations: from field measurement to prediction*. Rome, Italy & Montpellier, France Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations & Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement.
- Rock, J. (2007) Suitability of published biomass equations for aspen in Central Europe—Results from a case study. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **31**(5): 299-307.
- Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T. A., Salas, W., Zutta, B. R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S. L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M. & Morel, A. (2011) Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108(24): 9899-9904.
- Santoro, M. & Cartus, O. (2018) Research Pathways of Forest Above-Ground Biomass Estimation Based on SAR Backscatter and Interferometric SAR Observations. *Remote Sensing* **10**(4): 608.
- Schepaschenko, D., Shvidenko, A., Usoltsev, V., Lakyda, P., Luo, Y., Vasylyshyn, R., Lakyda, I., Myklush, Y., See, L., McCallum, I., Fritz, S., Kraxner, F. & Obersteiner, M. (2017) A dataset of forest biomass structure for Eurasia. *Scientific Data* 4: 170070.
- Seiler, C., Hutjes, R. W. A., Kruijt, B., Quispe, J., Añez, S., Arora, V. K., Melton, J. R., Hickler, T. & Kabat, P. (2014) Modeling forest dynamics along climate gradients in Bolivia. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 119(5): 758-775.
- Tomppo, E., Gschwantner, T., Lawrence, M. & McRoberts, R. E. (2010) National Forest Inventories Pathways for Common Reporting. Springer, USA.
- Vidal, C., Alberdi, I., Hernandez, L. & J., R. (2016) National Forest Inventories Assessment of Wood Availability and Use. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Vieilledent, G., Vaudry, R., Andriamanohisoa, S. F. D., Rakotonarivo, O. S., Randrianasolo, H. Z., Razafindrabe, H. N., Rakotoarivony, C. B., Ebeling, J. & Rasamoelina, M. (2012) A universal approach to estimate biomass and carbon stock in tropical forests using generic allometric models. *Ecological Applications* 22(2): 572-583.
- Youkhana, A. H., Ogoshi, R. M., Kiniry, J. R., Meki, M. N., Nakahata, M. H. & Crow, S. E. (2017) Allometric Models for Predicting Aboveground Biomass and Carbon Stock of Tropical Perennial C4 Grasses in Hawaii. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8(650).
- Zianis, D., Muukkonen, P., Mäkipää, R. & Mencuccini, M. (2005) Biomass and Stem Volume Equations for Tree Species in Europe. *Silva Fennica Monographs* **4**: 63.

Dead Organic Matter C

- Chertov, O., Komarov, A., Shaw, C., Bykhovets, S., Frolov, P., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputin, I., Zubkova, E., & Shashkov, M. (2017). Romul_Hum-A model of soil organic matter formation coupling with soil biota activity. II. Parameterisation of the soil food web biota activity. Ecological Modelling 345: 125-139.
- Cook, G.D., Meyer, C.P., Muepu, M. & Liedloff, A.C. (2017). Dead organic matter and the dynamics of carbon and greenhouse gas emissions in frequently burnt savannas. International Journal of Wildland Fire **25**(12): 1252-1263.
- Filser, J., Faber, J.H., Tiunov, A.V., Brussaard, L., Frouz, J., De Deyn, G., Uvarov, A.V., Berg, M.P., Lavelle, P., Loreau, M., Wall, D.H., Querner, P., Eijsackers, H. & Jimenez J.J. (2016). Soil fauna: key to new carbon models. Soil 2: 565-582.
- García-Palacios P., Maestre F.T., Kattge J. & Wall, D.H. (2013). Climate and litter quality differently modulate the effects of soil fauna on litter decomposition across biomes. Ecology Letters **16**(8): 1045-1053.
- Harmon, M. E., Bond-Lamberty, B., Tang, J. & Vargas, R. (2011). Heterotrophic respiration in disturbed forests: A review with examples from North America. Journal Geophysical Research **116**.
- Harmon, M.E., Fasth, B., Woodall, C.W. & Sexton, J. (2013). Carbon concentration of standing and downed woody detritus: Effects of tree taxa, decay class, position, and tissue type. Forest Ecology and Management 291: 259-267.

- Harmon, M.E., Krankina, O.N. & Sexton, J. (2000). Decomposition vectors: a new approach to estimating woody detritus decomposition dynamics. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **30**(1): 76-84.
- Hattenschwiler S., Tiunov A.V. & Scheu, S. (2005). Biodiversity and litter decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review Ecology, Evolution, Systematics, **36**: 191–218.
- Hu, Z., Xu, C., McDowell, N.G., Johnson, D.J., Wang, M., Luo, Y., Zhou, X. & Huang, Z. (2017). Linking microbial community composition to C loss rates during wood decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 104: 108-116.
- Komarov, A., Chertov, O., Bykhovets, S., Shaw, C., Nadporozhskaya, M., Frolov, P., Shashkov, M., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputina, I. & Zubkova, E. (2017). Romul_ Hum model of soil organic matter formation coupled with soil biota activity. I. Problem formulation, model description, and testing, Ecological Modelling 345: 113–124.
- Lavelle, P., Blanchart, E., Martin, A. & Martin, S. (1993). A hierarchical model for decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems: application to soils of the humid tropics. Biotropica **25**: 130–150.
- Rock J., Badek, F.-W. & Harmon M. E. (2008). Estimating decomposition rate constants for European tree species from the literature. European Journal of Forest Research **127**: 301-313.
- Russell, M.B., Woodall, C.W., D'Amato, A.W., Fraver S. & Bradford, J.B. (2014). Linking climate change and downed woody debris decomposition across forests of the eastern United States. Biogeosciences 11: 6417-6425.
- Smith, J. E. & Heath, L. S. (2002). A model of forest floor carbon mass for United States forest types. Newton Square, PA, USDA Forest Service.
- References for defaults in Table 2.2
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N. (2012). The national inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's pre-1990 planted forest using a LiDAR incomplete-transect approach. Forest Ecology and Management 280: 187–197.
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N.B. (2011). The inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's post-1989 planted forest. Forest Ecology and Management 262: 1119–1130.
- Canada's National Forest Inventory. 2018. https://nfi.nfis.org/en. Contact: Cindy Shaw (cindy.shaw@canada.ca)
- Domke, G.M., Perry, C.H., Walters, B.F., Woodall, C.W., Russell, M.B. & Smith, J.E. (2016). Estimating litter carbon stocks on forest land in the United States. Science of the Total Environment **557**: 469-478.
- FAO, 2014a: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Argentina. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az153s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014b: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Brazil. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az172e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014c: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Chile. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az185s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014d: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Ecuador. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az203s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014e: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report French Guiana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az215f.pdf].
- FAO, 2014f: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Guyana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az232e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014g: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Suriname. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az343e.pdf].
- Holdaway, R.J., Easdale, T.A., Carswell, F.E., Richardson, S.J., Peltzer, D.A., Mason, N.W., Brandon, A.M. & Coomes, D.A. (2017). Nationally representative plot network reveals contrasting drivers of net biomass change in secondary and old-growth forests. Ecosystems 20(5): 944-959.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012a). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: site and profile information. http://bwc.lbl.gov/StaticReports/ISCN/SiteProfile_LATEST.xls.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012b). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: Per-layer data. http://bwc.lbl.gov/ StaticReports/ISCN/ISCNLayerData_LATEST.xlsx.

Japan's National Forest Inventory. 2018. Contact: Shigehiro Ishizuka (ishiz02@ffpri.affrc.go.jp)

- Shaw, C., Bhatti, J.S. & Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests (Vol. 403). Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre. [http://www.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/bookstore_pdfs/ 25626.pdf]
- Ugawa, S., Takahashi, M., Morisada, K., Tabeuchi, M., Kaneko, S. (2012). Carbon stocks of dead wood, litter, and soil in the forest sector of Japan: general description of the National Forest Soil Carbon Inventory. Bulletin of Forestry and Forest Research **11**(4): 207-221.

Soil C

- ABARES. (2016) Land Use of Australia 2010-11. A Derived map showing land use clasified in 17 broad groupings of ALUMC version 7 tertiary classes. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences
- Baldock, J., Sanderman, J., Macdonald, L., Massis, A., Hawke, B., Szarvas, S. & McGowan, J. (2013) Quantifying the allocation of soil organic carbon to biologically significant fractions. Soil Research **51**: 561-576.
- Batjes, N. (2010) A global framework of soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. In: p. 79. Wageningen, The Netherlands: ISRIC World Soil Information.
- Batjes, N. (2011) Soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation Revised estimates for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 142: 365-373.
- Batjes, N. H., Al-Adamat, R., Bhattacharyya, T., Bernoux, M., Cerri, C. E. P., Gicheru, P., Kamoni, P., Milne, E., Pal, D. K. & Rawajfih, Z. (2007) Preparation of consistent soil data sets for modelling purposes: Secondary SOTER data for four case study areas. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 122(1): 26-34.
- Boateng, A. A., Garcia-Perez, M., Mašek, O., Brown, R. & del Campo, B. (2015) Biochar production technology. In: Biochar for Environmental Management, pp. 95-120. Routledge.
- Borchard, N., Schirrmann, M., Cayuela, M.L., Kammann, C., Wrage-Mönnig, N., Estavillo, J.M., Fuertes-Mendizábal, T., Sigua, G., Spokas, K., Ippolito, J.A. & Novak, J. (2018) Biochar, soil and land-use interactions that reduce nitrate leaching and N₂O emissions: A meta-analysis. Science of The Total Environment 651: 2354-2364.
- Bruun, T. B., Mertz, O. & Elberling, B. (2006) Linking yields of upland rice in shifting cultivation to fallow length and soil properties. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **113**: 139-149.
- Caccetta, P., Furby, S., Wallace, J., Wu, X., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. (2012) Long-term monitoring of Autralian land cover change using landsat data: development, implementation and opertation. In: Global Forest Monitoring from Earth Observation, eds. F. Achard & M. Hansen, pp. 243-258. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Cayuela, M. L., Aguilera, E., Sanz-Coben, a. A., Adams, D. C., Abalos, D., Barton, L., Ryals, R., Silver, W. L., Alfaro, M. A., Pappa, V. A., Smith, P., Garnier, J., Billen, G., Bouwman, L., Bondeau, A. & Lassaletta, L. (2017) Direct nitrous oxide emissions in Mediterranean climate cropping systems: Emission factors based on a meta-analysis of available measurement data. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 238: 25-35.
- Cayuela, M. L., Jeffery, S. & van Zwieten, L. (2015) The molar H:Corg ratio of biochar is a key factor in mitigating N₂O emissions from soil. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **202**: 135-138.
- Cayuela, M. L., Sánchez-Monedero, M. A., Roig, A., Hanley, K., Enders, A. & Lehmann, J. (2013) Biochar and denitrification in soils: when, how much and why does biochar reduce N₂O emissions? Scientific Reports **3**: 1-7.
- Cayuela, M. L., van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Jeffery, S., Roig, A. & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2014) Biochar's role in mitigating soil nitrous oxide emissions: A review and meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 191: 5-16.
- Chappell, A. & Baldock, J. (2014) Modelling Australian Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics. In: p. 36. Melbourne, Australia: CSIRO.
- Coleman, K. & Jenkinson, D. S. (1996) RothC-26.3 A Model for the turnover of carbon in soil. In: Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models: Using Existing Long-Term Datasets, eds. D. S. Powlson, P. Smith & J. U. Smith, pp. 237-246. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Dalsgaard, L., Lange, H., Strand, L., Callesen, I., Borgen, S. K., Liski, J. & Astrup, R. (2016): Underestimation of boreal forest soil carbon stocks related to soil classification and drainage. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 46: 1413-1425

- de Gruijter, J., Brus, D., Bierkens, M. & Knotters, M. (2006) Sampling for Natural Resource Monitoring. Berlin: Springer.
- Díaz-Zorita, M., Barraco, M. & Alvarez, C. (1999) Efectos de doce años de labranzas en un Hapludol del noroeste de Buenos Aires, Argentina. Ciencia del Suelo 22: 11-18.
- Fungo, B., Lehmann, J., Kalbitz, K., Tenywa, M., Thiongo, M. & Neufeldt, H. (2017) Emissions intensity and carbon stocks of a tropical Ultisol after amendment with Tithonia green manure, urea and biochar. Field Crops Research 209: 179-188.
- Gaunt, J. L. & Lehmann, J. (2008) Energy balance and emissions associated with biochar sequestration and pyrolysis bioenergy production. Environmental Science & Technology **42**(11): 4152-4158.
- Goll, D. S., Winkler, A. J., Raddatz, T., Dong, N., Prentice, I. C., Ciais, P. & Brovkin, V. (2017) Carbon-nitrogen interactions in idealized simulations with JSBACH (version 3.10). Geoscientific Model Development 10(5): 2009-2030.
- Hammond, J., Shackley, S., Sohi, S. & Brownsort, P. (2011) Prospective life cycle carbon abatement for pyrolysis biochar systems in the UK. Energy Policy 39(5): 2646-2655.
- Hernandez, L., Jandl, R., Blujdea, V. N. B., Lehtonen, A., Kriiska, K., Alberdi, I., Adermann, V., Canellas, I., Marin, G., Moreno-Fernandez, D., Ostonen, I., Varik, M. & Didion, M. (2017) Towards complete and harmonized assessment of soil carbon stocks and balance in forests: The ability of the Yasso07 model across a wide gradient of climatic and forest conditions in Europe. Science of the Total Environment **599**: 1171-1180.
- Jeffery, S., Abalos, D., Spokas, K. A. & Verheijen, F. G. A. (2015) Biochar effects on crop yield. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2.
- Jeffery, S., Verheijen, F. G. A., van der Velde, M. & Bastos, A. C. (2011) A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 144(1): 175-187.
- Kammann, C., Ratering, S., Eckhard, C. & Müller, C. (2012) Biochar and Hydrochar Effects on Greenhouse Gas (Carbon Dioxide, Nitrous Oxide, and Methane) Fluxes from Soils. Journal of Environmental Quality 41(4): 1052-1066.
- Karhu, K., Gardenas, A. I., Heikkinen, J., Vanhala, P., Tuomi, M. & Liski, J. (2012) Impacts of organic amendments on carbon stocks of an agricultural soil - Comparison of model-simulations to measurements. Geoderma 189: 606-616.
- Kesteven, J. & Lansberg, J. (2004) Developing a national forest productivty model. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 23. Australian Greenhoude Office, Canberra, Australia. In.
- Knicker, H. (2007) How does fire affect the nature and stability of soil organic nitrogen and carbon? A review. Biogeochemistry **85**(1): 91-118.
- Lehmann, J., Abiven, S., Kleber, M., Pan, G., Singh, B. P., Sohi, S. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Persistence of biochar in soil. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation: 233-280.
- Lehmann, J. & Sohi, S. (2008) Comment on "Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus". Science 321(5894): 1295-1295.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievanen, R., Makipaa, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. Geoscientific Model Development 9(11): 4169-4183.
- Lenton, T. M. & Vaughan, N. E. (2009) The radiative forcing potential of different climate geoengineering options. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics **9**(15): 5539-5561.
- Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Sohi, S. P., Thies, J. E., O'Neill, B., Trujillo, L., Gaunt, J., Solomon, D., Grossman, J., Neves, E. G. & Luizão, F. J. (2010) Black carbon affects the cycling of non-black carbon in soil. Organic Geochemistry 41(2): 206-213.
- Libra, J. A., Ro, K. S., Kammann, C., Funke, A., Berge, N. D., Neubauer, Y., Titirici, M.-M., Fühner, C., Bens, O., Kern, J. & Emmerich, K.-H. (2011) Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass residuals: a comparative review of the chemistry, processes and applications of wet and dry pyrolysis. Biofuels 2(1): 71-106.Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Amonette, J.E., Lin, Z., Liu, G., Ambus, P. & Xie, Z. (2018) How does biochar influence soil N cycle? A meta-analysis. Plant and Soil 426(1-2): 211-225.

- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, E. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and estimation for investigating the dynamics of natural resources. Ecological Applications 8(2): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The National Resources Inventory: A long-term multi-resource monitoring programme. Environmental and Ecological Statistics **4**(3): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. Global Change Biology **16**(2): 810-822.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) An empirically based approach for estimating uncertainty associated with modelling carbon sequestration in soils. Ecological Modelling 205(3-4): 453-463.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M., Ojima, D. & Schimel, D. (1998) DAYCENT and its land surface submodel: description and testing. Global and Planetary Change 19(1–4): 35-48.
- Parton, W. J., Schimel, D. S., Cole, C. V. & Ojima, D. S. (1987) Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains Grasslands. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51: 1173-1179.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Makipaa, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievanen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model - Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. Forest Ecology and Management 286: 137-147.
- Richards, G. (2001) The FullCam carbon accounting model: development, calibration and implementation for the National Carbon Accounting System. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 28.
- Richards, G. & Evans, D. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM v1.0) for the Australian continent. Australian Forestry **67**: 277-283.
- Roberts, K. G., Gloy, B. A., Joseph, S., Scott, N. R. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Life Cycle Assessment of Biochar Systems: Estimating the Energetic, Economic, and Climate Change Potential. Environmental Science & Technology 44(2): 827-833.
- Rose, T. J., Keen, B., Morris, S. G., Quin, P., Rust, J., Kearney, L., Kimber, S. & Van Zwieten, L. (2016) Application of woody biochar and woody mulch to mitigate nitrous oxide emissions from a poultry litteramended soil in the subtropics. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 228: 1-8.
- Shackley, S., Carter, S., Knowles, T., Middelink, E., Haefele, S. & Haszeldine, S. (2012) Sustainable gasification– biochar systems? A case-study of rice-husk gasification in Cambodia, Part II: Field trial results, carbon abatement, economic assessment and conclusions. Energy Policy 41: 618-623.
- Shirato, Y., Hakamata, T. & Taniyama, I. (2004) Modified Rothamsted carbon model for andosols and its validation: Changing humus decomposition rate constant with pyrophosphate-extractable Al. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **50**(1): 149-158.
- Shirato, Y. & Taniyama, I. (2003) Testing the suitability of the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese non-volcanic upland soils. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **49**(6): 921-925.
- Shirato, Y. & Yokozawa, M. (2005) Applying the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese paddy soils and modifying it by simple mining of the decomposition rate. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 51(3): 405-415.
- Sparrevik, M., Field, J. L., Martinsen, V., Breedveld, G. D. & Cornelissen, G. (2013) Life Cycle Assessment to Evaluate the Environmental Impact of Biochar Implementation in Conservation Agriculture in Zambia. Environmental Science & Technology 47(3): 1206-1215.
- Spokas, K. A. (2010) Review of the stability of biochar in soils: predictability of O:C molar ratios. Carbon Management 1(2): 289-303.
- Tuomi, M., Laiho, R., Repo, A. & Liski, J. (2011) Wood decomposition model for boreal forests. Ecological Modelling 222(3): 709-718.
- Tupek, B., Ortiz, C. A., Hashimoto, S., Stendahl, J., Dahlgren, J., Karltun, E. & Lehtonen, A. (2016) Underestimation of boreal soil carbon stocks by mathematical soil carbon models linked to soil nutrient status. Biogeosciences 13(15): 4439-4459.
- Unkovich, M., Baldock, J. & Forbes, M. (2010) Variability in harvest index of grain crops and potential significance for carbon accounting: examples from Australian agriculture. Advances in Agronomy 105: 173-219.

- US-EPA. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. Report EPA 430-P-17-001. In: Washington, D.C.: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Verhoeven, E., Pereira, E., Decock, C., Suddick, E., Angst, T. & Six, J. (2017) Toward a Better Assessment of Biochar–Nitrous Oxide Mitigation Potential at the Field Scale. Journal of Environmental Quality 46(2): 237-246.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A. & Hicks, W. S. (2015) Soil organic carbon and its fractions estimated by visible-near infrared transfer functions. European Journal of Soil Science **66**(3): 438-450.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A., Webster, R., Bui, E. N. & Baldock, J. A. (2014) Baseline map of organic carbon in Australian soil to support national carbon accounting and monitoring under climate change. Global Change Biology **20**(9): 2953-2970.
- Wang, J., Xiong, Z. & Kuzyakov, Y. (2016) Biochar stability in soil: meta-analysis of decomposition and priming effects. GCB Bioenergy 8(3): 512-523.
- Wang, T., Camps Arbestain, M., Hedley, M. & Bishop, P. (2012) Chemical and bioassay characterisation of nitrogen availability in biochar produced from dairy manure and biosolids. Organic Geochemistry 51: 45-54.
- Wardle, D. A., Nilsson, M.-C. & Zackrisson, O. (2008) Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus. Science 320(5876): 629-629.
- Weng, Z., Van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Tavakkoli, E., Joseph, S., Macdonald, L. M., Rose, T. J., Rose, M. T., Kimber, S. W. L., Morris, S., Cozzolino, D., Araujo, J. R., Archanjo, B. S. & Cowie, A. (2017) Biochar built soil carbon over a decade by stabilizing rhizodeposits. Nature Climate Change 7(5): 371-376.
- Whitman, T., Nicholson, C. F., Torres, D. & Lehmann, J. (2011) Climate Change Impact of Biochar Cook Stoves in Western Kenyan Farm Households: System Dynamics Model Analysis. Environmental Science & Technology 45(8): 3687-3694.
- Whitman, T., Scholz, S. M. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Biochar projects for mitigating climate change: an investigation of critical methodology issues for carbon accounting. Carbon Management **1**(1): 89-107.
- Whitman, T., Singh, B. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Priming effects in biocharamended soils: implications of biochar-soil organic matter interactions for carbon storage. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2: 455-488.
- Woolf, D., Amonette, J. E., Street-Perrott, F. A., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2010) Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change. Nature Communications 1: 56.
- Woolf, D. & Lehmann, J. (2012) Modelling the long-term response to positive and negative priming of soil organic carbon by black carbon. Biogeochemistry 111(1): 83-95.
- Yagasaki, Y. & Shirato, Y. (2014) Assessment on the rates and potentials of soil organic carbon sequestration in agricultural lands in Japan using a process-based model and spatially explicit land-use change inventories -Part 2: Future potentials. Biogeosciences 11(16): 4443-4457.
- Zimmerman, A. R. (2010) Abiotic and Microbial Oxidation of Laboratory-Produced Black Carbon (Biochar). Environmental Science & Technology **44**(4): 1295-1301.

Generic Guidance for Tier 3 Methods

- Baldock, J. A., Hawke, B., Sanderman, J. & Macdonald, L. M. (2013) Predicting contents of carbon and its component fractions in Australian soils from diffuse reflectance mid-infrared spectra. *Soil Research* (51): 577-595.
- Bona, K. A., Fyles, J. W., Shaw, C., Kurz & W.A. (2013) Are mosses required to accurately predict upland black spruce forest soil carbon in national-scale forest C accounting models? *Ecosystems* **16**: 1071–1086.
- Bona, K. A. & Shaw, C. H. F., J.W Kurz, W.A. (2016) Modelling moss-derived carbon in upland black spruce forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 46: 520-534.
- Brack, C., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. M. (2006) Integrated and comprehensive estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from land systems. *Sustainability Science* **1**(1): 91-106.
- Conant, R. T., Smith, G. R. & Paustian, K. (2003) Spatial variability of soil carbon in forested and cultivated sites: Implications for change detection. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (32): 278-286.
- Ellert, B. H., Janzen, H. H. & Entz, T. (2002) Assessment of a method to measure temporal change in soil carbon storage. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* (66): 1687-1695.

- EPA., U. S. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. In: ed. E. P. Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Falloon, P. & Smith, P. (2003) Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* **19**: 265-269.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M. C., Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J. & Philipson, C. D. (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. *Nature Communications* 4: 1340.
- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- Gillis, M. D., Omule, A. Y. & Brierley, T. (2005) Monitoring Canada's forests: The National Forest Inventory. *Forestry Chronicle* 81: 214-221.
- Grosso, D., S., Ogle, S. M., Parton, W. J. & Breidt, F. J. (2010) Estimating uncertainty in N₂O emissions from US cropland soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* (24): GB1009.
- Grüneberg, E., Ziche, D. & Wellbrock, N. (2014) Organic carbon stocks and sequestration rates of forest soils in Germany. *Global Change Biology* 20(2644-2662).
- Hararuk, O., Shaw, C. & Kurz, W. A. (2017) Constraining the organic matter decay parameters in the CBM-CFS3 using Canadian National Forest Inventory data and a Bayesian inversion technique. *Ecological Modelling* **364**: 1-12.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievänen, R., Mäkipää, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. *Geoscientific Model Development* 9: 4169–4183.
- Luo, Y., Keenan, T. F. & Smith, M. (2015) Predictability of the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology* 21: 1737-1751.
- Metsaranta, J. M., Shaw, C. H., Kurz, W. A., Boisvenue, C. & Morken, S. (2017) Uncertainty of inventory-based estimates of the carbon dynamics of Canada's managed forest (1990–2014). *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 47: 1082-1094.
- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, F. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and Estimation for Investigating the Dynamics of Natural Resources. *Ecological Applications* (8): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The national resources inventory: a long term monitoring programme. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* (4): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. *Global Change Biology* (16): 810-820.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) Empirically-Based Uncertainty Associated with Modeling Carbon Sequestration Rates in Soils. *Ecological Modeling* (205): 453-463.
- Ortiz, C., Lundblad, M., Liski, J., Stendahl, J., Karltun, E., Lehtonen, A. & Gärdenäs, A., eds. (2009) *Measurements and models – a comparison of quantification methods for SOC changes in forest soils*. Norrköping, Sweden: Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute.
- Panichelli, L. & Gnansounou, E. (2015) Impact of agricultural-based biofuel production on greenhouse gas emissions from land-use change: Key modelling choices. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 42: 344-360.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M. D., Ojima, D. S. & Schimel, D. S. (1998) DAYCENT: Its Land Surface Submodel: Description and Testing. *Global and Planetary Change* (19): 35-48.
- Prisley, S. P. & Mortimer, M. J. (2004) A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* (198): 89-103.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Mäkipää, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievänen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model – Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 286: 137-147.
- Särndal, C.E., Swensson, B. & Wretman. J. (1992) Model Assisted Survey Sampling. Springer, New York.

- Service, C. F., ed. (2008) Canada's National Forest Inventory Ground Sampling Guidelines: Specifications for Ongoing Measurement.
- Service, U. F., ed. (2006) Forest Inventory and Analysis National Core Field Guide, Volume I: Field Data Collection Procedures for Phase 2 Plots Version 3.1. Northern Research Station Forest Service.: US Department of Agriculture.
- Shaw, C. H., Hilger, A. B., Metsaranta, J., Kurz, W. A., Russo, G., Eichel, F., Stinson, G., Smyth, C. & Filiatrault, M. (2014) Evaluation of simulated estimates of forest ecosystem carbon stocks using ground plot data from Canada's National Forest Inventory. *Ecological Modelling* 272: 323-347.
- Sobol, I. M. (2001) Global sensitivity indices for nonlinear mathematical models and their monte carlo estimates. *Mathematical Modelling and Computation Experiment* **55**: 271-280.
- Spencer, S., Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F., Goebel, J. & Paustian, K. (2011) Designing a national soil carbon monitoring network to support climate change policy: a case example for US agricultural lands. . Greenhouse Gas Management & Measurement (1): 167-178.
- Stinson, G., Magnussen, S., Boudewyn, P., Eichel, F., Russo, G., Cranny, M. & Song, A. (2016) Canada. In: *National Forest Inventories*, eds. V. C, A. I, H. M. L & R. J: Springer, Cham.
- Vidal, C. & Alberdi, I., Hernández, L., Redmond, J.J., eds. (2016) *National Forest Inventories*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.

Inter-annual variability

- Aragão, L. E. O. C., Anderson, L. O., Fonseca, M. G., Rosan, T. M., Vedovato, L. B., Wagner, F. H., Silva, C. V. J., Silva Junior, C. H. L., Arai, E., Aguiar, A. P., Barlow, J., Berenguer, E., Deeter, M. N., Domingues, L. G., Gatti, L., Gloor, M., Malhi, Y., Marengo, J. A., Miller, J. B., Phillips, O. L. & Saatchi, S. (2018) 21st Century drought-related fires counteract the decline of Amazon deforestation carbon emissions. *Nature Communications* 9(1): 536.
- Brando, P. M., Balch, J. K., Nepstad, D. C., Morton, D. C., Putz, F. E., Coe, M. T., Silvério, D., Macedo, M. N., Davidson, E. A., Nóbrega, C. C., Alencar, A. & Soares-Filho, B. S. (2014) Abrupt increases in Amazonian tree mortality due to drought–fire interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **111**(17): 6347-6352.
- Canadell, J. G., Le Quere, C., Raupach, M. R., Field, C. B., Buitenhuis, E. T., Ciais, P., Conway, T. J., Gillett, N. P., Houghton, R. A. & Marland, G. (2007) Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(47): 18866-18870.
- Ciais, P., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Ogee, J., Allard, V., Aubinet, M., Buchmann, N., Bernhofer, C., Carrara, A., Chevallier, F., De Noblet, N., Friend, A. D., Friedlingstein, P., Grunwald, T., Heinesch, B., Keronen, P., Knohl, A., Krinner, G., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Matteucci, G., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J. M., Papale, D., Pilegaard, K., Rambal, S., Seufert, G., Soussana, J. F., Sanz, M. J., Schulze, E. D., Vesala, T. & Valentini, R. (2005) Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. *Nature* 437(7058): 529-533.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2018) National Inventory Report 2016. 2.0: 348 pages.
- de Miranda, S. d. C., Bustamante, M., Palace, M., Hagen, S., Keller, M. & Ferreira, L. G. (2014) Regional Variations in Biomass Distribution in Brazilian Savanna Woodland. *Biotropica* **46**(2): 125-138.
- E., Koven, C. D., Lee, D., Nabel, J. E. M. S., Nassikas, A. A., Perugini, L., Rossi, S., Sitch, S., Viovy, N., Wiltshire, A. & Zaehle, S. (2018) Reconciling global-model estimates and country reporting of anthropogenic forest CO₂ sinks. *Nature Climate Change* 8(10): 914-920.
- Genet, H., He, Y., Lyu, Z., McGuire, A. D., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J., D'Amore, D., Bennett, A., Breen, A., Biles, F., Euskirchen, E. S., Johnson, K., Kurkowski, T., Schroder, S., Pastick, N., Rupp, T. S., Wylie, B., Zhang, Y., Zhou, X. & Zhu, Z. (2018) The role of driving factors in historical and projected carbon dynamics of upland ecosystems in Alaska. *Ecological Applications* 28(1): 5-27.
- Grassi, G., House, J., Kurz, W. A., Cescatti, A., Houghton, R. A., Peters, G. P., Sanz, M. J., Viñas, R. A., Alkama, R., Arneth, A., Bondeau, A., Dentener, F., Fader, M., Federici, S., Friedlingstein, P., Jain, A. K., Kato,
- Hember, R. A., Coops, N. C. & Kurz, W. A. (2018) Statistical performance and behaviour of environmentallysensitive composite models of lodgepole pine growth. *Forest Ecology and Management* **408**: 157-173.

- Henttonen, H. M., Nöjd, P. & Mäkinen, H. (2017) Environment-induced growth changes in the Finnish forests during 1971–2010 – An analysis based on National Forest Inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 386(Supplement C): 22-36.
- Hicke, J. A., Allen, C. D., Desai, A. R., Dietze, M. C., Hall, R. J., Hogg, E. H., Kashian, D. M., Moore, D., Raffa, K. F., Sturrock, R. N. & Vogelmann, J. (2012) Effects of biotic disturbances on forest carbon cycling in the United States and Canada. *Global Change Biology* 18(1): 7-34.
- IPCC. (2006) In: *IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programm*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara & K. Tanabe, IGES, Japan.
- IPCC. (2010) In: Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals. Meeting Report 5-7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & J. Baasansuren, IGES, Japan
- IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.
- Kurz, W. A. (2010) Large inter-annual variations in carbon emissions and removals, Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & B. J., pp. 41-48. Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Kurz, W. A., Dymond, C. C., Stinson, G., Rampley, G. J., Neilson, E. T., Carroll, A. L., Ebata, T. & Safranyik, L. (2008) Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. *Nature* 452(7190): 987-990.
- Kurz, W. A., Hayne, S., Fellows, M., MacDonald, J. D., Metsaranta, J. M., Hafer, M. & Blain, D. (2018) Quantifying the impacts of human activities on reported greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Canada's managed forest: conceptual framework and implementation. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 48(10): 1227-1240.
- Lehmann, C. E. R., Anderson, T. M., Sankaran, M., Higgins, S. I., Archibald, S., Hoffmann, W. A., Hanan, N. P., Williams, R. J., Fensham, R. J., Felfili, J., Hutley, L. B., Ratnam, J., San Jose, J., Montes, R., Franklin, D., Russell-Smith, J., Ryan, C. M., Durigan, G., Hiernaux, P., Haidar, R., Bowman, D. M. J. S. & Bond, W. J. (2014) Savanna Vegetation-Fire-Climate Relationships Differ Among Continents. *Science* 343(6170): 548-552.
- Lindner, M., Maroschek, M., Netherer, S., Kremer, A., Barbati, A., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Seidl, R., Delzon, S., Corona, P., Kolström, M., Lexer, M. J. & Marchetti, M. (2010) Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 698-709.
- Liski, J., Lehtonen, A., Palosuo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Eggers, T., Muukkonen, P. & Mäkipää, R. (2006) Carbon accumulation in Finland's forests 1922–2004 an estimate obtained by combination of forest inventory data with modelling of biomass, litter and soil. *Ann. For. Sci.* **63**(7): 687-697.
- Miller, J. D., Skinner, C. N., Safford, H. D., Knapp, E. E. & Ramirez, C. M. (2012) Trends and causes of severity, size, and number of fires in northwestern California, USA. *Ecological Applications* **22**(1): 184-203.
- Morton, D. C., Le Page, Y., DeFries, R., Collatz, G. J. & Hurtt, G. C. (2013) Understorey fire frequency and the fate of burned forests in southern Amazonia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **368**(1619).
- Page, S. E. & Hooijer, A. (2016) In the line of fire: the peatlands of Southeast Asia. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **371**(1696): 20150176.
- Pilli, R., Grassi, G., Kurz, W. A., Viñas, R. A. & Guerrero, N. H. (2016) Modelling forest carbon stock changes as affected by harvest and natural disturbances. I. Comparison with countries' estimates for forest management. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(5).
- Portuguese Environmental Agency. (2018) Portuguese National Inventory Report on Greenhouse Gases, 1990 2016.: 750 pages.
- Richards, G. P. & Evans, D. M. W. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM Vers. 1.0) for the Australian continent. *Australian Forestry* **67**(4): 277-283.
- Röhling, S., Dunger, K., Kändler, G., Klatt, S., Riedel, T., Stümer, W. & Brötz, J. (2016) Comparison of calculation methods for estimating annual carbon stock change in German forests under forest management in the German greenhouse gas inventory. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(1): 12.

- Roxburgh, S., Volkova, L., Surawski, N., Meyer, M. & Weston, C. (2015) Review of fuel loads, burn efficiencies, emissions factors, and recovery functions used to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with wildfire on temperate forested lands. Report prepared for the Department of the Environment. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). Canberra. In.
- Schimel, D., Stephens, B. B. & Fisher, J. B. (2015) Effect of increasing CO₂ on the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **112**(2): 436-441.
- Smith, P. (2010) Fingerprinting as a technique for attributing direct and indirect human induced effects (including changes in C stocks in crop & grasslands caused by climate change). Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava & K. Tanabe, Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Stinson, G., Kurz, W. A., Smyth, C. E., Neilson, E. T., Dymond, C. C., Metsaranta, J. M., Boisvenue, C., Rampley, G. J., Li, Q., White, T. M. & Blain, D. (2011) An inventory-based analysis of Canada's managed forest carbon dynamics, 1990 to 2008. *Global Change Biology* 17(6): 2227-2244.
- Vetter, M., Churkina, G., Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Zaehle, S., Bondeau, A., Chen, Y., Ciais, P., Feser, F., Freibauer, A., Geyer, R., Jones, C., Papale, D., Tenhunen, J., Tomelleri, E., Trusilova, K., Viovy, N. & Heimann, M. (2008) Analyzing the causes and spatial pattern of the European 2003 carbon flux anomaly using seven models. *Biogeosciences* 5(2): 561-583.
- Waterworth, R., Richards, G., Brack, C. & Evans, D. M. W. (2007) A generalised hybrid process-empirical model for predicting plantation forest growth . *Forest Ecology and Management* **238**(1-3): 231-243.
- Westerling, A. L. (2016) Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371**(1696): 20150178.
- Yamashita, A., Sano, J. & Yamamoto, S.-I. (2002) Impact of a strong typhoon on the structure and dynamics of an old-growth beech (Fagus crenata) forest, southwestern Japan. *Folia Geobotanica* **37**: 5-16.

REFERENCES COPIED FROM THE 2006 IPCC GUIDELINES

- Andrea, M.O. and Merlet, P. (2001). Emission of trace gases and aerosols from biomass burning. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15:955-966.
- Armentano, T.V. and Menges, E.S. (1986). Patterns of change in the carbon balance of organic soil-wetlands of the temperate zone. *Journal of Ecology* 74: 755-774.
- Baldocchi, D., Falge, E., Gu, L.H., Olson, R., Hollinger, D., Running, S., Anthoni, P., Bernhofer, C., Davis, K., Evans, R., Fuentes, J., Goldstein, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Lee, X.H., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Munger, W., Oechel, W., Pilegaard, K., Schmid, H.P., Valentini, R., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K. and Wofsy, S. (2001). FLUXNET: A new tool to study the temporal and spatial variability of ecosystem-scale carbon dioxide, water vapor, and energy flux densities. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 82: pp. 2415-2434.
- Bernoux, M., Carvalho, M.D.S., Volkoff, B. and Cerri, C.C. (2002). Brazil's soil carbon stocks. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:888-896.
- Bhatti, J.S., Apps, M.J. and Jiang, H. (2001). Examining the carbon stocks of boreal forest ecosystems at stand and regional scales. In: Lal R. *et al.* (eds.) Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton FL, pp. 513-532.
- Brady, N.C. and Weil, R.R. (1999). The Nature and Properties of Soils. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 881 pp.
- Clymo, R.S. (1984). The limits to peat bog growth. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 303:605-654.
- Conant, R.T., Paustian, K. and Elliott, E.T. (2001). Grassland management and conversion into grassland: Effects on soil carbon. *Ecological Application* **11**:343-355.
- Coomes, D.A., Allen, R.B., Scott, N.A., Goulding, C. and Beets, P. (2002). Designing systems to monitor carbon stocks in forests and shrublands. *Forest Ecology and Management* **164**, pp. 89 108.
- Davidson, E. A. and Ackerman, I.L. (1993). Changes in soil carbon inventories following cultivation of previously untilled soils. *Biogeochemistry* 20:161–164.
- Ellert, B.H., Janzen, H.H. and McConkey, B.G. (2001). Measuring and comparing soil carbon storage. In: R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett and B.A. Stewart (eds.). Soil Management for Enhancing Carbon Sequestration. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.: pp. 593-610.

- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2002). Simulating SOC changes in long-term experiments with the RothC and Century; model evaluation for a regional application. *Soil Use and Management* **18**:101-111.
- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2003). Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* 19:265-269.
- Forbes, M.S., Raison, R.J. and Skjemstad, J.O. (2006). Formation, transformation and transport of black carbon (charcoal) in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. *Journal of the Science of the Total Environment* (in press).
- Gifford, R.M. and Roderick, M.L. (2003). Soil carbon stocks and bulk density: spatial and cumulative mass coordinates as a basis for expression? *Global Change Biology* **9**:1507-1513.
- Gorham, E. (1991). Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probably responses to climatic warming. *Ecological Applications* **1**:182-195.
- Harmon, M.E. and Hua, C. (1991). Coarse woody debris dynamics in two old-growth ecosystems. *BioScience* **41**: 604-610.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D., Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack, J.R. and Cummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. *Advances in Ecological Research* 15: 133–302.
- IPCC (1997). Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Inventories. Houghton J.T., Meira Filho L.G., Lim B., Tréanton K., Mamaty I., Bonduki Y., Griggs D.J. Callander B.A. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA, Paris, France.
- IPCC (2000). Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Penman J., Kruger D., Galbally I., Hiraishi T., Nyenzi B., Emmanuel S., Buendia L., Hoppaus R., Martinsen T., Meijer J., Miwa K., Tanabe K. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2000). Watson R., Noble I.R., Bolin B., Ravindranath, N.H., Verardo D.J. and Dokken D.J. (Eds). Land use, Land-use Change, and Forestry: A Special Report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK.
- IPCC (2003). Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry. Penman J., Gytarsky M., Hiraishi T., Krug, T., Kruger D., Pipatti R., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T., Tanabe K., Wagner F. (Eds).Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- Karjalainen, L. and Kuuluvainen, T. (2002). Amount and diversity of coarse woody debris within a boreal forest landscape dominated by *Pinus sylvestris* in Vienansalo wilderness, eastern Fennoscandia. *Silva Fennica* 36(1): 147–167.
- Kasimir-Klemedtsson, A, Klemedtsson, L., Berglund, K., Martikainen, P., Silvola, J. and Oenema, O. (1997). Greenhouse gas emissions from farmed organic soils: a review. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:245-250.
- Krankina, O.N., Harmon, M.E., Kukuev, Y.A., Treyfeld, R.E., Kashpor, N.N., Kresnov, V.G., Skudin, V.M., Protasov, N.A., Yatskov, M., Spycher, G. and Povarov, E.D. (2002). Coarse woody debris in forest regions of Russia, *Can.J. For. Res.* 32: 768-778.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Webb, T.M. and McNamee, P.J. (1992). The carbon budget of the Canadian forest sector: phase I. Forestry Canada, Northwest Region. Information Report NOR-X-326, 93 pp.
- Lettens, S., van Orshoven, J., van Wesemael, B. and Muys, B. (2004). Soil organic and inorganic carbon contents of landscape units in Belgium derived using data from 1950 to 1970. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 40-47.
- Mann, L.K. (1986). Changes in soil carbon storage after cultivation. Soil Science 142:279-288.
- Martikainen, P.J., Nykanen, H., Alm, J. and Silvola, J. (1995). Change in fluxes of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide due to forest drainage of mire sites of different trophy. *Plant & Soil* **169**: 571-577.
- McGill, W. B. (1996). Review and classification of ten soil organic matter models. In: Powlson D.S., Smith P., and Smith J.U. (eds.). Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models Using Existing Long-Term Datasets. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg: pp. 111-132.
- Nykänen, H., Alm, J., Lang, K., Silvola, J. and Martikainen, P.J. (1995). Emissions of CH₄, N₂O, and CO₂ from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. *Journal of Biogeography* **22**:351-357.
- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J., Eve, M.D. and Paustian, K. (2003). Uncertainty in estimating land-use and management impacts on soil organic carbon storage for U.S. agricultural lands between 1982 and 1997. *Global Change Biology* **9**:1521-1542.

- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J. and Paustian, K (2005). Agricultural management impacts on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. *Biogeochemistry* **72**:87-121.
- Ogle, S.M., Conant, R.T. and Paustian, K. (2004). Deriving grassland management factors for a carbon accounting approach developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Environmental Management* **33**:474-484.
- Paustian, K, Andren, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., van Noordwijk, M. and Woomer, P.L. (1997). Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO₂ emissions. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:230-244.
- Preston, C.M. and Schmidt, M.W.I. (2006). Black (pyrogenic) carbon in the boreal forests: a synthesis of current knowledge and uncertainties. *Biogeosciences Discussions* **3**,211-271.
- Prisley, S.P. and Mortimer, M.J. (2004). A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* **198**:89-103.
- Shaw, C.H., Bhatti, J.S. and Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta, Information Report NOR-X-403.
- Siltanen *et al.* (1997). A soil profile and organic carbon data base for Canadian forest and tundra mineral soils. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Sleutel, S, de Neve, S., Hofman, G., Boeckx, P., Beheydt, D., van Cleemput, O., Mestdagh, I., Lootens, P., Carlier, L., van Camp, N., Verbeeck, H., Vand Walle, I., Sampson, R., Lust, N. and Lemeur, R. (2003). Carbon stock changes and carbon sequestration potential of Flemish cropland soils. *Global Change Biology* 9:1193-1203.
- Smith, J. E. and Heath, L.S. (2001). Identifying influences on model uncertainty: an application using a forest carbon budget model. *Environmental Management* 27:253-267.
- Smith, P. (2004a). Monitoring and verification of soil carbon changes under Article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 264-270.
- Smith, P. (2004b). How long before a change in soil organic carbon can be detected? *Global Change Biology* **10**: 1878-1883.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U. and Elliott, E.T. (eds) (1997b). Evaluation and comparison of soil organic matter models. Special Issue, *Geoderma* 81:1-225.
- Smith, S.V., Renwick, W.H., Buddemeier, R.W. and Crossland, C.J. (2001). Budgets of soil erosion and deposition for sediments and sedimentary organic carbon across the conterminous United States. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 15:697-707.
- Smith, W.N., Desjardins, R.L. and Pattey, E. (2000). The net flux of carbon from agricultural soils in Canada 1970-2010. *Global Change Biology* **6**:557-568.
- Somogyi, Z., Cienciala, E., Mäkipää, R., Muukkonen, P., Lehtonen, A. and Weiss, P. (2006). Indirect methods of large-scale forest biomass estimation. *European Journal of Forest Research*.
- Tate, K.R., Wilde, R.H., Giltrap, D.J., Baisden, W.T., Saggar, S., Trustrum, N.A., Scott, N.A. and Barton, J.P. (2005). Soil organic carbon stocks and flows in New Zealand: measurement and modelling. *Canadian Journal* of Soil Science, in press.
- Thormann M.N., Szumigalski A.R. and Bayley S.E. (1999). Above-ground peat and carbon accumulation potentials along a bog-fen-marsh wetland gradient in southern boreal Alberta, Canada. *Wetlands* **19** (2): 305-317.
- Tremblay, S., Ouimet, R. and Houle, D. (2002). Prediction of organic carbon content in upland forest soils of Quebec, Canada. *Can. J. For. Res.* **32**: pp. 903-914.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., Gregorich, E.G., Angers, D.A., et al. (2004). Uncertainty analysis of soil organic carbon stock change in Canadian cropland from 1991 to 2001. Global Change Biology 10:983-994.
- Vogt, K.A., Vogt, D.J., Pamiotto, P.A., Boon, P., O'Hara, J. and Asbjornsen, H. (1996). Review of root dynamics in forest ecosystems grouped by climate, climatic forest type, and species. *Plant and Soil* 187: pp. 159-219.
- Yavitt, J. B., Fahey, T.J. and Simmons, J.A. (1997). Methane and carbon dioxide dynamics in a northern hardwood ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 59: 796-804.

CHAPTER 2

GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND-USE CATEGORIES

Authors¹

Stephen Michael Ogle (USA), Werner Alexander Kurz (Canada), Carly Green (Australia), Andrea Brandon (New Zealand), Jeffrey Baldock (Australia), Grant Domke (USA), Martin Herold (Netherlands), Martial Bernoux (FAO), Ngonidzashe Chirinda (CGIAR, Zimbabwe), Robert de Ligt (Australia), Sandro Federici (San Marino), Emilio Garcia-Apaza (Bolivia), Giacomo Grassi, (EU), Thomas Gschwantner (Austria), Yasumasa Hirata (Japan), Richard Houghton (USA), Joanna Isobel House (UK), Shigehiro Ishizuka (Japan), Inge Jonckheere (Belgium), Haruni Krisnawati (Indonesia), Aleksi Lehtonen (Finland), Mwangi James Kinyanjui (Kenya), Brian McConkey (Canada), Erik Næsset (Norway), Sini M. Niinistö (Finland), Jean Pierre Ometto (Brazil), Luis Panichelli (Argentina), Thomas Paul (New Zealand), Hans Petersson (Sweden), Shanti Reddy (Australia), Kristiina Regina (Finland), Marcelo Theoto Rocha (Brazil), Joachim Rock (Germany), Maria José Sanz Sanchez (Spain), Carlos Sanquetta (Brazil), Atsushi Sato (Japan), Zoltan Somogyi (Hungary), Aleksandr Trunov (The Russian Federation), Gabriel Vazquez-Amabile (Argentina), Marina Vitullo (Italy), Changke Wang (China), Robert Michael Waterworth (Australia)

Contributing Authors

Max Collett (Australia), Mark Harmon (USA), Johannes Lehmann (USA), Cindy H. Shaw (Canada), Yasuhito Shirato (Japan), Dominic Woolf (USA), Ronald E. McRoberts (USA)

¹ **Biomass and Dead Organic Matter Sections** were prepared by lead authors, A. Brandon, G. Domke, M. Herold, Y. Hirata, E. Garcia-Apaza, T. Gschwantner, R. Houghton, S. Ishizuka, H. Krisnawati, M.J. Kinyanjui, E. Næsset, J.P. Ometto, J. Rock, C. Sanquetta, M.J. Sanz Sanchez, A. Sato, R.E. Malimbwi, S.J. Wakelin and M. Vitullo; and contributing authors, M. Harmon and C.H. Shaw.

Soil Carbon Section was prepared by lead authors, S.M. Ogle, J. Baldock, M. Bernoux, N. Chirinda, S. Ishizuka, A. Lehtonen, B. McConkey, S. Niinistö, K. Regina, A. Trunov, G. Vazquez-Amabile, and C. Wang; and contributing authors, J. Lehmann, Y. Shirato, and D. Woolf.

Additional Guidance on Tier 3 Methods Section was prepared by lead authors C. Green, I. Jonckheere, W. Kurz, R. de Ligt, E. Næsset, S.M. Ogle, L. Panichelli, H. Petersson, M. T. Rocha, and R.M. Waterworth.

Interannual Variability Section was prepared by lead authors W.A. Kurz, S. Federici, G. Grassi, R. Houghton, J.I. House, R. de Ligt, J.P. Ometto, T. Paul, H. Petersson, S. Reddy, M.T. Rocha, Z. Somogyi, and R.M. Waterworth.

Contents

2	(Generio	c met	hodologies applicable to multiple land use categories	2.7
	2.1	Intr	oduc	tion	2.7
	2.2	Inve	entor	y Framework	2.7
	2	2.2.1	0	verview of carbon stock change estimation	2.7
	2	2.2.2	0	verview of non-CO ₂ emission estimation	2.10
	2	2.2.3	С	conversion of C stock changes to CO ₂ emissions	2.13
	2.3	Ger	neric	methods for CO ₂ Emissions and Removals	2.13
	2	2.3.1	С	hange in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)	2.13
		2.3.	.1.1	Land remaining in a land-use category	2.13
		2.3.	.1.2	Land converted to a new land-use category	2.13
		2.3.	.1.3	Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods	2.13
	2	2.3.2	С	hange in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.20
		2.3.	.2.1	Land remaining in a land-use category	2.20
		2.3.	.2.2	Land conversion to a new land-use category	2.25
	2	2.3.3	С	hange in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
		2.3.	.3.1	Soil Organic C estimation methods (land remaining in a land-use category and conversion to a new land use)	1 land 2.29
	2.4	Nor	n-CO	₂ emissions	2.48
	2.5	Ado	dition	al generic guidance for Tier 3 methods	2.57
	2	2.5.1	Ν	Aeasurement-based Tier 3 inventories	2.57
	2	2.5.2	Ν	Iodel-based Tier 3 inventories	2.60
	2.6	Inte	er-anr	nual variability	2.67
	2	2.6.1	D	befinitional issues	2.68
		2.6.	.1.1	Direct and indirect human effects, and natural effects	2.68
		2.6.	.1.2	Natural disturbances	2.68
	2	2.6.2	R aı	elationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emi nd removals from interannual variability	ssions 2.69
	2	2.6.3	0	ptional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances	2.71
	2	2.6.4	R aı	eporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emi nd removals for managed lands	ssions 2.78
An	nex 2	2A.1		Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks	2.81
An	nex 2	2A.2		Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from B Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods	iochar 2.82
Ref	References 2.83			2.83	

Equations

Equation 2.1 Annual carbon stock changes for the AFOLU Sector estimated as the sum of changes in all land-use categories 2.7

Equation 2.2	Annual carbon stock changes for a land-use category as a sum of changes in stratum within the category	n each 2.8
Equation 2.3	Annual carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category as a sum of ch in all pools	anges 2.8
Equation 2.4	Annual carbon stock change in a given pool as a function of gains and losses (Loss Method)	(Gain- 2.10
Equation 2.5	Carbon stock change in a given pool as an annual average difference be estimates at two points in time (Stock-Difference Method)	tween 2.10
Equation 2.6	Non-CO ₂ emissions to the atmosphere	2.11
Equation 2.17	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter	2.21
Equation 2.18	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Gain-Loss Method)	2.22
Equation 2.19	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter (Stock-Difference M	ethod) 2.23
Equation 2.20	Annual carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter	2.23
Equation 2.21	Annual biomass carbon loss due to mortality	2.24
Equation 2.22	Annual carbon transfer to slash	2.24
Equation 2.23	Annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter due to land conversion	2.25
Equation 2.24 (Updated)	Annual change in carbon stocks in soils	2.29
Equation 2.25	Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils	2.33
Equation 2.25a	Annual change in biochar carbon stock in mineral soils receiving biochar add	litions 2.41
Equation 2.27	Estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from fire	2.50
Equation 2A.1.1	Estimation of soil organic carbon stocks	2.81

Figures

Figure 2.1	Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flo carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the s	ws of ystem 2.9
Figure 2.2a	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate allometric models to est biomass or carbon stocks in organic matter	timate 2.15
Figure 2.3	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in dead organic matter for a land-use category	ges in 2.21
Figure 2.4	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in mineral soils by land-use category	ges in 2.30
Figure 2.5	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate chang carbon stocks in organic soils by land-use category	ges in 2.31
Figure 2.6	Generic decision tree for identification of appropriate tier to estimate greenhous emissions from fire in a land-use category	se gas 2.50
Figure 2.6a	Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and n factors simultaneously affect land-related GHG emissions and removals	atural 2.67
Figure 2.6b	Example of the disaggregation of fire emissions in Australia into natural 'backgr emissions and fires due to human activity	ound' 2.72

Figure 2.6c	Example of the separation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those to predominantly anthropogenic causes and those due to predominantly m disturbances	se due atural 2.74
Figure 2.6d	Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + n disturbance (ND) and area burned	atural 2.75
Figure 2.6e	Time series of managed forest land GHG net emissions and removals	2.77

Tables

Table 2.2 (Updated)	Tier 1 default values for litter and dead wood carbon stocks	2.27
Table 2.3 (Updated)	Default reference condition soil organic carbon stocks (SOC _{REF}) for mineral (Tonnes C ha ⁻¹ in 0-30 cm depth)	soils 2.35
Table 2.4 (Updated)	Fuel (dead organic matter plus live biomass) biomass consumption values (tonne matter ha ⁻¹) for fires in a range of vegetation types	es dry 2.52
Table 2.5	Emission factors (g kg-1 dry matter burnt) for various types of burning	2.54
Table 2.6 (Updated)	Combustion factor values (proportion of prefire fuel biomass consumed) for fire range of vegetation types	s in a 2.55
Table 2.6a (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 measurement based inventories	lier 3 2.60
Table 2.6b (New)	Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of 7 model-based inventories	l'ier 3 2.66
Table 2.6c (New)	General Guidance on Whether or Not the estimation method is able to distin between the impact of the individual drivers below on the interannual variabil reported annual emission and removal estimates	guish ity of 2.70

Boxes

Box 2.0a (New)	Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guid	elines 2.11
Box 2.0b (New)	Allometric Definitions	2.14
Box 2.0c (New)	New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning	2.17
Box 2.0d (New)	Remote Sensing Technologies	2.18
Box 2.0e (New)	Using a biomass map for GHG estimation: an example from the Brazilian Ar	nazon 2.19
Box 2.1 (Updated)	Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data v Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices	versus 2.36
Box 2.2a (New)	Using equivalent mass methods to derive mineral soil organic carbon stock c factors	hange 2.40
Box 2.2b (New)	GHG Emission Sources with biochar production	2.42
Box 2.2c (New)	Representing the impact of soil erosion and deposition on soil carbon stock ch	anges 2.43
Box 2.2d (New)	Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods	2.44
Box 2.2e (New)	Consideration of equivalent mass methods within Tier 3 modelling approaches	2.47

Box 2.2f (New)	An example of model calibration, evaluation and improvement through data assimilation 2.62
Box 2.2g (New)	Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement 2.63
Box 2.2h (New)	Examples of Quantification of Model Uncertainty 2.64
Box 2.2i (New)	Australian approach to estimating interannual variability due to natural disturbances 2.73
Box 2.2j (New)	Canada's approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances 2.74
Box 2.2k (New)	Approach to estimating interannual variability from natural disturbances based on the EU legislation 2.76

2 GENERIC METHODOLOGIES APPLICABLE TO MULTIPLE LAND USE CATEGORIES

2.1 INTRODUCTION

No refinement

2.2 INVENTORY FRAMEWORK

This section outlines a systematic approach for estimating carbon stock changes (and associated emissions and removals of carbon dioxide (CO_2) from biomass, dead organic matter, and soils, as well as for estimating non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. General equations representing the level of land-use categories and strata are followed by a short description of processes with more detailed equations for carbon stock changes in specific pools by land-use category. Principles for estimating non- CO_2 emissions and common equations are then given. Specific, operational equations to estimate emissions and removals by processes within a pool and by category, which directly correspond to worksheet calculations, are provided in Sections 2.3 and 2.4.

2.2.1 Overview of carbon stock change estimation

The emissions and removals of CO_2 for the AFOLU Sector, based on changes in ecosystem C stocks, are estimated for each land-use category (including both land remaining in a land-use category as well as land converted to another land use). Carbon stock changes are summarized by Equation 2.1.

EQUATION 2.1 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR THE AFOLU SECTOR ESTIMATED AS THE SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL LAND-USE CATEGORIES

$$\Delta C_{AFOLU} = \Delta C_{FL} + \Delta C_{CL} + \Delta C_{GL} + \Delta C_{WL} + \Delta C_{SL} + \Delta C_{OL}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{AFOLU} = Total annual carbon stock change in the AFOLU sector; tonnes C yr⁻¹

Indices denote the following land-use categories:

AFOLU = Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use

- FL = Forest Land
- CL = Cropland
- GL = Grassland
- WL = Wetlands
- SL = Settlements
- OL = Other Land

For each land-use category, carbon stock changes are estimated for all *strata* or subdivisions of land area (e.g., climate zone, ecotype, soil type, management regime etc., see Chapter 3) chosen for a land-use category (Equation 2.2). Carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by considering carbon cycle processes between the five carbon pools, as defined in Table 1.1 in Chapter 1. The generalized flowchart of the carbon cycle (Figure 2.1) shows all five pools and associated fluxes including inputs to and outputs from the system, as well as all possible transfers between the pools. Overall, carbon stock changes within a stratum are estimated by adding up changes in all pools as in Equation 2.3. Further, carbon stock changes in soil may be disaggregated as to changes in C stocks in mineral soils and emissions from organic soils. Harvested wood products (HWP) are also included as an additional pool.

EQUATION 2.2 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN EACH STRATUM WITHIN THE CATEGORY

$$\Delta C_{LU} = \sum_{i} \Delta C_{LU_{I}}$$

Where:

$$\Delta C_{LU}$$

= carbon stock changes for a land-use (LU) category as defined in Equation 2.1.

i

= denotes a specific stratum or subdivision within the land-use category (by any combination of species, climatic zone, ecotype, management regime etc., see Chapter 3), i = 1 to n.

EQUATION 2.3 ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGES FOR A STRATUM OF A LAND-USE CATEGORY AS A SUM OF CHANGES IN ALL POOLS

$$\Delta C_{LU_i} = \Delta C_{AB} + \Delta C_{BB} + \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LI} + \Delta C_{SO} + \Delta C_{HWP}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{LU_i} = carbon stock changes for a stratum of a land-use category

Subscripts denote the following carbon pools:

AB	= above-ground biomass
BB	= below-ground biomass
DW	= deadwood
LI	= litter
SO	= soils
HWP	= harvested wood products

Estimating changes in carbon pools and fluxes depends on data and model availability, as well as resources and capacity to collect and analyse additional information (See Chapter 1, Section 1.3.3 on key category analysis). Table 1.1 in Chapter 1 outlines which pools are relevant for each land-use category for Tier 1 methods, including cross references to reporting tables. Depending on country circumstances and which tiers are chosen, stock changes may not be estimated for all pools shown in Equation 2.3. Because of limitations to deriving default data sets to support estimation of some stock changes, Tier 1 methods include several simplifying assumptions:

- change in below-ground biomass C stocks are assumed to be zero under Tier 1 (under Tier 2, country-specific data on ratios of below-ground to above-ground biomass can be used to estimate below-ground stock changes);
- under Tier 1, dead wood and litter pools are often lumped together as 'dead organic matter' (see discussion below); and
- dead organic matter stocks are assumed to be zero for non-forest land-use categories under Tier 1. For Forest Land converted to another land use, default values for estimating dead organic matter carbon stocks are provided in Tier 1.

The carbon cycle includes changes in carbon stocks due to both continuous processes (i.e., growth, decay) and discrete events (i.e., disturbances like harvest, fire, insect outbreaks, land-use change and other events). Continuous processes can affect carbon stocks in all areas in each year, while discrete events (i.e., disturbances) cause emissions and redistribute ecosystem carbon in specific areas (i.e., where the disturbance occurs) and in the year of the event.

Disturbances may also have long-lasting effects, such as decay of wind-blown or burnt trees. For practicality, Tier 1 methods assume that all post-disturbance emissions (less removal of harvested wood products) are estimated as part of the disturbance event, i.e., in the year of the disturbance. For example, rather than estimating the decay of dead organic matter left after a disturbance over a period of several years, all post-disturbance emissions are estimated in the year of the event.

Figure 2.1(unchanged) Generalized carbon cycle of terrestrial AFOLU ecosystems showing the flows of carbon into and out of the system as well as between the five C pools within the system.



Under Tier 1, it is assumed that the average transfer rate into dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) is equal to the average transfer rate out of dead organic matter, so that the net stock change is zero. This assumption means that dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) carbon stocks need not be quantified under Tier 1 for land areas that remain in a land-use category². The rationale for this approach is that dead organic matter stocks, particularly dead wood, are highly variable and site-specific, depending on forest type and age, disturbance history and management. In addition, data on coarse woody debris decomposition rates are scarce and thus it was deemed that globally applicable default factors and uncertainty estimates cannot be developed. Countries experiencing significant changes in forest types or disturbance or management regimes in their forests are encouraged to develop domestic data to estimate the impact from these changes using Tier 2 or 3 methodologies and to report the resulting carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions and removals.

All estimates of changes in carbon stocks, i.e., growth, internal transfers and emissions, are in units of carbon to make all calculations consistent. Data on biomass stocks, increments, harvests, etc. can initially be in units of dry matter that need to be converted to tonnes of carbon for all subsequent calculations. There are two fundamentally different and equally valid approaches to estimating stock changes: 1) the process-based approach, which estimates the net balance of additions to and removals from a carbon stock; and 2) the stock-based approach, which estimates the difference in carbon stocks at two points in time.

Annual carbon stock changes in any pool can be estimated using the process-based approach in Equation 2.4 which sets out the *Gain-Loss Method* that can be applied to all carbon gains or losses. Gains can be attributed to growth (increase of biomass) and to transfer of carbon from another pool (e.g., transfer of carbon from the live biomass carbon pool to the dead organic matter pool due to harvest or natural disturbances). Gains are always marked with a positive (+) sign. Losses can be attributed to transfers of carbon from one pool to another (e.g., the carbon in the

² Emissions from litter C stocks are accounted for under Tier 1 for forest conversion to other land-use.

slash during a harvesting operation is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool), or emissions due to decay, harvest, burning, etc. Losses are always marked with a negative (-) sign.

EQUATION 2.4	
ANNUAL CARBON STOCK CHANGE IN A GIVEN POOL AS A FUNCTION OF GAINS A	ND LOSSES
(GAIN-LOSS METHOD)	
$\Delta C = \Delta C_G - \Delta C_L$	
5 L	

Where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \Delta C & = \mbox{ annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_G & = \mbox{ annual gain of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \\ \Delta C_L & = \mbox{ annual loss of carbon, tonnes C yr^{-1}} \end{array}$

Note that CO_2 removals are transfers from the atmosphere to a pool, whereas CO_2 emissions are transfers from a pool to the atmosphere. Not all transfers involve emissions or removals, since any transfer from one pool to another is a loss from the donor pool but is a gain of equal amount to the receiving pool. For example, a transfer from the above-ground biomass pool to the dead wood pool is a loss from the above-ground biomass pool and a gain of equal size for the dead wood pool, which does not necessarily result in immediate CO_2 emission to the atmosphere (depending on the Tier used).

The method used in Equation 2.4 is called the *Gain-Loss Method*, because it includes all processes that bring about changes in a pool. An alternative stock-based approach is termed the *Stock-Difference Method*, which can be used where carbon stocks in relevant pools are measured at two points in time to assess carbon stock changes, as represented in Equation 2.5.



Where:

 ΔC = annual carbon stock change in the pool, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_{t_1} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_1 , tonnes C

 C_{t_2} = carbon stock in the pool at time t_2 , tonnes C

If the C stock changes are estimated on a per hectare basis, then the value is multiplied by the total area within each stratum to obtain the total stock change estimate for the pool. In some cases, the activity data may be in the form of country totals (e.g., harvested wood) in which case the stock change estimates for that pool are estimated directly from the activity data after applying appropriate factors to convert to units of C mass. When using the Stock-Difference Method for a specific land-use category, it is important to ensure that the area of land in that category at times t_1 and t_2 is identical, to avoid confounding stock change estimates with area changes.

The process method lends itself to modelling approaches using coefficients derived from empirical research data. These will smooth out inter-annual variability to a greater extent than the stock change method which relies on the difference of stock estimates at two points in time. Both methods are valid so long as they are capable of representing actual disturbances as well as continuously varying trends and can be verified by comparison with actual measurements.

2.2.2 Overview of non-CO₂ emission estimation

Non-CO₂ emissions are derived from a variety of sources, including emissions from soils, livestock and manure, and from combustion of biomass, dead wood and litter. In contrast to the way CO₂ emissions are estimated from biomass stock changes, the estimate of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases usually involves an emission rate from a source

directly to the atmosphere. The rate (Equation 2.6) is generally determined by an emission factor for a specific gas (e.g., CH_4 , N_2O) and source category and an area (e.g., for soil or area burnt), population (e.g., for livestock) or mass (e.g., for biomass or manure) that defines the emission source.

EQUATION 2.6 NON-CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere

 $Emission = A \bullet EF$

Where:

Emission = non-CO₂ emissions, tonnes of the non-CO₂ gas

A = activity data relating to the emission source (can be area, animal numbers or mass unit, depending on the source type)

EF = emission factor for a specific gas and source category, tonnes per unit of A

Many of the emissions of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases are either associated with a specific land use (e.g., CH₄ emissions from rice) or are typically estimated from national-level aggregate data (e.g., CH₄ emissions from livestock and N₂O emissions from managed soils). Where an emission source is associated with a single land use, the methodology for that emission is described in the chapter for that specific land-use category (e.g., methane from rice in Chapter 5 on Cropland). Emissions that are generally based on aggregated data are dealt with in separate chapters (e.g., Chapter 10 on livestock-related emissions, and Chapter 11 on N₂O emissions from managed soils and CO₂ emissions from liming and urea applications). This chapter describes only methods to estimate non-CO₂ (and CO₂) emissions from biomass combustion, which can occur in several different land-use categories.

Box 2.0a (New) Consistency Between AFOLU Projects or Activities and IPCC Inventory Guidelines

The information presented in this Box is for information purposes only

IPCC guidelines have been designed for national GHG inventories (NGHGI). They are, however, often applied, in conjunction with other guidance, to estimate GHG emissions and removals for different situations than those in a NGHGI. These different situations include scales (i.e. to any sub-aggregation of land), time resolution (i.e., on a non-annual basis), length of time series (i.e., for a limited period) and/or for selected carbon pools. Using IPCC guidelines for estimating emissions and removals from sub-aggregations - i.e. projects and activities – can help countries maintain consistency with the NGHGI. However, projects and activities can introduce additional complexities including, but not limited to, system boundaries, double-counting, leakage, and attribution. Moreover, projects and activities may use different definitions, sources of data, data and methods compared to those used for the NGHGI, including different Approaches for land representation and methodological Tiers, impacting the consistency between the two. These need to be considered when applying the IPCC Guidelines outside of a NGHGI (IPCC, 2015), particularly when there is a need for consistency and comparability.

Thus, when using IPCC guidelines for projects and activities the following steps should be considered:

- i) Define the spatial boundaries of the territory impacted by the activity;
- ii) Identify the land-use categories and subcategories of the NGHGI impacted by the activity.
- iii) Identify pools and gases impacted by the activity;
- iv) Identify the time frame (temporal boundaries) of the activity and ensure full reporting of any legacy emissions and removals associated with it³;
- v) Develop estimates by applying methods consistent with IPCC guidance, so ensuring consistency among the results of activities and the trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

³ To deal with the limited time frame of reducing deforestation and forest degradation mitigation activities, reporting methods provided by the GFOI apply the stock difference approach to estimate the net difference between two long-term average C

BOX 2.0A (NEW) (CONTINUED)

CONSISTENCY BETWEEN AFOLU PROJECTS OR ACTIVITIES AND IPCC INVENTORY GUIDELINES

For example, 1) Reducing Emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries (REDD-plus) activities could be identified in the NGHGI as IPCC categories, subcategories, or sums of categories or sub-categories (GFOI, 2016), and relevant IPCC methods applied consistently; 2) The Australian Government has developed a framework as part of the Emissions Reduction Fund⁴ for ensuring consistency in emissions estimation between AFOLU project-level mitigation activities and Australia's NGHGI. This framework includes integrity standards⁵ to ensure emissions estimation methods are consistent with IPCC guidelines, and consequently estimated GHG reductions are consistent with trends of times series of relevant NGHGI categories.

Emissions and removals estimates for activities are likely to apply Approach 2 or 3 and Tier 2 or 3 methods because of the need to prepare GHG estimates that are more disaggregated per activity, e.g. organic farming vs traditional farming or coppice vs high-stand, and per population, e.g. by livestock sub-populations, crop types and forest types. Moreover, stratification of NGHGI categories/subcategories into subdivisions helps avoid double counting of emissions and removals from a single category that is impacted by more than an activity.

Stratification also supports transparency among activity report and NGHGI estimates when the activity does not correspond to an entire NGHGI category. In many cases, activities and projects require tracking of land where they occur through time, e.g. no tillage. In such cases, Approach 3 for land representation is required since it is the only approach that provides the spatially explicit information (either wall-to-wall or from sampling) across time needed to track activities and drivers, and to support estimation of GHG emissions or removals with higher accuracy. Where activities are known to lead to permanent changes or the activity includes management practices that determine temporary changes in the land cover, Approach 2 methods may provide sufficient information to prepare accurate estimates.

Where activity and project data have been collected and analysed consistently with *good practice*, they can be used in the NGHGI either for deriving activity data and/or emission factors, or any other ancillary data used for preparing GHG estimates for the land subject to the activity, or for calibrating the model used in the NGHGI for the same land and/or verifying the outputs of such model. Where data have inconsistencies with those collected for the NGHGI, iterations and cross-checks between NGHGI experts and experts involved in the monitoring of the activity should be done until improvements applied to the activity and/or the NGHGI estimates enable consistency. When using data collected from activities and projects for improving or evaluating information and estimates reported in the NGHGI, it is important to:

- i) Define and report the reference conditions (e.g. climate, soil, management system) for which the data from the activity or project are valid and how it could be used in the NGHGI compilation;
- Determine if the activity or emissions factor data in the project are representative of the national average and, if not, apply methods that ensure the NGHGI is not biased by them, e.g. limiting the use of the data to the land subject to the activity or project only and modifying the data used in the NGHGI to prevent bias
- iii) Define and report the level of variability (heterogeneity) of the data;
- iv) Ensure the data is available and consistently applied for the entire time series.

stocks at a single point in time (i.e. by assuming instantaneous oxidation). This is to allow a complete reporting of total net C stock changes associated with the activities, including lagged emissions and removals.

⁴ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/government/emissions-reduction-fund/publications

⁵ http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/emissions-reduction-fund/publications/erf-methods-development

2.2.3 Conversion of C stock changes to CO₂ emissions

For reporting purposes, changes in C stock categories (that involve transfers to the atmosphere) can be converted to units of CO_2 emissions by multiplying the C stock change by -44/12. In cases where a significant amount of the carbon stock change is through emissions of CO and CH₄, then these non-CO₂ carbon emissions should be subtracted from the estimated CO₂ emissions or removals using methods provided for the estimation of these gases. In making these estimates, inventory compilers should assess each category to ensure that this carbon is not already covered by the assumptions and approximations made in estimating CO₂ emissions.

It should also be noted that not every stock change corresponds to an emission. The conversion to CO_2 from C, is based on the ratio of molecular weights (44/12). The change of sign (-) is due to the convention that increases in C stocks, i.e. positive (+) stock changes, represent a removal (or 'negative' emission) from the atmosphere, while decreases in C stocks, i.e. negative (-) stock changes, represent a positive emission to the atmosphere

2.3 GENERIC METHODS FOR CO₂ EMISSIONS AND REMOVALS

No refinement.

2.3.1 Change in biomass carbon stocks (above-ground biomass and below-ground biomass)

No refinement.

2.3.1.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.2 LAND CONVERTED TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

No refinement.

2.3.1.3 Additional generic guidance for Tier 2 methods

A. USING ALLOMETRIC MODELS FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

This section provides new guidance to inventory compilers on the use of allometric models (see Box 2.0b for definitions) for quantifying volume, biomass and carbon stocks in land uses containing vegetation. Allometric models can be used with country specific data to estimate carbon stocks at the Tier 2 level. Allometric models may also form part of more sophisticated Tier 3 approaches including measurement-based inventories and model-based inventories.

Allometric models quantify the relationships between certain size variables of organisms. Allometric models⁶ can be used to estimate volume, biomass or carbon stocks of individuals, vegetation or forest stands. Allometric models have been developed for a wide range of species, habitats, regions and environmental conditions (e.g. documented in the GlobAllomeTree database (http://www.globallometree.org/; Schepaschenko et al, 2017). Allometric models used for forest tree species are commonly estimated from individual trees through destructive sampling from a population using a sampling design that provides accurate and representative data. As destructive sampling is usually costly and labour intensive or ecologically sensitive, it makes sense to utilize existing allometric models when valid under the respective conditions as outlined below (in the section on the use of allometric models).

⁶ The term "allometric equation" is also used when referencing to the mathematical descriptions of allometric models and relationships. When the parameters are estimated from sample data and/or uncertainty is involved, "model" is the correct term. Although allometric models are used to predict the values of a variable, for practical reasons in the context of these guidelines the term estimates is also used.

BOX 2.0B (NEW) Allometric Definitions

Allometry: The term allometry refers to the proportional relationship between the relative dimensional relationships or growth rates of two size variables and therefore allometric relations allow that one variable can be used to predict the corresponding value of another variable. For example, tree diameter at breast height (DBH) can be used to estimate tree volume or total tree biomass. Allometry can also describe the change of one part of an organism in relation to the change of its body size, either in the same organism (while growing over time), in populations (e.g., tree stands), or between species (e.g. different tree species). These changes follow rules, so the change in proportion between two variables of an organism can be described mathematically.

Allometric model: An allometric model is a formula that quantitatively describes an allometric relationship. The basic form is an equation: y=f(x) where y and x are the dependent and independent variables. Often the equation is in the form of $y = a^*x^b + c$, where a, b and c are parameters (please note: "c" is not identical to the statistical error term " ε "). If "x" is equal to zero (e.g., if height is below breast height when using DBH to estimate tree biomass), then "y" is equal to the parameter "c", noting that biologically "y" is always a positive number. Parameter "a" is the value of y if x is 1 and describes the initial ratio between x and y. The parameter "b" is also called an "allometric parameter" or "allometric constant" and gives the proportionality between the relative increases of "x" and "y" (Fabrika und Pretzsch 2013; Picard et al. 2012). The general form of an allometric model, without intercept (i.e. when "c" = 0), is also often represented in its logarithmic transformation as a linear relationship, $\log(y) = \log(a) + b^*\log(x)$ or $\ln(y) = \ln(a) + b^*\ln(x)$. Other mathematical functions have also been adopted to describe allometric relationships.

This basic model can be augmented by additional terms that include e.g. tree height as a second predictor variable (e.g. Ketterings et al. 2001). Models are usually provided with a residual error term (e.g., $y = f(x) + \varepsilon$), set in the model fitting against the sample data; to consider the residual error, calculated for each model, can be used to assess the uncertainty related to use of the selected model in the estimation process.

The use of allometric models

The choice of appropriate allometric models should be based on several criteria including the availability of country-specific data, the meta-data about the allometric models, the coincidence of data with the models' domain of validity according to the meta-data, and the appropriateness of the allometric model by comparing the estimates to ones obtained with the Tier 1 method (Figure 2.2a). The accuracy of the models may be lower than e.g. available default factors or Biomass Emission Factors (BEFs), so it is *good practice* to choose the method with the higher accuracy. When applying an allometric model for predicting the biomass of a given species or at a given site, data on required variables must be available as e.g. from national forest inventories (Tomppo et al. 2010, Vidal et al. 2016). For woody plant species, these variables commonly include DBH and height, and to lesser extent crown variables such as crown length or crown width. For shrubs or smaller trees and understorey vegetation, diameters nearer to the ground or shoot length may be used, among other variables. Carbon fractions and basic wood density may also be required for some models. Individual tree estimates can then be aggregated up to provide volume, biomass or carbon stock estimates at higher spatial scales (e.g. by plot, region or nation-wide). Tree-level estimates may refer to the whole tree, or individual components like above-ground and below-ground parts, stem, branches and/or foliage. Allometric models may be used within a specified forest stratum, to estimate above-ground and below-ground biomass estimation from direct measurements e.g. forest inventory plots. Allometric models may also be used for non-woody plant biomass estimates. Data collection programmes are often designed to collect the data specifically for this purpose.

Allometries are influenced by an individual's growing conditions and size classes, so in each case the allometric models developed will have a limited domain of validity. When selecting an appropriate allometric model, check the associated metadata supplied. Conditions such as:

- Ecoregion, geographic range, environmental factors (e.g., ecosystem, climatic or soil types),
- Representativeness of the model in consideration of individual size range and sampled population,
- Plant components estimated (e.g., above-ground, below-ground, stem, branches, foliage),
- Species functional traits (e.g., wood density and tree architecture),
- Land or crop management practices, current and historic,

should be assessed for their suitability (Henry et al. 2011; Rock 2007; Vieilledent et al. 2012) as well as sample size and accuracy assessment. The use of existing allometric models beyond the range they were developed for may result in a lack of accuracy (e.g. Mugasha et al 2016; Nam et al, 2016), depending on the degree to which external variables control the partitioning of biomass among components and the geometric relationships of the species. The applicability of a model can also be tested using a representative data set (e.g. Paul et al, 2016; Perez-Cruzado et al, 2015; Youkhana et al 2017). The accuracy of the allometric model should be assessed by evaluating the related statistical indicators.



Generalized and site or species-specific allometric models have been developed for use in different circumstances. While species-specific models will give more accurate estimates for the respective tree species (all other aspects being the same as the ones for which the model was developed) (Henry et al. 2011), generalized models may be

better suited in regions with a very large diversity of tree species, where models are lacking for a large proportion of species. The use of species-specific models however is encouraged for the species for which specific models and appropriate input data are available. For natural forests, which may contain many different species, application of species-specific allometric models may be impractical; in this case, a model specific for the ecosystem type can be used (Krisnawati et al, 2012). When species-specific or ecosystem-specific models are not available, regionally relevant allometric models can be applied (Chave et al., 2004). Generic models developed based on a large number of sample trees across landscapes tend to be more reliable than locally developed models if these are based on only a small number of individuals (Chave et al 2005; Chave et al 2014; Paul et al, 2016).

Stand level models and their equations

When individual or species specific allometric models for biomass or carbon stocks are not appropriate, stand level allometric models, which may include canopy height, basal area and community age as predictor variables, may be applicable to estimate biomass parameters. Stand-level allometric models using canopy height estimate carbon stocks per unit area based on the assumption that canopy height is directly proportional to biomass (Mascaro et al, 2011; Saatchi et al, 2011). Information on canopy height can be predicted from ground-based inventory or by remote sensing such as airborne Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR), polarimetric interferometry SAR or airborne imagery. Auxiliary information such as digital elevation models are necessary to predict canopy height from airborne and satellite-borne imagery because only canopy surface elevation can be predicted from them. The accuracy of carbon stock estimation from canopy height depends on the number of field measurement plots used to estimate the relationship between canopy height and carbon stocks. Basal area is an important parameter to understand stand characteristics and it is used in the model to estimate stand volume or stand biomass. Basal area is estimated easily in the field using simple equipment. When basal area is used in the stand-level model to estimate biomass or carbon stocks, mean tree height is also needed in the model (Lang et al, 2016; Mensah et al, 2016). The stand-level allometric model estimated from community age estimates carbon stocks per unit area by assuming that community biomass increases monotonically as the forest ages, and then drawing a saturation curve for community age (Inoue et al, 2010). It is applicable where land use is rotated at fixed intervals, so that a mosaic of communities of different ages exists.

Tier 3 methods

The hierarchical tier structure implies that use of higher tiers (Tier 2 or Tier 3) usually results in an increased accuracy of the method and/or emissions factor and other parameters used in the estimation of the emissions and removals. Tier 3 approaches for biomass carbon stock change estimation allow for a variety of methods, including measurement-based forest inventories. Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories require detailed national forest inventories containing data on growing stock, and, ideally, repeated measurements from which periodic increments can be estimated. In some circumstances these data are used directly in empirical models while in other cases they are supplemented with allometric models (for example, Chambers *et al.* (2001) and Baker *et al.* (2004) for the Amazon; Seiler et al. (2014) for tropical forest of Bolivia, Jenkins et al. (2004) and Kurz and Apps (2006) for North America; and Zianis *et al.* (2005) for Europe, Paul et al. (2016) for Australia, Luo et al. (2014) for China, Youkhana et al 2017 for tropical grasses), calibrated to national circumstances that allow for direct estimation of biomass increment or growth. Model-based Tier 3 inventories build on model-specific input data and may contain allometric models as empirical model components. Additional information related to the use of higher Tier methods can be found in Section 2.5.

Uncertainty

Sources of uncertainty when using allometric models include:

- 1. Model-related uncertainty, i.e. the uncertainty related to the model used, stemming from the estimation of the parameters of this model and residual variability around model;
- 2. Sampling variability and measurement errors in input data (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information);
- 3. The uncertainty of transferring the model to trees not used for estimation of the parameters (lack of representativeness) (see volume 1, chapter 3, section 3.1.6 for additional information).

Magnitudes of the effects of the first and second sources should be reported with the model, the latter can be reduced by careful selection of models.

Recalculations

Recalculations of C stocks may be necessary, if new and/or better data or methodology becomes available. When BEF's are replaced with parameters that are estimated using allometries, recalculations across the time series will be required. The replacement of generalised models with species-specific models also may require recalculations. It should be noted that allometry can change over time (Lopez-Serrano et al. 2005), for example, if the thinning regime in a plantation forest is changed. This may influence the ratio of crown biomass / DBH and, over time, the trees in this plantation may show different allometric relationships at two distant points in time. An updated

allometric model would therefore be required in order to reflect the impact of the changes. In this case, to ensure time series consistency, apply the guidance provided in Volume 1 Chapter 5 and in Volume 4, Chapter 4 in relation to the Forest Land category

New technologies

Remotely sensed data from airborne or terrestrial platforms can be useful sources of information for deriving variables relevant for constructing and validating allometric models. They can improve measurements of height, volume and crown dimensions of individual trees that are difficult to collect with traditional ground-based approaches, particularly in dense and complex canopies. They can underpin a new generation of allometric models which have tree height and crown size as explanatory variables (Jucker et al, 2017). Of particular potential is terrestrial laser scanning, offering a means to collect data on tree volume in a non-destructive manner (see Box 2.0c).

Box 2.0c (New) New Technology: Terrestrial Laser Scanning

Terrestrial laser scanning is a ground-based active remote sensing technique which can be used to derive 3D vegetation structure, and compute key variables such as tree height, stem diameter, crown dimensions and tree volume for above-ground biomass predictions and to develop and validate allometric models (Calders et al., 2015). These under-canopy terrestrial laser systems emit millions of laser pulses that reflect off solid objects such as trunks, branches and leaves and form 3D point clouds. Individual trees can be segmented from plot-scale point cloud data and individual tree point clouds can then be used to reconstruct the woody elements of a tree.

Terrestrial laser scanning provides non-destructive and highly detailed measurements independent of the size and shape of a tree that are otherwise only available from destructive methods (Disney et al., 2018). Aboveground biomass calculated from the point cloud data is independent of allometry and with quantifiable accuracy. Many trees can be sampled and measured in an efficient manner and can provide most of the fundamental data needed to develop new or test the usefulness of existing allometric models for NGHGIs. Terrestrial laser scanning has proven useful for large and complex tropical trees (Gonzalez de Tanago et al., 2018). Terrestrial laser scanners cannot measure belowground or look inside trees, i.e. they do not provide information on wood density or whether a tree is hollow.

B. USING ABOVEGROUND BIOMASS DENSITY MAP CONSTRUCTED FROM REMOTELY SENSED DATA FOR BIOMASS ESTIMATION

Biomass density maps are wall-to-wall, polygon- or pixel-based predictions of above-ground biomass for woody plants and trees.

Consideration when developing biomass density maps

Biomass density maps are constructed by combining remotely sensed data (see Box 2.0d) and field observations. They have been developed at national scales (e.g., Avitabile et al., 2012) as well as for continental to global scales (e.g., Baccini et al., 2012; Saatchi et al., 2011, Avitabile et al., 2016). The characteristics and usefulness of biomass density maps for NGHGIs depend on multiple factors:

- 1. The definitions for forest and aboveground woody biomass used to produce the map and how this definition relates to the one used in the NGHGI.
- 2. The type of remotely sensed data sources in terms of spatial resolution, temporal coverage and the degree to which the signal responds to aboveground biomass (sensitivity). The response depends on the type and biomass ranges of the woody plants. Different remote sensing technologies have varying abilities for predicting biomass for different types of woody plants (i.e. boreal versus tropics) and combining remotely sensed data from multiple sources can increase sensitivity and the resulting accuracy of biomass density predictions.
- 3. The method used to construct the map. Such methods can range from simple interpolation of field estimates of biomass density using spatial covariates to more complex modelling of above-ground woody biomass using field estimates and observed remotely sensed signals.
- 4. The availability and reliability of biomass estimates obtained from field data needed to produce and validate the biomass density map. Combining co-located remotely sensed data and field observations can be challenging because of the size and shape of the primary elements (i.e. field plot size and shape versus geometric resolution of remotely sensed data), the timing of their acquisition, accuracy of geolocations, and

differences in the variables and parameters that are measured and estimated in the field and predicted from the remotely sensed data.

5. The degree to which map uncertainty is characterized and the manner in which it is used to assess bias and precision for large area estimates in support of NGHGIs (see Volume IV, Chapter 3).

BOX 2.0D (NEW) Remote Sensing Technologies

Optical, Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) and Light Detection and Ranging (Lidar) sensors are available currently as remote sensing data sources for producing biomass density maps. Data from optical satellite sensors are classified into three types on the basis of their spatial resolution; coarse resolution data with a pixel size greater than about 250 m (e.g., MODIS), medium resolution data with a pixel size of 10-80 m (e.g., Landsat and Sentinel 1 and 2), and fine resolution data with a pixel size smaller than 10 m (e.g., Rapideye or SPOT and ALOS-2).

SAR and LiDAR are active sensors available as air borne and space borne instruments whose derived metrics are used to predict height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees. SAR emits microwave pulses obliquely and measures attributes of the pulses that are reflected back from the Earth's surface towards the sensor. In forest land, emitted pulses reflect from the ground, or canopy or trunk of woody plants and trees. Using the strength of the signal of the reflected pulses, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted as demonstrated for satellite data from ALOS-PALSAR and Sentinel 1 (Santoro and Cartus, 2018). LiDAR emits laser pulses and measures the traveling time from the sensor to the target which can be converted to distance. When the LiDAR emitter is aimed at woody plants and trees, these laser pulses can be reflected by the woody components, the leaves within the canopy, or the ground surface. Using the difference of a laser pulse reflected from canopy and ground surface, the height, volume or biomass of woody plants and trees can be predicted (Næsset 1997a,b, Lim et al 2003). Starting in 2019, a series of targeted space-based missions will improve the capabilities for forest biomass predictions from LiDAR (e.g. GEDI, ICESAT-2) and SAR (e.g. BIOMASS, NISAR), that might be found useful for national purposes (Herold et al. 2019).

Besides mapping biomass density, there are evolving approaches that monitor changes in biomass density through time directly from remotely sensed data (Baccini et al., 2017). Such approaches require consistent measurements and estimates, and such consistency can be challenging when different satellite data sources and different ways of processing and analysing the data are used. In principle, the direct prediction of wall-to-wall biomass change has the advantage of including all detectable change events, including those occurring in forest remaining forest (i.e., forest degradation and regrowth) which are not considered when a single biomass map is combined with activity data characterizing land use change. However, the sensitivity of the remotely sensed data to subtle biomass changes needs to be carefully evaluated. The mapped biomass change might also not distinguish between anthropogenic or natural causes and not fully characterize all components of the carbon emissions. For example, some carbon loss may have accumulated as dead organic matter (e.g., dead wood or litter), and additional data are usually required to estimate the fate of that initial biomass (e.g., burned, left on site, and removed from the site).

Because above-ground woody biomass is the variable predicted from remotely sensed data, additional information such as country-specific data for root-to-shoot ratios are needed to estimate carbon stocks in other pools.

Guidance on the use of biomass density maps for national GHG inventories

Biomass density maps can be used to enhance the stratification of ground carbon inventories, to improve the estimation of carbon emissions by increasing data density in under-sampled or inaccessible areas, and as an independent data source for verification purposes (provided that the field data were not used to predict the biomass density maps used for stratification).

Use of biomass maps for the estimation of carbon emissions at Tier 2 and Tier 3 levels can be achieved in several ways:

- 1. Combination with activity data where a biomass density map provides the base to estimate emission factors. Such analyses require consistency among the activity data and biomass maps concerning definitions, geolocation, and spatial and temporal data characteristics. The use of regionally aggregated emission factor analysis (i.e., using average estimates for different forest types, or change trajectories) helps to reduce inherent pixel-level uncertainties in biomass map data for national-scale estimations. Countries have used such an approach to increase data density in areas under-sampled by ground inventories (see Box 2.0e).
- 2. Estimate biomass change directly from multi-temporal biomass density maps. Such an approach would provide an assessment of carbon stock changes in above-ground biomass from land use change and, in

particular, it would also include changes within forests remaining forests such as degradation and regrowth, management and harvest, and natural disturbances. Such analysis requires consistent and well-calibrated biomass density maps using ground and remotely sensed data to accurately estimate biomass changes; a quality requirement that has so far not been achieved for the NGHGIs at this stage. Improvements in both the field estimates of biomass change and remote sensing technologies and analysis in the coming years can lead to such approaches becoming more efficient and accurate for NGHGI purposes.

3. Biomass density maps can be integrated with remote sensing-assisted, time-series of land change and/or with Tier 3 models to localize emissions estimates. This way the biomass map data can be linked to land and carbon evolution over time that better reflect the complexity of forest-related carbon fluxes. Critical for this type of application is the consistency among the various data sources and models concerning definitions (forest, biomass pools), and, spatial and temporal data characteristics. Map unit uncertainties in biomass maps propagate to larger area estimates and can lead to substantial uncertainties in national emissions estimation if not properly considered.

The application of such approaches requires maps well-calibrated for national circumstances. Many available large-area biomass maps, such as global biomass maps, might not be consistent with national definitions of forest and/or biomass pools, and often exhibit large systematic errors in the estimation of carbon stock and changes for national and local assessments (Avitabile et al., 2016). Since countries may have national products, including biomass maps, large-area biomass maps can be useful for the purpose of independent comparison and verification. Depending on how a map is produced and how it is used to enhance NGHGIs, additional metadata on the applied models and procedures used to produce the map, such as for example the covariance matrix of model parameters of a model that was used to generate the map (see Volume 1, Chapter 6, section 6.1.4.2), may be required for characterization and reporting of uncertainty in a fully compliant way, particularly for application to country-specific circumstances.

BOX 2.0E (NEW)

USING A BIOMASS MAP FOR GHG ESTIMATION: AN EXAMPLE FROM THE BRAZILIAN AMAZON

Brazil is applying a methodology for estimating forest biomass combining data from airborne LiDAR, satellite remote sensing and forest inventories. The aim for using the biomass map for the NGHGI is to provide coverage over the whole Amazon where the availability and quality of ground data varies. Deforestation and associated land use change in the Amazon are heterogeneous and patchy. Related estimates of carbon emissions carry some level of uncertainty unless this spatial variability in both types of change and biomass variability is captured.

The methodology to estimate the biomass was based on 1,000 LiDAR transects randomly distributed across 3.5 million km² of the Amazon forests. Aboveground biomass is estimated at three different levels. At field plot level (first level), the data are used to validate the biomass estimated by LiDAR (second level) by adopting and using the models and data provided by Chave et al 2014 and Longo et al 2016. A total of 407 field plots were used for this validation. At the third level the biomass was estimated by extrapolating the biomass to the Brazilian Amazon Biome by the use of MODIS vegetation index, Shuttle Radar Topography Mission data, precipitation data from the Tropical Rainfall Measuring Mission and Synthetic Aperture Radar data of the Phased Array type L-band Synthetic Aperture Radar, soil and vegetation maps. A nonparametric regression method (Random Forest) is used for correlating the above ground biomass within the LiDAR transects to a list of variables, and then used for the extrapolation of the biomass to the region. The coefficient of determination and the root mean squared error between the third level extrapolated biomass data and the LiDAR data were R2=0.7485 and RMSE=27.18 MgCha⁻¹, respectively. In this process, the SRTM elevation data were the most important variable for the biomass extrapolation process, followed by the TRMM precipitation data and Enhanced Vegetation Index data. The estimated biomass map uncertainty is calculated by propagating the uncertainties through the different levels of biomass estimation, i.e., field plots, LiDAR and satellite (Longo et al 2016). This process allows us to obtain total uncertainty estimates for each pixel in the final biomass map.



2.3.2 Change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter

No refinement in Introduction.

2.3.2.1 LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY

The Tier 1 assumption for both dead wood and litter pools (see table 1.1 for definitions) for all land-use categories is that their stocks are not changing over time if the land remains within the same land-use category. Thus, the carbon in biomass killed during a disturbance or management event (less removal of harvested wood products) is assumed to be released entirely to the atmosphere in the year of the event. This is equivalent to the assumption that the carbon in non-merchantable and non-commercial components that are transferred to dead organic matter is equal to the amount of carbon released from dead organic matter to the atmosphere through decomposition and oxidation. Countries can use higher tier methods to estimate the carbon dynamics of dead organic matter. This section describes estimation methods if Tier 2 (or 3) methods are used.

Countries that use Tier 1 methods to estimate dead organic matter (DOM) pools in land remaining in the same land-use category, report zero changes in carbon stocks or carbon emissions from those pools. Following this rule, CO₂ emissions resulting from the combustion of dead organic matter during fire are not reported, nor are the increases in dead organic matter carbon stocks in the years following fire. However, emissions of non-CO₂ gases from burning of DOM pools are reported. Tier 2 methods for estimation of carbon stock changes in DOM pools calculate the changes in dead wood and litter carbon pools (Equation 2.17). Two methods can be used: either track inputs and outputs (the *Gain-Loss Method*, Equation 2.18) or estimate the difference in DOM pools at two points in time (*Stock-Difference Method*, Equation 2.19). These estimates require either detailed inventories that include repeated measurements of dead wood and litter pools, or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics. It is *good practice* to ensure that such models are tested against field measurements and are documented. Figure 2.3 provides the decision tree for identification of the appropriate tier to estimate changes in carbon stocks in dead organic matter.





Note:

1: See Volume 1 Chapter 4 "Methodological Choice and Identification of key Categories" (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees

2: The two methods are defined in Equations 2.18 and 2.19, respectively.

Equation 2.17 summarizes the calculation to estimate the annual changes in carbon stock in DOM pools:

EQUATION 2.17
ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD ORGANIC MATTER
$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \Delta C_{DW} + \Delta C_{LT}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead organic matter (includes dead wood and litter), tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{DW} = change in carbon stocks in dead wood, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 ΔC_{LT} = change in carbon stocks in litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

The changes in carbon stocks in the dead wood and litter pools for an area remaining in a land-use category between inventories can be estimated using two methods, described in Equation 2.18 and Equation 2.19. The same equation is used for dead wood and litter pools, but their values are calculated separately.



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in the dead wood/litter pool, tonnes C yr
Α	= area of managed land, ha
DOM _{in}	= average annual transfer of biomass into the dead wood/litter pool due to annual processes and disturbances, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1} yr ⁻¹ (see next Section for further details).
DOM _{out}	= average annual decay and disturbance carbon loss out of dead wood or litter pool, tonnes d.m. $ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.) ^{-1}

The net balance of DOM pools specified in Equation 2.18, requires the estimation of both the inputs and outputs from annual processes (litterfall and decomposition) and the inputs and losses associated with disturbances. In practice, therefore, Tier 2 and Tier 3 approaches require estimates of the transfer and decay rates as well as activity data on harvesting and disturbances and their impacts on DOM pool dynamics. Note that the biomass inputs into DOM pools used in Equation 2.18 are a subset of the biomass losses estimated in Equation 2.7. The biomass losses in Equation 2.7 contain additional biomass that is removed from the site through harvest or lost to the atmosphere, in the case of fire.

The method chosen depends on available data and will likely be coordinated with the method chosen for biomass carbon stocks. Transfers into and out of a dead wood or litter pool for Equation 2.18 may be difficult to estimate. The stock difference method described in Equation 2.19 can be used by countries with forest inventory data that include DOM pool information, other survey data sampled according to the principles set out in Annex 3A.3 (Sampling) in Chapter 3, and/or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics.

When the gain – loss method is chosen, inventory measurements may provide estimates for DOM stocks. Alternatively, relevant information on transfers out of the litter and dead wood pools through decomposition can be found in the literature. Care must be taken not to confound decomposition flow "rates" and decomposition "rate-constants" (e.g., k's) when DOMout is estimated. DOMout using the second approach is the product of the rate-constant describing the proportion lost per year and the stock of DOM (e.g., DOM_{out} = k *DOM). One should be aware that decomposition rate-constants describe total losses and not just those via respiration. The fate of leached and fragmented carbon is not well understood; much of the material is likely respired but whether this is slower or faster than the source material is highly variable. Negative exponential decay models are commonly used to determine the decomposition rate-constants that characterize the volume, mass, or density loss in dead wood and litter over time (Cook et al. 2016, Harmon et al. 2000, Russell et al. 2014). While models to predict volume, biomass, or density loss are relatively simple, the decomposition rate-constants may vary substantially. The decomposition of dead wood and litter mass is driven by many factors including: woodiness (i.e., wood and bark versus foliage); position (i.e., standing versus downed dead wood); species of the material decomposing; state of decomposition (i.e., fresh versus highly decomposed) and decomposers present (e.g., the presence of termites and/or soil biota); climate under the canopy (for example condition by openness of the canopy) (Lavelle et al., 1993; Hattenschwiler et al., 2005, Harmon et al. 2011, García-Palacios et al., 2013, Russell et al., 2014, Filser et al. 2016, Chertov et al. 2017, Hu et al., 2017, Kornarnov et al. 2017), among others. Having specific information on these attributes will help to assign a specific decomposition constant to a particular DOM stock (Rock et al. 2008).



Where:

ΔC_{DOM}	= annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
A	= area of managed land, ha
DOM_{t_1}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_1 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha^{-1}
DOM_{t_2}	= dead wood/litter stock at time t_2 for managed land, tonnes d.m. ha ⁻¹
$\mathbf{T} = (\mathbf{t}_2 - \mathbf{t}_1)$	= time period between time of the second stock estimate and the first stock estimate, yr
CF	= carbon fraction of dry matter (default for litter = 0.37 (Smith & Heath 2002), default for dead wood (temperate species) = 0.5 tonne C (tonne d.m.) ⁻¹

Note that whenever the stock change method is used (e.g., in Equation 2.19), the area used in the carbon stock calculations at times t_1 and t_2 must be identical. If the area is not identical then changes in area will confound the estimates of carbon stocks and stock changes. It is *good practice* to use the area at the end of the inventory period (t_2) to define the area of land remaining in the land-use category. The stock changes on all areas that change land-use category between t_1 and t_2 are estimated in the new land-use category, as described in the sections on land converted to a new land category.

INPUT OF BIOMASS TO DEAD ORGANIC MATTER

Whenever a tree is felled, non-merchantable and non-commercial components (such as tops, branches, leaves, roots, and non-commercial trees) are left on the ground and transferred to dead organic matter pools. In addition, annual mortality can add substantial amounts of dead wood to that pool. For Tier 1 methods, the assumption is that the carbon contained in all biomass components that are transferred to dead organic matter pools will be released in the year of the transfer, whether from annual processes (litterfall and tree mortality), land management activities, fuelwood gathering, or disturbances. For estimation procedures based on higher Tiers, it is necessary to estimate the amount of biomass carbon that is transferred to dead organic matter. The quantity of biomass transferred to DOM is estimated using Equation 2.20.



Where:

- DOM_{in} = total carbon in biomass transferred to dead organic matter, tonnes C yr⁻¹
- $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.21)

 L_{slash} = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equations 2.22)

 $L_{disturbance}$ = annual biomass carbon loss resulting from disturbances, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (See Equation 2.14)

 f_{BLol} = fraction of biomass left to decay on the ground (transferred to dead organic matter) from loss due to disturbance. As shown in Table 2.1, the disturbance losses from the biomass pool are partitioned into the fractions that are added to dead wood (cell B in Table 2.1) and to litter (cell C), are released to the atmosphere in the case of fire (cell F) and, if salvage follows the disturbance, transferred to HWP (cell E).

Note: If root biomass increments are counted in Equation 2.10, then root biomass losses must also be counted in Equations 2.20, and 2.22.

Examples of the terms on the right-hand side of Equation 2.20 are obtained as follows:

Transfers to dead organic matter from mortality, L_{mortality}

Mortality is caused by competition during stand development, age, diseases, and other processes that are not included as disturbances. Mortality cannot be neglected when using higher Tier estimation methods. In extensively managed stands without periodic partial cuts, mortality from competition during the stem exclusion phase, may represent 30-50 percent of total productivity of a stand during its lifetime. In regularly tended stands, additions to the dead organic matter pool from mortality may be negligible because partial cuts extract forest biomass that would otherwise be lost to mortality and transferred to dead organic matter pools. Available data for increment will normally report net annual increment, which is defined as net of losses from mortality. Since in this text, net annual growth is used as a basis to estimate biomass gains, mortality must not be subtracted again as a loss from biomass pools. Mortality must, however, be counted as an addition to the dead wood pool for Tier 2 and Tier 3 methods.

The equation for estimating mortality is provided in Equation 2.21:



Where:

 $L_{mortality}$ = annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM due to mortality, tonnes C yr⁻¹

- A = area of land remaining in the same land use, ha
- G_W = above-ground biomass growth, tonnes d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (see Equation 2.10)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹
- m = mortality rate expressed as a fraction of above-ground biomass growth

When data on mortality rates are expressed as proportion of growing stock volume, then the term Gw in Equation 2.21 should be replaced with growing stock volume to estimate annual transfer to DOM pools from mortality.

Mortality rates differ between stages of stand development and are highest during the stem exclusion phase of stand development. They also differ with stocking level, forest type, management intensity and disturbance history. Thus, providing default values for an entire climatic zone is not justified because the variation within a zone will be much larger than the variation between zones.

Annual carbon transfer to slash, Lslash

This involves estimating the quantity of slash left after wood removal or fuelwood removal and transfer of biomass from total annual carbon loss due to wood harvest (Equation 2.12). The estimate for logging slash is given in Equation 2.22 and which is derived from Equation 2.12 as explained below:



Where:

L _{slash}	= annual biomass carbon transfer to DOM as slash, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$, including dead roots, tonnes C yr $^{-1}$
Н	= annual wood harvest (wood or fuelwood removal), m ³ yr ⁻¹
BCEF _R	= biomass conversion and expansion factors applicable to wood removals, which transform merchantable volume of wood removal into above-ground biomass removals, tonnes biomass removal (m^3 of removals) ⁻¹ . If BCEF _R values are not available and if BEF and Density values are separately estimated then the following conversion can be used:

$$BCEF_R = BEF_R \bullet D$$
- \circ D is basic wood density, tonnes d.m. m⁻³
- Biomass Expansion Factors (BEF_R) expand merchantable wood removals to total aboveground biomass volume to account for non-merchantable components of the tree, stand and forest. BEF_R is dimensionless.
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass, in tonne d.m. below-ground biomass (tonne d.m. above-ground biomass)⁻¹. R must be set to zero if root biomass increment is not included in Equation 2.10 (Tier 1)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (tonne d.m.)⁻¹

Fuelwood gathering that involves the removal of live tree parts does not generate any additional input of biomass to dead organic matter pools and is not further addressed here.

Inventories using higher Tier methods can also estimate the amount of logging slash remaining after harvest by defining the proportion of above-ground biomass that is left after harvest (enter these proportions in cells B and C of Table 2.2 for harvest disturbance) and by using the approach defined in Equation 2.14. In this approach, activity data for the area harvested would also be required.

2.3.2.2 LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND-USE CATEGORY

The reporting convention is that all carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions associated with a land-use change be reported in the new land-use category. For example, in the case of conversion of Forest Land to Cropland, both the carbon stock changes associated with the clearing of the forest as well as any subsequent carbon stock changes that result from the conversion are reported under the Cropland category.

The Tier 1 assumption is that DOM pools in non-forest land categories after the conversion are zero, i.e., they contain no carbon. The Tier 1 assumption for land converted from forest to another land-use category is that all DOM carbon losses occur in the year of land-use conversion. Conversely, conversion to Forest Land results in build-up of litter and dead wood carbon pools starting from zero carbon in those pools. DOM carbon gains on land converted to forest occur linearly, starting from zero, over a transition period (default assumption is 20 years). This default period may be appropriate for litter carbon stocks, but in temperate and boreal regions it is probably too short for dead wood carbon stocks. Countries that use higher Tier methods can accommodate longer transition periods by subdividing the remaining category to accommodate strata that are in the later stages of transition.

The estimation of carbon stock changes during transition periods following land-use conversion requires that annual cohorts of the area subject to land-use change be tracked for the duration of the transition period. For example, DOM stocks are assumed to increase for 20 years after conversion to Forest Land. After 20 years, the area converted enters the category *Forest Land Remaining Forest Land*, and no further DOM changes are assumed, if a Tier 1 approach is applied. Under Tier 2 and 3, the period of conversion can be varied depending on vegetation and other factors that determine the time required for litter and dead wood pools to reach steady state.

Higher Tier estimation methods can use non-zero estimates of litter and dead wood pools in the appropriate landuse categories or subcategories. For example, settlements and agro-forestry systems can contain some litter and dead wood pools, but because management, site conditions, and many other factors influence the pool sizes, no global default values can be provided here. Higher Tier methods may also estimate the details of dead organic matter inputs and outputs associated with the land-use change.

The conceptual approach to estimating changes in carbon stocks in dead wood and litter pools is to estimate the difference in C stocks in the old and new land-use categories and to apply this change in the year of the conversion (carbon losses), or to distribute it uniformly over the length of the transition period (carbon gains) Equation 2.23:

EQUATION 2.23 ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN DEAD WOOD AND LITTER DUE TO LAND CONVERSION

$$\Delta C_{DOM} = \frac{(C_n - C_o) \bullet A_{on}}{T_{on}}$$

Where:

 ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, tonnes C yr⁻¹

 C_o = dead wood/litter stock, under the old land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹

- C_n = dead wood/litter stock, under the new land-use category, tonnes C ha⁻¹
- A_{on} = area undergoing conversion from old to new land-use category, ha
- T_{on} = time period of the transition from old to new land-use category, yr. The Tier 1 default is 20 years for carbon stock increases and 1 year for carbon losses.

Inventories using a Tier 1 method assume that all carbon contained in biomass killed during a land-use conversion event (less harvested products that are removed) is emitted directly to the atmosphere and none is added to dead wood and litter pools. Tier 1 methods also assume that dead wood and litter pool carbon losses occur entirely in the year of the transition.

Countries using higher Tier methods can modify C_o in Equation 2.23 by first accounting for the immediate effects of the land-use conversion in the year of the event. In this case, they would add to C_o the carbon from biomass killed and transferred to the dead wood and litter pools and remove from C_o any carbon released from dead wood and litter pools, e.g., during slash burning. In that case C_o in Equation 2.23 would represent the dead wood or litter carbon stocks immediately after the land-use conversion. C_o will transit to C_n over the transition period, using linear or more complex dynamics. A disturbance matrix (Table 2.1) can be defined to account for the pool transitions and releases during the land-use conversion, including the additions and removals to C_o .

Countries using a Tier 1 approach can apply the Tier 1 default carbon stock estimates for litter, and if available dead wood pools, provided in Table 2.2, but should recognize that these are broad-scale estimates with considerable uncertainty when applied at the country level. Table 2.2 is incomplete because of the paucity of published data. A review of the literature has identified several problems. The IPCC definitions of dead organic matter carbon stocks include litter and dead wood. The litter pool contains all litter plus fine woody debris up to a diameter limit of 10 cm (see Chapter 1, Table 1.1). Published litter data generally do not include the fine woody debris component, so the litter values in Table 2.2 are incomplete.

There are numerous published studies of coarse woody debris (Harmon and Hua, 1991; Karjalainen and Kuuluvainen, 2002) and a few review papers (e.g., Harmon *et al.*, 1986), and but to date only two studies are found to provide regional dead wood carbon pool estimates that are based on sample plot data. Krankina *et al.* (2002) included several regions in Russia and reported coarse woody debris (> 10 cm diameter) estimates of 2 to 7 Mg C ha⁻¹. Cooms *et al.* (2002) reported regional carbon pools based on a statistical sample design for a small region in New Zealand. Regional compilations for Canada (Shaw *et al.*, 2005) provide estimates of litter carbon pools based on a compilation of statistically non-representative sample plots, but do not include estimates of dead wood pools. Review papers such as Harmon *et al.* (1986) compile a number of estimates from the literature. For example, their Table 5 lists a range of coarse woody debris values for temperate deciduous forests of 11 – 38 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹ and for temperate coniferous forests of 10 - 511 Mg dry matter ha⁻¹. It is, however, statistically invalid to calculate a mean from these compilations as they are not representative samples of the dead wood pools in a region.

While it is the intent of these IPCC Guidelines to provide default values for all variables used in Tier 1 methodologies, it is currently not feasible to provide estimates of regional defaults values for litter (including fine woody debris < 10 cm diameter) and dead wood (> 10 cm diameter) carbon stocks. Litter pool estimates (excluding fine woody debris) are provided in Table 2.2. Tier 1 methodology only requires the estimates in Table 2.2 for lands converted from Forest Land to any other land-use category (carbon losses) and for lands converted to Forest Land (carbon gains). Tier 1 methods assume that litter and dead wood pools are zero in all non-forest categories and therefore transitions between non-forest categories involve no carbon stock changes in these two pools.

Table 2.2 (Updated) Tire 1 default values for litter and dead wood carbon stocks										
				Forest typ)e					
	Broadleaf	deciduous	Needleleaf	Needleleaf evergreen All vegetation types						
Climate ¹	Litter carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)									
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max				
Boreal coniferous forest	19.1	4.0-38.7	40.3	4.0-117.4	31.4	4.0-117.4	93, 98, 99, 100, 101			
Boreal tundra woodland	29.3	23.7-33.7	67.4	23.7-85.1	49.5	23.7-85.1	100, 101			
Polar	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.			
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a.			
Subtropical humid forest	5.6	4.4-8.1	6.8	4.7-11.6	8.7	1.2-24.0	6, 7, 44, 93, 98, 99, 103			
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.			
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.			
Temperate continental forest	23.9	4.6-64.4	66.3	6.0-279.1	47.8	4.6-279.1	93, 98, 99, 100, 101			
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.			
Temperate mountain system	3.4	n.a.	3.9	n.a.	3.7	3.4-3.9	98			
Temperate oceanic forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.9	n.a.	15			
Temperate steppe	36.9	7.6-98.8	26.4	7.1-43.0	28.7	3.8-98.8	97, 98, 100, 101			
Tropical dry forest	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	2.4	2.1-2.7	11			
Tropical moist forest	4.3	2.0-9.0	14.8	n.a.	5.9	1.9-14.8	21, 93, 98			
Tropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.			
Tropical rainforest	2.5	n.a.	4.7	n.a.	4.8	2.1-16.4	11, 26, 35, 89, 93, 99			
Climate			Dead wood	carbon stock	s (tonnes C h	a ⁻¹)	1			
	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max	Min/Max			
Boreal coniferous forest	16.4	2.3-50.7	22.2	4.1-76.5	19.7	2.3-76.5	46, 54, 55, 56, 59, 62, 63, 70, 81, 87, 88, 93			
Boreal tundra woodland	5.7	n.a.	1.3	0.5-2.4	3.1	0.5-6.1	5, 70			
Polar	n.a	n.a	26.2	n.a.	26.2	n.a.	70			
Subtropical desert	n.a	n.a	64.4	14.4- 134.5	64.4	14.4- 134.5	40			
Subtropical humid forest	4.1	2.5-7.5	10.9	3.5-32.8	13.2	0.2-43.8	6,7,44, 46, 68, 93			
Subtropical mountain system	n.a.	n.a.	11.8	7.2-16.3	11.8	7.2-16.3	77			

TABLE 2.2 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED)TIRE 1 DEFAULT VALUES FOR LITTER AND DEAD WOOD CARBON STOCKS										
	Forest typ	e								
Climate 1	Broadleaf	deciduous	Needlelea	af evergreen	All vegeta	tion types	References ²			
Climate ¹	Dead wood carbon stocks (tonnes C ha ⁻¹)									
	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max	Mean	Min/Max				
Subtropical steppe	n.a.	n.a.	6.8	6.0-7.7	6.8	6.0-7.7	27			
Temperate continental forest	23.6	1.6-150.0	22.1	2.1-59.5	23.0	1.6-150.0	1, 2, 23, 28, 36, 37, 46, 54, 55, 64, 70, 80, 83, 87, 92, 93, 95,110			
Temperate desert	n.a.	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	10.5	n.a.	22			
Temperate mountain system	21.2	2.8-80.6	48.1	1.7-181.8	37.6	1.7-181.8	3, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17, 25, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 39, 41, 50, 57, 58, 60, 67, 68, 69, 71, 75, 76, 78, 82, 84, 90, 91, 105, 109			
Temperate oceanic forest	40.5	2.8-95.0	24.3	n.a.	36.8	2.8-95.0	15, 16, 24, 32, 52, 61, 85, 86			
Temperate steppe	26.2	9.7-50.0	8.0	n.a	21.7	8.0 - 50.0	4, 70, 83, 98			
Tropical dry forest	16.0	14.7-17.3	n.a.	n.a.	9.0	1.3-17.3	11, 20			
Tropical moist forest	8.4	1.2-21.2	3.4	n.a.	8.0	1.2-21.2	19, 20, 21, 38, 4893, 96, 107			
Tropical mountain system	3.3	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	3.3	n.a.	20			
Tropical rainforest	17.7	0.9-218.9	1.9	n.a.	14.8	0.6-218.9	$\begin{array}{c} 1\overline{1, 14, 18, 26,}\\ 35, 42, 43, 45,\\ 46, 47, 49, 51,\\ 53, 65, 66, 72,\\ 73, 74, 79, 89,\\ 93, 94, 104,\\ 105, 107, 108 \end{array}$			

¹ FAO. 2012. Forest Resources Assessment Working Paper 179.

²References: 1Canada NFI, 2006; 2Alban and Perala, 1992; 3Arthur and Fahey, 1992; 4Barney and Fahey, 1992; 5Barney and Van Cleve, 1973; 6Beets et al. 2011; 7Beets et al. 2014; 8Beets, 1980; 9Bingham and Sawyer Jr., 1988; 10Blackwell et al., 1992; 11FRA2015, Brazil; 12Brown and See, 1981; 13Busing, 1998; 14Chambers et al., 2000; 15FRA2015, Chile; 16Christensen, 1977; 17Clark et al., 1998; 18Cochrane et al., 1999; 19Collins, 1981; 20Delaney et al., 1998; 21FRA2015, Ecuador; 22Fahey, 1983; 23Falinski, 1978; 24Frangi et al., 1997; 25Franklin et al., 1984; 26FRA2015, French Guyana; 27Fule and Covington, 1994; 28Goodburn and Lorimer, 1998; 29Gore and Patterson, III, 1986; 30Gosz, 1980; 31Grahom and Cromack, 1982; 32Green and Peterken, 1998; 33Grier, 1978; 34Grier et al., 1981; 35FRA2015, Guyana; 36Hale et al., 1999; 37Harmon and Chen, 1991; 38Harmon et al., 1995; 39Harmon et al., 1986; 40Harmon et al., 1987; 41Harmon, 1980; 42Higucki and Biot, 1995; 43Hofer et al., 1996; 44Holdaway et al., 2017; 45Hughes et al., 2000; 46Japanese NFI, 2018; 47John, 1973; 48Jordan, 1989; 49Kauffman and Uhl, 1990; 50Keenan et al., 1993; 51Kira, 1978; 52Kirby et al., 1998; 53Klinge, 1973; 54Krankina et al., 1999; 55Krankina, Unpublished; 56Lamas and Fries, 1994; 57Lambert et al., 1980; 58Lang, 1985; 59Lee et al., 1997; 60Lesica et al., 1990; 61Levett et al., 1985; 62Linder and Ostlund, 1992; 63Linder et al. 1997; 64MacMillan, 1981; 65Martinelli et al., 1988; 66Martius, 1997; 67McCarthy and Bailey, 1994; 68McMinn and Hardt, 1996; 69Muller and Liu, 1991; 70Canada NFI, 2018b; 71Nicholas and White, 1984; 72Proctor et al. 1983; 73Revilla, 1987; 74Robertson and Daniel, 1989; 75Robertson and Bowser, 1999; 76Roskoski, 1980; 77Sackett, 1980; 78Sackett, 1979; 79Saldarriaga et al., 1988; 80Shifley et al., 1997; 81Sippola, 1998; 82Sollins, 1982; 83Spetich et al., 1999; 84Spies et al., 1988; 85Stewart and Burrows, 1994; 86Stokland, ; 87Storozhenko, 1997; 88Sturtevant et al., 1997; 89FRA2015, Suriname; 90Taylor and Fonda, 1990; 91Tritton 1980; 92Tyrrell and Crow, 1994; 93Ugawa et al., 2012; 94Uhl et al., 1988; 95van Hees and Clerkx, 1999; 96Zhou et al.,; 97FRA2015, Argentina; 98Domke et al., 2016; 99Japan NFI, 2018; 100Canada NFI, 2018; 101Canada NFI, 2018a; 102Shaw et al. 2005; 103Beets et al., 2012; 104Klinge et al., 1975; 105Kaufman et al., 1988; 106Nicholas and White, 1985; 107Revilla, 1986; 108Revilla, 1988; 109Sollins et al., 1980; 110Lang and Forman, 1978

n.a. denotes 'not available'

2.3.3 Change in carbon stocks in soils

Although both organic and inorganic forms of C are found in soils, land use and management typically has a larger impact on organic C stocks. Consequently, the methods provided in these guidelines focus mostly on soil organic C. Overall, the influence of land use and management on soil organic C is dramatically different in a mineral versus an organic soil type. Organic (e.g., peat and muck) soils have a minimum of 12 percent organic C by mass (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for the specific criteria on organic soil classification), and develop under poorly drained conditions of wetlands (Brady & Weil 1999). All other soils are classified as mineral soil types, and typically have relatively low amounts of organic matter, occurring under moderate to well drained conditions, and predominate in most ecosystems except wetlands. Discussion about land-use and management influences on these contrasting soil types is provided in the next two sections.

MINERAL SOILS

Mineral soils contain an organic carbon pool that is influenced by land-use and management activities. Land use can have a large effect on the size of this pool through activities such as conversion of native Grassland and Forest Land to Cropland, where 20-40 percent of the original soil C stocks can be lost (Mann 1986; Davidson & Ackerman 1993; Ogle *et al.* 2005). Within a land-use type, a variety of management practices can also have a significant impact on soil organic C storage, particularly in Cropland and Grassland (e.g., Paustian *et al.* 1997; Conant *et al.* 2001; Ogle *et al.* 2004 and 2005). In principle, soil organic C stocks can change with management or disturbance if the net balance between C inputs and C losses from soil is altered. Management activities influence organic C inputs through changes in plant production (such as fertilisation or irrigation to enhance crop growth), direct additions of C in organic amendments, and the amount of carbon left after biomass removal activities, such as crop harvest, timber harvest, fire, or grazing. Decomposition largely controls C outputs and can be influenced by changes in moisture and temperature regimes as well as the level of soil disturbance resulting from the management activity. Other factors also influence decomposition, such as climate and edaphic characteristics. Specific effects of different land-use conversions and management regimes are discussed in the land-use specific chapters (Chapters 4 to 9).

Land-use change and management activity can also influence soil organic C storage by changing erosion rates and subsequent loss of C from a site; some eroded C decomposes in transport and CO_2 is returned to the atmosphere, while the remainder is deposited in another location. The net effect of changing soil erosion through land management is highly uncertain, however, because an unknown portion of eroded C is stored in buried sediments of wetlands, lakes, river deltas and coastal zones (Smith *et al.* 2001).

ORGANIC SOILS

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Sections 2.2 and 2.3 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

2.3.3.1 SOIL ORGANIC C ESTIMATION METHODS (LAND REMAINING IN A LAND-USE CATEGORY AND LAND CONVERSION TO A NEW LAND USE)

Soil C inventories include estimates of soil organic C stock changes for mineral soils and CO_2 emissions from organic soils due to enhanced microbial decomposition caused by drainage and associated management activity. In addition, inventories can address C stock changes for soil inorganic C pools (e.g., calcareous grassland that become acidified over time) if sufficient information is available to use a Tier 3 approach. The equation for estimating the total change in soil C stocks is given in Equation 2.24:

EQUATION 2.24 (UPDATED) ANNUAL CHANGE IN CARBON STOCKS IN SOILS

$$\Delta C_{Soils} = \Delta C_{Mineral} - L_{Organic} + \Delta C_{Inorganic}$$

Where:

 $\Delta C_{Soils} = \text{annual change in carbon stocks in soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $\Delta C_{Mineral} = \text{annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$ $L_{Organic} = \text{annual loss of carbon from drained organic soils, tonnes C yr^{-1}}$

 $\Delta C_{Inorganic}$ = annual change in inorganic carbon stocks from soils, tonnes C yr⁻¹ (assumed to be 0 unless using a Tier 3 approach)

For Tier 1 methods, soil organic C stocks for mineral soils are computed to a default depth of 30 cm because default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF} – see Equation 2.25 and Table 2.3) and stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) are based on a 30 cm depth. In addition, the reference condition is defined as that present in native lands (i.e. non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation) for the default reference soil organic C stocks (SOC_{REF}). For Tier 2, a different reference condition and depth can be used as described in the section on Tier 2 methods. Residue/litter C stocks are not included in Tier 1 because they are addressed by estimating dead organic matter stocks (see section 2.3.2). Inventories can also estimate the change in mineral soil organic C stock due to biochar amendments to soils (Tier 2 and Tier 3 only). Stock changes in organic soils are based on emission factors that represent the annual loss of organic C throughout the profile due to drainage and associated management activity.

No Tier 1 or 2 methods are provided for estimating the change in soil inorganic C stocks ($\Delta C_{Inorganic}$) due to limited scientific data for derivation of stock change factors; thus, the net flux for inorganic C stocks is assumed to be zero. Tier 3 methods could be developed to estimate changes in the stock of inorganic carbon in mineral or organic soils.

It is possible that compilers will use different tiers to prepare estimates for mineral soils, organic soils, biochar amendments and soil inorganic C, depending on the availability of resources. Thus, stock changes are discussed separately for organic carbon in mineral and organic soils and for inorganic C pools (Tier 3 only). Generalised decision trees in Figures 2.4 and 2.5 can be used to assist inventory compilers in determining the appropriate tier for estimating stock changes for mineral and organic soil C, respectively.





Box 1:Tier 1





Tier 1 – Default Method

Mineral soils

For mineral soils, the stock change factor method is based on changes in soil C stocks ($\Delta C_{Mineral}$) over a finite period of time of 20 years (Equation 2.25). The change in organic C stock in mineral soil ($SOC_{Mineral}$) is computed by calculating the organic C stock remaining after a management change relative to the organic C stock in a reference condition and summing this change over all climate zones, soil types and management practices included in the inventory. The soil organic C stock present under the reference condition for the Tier 1 method is defined as that in non-degraded, unimproved lands under native vegetation (Table 2.3). The following assumptions are made:

- (i) Over time, soil organic C stock reaches a spatially-averaged, stable value specific to the soil, climate, land-use and management practices; and
- (ii) Soil organic C stock change during the transition to a new equilibrium SOC occurs in a linear fashion over a period of 20 years.

Assumption (i), that under a given set of climate and management conditions soils tend towards an equilibrium organic C stock, is widely accepted. Although, soil organic C stock changes in response to management changes may often be best described by a curvilinear function, assumption (ii) greatly simplifies the Tier 1 methodology and provides a good approximation over a multi-year inventory period, where changes in management and land-use conversions are occurring throughout the inventory period.

Using the default method, changes in mineral soil organic C stocks are computed over an inventory time period. Inventory time periods will likely be established based on the years in which activity data are collected, such as 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, which would correspond to inventory time periods of 1990-1995, 1995-2000, 2000-2005, 2005-2010. For each inventory time period, the soil organic C stocks are estimated for the first (SOC_{0-T}) and last year (SOC₀) based on multiplying the reference C stocks by stock change factors. Annual rates of carbon stock change are estimated as the difference in stocks at two points in time divided by the time dependence of the stock change factors.

EQUATION 2.25 Annual change in organic carbon stocks in mineral soils
$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)})}{D}$
$SOC_{Mineral} = \sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i} \right)$
(Note: T is used in place of D in the $\Delta C_{Mineral}$ equation if T is ≥ 20 years, see note below associated with the parameter D)

Where:

$\Delta C_{Mineral}$	= annual change in organic C stocks in mineral soils, tonnes C yr ⁻¹
SOC ₀	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) in the last year of an inventory time period, tonnes C
$SOC_{(0-T)}$	= mineral soil organic C stock (SOC _{Mineral}) at the beginning of the inventory time period, tonnes C
Т	= number of years over a single inventory time period, yr
D	= Time dependence of mineral soil organic C stock change factors which is the default time period for transition between equilibrium SOC values, yr. Commonly 20 years, but depends on assumptions made in computing the factors F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_{I} . If T exceeds D, use the value for T to obtain an annual rate of change over the inventory time period (0-T years).
с	= represents the climate zones included in the inventory
S	= represents the soil types included in the inventory
i	= represents the set of management systems included in the inventory.
$SOC_{Mineral}$	= total mineral soil organic C stock at a defined time, tonnes C
$SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}}$	= the soil organic C stock for mineral soils in the reference condition, tonnes C ha ⁻¹ (Table 2.3)
$F_{LU_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C land-use systems or sub-systems for a particular land-use, dimensionless
	[Note: F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in forest soil organic C stock calculations to estimate the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion)].
$F_{MG_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for management regime, dimensionless
$F_{I_{c,s,i}}$	= stock change factor for mineral soil organic C for the input of organic amendments,
	dimensionless
$A_{c,s,i}$	= land area of the stratum being estimated, ha
	[Note: All land in the stratum should have common biophysical conditions (i.e., climate and soil type) and management history over the inventory time period to be treated together for analytical purposes.]

Inventory calculations are based on land areas that are stratified by climate regions (see Chapter 3 Annex 3A.5, for default classification of climate), and default soils types as shown in Table 2.3 (see Chapter 3, Annex 3A.5, for default classification of soils). The stock change factors are very broadly defined and include: 1) a land-use factor (F_{LU}) that reflects C stock changes associated with type of land use, 2) a management factor (F_{MG}) representing the principal management practice specific to the land-use sector (e.g., different tillage practices in cropland), and 3) an input factor (F_I) representing different levels of C input to soil. As mentioned above, F_{ND} is substituted for F_{LU} in Forest Land to account for the influence of natural disturbance regimes (see Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3 for more discussion). The stock change factors are provided in the soil C sections of the land-use chapters. Each of these factors represents the change over a specified number of years (D), which can vary across sectors, but is typically invariant within sectors (e.g., 20 years for the cropland systems). In some inventories, the time period for inventory (T years) may exceed D, and under those cases, an annual rate of change in C stock may be obtained by dividing the product of $[(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-T)}) \bullet A]$ by T, instead of D. See the soil C sections in the land-use chapters for detailed step-by-step guidance on the application of this method.

When applying the stock change factor method using Equation 2.25, the type of land-use and management activity data has a direct influence on the formulation of the equation (See Box 2.1). Formulation A is based on activity data collected with Approach 1, while Formulation B is based on activity data collected with Approaches 2 or 3 (Box 2.1). See Chapter 3 for additional discussion on the approaches for activity data collection.

Special consideration is needed if using Approach 1 activity data (see Chapter 3) as the basis for estimating landuse and management effects on soil C stocks, using Equation 2.25. Approach 1 data do not track individual land transitions, and so SOC stock changes are computed for inventory time periods equivalent to D years, or as close as possible to D, which is 20 years in the Tier 1 method. For example, Cropland may be converted from full tillage to no-till management between 1990 and 1995, and Formulation A (see Box 2.1) would estimate a gain in soil C for that inventory time period. However, assuming that the same parcel of land remains in no-till between 1995 and 2000, no additional gain in C would be computed (i.e., the stock for 1995 would be based on no-till management and it would not differ from the stock in 2000 (SOC₀), which is also based on no-till management). If using the default approach, there would be an error in this estimation because the change in soil C stocks occurs over 20 years (i.e., D = 20 years). Therefore, SOC_(0-T) is estimated for the most distant time that is used in the inventory calculations up to D years before the last year in the inventory time periods (SOC₀). For example, assuming D is 20 years and the inventory is based on activity data from 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010, SOC₍₀ -T) will be computed for 1990 to estimate the change in soil organic C for each of the other years, (i.e., 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010). The year for estimating $SOC_{(0-T)}$ in this example will not change until activity data are gathered at 2011 or later (e.g., computing the C stock change for 2011 would be based on the most distant year up to, but not exceeding D, which in this example would be 1995).

If transition matrices are available (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data), the changes can be estimated between each successive year. From the example above, some no-till land may be returned to full tillage management between 1995 and 2000. In this case, the gain in C storage between 1990 and 1995 for the land base returned to full tillage would need to be discounted between 1995 and 2000. Further, no additional change in the C stocks would be necessary for land returned to full tillage after 2000 (assuming tillage management remained the same). Only land remaining in no-till would continue to gain C up to 2010 (i.e., assuming D is 20 years). Hence, inventories using transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data will need to be more careful in dealing with the time periods over which gains or losses of SOC are computed. See Box 2.2 for additional details. The application of the soil C estimation approach is much simpler if only using aggregated statistics with Approach 1 activity data. However, it is *good practice* for countries to use transition matrices from Approach 2 and 3 activity data if that information is available because the more detailed statistics will provide an improved estimate of annual changes in soil organic C stocks.

There may be some cases in which activity data are collected over time spans longer than the time dependence of the stock change factors (D), such as every 30 years with a D of 20. For those cases, the annual stock changes can be estimated directly between each successive year of activity data collection (e.g., 1990, 2020 and 2050) without over- or under-estimating the annual change rate, as long as T is substituted for D in Equation 2.25.

TABLE 2.3 (UPDATED)DEFAULT REFERENCE CONDITION SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCKS (SOCREF) FOR MINERAL SOILS (TONNES C HA ⁻¹ in 0-30 CM DEPTH) ^{1,2}							
IPCC soil class ⁶							
IPCC Climate Zone ⁵	High activity clay soils (HAC) ⁷	Low activity clay soils (LAC) ⁸	Sandy soils (SAN) ⁹				
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	59 ± 41% (24)	NA	27 ± 67% (18)				
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	63 ± 18% (35)	NA	$10\pm90\%$ 4				
Cool temperate dry (C2)	43 ± 8% (177)	$33 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	13 ± 33% (10)				
Cool temperate moist (C1)	81 ± 5% (334)	76 ± 51% (6)	51 ± 13% (126)				
Warm temperate dry (W2)	24 ± 5% (781)	19 ± 16% (41)	10 ± 5% (338)				
Warm temperate moist (W1)	64 ± 5% (489)	55 ± 8% (183)	36 ± 23% (39)				
Tropical dry (T4)	21 ± 5% (554)	19 ± 10% (135)	9 ± 9% (164)				
Tropical moist (T3)	40 ± 7% (226)	38 ± 5% (326)	27 ± 12% (76)				
Tropical wet (T2)	60 ± 8% (137)	52 ± 6% (271)	46 ± 20% (43)				
Tropical montane (T1)	51 ± 10% (114)	44 ± 11% (84)	52 ± 34% (11)				
	Spodic soils (POD) ¹⁰	Volcanic soils (VOL) ¹¹	Wetland soils (WET) ¹²				
Polar Moist/Dry (Px - undiff) ¹³	NO	NA	NA				
Boreal Moist/Dry (Bx - undiff) ¹³	$117 \pm 90\%^{-3}$	$20\pm90\%$ 4	116 ± 65% (6)				
Cool temperate dry (C2)	NO	$20\pm90\%$ 4	$87\pm90\%$ 3				
Cool temperate moist (C1)	128 ± 14% (45)	136 ± 14% (28)	128 ± 13% (42)				
Warm temperate dry (W2)	NO	84 ± 65% (10)	74 ± 17% (49)				
Warm temperate moist (W1)	143 ± 30% (9)	138 ± 12% (42)	135 ± 28% (28)				
Tropical dry (T4)	NA	$50\pm90\%$ 4	22 ± 17% (32)				
Tropical moist (T3)	NA	$70\pm90\%$ 4	68 ± 17% (55)				
Tropical wet (T2)	NA	77 ± 27% (14)	49 ± 19% (33)				
Tropical montane (T1)	NA	96 ± 31% (10)	82 ± 50% (12)				

Note: Data are derived from Batjes (2010) and Batjes (2011) unless otherwise noted through the use of superscripts.

¹NA denotes that soil categories the soil category may occur in a climate zone, but no data was available. NO denotes that the soil type does not normally occur within a climate zone. ² All values are presented in the format of the mean for the soil by climate combination \pm the 95% confidence limit expressed as a percentage of the mean (that is ± 1.96 * standard error /mean *100). Values in parentheses are the number of soils included in the derivation of mean and standard error values for each combination of soil and climate types. ³ Indicates where no data were available from Batjes (2011) but values were derived for the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and have been used in the table. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁴ Indicates where no data were available either from Batjes (2011) or in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Mean values present the default values used in the 1996 IPCC Guidelines. No values of n were available. A nominal error estimate of ±90% of the mean was assigned as per the 2006 IPCC Guidelines. ⁵ Climate classes are defined according to (IPCC 2006, p. 3.39) using elevation, mean annual temperature, mean annual precipitation, mean annual precipitation to potential evapotranspiration ratio and frost occurrence. ⁶ Soil classes are inferred from the FAO-1990/WRB-2006 classification in accordance with IPCC (2006, p. 3.40 - 3.41). ⁷ Soils with high activity clay (HAC) minerals are lightly to moderately weathered soils dominated by 2:1 silicate clay minerals (in the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB) classification: Leptosols, Vertisols, Kastanozems, Chernozems, Phaeozems, Luvisols, Alisols, Albeluvisols, Solonetz, Calcisols, Gypsisols, Umbrisols, Cambisols, Regosols; in USDA classification: Mollisols, Vertisols, high-base status Alfisols, Aridisols, Inceptisols). ⁸ Soils with low activity clay (LAC) minerals are highly weathered soils, dominated by 1:1 clay minerals and amorphous iron and aluminium oxides (in WRB classification: Acrisols, Lixisols, Nitisols, Ferralsols, Durisols; in USDA classification: Ultisols, Oxisols, acidic Alfisols). ⁹ Soils (regardless of taxonomic classification) having > 70% sand and < 8% clay (in WRB classification: Arenosols; in USDA classification: Psamments). ¹⁰ Soils exhibiting strong podzolization (in WRB classification includes Podzols; in USDA classification Spodosols). ¹¹ Soils derived from volcanic ash with allophanic mineralogy (in WRB classification Andosols; in USDA classification Andisols). ¹² Soils with restricted drainage leading to periodic flooding and anaerobic conditions (in WRB classification Gleysols; in USDA classification Aquic suborders). ¹³ The Boreal dry and Boreal moist zones and the Polar dry and Polar moist zones were not differentiated. Results presented represent the SOC₃₀ stocks for the undifferentiated (undiff.) Boreal (Bx) and Polar (Px) classes.

Box 2.1 (Updated) Alternative formulations of Equation 2.25 for Approach 1 activity data versus Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Two alternative formulations are possible for Equation 2.25 depending on the Approach used to collect activity data, including

Formulation A (Approach 1 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{0} - \left[\sum_{c,s,i} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,i}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,i}} \bullet A_{c,s,i}\right)\right]_{(0-T)}}{D}$$

Formulation B (Approaches 2 and 3 for Activity Data Collection)

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{\sum_{c,s,p} \left[\begin{cases} \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{0} - \\ \left(SOC_{REF_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{LU_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{MG_{c,s,p}} \bullet F_{I_{c,s,p}} \right)_{(0-T)} \right] \bullet A_{c,s,p}}{D}$$

Where:

p = a parcel of land representing an individual unit of area over which the inventory calculations are performed.

See the description of other terms under the Equation 2.25.

Activity data may only be available using Approach 1 for data collection (Chapter 3). These data provide the total area at two points in time for climate, soil and land-use/management systems, without quantification of the specific transitions in land use and management over the inventory time period (i.e., only the aggregate or net change is known, not the gross changes in activity). With Approach 1 activity data, mineral C stock changes are computed using formulation A of Equation 2.25. In contrast, activity data may be collected based on surveys, remote sensing imagery or other data providing not only the total areas for each land management system, but also the specific transitions in land use and management over time on individual parcels of land. These are considered Approach 2 and 3 activity data in Chapter 3, and soil C stock changes are computed using formulation B of Equation 2.25. Formulation B contains a summation by land parcel (i.e., "p" represents land parcels in formulation B rather than the set of management systems "i") that allows the inventory compiler to compute the changes in C stocks on a land parcel by land parcel basis.

BOX 2.2 (UPDATED)

COMPARISON BETWEEN USE OF APPROACH 1 AGGREGATE STATISTICS AND APPROACH 2 OR 3 ACTIVITY DATA WITH TRANSITION MATRICES

This box examines the application of Equation 2.25 to calculate $\Delta C_{mineral}$. Assume a country where a fraction of the land is subjected to land-use changes, as shown in the following table, where each line represents one land unit with an area of 1 Mha (F = Forest Land; C = Cropland; G = Grassland). Where a land-use change occurs, it is assumed to occur in the year following the previous inventory year (e.g. for land unit 1, the conversion from F to C occurred at the start of 1991 such that for the five years from the start of 1991 to the end of the 1995 inventory year the land was under land-use C)

OMPARI	BOX 2.2 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) PARISON BETWEEN USE OF APPROACH 1 AGGREGATE STATISTICS AND APPROACH 2 OR 3 DATA WITH TRANSITION MATRICES							
	Land Unit ID	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
	1	F	С	С	С	С	С	С
	2	F	С	С	С	G	G	G
	3	G	С	С	С	С	G	G
	4	G	G	F	F	F	F	F

C

G

C

G

G

G

G

C

С

C

C

С

5

6

For simplicity, it is assumed that the country has a single soil type, with a SOC_{REF} (0-30 cm soil C stock under native forest vegetation) value of 77 tonnes C ha⁻¹. Values for F_{LU} are 1.00, 1.05 and 0.92 for F, G and C, respectively. F_{MG} and F_I are assumed to be equal to 1. The time dependence of the stock change factors (D) is 20 years. Finally, the soil C stock is assumed to be at equilibrium in 1990 (i.e., no changes in land-use occurred during the 20 years prior to 1990). When using Approach 1 activity data (i.e., aggregate statistical data), annual changes in C stocks are computed for every inventory year following Equation 2.25 above. The following table shows the results of calculations¹:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
F (Mha)	2	0	1	1	1	1	1
G (Mha)	2	1	1	1	3	3	3
C (Mha)	2	5	4	4	2	2	2
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	435.1	441.2	441.2	461.2	461.2	461.2
SOC _(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	457.4	435.1	441.2
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.2	1.3	1.0

If Approach 2 or 3 data are used in which land-use changes are explicitly known, C stocks can be computed taking into account historical changes for every individual land unit. The total C stocks for the sum of all units is compared with the most immediate previous inventory year, rather than with the inventory of 20 years before to estimate annual changes in C stocks:

	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 1	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	70.8	70.8	70.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 2	77.0	75.5	73.9	72.4	74.5	76.6	78.7
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 3	80.9	78.3	75.8	73.3	70.8	73.3	75.8
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 4	80.9	80.9	79.9	78.9	78.0	77.0	77.0
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 5	70.8	70.8	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3
SOC ₀ (Mt C) for unit 6	70.8	70.8	73.3	75.8	78.3	76.5	74.6
SOC ₀ (Mt C)	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1	455.4
SOC(0-T) (Mt C)	457.4	457.4	451.8	447.8	443.7	445.8	450.1
ΔC _{Mineral} (Mt C yr ⁻¹)	0.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.8	0.4	0.9	1.0
Mineral	0.0	-1.1	-0.0	-0.0	0.4	0.9	

Box 2.2 (Updated) (Continued) Comparison between use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics and Approach 2 or 3 activity data with transition matrices

Both methods yield different estimates of C stocks, and use of Approach 2 or 3 data with land transition matrices would be more accurate than use of Approach 1 aggregate statistics. However, estimates of annual changes of C stocks would not differ greatly, as shown in this example. The effect of underlying data approaches on the estimates differ more when there are multiple changes in land-use on the same piece of land (as in land units 2, 3 and 6 in the example). It is noteworthy that Approach 1, 2 and 3 activity data produce the same changes in C stocks if the systems reach a new equilibrium, which occurs with no change in land-use and management for a 20-year time period using the Tier 1 method. Consequently, no C stock increases or losses are inadvertently lost when applying the methods for Approach 1, 2 or 3 activity data, but the temporal dynamics do vary somewhat as demonstrated above. A spreadsheet is available with the full set of calculations: Vol4_Ch2_Spreadsheet_Box_2.2_Calculations.xlsx.

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 2 Methods

Mineral soils

A Tier 2 method is an extension of the Tier 1 method that allows an inventory to incorporate country-specific data. It is *good practice* for countries to use a Tier 2 method, if possible, even if they are only able to better specify certain components of the Tier 1 method. For example, a compiler may only have data to derive country-specific reference C stocks, which would then be used with default stock change factors to estimate changes in soil organic C stocks for mineral soils.

Country-specific data can be used to improve four components when applying the Tier 1 equations for estimating stock changes in mineral soils. The components include a) derivation of region or country-specific stock change factors, b) reference condition C stocks, c) specification of management systems, and/or d) classification of climate and soil categories (e.g., Ogle *et al.*, 2003; VandenBygaart *et al.*, 2004; Tate *et al.*, 2005). Inventory compilers can choose to derive specific values for all of these components, or any subset, which would be combined with default values provided in the Tier 1 method to complete the inventory calculations using Equation 2.25. Also, the Tier 2 method uses the same procedural steps for calculations as provided for Tier 1.

1) *Defining management systems*. Although the same management systems may be used in a Tier 2 inventory as found in the Tier 1 method, the default systems can be disaggregated into a finer categorisation that better represents management impacts on soil organic C stocks in a particular country based on empirical data (i.e., stock change factors vary significantly for the proposed management systems). Such an undertaking, however, is only possible if there is sufficient detail in the underlying data to classify the land area into the finer, more detailed set of management systems.

2) *Climate regions and soil types.* Countries that have detailed soil classifications and climatic data have the option of developing country-specific classifications. Moreover, it is considered *good practice* to specify better climate regions and soil types during the development of a Tier 2 inventory if the new classification improves the specification of reference C stocks and/or stock change factors. In practice, reference C stocks and/or stock change factors should differ significantly among the proposed climate regions and soil types based on an empirical analysis. Note that specifying new climate regions and/or soil types requires the derivation of country-specific reference C stocks and stock change factors. The default reference soil C stocks and stock change factors are only appropriate for inventories using the default climate and soil types.

3) *Reference C stocks.* Deriving country-specific reference condition soil C stocks (SOC_{REF}) is another possibility for improving an inventory using a Tier 2 method (Bernoux *et al.* 2002), which will likely produce more accurate and representative values. Country-specific stocks can be estimated from soil measurements, for example, as part of a country's soil survey. It is important that reliable taxonomic descriptions be used to group soils into categories. Three additional points require consideration when deriving the country-specific values, including possible specification of country-specific soil categories and climate regions (i.e., instead of using the IPCC default classification), choice of reference condition, and choice of depth increment over which the stocks are estimated.

Stocks are computed by multiplying the proportion of organic C (i.e., %C divided by 100) by the depth increment (default is 30 cm), bulk density, and the proportion of coarse-fragment free soil (i.e., < 2mm fragments) in the depth increment (Ogle *et al.* 2003). The coarse fragment-free proportion is on a mass basis (i.e., mass of coarse fragment-free soil/total mass of the soil). If the soil C reference condition differs from that used in Table 2.3 or the soil depth used differs from 30 cm, then appropriate country specific soil C stocks for the reference condition and stock change factors must be derived. For developing a Tier 2 method, it would also be possible to define reference SOC stocks and SOC stock change factors using an equivalent mass approach (see Box 2.2b) rather than an approach based on a fixed depth.

The soil reference condition is the land-use/cover category (or condition within a land-use/cover category) that is used for evaluating the relative effect of land-use change on the amount of soil C storage (e.g., relative difference in soil C storage between a reference condition, such as native lands, and another land use, such as cropland, forming the basis for F_{LU} in Equation 2.25). It is likely that many countries will use the Tier 1 default soil reference condition, which is *good practice* if it allows for a more accurate assessment of soil C stock changes. The same reference condition should be used for each climate zone and soil type, regardless of the land use. The soil C stock associated with the reference condition is then multiplied by land use, input and management factors to estimate the stocks at the beginning and last year in an inventory time period (See Equation 2.25).

Another consideration in deriving country-specific reference soil C stocks is the possibility of estimating C stocks to a different depth in the soil. Default soil C stocks given in Table 2.3 are based on the amount of soil organic C in the top 30 cm of a soil profile. A different depth can be selected and used for Tier 2 methods if all appropriate data are available. Consideration should be given to the introduction of bias (positive or negative) that may arise in response to the depth selected. For example, where depth is set to 20 cm and cultivation mixes soils to a depth >20 cm, an apparent difference in SOC stock between cultivated and uncultivated soils may be observed for the 20cm depth that is not representative of the change in SOC stocks to the depth over which mixing occurs in the cultivated soil. It is *good practice* to derive reference condition soil C stocks to the depth at which land use and management impact soil C stocks, but this will require that the data are available or could be acquired to the selected depth. Any change in the depth for reference condition soil C stocks will require derivation of new stock change factors (e.g. F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I see Equation 2.25) consistent with the depth selected because the defaults are based on impacts to a 30 cm depth.

It is possible to use a soil C model to derive steady state soil C stocks indicative of the soil reference condition for the various combinations of soil type and climate that exist within a country. However, this would require sufficient testing of the model used to provide evidence that the model is adequate for this purpose (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Further information related to soil sampling strategies and how to derive soil reference C stocks can be found in Batjes (2011), as well as in a range of soil sampling and analysis texts (e.g. Carter & Gregorich 2008; de Gruijter *et al.* 2006)

4) *Stock change factors*. An important advancement for a Tier 2 method is the estimation of country-specific stock change factors (F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I). The derivation of country-specific factors can be accomplished using experimental/measurement data and computer model simulation. In practice, deriving stock change factors involves estimating a response ratio for each study or observation (i.e., the C stocks in different input or management classes are divided by the value for the nominal practice, respectively).

Optimally, stock change factors are based on experimental/measurement data in the country or surrounding region, by estimating the response ratios from each study and then analysing those values using an appropriate statistical technique (e.g., Ogle et al. 2003 and 2004; VandenBygaart et al. 2004). Studies may be found in published literature, reports and other sources, or inventory compilers may choose to conduct new experiments. Regardless of the data source, it is good practice that the plots being compared have similar histories and management as well as similar topographic position, soil physical properties and be located in close proximity. Studies should provide soil C stocks (i.e., mass per unit area to a specified depth) or the information needed to calculate soil C stocks (i.e., percent organic carbon together with bulk density; proportion of rock in soil, which is often measured as the greater than 2mm fraction and by definition contains negligible soil organic C). If percent organic matter is available instead of percent organic carbon, a conversion factor of 0.58 can be used to estimate the C content. Moreover, it is good practice that the measurements of soil C stocks are taken on an equivalent mass basis (e.g., Ellert et al. 2001; Gifford & Roderick, 2003). In order to use this method, the inventory compiler will need to determine a depth to measure the C stock for the nominal land use or practice, such as native lands or conventional tillage. This depth will need to be consistent with the depth for the reference C stocks. The soil C stock for the land-use or management change is then measured to a depth with the equivalent mass of soil. Box 2.2b provides further information on issues associated with conducting an inventory on an equivalent mass basis.

Another option for deriving country-specific values is to simulate stock change factors from advanced models (Bhatti *et al.*, 2001). To demonstrate the use of advanced models, simulated stock change factors can be compared to with measured changes in C stocks from experiments. It is *good practice* to provide the results of model

evaluation, citing published papers in the literature and/or placing the results in the inventory report. This approach is considered a Tier 2 method because it relies on the stock change factor concept and the C estimation method elaborated in the Tier 1 method.

Derivation of country-specific management factors (F_{MG}) and input factors (F_{I}), either with empirical data or advanced models, will need to be consistent with the management system classification. If more systems are specified for the inventory, unique factors will need to be derived representing the finer categories for a particular land use.

Another consideration in deriving country-specific stock change factors is their associated time dependence (D in Equation 2.25), which determines the number of years over which the majority of a soil C stock change occurs, following a management change. It is possible to use the default time dependence (D) for the land-use sector (e.g., 20 years for cropland), but the dependence can be changed if sufficient data are available to justify a different time period. In addition, the method is designed to use the same time dependence (D) for all stock change factors as presented in Equation 2.25. If different periods are selected for F_{LU} , F_{MG} and F_I , it will be necessary to compute the influence of land use, management and inputs separately and divide the associated stock change dependence. This can be accomplished by modifying Equation 2.25 so that SOC at time T and 0-T is computed individually for each of the stock change factors (i.e., SOC is computed with F_{LU} only, then computed with F_{MG} , and finally computed with F_I). The differences are computed for the stocks associated with land use, management, and input, dividing by their respective D values, and then the changes are summed.

Changes in soil C stocks normally occur in a non-linear fashion, and it is possible to further develop the time dependence of stock change factors to reflect this pattern. For changes in land use or management that cause a decrease in soil C content, the rate of change is highest during the first few years, and progressively declines with time. In contrast, when soil C is increasing due to land-use or management change, the rate of accumulation tends to follow a sigmoidal curve, with rates of change being slow at the beginning, then increasing and finally decreasing with time. If historical changes in land-use or management practices are explicitly tracked by resurveying the same locations (i.e., Approach 2 or 3 activity data, see Chapter 3), it may be possible to implement a Tier 2 method that incorporates the non-linearity of changes in soil C stock.

BOX 2.2A (NEW)

USING EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS TO DERIVE MINERAL SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCK CHANGE FACTORS

Soil carbon stock estimates may be improved when deriving country-specific factors for F_{LU} and F_{MG} , by expressing carbon stocks on a soil-mass equivalent basis rather than a soil-volume equivalent (i.e. fixed depth) basis. This is because the soil mass to a certain soil depth changes in response to altered management practices associated with land use change (e.g. uprooting forest vegetation, land levelling, and rain compaction due to the disappearance of the cover of tree canopy). In addition, soil bulk density may be affected differently by particular management practices within a given land use (e.g. tillage and machinery traffic within cropping systems or the extent of compaction induced by different animal at stocking rates within pasture systems). Where the soil bulk density changes due to land use and/or management, the comparison of the soil carbon stocks between the cropland, settlements, grassland, wetlands, or forest land to the same depth introduces changes to soil carbon stocks as a direct consequence of changes in soil bulk density (Ellert & Bettany 1995). With a management induced change in soil bulk density, it is possible to calculate a change in soil carbon stock to a fixed depth in the absence of any change in soil carbon content. Therefore, it is more robust to calculate soil carbon stock change on an equivalent mass basis rather than on a fixed-depth basis (Toriyama et al. 2011; Bruun et al. 2013; Halvorson et al. 2016; Hu et al., 2016). The equivalent mass approach has more rigorous comparability when the bulk density between cropland, grassland, wetland, settlements and forest land is markedly different even if the site is within close proximity. It is important to realise that comprehensive data of soil carbon concentration and soil bulk density would be required to derive stock change factors across all land uses. The changing mass of organic carbon itself will affect the equivalent soil mass and therefore equivalent mass basis is not appropriate for organic soils. There are proposals for methods based on only equivalent mass of the mineral soil portion (McBratney & Minasny 2010) that would reduce the effect of changing soil organic mass distorting the equivalent soil mass. Adopting an equivalent-mass based carbon stock inventory requires thorough consideration of the challenges.

The impact of biochar C amendments on mineral soils can also be estimated with a Tier 2 method for mineral soils using Equation 2.25A and adding this estimate to the result in Equation 2.25.⁷

⁷ Biochar is a solid carbonised product from thermochemical conversion through pyrolysis (heating with limited air). The term biochar is used herein only to refer to materials that have been produced under process conditions in which relatively easily mineralisable organic materials are converted to more persistent forms by heating to above 350 °C with limited air through a



Where:

- $\Delta BC_{Mineral}$ = the total change in carbon stocks of mineral soils associated with biochar amendment, tonnes sequestered C yr⁻¹
- BC_{TOT_p} = the mass of biochar incorporated into mineral soil during the inventory year for each biochar production type p, tonnes biochar dry matter yr⁻¹
- F_{C_p} = the organic carbon content of biochar for each production type p, tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar dry matter
- F_{perm_p} = fraction of biochar carbon for each production type *p* remaining (unmineralised) after 100 years, tonnes sequestered C tonne⁻¹ biochar C
- n = the number of different production types of biochar

Country-specific values the C content of the forms of biochar included in the inventory (F_{C_p} in units of tonnes C tonne⁻¹ biochar on a dry mass basis) can be measured directly from representative samples of biochar. Country-specific values may also be based on published data on carbon content of biochar produced using the same feedstock and process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country.

The fraction of biochar C remaining after 100 years is defined by the parameter F_{perm_n} . It is not possible to measure

this value directly due to the time scales involved. So, this parameter is estimated from other data. The elemental composition of biochar, specifically the ratio of hydrogen to organic carbon (H/C_{org}) or ratio of oxygen to organic carbon (O/C_{org}), has been shown to correlate non-linearly with biochar residence time (Spokas 2010; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). Therefore, country-specific Tier 2 estimates of F_{perm_a} can be based on H/C_{org} or O/C_{org} measured directly

from representative samples of biochar, or from published data for biochar produced using similar process conditions as the biochar that is applied to soils in the country. This parameter can also be derived from the biochar elemental composition using published equations relating this composition to mean residence time or half-life (for example H/C_{org} , Lehmann *et al.* 2015; or O/C_{org} , Spokas 2010), and extrapolated to the permanence time frame assuming one-, two-, or three-pool exponential decay (Zimmerman 2010; Herath *et al.* 2015; Lehmann *et al.* 2015). A justification should be provided if a permanence time frame other than 100 years is used.

Since the impact of biochar amendments is a separate calculation and summed with the result from Equation 2.25 in the Tier 2 method, it is essential that biochar C is not included as an organic amendment in the estimates of $SOC_{Mineral}$ in Equation 2.25.

gasification or pyrolysis process. This guidance does not deal with pyrolytic organic materials that result from wild fires or open fires, and is only applicable for biochar added to mineral soils.

BOX 2.2B (NEW) GHG Emission Sources with biochar production

Biochar production involves emissions from several different sectors and source categories. All GHG emissions and removals are reported in a greenhouse gas inventory, but estimation and reporting is done based on sources in which the activity occurs. The guidance in this section is addressing C stock changes associated with the end-product use of biochar amendments to mineral soils. However, other emissions do occur along the biochar feedstock supply chains that are estimated in other source categories. For example, the harvesting and use of forest wood biomass for biochar production would be part of reported C stock changes in Forest Land Remaining Forest Land (Volume 4). Moreover, biomass may be grown specifically as a feedstock and the C stock changes are estimated and reported under the appropriate source categories for land use associated with feedstock production (Volume 4). For plant residues and manures, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input of organic amendments to soil and thereby affects soil C stocks in cropland and grassland, and possibly other land uses receiving manure amendments (Volume 4). For waste materials, their utilisation as feedstock reduces input to waste streams and is addressed in the calculation of emissions from waste management (Volume 5). There may also be use of fossil fuels in the harvesting, transport and pyrolysis of the feedstock and a potential release of other non-CO₂ greenhouse gases during the heating process that would be included in the energy sector (Volume 2).

Organic soils

No refinement. See Chapter 2, Section 2.2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No refinement.

Tier 3: Advanced estimation systems

Tier 3 approaches for soil C involve the development of an advanced estimation system that will typically better capture annual variability in fluxes, unlike Tier 1 and 2 approaches that mostly assume a constant annual change in C stocks over an inventory time period based on a stock change factor. Essentially, Tiers 1 and 2 represent land-use and management impacts on soil C stocks as a linear shift from one equilibrium state to another. To understand the implications better, it is important to note that soil C stocks typically do not exist in an absolute equilibrium state or change in a linear manner through a transition period, given that many of the driving variables affecting the stocks are dynamic, periodically changing at shorter time scales before a new "near" equilibrium is reached. Tier 3 approaches can address this non-linearity using more advanced models than Tiers 1 and 2 methods, and/or by developing a measurement-based inventory with a monitoring network. In addition, Tier 3 inventories are capable of capturing longer-term legacy effects of land use and management. In contrast, Tiers 1 and 2 approaches typically only address the most recent influence of land use and management, such as the last 20 years for mineral C stocks. See Section 2.5 (Generic Guidance for Tier 3 methods) for additional discussion on Tier 3 methods beyond the text given below.

Mineral soils

Model-based approaches can use mechanistic simulation models that capture the underlying processes driving carbon gains and losses from soils in a quantitative framework, such as the influence of land use and management on processes controlling carbon input resulting from plant production and litter fall as well as microbial decomposition (e.g., McGill, 1996; Smith *et al.*, 1997b; Smith *et al.*, 2000; Falloon and Smith, 2002; Tate *et al.*, 2005; Campbell&Paustian, 2015). Note that Tier 3 methods provide the only current opportunity to explicitly estimate the impact of soil erosion on C fluxes (Box 2.2d). In addition, Tier 3 model-based approaches may represent C transfers between biomass, dead biomass and soils, which are advantageous for ensuring conservation of mass in predictions of C stock changes in these pools relative to CO₂ removals and emissions to the atmosphere.

Tier 3 modelling approaches are capable of addressing the influence of land use and management with a dynamic representation of environmental conditions that affect the processes controlling soil C stocks, such as weather, edaphic characteristics, and other variables. The impact of land use and management on soil C stocks can vary as environmental conditions change, and such changes are not captured in lower Tiers, which may create biases in those results. Tier 3 methods can also include lateral flows of C associated with erosion and deposition (See Box 2.2c). Consequently, Tier 3 approaches are capable of providing a more accurate estimation of C stock changes associated with land-use and management activity if the modelling approach has been calibrated to the range of environmental conditions, soil properties and management practices to which the model will subsequently be applied (See Section 2.5 for more information).

For Tier 3 approaches, a set of benchmark sites will be needed to evaluate model results. Ideally, a series of permanent, benchmark monitoring sites would be established with statistically replicated design, capturing the major climatic regions, soil types, and management systems as well as system changes, and would allow for repeated measurements of soil organic C stocks over time (Smith, 2004a). Monitoring is based on re-sampling plots every 3 to 5 years or each decade; shorter sampling frequencies are not likely to produce significant differences due to small annual changes in C stocks relative to the large total amount of C in a soil (IPCC, 2000; Smith, 2004b).

Box 2.2C (NEW)

REPRESENTING THE IMPACT OF SOIL EROSION AND DEPOSITION ON SOIL CARBON STOCK CHANGES

Soil erosion and/or deposition can have marked effect on measured carbon stocks (Chappell *et al.* 2016). Soil carbon stock changes due to soil erosion/deposition are not considered to be embedded in factors for land-use change or land management. In practice, it is difficult to determine whether soil erosion/deposition effects are or are not included in stock change factors derived from empirical data. Different land use changes and subsequent management practices could result in different extents of soil movement. For example, land-use change from forest or grassland to cropland, or land management change from no-till to full tillage are typically associated with increased soil movement. The amounts of soil erosion or deposition are rarely measured or documented in datasets that have quantified soil carbon stock changes.

One option to include the effects of soil erosion and deposition is using well-tested models that capture these dynamics with required input data to make estimates of the effect of past erosion/deposition on soil carbon stocks (Van Oost *et al.* 2005; Causarano *et al.* 2007). However, use of such models also requires having empirical data on erosion/deposition effects on carbon stocks for evaluation of the model predictions. Another option is to consistently apply a rationale that identifies measured data of soil carbon stock changes that are affected by erosion/deposition for the development of Tier 2 or 3 methods, developing factors related to erosion/deposition impacts, and then applying these factors in areas affected by erosion/deposition.

In addition to model-based approaches, Tier 3 methods afford the opportunity to develop a measurement-based inventory using a similar monitoring network as needed for model evaluation. However, measurement networks, which serve as the basis for a complete inventory, will have a considerably larger sampling density to minimise uncertainty, and to represent all management systems and associated land-use changes, across all climatic regions and major soil types (Sleutel *et al.*, 2003; Lettens *et al.*, 2004). Measurement networks can be based on soil sampling at benchmark sites or flux tower networks. Flux towers, such as those using eddy covariance systems (Baldocchi *et al.*, 2001), constitute a unique case in that they measure the *net* exchange of CO_2 between the atmosphere and land surface. Thus, with respect to changes in C stocks for the soil pool, flux tower measurement networks are subject to the following caveats: 1) towers need to occur at a sufficient density to represent fluxes for the entire country; 2) flux estimates need to be attributed to individual land-use sectors and specific land-use and management activities; and 3) CO_2 fluxes need to be further attributed to individual pools including stock changes in soils (also biomass and dead organic matter). Additional considerations about soil measurements are given in the previous section on Tier 2 methods for mineral soils (See stock change factor discussion).

It is important to note that measurement-based inventories represent full C estimation approaches, addressing all influences on soil C stocks. Partial estimation of only land-use and management effects may be difficult, however. Examples in Box 2.2d provide illustrations of Tier 3 methods for estimating change in mineral soil C stocks, including information such as type of data required, brief description of the models and methods that are used to apply the models. For Tier 3 methods, it is important to calibrate and test models against field measurements that reflect the variability in climate, soil type and land use over which the model will be applied (See Section 2.5.2 for more information). Application of the equivalent mass approach may be possible for calculating soil C stocks with Tier 3 models, and is discussed in Box 2.2e.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) Examples of Tier 3 Mineral Soil C Stock Change methods

Four examples of Tier 3 model applications for soil organic C stock changes are elaborated in this section based on government reporting to the UNFCCC by the Australia, Finland, Japan and United States.

Australia

Australia has implemented a Tier 3 inventory approach based on the use of the FullCAM model (Richards 2001; Richards & Evans 2004) to estimate management induced changes in the stock of organic carbon held in the 0-30 cm soil depth layer over time. Australian lands included in the inventory were allocated to forest land, cropland, grassland, deforested land, forest land converted to cropland and grassland, grassland converted to forest land, and land with sparse woody vegetation based on national land use mapping (ABARES 2016) and remote sensing protocols (Caccetta *et al.* 2012) Detailed presentations of the soil carbon accounting processes under all land uses can be found in the National Inventory Reports (NIR) (http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-measurement/publications/national-inventory-report-2015). Here a summary is provided of the Tier 3 approach as applied to soil organic carbon stocks for cropland and grassland.

The FullCAM model simulates soil carbon stock change in 25m x 25m areas across Australia. This size was selected as it represented the finest scale to which the remote sensing process (Caccetta *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) can detect land use change and quantify movement of lands between the various classes included in the inventory. The data requirements and processes used to quantify the impact of management on Australia's 0-30 cm stock of soil organic carbon can be summarised as follows:

- 1) Spatially explicit daily and monthly climatic data (average temperature, total rainfall and total pan evaporation) are extracted from the Australian Bureau of Meteorology database and then interpolated using thin plate smoothing splines according to (Kesteven & Lansberg 2004). Additionally, spatially explicit estimates of soil clay content and water holding capacity are extracted from the Soil and Landscape Grid of Australia These data represent required inputs the (www.clw.csiro.au/aclep/soilandlandscapegrid/). modelling described in steps 4 and 5.
- 2) The initial 0-30 cm total soil organic carbon stock is defined using a national map derived by Viscarra Rossel *et al.* (2014). This total stock is then allocated to three measurable organic carbon fractions (particulate, humus and resistant forms) that provide estimates for the respective stocks of resistant plant material, humus and inert carbon required to initialize the FullCAM model (Baldock *et al.* 2013; Skjemstad *et al.* 2004; Viscarra Rossel & Hicks 2015).
- 3) The types of crops and pastures grown, the applied management practices (e.g. tillage and residue management) and their relative allocations within defined land areas are calculated using national agricultural statistics derived from censuses conducted every five years (http://www.abs.gov.au/Agriculture).
- 4) For the bulk of Australian crops and pastures, total growth is defined by the availability of water received as rainfall. Thus, a plant growth model applying species specific transpiration efficiency terms to the amount of water made available to growing plants is used to estimate above ground dry matter production. This production is then used along with plant species specific harvest indices (Unkovich *et al.* 2010) and root:shoot ratios to define the mass of carbon entering the soil and/or deposited on the soil surface for each monthly time step within the FullCAM simulation model. Within irrigated systems, plant growth attains defined plant specific maximum values each year.
- 5) The FullCAM model is then initialized and run on a monthly time step. During each step, decomposition of decomposable and resistant plant materials and humus pools of C occurs according to first order decay equations. The values of the decomposition rate constants associated with the resistant plant material and humus pools of carbon within the model were calibrated to Australian conditions to the corresponding measured stocks of soil carbon fractions

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

5) (continued) of soil temperature and water content on decomposition is modelled through the application of decomposition rate constant modifiers as done in the Rothamsted Carbon Model (RothC) soil carbon model (Jenkinson 1990).

The impact of management on soil carbon stocks is quantified by running the described modelling process forward from 1970 under two scenarios. In both scenarios, the same relative spatial allocation of regimes (combinations of crop or pasture species and management practice) is used from 1970 to 1990. From 1990 onwards, the relative spatial allocation of regimes is held constant at 1990 values in the first scenario. For the second scenario, the regimes are varied from 1991 onwards to reflect the temporal variations in regimes defined within the available data. The first scenario thus estimates the soil carbon stock that would have been attained with no change in management from that present in 1990; while the second scenario estimates the soil carbon stock attained when management changes over time are accounted for. The net impact of management since 1990 is then calculated as the difference in the soil organic carbon stock between the two scenarios.

Finland

Finland uses Yasso07 soil carbon model as a Tier 3 method to report carbon stock changes on forest and agricultural lands as well as in the cases of land use change (Statistics Finland 2017). Yasso07 is based on a few explicit assumptions on soil carbon cycling and these assumptions form a conceptual model further formulated into mathematical equations (Tuomi *et al.* 2011b; US EPA 2017). The model has four state variables based on the solubility of the organic material (acid-, water-, ethanol- and non-soluble and in addition, there is a humus pool that has the lowest decay rate.

The model is used in the NGHGI to generate annual C stock change rates per hectare based on regional estimates of organic matter input (forest and crop statistics) and annual climate parameters. Litter input is given in the four solubility fractions based on laboratory measurements. Organic matter decays in the five model fractions driven by temperature and precipitation. The resulting C stock change rates are applied on the respective land areas to produce regional estimates of C stock change. The model is used consistently across different land use categories so that e.g. the initial C allocation to different model compartments in forest land converted to cropland is based on the results of the simulation of forest soil remaining forest soil.

Model parameters rely on a large global database of measurements of litter decay, wood decay and soil carbon and all parameter values have been estimated using Markov chain Monte Carlo method. Alternative details in the model structure have been evaluated using Bayesian criteria (Tuomi *et al.* 2011a). The results of Yasso07 model are characterized by statistical probability distributions that represent uncertainty about the parameter values. The Yasso07 approach makes it possible and easy to add new data to the database and develop the model continuously (model-data-fusion). The model has been extensively tested against independent data on forest land (Dalsgaard *et al.* 2016; Lehtonen *et al.* 2016; Rantakari *et al.* 2012; Tupek *et al.* 2016) and also on cropland (Karhu *et al.* 2012). Yasso07 is a standard component of Max Planck Institute Earth System Model (Goll *et al.* 2017) and the model is used for UNFCCC reporting in several countries (e.g. Austria, Benin, Czech Republic, Estonia, Ireland, Finland, Latvia, Norway, Romania and Switzerland), see Hernandez *et al.* (2017). The model is widely used because it is simple, transparent, verifiable, freely available and easy to apply. For more information, consult <u>http://en.ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/yasso.</u>

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

Japan

Japan uses a Tier 3 method to estimate soil organic C stock changes in agriculture land (cropland and managed grassland) based on RothC. RothC model is a soil carbon dynamic model validated by using long-term field experiments (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996). In order to apply the model to Japanese agricultural condition, the model was tested against long-term experimental data sets in Japanese agricultural lands. It was found that the original model could apply for non-volcanic upland soils without any modification or calibration (Shirato & Taniyama 2003), however, the model required modification for Andosols and paddy soils by taking unique mechanisms of soil C dynamics in these soils into account. For Andosols, the decomposition rate constant of the HUM (humified organic matter) pool of RothC was reduced because the presence of Al-humus complexes enhances its stability and resistance to decomposition (Shirato *et al.* 2004). For paddy soils, the decomposition rate constants of all four active C pools was reduced on the basis of differences in organic matter decomposition rates between upland and paddy (submerged in the rice growing season) soil conditions (Shirato & Yokozawa 2005). Model performance was verified by comparing the model output with measured soil C stock data under various climate condition, soil types and land uses.

The model is applied at the country scale (Yagasaki & Shirato 2014) using weather data (monthly average temperature, precipitation, and open-pan evaporation), soil property data (soil clay content, depth of surface soil, carbon content at the starting year, and bulk density), land use data and other activity data (carbon input from crop residue and organic manure) and calculated at each standard mesh (100 x 100m). The weather, soil property and land use data are available as spatially explicit data set, while carbon input from crop residue and organic manure are calculated by statistical data and survey data available based on public administration boundary basis. The all obtained data are allocated to each standard mesh and then run the model.

In the NGHGI, the model is used to generate average C stock change rates per hectare in each prefecture and in each sub-category (rice field, upland crop fields, orchards and managed grassland). This is because the land use data used for the model estimation (grid-based data set) and used for the official land classification in the NGHGI (statistical data) are not consistent very much and so Japan put its priority using a consistent land area data among every estimate relating to agriculture land in AFOLU sector. This is one of the key challenges of the model application to the NGHGI and the development of a standard spatially explicit land use data set is needed for the further improvement of estimations.

United States of America

The United States uses a Tier 3 method based on the DayCent Ecosystem Model to estimate soil C stock changes in cropland and grassland (Ogle *et al.* 2010, US EPA 2017). DayCent is a processbased model that simulated soil organic matter dynamics using a three-pool structure originally developed for the Century Model (Parton *et al.* 1998; Parton *et al.* 1987). Model testing and parameterisation of DayCent has been conducted across a wide range of cropland and grassland sites globally. For the inventory, the model is applied using land use data that are compiled through a national survey, National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser *et al.* 1998; Nusser & Goebel 1997). The NRI has a two-stage sample with recorded history, starting in 1979, for approximately 400,000 survey locations that are cropland or grassland throughout the conterminous United States. Each survey location that is identified as cropland also has the specific crop rotation histories that were grown by the farmer. Daily weather and soils data are needed to drive the model, and this information is based on national datasets. Remote sensing data is used to inform production estimates based on MODIS Enhanced Vegetation Index products. Other data are also incorporated into the analysis, such as N fertilization rate data compiled through surveys.

BOX 2.2D (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF TIER 3 MINERAL SOIL C STOCK CHANGE METHODS

One of the key challenges in developing a Tier 3 method is to robustly address uncertainties. Compilers in the United States have addressed uncertainties in model inputs (e.g., fertilization rates, tillage practices and organic amendments), model structure and parameterization, and propagate uncertainty through the model application using an Approach 2 method (i.e., Monte Carlo Analysis) (Ogle et al. 2010). Model structure and parameterization is addressed using an empirically-based method in which observed experimental data are compared to simulation results, and predictive ability of the model is quantified using statistical methods (Ogle et al. 2007). These experimental observations are independent from the data that are used to parameterise the model. The resulting statistical equation is applied to adjust for biases in model results, if needed, and address the precision of the model C stock changes. The major advantage of the Tier 3 method is that the results are much more precise than Tier 1 and 2 methods, with uncertainty ranging from $\pm 60\%$ in the Tier 1 method to about $\pm 20\%$ for the Tier 3 method (US-EPA 2017). The improved precision is due to the process-based framework in the DayCent model that incorporates more drivers of soil C stock changes than lower Tier methods. However, without adequate activity data or a model with sufficient prediction capability, a Tier 3 method could produce less precise results than lower-tier methods.

BOX 2.2E (NEW)

CONSIDERATION OF EQUIVALENT MASS METHODS WITHIN TIER 3 MODELLING APPROACHES

Process models that are used to estimate carbon stock changes over time, such as Century (Parton et al. 1987) and RothC (Coleman & Jenkinson 1996) can also be affected by changing soil bulk density by the nature of the carbon stock data used for model parameterisation. These types of models simulate the mass balance of organic carbon over time to a defined soil depth (e.g., 30 cm or an alternative). The models require initialisation at which point an initial carbon stock is determined along with an initial soil mass in some cases (although the soil mass is rarely determined explicitly, it is implicit in the model application). The models therefore use an equivalent soil mass approach to simulate changes in carbon stocks since the estimated carbon stocks are unaffected by concurrent soil bulk density changes. If the models are parameterised to carbon stocks on an equivalent mass basis, then the carbon stock changes estimated by the parametrised model, and for a factor derived from those modelled estimates, will be for soil carbon change on an equivalent mass basis. However, the carbon stock change calculated from carbon stock measurements for a fixed depth is the net effect of the effect of soil bulk density changes on carbon stocks and the effect of biochemical processes on carbon stocks. Therefore, when parameterised using fixed-depth carbon stock data, the model will be estimating the net effect of these processes, so the modelled carbon stock estimates only will be appropriate for the fixed depth and cannot address changes in mass of the soil over time. Careful consideration of the effects of model assumptions and choice of data used for model parametrisation and testing is required to understand and properly report the basis of the carbon stock changes that are estimated directly or indirectly by a model based on parameterisation with data from fixed depths.

Tier 3 methods can be used to model the loss of biochar C over time after its application to mineral soils and to account for GHG sources and sinks not captured in Tier 2, to address changes to N_2O or CH₄ fluxes from soils⁸, to estimate changes to net primary production (and associated C inputs to soil organic C pool), the mechanisms and effects underlying interactions with soil, climate and other environmental variables. Although positive priming of labile soil organic matter is not expected to have a significant impact in the long term (Annex 2A.2), negative priming leading to an increase in soil organic carbon stocks could have a substantial impact in soils amended with biochar (Woolf *et al.* 2012). Similarly, to the extent that there are reductions in net emissions of N_2O and CH₄ from soil and increases in plant growth, there could be a larger impact of biochar additions on reducing greenhouse gas emissions (Gaunt & Lehmann 2008; Woolf *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011). It is also important to recognise

⁸ Impacts of biochar amendments on N₂O are estimated in the methods for soil N₂O emissions (Chapter 11), and impacts on CH₄ emissions are estimated from specific land uses in the inventory, such as Rice Cultivation (Chapter 5) and Wetlands (Chapter 7).

that the dynamic nature of biochar decomposition is important because its net impact on soil C stocks and GHG emissions varies with time, which can be better addressed with a Tier 3 model.

Examples of advanced modelling approaches include representing the dynamic impact of biochar decomposition over long time scales (Lenton & Vaughan 2009), and process-based modelling using biochar-specific LCA models (e.g. Roberts *et al.* 2010; Hammond *et al.* 2011; Shackley *et al.* 2012; Sparrevik *et al.* 2013). There are also applications that have focused on soil greenhouse gas emission balances, together with modelling of decomposition rates (H/C_{org} ratio; Lehmann *et al.* 2015) and priming (Woolf & Lehmann, 2012; Wang *et al.* 2016). In addition, models have been used to simulate nitrous oxide reductions (Cayuela *et al.* 2013, 2014) as a function of H/C_{org} ratio (Cayuela *et al.* 2015) and feedbacks to primary plant productivity (Jeffery *et al.* 2011, 2015) and associated impacts on SOC stocks (Whitman *et al.* 2010, 2011).

Organic soils

No Refinement. See Chapter 2 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

Soil inorganic C

No Refinement.

2.4 NON-CO₂ EMISSIONS

There are significant emissions of non-greenhouse gases from biomass burning, livestock and manure management, or soils. N_2O emissions from soils are covered in Chapter 11, where guidance is given on methods that can be applied nationally (i.e., irrespective of land-use types) if a country chooses to use national scale activity data. The guidance on CH₄ and N₂O emissions from livestock and manure are addressed only in Chapter 10 because emissions do not depend on land characteristics. A generic approach to estimating greenhouse gas emissions from fire (both CO₂ and non-CO₂ gases) is described below, with land-use specific enhancements given in the Forest Land, Grassland and Cropland chapters. It is *good practice* to check for complete coverage of CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions due to losses in carbon stocks and pools to avoid omissions or double counting.

Emissions from fire include not only CO₂, but also other greenhouse gases, or precursors of greenhouse gases, that originate from incomplete combustion of the fuel. These include carbon monoxide (CO), methane (CH₄), non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOC) and nitrogen (e.g., N₂O, NO_x) species (Levine, 1994). In the *1996 IPCC Guidelines* and *GPG2000*, non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions from fire in savannas and burning of crop residues were addressed along with emissions from Forest Land and Grassland conversion. The methodology differed somewhat by vegetation type, and fires in Forest Land were not included. In the *GPG-LULUCF*, emissions (CO₂ and non-CO₂) from fires were addressed, particularly in the chapter covering Forest Land (losses of carbon resulting from disturbances). In the Cropland and Grassland chapters, only non-CO₂ emissions were considered, with the assumption that the CO₂ emissions would be counterbalanced by CO₂ removals from the subsequent regrowth of the vegetation within one year. This assumption implies maintenance of soil fertility – an assumption which countries may ignore if they have evidence of fertility decline due to fire. In Forest Land, there is generally a lack of synchrony (non-equivalence of CO₂ emissions and removals in the year of reporting).

These Guidelines provide a more generic approach for estimating emissions from fire. Fire is treated as a disturbance that affects not only the biomass (in particular, above-ground), but also the dead organic matter (litter and dead wood). The term `biomass burning` is widely used and is retained in these Guidelines but acknowledging that fuel components other than live biomass are often very significant, especially in forest systems. For Cropland and Grassland having little woody vegetation, reference is usually made to biomass burning, since biomass is the main pool affected by the fire.

Countries should apply the following principles when estimating greenhouse gas emissions resulting from fires in Forest Land, Cropland and Grassland:

- Coverage of reporting: Emissions (CO₂ and non- CO₂) need to be reported for all fires (prescribed fires and wildfires) on managed lands (the exception is CO₂ from Grassland, as discussed below). Where there is a land-use change, any greenhouse gas emission from fire should be reported under the new land-use category (transitional category). Emissions from wildfires (and escaped prescribed fires) that occur on unmanaged lands do not need to be reported, unless those lands are followed by a land-use change (i.e., become managed land).
- Fire as a management tool (prescribed burning): greenhouse gas emissions from the area burnt are reported, and if the fire affects unmanaged land, greenhouse gas emissions should also be reported if the fire is followed by a land-use change.
- Equivalence (synchrony) of CO₂ emissions and removals: CO₂ net emissions should be reported where the CO₂ emissions and removals for the biomass pool are not equivalent in the inventory year. For grassland

biomass burning and burning of agriculture residues, the assumption of equivalence is generally reasonable. However, woody vegetation may also burn in these land categories, and greenhouse gas emissions from those sources should be reported using a higher Tier method. Further, in many parts of the world, grazing is the predominant land use in Forest Land that are regularly burnt (e.g., grazed woodlands and savannas), and care must be taken before assuming synchrony in such systems. For Forest Land, synchrony is unlikely if significant woody biomass is killed (i.e., losses represent several years of growth and C accumulation), and the net emissions should be reported. Examples include: clearing of native forest and conversion to agriculture and/or plantations and wildfires in Forest Land.

- Fuels available for combustion: Factors that reduce the amount of fuels available for combustion (e.g., from grazing, decay, removal of biofuels, livestock feed, etc.) should be accounted for. A mass balance approach should be adopted to account for residues, to avoid underestimation or double counting (refer to Section 2.3.2).
- Annual reporting: despite the large inherent spatial and temporal variability of fire (in particular that from wildfires), countries should estimate and report greenhouse gas emissions from fire on an annual basis.

These Guidelines provide a comprehensive approach for estimating carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions resulting from fire in the Forest Land (including those resulting from forest conversion), and non-CO₂ emissions in the Cropland and Grassland. Non-CO₂ emissions are addressed for the following five types of burning: (1) grassland burning (which includes perennial woody shrubland and savanna burning); (2) agricultural residues burning; (3) burning of litter, understory and harvest residues in Forest Land, (4) burning following forest clearing and conversion to agriculture; and (5) other types of burning (including those resulting from wildfires). Direct emissions of CO₂ are also addressed for items (3) and (4) and (5). Since estimating emissions in these different categories have many elements in common, this section provides a generic approach to estimate CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions from fire, to avoid repetition in specific land-use sections that address emissions from fire in these Guidelines.

Prescribed burning of savannas is included under the grassland biomass burning section (Chapter 6, Grassland, Section 6.3.4). It is important to avoid double counting when estimating greenhouse gas emissions from savannas that have a vegetation physiognomy characteristic of Forest Land. An example of this is the cerradão (dense woodland) formation in Brazil which, although being a type of savanna, is included under Forest Land, due to its biophysical characteristics.

In addition to the greenhouse gas emissions from combustion, fires may lead to the creation of an inert carbon stock (charcoal or char). Post-fire residues comprise unburned and partially burnt components, as well as a small amount of char that due to its chemical nature is highly resistant to decomposition. The knowledge of the rates of char formation under contrasting burning conditions and subsequent turnover rates is currently too limited (Forbes *et al.*, 2006; Preston and Schmidt, 2006) to allow development of a reliable methodology for inventory purposes, and hence is not included in these Guidelines. A technical basis for further methodological development is included in Appendix 1.

Additionally, although emissions of NMVOC also occur as a result of fire, they are not addressed in the present Guidelines due to the paucity of the data and size of uncertainties in many of the key parameters needed for the estimation, which prevent the development of reliable emission estimates.

METHOD DESCRIPTION

Each relevant section in these Guidelines includes a three-tiered approach to address CO_2 (where applicable) and non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions from fire. The choice of Tier can be made following the steps in the decision tree presented in Figure 2.6. Under the Tier 1 approach, the formulation presented in Equation 2.27 can be applied to estimate CO_2 and non- CO_2 emissions from fire, using the default data provided in this chapter and in the relevant land-use sections of these Guidelines. Higher Tiers involve a more refined application of Equation 2.27.

Since Tier 1 methodology adopts a simplified approach to estimating the dead organic matter pool (see Section 2.3.2), certain assumptions must be made when estimating net greenhouse gas emissions from fire in those systems (e.g. Forest Land, and Forest Land converted to another land use), where dead organic matter can be a major component of the fuel burnt. Emissions of CO_2 from dead organic matter are assumed to be zero in forests that are burnt, but not killed by fire. If the fire is of sufficient intensity to kill a portion of the forest stand, under Tier 1 methodology, the C contained in the killed biomass is assumed to be immediately released to the atmosphere. This Tier 1 simplification may result in an overestimation of actual emissions in the year of the fire, if the amount of biomass carbon killed by the fire is greater than the amount of dead wood and litter carbon consumed by the fire.

Non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions are estimated for all fire situations. Under Tier 1, non-CO₂ emissions are best estimated using the actual fuel consumption provided in Table 2.7, and appropriate emission factors (Table 2.8) (i.e., not including newly killed biomass as a component of the fuel consumed). Clearly, if fire in forests contributes significantly to net greenhouse gas emissions, countries are encouraged to develop a more complete methodology

(higher tiers) which includes the dynamics of dead organic matter and improves the estimates of direct and postfire emissions.

For Forest Land converted to other land uses, organic matter burnt is derived from both newly felled vegetation and existing dead organic matter, and CO_2 emissions should be reported. In this situation, estimates of total fuel consumed (Table 2.6) can be used to estimate emissions of CO_2 and non- greenhouse gases using Equation 2.27. Care must be taken, however, to ensure that dead organic matter carbon losses during the land-use conversion are not double counted in Equations 2.27 (as losses from burning) and Equation 2.23 (as losses from decay).

A generic methodology to estimate the emissions of individual greenhouse gases for any type of fire is summarised in Equation 2.27.

EQUATION 2.27 ESTIMATION OF GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS FROM FIRE

 $L_{fire} = A \bullet M_B \bullet C_f \bullet G_{ef} \bullet 10^{-3}$

Where:

- L_{fire} = amount of greenhouse gas emissions from fire, tonnes of each GHG e.g., CH₄, N₂O, etc.
- A =area burnt, ha
- M_B = mass of fuel available for combustion, tonnes ha⁻¹. This includes biomass, ground litter and dead wood. When Tier 1 methods are used then litter and dead wood pools are assumed zero, except where there is a land-use change (see Section 2.3.2.2).
- C_f = combustion factor, dimensionless (default values in Table 2.6)
- G_{ef} = emission factor, g kg⁻¹ dry matter burnt (default values in Table 2.5)

Note. Where data for M_B and C_f are not available, a default value for the amount of fuel actually burnt (the product of M_B and C_f) can be used (Table 2.4) under Tier 1 methodology.

For CO_2 emissions, Equation 2.27 relates to Equation 2.14, which estimates the annual amount of live biomass loss from any type of disturbance.

The amount of fuel that can be burnt is given by the area burnt and the density of fuel present on that area. The fuel density can include biomass, dead wood and litter, which vary as a function of the type, age and condition of the vegetation. The type of fire also affects the amount of fuel available for combustion. For example, fuel available for low-intensity ground fires in forests will be largely restricted to litter and dead organic matter on the surface, while a higher-intensity 'crown fire' can also consume substantial amounts of tree biomass.

The combustion factor is a measure of the proportion of the fuel that is actually combusted, which varies as a function of the size and architecture of the fuel load (i.e., a smaller proportion of large, coarse fuel such as tree stems will be burnt compared to fine fuels, such as grass leaves), the moisture content of the fuel and the type of fire (i.e., intensity and rate of spread which is markedly affected by climatic variability and regional differences as reflected in Table 2.4). Finally, the emission factor gives the amount of a particular greenhouse gas emitted per unit of dry matter combusted, which can vary as a function of the carbon content of the biomass and the completeness of combustion. For species with high N concentrations, NO_x and N_2O emissions from fire can vary as a function of the N content of the fuel. A comprehensive review of emission factors was conducted by Andreae and Merlet (2001) and is summarised in Table 2.5.

Tier 2 methods employ the same general approach as Tier 1 but make use of more refined country-derived emission factors and/or more refined estimates of fuel densities and combustion factors than those provided in the default tables. Tier 3 methods are more comprehensive and include considerations of the dynamics of fuels (biomass and dead organic matter).





Note:

1. See Volume 1 Chapter 4, Methodological Choice and Identification of Key Categories (noting Section 4.1.2 on limited resources), for discussion of *key categories* and use of decision trees.

TABLE 2.4 (UPDATED) Fuel (dead organic matter plus live biomass) biomass consumption values (tonnes dry matter ha ⁻¹) for fires in a range of vegetation types								
(To be used in Equation 2.27, to estimate the product of quantities ' $M_B \cdot C_f$ ', i.e., an absolute amount)								
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SE	References				
	Primary tropical forest	83.9	25.8	7, 15, 66, 3, 16, 17, 45				
Primary tropical forest (slash	Primary open tropical forest	163.6	52.1	21,				
and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	160.4	11.8	37, 73				
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66				
All primary tropical forests		119.6	50.7					
	Young secondary tropical forest (3-5 yrs)	8.1	-	61				
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	41.1	27.4	61, 35				
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	46.4	8.0	61, 73				
All secondary tropical forests		42.2	23.6	66, 30				
All Tertiary tropical forest		54.1	-	66, 30				
	Wildfire (general)	52.8	48.4	2, 33, 66				
	Crown fire	25.1	7.9	11, 43, 66, 41, 63, 64				
Boreal forest	Surface fire	21.6	25.1	43, 69, 66, 63, 64, 1				
	Post logging slash burn	69.6	44.8	49, 40, 66, 18				
	Land clearing fire	87.5	35.0	10, 67				
All boreal forest		41.0	36.5	43, 45, 69, 47				
	Wildfire	53.0	53.6	66, 32, 9				
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	16.0	13.7	66, 72, 54, 60, 9				
Eucalypt forests	Post logging slash burn	168.4	168. 8	25, 58, 46				
	Felled, wood removed, and burned (land- clearing fire)	132.6	-	62, 9				
All Eucalypt forests		69.4	100.					
	Wildfire	19.8	6.3	32, 66				
Other temperate forests	Post logging slash burn	77.5	65.0	55, 19, 14, 27, 66				
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	48.4	62.7	53, 24, 71				
All "other" temperate forests			53.7	43, 56				
	Shrubland (general)	26.7	4.2	43				
Shruhlands	Calluna heath	11.5	4.3	26, 39				
Sin ablands	Sagebrush	5.7	3.8	66				
	Fynbos	12.9	0.1	70, 66				
All Shrublands	14.3	9.0						

TABLE 2.4 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) FUEL (DEAD ORGANIC MATTER PLUS LIVE BIOMASS) BIOMASS CONSUMPTION VALUES (TONNES DRY MATTER HA ⁻¹) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (To be a bit of the colspan="2">Colspan="2">Continued)									
Vegetation type Subcategory Mea CF Defarences									
vegetation type	Subcategory	References							
Savanna woodlands (early dry	Savanna woodland	2.5	-	28					
season burns)*	Savanna parkland	2.7	-	57					
All savanna woodlands (early	dry season burns)	2.6	0.1						
	Savanna woodland	3.3	-	57					
Savanna woodlands (mid/late	Savanna parkland	4.0	1.1	57, 6, 51					
dry season burns)*	Tropical savanna	6	1.8	52, 73					
	Other savanna woodlands	5.3	1.7	59, 57, 31					
All savanna woodlands (mid/l	4.6	1.5							
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (early dry season burns)*	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	2.1	-	28					
	Grassland	-	-	48					
All savanna grasslands (early dry season burns)*		2.1	-						
	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	5.2	1.7	9, 73, 12, 57					
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures	Grassland	4.1	3.1	43, 9					
(mid/late dry season burns)*	Tropical pasture~	23.7	11.8	4, 23, 38, 66					
	Savanna	7.0	2.7	42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 65					
All savanna grasslands (mid/la	ate dry season burns)*	10.0	10.1						
Other sector time to man	Peatland	41	1.4	68, 33					
Other vegetation types	Tundra	10	-	33					
Agricultural residues (post- harvest field burning)	$M_B = AGR_{(T)} \ x \ Frac_{Brunt(T)}$	See Equation 11.6 in Chapter 11, Volume 4 for AGR _(T) calculation							
* Surface layer combustion only ~ Derived from slashed tropical for ^a For sugarcane, data refer to burnin ^b Expert assessment by authors.	est (includes unburned woody material) ng before harvest of the crop.								

TABLE 2.5 EMISSION FACTORS (g kg ⁻¹ DRY MATTER BURNT) FOR VARIOUS TYPES OF BURNING. VALUES ARE MEANS ± SD AND ARE BASED ON THE COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW BY ANDREAE AND MERLET (2001) (To be used as quantity 'Gef' in Equation 2.27)							
Category	CO ₂	СО	CH4	N ₂ O	NO _X		
Savanna and grassland	1613 ± 95	65 ± 20	2.3 ± 0.9	0.21 ± 0.10	3.9 ± 2.4		
Agricultural residues	1515 ± 177	92 ± 84	2.7	0.07	2.5 ± 1.0		
Tropical forest	1580 ± 90	104 ± 20	6.8 ± 2.0	0.20	1.6 ± 0.7		
Extra tropical forest	1569 ± 131	107 ± 37	4.7 ± 1.9	0.26 ±0.07	3.0 ± 1.4		
Biofuel burning	1550 ±95	78 ± 31	6.1 ± 2.2	0.06	$\begin{array}{c} 1.1 \\ \pm 0.6 \end{array}$		

Note: The "extra tropical forest' category includes all other forest types.

Note: For combustion of non-woody biomass in Grassland and Cropland, CO_2 emissions do not need to be estimated and reported, because it is assumed that annual CO_2 removals (through growth) and emissions (whether by decay or fire) by biomass are in balance (see earlier discussion on synchrony in Section 2.4.

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity Cf in Equation 2.27)							
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References			
	Primary tropical forest	0.32	0.12	7, 8, 15, 56, 66, 3, 16, 53, 17, 45,			
Primary tropical forest	Primary open tropical forest	0.45	0.09	21			
(slash and burn)	Primary tropical moist forest	0.50	0.03	37, 73			
	Primary tropical dry forest	-	-	66			
All primary tropical fores	ts	0.36	0.13				
	Young secondary tropical forest (3- 5 yrs)	0.46	-	61			
Secondary tropical forest (slash and burn)	Intermediate secondary tropical forest (6-10 yrs)	0.67	0.21	61, 35			
	Advanced secondary tropical forest (14-17 yrs)	0.50	0.10	61, 73			
All secondary tropical for	0.55	0.06	56, 66, 34, 30				
All tertiary tropical forest		0.59	-	66, 30			
	Wildfire (general)	0.40	0.06	33			
	Crown fire	0.43	0.21	66, 41, 64, 63			
Boreal forest	surface fire	0.15	0.08	64, 63			
	Post logging slash burn	0.33	0.13	49, 40, 18			
	Land clearing fire	0.59	-	67			
All boreal forest		0.34	0.17	45, 47			
	Wildfire	-	-				
	Prescribed fire – (surface)	0.61	0.11	72, 54, 60, 9			
Eucalyptus forests	Post logging slash burn	0.68	0.14	25, 58, 46			
	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.49	-	62			
All Eucalyptus forests		0.63	0.13				
	Post logging slash burn	0.62	0.12	55, 19, 27, 14			
Other temperate forests	Felled and burned (land-clearing fire)	0.51	-	53, 24, 71			
All "other" temperate for	0.45	0.16	53, 56				

TABLE 2.6 (UPDATED) (CONTINUED) COMBUSTION FACTOR VALUES (PROPORTION OF PREFIRE FUEL BIOMASS CONSUMED) FOR FIRES IN A RANGE OF VEGETATION TYPES (Values in column 'mean' are to be used for quantity Cf in Equation 2.27)					
Vegetation type	Subcategory	Mean	SD	References	
Shrublands	Shrubland (general)	0.95	-	44	
	Calluna heath	0.71	0.30	26, 56, 39	
	Fynbos	0.61	0.16	70, 44	
All shrublands		0.72	0.25		
Savanna woodlands (early dry season burns)*	Savanna woodland	0.22	-	28	
	Savanna parkland	0.73	-	57	
	Other savanna woodlands	0.37	0.19	22, 29	
All savanna woodlands (early dry season burns)		0.40	0.22		
Savanna woodlands (mid/late dry season burns)*	Savanna woodland	0.72	-	66, 57	
	Savanna parkland	0.82	0.07	57, 6, 51	
	Tropical savanna	0.73	0.04	52, 73, 66, 12	
	Other savanna woodlands	0.68	0.19	22, 29, 44, 31, 57	
All savanna woodlands (mid/late dry season burns)*		0.74	0.14		
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (early dry season burns)*	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.74	-	28	
	Grassland	-	-	48	
All savanna grasslands (early dry season burns)*		0.74	-		
Savanna Grasslands/ Pastures (mid/late dry season burns)*	Tropical/sub-tropical grassland	0.92	0.11	44, 73, 66, 12, 57	
	Tropical pasture~	0.35	0.21	4, 23, 38, 66	
	Savanna	0.86	0.12	53, 5, 56, 42, 50, 6, 45, 13, 44, 65, 66	
All savanna grasslands (mid/late dry season burns)*		0.77	0.26		
Other vegetation types	Peatland	0.50	-	20, 44	
	Tropical Wetlands	0.70	-	44	
Agricultural residues (Post-harvest field burning)	Wheat residues	0.90	-	see Note b	
	Maize residues	0.80	-	see Note b	
	Rice residues	0.80	-	see Note b	
	Sugarcane a	0.80	-	see Note b	
	Other Crops	0.85	-	see Note b	
* Surface layer combustion only refer to burning before harvest	y; [~] Derived from slashed tropical forest (of the crop; ^b Expert assessment by author	includes unburned	woody materia	l); ^a For sugarcane, data	

2.5 ADDITIONAL GENERIC GUIDANCE FOR TIER 3 METHODS

Tier 3 inventories are advanced systems using measurements and/or modelling, with the goal of improving the estimation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and removals, beyond what is possible with Tier 1 or 2 methods.

In this section, guidelines are elaborated that provide a sound scientific basis for the development of Tier 3 Inventories in the AFOLU sector. These guidelines do not limit the selection of Tier 3 sampling schemes or modelling methods but provide general guidance to assist the inventory developer in their implementation. AFOLU inventory compilers are advised to read this section in conjunction with general guidance for Tier 3 methods relevant to all sectors found in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

2.5.1 Measurement-based Tier 3 inventories

Inventories can be based on direct measurements from which emissions and removals of carbon are estimated. Purely measurement-based inventories, e.g., based on repeated measurements using a national forest inventory or similar estimation methods can produce carbon stock change estimates but still rely on appropriate statistical models, such as allometric models or volume and wood density functions. Inventories using measurement-based methods also need to select appropriate statistical sampling estimators to produce a national inventory from the plot estimates. Moreover, inventory plot remeasurements will typically require additional data or methods to arrive at estimates of GHG emissions from disturbance events, in particular for non-CO₂ GHG. Measurement of non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions is possible, but because of the high spatial and temporal variability, Tier 3 methods for estimating non-CO₂ emissions typically use a combination of models (see Section 2.5.2) and measurements.

Many countries using a measurement-based Tier 3 method will already have well established national inventories. Typically, these inventories have been established for purposes other than collecting data for estimating carbon stock changes and non- CO_2 emissions (e.g., National Forest Inventories for timber resource assessments or soil resource mapping for agricultural planning). In general, the following six steps should be considered when implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory.

Step 1. Develop a sampling scheme, including sample unit (plot) design and measurements to be collected.

Sampling schemes can be developed using a variety of methods such as simple random, stratified random, systematic or model-based sampling. When designing a sampling scheme, countries often also consider factors such as spatial variability and temporal dynamics of carbon stocks, key environmental variables (e.g., climate) and management systems (e.g., harvested forest land, grazed grassland).

When using a repeated measurement design, the timing of re-measurement may be influenced by the rate of change experienced. For example, re-measurement periods in boreal and some temperate regions, where trees grow slowly and DOM pools change little in single years, can be longer than in environments where carbon dynamics are more rapid. When implementing a measurement-based Tier 3 inventory, the inventory compiler should take into consideration that it will not be possible to estimate emissions and removals using the stock-difference method until a minimum of two measurement cycles have been conducted (often 10 years or longer in total).

Some sampling schemes do not include re-sampling of the same sites (e.g., temporary inventory plot designs). Such designs may limit the statistical power of the analysis when estimating change, and therefore lead to greater uncertainty in estimates of carbon stock change. Repeated measurement designs with permanent plot locations typically provide a better basis for estimating carbon stock changes or emissions. The utility of permanent plots is often greater if they are accurately georeferenced to facilitate the use of spatial auxiliary variables, such as from remote sensing (GFOI, 2016).

For some carbon pools, such as soil carbon, litter and woody debris, it is not necessarily possible to remeasure the same material through time (i.e., if taking a soil core, that soil has been removed from the site and cannot be remeasured, unlike measuring the same trees through time). However, multiple samples can be taken at each time step to capture local site scale heterogeneity in the carbon stock and detect changes over time with each re-sampling of a site (Ellert et al., 2002, Conant et al., 2003). Where countries use direct measurement methods for soil C, the sampling design needs to ensure that a sufficient number of samples are taken at each measurement time for estimating stock change (Spencer et al., 2011).

Inventory and plot designs should consider the practicality of implementation given country circumstances (e.g., terrain, access, safety, vegetation type). The types and number of measurements will depend on the plot design, the underlying population of carbon pools to be reported and the data requirements of methods adopted to estimate carbon stocks and stock changes from the plot data.

It is *good practice* to develop a methodology handbook (e.g., Canadian Forest Service, 2008; US Forest Service, 2006) explaining the entire sampling scheme as part of Step 1. This handbook can be useful for those involved with the measurements, laboratory analyses and other aspects of the process, as well as possibly providing supporting material for documentation purposes. The handbook should document the plot design, in particular how plots are to be located and, in the case of repeated measurement designs, re-located for future measurements (Vidal et al., 2016).

Step 2. Select sample sites.

Specific sampling sites will be located based on sampling design. It is *good practice* to have an appropriate process in place for selecting alternative sites in case it is not possible to sample some original locations. In a repeated measurement design, the sites will become a monitoring network that is periodically re-sampled.

Determining sampling locations will likely involve the use of a geographic information system. A geographic database may include information on land use and land-use changes (i.e., activity data) as well as a variety of environmental and management data, such as climate, soils, land use, and livestock operations, depending on the source category and stratification. If key geographic data are not available at the national scale, or are spatially inconsistent, the inventory developer may either 1) re-evaluate the design and stratification (if used) in Step 1 and possibly modify the sampling design or 2) re-develop the geographic data to meet the inventory requirements.

Normally the sampling intensity should be the same within a stratum but not necessarily between strata. However, where the stratification is based on land use and is updated for each inventory, changes in land use between measurement periods can complicate the estimation of changes in carbon stocks over time. As such, it is *good practice* to use stratification methods that do not lead to bias or time-series inconsistencies due to changes in land use.

Sampling may require coordination among different national ministries, provincial or state governments, corporate and private land owners. Establishing relationships among these stakeholders can be undertaken before collecting initial samples. Informing stakeholders about ongoing monitoring may also be helpful and lead to greater success in implementing monitoring programs.

Step 3. Collect initial samples.

Once the plot locations have been determined, a measurement team can visit those locations, establish plots and collect initial measurements and samples. It is helpful to take geographic coordinates of plot locations or sample points with a global positioning system (GPS) to help relocate them later, noting that GPS readings are often not accurate enough to relocate the exact plot location, especially under dense forest canopies. As such, if repeated measurements are planned, it is *good practice* to permanently mark the location for ease of finding and re-sampling the site in the future. Where possible these markers should not be visible to the land owner (e.g., utility ball markers that can be buried in the soil and re-located precisely over time).

It is *good practice* to take relevant measurements and notes of the environmental conditions and management at the site. This will confirm that the conditions were consistent with the design of the sampling scheme, and also may be used in data analysis (Step 5). If a stratified sampling approach is used, and it becomes apparent that many or most sites are not consistent with the expected environmental conditions and management systems, it is *good practice* to repeat Step 1, re-evaluating and possibly modifying the sampling scheme based on the new information.

Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.

For repeated measurement designs, sampling sites will be periodically re-sampled with the time between remeasurement dependant on the rate of stock changes or the variability in emissions, the resources available for the monitoring program, and the design of the sampling scheme. It is *good practice* to avoid any impact of measurement techniques on C stocks and their dynamics (i.e. no destructive sampling) where permanent sample plots are used.

If destructive sampling is involved, such as removing a soil core or dead organic matter sample, it is *good practice* to re-sample at the same site but not at the exact location in which the sample was removed during the past. Destructive sampling the exact location is likely to create bias in the measurements. Such biases would compromise the monitoring and produce results that are not representative of national trends. When destructive sampling of trees is undertaken, for example to develop or validate allometric equations, the samples are usually taken from locations or species that are considered representative of the trees in the plots.

Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes/non-CO₂ emissions, and infer national emissions and removal estimates and their uncertainty.

A well-designed sampling scheme will provide an unbiased estimate and variance for the measured quantities (See Volume I, Chapter 3 for more information). The overall result of the statistical analysis will be estimates of carbon stock changes or measurements of emissions from which the national emission and removal estimates can be derived.

To derive estimates of carbon stock changes or emissions from measurements collected on the plots typically requires the use of models that relate these measurements to carbon stocks. The types of models and the uncertainty associated with them vary depending on measurements taken and the carbon pools being estimated. Examples of these models include allometric equations for estimating tree and deadwood biomass, root:shoot ratios for estimating belowground biomass (Mokany et al., 2006) and the use of spectral signatures to estimate soil carbon (Baldock et al., 2013).

When estimating uncertainty for carbon stock changes and/or emissions it is *good practice* to include all relevant sources of uncertainty, including the sampling scheme, plot measurements and model parameters and structure and laboratory processing methods (see discussion for each source category later in this volume in addition to the uncertainty chapter in Volume 1). Overall uncertainty can be reduced by increasing the sampling intensity, using additional strata or covariates to explain more of the variance or improving the models. Model uncertainty may be relatively small, at least in situations with well-developed models calibrated for national situations, or relatively large where global models are applied.

To obtain national estimates of carbon stock changes or emission of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases, it may be necessary to interpolate or extrapolate measurements using spatial statistical analyses and models that take into consideration environmental conditions, management and other activity data. Such models are necessary because of the expense and difficulty in obtaining a sufficient sampling intensity to infer C stock changes or emissions directly from the survey sample. For example, CH₄ and N₂O emissions from forest fires are typically inferred from data on the area burnt, and fuel consumption estimates derived from specific case studies. In a similar fashion, soil N₂O emissions could be readily estimated using chambers, but this can be very expensive to establish a network with the sampling intensity needed to provide national emission estimates based solely on measurements without use of models for extrapolation. Alternatively, compilers may use a model-based approach in these cases, which is informed by the limited sample of C stock or emission measurements (See Section 2.1.2).

It is *good practice* to analyse emissions relative to environmental conditions in addition to the contribution of various management practices to those trends. Interpretation of the patterns will be useful in evaluating possibilities for future mitigation.

Step 6. Reporting and Documentation.

It is good practice to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes.

Documentation typically includes a description of the sampling scheme and statistical methods, sampling schedule (including re-sampling), stock change and emissions estimates and the interpretation of emission trends (e.g., contributions of management activities). In addition, QA/QC should be completed and documented in the report. For details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the section dealing with the specific source category later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

When developing/collating documentation for reporting Tier 3 measurement-based methods it is good practice to:

- describe the sampling design and/or measurements;
- describe any changes in the design or measurements through time and how these changes are addressed to ensure time series consistency in carbon stocks or emissions;
- describe the models used to calculate carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ emissions from the measurements, including the uncertainty;
- describe how area estimates are derived from the survey, such as a national forest inventory, and harmonized with land representation data for other land-uses;
- discuss the influence of time periods between measurement cycles on estimated C stock changes or emission estimates, and how this impact is incorporated into the uncertainty analysis; and
- document, if applicable, how Tier 3 measurement methods are applied consistently with Tier 2 or Tier 3 model-based methods to prevent errors of omission or commission in reported carbon stock changes or emissions for the entire spatial and temporal domain of the country.

TABLE 2.6A (New) Examples of documentation to assemble in support of transparent reporting of Tier 3 measurement based inventories			
Step 1. Develop sampling scheme, including sample size and design and measurements to be collected.	A description of the sampling scheme including size and design and measurements to be collected Reason for adopting the selected sampling scheme		
Step 2. Select sample sites.	Description of the process for selecting sample sites and processes for dealing with exclusions/replacements		
Step 3. Collect initial samples.	Sample collection and quality assurance / quality control protocols.		
Step 4. Re-sample the monitoring network on a periodic basis.	Description of re-sampling strategy and reasoning for adopted resampling period		
Step 5. Analyse data and determine carbon stock changes and other sources of emissions, and infer national emissions and removals estimates and measures of uncertainty.	Data processing and quality assurance / quality control protocols including how adopted re-sampling period is handled when making carbon stock change estimates and their associated uncertainty.		
Step 6. Reporting and Documentation	All of the above material summarised into a report for third party review.		

2.5.2 Model-based Tier 3 inventories

Model-based Tier 3 inventories are developed using empirical (e.g. forest growth curves that represent carbon stock increase with tree age.), process-based (e.g. model representation of underlying physiological, biophysical, and management processes that drive carbon dynamics in ecosystems), hybrid (e.g. the development of forest growth curves from empirical data combined with a process model calibrated from research data on dead organic matter dynamics) and/or other types of models. Just as Tier 3 measurement-based methods typically also require models to estimate carbon stock changes (see Section 2.1.1), Tier 3 model-based inventories require measurements to calibrate and validate the models used to estimate carbon stock changes.

It is unlikely that one single model will be suitable for estimating emissions and removals for all carbon pools and non- CO_2 gases across all land uses, land-use changes and management actions. Therefore, inventory compilers will need to select a suite of different models to develop estimates of interest. In many cases existing models need to be adapted, coupled and/or integrated to provide a complete estimate of emissions and removals in the source categories of interest.

When selecting a model, it is important to consider how it will be used and interact with other models. This is particularly important when using Tier 3 mass-balance models in combination with Tier 1 or 2 emissions factors (e.g. if different soil carbon models or methods are used for different land-uses, how will the carbon pools be transferred between them in the case of land-use change). If changes in modelling methods within the reporting time series occur adequate steps should be taken to ensure time series consistency.

Models may be run individually for different land uses and carbon pools and the results combined or brought together in a single framework using coupling and integration techniques. Individual model simulations are typically used where multiple agencies are responsible for developing different parts of the inventory (e.g., the forest agency responsible for forest lands, the agriculture agency responsible for cropland and grassland).

Coupling different models is a convenient strategy for addressing effects with different time and space scales. In contrast, model integration links different modelling approaches to elucidate the complex dimension of time and space dynamics (Panichelli & Gnansounou, 2015), helping ensure consistency in land representation, carbon pools and input variables (Brack et al., 2006). Integration frameworks can also help organize data and estimation methods at any level of methodological complexity and facilitate the systematic progression from simpler to more complex methods (GFOI, 2016).

In all cases, models used in Tier 3 methods ensure higher accuracy only when they are correctly implemented and capable of representing the population of interest. In general, the following seven steps are used to correctly implement a Tier 3 model-based inventory (see also Figure 1, Volume 1, Chapter 6, Section 2.4).

Step 1. Model selection or development

Inventory compilers can choose from a wide range of model types depending on reporting needs, data availability and capacity. As part of model selection or development, it is *good practice* to consider if the model/s:

• adequately represent the range of land uses, ecosystems and management practices in the region or country;
- allow for the quantification of uncertainty;
- reduce uncertainty relative to other available methods (e.g., Tier 1 methods) or estimates are improved in other ways (e.g., more complete coverage of carbon pools or lands);
- can be run and maintained in an operational context with available time and resources (e.g., input data is readily available, staff have sufficient experience and knowledge, suitable compute infrastructure is available);
- produce outputs that can be used for reporting emissions and removals by relevant land-use categories;
- produce time-series consistent results;
- are compatible with other existing models used in the inventory; and
- are well documented and tested.

Multiple models will likely be selected as potentially suitable as part of Step 1. These models can then be tested prior to implementation using steps 2 and 3 below. Therefore, before moving to Step 2, at least a sub-set of the input data required to run the model should be collected or collated, including input variables (such as forest species or type, climate, soil characteristics), and any existing parameters and data required for further model calibration and evaluation. In some cases, input data may be a limiting factor in model selection or development, requiring some models to be discarded or modified to accommodate the available activity and/or environmental data.

Step 2. Model Calibration

Model calibration (i.e. parameterisation) is the process of selecting or adjusting model parameters to obtain results that best represent the processes of interest in the region (and time period) for which the model will be applied. The model calibration procedure readies a model for its further use in analyses. For example, replacing default growth curves with those specific to the tree species or site conditions to which the model will be applied or replacing climate averages with regional climate data are examples of model parameterisation.

Calibration data should represent the population. In practice, this does not mean that all environmental conditions are covered, but that the calibration data includes a range of the conditions existing the country that is representative of national circumstances.

Model sensitivity analyses may be used to determine the most important parameters for calibration. In a sensitivity analysis, parameter values are varied through a series of simulations to determine the associated change in model output. The parameters are ranked from most to least sensitive based on the level of change in model output. Some techniques also incorporate measurements into the sensitivity analysis (Sobol, 2001). The most sensitive parameters are typically calibrated to improve the agreement between modelled and measured carbon stocks, stock changes or non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions.

There are multiple methods for calibrating models. Simpler empirical models (e.g., empirical forest growth models based on forest age or site indices) are commonly developed by fitting functions to data on carbon stocks or stock changes using standard statistical methods and software. More advanced models (e.g., hybrid or process-based models) typically have numerous, interrelated parameters. For these models calibration is often completed using parameter optimisation methods that vary the model parameters within known ranges to best match known results (e.g., carbon stocks). There are several methods for doing this, including generic algorithms, machine learning and Bayesian. The methods may also be used to propagate error through the inventory analysis (e.g., Hararuk et al., 2017).

In all cases it is good practice to document the calibration procedure and results.

Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. Full evaluation of the model is described in Step 3. See Box 2.2f for examples of model calibration.

BOX 2.2F (NEW)

AN EXAMPLE OF MODEL CALIBRATION, EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT THROUGH DATA ASSIMILATION

The development of Canada's Carbon Budget Model for the Canadian Forest Sector started in 1989 and is continually being improved through new data collection, analysis and model enhancements. As part of this process, Shaw et al., (2014) assessed CBM-CFS3's ability to predict ecosystem carbon stocks in independent plots established as part of Canada's national forest inventory (NFI). The study demonstrated close agreement in the predictions of total ecosystem carbon stocks (within 1percent) but found some compensating errors (bias) in specific pools, ecozones, and plots with different tree species.

To further improve the CBM-CFS3 performance in Canadian forest ecosystems, a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) technique was used to calibrate 45 model parameters by assimilating carbon stocks of six deadwood and soil carbon pools estimated from 635 plots from Canada's National Forest Inventory (Hararuk et al., 2017). These plots were randomly split into two groups; calibration (n = 326), used to calibrate the parameters, and validation (n = 309), used to evaluate the performance of the model with calibrated parameters.

Calibration led to most improvement in the simulation of carbon stocks in small and fine woody debris, reducing RMSE by 54.3 percent, followed by the snag stems (RMSE reduced by 23.2 percent), and coarse woody debris (13 percent). Twenty of the 45 parameters were well constrained by the available data. The calibrated parameters resulted in increased rates of carbon cycling in fine and coarse woody debris and the soil organic layer, distinct carbon dynamics in hardwood and softwood dominated stands, and increased temperature sensitivity of the carbon contained in the mineral soil.

While parameter calibration considerably improved the simulation of the small and fine woody debris and snags stem pools, model representation of the branch snag, coarse woody debris, soil organic layer, and mineral soil pools were not substantially improved. This indicated the need for the inclusion of additional processes in carbon dynamics simulation or a change in the modelling paradigm. Model improvements may be achieved by including a lignin effect on deadwood decay and by including the effects of tree species, soil types, and mosses (see Box 2.2g) in the CBM-CFS3. Further data assimilation analyses are ongoing.

Step 3. Evaluation of Model Behaviour

Once the model has been calibrated, it should be evaluated to demonstrate that the model effectively simulates measured trends for the source category of interest. Evaluation can also support the justification for selecting, developing or possibly improving a particular model for the inventory analysis.

It is *good practice* to use measurements independent of those used for model calibration when evaluating model behaviour and to confirm that the model is capable of estimating emissions and removals in the source categories of interest (Falloon and Smith, 2002; Prisley and Mortimer, 2004). In practice, this is typically achieved by setting aside a subset of data collected for model calibration to be used exclusively for model evaluation. Comparisons between model output and independent measurements can be made using statistical tests and/or graphically. In addition to evaluation with independent data, other evaluation checks may be useful, including:

- range checks to show that estimates of carbon stocks and changes in all pools do not exceed pre-defined expected limits;
- in models that track both stocks and flows between carbon pools and the atmosphere, that mass-balance is been maintained through all simulations;
- use of other statistical methods for assessing model behaviour, such as resampling methods (e.g., bootstrapping); and
- assessment of the sensitivity of various parameters in the model (sensitivity analysis).

It is *good practice* to ensure that the model responds appropriately to variations in activity data and environmental conditions occurring in the spatial and temporal domain where the model will be applied. Re-calibration of the model or modifications to the structure (i.e., algorithms) may be necessary if the model does not capture general trends or there are large systematic biases. In some cases, a new model may be selected or developed based on this evaluation. Evaluation results are an important component of the reporting documentation. See Box 2.2g for examples of model evaluation and improvement.

BOX 2.2G (NEW) Example of Model Evaluation and Improvement

Finland

The sample sizes in soil carbon inventories are usually not adequate for national level soil carbon stock change assessment with few exceptions (e.g., Sweden, and Germany, see Gamfeldt et al., 2014 and Grüneberg et al., 2014). As such, most countries use soil carbon models to estimate carbon stock changes then evaluate the results using repeated soil inventories. In general, it has been shown that models can estimate soil carbon stock change in the same magnitude as that measured, but uncertainties of both measurements and model estimates are often higher than actual measurements (Ortiz et al., 2009; Rantakari et al., 2012). This makes the evaluation of model outputs challenging.

Two soils carbon models are commonly used in Finland: Yasso07 and ROMULv. An evaluation of the performance of these models against forest soil carbon stock measurements was undertaken by Lehtonen et al. (2016). Both models require estimates of carbon input from vegetation. Litter input from trees was estimated using litter production rates from research sites and stem volume maps from the National Forest Inventory. Inputs from understorey vegetation were estimated using new biomass models.

To evaluate the models, both were applied across Finland and run until steady state was achieved; thereafter, measured soil carbon stocks were compared with model estimates. The evaluation showed that the role of understorey litter input was underestimated by Yasso07, especially in northern Finland, and the inclusion of soil water holding capacity in the ROMULv model improved predictions, especially in southern Finland. Simulations and measurements indicated that models using only litter quality and quantity and weather data underestimate soil carbon stock in southern Finland, and this underestimation is due to omission of the impact of droughts on the decomposition of organic layers. The model evaluation results imply improving estimates of understorey litter production in the northern latitudes would be an area for improvement in greenhouse gas inventories (Lehtonen et al., 2016).

Canada

An evaluation of CBM-CFS3 ability to predict ecosystem carbon stock estimates derived from an entirely independent data set from the initial establishment of Canada's new National Forest Inventory (Gillis et al., 2005) was undertaken (Stinson et al., 2016). Estimates of aboveground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon stocks from up to 696 ground plots were compared to model-derived estimates (Shaw et al., 2014). Model simulations for each ground plot used only the type of input data available to the NFCMARS for the NIR in 2010.None of the model's default parameters were altered. Ecosystem total C stocks estimated by CBM-CFS3 were unbiased (mean difference = 1.9 Mg ha⁻¹, p = 0.397), and significantly correlated (r = 0.54, p > 0.001) with ground plot-based estimates. Although the overall C stock estimates were within 1 percent of the observed values, detailed analyses also revealed compensating biases specific to pools, ecozones or leading species. Contribution to ecosystem total C stocks error from soil was large, and from deadwood and aboveground biomass small. Results for percent error in the aboveground biomass (7.5 percent) and deadwood (30.8 percent) pools compared favourably to the *GPG-LULUCF* standards of 8 percent and 30 percent, respectively. Further details are provided in Shaw et al. (2014).

Subsequent analyses assessed the reasons for the consistent under prediction of organic carbon stocks in low productivity boreal sites, in which mosses can contribute 30 percent or more of total ecosystem Net Primary Production (Bona et al., 2013). Although mosses are not a carbon stock that is included in the IPCC pools, it is increasingly evident that omitting them will result in significant under prediction of both carbon stocks and fluxes in forest ecosystems with high moss cover. Bona et al. (2016) estimated that in poorly drained upland black spruce forests of boreal Canada as much as 31–49 percent of the total carbon stocks are potentially contributed by mosses alone. A new moss module was developed and added to the CBM-CFS3 and off-line comparisons indicate that representing moss carbon stocks and inputs will reduce bias in organic carbon stock estimates (Bona et al., 2016).

Step 4. Collect and collate require model data inputs

Models require specific input data to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with a source category. These inputs may range from weather and soils data to livestock numbers, forest types, natural disturbances or cropping management practices. While much of this data may have been collected as part of the model selection process (Step 1), additional data may need to be collected prior to full implementation. For

example, the climate data used in model selection may have only been for specific points, while for implementation the model will require the data spatially over large areas. In these cases, the new spatial input data may need to be developed to implement the model at the desired spatio-temporal scale.

Step 5. Model Implementation

The major consideration when implementing the model is to obtain enough computing resources and personnel time to prepare the input data, conduct the model simulations, and analyse the results. In some cases, limitations in computing resources may constrain the complexity and range of spatial or temporal resolution that can be used in implementing the model at the national scale (i.e. simulating at finer spatial and temporal scales will require greater computing resources). An initial analysis of computing needs should be explored during model selection and development (Step 1). It may be possible to increase the efficiency of this process using programming scripts, re-coding parts of the model and adjusting the spatial and temporal extent and resolution of the simulations. It may also be possible to implement the model on computing resources that are outside the agency (e.g. cloud-based computing).

Step 6. Assess uncertainty

Uncertainty analysis should not be confused with sensitivity analysis. Uncertainty analysis determines the probabilities of a range of estimates that can be used to derive confidence intervals for the estimates, and to develop plans to further reduce uncertainties. Sensitivity analysis is conducted to determine the relative change in model output given changes in model input values, which can be informative for model calibration (See Step 3).

In many Tier 3 models, Monte Carlo analyses can be used to simulate the uncertainty arising from the large number of possible parameters in the systems. Empirical analyses may also be an option to quantify uncertainty in model structure and parameterization based on an evaluation of model prediction error for sites with known inputs (See Box 2.2h). In general, uncertainties are quantified at national scales on annual time steps for reporting but may also be estimated at finer spatial and temporal scales. However, it may not be feasible or sensible to apply full Monte Carlo simulations to, for example, every spatial unit in a country. Given the computing resource and time requirements, it may also not be necessary to repeat a full Monte Carlo analysis every year. For example, in the case where only the activity data time series has been updated, but no other material changes to the inventory have been made, uncertainty estimates can be extrapolated to the additional years in the time series. A smaller test may also be run to demonstrate there has been no material change in uncertainty.

BOX 2.2H (NEW)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

This box is provided for information purposes and for the presentation of examples of quantification of uncertainties in Tier 3 modelling approaches.

<u>Canada</u>

Both uncertainty and sensitivity analyses were conducted on Canada's CBM-CFS3 integration framework (Metsaranta et al., 2017) and uncertainty analysis results are summarized below.

A wide range of factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the model estimates were varied using Monte-Carlo simulations using the entire national system. These factors include the processes used to initialize dead organic matter and soil carbon pools, biomass increment data (a multiplier with a range of ± 50 percent was applied to net biomass increment), activity data (wildfire (± 10 percent), insects (± 25 percent), and harvest (range varies by jurisdiction)), selection of stands during the allocation of natural disturbances to affected stands, and parameters defining litter input and dead organic matter pool dynamics. Parameter ranges for 32 biomass turnover and dead organic matter carbon modelling parameters were obtained from the literature and used as minimum and maximum values of triangular distributions (with mode set to the CBM-CFS3 default value). All parameters values and input data were varied independently, because the correlation structure among parameters could not be estimated.

Input data for Canada's 230 million ha of managed forest are contained in 20 CBM-CFS3 databases, each representing a specific region in Canada. Monte Carlo simulations for each of

BOX 2.2H (NEW) (CONTINUED)

EXAMPLES OF QUANTIFICATION OF MODEL UNCERTAINTY

these 20 databases were conducted independently and the sample size for national totals was increased by summing random combinations of the 100 Monte Carlo runs from the 20 projects to generate 1000 randomly recombined estimates of national totals. The approximated 95 percent confidence interval (CI) was defined from the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles of these national estimates.

Under the assumptions of this analysis, the 95 percent confidence interval width averaged 32.2 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ (+16.6 and -15.6 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$) for net biome production (total stock changes) relative to an overall simulation median of -0.8 Tg $C \cdot year^{-1}$ from 1990 to 2014. The largest sources of uncertainty were related to factors determining biomass increment and the parameters used to model soil and dead organic matter carbon dynamics. Some of these processes also vary in their intrinsic degree of predictability (Luo et al., 2015), and some factors causing large contributions to uncertainty may prove difficult to reduce (e.g., fine root turnover and its spatial and temporal variations).

United States of America

Uncertainty analysis for agricultural soil carbon and N_2O emissions have been conducted for the US greenhouse gas inventory (Ogle et al. 2010; Del Grosso et al. 2010; US EPA, 2017). A Tier 3 method is applied to generate emissions estimates with application of the DayCent ecosystem model. This process-based model simulates plant production, soil organic matter formation, nutrient cycling, water flows, and temperature regimes (Parton et al. 1998). Uncertainty is quantified through a combination of Monte Carlo simulations, an empirical analysis of model prediction error, and propagation of variance associated with the land representation survey data.

The inventory is compiled by simulating plant production and soil processes based on land use histories at about 400,000 locations that are part of a national survey, the National Resources Inventory (NRI) (Nusser et al. 1998, Nusser and Goebel 1997). The major input uncertainties in the Tier 3 model application are associated with fertilization and tillage management and are quantified in probability distribution functions (PDFs), representing the likelihood of different fertilization rates, tillage practices and manure amendments. The model is applied using a Monte Carlo Analysis in a series of 100 simulations for each NRI survey locations based on random draws from the PDFs. In turn, the analysis produces 100 estimates of soil C stock changes and N₂O emissions for each survey location.

Model prediction error, including bias and precision, is quantified in statistical models with an empirical analysis based on a comparison of model output to measured observations of soil C stocks and N_2O emissions from experimental sites (Ogle et al. 2007). The model inputs are mostly known for the DayCent model simulations of the experimental sites and so the primary sources of uncertainty that are quantified in this analysis are associated with model structure and parameterisation, in addition to the variance in measured observations. Moreover, the experimental sites are independent from model calibration allowing for an independent evaluation of model prediction error. The resulting empirical model is applied to the DayCent model output to adjust for biases, to the extent needed, and to quantify precision in model results.

In a final step, variance associated with the NRI is derived based on the standard variance estimator for a stratified two-stage sample design (Särndal et al. 1992) and propagated through calculations to estimate national totals for the inventory (Ogle et al. 2010). The largest source of uncertainty in the analysis is associated with model structure and parameterization, as quantified in the empirical analysis. This source accounts for more than 80 percent of the total uncertainty in soil carbon stock change and N_2O emission estimates at the national scale, highlighting the importance of further improving the model to reduce uncertainty.

Step 7. Verification of inventory estimates with independent data

NGHGI estimates from Tier 3 models can be difficult to verify because alternative measurements often do not exist at the national scale. This is not unique to the AFOLU sector. There may however, be opportunities to verify component estimates against independent data. For example, model derived estimates of crop yield, or timber harvest can be compared against independent data such as crop or timber production statistics. Such comparisons require a good understanding of the methods used for both the Tier 3 and the comparative estimates, to avoid interpreting possible discrepancies as an indicator of problems in the Tier 3 model, when the discrepancy is in fact due to methodological differences.

Another useful step in verification of inventory estimates is to compare current estimates against those in the inventory submissions of prior years. Changes in time series estimates that are not consistent with changes in activity or other input data should be examined and understood as these could be indicative of a variety of problems, including errors in data processing. Developing quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) procedures that document the changes in estimates attributed to each change in input data, model parameters, or other methodological changes can assist inventory compilers in the verification of inventory estimates.

Verification of inventory estimates can also be based on measurements from a monitoring network or from research sites that were not used to calibrate model parameters or evaluate model behaviour. The network would be similar in principle to a series of sites that are used for a measurement-based inventory. However, the uncertainty of the estimates (output) from a model-based approach does not depend directly on the sample size and therefore the sampling need not be as dense. In some cases, verification may demonstrate that the model-based estimation system is inappropriate due to large and unexplainable differences between model results and the measured trends from the monitoring network. Problems may stem from one of three possibilities: errors in the implementation step, poor input data, or an inappropriate model. Implementation problems typically arise from computer programming or data input errors, while model inputs may generate erroneous results if these data are not representative of management activity or environmental conditions. In these cases, it is *good practice* for the inventory compiler to return to either Steps 2 or 5 depending on the issue. It seems less likely that the model would be inappropriate if Step 2 was deemed reasonable. However, if this is the case, it is *good practice* to return to the model selection/development phase (Step 1) or to further refine the existing model.

In addition to verifying inventory estimates, independent data may also be used to check areas estimates for landuse and land use change including

- that land area is conserved over time;
- changes between land-use types are logical in terms of the type, frequency and time periods between changes, defined by the country;
- consistency between input data (e.g. area to be disturbed by disturbance type X) and model simulation results (e.g., area actually disturbed in the model by disturbance type X).

Step 8. Reporting and Documentation

It is *good practice* to assemble inventory results in a systematic and transparent manner for reporting purposes. Documentation of model-based Tier 3 inventory systems should include those items listed in Table 2.6b. For further details on QA/QC, reporting and documentation, see the sections dealing with the specific source categories later in this volume, as well as information provided in Volume 1, Chapter 6.

EXAMPLES OF DOCUMENTATION TO ASSEMB	Table 2.6b (New) ile in support of transparent reporting of Tier 3 model-based inventories
Step 1 – Model selection or development	 A description of the model Reason for choosing or designing the model demonstrating applicability Discussion of any likely consequences if the model is used outside the domain that the model is parameterised to simulate.
Step 2 - Model calibration	• Description of the process undertaken to calibrate the model and documentation of the data sources informing the manual or automated calibration.
Step 3 – Evaluate model behaviour	• Results of the analysis verifying model behaviour using independent measurements to confirm that the model is capable of estimating carbon stocks, stock changes and/or emissions and removals in the source/sink categories of interest. The sources of independent data should also be documented.
Step 5 - Implement the model	• Overview of procedures that are used to apply the model.
Step 6 - Quantify uncertainties	• Description of the approach taken to estimate uncertainty in the model outputs.
Step 7 - Verification of inventory estimates	• Summary of the verification results for the inventory.
Step 8 – Reporting and Documentation	Information on QA/QC steps

2.6 INTER-ANNUAL VARIABILITY

In the AFOLU sector, the management of land is used as the best approximation of human influence and thus, estimates of emissions and removals on managed land are used as a proxy for anthropogenic emissions and removals on the basis that the preponderance of anthropogenic effects occurs on managed lands (see Vol. 4 Chapter 1). This allows for consistency, comparability, and transparency in estimation. Referred to as the Managed Land Proxy (MLP), this approach is currently recognised by the IPCC as the only universally applicable approach to estimating anthropogenic emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector (IPCC 2006, IPCC 2010). However, it is also recognised that the estimated emissions and removals on managed lands can represent a combination of both anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural effects (Vol. 4 Chapter 1 p1.5; IPCC 2010; see Fig. 2.6A).

Some of the emissions and removals from managed land are characterised by high interannual variability. Interannual variability (IAV) refers to the variability in the annual emissions and removals (E/R) estimates between years within a time series. In the AFOLU sector, the application of the MLP means that IAV can be caused by both anthropogenic and natural causes. The three main causes of IAV in GHG emissions and removals in the AFOLU sector are (1) natural disturbances (such as wildfires, insects, windthrow, and ice storms), which can cause large immediate and delayed emissions and respiration (Ciais *et al.* 2005; Aragão *et al.* 2018); and, (3) variation in the rate of human activities, including land use (such as forest harvesting), and land-use change (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Pilli *et al.* 2016; Kurz *et al.* 2018).

In some countries IAV in emissions from natural disturbances can be larger than the IAV of emissions caused by human activities such as forest management. For example, IAV in Canada's 1990 to 2016 time series of annual emission and removals due to natural disturbances is much larger than the IAV in the emissions and removals on the remaining managed forest land (Figure 2.6C). The NGHGIs for Portugal (Figure 6-32 of Portugal's NIR 2018 (Portuguese Environmental Agency 2018)) and Australia (Table 6.21 of Australia's NIR 2016 Volume 2 (Commonwealth of Australia 2018)) are two other examples of time series with high IAV. In some countries, the areas burned by wildfires can vary by two orders of magnitude between years (Stinson *et al.* 2011; Miller *et al.* 2012; Genet *et al.* 2018). In other countries, the majority of IAV may be due to human activities.

When the MLP is used and the IAV in emissions and removals due to natural disturbances is large, it is difficult to gain a quantitative understanding of the role of human activities compared to the impacts of natural effects. In such situations, disaggregating⁹ MLP emissions and removals into those that are considered to result from human activities and those understood to result from natural effects may provide increased understanding of the emissions and removals that are due to human activities such as, land use (including harvesting) and land-use change. In this way, disaggregation can contribute to improved understanding of the trends in emission and removals due to human activities and mitigation actions that are taken to reduce anthropogenic emissions and preserve and enhance carbon stocks.

Disaggregating emissions and removals according to anthropogenic and natural effects has been recognised as a scientific challenge (Canadell *et al.* 2007; Vetter *et al.* 2008; IPCC 2010; Kurz 2010; Smith 2010; Brando *et al.* 2014; Henttonen *et al.* 2017). It is not yet possible to fully and accurately separate emissions and removals associated with human activity from those associated with natural effects. The last IPCC Expert Meeting Report on this topic encouraged further development of scientific methods (IPCC 2010).

Recognizing that some but not all countries may choose to address emissions and removals from natural disturbances on managed land outside the inventory process, this guidance is provided as an option that may be used by countries that choose to disaggregate their reported MLP emissions and removals (i.e. all emissions and removals on managed land) into those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from human activities and those that are considered to result from natural disturbances. These supplementary approaches may be of interest to countries with AFOLU sector emissions where IAV due to natural effects is large. The section first addresses definitional issues, followed by a description of whether or not different methodological approaches used to estimate C stock changes quantify the IAV of emissions and removals. A generic approach to report on disaggregation of the contribution of natural disturbances in reporting on total emissions and removals on managed lands is then provided, along with country-specific examples of methodological approaches to disaggregating anthropogenic effects and natural disturbances on managed lands.

⁹ Disaggregating means that an estimate is separated into its component parts.

2.6.1 Definitional issues

2.6.1.1 DIRECT AND INDIRECT HUMAN EFFECTS, AND NATURAL EFFECTS

Anthropogenic (i.e., direct and indirect human) effects and natural effects are described in Vol. 4 Chapter 1. Figure 2.6a summarizes the main factors that cause these effects and their occurrences in managed and unmanaged lands. The specific effects included in estimates reported in NGHGIs depend on the estimation method and data used, which differ in approach and complexity among countries (see Table 2.6c). Describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, based on the estimation method and data used, increases the transparency of the NGHGI and its understanding by the scientific and policy communities (Grassi *et al.* 2018, section 2.6.2). Useful information may include definition and spatial maps of managed land, information on areas of forest being harvested and those subject to other management, and information on the main determinants of the GHG fluxes (e.g., forest age structure, harvested volumes, harvest cycle).

Figure 2.6a:

Conceptual illustration of how various anthropogenic (direct and indirect) and natural factors affect land-related GHG emissions and removals in managed and unmanaged lands (Source: Grassi *et al.* (2018)).



Direct human-induced effects of any management activity on emissions or removals, by definition, only occur on managed lands. Indirect human-induced effects (i.e., the second order impacts of human activities on emissions or removals mediated through environmental change) and natural effects can occur on both unmanaged and managed lands. The "anthropogenic GHG emissions and removals by sinks are defined as all those occurring on 'managed land'" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1). The natural effects "tend to average out over time and space" (Vol. 4, Ch. 1), provided that there are no trends in disturbance rates, such as increased annual area burned as a result of climate change. Nonetheless, their IAV in emissions and removals can have an important impact on annual NGHGIs. Depending on the estimation method and data used, GHG estimates for managed land may capture all or only some of this IAV (see Section 2.6.2).

The IPCC describes the MLP as a method to approximate estimates of anthropogenic emissions and removals, but this proxy estimate also contains emissions and removals resulting from natural disturbances (IPCC 2006; IPCC 2010). This section introduces an approach that countries can apply on a voluntary basis within the MLP in order to indicate those emissions and removals considered to result from human activity, and those that are understood to result from natural disturbances. This is achieved by disaggregating the estimated emissions and removals due to natural disturbances (ND E/R) within the estimated total MLP emissions and removals. This remaining aggregate of emissions and removals associated with human activity might still include some effects of IAV of natural disturbances and other natural effects on anthropogenic emissions and removals.

2.6.1.2 NATURAL DISTURBANCES

Disturbances, in particular wildfires, can contribute to large IAV in emissions. The number, frequency and intensity of fire events are strongly controlled by climate and weather, fuels, ignition sources, and human activities. High temperatures, past levels of fire suppression, and persistent drought events are key drivers of forest fires, for

instance in the Western US (Westerling 2016), in the Amazon region (Morton *et al.* 2013) or in Indonesia (Schimel *et al.* 2015). However, land use and land-use change such as deforestation and peatland drainage can influence the likelihood and impacts of fire (Page & Hooijer 2016). In the Brazilian Cerrado, severe drought events explain the loss of almost 30 percent of aboveground woody biomass (de Miranda *et al.* 2014). Other natural disturbances with large IAV include storm damage (Yamashita *et al.* 2002; Lindner *et al.* 2010). Insects tend to follow outbreak cycles, thus causing more long-term trends that contribute to interdecadal rather than interannual variations (Kurz *et al.* 2008; Hicke *et al.* 2012). However, like IAV, the inter-decadal variability can also make it difficult to identify trends in emissions and removals that result from human activities.

Definition of natural disturbances

Natural disturbances in the context of the AFOLU sector are non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. These include wildfires, insect and disease infestations, extreme weather events and/or geological disturbances, beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by a country. Natural disturbances exclude human activities such as harvesting, prescribed burning and fires associated with activities such as slash and burn.¹⁰

Non-anthropogenic events refer to non-human induced events (e.g. fire initiated by lightening, damage by wind storms), non-anthropogenic circumstances refer to non-human induced conditions that exacerbate these disturbances (e.g., fire occurring during particularly harsh conditions like strong winds, high temperature, drought, etc.). For information on how to document that disturbances are beyond the control of and not materially influenced by the country, see Section 2.6.4 below.

The methodological guidance provided in this section is aimed at disaggregating emissions and removals in ecosystems where natural disturbances cause large IAV in emissions within the MLP and where subsequent removals occur over a multi-year period of time. Therefore, this methodological guidance is applicable to natural disturbances in forests, and in woody grassland, undrained wetlands or undrained peatlands, but not in other land categories where human actions materially determine and/or deeply influence the conditions and circumstances associated with significant emissions by disturbances (such in drained peatlands and in cropland).

Balance of emissions and subsequent removals

A fundamental assumption under the MLP is that carbon emissions and removals associated with natural effects will average out over space and time (see also Volume 4, Chapter 1). Therefore, consistent with this assumption, the CO_2 emissions (from above and below ground biomass, dead organic matter and soil carbon) from areas affected by natural disturbances are expected to be balanced by subsequent removals across the landscape at some future point in time. This expectation has no established time limit because the time to balance depends on the types of ecosystems affected by disturbances and their rates of regrowth.

At stand level, changes in growing conditions could affect this expectation, in particular if environmental conditions contribute to regeneration failure of stands that were affected by natural disturbances, e.g. landslides and erosion after wildfire, making it more difficult to achieve the balance. Conversely, if environmental changes contribute to increased growth rates or reduced mortality rates, then the balance will be achieved faster. In the case of repeated disturbances on the same area, the time to reach balance for that area may increase.

2.6.2 Relationship between different methodological approaches and the representation of emissions and removals from interannual variability

The choice of estimation method and data affects the extent to which the IAV of different drivers is reflected in reported estimates (see Table 2.6c). Countries can apply different estimation methods to report their emissions and removals capturing the anthropogenic components with different temporal resolution and disaggregation of variables (annual to periodic, averaged or disaggregated by drivers). Table 2.6c provides information on how the choice of estimation method affects whether or not factors contributing to IAV of reported emissions and removals are captured in NGHGIs. This table may help countries in understanding and describing how the various effects are reflected in the estimates of emissions and removals, therefore increasing the understanding of NGHGIs by the scientific and policy communities.

¹⁰ Information on natural disturbance definitions and approaches applied in the Kyoto Protocol accounting can be found in IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.

TABLE 2.6C (NEW) GENERAL GUIDANCE ON WHETHER OR NOT THE ESTIMATION METHOD IS ABLE TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN THE IMPACT OF THE INDIVIDUAL DRIVERS BELOW ON THE INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY OF REPORTED ANNUAL EMISSION AND REMOVAL ESTIMATES - NOTE THAT SOME EXCEPTIONS MAY OCCUR, DEPENDING ON THE DATA USED

			Drivers				
Metho	d		Direct Human	Indirect Human	Natural climate variability	Natural Disturbances	
Stock I Periodi	Differe c mea	ence ¹¹ surements (multi-year)	No	No	No	No	
Stock I Annual	Differe meas	ence ¹² surements	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Gai n- Loss ¹³	iass pools	Biomass growth based on Emission Factors or empirical yield tables	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	Live bion	Growth based on process (or hybrid) model	Yes	Yes Yes Y	Yes		
	atter pools	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics based on Emission Factors	Yes	No	No	No	
	soil organic m	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with constant climate	Yes	No	No	Yes	
	Dead and s	Dead and soil organic matter dynamics with variable climate	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	

The Stock Difference method calculates net emissions/removals (E/R) as the difference in estimated C stocks for relevant pools measured at two points in time. Average annual net E/R can be calculated by dividing the C stock difference of a period by the number of years between the two observations. Periodic stock assessments without auxiliary data therefore do not allow the quantification of the IAV of emissions and removals and its relation to the various drivers.

With annual measurements of ecosystem carbon stocks, e.g. via subsets of annual plot measurements in a continuous forest inventory, the quantification of IAV of emissions and removals becomes possible. Periodic or annual subsets of inventories can by themselves not detect IAV unless auxiliary data – such as area annually burned, harvest rates or other specific plot-level measurements on the timing of tree mortality – are used to inform about IAV (Röhling *et al.* 2016). For non-CO₂ emissions (e.g., CH₄ and N₂O from fires), auxiliary data on the type of disturbance that caused carbon losses would be required when the stock difference method is used.

The Gain-Loss method requires annual data on forest management, land-use change and natural disturbances and when these are available it can provide estimates of the IAV of net emissions. Depending on the estimation methodology and the data sets used, it may capture some or all of the impacts of drivers of the IAV of annual emissions and removals. A Gain-Loss approach utilising yield tables or constant emission factors (EF) will be insensitive to natural climate variability and, therefore, will only be able to distinguish between the direct human impact and natural disturbance impacts on IAV of emissions and removals. Gain-Loss methods that utilise climate-sensitive growth and mortality models (Richards & Evans 2004; Waterworth *et al.* 2007; Hember *et al.* 2018), or

¹¹ Forest inventories with multi-year period remeasurement and no auxiliary data cannot detect IAV. In some cases, periodic measurements on permanent sample plots are augmented with additional annual data thus increasing the ability to estimate IAV.

¹² Forest inventories with annual remeasurements for the same plots can detect IAV but are rarely implemented.

¹³ The assumption for the Gain-Loss method is that activity data such as harvest, land-use change, and natural disturbances are available annually.

climate sensitive models of dead and soil organic matter dynamics (see Figure 6 in Liski *et al.* (2006)) can, in addition, estimate the indirect human and natural climate variability impacts on the IAV of emissions and removals.

2.6.3 Optional approach for reporting of emissions and removals from Natural Disturbances

It is *good practice* for countries to apply the MLP and to estimate and report all emissions and removals that occur on managed lands. This section describes a generic approach for use by countries that choose to report on the further disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals from natural disturbances from the total emissions and removals estimated using the MLP. As discussed above, disturbances may have a natural and an anthropogenic component. This reporting guidance aims to assist countries choosing to report on the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals associated with human activity and those associated with natural disturbances within the total emissions and subsequent removals estimates of the MLP.

The elements of a generic approach are provided below, followed by examples of how the approach has been implemented to date:

1. Quantification of the total emissions and removals from Managed Lands (consistent with MLP)

Estimate total E/R consistent with the MLP. Guidance provided by the IPCC for each relevant land category applies for the estimation of associated emissions and subsequent removals due to regrowth within the MLP. This is the total MLP flux, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals, which also includes emissions and subsequent removals from areas that are identified as subject to natural disturbances.

2. Reporting on the country-specific approach to applying the definition of natural disturbances

Consistent with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in section 2.6.1.2, countries describe their approach when applying the definition of natural disturbances consistently over time. The country description includes the types of disturbances for which the disaggregation of emissions and subsequent removals is implemented. The description also explains how the country excludes from natural disturbances the impacts of human activities, e.g., salvage logging, prescribed burning, slash and burn and deforestation.

3. Identification of emissions and removals due to natural disturbances

The emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances are identified by applying the ND definition to either the individual (stand-level) disturbed areas or the total (landscape-level) emissions from all disturbances in the year¹⁴. In identifying those emissions and removals, it is *good practice* to avoid the inclusion of emissions and removals that are materially affected by human actions¹⁵. Both approaches provide for the:

- (i) Identification of the lands and area of land affected by each disturbance, as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.
- (ii) For those lands, estimation of the emissions and subsequent removals associated with natural disturbances only (e.g. salvage logging emissions and associated subsequent removals are not included), as well as a description of the methods and criteria applied.

If a country chooses to disaggregate ND emissions and removals, then it is *good practice* to disaggregate as anthropogenic the emissions and subsequent removals associated with management activities occurring on land affected by natural disturbances, including salvage logging and deforestation. Consequently, subsequent removals are disaggregated between human activities and natural disturbances, proportionally to the C stock losses these activities have caused, until the CO₂ emissions from natural disturbances are balanced by removals.

For example, if salvage logging follows wildfire, and the wildfire caused instant emissions of 20 t CO_2 per hectare and subsequent salvage logging caused an additional 40 t CO_2 , then 20 t CO_2 of subsequent removals are disaggregated as natural disturbances, and all remaining removals are disaggregated as anthropogenic effects. This could be implemented sequentially (i.e. the first 20 t CO_2 removals are disaggregated as due to natural causes, and all subsequent removals to anthropogenic causes) or in parallel (i.e. in this example, for every tonne of CO_2 removal, one third is disaggregated as due to natural causes, and the remaining two thirds to anthropogenic causes). In both cases, once natural emissions are balanced by removals disaggregated as natural causes, the remaining removals are considered anthropogenic.

¹⁴ Methodological guidance on quantification of associated emissions and removals are given in the chapters with general guidance (Chapter 2 and 3) as well in the category-specific chapters (Chapter 4 and 6)".

¹⁵ Noting that a portion of the emissions and removals considered to be associated with natural disturbances may be affected by human actions.

Disaggregation of CO_2 removals following natural disturbances can be implemented at the landscape level by apportioning these based on, for instance, the proportion of area disturbed of total forest area and the proportion of C stock lost of total C stock. For example, if in a year X in a country Y, Z ha of forest land is subject to wildfires, representing 0.1 percent of the total forest area and 25 percent of the total carbon stock present in the burned area is lost; the percentage of total CO_2 removals in the entire forest land apportioned to natural disturbances in this example is 0.025 percent (i.e., 0.1 percent*25 percent) for year X. If the emissions from natural disturbances in year X were 25 Mt CO_2 , then the removals in subsequent years are considered natural until the sum of the removals equals that amount.

Although the different approaches above (i.e., sequential or parallel disaggregation of removals subsequent to natural disturbances, stand vs. landscape level) affect the annual disaggregation, as long as the expectation of the balance between emissions from natural disturbances and the subsequent removals is fulfilled (see Section 6.2.1.2), and as long as emissions and subsequent removals are treated consistently, in the long term the totals are the same. Furthermore, in all cases it is *good practice* to report information on assumptions and methods implemented to disaggregate subsequent CO_2 removals.

When land-use change (e.g., forest land converted to cropland) follows a natural disturbance (e.g., wildfire), then emissions associated with land-use changes after natural disturbances as well as the emissions from the prior natural disturbance, are considered to be anthropogenic emissions. If regrowth occurs on that land, then any subsequent removals are also considered anthropogenic.

4. Disaggregation of the MLP

The natural disturbance component is subtracted from the total estimate of MLP emissions and removals, yielding an estimate of the emissions and removals associated with human activity on managed land. Both components are estimated and reported as part of the total MLP emissions and removals. In countries where natural disturbance contributes large IAV to E/R, the component of the MLP emissions and removals identified as associated with human activity is expected to have a lower IAV than the MLP emissions and removals because the variability resulting from natural disturbances has been disaggregated.

Given the expectation of the balance described above (Section 2.6.1.2), when emissions from natural disturbances are disaggregated, it is *good practice* that subsequent removals are also disaggregated until the balance has been reached. In this case, it is also *good practice* to disaggregate to the natural disturbance component those removals in each inventory year that are contributed by lands that were affected by natural disturbances prior to the start of the time series. In many ecosystems it may take decades for removals following natural disturbances to balance emissions from the disturbances. If it is not possible to estimate directly the amount of emissions that need to be balanced, for example if natural disturbances occurred before the reporting period, the time when the balance is expected can be approximated based on the estimated length (years) of the recovery period (see example in Box 2.2j). This ensures a consistent application of the balance principle throughout the time series.

In addition to CO_2 emissions, natural disturbances may cause non- CO_2 emissions, e.g. wildfires cause N_2O and CH_4 emissions. While CO_2 emissions are assumed to average out across time because of vegetation regrowth after disturbance, non- CO_2 emissions are not taken up by vegetation and therefore there is no expectation that these emissions will be balanced by removals because the biological, chemical and physical processes that result in the complete decay of CH_4 and N_2O in the atmosphere are not captured in existing IPCC inventory methods.

Examples of methodological approaches that have been developed are presented for Australia (Box 2.2i), Canada (Box 2.2j) and for an EU country (Box 2.2k).

BOX 2.2I (NEW)

AUSTRALIAN APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY DUE TO NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In Australia, all lands are considered managed lands. All areas and carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and 'natural disturbances'¹⁶ are reported, consistent with the MLP. 'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are considered to be caused by non-anthropogenic events and circumstances beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, human activity despite extensive efforts by emergency management organizations to prevent, manage and control such events.

Both initial carbon losses and subsequent recoveries in carbon stocks are modelled as part of the disturbance event, and carbon stocks are spatially tracked until pre-disturbance levels are reached to ensure completeness and balance in reporting. Most Australian wildfires are not stand-replacing and carbon stocks typically recover after 11 years (Roxburgh *et al.* 2015). Estimates are prepared using a process (hybrid) model with DOM/SOM dynamics with variable climate (FullCAM).

'Natural disturbances' are defined as occurring in a year which is an outlier (exceeding the 95percent probability level) in the series of annual carbon stock losses due to wildfire at the national level and, spatially, as fires in those regions (States) experiencing abnormal fire activity in that year. (A full description of the method to identify outliers can be found in Volume 2 of Australia's NIR 2016 - Section 6.4.1.3)

'Natural disturbance' emissions and removals are modelled on a spatial basis and, consistent with the MLP, included in reporting after averaging out initial carbon stock losses and subsequent recovery¹⁷. This leaves the trend in carbon stock changes as the dominant result of human activity (e.g. from prescribed burning, normal seasonal wildfires – see "B" in Figure 2.6B).

The approach ensures that Australia's modelled implementation of the MLP is comparable with estimates generated using other methods, such as Tier 3 stock-difference approaches, that tend to average out IAV due to natural causes over space (scaling from plots to region) and time (averaging between periodic re-measurements). All carbon stock changes on managed land from anthropogenic and natural disturbances are transparently reported in Australia's NIR.



activity.

¹⁶ References to 'natural disturbances' in this box refer to the *natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks* described in 2006 *IPCC Guidelines* Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space."

¹⁷ 2006 IPCC Guidelines Vol 4, page 1.5: (Managed land proxy) "Finally, while local and short-term variability in emissions and removals due to natural causes can be substantial (e.g. emissions from fire – footnote 1), the natural 'background' of

BOX 2.2J (NEW)

CANADA'S APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided.

In the 2017 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁸ Canada revised its reporting approach to increase the transparency of the reporting of anthropogenic emissions and removals on Forest Land remaining Forest Land (FL-FL). The new approach disaggregated the emissions and subsequent removals on managed lands affected by natural disturbances from those on the remaining lands subject to forest management. The concept of the MLP was maintained: the sum of these two emission and removal components are identical to the total emissions and removals for FL-FL under the MLP. Canada's 2018 National GHG Inventory Report¹⁹ further refined the approach. The methods are described in detail by (Kurz *et al.* 2018) and are summarized here.

Canada defined natural disturbances as all stand-replacing wildfires and all disturbances of other natural causes (insects, windthrow etc.) that result in more than 20 percent tree mortality (biomass) in affected stands. The threshold of 20 percent was selected because large areas of forests are affected by insects that cause low levels of mortality and/or growth reductions. Disturbances with impacts below this threshold are considered part of the natural, small-scale forest mortality that affect stand dynamics such as self-thinning.

For all areas affected by stand-replacing fire disturbances, annual CO₂ and non-CO₂ GHG emissions and subsequent CO_2 removals are summarized in the natural disturbance land category for several decades following the fire event. The time at which stands affected by natural disturbances transition back to the category of lands affected by forest management varies across Canada and is determined by the age at which stands are eligible for harvest, typically 60 to 90 years. For other natural disturbances that cause more than 20 percent biomass mortality, E/R are summarised in the natural disturbance category until the pre-disturbance biomass values are reached. For the 1990 to 2016 time series, stands regenerating following wildfire that are younger than the age at which stands are eligible for harvest is summarised in the natural disturbance category: removals that occur after 1989 in stands that have been affected by stand-replacing wildfires prior to 1990 are therefore contributing to balancing emissions from wildfires that occurred since 1990. The 56 Mha of managed forest affected by wildfire disturbances prior to 1990 contribute in 1990 estimated removals of 64 Mt CO₂e yr⁻¹. From 1990 to 1994 these cumulative annual removals are larger than the emissions from wildfires since 1990, making the lands subject to natural disturbances net sinks (Kurz et al. 2018). This approach contributes to balanced reporting as otherwise only removals from stands affected by natural disturbances after 1990 would appear in the natural disturbance component.

The disaggregation of fluxes improves the estimate of human impacts: reported emissions and removals without natural disturbances showed clear temporal trends that are correlated with changes in the rates of human activities such as rates of clear-cut harvesting (Figure 2.6C). In areas strongly affected by the Mountain Pine Beetle outbreak (Kurz *et al.* 2008) the trend in emissions reported for lands affected by forest management is still somewhat influenced by the impacts of the beetle because that area is decreasing (Kurz *et al.* 2018). The high IAV resulting primarily from fires is reported separately (Table 6.5 in Canada's NIR 2018). Further methodological details are provided in Canada's NIR 2018, Sections 6.3.1 and in Annex 3.5.2.3 and in (Kurz *et al.* 2018).

greenhouse gas emissions and removals by sinks tends to average out over time and space. This leaves the greenhouse gas emission and removals from managed lands as the dominant result of human activity."

 $[\]label{eq:http://unfccc.int/files/national_reports/annex_i_ghg_inventories/national_inventories_submissions/application/zip/can-2017-nir-13apr17.zip$

¹⁹ https://unfccc.int/documents/65715



Figure 2.6c: Example of the disaggregation of Canada's FL-FL emissions and removals into those occurring on lands dominated by natural disturbance impacts and those occurring in the remaining managed forest (A). Note the high IAV in the natural disturbance fluxes (up to 250 Mt CO₂e/yr) (B) on the area affected by natural disturbances (primarily wildfires) and the low IAV of fluxes on the remaining managed forest area (C) which are correlated with forest management activities (e.g. primarily area of forest harvest). Fluxes in panel C are shown without (solid line) and with (dashed line) the emissions from harvested wood products. Data from Canada's 2018 NIR and figure from (Kurz *et al.* 2018)).

BOX 2.2K (NEW)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION²⁰

This box is for information only and neither adds guidance nor overrules guidance provided. This example demonstrates a methodological approach that has not yet been implemented.

Forests of example country Z^{21} are prone to wildfires that in years with extreme weather conditions (e.g. drought, especially if combined with strong winds) may cause large emissions from biomass burning and cause high IAV in the net CO_2 balance. Although, the country recognizes that most of its wildfires are human-induced either intentionally, e.g. pyromaniacs, or unintentionally, e.g. campfires, fireworks, cigarettes or other causes, some have natural causes. Consequently, emissions from wildfires have both an anthropogenic and a natural component.



Figure 2.6d: Time series of managed forest land total GHG net emission (anthropogenic + natural disturbance (ND) and area burned. Blue bars (left Y-axis) represent annual total net GHG emission (Gg $CO_{2}e$) from managed forest land net sink. The dashed red line (right Y-axis) represents the annual area burned (kha).

To disaggregate the natural component of emissions and removals from wildfires, the country uses its national definition of natural disturbances: *Natural Disturbances are those wildfires that are nonanthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances that cause significant emissions in forests and are beyond the control of, and not materially influenced by, the Country's land use and management practices. These practices exclude salvage logging and prescribed burning.*

All wildfires are considered not materially influenced by the country's land use and management practices since the use of fire is forbidden in any forest land and the country has an advanced national fire management system for fire prevention, fire monitoring and fire suppression in all land uses, including forest land.

To identify wildfires that cause significant emissions and are beyond the control of the country's fire management system and are therefore considered natural disturbances, the country looks for statistical outliers that fall outside the 95 percent confidence interval of the variability of the historical time series of the annual GHG emissions from wildfires²². To do so, the distribution of emissions from wildfires is established, and it is assumed that all values within the normal

 $^{^{20}}$ The presented methodology is based on the EU Regulation 2018/841

²¹ Data for this example are derived from the Italian GHG inventory

²² Such time series do not include emissions from salvage logging nor emissions from wildfires that are followed by a deforestation event. The time series can start before the base year of the country and may include all years for which data are available. For this example, the time series starts in 1971.

BOX 2.2K (NEW) (CONTINUED)

APPROACH TO ESTIMATING INTERANNUAL VARIABILITY FROM NATURAL DISTURBANCES BASED ON THE EU LEGISLATION

distribution are exclusively associated with the anthropogenic component²³, any outlier value, in the upper tail, is considered as the signal of a disturbance event that is unlikely to have been generated by anthropogenic causes alone and therefore includes a natural component.

In practice, first a historical time series of annual emissions²⁴ from wildfires is constructed starting from 1971, i.e., the base year (1990) of the NGHGI of the country minus 20 years. Then, using an iterative process, outliers (if any) that are larger than the mean plus two times²⁵ the standard deviation are removed from the time series in successive iterations, until an outlier-free normal distribution is obtained.

The resulting time series, as well as its mean (referred to below as the background level of anthropogenic emissions from wildfires) and two times its standard deviation (referred to below as the margin) excludes all outliers. Based on these statistics, natural disturbances are those that occur in years when the total immediate emissions from wildfires are larger than the background level plus the margin and emissions from these natural disturbances are quantified as the amount exceeding the background level. This amount is disaggregated from the anthropogenic component.

To establish the balance between immediate CO₂ emissions (F) and total subsequent CO₂ removals²⁶ (R) due to natural disturbances, and to avoid introducing artificial trends to the time series, the country also estimates and reports removals occurring from land disturbed in the X years prior to the inventory year, where X^{27} is the length of the period that is needed for forest vegetation (by relevant forest types and site types) to recover the pre-disturbance C stock. The CO₂ removals are quantified under the assumption that forest vegetation fully recovers within X years after wildfires. This assumption is based on the current legislation that forbids conversion of burnt forests to other land uses and that prescribes post-fire management activities aimed at rehabilitating the pre-fire forest vegetation. Consequently, the average amount of subsequent annual removals (R_{annual}) to be disaggregated for X years of a past ND event²⁸ is equivalent to $\frac{F}{x}$ and $\sum_{0}^{x} R_{annual} = R = F$ (where 0 is the year in which the natural disturbances occur and X the time needed for C stocks to recover to their pre-disturbance level).

²³ The average value of this distribution is the so -called background level of emissions associated with disturbances and it is considered anthropogenic.

²⁴ The country includes the emissions of fire events only, delayed emissions associated with the decay of biomass that was killed during the fire are not considered

²⁵ This is an approximation of Student's t value for data series with number of data ≥ 30 .

²⁶ Calculated directly from the biomass net increment (ΔC_G of IPCC equation 2.7)

²⁷ For this example, X has been estimated to be 20 years for the entire country's territory.

²⁸ This means that in any year Y of the NGHGI the amount of CO₂ removals to be disaggregated is equivalent to the $\sum_{Y-X}^{Y} \left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ (where $\left(\frac{F}{X}\right)_{(Y-X)}$ are the annual CO= removals occurring on all lands disturbed in the period Y-X that have not yet achieved their pre-disturbance level of C stocks.)



2.6.4 Reporting the contribution of natural disturbances and anthropogenic effects to the emissions and removals for managed lands

Voluntary disaggregation of the total of emissions and removals in the MLP into those that are associated with human effects and those due to natural disturbances may provide a clearer picture of the impact of management activities. It is understood that a complete separation of the direct human impacts from natural impacts is, at this time, not possible due to limitations of scientific methods (IPCC 2010) but disaggregating the emissions and subsequent removals that are associated with natural disturbances on managed lands may be a helpful first step.

The MLP total is the sum of all emissions and removals on managed land. Box 2.2l describes a possible approach to reporting the total E/R from MLP plus the two components from:

- 1. Natural disturbances;
- 2. Anthropogenic activities (direct and indirect human effects).

The first component includes emissions from natural disturbances and subsequent net removals from regrowth. Emissions may include delayed emissions from dead organic matter that was added by the disturbance to the already existing dead organic matter pools.

The second component includes emissions and removals directly and indirectly associated with human activity calculated as the difference between MLP total emissions and removals minus those associated with natural disturbances.

In those cases where natural disturbance fluxes are large compared to the anthropogenic component of the MLP, the optional disaggregation of estimates of the emissions and removals associated with natural disturbances can identify the estimated trends of the emissions and removals on managed land associated with human activity, as demonstrated in recent NGHGI reports (e.g., Boxes 2.2I, 2.2J).

Transparency:

For those countries that choose to identify, quantify and report disaggregated natural disturbance emissions and subsequent removals, it is *good practice* to document disaggregated emissions and removals in the MLP, and the approaches, assumptions and methods used.

It is *good practice* to document the following:

- Consistency of the country approach with the generic definition of natural disturbances provided in Section 2.6.1.2, if any.
- The **types** of natural disturbances for which emissions and subsequent removals are identified, quantified and disaggregated within MLP reporting.
- How the **requirements** associated with the above definition of natural disturbances are met, including that the identified ND events are "non-anthropogenic events or non-anthropogenic circumstances", which can be demonstrated by providing information to show that the disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country".
- How the emissions and removals that are materially influenced by human actions are excluded from the natural disturbances component.

The demonstration that natural disturbances were "not materially influenced by, and beyond the control of, a country" is based on scientific reasoning or evidence and documentation on practicable efforts to prevent, manage or control the occurrences that led to the natural disturbances. Such evidence and practicable efforts may include but are not limited to:

- Studies showing the prevalent direct cause of fires in a given region, forest type and climate zone; information on weather conditions related to the disturbance events or to the cumulative affected areas;
- Application of preventative measures or modifying factors related to the occurrence or propagation of the disturbances that may reduce the likelihood and/or magnitude of the disturbances occurring;
- Efforts to manage or control the disturbances when they occur, to the extent possible.

It is *good practice* to document the **methods** used to identify, quantify and disaggregate the impact of ND on GHG emissions and removals, including information on:

- How the method is consistent with the expectation that the CO₂ emissions from areas affected by natural disturbance will be balanced by subsequent removals.
- The methods by which GHG fluxes are disaggregated from total MLP fluxes.
- For lands subject to ND, documentation on how subsequent land use and land-use change, if any, is identified and how GHG fluxes previously disaggregated as associated with natural disturbances are re-assigned to the anthropogenic component following land-use change.

Documentation on the manner in which emissions associated with human activities that occur after the natural disturbance event (such as salvage logging and site rehabilitation or other activities that do not cause a land-use to change), and subsequent removals, are estimated and disaggregated.

Land-use category	e.g	e.g. Forest land remaining forest land							
Years		Start year [†]			•••	Inventory yea			
Total Area under the MLP (kha)								
	Gains								
Carbon stock change	Losses								
	Net								
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions								
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total*								
Annual area of natural disturba	ances (kha) ²⁹								
Area subject to natural distu	urbances (kha) ³⁰								
	Gains								
Carbon stock change	Losses								
	Net								
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions								
Net E/R plus non-CO ₂	Total								
Remaining area of managed	land (kha)								
	Gains								
Carbon stock change	Losses								
	Net								
non-CO ₂ emissions	Emissions			1					
Net E/R plus non-CO2	Total #								

[†] This is the first year in the inventory time series, e.g. 1990.

* This is the total MLP estimate of net emissions and removals, i.e. the first order approximation of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

This is the optional disaggregated estimate of the anthropogenic emissions and removals

²⁹ The area of natural disturbance in the year it first occurs.

 $^{^{30}}$ The cumulative area which has been subject to natural disturbances up to and including the current inventory year, minus the area of natural disturbances on which past CO₂ emissions are considered to be balanced by subsequent removals since the occurrence of the natural disturbance. In the cumulative area totals, areas affected multiple times are included only once.

Annex 2A.1 Default Mineral Soil Reference C Stocks

Data presented in Table 2.3 were derived from Batjes (2011) and Batjes (2010) unless no values were available for particular combinations of IPCC Climate Zones and IPCC soil types. Where no values were available, values were taken from the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas or the 1996 IPCC Guidelines.

Reference C Stocks for the mineral soils C method were derived for IPCC climate zones (IPCC 2006 p. 3.39) and IPCC soil classes (IPCC 2006 pp. 3.40-3.41). Soil data are from the ISRIC-WISE database (10250 profiles) complimented with 1900 additional geo-referenced profiles from under represented temperate and boreal sites. Data from all soils were screened and where organic carbon contents were determined using the Walkley Black analysis, values were adjusted based on a conversion factor of 1.3 to estimate corresponding values that would have been obtained by dry combustion analysis. Profiles were collected between 1925 and 2010 with two-thirds of the pedons sampled between 1955 and 1995. Profiles were classified as "cultivated or disturbed" vs "(semi)natural". Only profiles flagged as being under native vegetation (classified as "(semi)natural") were included (a total of 5560 profiles equating to approximately 1.6 times that used in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines). The profiles also had a better geographical distribution across the globe compared to those use to derive reference carbon stock values within the 2006 IPCC Guidelines.

The following equation was used to compute SOC stocks:



Where:

- T_d = total amount of organic carbon over depth, d, (in kg m⁻²) ρ_i = bulk density of layer i (Mg m⁻³) P_i = the proportion of organic carbon in layer i (g C Kg⁻¹) D_i = thickness of the layer (m)
- S_i = volume of the fraction of fragments >2 mm

Gaps in bulk density and coarse fragment >2mm content data were filled using pedo(taxo)-transfer functions presented by Batjes *et al.* (2007) on the basis of soil type, soil textural class and soil depth. IPCC Tier 1 methods consider changes in 0-30 cm soil depth layer; however, best-estimates were also derived for 0-50 and 0-100 cm soil depth layers.

Annex 2A.2 Additional Information for the Estimation of Soil Carbon Stock Change from Biochar Amendments to Mineral Soils Using Tier 2 and 3 Methods

Thermochemical Conversion Technologies

For the purpose of this methodology, biochar is defined as a solid material generated by heating biomass to a temperature in excess of 350 °C under conditions of controlled and limited oxidant concentrations to prevent combustion. These processes can be classified as either pyrolysis (in which oxidants are excluded), or gasification (in which oxidant concentrations are low enough to generate syngas).

Torrefaction and hydrothermal carbonisation (also called liquefaction) are not included because they do not generate solid products that are significantly more persistent in soil than the original organic feedstock material (Libra *et al.* 2011; Kammann *et al.* 2012). Both of these processes typically utilise temperatures below 350°C, with torrefaction operating under dry feedstock conditions in ambient pressure, while hydrothermal carbonisation uses pressurised wet aqueous slurries. In contrast, pyrolysis operates at temperatures at 350°C and above (typically but not always below 700°C) under variable times, and gasification utilises temperatures between 500 and 1500°C and typically short times (Boateng *et al.* 2015), both in dry conditions. Dry conditions are defined here in terms of the feedstock moisture, whereby feedstocks can have moisture up to 20percent after pre-drying; in comparison, wet slurries typically have liquid water contents above 80percent.

Priming of native soil organic carbon by biochar amendments

Mineralisation of native soil organic carbon is on average reduced by 4 percent (95 percent CI = -8.1-0.8percent) after biochar additions to soil (Wang *et al.* 2015). Similar to laboratory trials (Kuzyakov *et al.* 2014), field trials also show reductions in mineralisation of native soil organic carbon close to a decade after biochar additions (Weng *et al.* 2017) as well as in biochar-rich soils after several millennia (Liang *et al.* 2010). Known mechanisms that would cause an increase in mineralisation involve co-metabolism (Whitman *et al.* 2015) that operates over the short term by supplying easily mineralisable organic matter as a source of energy to metabolise native organic matter (Zimmerman *et al.* 2011). Conservatively, we assume no effect of biochar on existing soil organic matter in the long term.

Nitrous oxide emissions from soil after biochar amendments

Meta-analyses have found that nitrous oxide emissions are on average reduced between 54 percent (Cayuela *et al.* 2014), 38 percent (Borchard *et al.* 2018), 32 percent (Liu *et al.* 2018) to 0 percent (Verhoeven *et al.* 2017) after addition of biochar to soil. Any reductions in nitrous oxide emissions due to biochar additions typically decline over several years after application (Fungo *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, assessments of nitrous oxide emissions several years after biochar additions are indicative of long-term emission reductions although at lower rates, since changes in biochar properties occur slowly over long periods of time (decades and centuries) compared to changes observed during the initial days to years (Nguyen *et al.* 2008).

High-N feedstocks generate biochar with some microbially available N (Wang *et al.* 2012) and can lead to short-term (days to weeks) increases in total nitrous oxide emissions if produced at lower temperatures (< 600 °C) (Cayuela *et al.* 2013). However, charring consistently reduces nitrous oxide emissions originating from the nitrogen in nitrogen-rich organic materials (Rose *et al.* 2016), as easily mineralisable amino-groups are converted to polyaromatic nitrogen-carbon structures (Knicker 2007).

Due to limiting evidence demonstrating the long-term persistence of soil nitrous oxide emission reductions, it is conservatively assumed that biochar does not reduce nitrous oxide emissions from soil in the Tier 1 method. However, any bioavailable N additions associated with biochar amendments should be included in the calculations of direct and indirect soil nitrous oxide emissions (Volume 4, Chapter 11) as part of organic N inputs. This approach will be conservative in terms of the influence of biochar on greenhouse gas emissions for the Tier 1 method.

Biochar Amendments to Organic Soils

No methods are provided in this guidance for estimating the impact of amending organic soils with biochar. Compilers may be able to develop a Tier 3 method for estimating the impact of biochar C amendments to organic soils, but it is important to recognise that the dynamics may be different, particularly with respect to priming. Few studies have investigated the impact of priming by biochar on organic soils. However, one study that has investigated priming of organic horizons in a forest soil found substantial losses of soil C over a ten-year period with charcoal additions (Wardle *et al.* 2008). Wardle *et al.* (2008) did not use isotopes and were therefore unable to attribute these losses unequivocally to the organic soil C or to the charcoal. Nor was their study able to determine the extent to which enhanced mass loss of organic soil carbon was due to mineralisation, or was due to vertical transport of the C into the soil column as dissolved or colloidal organic carbon (Lehmann & Sohi 2008). Nonetheless, the Wardle *et al.* (2008) study did indicate the possibility that priming of soil organic matter decomposition by biochar may lead to a net loss of soil C in organic soils.

References

REFERENCES NEWLY CITED IN THE 2019 REFINEMENT

Inventory Framework

- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- IPCC (2015) *Application of 2006 IPCC Guidelines to Other Areas*. Eds: Baasansuren, J., Tanabe, K. and Fukuda, Meeting Report of the IPCC Expert Meeting, Pub. IGES, Japan.

Biomass C (Allometric Models and Biomass Maps)

- Avitabile, V., Baccini, A., Friedl, M. A. & Schmullius, C. (2012) Capabilities and limitations of Landsat and land cover data for aboveground woody biomass estimation of Uganda. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 117: 366-380.
- Avitabile, V., Herold, M., Heuvelink, G. B., Lewis, S. L., Phillips, O. L., Asner, G. P., Armston, J., Ashton, P. S., Banin, L. & Bayol, N. (2016) An integrated pan-tropical biomass map using multiple reference datasets. *Global change biology* 22(4): 1406-1420.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S., Walker, W., Laporte, N., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J., Beck, P., Dubayah, R. & Friedl, M. (2012) Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature climate change* 2(3): 182.
- Baccini, A., Walker, W., Carvalho, L., Farina, M., Sulla-Menashe, D. & Houghton, R. (2017) Tropical forests are a net carbon source based on aboveground measurements of gain and loss. *Science* **358**(6360): 230-234.
- Baker, T. R., Phillips, O. L., Malhi, Y., Almeida, S., Arroyo, L., Di Fiore, A., Erwin, T., Higuchi, N., Killeen, T. J. & Laurance, S. G. (2004) Increasing biomass in Amazonian forest plots. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 353-365.
- Calders, K., Newnham, G., Burt, A., Murphy, S., Raumonen, P., Herold, M., Culvenor, D., Avitabile, V., Disney, M. & Armston, J. (2015) Nondestructive estimates of above-ground biomass using terrestrial laser scanning. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 198–208. In.
- Chambers, J. Q., dos Santos, J., Ribeiro, R. J. & Higuchi, N. (2001) Tree damage, allometric relationships, and above-ground net primary production in central Amazon forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 152(1-3): 73-84.
- Chave, J., Condit, R., Aguilar, S., Hernandez, A., Lao, S. & Perez, R. (2004) Error propagation and scaling for tropical forest biomass estimates. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 359(1443): 409-420.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M. S., Delitti, W. B., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P. M. & Goodman, R. C. (2014) Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global change biology* 20(10): 3177-3190.
- Chave, J. r., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M. A., Chambers, J., Eamus, D., Fölster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N. & Kira, T. (2005) Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia* 145(1): 87-99.
- Disney, M., Boni Vicari, M., Burt, A., Calders, K., Lewis, S., Raumonen, P. & Wilkes, P. (2018) Weighing trees with lasers: advances, challenges and opportunities. *Interface Focus* 8(2): 20170048.
- Fabrika, M. & Pretzsch, H. (2013) *Forest Ecosystem Analysis and Modelling*. TECHNICAL University in Zvolen, Zvolen, Slovakia: Faculty of Forestry, Department of Forest Management and Geodesy.
- Gonzalez de Tanago, J., Lau, A., Bartholomeus, H., Herold, M., Avitabile, V., Raumonen, P., Martius, C., Goodman, R. C., Disney, M. & Manuri, S. (2018) Estimation of above-ground biomass of large tropical trees with terrestrial LiDAR. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9(2): 223-234.
- Henry, M., Picard, N., Trotta, C., Manlay, R., Valentini, R., Bernoux, M. & Saint André, L. (2011) Estimating tree biomass of sub-Saharan African forests: a review of available allometric equations. *Silva Fennica* 45(3B): 477-569.
- Herold, M., Carter, S., Avitabile, V., Espejo, A. B., Jonckheere, I., Lucas, R., McrRoberts, R. E., Næsset, E., Nightingale, J., Petersen, R., Reiche, J., Romijn, E., Rosenqvist, A., Rozendaal, D. M. A., Seifert, F. M., Sanz,

M. J. & de Sy, V. (2019). The Role and Need for Space-Based Forest Biomass-Related Measurements in Environmental Management and Policy. In : Surveys in Geophysics, 22 p. 10.1007/s10712-019-09510-6

- Inoue, Y., Kiyono, Y., Asai, H., Ochiai, Y., Qi, J., Olioso, A., Shiraiwa, T., Horie, T., Saito, K. & Dounagsavanh, L. (2010) Assessing land-use and carbon stock in slash-and-burn ecosystems in tropical mountain of Laos based on time-series satellite images. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 12(4): 287-297.
- Jenkins, J. C., Chojnacky, D. C., Heath, L. S. & Birdsey, R. A. (2004) Comprehensive database of diameter-based biomass regressions for North American tree species. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-319. Newtown Square, PA: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 45 p.[1 CD-ROM]. 319.
- Jucker, T., Caspersen, J., Chave, J., Antin, C., Barbier, N., Bongers, F., Dalponte, M., van Ewijk, K. Y., Forrester, D. I. & Haeni, M. (2017) Allometric equations for integrating remote sensing imagery into forest monitoring programmes. *Global change biology* 23(1): 177-190.
- Ketterings, Q. M., Coe, R., van Noordwijk, M. & Palm, C. A. (2001) Reducing uncertainty in the use of allometric biomass equations for predicting above-ground tree biomass in mixed secondary forests. *Forest Ecology and management* 146(1-3): 199-209.
- Krisnawati, H., Adinugroho, W. C. & Imanuddin, R. (2012) Allometric models for estimating tree biomass at various forest ecosystem types in Indonesia. Bogor, Java, Indonesia: Research and Development Center for Conservation and Rehabilitation, Forestry Research and Development Agency.
- Kurz, W. & Apps, M. (2006) Developing Canada's national forest carbon monitoring, accounting and reporting system to meet the reporting requirements of the Kyoto Protocol. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 11(1): 33-43.
- Lang, M., Lilleleht, A., Neumann, M., Bronisz, K., Rolim, S. G., Seedre, M., Uri, V. & Kiviste, A. (2016) Estimation of above-ground biomass in forest stands from regression on their basal area and height. *Forestry Studies* 64(1): 70-92.
- Liaw, A. & Wiener, M. (2002) Classification and regression by randomForest. *R news* 2(3): 18-22.
- Lim, K., Treitz, P., Baldwin, K., Morrison, I. & Green, J. (2003) Lidar remote sensing of biophysical properties of tolerant northern hardwood forests. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing* 29(5): 658-678.
- Longo, M., Keller, M., dos-Santos, M. N., Leitold, V., Pinagé, E. R., Baccini, A., Saatchi, S., Nogueira, E. M., Batistella, M. & Morton, D. C. (2016) Aboveground biomass variability across intact and degraded forests in the Brazilian Amazon. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **30**(11): 1639-1660.
- López-Serrano, F., Garcia-Morote, A., Andres-Abellan, M., Tendero, A. & Del Cerro, A. (2005) Site and weather effects in allometries: a simple approach to climate change effect on pines. *Forest Ecology and Management* 215(1-3): 251-270.
- Luo, Y., Zhang, X., Wang, X. & Lu, F. (2014) Biomass and its allocation of Chinese forest ecosystems. *Ecology* 95(7): 2026-2026.
- Mascaro, J., Asner, G. P., Muller-Landau, H. C., van Breugel, M., Hall, J. & Dahlin, K. (2011) Controls over aboveground forest carbon density on Barro Colorado Island, Panama. *Biogeosciences* 8(6).
- Mensah, S., Veldtman, R., Du Toit, B., Glèlè Kakaï, R. & Seifert, T. (2016) Aboveground biomass and carbon in a South African mistbelt forest and the relationships with tree species diversity and forest structures. *Forests* **7**(4): 79.
- Mugasha, W. A., Mwakalukwa, E. E., Luoga, E., Malimbwi, R. E., Zahabu, E., Silayo, D. S., Sola, G., Crete, P., Henry, M. & Kashindye, A. (2016) Allometric models for estimating tree volume and aboveground biomass in lowland forests of Tanzania. *International Journal of Forestry Research* 2016.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Determination of mean tree height of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* **52**(2): 49-56.
- Naesset, E. (1997) Estimating timber volume of forest stands using airborne laser scanner data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **61**(2): 246-253.
- Nam, V. T., Van Kuijk, M. & Anten, N. P. (2016) Allometric equations for aboveground and belowground biomass estimations in an evergreen forest in Vietnam. *PloS one* **11**(6): e0156827.
- Ometto, J. P., Assis, M. L., Cantinho, R, Pereira, F., Gorgens, E., Satto, L., Siqueira, E., Tejada, G. (2018): Biomass map of Amazon with a 250m pixel size, link to GeoTIFF. *PANGAEA*, https://doi.pangaea.de/10.1594/PANGAEA.891345

- Paul, K. I., Roxburgh, S. H., Chave, J., England, J. R., Zerihun, A., Specht, A., Lewis, T., Bennett, L. T., Baker, T. G. & Adams, M. A. (2016) Testing the generality of above-ground biomass allometry across plant functional types at the continent scale. *Global change biology* 22(6): 2106-2124.
- Pérez-Cruzado, C., Fehrmann, L., Magdon, P., Cañellas, I., Sixto, H. & Kleinn, C. (2015) On the site-level suitability of biomass models. *Environmental Modelling & Software* 73: 14-26.
- Picard, N., Saint-André, L. & Henry, M. (2012) *Manual for building tree volume and biomass allometric equations: from field measurement to prediction*. Rome, Italy & Montpellier, France Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations & Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement.
- Rock, J. (2007) Suitability of published biomass equations for aspen in Central Europe—Results from a case study. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **31**(5): 299-307.
- Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T. A., Salas, W., Zutta, B. R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S. L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M. & Morel, A. (2011) Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108(24): 9899-9904.
- Santoro, M. & Cartus, O. (2018) Research Pathways of Forest Above-Ground Biomass Estimation Based on SAR Backscatter and Interferometric SAR Observations. *Remote Sensing* **10**(4): 608.
- Schepaschenko, D., Shvidenko, A., Usoltsev, V., Lakyda, P., Luo, Y., Vasylyshyn, R., Lakyda, I., Myklush, Y., See, L., McCallum, I., Fritz, S., Kraxner, F. & Obersteiner, M. (2017) A dataset of forest biomass structure for Eurasia. *Scientific Data* 4: 170070.
- Seiler, C., Hutjes, R. W. A., Kruijt, B., Quispe, J., Añez, S., Arora, V. K., Melton, J. R., Hickler, T. & Kabat, P. (2014) Modeling forest dynamics along climate gradients in Bolivia. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 119(5): 758-775.
- Tomppo, E., Gschwantner, T., Lawrence, M. & McRoberts, R. E. (2010) National Forest Inventories Pathways for Common Reporting. Springer, USA.
- Vidal, C., Alberdi, I., Hernandez, L. & J., R. (2016) National Forest Inventories Assessment of Wood Availability and Use. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Vieilledent, G., Vaudry, R., Andriamanohisoa, S. F. D., Rakotonarivo, O. S., Randrianasolo, H. Z., Razafindrabe, H. N., Rakotoarivony, C. B., Ebeling, J. & Rasamoelina, M. (2012) A universal approach to estimate biomass and carbon stock in tropical forests using generic allometric models. *Ecological Applications* 22(2): 572-583.
- Youkhana, A. H., Ogoshi, R. M., Kiniry, J. R., Meki, M. N., Nakahata, M. H. & Crow, S. E. (2017) Allometric Models for Predicting Aboveground Biomass and Carbon Stock of Tropical Perennial C4 Grasses in Hawaii. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8(650).
- Zianis, D., Muukkonen, P., Mäkipää, R. & Mencuccini, M. (2005) Biomass and Stem Volume Equations for Tree Species in Europe. *Silva Fennica Monographs* **4**: 63.

Dead Organic Matter C

- Chertov, O., Komarov, A., Shaw, C., Bykhovets, S., Frolov, P., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputin, I., Zubkova, E., & Shashkov, M. (2017). Romul_Hum-A model of soil organic matter formation coupling with soil biota activity. II. Parameterisation of the soil food web biota activity. Ecological Modelling 345: 125-139.
- Cook, G.D., Meyer, C.P., Muepu, M. & Liedloff, A.C. (2017). Dead organic matter and the dynamics of carbon and greenhouse gas emissions in frequently burnt savannas. International Journal of Wildland Fire **25**(12): 1252-1263.
- Filser, J., Faber, J.H., Tiunov, A.V., Brussaard, L., Frouz, J., De Deyn, G., Uvarov, A.V., Berg, M.P., Lavelle, P., Loreau, M., Wall, D.H., Querner, P., Eijsackers, H. & Jimenez J.J. (2016). Soil fauna: key to new carbon models. Soil 2: 565-582.
- García-Palacios P., Maestre F.T., Kattge J. & Wall, D.H. (2013). Climate and litter quality differently modulate the effects of soil fauna on litter decomposition across biomes. Ecology Letters **16**(8): 1045-1053.
- Harmon, M. E., Bond-Lamberty, B., Tang, J. & Vargas, R. (2011). Heterotrophic respiration in disturbed forests: A review with examples from North America. Journal Geophysical Research **116**.
- Harmon, M.E., Fasth, B., Woodall, C.W. & Sexton, J. (2013). Carbon concentration of standing and downed woody detritus: Effects of tree taxa, decay class, position, and tissue type. Forest Ecology and Management 291: 259-267.

- Harmon, M.E., Krankina, O.N. & Sexton, J. (2000). Decomposition vectors: a new approach to estimating woody detritus decomposition dynamics. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **30**(1): 76-84.
- Hattenschwiler S., Tiunov A.V. & Scheu, S. (2005). Biodiversity and litter decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review Ecology, Evolution, Systematics, **36**: 191–218.
- Hu, Z., Xu, C., McDowell, N.G., Johnson, D.J., Wang, M., Luo, Y., Zhou, X. & Huang, Z. (2017). Linking microbial community composition to C loss rates during wood decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 104: 108-116.
- Komarov, A., Chertov, O., Bykhovets, S., Shaw, C., Nadporozhskaya, M., Frolov, P., Shashkov, M., Shanin, V., Grabarnik, P., Priputina, I. & Zubkova, E. (2017). Romul_ Hum model of soil organic matter formation coupled with soil biota activity. I. Problem formulation, model description, and testing, Ecological Modelling 345: 113–124.
- Lavelle, P., Blanchart, E., Martin, A. & Martin, S. (1993). A hierarchical model for decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems: application to soils of the humid tropics. Biotropica **25**: 130–150.
- Rock J., Badek, F.-W. & Harmon M. E. (2008). Estimating decomposition rate constants for European tree species from the literature. European Journal of Forest Research **127**: 301-313.
- Russell, M.B., Woodall, C.W., D'Amato, A.W., Fraver S. & Bradford, J.B. (2014). Linking climate change and downed woody debris decomposition across forests of the eastern United States. Biogeosciences 11: 6417-6425.
- Smith, J. E. & Heath, L. S. (2002). A model of forest floor carbon mass for United States forest types. Newton Square, PA, USDA Forest Service.
- References for defaults in Table 2.2
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N. (2012). The national inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's pre-1990 planted forest using a LiDAR incomplete-transect approach. Forest Ecology and Management 280: 187–197.
- Beets, P.N., Brandon, A.M., Goulding, C.J., Kimberley, M.O., Paul, T.S.H. & Searles, N.B. (2011). The inventory of carbon stock in New Zealand's post-1989 planted forest. Forest Ecology and Management 262: 1119–1130.
- Canada's National Forest Inventory. 2018. https://nfi.nfis.org/en. Contact: Cindy Shaw (cindy.shaw@canada.ca)
- Domke, G.M., Perry, C.H., Walters, B.F., Woodall, C.W., Russell, M.B. & Smith, J.E. (2016). Estimating litter carbon stocks on forest land in the United States. Science of the Total Environment **557**: 469-478.
- FAO, 2014a: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Argentina. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az153s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014b: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Brazil. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az172e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014c: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Chile. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az185s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014d: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Ecuador. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az203s.pdf].
- FAO, 2014e: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report French Guiana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az215f.pdf].
- FAO, 2014f: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Guyana. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az232e.pdf].
- FAO, 2014g: Global forest resources assessment 2015: Country report Suriname. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. [http://www.fao.org/3/a-az343e.pdf].
- Holdaway, R.J., Easdale, T.A., Carswell, F.E., Richardson, S.J., Peltzer, D.A., Mason, N.W., Brandon, A.M. & Coomes, D.A. (2017). Nationally representative plot network reveals contrasting drivers of net biomass change in secondary and old-growth forests. Ecosystems 20(5): 944-959.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012a). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: site and profile information. http://bwc.lbl.gov/StaticReports/ISCN/SiteProfile_LATEST.xls.
- International Soil Carbon Network. (2012b). ISCN Generation 2 Database report: Per-layer data. http://bwc.lbl.gov/ StaticReports/ISCN/ISCNLayerData_LATEST.xlsx.

Japan's National Forest Inventory. 2018. Contact: Shigehiro Ishizuka (ishiz02@ffpri.affrc.go.jp)

- Shaw, C., Bhatti, J.S. & Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests (Vol. 403). Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre. [http://www.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/bookstore_pdfs/ 25626.pdf]
- Ugawa, S., Takahashi, M., Morisada, K., Tabeuchi, M., Kaneko, S. (2012). Carbon stocks of dead wood, litter, and soil in the forest sector of Japan: general description of the National Forest Soil Carbon Inventory. Bulletin of Forestry and Forest Research **11**(4): 207-221.

Soil C

- ABARES. (2016) Land Use of Australia 2010-11. A Derived map showing land use clasified in 17 broad groupings of ALUMC version 7 tertiary classes. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences
- Baldock, J., Sanderman, J., Macdonald, L., Massis, A., Hawke, B., Szarvas, S. & McGowan, J. (2013) Quantifying the allocation of soil organic carbon to biologically significant fractions. Soil Research **51**: 561-576.
- Batjes, N. (2010) A global framework of soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. In: p. 79. Wageningen, The Netherlands: ISRIC World Soil Information.
- Batjes, N. (2011) Soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation Revised estimates for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 142: 365-373.
- Batjes, N. H., Al-Adamat, R., Bhattacharyya, T., Bernoux, M., Cerri, C. E. P., Gicheru, P., Kamoni, P., Milne, E., Pal, D. K. & Rawajfih, Z. (2007) Preparation of consistent soil data sets for modelling purposes: Secondary SOTER data for four case study areas. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 122(1): 26-34.
- Boateng, A. A., Garcia-Perez, M., Mašek, O., Brown, R. & del Campo, B. (2015) Biochar production technology. In: Biochar for Environmental Management, pp. 95-120. Routledge.
- Borchard, N., Schirrmann, M., Cayuela, M.L., Kammann, C., Wrage-Mönnig, N., Estavillo, J.M., Fuertes-Mendizábal, T., Sigua, G., Spokas, K., Ippolito, J.A. & Novak, J. (2018) Biochar, soil and land-use interactions that reduce nitrate leaching and N₂O emissions: A meta-analysis. Science of The Total Environment 651: 2354-2364.
- Bruun, T. B., Mertz, O. & Elberling, B. (2006) Linking yields of upland rice in shifting cultivation to fallow length and soil properties. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **113**: 139-149.
- Caccetta, P., Furby, S., Wallace, J., Wu, X., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. (2012) Long-term monitoring of Autralian land cover change using landsat data: development, implementation and opertation. In: Global Forest Monitoring from Earth Observation, eds. F. Achard & M. Hansen, pp. 243-258. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Cayuela, M. L., Aguilera, E., Sanz-Coben, a. A., Adams, D. C., Abalos, D., Barton, L., Ryals, R., Silver, W. L., Alfaro, M. A., Pappa, V. A., Smith, P., Garnier, J., Billen, G., Bouwman, L., Bondeau, A. & Lassaletta, L. (2017) Direct nitrous oxide emissions in Mediterranean climate cropping systems: Emission factors based on a meta-analysis of available measurement data. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 238: 25-35.
- Cayuela, M. L., Jeffery, S. & van Zwieten, L. (2015) The molar H:Corg ratio of biochar is a key factor in mitigating N₂O emissions from soil. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **202**: 135-138.
- Cayuela, M. L., Sánchez-Monedero, M. A., Roig, A., Hanley, K., Enders, A. & Lehmann, J. (2013) Biochar and denitrification in soils: when, how much and why does biochar reduce N₂O emissions? Scientific Reports **3**: 1-7.
- Cayuela, M. L., van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Jeffery, S., Roig, A. & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2014) Biochar's role in mitigating soil nitrous oxide emissions: A review and meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 191: 5-16.
- Chappell, A. & Baldock, J. (2014) Modelling Australian Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics. In: p. 36. Melbourne, Australia: CSIRO.
- Coleman, K. & Jenkinson, D. S. (1996) RothC-26.3 A Model for the turnover of carbon in soil. In: Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models: Using Existing Long-Term Datasets, eds. D. S. Powlson, P. Smith & J. U. Smith, pp. 237-246. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Dalsgaard, L., Lange, H., Strand, L., Callesen, I., Borgen, S. K., Liski, J. & Astrup, R. (2016): Underestimation of boreal forest soil carbon stocks related to soil classification and drainage. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 46: 1413-1425

- de Gruijter, J., Brus, D., Bierkens, M. & Knotters, M. (2006) Sampling for Natural Resource Monitoring. Berlin: Springer.
- Díaz-Zorita, M., Barraco, M. & Alvarez, C. (1999) Efectos de doce años de labranzas en un Hapludol del noroeste de Buenos Aires, Argentina. Ciencia del Suelo 22: 11-18.
- Fungo, B., Lehmann, J., Kalbitz, K., Tenywa, M., Thiongo, M. & Neufeldt, H. (2017) Emissions intensity and carbon stocks of a tropical Ultisol after amendment with Tithonia green manure, urea and biochar. Field Crops Research 209: 179-188.
- Gaunt, J. L. & Lehmann, J. (2008) Energy balance and emissions associated with biochar sequestration and pyrolysis bioenergy production. Environmental Science & Technology **42**(11): 4152-4158.
- Goll, D. S., Winkler, A. J., Raddatz, T., Dong, N., Prentice, I. C., Ciais, P. & Brovkin, V. (2017) Carbon-nitrogen interactions in idealized simulations with JSBACH (version 3.10). Geoscientific Model Development 10(5): 2009-2030.
- Hammond, J., Shackley, S., Sohi, S. & Brownsort, P. (2011) Prospective life cycle carbon abatement for pyrolysis biochar systems in the UK. Energy Policy 39(5): 2646-2655.
- Hernandez, L., Jandl, R., Blujdea, V. N. B., Lehtonen, A., Kriiska, K., Alberdi, I., Adermann, V., Canellas, I., Marin, G., Moreno-Fernandez, D., Ostonen, I., Varik, M. & Didion, M. (2017) Towards complete and harmonized assessment of soil carbon stocks and balance in forests: The ability of the Yasso07 model across a wide gradient of climatic and forest conditions in Europe. Science of the Total Environment **599**: 1171-1180.
- Jeffery, S., Abalos, D., Spokas, K. A. & Verheijen, F. G. A. (2015) Biochar effects on crop yield. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2.
- Jeffery, S., Verheijen, F. G. A., van der Velde, M. & Bastos, A. C. (2011) A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 144(1): 175-187.
- Kammann, C., Ratering, S., Eckhard, C. & Müller, C. (2012) Biochar and Hydrochar Effects on Greenhouse Gas (Carbon Dioxide, Nitrous Oxide, and Methane) Fluxes from Soils. Journal of Environmental Quality 41(4): 1052-1066.
- Karhu, K., Gardenas, A. I., Heikkinen, J., Vanhala, P., Tuomi, M. & Liski, J. (2012) Impacts of organic amendments on carbon stocks of an agricultural soil - Comparison of model-simulations to measurements. Geoderma 189: 606-616.
- Kesteven, J. & Lansberg, J. (2004) Developing a national forest productivty model. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 23. Australian Greenhoude Office, Canberra, Australia. In.
- Knicker, H. (2007) How does fire affect the nature and stability of soil organic nitrogen and carbon? A review. Biogeochemistry **85**(1): 91-118.
- Lehmann, J., Abiven, S., Kleber, M., Pan, G., Singh, B. P., Sohi, S. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Persistence of biochar in soil. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation: 233-280.
- Lehmann, J. & Sohi, S. (2008) Comment on "Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus". Science 321(5894): 1295-1295.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievanen, R., Makipaa, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. Geoscientific Model Development 9(11): 4169-4183.
- Lenton, T. M. & Vaughan, N. E. (2009) The radiative forcing potential of different climate geoengineering options. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics **9**(15): 5539-5561.
- Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Sohi, S. P., Thies, J. E., O'Neill, B., Trujillo, L., Gaunt, J., Solomon, D., Grossman, J., Neves, E. G. & Luizão, F. J. (2010) Black carbon affects the cycling of non-black carbon in soil. Organic Geochemistry 41(2): 206-213.
- Libra, J. A., Ro, K. S., Kammann, C., Funke, A., Berge, N. D., Neubauer, Y., Titirici, M.-M., Fühner, C., Bens, O., Kern, J. & Emmerich, K.-H. (2011) Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass residuals: a comparative review of the chemistry, processes and applications of wet and dry pyrolysis. Biofuels 2(1): 71-106.Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Amonette, J.E., Lin, Z., Liu, G., Ambus, P. & Xie, Z. (2018) How does biochar influence soil N cycle? A meta-analysis. Plant and Soil 426(1-2): 211-225.

- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, E. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and estimation for investigating the dynamics of natural resources. Ecological Applications 8(2): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The National Resources Inventory: A long-term multi-resource monitoring programme. Environmental and Ecological Statistics **4**(3): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. Global Change Biology **16**(2): 810-822.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) An empirically based approach for estimating uncertainty associated with modelling carbon sequestration in soils. Ecological Modelling 205(3-4): 453-463.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M., Ojima, D. & Schimel, D. (1998) DAYCENT and its land surface submodel: description and testing. Global and Planetary Change 19(1–4): 35-48.
- Parton, W. J., Schimel, D. S., Cole, C. V. & Ojima, D. S. (1987) Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains Grasslands. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51: 1173-1179.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Makipaa, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievanen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model - Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. Forest Ecology and Management 286: 137-147.
- Richards, G. (2001) The FullCam carbon accounting model: development, calibration and implementation for the National Carbon Accounting System. National Carbon Accounting System Technical Report No. 28.
- Richards, G. & Evans, D. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM v1.0) for the Australian continent. Australian Forestry **67**: 277-283.
- Roberts, K. G., Gloy, B. A., Joseph, S., Scott, N. R. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Life Cycle Assessment of Biochar Systems: Estimating the Energetic, Economic, and Climate Change Potential. Environmental Science & Technology 44(2): 827-833.
- Rose, T. J., Keen, B., Morris, S. G., Quin, P., Rust, J., Kearney, L., Kimber, S. & Van Zwieten, L. (2016) Application of woody biochar and woody mulch to mitigate nitrous oxide emissions from a poultry litteramended soil in the subtropics. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 228: 1-8.
- Shackley, S., Carter, S., Knowles, T., Middelink, E., Haefele, S. & Haszeldine, S. (2012) Sustainable gasification– biochar systems? A case-study of rice-husk gasification in Cambodia, Part II: Field trial results, carbon abatement, economic assessment and conclusions. Energy Policy 41: 618-623.
- Shirato, Y., Hakamata, T. & Taniyama, I. (2004) Modified Rothamsted carbon model for andosols and its validation: Changing humus decomposition rate constant with pyrophosphate-extractable Al. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **50**(1): 149-158.
- Shirato, Y. & Taniyama, I. (2003) Testing the suitability of the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese non-volcanic upland soils. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **49**(6): 921-925.
- Shirato, Y. & Yokozawa, M. (2005) Applying the Rothamsted Carbon Model for long-term experiments on Japanese paddy soils and modifying it by simple mining of the decomposition rate. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 51(3): 405-415.
- Sparrevik, M., Field, J. L., Martinsen, V., Breedveld, G. D. & Cornelissen, G. (2013) Life Cycle Assessment to Evaluate the Environmental Impact of Biochar Implementation in Conservation Agriculture in Zambia. Environmental Science & Technology 47(3): 1206-1215.
- Spokas, K. A. (2010) Review of the stability of biochar in soils: predictability of O:C molar ratios. Carbon Management 1(2): 289-303.
- Tuomi, M., Laiho, R., Repo, A. & Liski, J. (2011) Wood decomposition model for boreal forests. Ecological Modelling 222(3): 709-718.
- Tupek, B., Ortiz, C. A., Hashimoto, S., Stendahl, J., Dahlgren, J., Karltun, E. & Lehtonen, A. (2016) Underestimation of boreal soil carbon stocks by mathematical soil carbon models linked to soil nutrient status. Biogeosciences 13(15): 4439-4459.
- Unkovich, M., Baldock, J. & Forbes, M. (2010) Variability in harvest index of grain crops and potential significance for carbon accounting: examples from Australian agriculture. Advances in Agronomy 105: 173-219.

- US-EPA. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. Report EPA 430-P-17-001. In: Washington, D.C.: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Verhoeven, E., Pereira, E., Decock, C., Suddick, E., Angst, T. & Six, J. (2017) Toward a Better Assessment of Biochar–Nitrous Oxide Mitigation Potential at the Field Scale. Journal of Environmental Quality 46(2): 237-246.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A. & Hicks, W. S. (2015) Soil organic carbon and its fractions estimated by visible-near infrared transfer functions. European Journal of Soil Science **66**(3): 438-450.
- Viscarra Rossel, R. A., Webster, R., Bui, E. N. & Baldock, J. A. (2014) Baseline map of organic carbon in Australian soil to support national carbon accounting and monitoring under climate change. Global Change Biology **20**(9): 2953-2970.
- Wang, J., Xiong, Z. & Kuzyakov, Y. (2016) Biochar stability in soil: meta-analysis of decomposition and priming effects. GCB Bioenergy 8(3): 512-523.
- Wang, T., Camps Arbestain, M., Hedley, M. & Bishop, P. (2012) Chemical and bioassay characterisation of nitrogen availability in biochar produced from dairy manure and biosolids. Organic Geochemistry 51: 45-54.
- Wardle, D. A., Nilsson, M.-C. & Zackrisson, O. (2008) Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus. Science 320(5876): 629-629.
- Weng, Z., Van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Tavakkoli, E., Joseph, S., Macdonald, L. M., Rose, T. J., Rose, M. T., Kimber, S. W. L., Morris, S., Cozzolino, D., Araujo, J. R., Archanjo, B. S. & Cowie, A. (2017) Biochar built soil carbon over a decade by stabilizing rhizodeposits. Nature Climate Change 7(5): 371-376.
- Whitman, T., Nicholson, C. F., Torres, D. & Lehmann, J. (2011) Climate Change Impact of Biochar Cook Stoves in Western Kenyan Farm Households: System Dynamics Model Analysis. Environmental Science & Technology 45(8): 3687-3694.
- Whitman, T., Scholz, S. M. & Lehmann, J. (2010) Biochar projects for mitigating climate change: an investigation of critical methodology issues for carbon accounting. Carbon Management **1**(1): 89-107.
- Whitman, T., Singh, B. P., Zimmerman, A. R., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2015) Priming effects in biocharamended soils: implications of biochar-soil organic matter interactions for carbon storage. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science, Technology and Implementation 2: 455-488.
- Woolf, D., Amonette, J. E., Street-Perrott, F. A., Lehmann, J. & Joseph, S. (2010) Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change. Nature Communications 1: 56.
- Woolf, D. & Lehmann, J. (2012) Modelling the long-term response to positive and negative priming of soil organic carbon by black carbon. Biogeochemistry 111(1): 83-95.
- Yagasaki, Y. & Shirato, Y. (2014) Assessment on the rates and potentials of soil organic carbon sequestration in agricultural lands in Japan using a process-based model and spatially explicit land-use change inventories -Part 2: Future potentials. Biogeosciences 11(16): 4443-4457.
- Zimmerman, A. R. (2010) Abiotic and Microbial Oxidation of Laboratory-Produced Black Carbon (Biochar). Environmental Science & Technology **44**(4): 1295-1301.

Generic Guidance for Tier 3 Methods

- Baldock, J. A., Hawke, B., Sanderman, J. & Macdonald, L. M. (2013) Predicting contents of carbon and its component fractions in Australian soils from diffuse reflectance mid-infrared spectra. *Soil Research* (51): 577-595.
- Bona, K. A., Fyles, J. W., Shaw, C., Kurz & W.A. (2013) Are mosses required to accurately predict upland black spruce forest soil carbon in national-scale forest C accounting models? *Ecosystems* **16**: 1071–1086.
- Bona, K. A. & Shaw, C. H. F., J.W Kurz, W.A. (2016) Modelling moss-derived carbon in upland black spruce forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 46: 520-534.
- Brack, C., Richards, G. & Waterworth, R. M. (2006) Integrated and comprehensive estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from land systems. *Sustainability Science* **1**(1): 91-106.
- Conant, R. T., Smith, G. R. & Paustian, K. (2003) Spatial variability of soil carbon in forested and cultivated sites: Implications for change detection. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (32): 278-286.
- Ellert, B. H., Janzen, H. H. & Entz, T. (2002) Assessment of a method to measure temporal change in soil carbon storage. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* (66): 1687-1695.

- EPA., U. S. (2017) Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2015. In: ed. E. P. Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Falloon, P. & Smith, P. (2003) Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* **19**: 265-269.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M. C., Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J. & Philipson, C. D. (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. *Nature Communications* 4: 1340.
- GFOI. (2016) Integration of remote-sensing and ground-based observations for estimation of emissions and removals of greenhouse gases in forests: Methods and Guidance from the Global Forest Observations Initiative. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- Gillis, M. D., Omule, A. Y. & Brierley, T. (2005) Monitoring Canada's forests: The National Forest Inventory. *Forestry Chronicle* 81: 214-221.
- Grosso, D., S., Ogle, S. M., Parton, W. J. & Breidt, F. J. (2010) Estimating uncertainty in N₂O emissions from US cropland soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* (24): GB1009.
- Grüneberg, E., Ziche, D. & Wellbrock, N. (2014) Organic carbon stocks and sequestration rates of forest soils in Germany. *Global Change Biology* 20(2644-2662).
- Hararuk, O., Shaw, C. & Kurz, W. A. (2017) Constraining the organic matter decay parameters in the CBM-CFS3 using Canadian National Forest Inventory data and a Bayesian inversion technique. *Ecological Modelling* **364**: 1-12.
- Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sievänen, R., Mäkipää, R., Tamminen, P., Salemaa, M., Nieminen, T., Tupek, B., Heikkinen, J. & Komarov, A. (2016) Forest soil carbon stock estimates in a nationwide inventory: evaluating performance of the ROMULv and Yasso07 models in Finland. *Geoscientific Model Development* 9: 4169–4183.
- Luo, Y., Keenan, T. F. & Smith, M. (2015) Predictability of the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology* 21: 1737-1751.
- Metsaranta, J. M., Shaw, C. H., Kurz, W. A., Boisvenue, C. & Morken, S. (2017) Uncertainty of inventory-based estimates of the carbon dynamics of Canada's managed forest (1990–2014). *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 47: 1082-1094.
- Nusser, S. M., Breidt, F. J. & Fuller, W. A. (1998) Design and Estimation for Investigating the Dynamics of Natural Resources. *Ecological Applications* (8): 234-245.
- Nusser, S. M. & Goebel, J. J. (1997) The national resources inventory: a long term monitoring programme. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* (4): 181-204.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S., Killian, K. & Paustian, K. (2010) Scale and uncertainty in modeled soil organic carbon stock changes for US croplands using a process-based model. *Global Change Biology* (16): 810-820.
- Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F. J., Easter, M., Williams, S. & Paustian, K. (2007) Empirically-Based Uncertainty Associated with Modeling Carbon Sequestration Rates in Soils. *Ecological Modeling* (205): 453-463.
- Ortiz, C., Lundblad, M., Liski, J., Stendahl, J., Karltun, E., Lehtonen, A. & Gärdenäs, A., eds. (2009) *Measurements and models – a comparison of quantification methods for SOC changes in forest soils*. Norrköping, Sweden: Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute.
- Panichelli, L. & Gnansounou, E. (2015) Impact of agricultural-based biofuel production on greenhouse gas emissions from land-use change: Key modelling choices. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 42: 344-360.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M. D., Ojima, D. S. & Schimel, D. S. (1998) DAYCENT: Its Land Surface Submodel: Description and Testing. *Global and Planetary Change* (19): 35-48.
- Prisley, S. P. & Mortimer, M. J. (2004) A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* (198): 89-103.
- Rantakari, M., Lehtonen, A., Linkosalo, T., Tuomi, M., Tamminen, P., Heikkinen, J., Liski, J., Mäkipää, R., Ilvesniemi, H. & Sievänen, R. (2012) The Yasso07 soil carbon model – Testing against repeated soil carbon inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 286: 137-147.
- Särndal, C.E., Swensson, B. & Wretman. J. (1992) Model Assisted Survey Sampling. Springer, New York.

- Service, C. F., ed. (2008) Canada's National Forest Inventory Ground Sampling Guidelines: Specifications for Ongoing Measurement.
- Service, U. F., ed. (2006) Forest Inventory and Analysis National Core Field Guide, Volume I: Field Data Collection Procedures for Phase 2 Plots Version 3.1. Northern Research Station Forest Service.: US Department of Agriculture.
- Shaw, C. H., Hilger, A. B., Metsaranta, J., Kurz, W. A., Russo, G., Eichel, F., Stinson, G., Smyth, C. & Filiatrault, M. (2014) Evaluation of simulated estimates of forest ecosystem carbon stocks using ground plot data from Canada's National Forest Inventory. *Ecological Modelling* 272: 323-347.
- Sobol, I. M. (2001) Global sensitivity indices for nonlinear mathematical models and their monte carlo estimates. *Mathematical Modelling and Computation Experiment* **55**: 271-280.
- Spencer, S., Ogle, S. M., Breidt, F., Goebel, J. & Paustian, K. (2011) Designing a national soil carbon monitoring network to support climate change policy: a case example for US agricultural lands. . Greenhouse Gas Management & Measurement (1): 167-178.
- Stinson, G., Magnussen, S., Boudewyn, P., Eichel, F., Russo, G., Cranny, M. & Song, A. (2016) Canada. In: *National Forest Inventories*, eds. V. C, A. I, H. M. L & R. J: Springer, Cham.
- Vidal, C. & Alberdi, I., Hernández, L., Redmond, J.J., eds. (2016) *National Forest Inventories*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.

Inter-annual variability

- Aragão, L. E. O. C., Anderson, L. O., Fonseca, M. G., Rosan, T. M., Vedovato, L. B., Wagner, F. H., Silva, C. V. J., Silva Junior, C. H. L., Arai, E., Aguiar, A. P., Barlow, J., Berenguer, E., Deeter, M. N., Domingues, L. G., Gatti, L., Gloor, M., Malhi, Y., Marengo, J. A., Miller, J. B., Phillips, O. L. & Saatchi, S. (2018) 21st Century drought-related fires counteract the decline of Amazon deforestation carbon emissions. *Nature Communications* 9(1): 536.
- Brando, P. M., Balch, J. K., Nepstad, D. C., Morton, D. C., Putz, F. E., Coe, M. T., Silvério, D., Macedo, M. N., Davidson, E. A., Nóbrega, C. C., Alencar, A. & Soares-Filho, B. S. (2014) Abrupt increases in Amazonian tree mortality due to drought–fire interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **111**(17): 6347-6352.
- Canadell, J. G., Le Quere, C., Raupach, M. R., Field, C. B., Buitenhuis, E. T., Ciais, P., Conway, T. J., Gillett, N. P., Houghton, R. A. & Marland, G. (2007) Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(47): 18866-18870.
- Ciais, P., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Ogee, J., Allard, V., Aubinet, M., Buchmann, N., Bernhofer, C., Carrara, A., Chevallier, F., De Noblet, N., Friend, A. D., Friedlingstein, P., Grunwald, T., Heinesch, B., Keronen, P., Knohl, A., Krinner, G., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Matteucci, G., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J. M., Papale, D., Pilegaard, K., Rambal, S., Seufert, G., Soussana, J. F., Sanz, M. J., Schulze, E. D., Vesala, T. & Valentini, R. (2005) Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. *Nature* 437(7058): 529-533.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2018) National Inventory Report 2016. 2.0: 348 pages.
- de Miranda, S. d. C., Bustamante, M., Palace, M., Hagen, S., Keller, M. & Ferreira, L. G. (2014) Regional Variations in Biomass Distribution in Brazilian Savanna Woodland. *Biotropica* **46**(2): 125-138.
- E., Koven, C. D., Lee, D., Nabel, J. E. M. S., Nassikas, A. A., Perugini, L., Rossi, S., Sitch, S., Viovy, N., Wiltshire, A. & Zaehle, S. (2018) Reconciling global-model estimates and country reporting of anthropogenic forest CO₂ sinks. *Nature Climate Change* 8(10): 914-920.
- Genet, H., He, Y., Lyu, Z., McGuire, A. D., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J., D'Amore, D., Bennett, A., Breen, A., Biles, F., Euskirchen, E. S., Johnson, K., Kurkowski, T., Schroder, S., Pastick, N., Rupp, T. S., Wylie, B., Zhang, Y., Zhou, X. & Zhu, Z. (2018) The role of driving factors in historical and projected carbon dynamics of upland ecosystems in Alaska. *Ecological Applications* 28(1): 5-27.
- Grassi, G., House, J., Kurz, W. A., Cescatti, A., Houghton, R. A., Peters, G. P., Sanz, M. J., Viñas, R. A., Alkama, R., Arneth, A., Bondeau, A., Dentener, F., Fader, M., Federici, S., Friedlingstein, P., Jain, A. K., Kato,
- Hember, R. A., Coops, N. C. & Kurz, W. A. (2018) Statistical performance and behaviour of environmentallysensitive composite models of lodgepole pine growth. *Forest Ecology and Management* **408**: 157-173.

- Henttonen, H. M., Nöjd, P. & Mäkinen, H. (2017) Environment-induced growth changes in the Finnish forests during 1971–2010 – An analysis based on National Forest Inventory. *Forest Ecology and Management* 386(Supplement C): 22-36.
- Hicke, J. A., Allen, C. D., Desai, A. R., Dietze, M. C., Hall, R. J., Hogg, E. H., Kashian, D. M., Moore, D., Raffa, K. F., Sturrock, R. N. & Vogelmann, J. (2012) Effects of biotic disturbances on forest carbon cycling in the United States and Canada. *Global Change Biology* 18(1): 7-34.
- IPCC. (2006) In: *IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programm*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara & K. Tanabe, IGES, Japan.
- IPCC. (2010) In: Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals. Meeting Report 5-7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & J. Baasansuren, IGES, Japan
- IPCC. (2014) In: 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, eds. T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda & T. G. Troxler, IPCC, Switzerland.
- Kurz, W. A. (2010) Large inter-annual variations in carbon emissions and removals, Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava, K. Tanabe & B. J., pp. 41-48. Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Kurz, W. A., Dymond, C. C., Stinson, G., Rampley, G. J., Neilson, E. T., Carroll, A. L., Ebata, T. & Safranyik, L. (2008) Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. *Nature* 452(7190): 987-990.
- Kurz, W. A., Hayne, S., Fellows, M., MacDonald, J. D., Metsaranta, J. M., Hafer, M. & Blain, D. (2018) Quantifying the impacts of human activities on reported greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Canada's managed forest: conceptual framework and implementation. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 48(10): 1227-1240.
- Lehmann, C. E. R., Anderson, T. M., Sankaran, M., Higgins, S. I., Archibald, S., Hoffmann, W. A., Hanan, N. P., Williams, R. J., Fensham, R. J., Felfili, J., Hutley, L. B., Ratnam, J., San Jose, J., Montes, R., Franklin, D., Russell-Smith, J., Ryan, C. M., Durigan, G., Hiernaux, P., Haidar, R., Bowman, D. M. J. S. & Bond, W. J. (2014) Savanna Vegetation-Fire-Climate Relationships Differ Among Continents. *Science* 343(6170): 548-552.
- Lindner, M., Maroschek, M., Netherer, S., Kremer, A., Barbati, A., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Seidl, R., Delzon, S., Corona, P., Kolström, M., Lexer, M. J. & Marchetti, M. (2010) Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 698-709.
- Liski, J., Lehtonen, A., Palosuo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Eggers, T., Muukkonen, P. & Mäkipää, R. (2006) Carbon accumulation in Finland's forests 1922–2004 an estimate obtained by combination of forest inventory data with modelling of biomass, litter and soil. *Ann. For. Sci.* **63**(7): 687-697.
- Miller, J. D., Skinner, C. N., Safford, H. D., Knapp, E. E. & Ramirez, C. M. (2012) Trends and causes of severity, size, and number of fires in northwestern California, USA. *Ecological Applications* **22**(1): 184-203.
- Morton, D. C., Le Page, Y., DeFries, R., Collatz, G. J. & Hurtt, G. C. (2013) Understorey fire frequency and the fate of burned forests in southern Amazonia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **368**(1619).
- Page, S. E. & Hooijer, A. (2016) In the line of fire: the peatlands of Southeast Asia. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **371**(1696): 20150176.
- Pilli, R., Grassi, G., Kurz, W. A., Viñas, R. A. & Guerrero, N. H. (2016) Modelling forest carbon stock changes as affected by harvest and natural disturbances. I. Comparison with countries' estimates for forest management. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(5).
- Portuguese Environmental Agency. (2018) Portuguese National Inventory Report on Greenhouse Gases, 1990 2016.: 750 pages.
- Richards, G. P. & Evans, D. M. W. (2004) Development of a carbon accounting model (FullCAM Vers. 1.0) for the Australian continent. *Australian Forestry* **67**(4): 277-283.
- Röhling, S., Dunger, K., Kändler, G., Klatt, S., Riedel, T., Stümer, W. & Brötz, J. (2016) Comparison of calculation methods for estimating annual carbon stock change in German forests under forest management in the German greenhouse gas inventory. *Carbon Balance and Management* 11(1): 12.

- Roxburgh, S., Volkova, L., Surawski, N., Meyer, M. & Weston, C. (2015) Review of fuel loads, burn efficiencies, emissions factors, and recovery functions used to estimate greenhouse gas emissions and removals associated with wildfire on temperate forested lands. Report prepared for the Department of the Environment. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). Canberra. In.
- Schimel, D., Stephens, B. B. & Fisher, J. B. (2015) Effect of increasing CO₂ on the terrestrial carbon cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **112**(2): 436-441.
- Smith, P. (2010) Fingerprinting as a technique for attributing direct and indirect human induced effects (including changes in C stocks in crop & grasslands caused by climate change). Invited background paper. In: *IPCC 2010, Revisiting the Use of Managed Land as a Proxy for Estimating National Anthropogenic Emissions and Removals*, eds. H. S. Eggleston, N. Srivastava & K. Tanabe, Meeting Report, 5 -7 May, 2009, INPE, São José dos Campos, Brazil: IGES, Japan.
- Stinson, G., Kurz, W. A., Smyth, C. E., Neilson, E. T., Dymond, C. C., Metsaranta, J. M., Boisvenue, C., Rampley, G. J., Li, Q., White, T. M. & Blain, D. (2011) An inventory-based analysis of Canada's managed forest carbon dynamics, 1990 to 2008. *Global Change Biology* 17(6): 2227-2244.
- Vetter, M., Churkina, G., Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Zaehle, S., Bondeau, A., Chen, Y., Ciais, P., Feser, F., Freibauer, A., Geyer, R., Jones, C., Papale, D., Tenhunen, J., Tomelleri, E., Trusilova, K., Viovy, N. & Heimann, M. (2008) Analyzing the causes and spatial pattern of the European 2003 carbon flux anomaly using seven models. *Biogeosciences* 5(2): 561-583.
- Waterworth, R., Richards, G., Brack, C. & Evans, D. M. W. (2007) A generalised hybrid process-empirical model for predicting plantation forest growth . *Forest Ecology and Management* **238**(1-3): 231-243.
- Westerling, A. L. (2016) Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371**(1696): 20150178.
- Yamashita, A., Sano, J. & Yamamoto, S.-I. (2002) Impact of a strong typhoon on the structure and dynamics of an old-growth beech (Fagus crenata) forest, southwestern Japan. *Folia Geobotanica* **37**: 5-16.

REFERENCES COPIED FROM THE 2006 IPCC GUIDELINES

- Andrea, M.O. and Merlet, P. (2001). Emission of trace gases and aerosols from biomass burning. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15:955-966.
- Armentano, T.V. and Menges, E.S. (1986). Patterns of change in the carbon balance of organic soil-wetlands of the temperate zone. *Journal of Ecology* 74: 755-774.
- Baldocchi, D., Falge, E., Gu, L.H., Olson, R., Hollinger, D., Running, S., Anthoni, P., Bernhofer, C., Davis, K., Evans, R., Fuentes, J., Goldstein, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Lee, X.H., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Munger, W., Oechel, W., Pilegaard, K., Schmid, H.P., Valentini, R., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K. and Wofsy, S. (2001). FLUXNET: A new tool to study the temporal and spatial variability of ecosystem-scale carbon dioxide, water vapor, and energy flux densities. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 82: pp. 2415-2434.
- Bernoux, M., Carvalho, M.D.S., Volkoff, B. and Cerri, C.C. (2002). Brazil's soil carbon stocks. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:888-896.
- Bhatti, J.S., Apps, M.J. and Jiang, H. (2001). Examining the carbon stocks of boreal forest ecosystems at stand and regional scales. In: Lal R. *et al.* (eds.) Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton FL, pp. 513-532.
- Brady, N.C. and Weil, R.R. (1999). The Nature and Properties of Soils. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 881 pp.
- Clymo, R.S. (1984). The limits to peat bog growth. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 303:605-654.
- Conant, R.T., Paustian, K. and Elliott, E.T. (2001). Grassland management and conversion into grassland: Effects on soil carbon. *Ecological Application* **11**:343-355.
- Coomes, D.A., Allen, R.B., Scott, N.A., Goulding, C. and Beets, P. (2002). Designing systems to monitor carbon stocks in forests and shrublands. *Forest Ecology and Management* **164**, pp. 89 108.
- Davidson, E. A. and Ackerman, I.L. (1993). Changes in soil carbon inventories following cultivation of previously untilled soils. *Biogeochemistry* 20:161–164.
- Ellert, B.H., Janzen, H.H. and McConkey, B.G. (2001). Measuring and comparing soil carbon storage. In: R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett and B.A. Stewart (eds.). Soil Management for Enhancing Carbon Sequestration. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.: pp. 593-610.

- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2002). Simulating SOC changes in long-term experiments with the RothC and Century; model evaluation for a regional application. *Soil Use and Management* **18**:101-111.
- Falloon, P. and Smith, P. (2003). Accounting for changes in soil carbon under the Kyoto Protocol: need for improved long-term data sets to reduce uncertainty in model projections. *Soil Use and Management* 19:265-269.
- Forbes, M.S., Raison, R.J. and Skjemstad, J.O. (2006). Formation, transformation and transport of black carbon (charcoal) in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. *Journal of the Science of the Total Environment* (in press).
- Gifford, R.M. and Roderick, M.L. (2003). Soil carbon stocks and bulk density: spatial and cumulative mass coordinates as a basis for expression? *Global Change Biology* **9**:1507-1513.
- Gorham, E. (1991). Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probably responses to climatic warming. *Ecological Applications* **1**:182-195.
- Harmon, M.E. and Hua, C. (1991). Coarse woody debris dynamics in two old-growth ecosystems. *BioScience* **41**: 604-610.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D., Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack, J.R. and Cummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. *Advances in Ecological Research* 15: 133–302.
- IPCC (1997). Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Inventories. Houghton J.T., Meira Filho L.G., Lim B., Tréanton K., Mamaty I., Bonduki Y., Griggs D.J. Callander B.A. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA, Paris, France.
- IPCC (2000). Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Penman J., Kruger D., Galbally I., Hiraishi T., Nyenzi B., Emmanuel S., Buendia L., Hoppaus R., Martinsen T., Meijer J., Miwa K., Tanabe K. (Eds). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/OECD/IEA/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2000). Watson R., Noble I.R., Bolin B., Ravindranath, N.H., Verardo D.J. and Dokken D.J. (Eds). Land use, Land-use Change, and Forestry: A Special Report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK.
- IPCC (2003). Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry. Penman J., Gytarsky M., Hiraishi T., Krug, T., Kruger D., Pipatti R., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T., Tanabe K., Wagner F. (Eds).Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), IPCC/IGES, Hayama, Japan.
- Karjalainen, L. and Kuuluvainen, T. (2002). Amount and diversity of coarse woody debris within a boreal forest landscape dominated by *Pinus sylvestris* in Vienansalo wilderness, eastern Fennoscandia. *Silva Fennica* 36(1): 147–167.
- Kasimir-Klemedtsson, A, Klemedtsson, L., Berglund, K., Martikainen, P., Silvola, J. and Oenema, O. (1997). Greenhouse gas emissions from farmed organic soils: a review. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:245-250.
- Krankina, O.N., Harmon, M.E., Kukuev, Y.A., Treyfeld, R.E., Kashpor, N.N., Kresnov, V.G., Skudin, V.M., Protasov, N.A., Yatskov, M., Spycher, G. and Povarov, E.D. (2002). Coarse woody debris in forest regions of Russia, *Can.J. For. Res.* 32: 768-778.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Webb, T.M. and McNamee, P.J. (1992). The carbon budget of the Canadian forest sector: phase I. Forestry Canada, Northwest Region. Information Report NOR-X-326, 93 pp.
- Lettens, S., van Orshoven, J., van Wesemael, B. and Muys, B. (2004). Soil organic and inorganic carbon contents of landscape units in Belgium derived using data from 1950 to 1970. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 40-47.
- Mann, L.K. (1986). Changes in soil carbon storage after cultivation. Soil Science 142:279-288.
- Martikainen, P.J., Nykanen, H., Alm, J. and Silvola, J. (1995). Change in fluxes of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide due to forest drainage of mire sites of different trophy. *Plant & Soil* **169**: 571-577.
- McGill, W. B. (1996). Review and classification of ten soil organic matter models. In: Powlson D.S., Smith P., and Smith J.U. (eds.). Evaluation of Soil Organic Matter Models Using Existing Long-Term Datasets. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg: pp. 111-132.
- Nykänen, H., Alm, J., Lang, K., Silvola, J. and Martikainen, P.J. (1995). Emissions of CH₄, N₂O, and CO₂ from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. *Journal of Biogeography* **22**:351-357.
- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J., Eve, M.D. and Paustian, K. (2003). Uncertainty in estimating land-use and management impacts on soil organic carbon storage for U.S. agricultural lands between 1982 and 1997. *Global Change Biology* **9**:1521-1542.

- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J. and Paustian, K (2005). Agricultural management impacts on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. *Biogeochemistry* **72**:87-121.
- Ogle, S.M., Conant, R.T. and Paustian, K. (2004). Deriving grassland management factors for a carbon accounting approach developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Environmental Management* **33**:474-484.
- Paustian, K, Andren, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., van Noordwijk, M. and Woomer, P.L. (1997). Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO₂ emissions. *Soil Use and Management* **13**:230-244.
- Preston, C.M. and Schmidt, M.W.I. (2006). Black (pyrogenic) carbon in the boreal forests: a synthesis of current knowledge and uncertainties. *Biogeosciences Discussions* **3**,211-271.
- Prisley, S.P. and Mortimer, M.J. (2004). A synthesis of literature on evaluation of models for policy applications, with implications for forest carbon accounting. *Forest Ecology and Management* **198**:89-103.
- Shaw, C.H., Bhatti, J.S. and Sabourin, K.J. (2005). An ecosystem carbon database for Canadian forests. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta, Information Report NOR-X-403.
- Siltanen *et al.* (1997). A soil profile and organic carbon data base for Canadian forest and tundra mineral soils. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Sleutel, S, de Neve, S., Hofman, G., Boeckx, P., Beheydt, D., van Cleemput, O., Mestdagh, I., Lootens, P., Carlier, L., van Camp, N., Verbeeck, H., Vand Walle, I., Sampson, R., Lust, N. and Lemeur, R. (2003). Carbon stock changes and carbon sequestration potential of Flemish cropland soils. *Global Change Biology* 9:1193-1203.
- Smith, J. E. and Heath, L.S. (2001). Identifying influences on model uncertainty: an application using a forest carbon budget model. *Environmental Management* 27:253-267.
- Smith, P. (2004a). Monitoring and verification of soil carbon changes under Article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol. *Soil Use and Management* **20**: 264-270.
- Smith, P. (2004b). How long before a change in soil organic carbon can be detected? *Global Change Biology* **10**: 1878-1883.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U. and Elliott, E.T. (eds) (1997b). Evaluation and comparison of soil organic matter models. Special Issue, *Geoderma* 81:1-225.
- Smith, S.V., Renwick, W.H., Buddemeier, R.W. and Crossland, C.J. (2001). Budgets of soil erosion and deposition for sediments and sedimentary organic carbon across the conterminous United States. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 15:697-707.
- Smith, W.N., Desjardins, R.L. and Pattey, E. (2000). The net flux of carbon from agricultural soils in Canada 1970-2010. *Global Change Biology* **6**:557-568.
- Somogyi, Z., Cienciala, E., Mäkipää, R., Muukkonen, P., Lehtonen, A. and Weiss, P. (2006). Indirect methods of large-scale forest biomass estimation. *European Journal of Forest Research*.
- Tate, K.R., Wilde, R.H., Giltrap, D.J., Baisden, W.T., Saggar, S., Trustrum, N.A., Scott, N.A. and Barton, J.P. (2005). Soil organic carbon stocks and flows in New Zealand: measurement and modelling. *Canadian Journal* of Soil Science, in press.
- Thormann M.N., Szumigalski A.R. and Bayley S.E. (1999). Above-ground peat and carbon accumulation potentials along a bog-fen-marsh wetland gradient in southern boreal Alberta, Canada. *Wetlands* **19** (2): 305-317.
- Tremblay, S., Ouimet, R. and Houle, D. (2002). Prediction of organic carbon content in upland forest soils of Quebec, Canada. *Can. J. For. Res.* **32**: pp. 903-914.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., Gregorich, E.G., Angers, D.A., et al. (2004). Uncertainty analysis of soil organic carbon stock change in Canadian cropland from 1991 to 2001. Global Change Biology 10:983-994.
- Vogt, K.A., Vogt, D.J., Pamiotto, P.A., Boon, P., O'Hara, J. and Asbjornsen, H. (1996). Review of root dynamics in forest ecosystems grouped by climate, climatic forest type, and species. *Plant and Soil* 187: pp. 159-219.
- Yavitt, J. B., Fahey, T.J. and Simmons, J.A. (1997). Methane and carbon dioxide dynamics in a northern hardwood ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 59: 796-804.
CHAPTER 7

WETLANDS

Authors

Catherine Ellen Lovelock (Australia), Christopher Evans (UK), Nathan Barros (Brazil), Yves Prairie (Canada), Jukka Alm (Finland), , David Bastviken (Sweden), Jake J. Beaulieu (USA), Michelle Garneau (Canada), Atle Harby (Norway), John Harrison (USA), David Pare (Canada), Hanne Lerche Raadal (Norway), Bradford Sherman (Australia), Chengyi Zhang (China), Stephen Michael Ogle (USA)

Contributing Authors

Alistair Grinham (Australia), Bridget Deemer (USA), Marco Aurelio Santos (Brazil), Sarian Kosten (Netherlands), Michael Peacock (Sweden), Zhe Li (China), Victor Stepanenko (Russian Federation)

Contents

7	W	Wetlands				
	7.1 Introduction			7.6		
	7.2	Mana	ged Peatlands	7.6		
	7.3	Flood	ed Land	7.6		
	7.3	3.1	Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land	7.11		
7.3.2 Land Converted to Flooded Land				7.20		
7.3.3		3.3	Approach to provide indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CO ₂ ar non-CO ₂ emissions (optional)	1d 7.26		
	7.3	3.4	Uncertainty Assessment	7.28		
	7.4	Inland	l Wetland Mineral Soils	7.29		
	7.5	Comp	leteness, Times Series Consistency, and QA/QC	7.29		
Ar	nex 7A	A.1	Estimation of Default Emission Factor(s) for greenhouse gas emissions from Flooded Lands	7.30		
Re	References 7.45					

Equations

Annual total CH ₄ emissions for Reservoirs >20 years old (<i>Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land</i>)
Equation used to scale CH_4 emission factors for the influence of eutrophication using measured values of chlorophyll a (Modified from Deemer et al (2016)) 7.13
Annual CH_4 emission from Other Constructed Waterbodies
Annual on-site CO ₂ -c emissions/removals from land converted to flooded land 7.21
Annual CO ₂ -C emissions/removals from <i>Land Converted to Flooded Land</i> including soil carbon stocks
Annual CH ₄ emissions for Reservoirs ≤ 20 years old for Land Converted to Flooded Land
Indicative estimate of the anthropogenic component of total annual CH ₄ emissions in <i>Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land</i>
Indicative estimate of the anthropogenic component of total annual CO ₂ emissions in <i>land converted to flooded land</i>
Indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total annual CH ₄ emissions in <i>Land Converted to Flooded Land</i>
$CH_4 \ diffusive \ emission \ (Mg \ C \ m^{-2} \ d^{-1}) \ \ 7.33$
$CH_4 \ bubbling \ emission \ (Mg \ C \ m^{-2} \ d^{-1}) \ \ 7.33$
$CO_2 \ diffusive \ emission \ (Mg \ C \ m^{-2} \ d^{-1}) \ \ 7.34$
Emission Factors for Land converted to Flooded Land
Emission factors for Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land

Figures

Figure 7.2 (New)	Decision tree for types of <i>Flooded Land</i>
Figure 7.3 (New)	Decision tree for choice of Tier level to estimate emissions of CO ₂ and CH ₄ from waterbodies7.11
Figure 7A.1 (New)	Methane related transport within and from waterbodies, exemplified with a reservoir with an anoxic hypolimnion
Figure 7A.2 (New)	Location of the reservoirs in the GranD database and shadowgram of their latitudinal distribution7.35
Figure 7A.3 (New)	Box plots of model estimates (empty) and Field measurements (filled) of CH ₄ emissions (note logarithmic scale) in aggregated IPCC climate zones
Figure 7A.4 (New)	Comparison of measure CH ₄ emissions with estimates based on the Emission Factors (EFs, Tables 7.9 and 7.15) of Tier 1 methodology
Figure 7A.5 (New)	Measured downstream (DN) CH ₄ emissions compared to model estimates 7.40
Figure 7A.6 (New)	Relationship between CO_2 surge estimates from the newly flooded lands using the decay curve approach and the flooded soil organic carbon stock approach7.41

Tables

Table 7.7 (New)	Types of Flooded Land, their human uses and greenhouse gas emissions considered in this chapter
Table 7.8 (New)	Ramsar classes of human-made wetlands, IPCC terminology used and methodological guidance provided
Table 7.9 (New)	CH ₄ emission factors for reservoirs older than 20 years (> 20 years) – <i>Flooded Land</i> <i>Remaining Flooded Land</i>
Table 7.10 (New)	Ratio of total downstream flux of CH ₄ (kg CH ₄ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) to the flux of CH ₄ from a reservoir's surface to the atmosphere (kg CH ₄ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) – R_d
Table 7.11 (New)	Relationships between Trophic Index (TI), surface concentrations of chlorophyll-a (Chl- <i>a</i>), total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), Secchi depth (SD), and Trophic Class ¹ and Trophic State Adjustment Factor (α_i)
Table 7.12 (New)	CH ₄ emission factors for Other Constructed Waterbodies (freshwater ponds, saline ponds, canals, drainage channels and ditches)
Table 7.13 (New)	CO ₂ -C emission factors for reservoirs ≤ 20 years old – Land converted to Flooded Land
Table 7.14 (New)	Scaling factor value <i>M</i> [y ⁻¹] for equation 7.14, Annual on-site CO ₂ -C emissions/removals from <i>Land Converted to Flooded Land</i> 7.24
Table 7.15 (New)	CH ₄ emission factors for reservoirs ≤ 20 years old – Land converted to Flooded Land
Table 7A.1 (New)	Number of reservoirs in the Grand database in each IPCC climate zone
Table 7A.2 (New)	Aggregated climate zones based on differences in CH ₄ emissions between categories 7.37
Table 7A.3 (New)	Data sources used for modelling CH ₄ emissions from reservoirs within different climate zones
Table 7A.4 (New)	Reservoirs and citations for measured R_d values

Boxes

Box 7.1 (New)	Additional information on sedimentation and carbon burial in reservoirs	4
Box 7.2 (New)	Additional information on emissions arising from wastewater within reservoirs. 7.1	6

7 WETLANDS

7.1 INTRODUCTION

No refinement.

7.2 MANAGED PEATLANDS

No refinement.

7.3 FLOODED LAND

Flooded Lands are defined in the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (Wetlands) as water bodies where human activities have caused changes in the amount of surface area covered by water, typically through water level regulation. Here, we also consider: i) waterbodies where human activities have changed the hydrology of existing natural waterbodies thereby altering water residence times and/or sedimentation rates, in turn causing changes to the natural flux of greenhouse gases (See A7.1.1); and ii) waterbodies that have been created by excavation, such as canals, ditches and ponds. Flooded Lands include waterbodies with seasonally variable degrees of inundation but would be expected to retain some inundated area throughout the year under normal conditions. Seasonally flooded wetlands such as riparian floodplain wetlands are not considered here; where these have been modified by human activity, emissions may be estimated using the methods described in the 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands (2013) Wetlands Supplement, (IPCC 2014)). The range of Flooded Land considered in this chapter are listed in Table 7.7.

Table 7.7 (New) Types of Flooded Land, their human uses and greenhouse gas emissions considered in this chapter					
Flooded Land types	Human Uses	Greenhouse gas emissions for which guidance is provided in this Chapter			
Reservoirs (including open water, drawdown zones, and degassing/downstream areas)	Hydroelectric Energy Production, Flood Control, Water Supply, Agriculture, Recreation, Navigation, Aquaculture	CO ₂ , CH ₄			
Canals	Water Supply, Navigation	CH ₄			
Ditches	Agriculture (e.g. irrigation, drainage, and livestock watering)	CH4			
Ponds (Freshwater or Saline)	Agriculture, aquaculture, recreation	CH4			

Flooded Land emits CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O in significant quantities, depending on a variety of characteristics such as age, land-use prior to flooding, climate, upstream catchment characteristics and management practices. Emissions vary spatially and over time.

CO₂ emissions

Emissions of CO₂ from *Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land* are primarily the result of decomposition of soil organic matter and other organic matter within the waterbody or entering the waterbody from the catchment, as well as respiration of biota (e.g. bacteria, macroinvertebrates, plants, fish, and other aquatic species). No guidance is provided in this section for emissions associated with decomposition of organic matter delivered from the catchment or respiration of biota because they are either accounted for elsewhere in the estimation methods (Volume 4, Chapter 4, Forest Land, CO₂ emissions from soils Section 4.2.3, Chapter 5, Croplands, CO₂ emission from soils, Section 5.2.3) or reflect short-term carbon cycling by the aquatic biota. The one exception is for *Land Converted to Flooded Lands*. CO₂ emissions occur as the flooded organic matter decomposes, which is a consequence of anthropogenic management, and methods are provided for estimating the resulting CO₂ emissions (Section 7.3.2.1).

CH4 emissions

Emissions of CH_4 from Flooded Land are primarily the result of CH_4 production induced by anoxic conditions in the sediment (see Annex 7.1). Methane can be emitted from small lakes or reservoirs via diffusive, ebullitive, and downstream emissions. Downstream CH_4 emissions are subdivided into degassing emissions (see Glossary) and diffusive emissions, which occur downstream from the flooded land. Methane emissions are generally higher in waterbodies with high organic matter loading and/or high internal biomass production, and low oxygen status.

Due to their high emission rates and large numbers, small ponds of area < 0.1 ha have been estimated to generate 40 percent of diffusive CH₄ emissions from open waters globally (Holgerson & Raymond 2016). Whilst emissions from natural ponds can (at least in part) be considered natural, those from small constructed waterbodies are the result of anthropogenic activity. High organic loadings and low oxygen levels can also occur in drainage ditches (Evans et al. 2016), constructed ponds for agriculture (e.g. (Selvam et al. 2014) aquaculture (Avnimelech & Ritvo 2003), and flooded pastures (Kroeger et al. 2017). Emission rates of CH₄ from small constructed waterbodies where nutrient loadings from agriculture or other sources are high may exceed those from small natural waterbodies, (Tangen et al. 2015), (Yang et al. 2017), and may equal or exceed those observed in small lakes and reservoirs (Bastviken et al. 2011). Emissions of CH₄ from aquaculture ponds may be reduced through aquaculture management, including mixing or aeration, periodic drainage or when water is saline (Vasanth et al. 2016), (Yang et al. 2017). Robb et al. 2017). Because CH₄ emissions from constructed waterbodies can be considered a direct consequence of the construction of the waterbody, guidance on reporting these emissions is provided in this chapter.

Nitrous oxide emissions

Nitrous oxide emissions from Flooded Lands are largely related to input of organic or inorganic nitrogen from the watershed. These inputs from runoff/leaching/deposition are largely driven by anthropogenic activities such as land-use change, wastewater disposal or fertilizer application in the watershed or application of fertilizer or feed in aquaculture. The current section does not consider these emissions in order to avoid double-counting of N_2O emissions, which are already captured in other source categories, such as indirect N_2O emissions from managed soils (see Volume 4, Chapter 11) and wastewater management (see Volume 5, Chapter 6). Nitrous oxide emissions from aquaculture ponds constructed on coastal wetlands are given in Chapter 4 of the 2013 Supplement Chapter 4, Section 4.3.2). Compilers may address local sources of N_2O emissions (i.e. those not driven by external inputs of N) using Tier 2 or Tier 3 methods.

TYPES OF FLOODED LANDS

Reservoirs

Reservoirs are designed to store water over time scales ranging from hours to several years. Their use can serve single (e.g. water supply) or multiple purposes, and reservoir operation may vary depending on different user needs (Table 7.7). Hydropower reservoirs can be divided in three categories: storage, run-of-the-river and pumped storage reservoirs. These categories generally describe the relationship between storage volume, inflow and water residence times, but in reality, reservoirs exist on a spectrum. Natural lakes may also be used as reservoirs, often by damming to expand their volume and surface area.

Flooded land is exposed to natural or anthropogenic regulation of water levels, creating a drawdown zone. Greenhouse gas emissions from the drawdown zones are considered significant and similar per unit area to the emissions from the water surface (e.g. (Yang et al. 2012), (Deshmukh et al. 2018)) and are therefore included when estimating greenhouse gas emissions from *Flooded Land*. Lakes converted into reservoirs without substantial changes in water surface area or water residence times are not considered to be managed *Flooded Land*, in accordance with the 2006 *IPCC Guidelines*.

Reservoirs are classified according to the length of time they have been flooded:

- (i) *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land* includes reservoirs that were converted to *Flooded Land* more than 20 years ago.
- (ii) Land Converted to Flooded Land includes reservoirs that were flooded less than or equal to 20 years ago.

Other Flooded Land: Constructed ponds, canals, ditches and flooded pastures

Ponds are constructed by excavation and/or construction of walls to hold water in the landscape for a range of uses, including agricultural water storage, access to water for livestock, recreation, and aquaculture. They often receive high organic matter and nutrient loadings, may have low oxygen levels, and are sites of substantial CH_4 emissions from anaerobic sediments. However, because seawater suppresses production of CH_4 , emissions from saline aquaculture ponds are lower compared to freshwater ponds. Constructed linear waterbodies (which we define here in accordance with the Ramsar Convention category of *'Human-made wetlands: Canals and drainage channels or ditches'*) are also extensive in many agricultural, forest and settlement areas, and may also be significant sources of emissions in some circumstances. For CH_4 emissions from Other Flooded Land, there are insufficient data to disaggregate based on age classes of the waterbodies.

Flooded Land Excluded Here, But Considered Elsewhere

Emissions from various kinds of *Flooded Land* that are not considered in this chapter are provided in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement and in other parts of this guidance. Table 7.8 provides the Ramsar classification, which

provides the framework for the terminology used in this guidance. Some rice paddies are cultivated through flooding of land, but because of the unique characteristics of rice cultivation, rice paddies are addressed in Volume 4, Chapter 5 (Cropland). Emissions from wetlands created or used for wastewater treatment are provided in Chapter 6 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Constructed Wetlands for Waste Water Treatment). Seasonally flooded agricultural land (including intensively managed or grazed wet meadow or pasture) that is formed via human modification of natural hydrological processes may also be considered *Flooded Land*, and can be a significant source of CH₄ emissions (Kroeger et al. 2017). Seasonally flooded agricultural land may be coastal or inland, on mineral or organic soils, and relevant guidance for CO₂ emissions and removals from these categories is provided in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Chapters 3-5, see Table 7.8 for details). CO₂ emissions associated with construction of aquaculture ponds in coastal wetlands are also considered in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Section 4.2.4 and Section 4.3.2). Flooding of land to create wetlands in coastal settings due to management activities, such as breaching of sea defences, are found under "rewetting" within the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Section 4.2.3 for CO₂ and 4.3.1 for CH₄). Constructed seawater canals are not considered because there are insufficient data to derive an emission factor. Furthermore, water in seawater canals is assumed to have salinity greater than 18 ppt, and therefore will have no CH₄ emissions, consistent with guidance in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

TABLE 7.8 (NEW) RAMSAR CLASSES OF HUMAN-MADE WETLANDS, IPCC TERMINOLOGY USED AND METHODOLOGICAL GUIDANCE PROVIDED						
RAMSAR class ¹	Corresponding wetlands sub- categories in IPCC Chapters	Methodological guidance available?				
Water storage areas	Reservoir	Yes for CH ₄ and CO ₂ (this chapter)				
Ponds	Other constructed waterbodies	Yes for CH_4 and CO_2 (this chapter)				
Canals and drainage channels or ditches.	Other constructed waterbodies	Yes for CH ₄ and CO ₂ (this chapter) Yes for CH ₄ in peatlands (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 2)				
Aquaculture	Other constructed waterbodies	Yes for CH ₄ and CO ₂ (this chapter)				
		Yes for CO_2 during construction and for N ₂ O (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 4) ²				
Irrigated land (if cultivated)	Cropland	Yes (Vol. 4, Chapter 5)				
Seasonally flooded agricultural land	Rice Cultivation	Yes (Vol. 4, Chapter 5)				
Seasonally flooded agricultural land including intensively managed or grazed wet meadow or pasture	Wetlands	Yes for CH ₄ (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapters 3, 4 and 5) ^{3,4}				
Salt exploitation sites	Wetlands	Yes (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 4)				
Excavations (partly)	Peatlands managed for peat extraction	Yes (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 2)				
Wastewater treatment areas	"Constructed wetlands" or Waste Sector	Yes (2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 6; Volume 5, Chapter 6)				

NOTES:

¹ Source: (Ramsar 2014)

 2 2013 Wetlands Supplement, Chapter 4, Section 4.3.2 for N_2O

³ 2013 Wetlands Supplement Chapter 3 for guidance on rewetted organic soils (Section 3.2.1 for CO₂, Section 3.2.2. for CH₄ and Section 3.2.3 for N₂O); Chapter 4 for guidance for seasonally flooded agricultural land on land that was previously coastal wetlands (Section 4.2.3 for CO₂; Section 4.3.1 for CH₄) and Chapter 5 for seasonally flooded agricultural land on inland mineral soils (Section 5.2.1 for CO₂ and 5.2.2 CH₄)

⁴ Including permanently flooded lands associated with rewetting of converted wetlands

CHOICE OF METHOD, ACTIVITY DATA AND EMISSION FACTORS

Guidance is provided for choice of methods, activity data and emission factors for *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land* (Reservoirs > 20 years old) and other constructed waterbodies, and for *Land Converted to Flooded Land* (Reservoirs \leq 20 years old). Guidance for selecting the type of waterbody based on human modification, hydrology (where there has been a significant change in surface area, and/or residence time, by > 10 percent), water quality, size and function and associated emission factors and activity data is presented in the decision tree in Figure 7.2. Tier selection and the level of spatial and temporal disaggregation will depend upon the availability of activity data and emission factors, as well as the importance of *Flooded Land* as an emission source based on the key category analysis for a country's national greenhouse gas inventory. Figure 7.3 provides a decision tree to select the appropriate tier level for estimating emissions from *Flooded Land*. Country-specific emission factors and data are generally preferable to Tier 1 default data.

Conversion of unmanaged waterbodies and unmanaged wetlands to managed Flooded Lands

Greenhouse gas emissions (removals) occur on unmanaged land prior to conversion into managed land for both *Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land* and *Land converted to Flooded Land*. The anthropogenic impact on greenhouse gas emissions from managed flooded land reflect the net changes in greenhouse gas fluxes to the atmosphere resulting from the landscape transformation into a reservoir or other flooded lands (Prairie et al. 2017a). Indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of the total greenhouse gas emissions occurring on the *Flooded Land* (see Annex Box A1) may optionally be estimated, in addition to the total emissions. This estimate may be obtained for *Land Converted to Flooded Land* by estimating emissions from the area of Managed Lands and Other Unmanaged Lands converted to managed *Flooded Land*. Types of Unmanaged Land converted to *Flooded Land* include: 1) unmanaged lakes and rivers (collectively termed 'unmanaged waterbodies') expanded by dam construction; 2) Unmanaged Wetlands (excluding lakes and rivers) converted to *Flooded Land*; and 3) Other Unmanaged Lands (including Unmanaged Forest Land, Grassland and Other Land). Previously flooded lands where changes in hydrology lead to substantial changes in the characteristics and ecological function of the area, or emissions and removals per unit area, may not be excluded from the calculation of indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions.

Emissions from Unmanaged Wetlands converted to Flooded Lands are considered part of the non-anthropogenic component of the emissions for the first 20 years, after which they are considered to function similarly to the reservoir as a whole. This is the result of the legacy of the natural wetland function which will gradually transition to the condition of the surrounding reservoir as the accumulated organic matter is decomposed or buried in the reservoir. The method to produce indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions is presented separately in Section 7.3.3.

The methods provided in this section are scientifically-based but with practical consideration for application of the methods by compilers. It is *good practice* for the greenhouse gas emissions in the AFOLU sector to be estimated using the Managed Land Proxy (MLP), in which all emissions from managed land are considered anthropogenic, and to provide details of the methodology used (See Chapter 3, Volume 4). Therefore, for transparency, the methods are applied so that the total emissions from flooded lands are estimated based on the MLP, while emissions that are specifically to be the result of human activity within these areas are estimated by calculating the emissions for the area of Managed Land and Other Unmanaged Land converted to *Flooded Land*. For those countries that choose to develop indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions. Details of the methodology used should be documented. As with other sources, Tier 1 methods have large uncertainties that may be reduced with development of Tier 2 or 3 methods.

Figure 7.2 (New) Decision tree for types of *Flooded Land*.



Figure 7.3 (New) Decision tree for choice of Tier level to estimate emissions of CO₂ and CH₄ from waterbodies



7.3.1 Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land

7.3.1.1 TOTAL CO₂ EMISSIONS FROM FLOODED LAND REMAINING FLOODED LAND

The initial flooding of land can cause elevated CO₂ emissions as inundated soil and biomass decay. After this initial phase, typically lasting 20 years or less, the CO₂ emitted from *Flooded Land* is largely derived from carbon input from the catchment, which is estimated as emissions from other managed land categories, and not addressed in this category to avoid double-counting of emissions (i.e., Volume 4, Chapter 4 Forest Land, Chapter 5 Cropland, Chapter 6 Grassland, Chapter 8 Settlements and the *2013 Wetlands Supplement*). Therefore, no methodologies (Choice of Methods, Emission Factors, or Activity Data) are provided to estimate total CO₂ emissions for *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*.

7.3.1.2 TOTAL NON-CO₂ EMISSIONS FROM FLOODED LAND REMAINING FLOODED LAND

RESERVOIRS

Choice of Method

The following methodology is provided for estimating CH_4 emissions from reservoirs more than 20 years old. The Tier 1 methodology allows the estimation of the total diffusive, ebullitive and downstream CH_4 emissions (see Glossary), F_{CH4tot} , (Equation 7.10).

If sufficient data exist, it is *good practice* for the compiler to develop country-specific emission factors using a Tier 2 or Tier 3 method to reduce overall uncertainty. Guidance on the development of country-specific factors and methods is provided below in the Tier 2 and 3 sections. For reservoirs less than 20 years old, see section 7.3.2.3, *Land Converted to Flooded Lands*.

Tier 1

Total emissions from flooded land (F_{CH4tot}) is the sum of the emissions occurring at the surface of the reservoir (F_{CH4res}) and those originating within the reservoir but occurring downstream of the dam ($F_{CH4downstream}$):

EQUATION 7.10 (NEW) Annual total CH4 emissions for Reservoirs >20 years old (<i>Flooded Land Remaining</i> <i>Flooded Land</i>)				
$F_{CH_4 tot} = F_{CH_4 res} + F_{CH_4 downstream}$	(A)			
$F_{CH4res} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{i=1}^{nres_j} \alpha_i (EF_{CH_4 age>20,j} \bullet A_{totj,i})$	(B)			
$F_{CH_{4}downstream} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{i=1}^{nres_{j}} \alpha_{i} (EF_{CH_{4} age>20, j} \bullet A_{tot j, i}) \bullet R_{d, i}$	(C)			

Where:

 $F_{CH_4 tot}$ = Total annual emission of CH₄ from all reservoirs > 20 years old, kg CH₄ yr⁻¹

$$F_{CH,res}$$
 = Annual reservoir surface emissions of CH₄ from all reservoirs > 20 years old, kg CH₄ yr⁻¹

 $F_{CH_4 downstream}$ = Annual emissions of CH₄ originating from all reservoirs but emitted downstream of dam, kg CH₄ yr⁻¹. For Tier 1, equation 7.10 (C) simplifies to $F_{CH_4 downstream} = F_{CH4res} \bullet R_d$

 $A_{tot j,i}$ = Total area of reservoir water surface for reservoir > 20 years old 'i' located in climate zone 'j', ha

 $EF_{CH_4 age>20, j}$ = Emission factor for CH₄ emitted from the reservoir surface for reservoir > 20 years old located in climate zone 'j', kg CH₄ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Table 7.9).

- R_d = A constant equal to the ratio of total downstream emission of CH₄ to the total flux of CH₄ from the reservoir surface [dimensionless]. Equals 0.09 by default for Tier 1 (Table 7.10). See text below for Tiers 2 & 3 R_d values.
- α_i = Emission factor adjustment for trophic state in reservoir *i* within a given climate zone. [dimensionless] Equals 1.0 by default for Tier 1. See Equation 7.11 for Tiers 2 & 3.
- i = Summation index for the number of all reservoirs > 20 years in climate zone 'j'
- j = Summation index for climate zones (j = 1-6, see Table 7.9)

$$nres_i$$
 = Number of reservoirs > 20 years old in climate zone 'j

The equation for scaling CH₄ emission factors for eutrophication is estimated as follows:

EQUATION 7.11 (NEW) EQUATION USED TO SCALE CH4 EMISSION FACTORS FOR THE INFLUENCE OF EUTROPHICATION USING MEASURED VALUES OF CHLOROPHYLL A (MODIFIED FROM DEEMER ET AL (2016))

 $\alpha_i = 0.26 \bullet Chla_i$

Where:

 α_i = Emission factor adjustment for trophic state in reservoir '*i*', dimensionless. Equals 1.0 for Tier 1.

*Chla*_{*i*} = Mean annual chlorophyll-a concentration in reservoir '*i*', μ g L⁻¹

When chlorophyll values are not available, the trophic state adjustment factor (α_i , Eq. 7.11) can be estimated from other general assessments of reservoir trophic status (See Table 7.11).

Tier 2

At the Tier 2 level, downstream emissions can be estimated based on water withdrawal depths for individual reservoirs. If water is withdrawn from the oxic (upper) part of the water column, the CH₄ content of the water is expected to be relatively low, therefore downstream emissions can be assumed to be zero. If water is withdrawn from the anoxic (lower) part of the water column, where dissolved CH₄ can accumulate to high levels, downstream emissions should be estimated following equation 7.10 using the R_d factor found in Table 7.10 or by a Tier 3 methodology.

If a country has characterized the trophic status of its reservoirs, a compiler can improve estimates of CH₄ emissions from these systems by multiplying default CH₄ emission factors (from Table 7.9) by a factor, α_i , either computed from measured mean annual chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*) data using Equation 7.11, or taken from Table 7.11 where trophic state may be known but mean annual Chl-*a* data are lacking. Equation 7.10 generally provides a more accurate approach where reservoir Chl-*a* concentrations [Chl-*a*] have been measured. If sufficient data are available locally to determine a country-specific relationship between trophic status and CH₄ fluxes, then local values should be used in Equation 7.10 rather than these global averages.

Where there are sufficient data, compilers may also include the effect of carbon burial in the sediments in case there is a net removal of carbon in the managed flooded land (see Box 7.1).

Box 7.1 (NEW)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON SEDIMENTATION AND CARBON BURIAL IN RESERVOIRS

Reservoirs are often sites of significant accumulation of sediments, and therefore carbon (Clow et al. 2015). However, to consider such carbon accumulation as an offset to greenhouse gas emissions is complex because it depends strongly on the origin of the sediments and what the fate of the associated carbon would have been in the absence of a reservoir (Prairie et al. 2017a). For example, particulate organic carbon from the upstream catchment sediments would, prior to impoundment, have been transported and possibly stored further downstream. Only the net additional C storage induced by the sediment trapping within the reservoir would constitute removal. Similarly, if carbon burial is the result of autochthonous (inside the reservoir) primary production by algae or aquatic plants, such carbon removal would necessarily be reflected in the CO₂ exchange occurring at the airwater interface. Subtracting C sedimentation from the air-water exchange would thus lead to a double-counting of the same carbon flux. Lastly, in many reservoirs, maintenance operations involve the sluicing of excess sediments to the downstream river by opening gates located at the base of the dam, thereby releasing unknown, but often large, amounts of accumulated sediment carbon over a short period.

As a result of the processes described above and the difficulties in quantifying them, a Tier 1 methodology cannot be developed for the reporting of sediment carbon accumulation. For the development of higher Tier methodologies for carbon accumulation in reservoirs, an important guiding principle is that only the portion of the carbon permanently buried in reservoir sediments that would not have been stored elsewhere in the hydrological network (lakes, rivers, wetlands and the coastal ocean) could potentially be considered as an additional carbon burial in the anoxic sediment of the reservoir (Isidorova et al. 2019).

Tier 3

Direct measurements of CH_4 diffusion and ebullition fluxes across the reservoir surface provide the most accurate alternative to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 approaches. It is *good practice* to undertake measurements at sufficient different locations and sufficient different times of year to capture both the spatial and temporal variability of CH_4 emissions from a reservoir (see UNESCO/IHA GHG Measurement Guidelines for Freshwater Reservoirs 2010 (Goldenfum 2010) for additional guidance). CH_4 emissions are often highly spatially variable, with 50-90 percent of total reservoir emissions emanating from 10-30 percent of a reservoir's surface (typically in areas subject to high organic matter deposition such as the distal arms receiving significant catchment inflows (Sherman et al. 2012)).

Degassing can be estimated as the difference between the dissolved gas concentration at the water entering the dam and the dissolved gas concentration downstream of the dam, multiplied by the outlet discharge. Dissolved gas concentration of the water entering the dam can be estimated from water samples collected from the reservoir at the depth of the water intake or directly from the water conveyance structure, if possible. Diffusive emission from the downstream river can be directly measured or estimated using a mass balance approach. See (Goldenfum 2010) (UNESCO/IHA), section 2.4.1.2.3).

Accuracy is improved when measurements are undertaken across a full seasonal cycle because CH_4 dynamics are very temperature sensitive. The accuracy of CH_4 emissions can also be improved by considering atmospheric and hydrostatic pressure that may strongly influence CH_4 ebullition. The measurement data should be area-weighted and seasonally averaged to provide the most accurate estimate of emissions from the reservoir as a whole (See Annex 7.1 for details).

 CH_4 emissions from individual reservoirs can also be estimated by application of the Greenhouse Gas Reservoir Tool (G-res) model (Prairie et al. 2017b), with reservoir-specific data covering: reservoir morphometry, littoral areas, and local climate data including temperature and solar radiation. G-res is described in more detail in Annex 7.1. Other detailed models could be developed that include the range of environmental and management conditions that influence emissions (see Annex 7.1).

Choice of Emission Factors

Tier 1

Emission factors for CH₄ via diffusion and ebullition from the reservoir surface, $EF_{CH4 age>20,j}$ in the six aggregated climate zones are provided in Table 7.9. The emission factors integrate both spatial and temporal variations and have been derived from the application of empirical models to a large number of reservoirs (>6000) with a worldwide distribution and are averaged per climate zone. See Annex 7.1 for details of how default emissions factors were derived.

TABLE 7.9 (NEW) CH4 EMISSION FACTORS FOR RESERVOIRS OLDER THAN 20 YEARS (> 20 YEARS) – FLOODED LAND REMAINING FLOODED LAND LAND						
one	CH4	CH4 Emission Factors <i>EF</i> _{CH4 age>20,j} (kg CH4 ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)				
j Average Lower and upper 95% CI of mean N						
1	13.6	7.3-19.9	96			
2	54.0	48.3-59.5	1879			
3	150.9	133.3-168.1	578			
4	80.3	74.0-86.0	1946			
5	283.7	261.9-305.8	710			
6	141.1	131.1-152.7	805			
	FOR RES one j 1 2 3 4 5 6	TABLE 7.9 (N TABLE 7.9 (N FOR RESERVOIRS OLDER THAN 20 YEAR LAND one CH4 j Average 1 13.6 2 54.0 3 150.9 4 80.3 5 283.7 6 141.1	TABLE 7.9 (NEW) FOR RESERVOIRS OLDER THAN 20 YEARS (> 20 YEARS) – FLOODED LAND REMAIN LAND one CH4 Emission Factors EF CH4 age>20,j (kg CH4 ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹) j j Average Lower and upper 95% CI of mean 1 13.6 7.3-19.9 2 2 54.0 48.3-59.5 3 3 150.9 133.3-168.1 4 80.3 74.0-86.0 5 283.7 261.9-305.8 6 141.1 131.1-152.7			

The emission factors are derived from the G-Res model outputs from N reservoirs in each climate zone. The aggregation into 6 climate zones is described in Annex 1, section A7.1.2.1. N is the number of modelled reservoirs used to estimate EF values and their 95% confidence intervals.

Default values for the ratio of total downstream emission of CH_4 to the total flux of CH_4 from the reservoir surface are provided in Table 7.11.

TABLE 7.10 (NEW)					
RATIO OF TOTAL DOWNSTREAM FLUX OF CH4 (KG CH4 HA -1 YR-1) TO THE FLUX OF CH4 FROM A RESERVOIR'S SURFACE					
TO THE ATMOSPHERE (KG CH ₄ HA ⁻¹ YR ⁻¹) $-R_D$					

Median	Upper 95% CI of the median	Lower 95% CI of the median	Number of reservoirs			
0.09 0.22 0.05 36						
Note: The default Tier 1 value is the median of all R_d values reported in the literature. The 95% confidence interval of the median was calculated using the bias-corrected and accelerated (BCa) bootstrap interval.						
References: (Teodoru et al. 2012), (Diem et al. 2012), (DelSontro et al. 2016), (Maeck et al. 2013), (Soumis et al. 2004), (Beaulieu et al. 2014a), (Bevelhimer et al. 2016), (Descloux et al. 2017), (DelSontro et al. 2011), (dos Santos et al. 2017), (Kumar & Sharma 2016),						

(Chanudet et al. 2011), (Abril et al. 2005), (Bastien & Demarty 2013), (Deshmukh et al. 2016), (Serça et al. 2016), (Guérin et al. 2006), (Kemenes et al. 2007).

Trophic state adjustment factor (α_i , Eq. 7.11) can be estimated from other general assessments of reservoir trophic status, for example from trophic index, total phosphorus and nitrogen and Secchi depth, and alternative values are provided in Table 7.11.

Table 7.11 (New) Relationships between Trophic Index (TI), surface concentrations of chlorophyll-a (Chl-a), total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), Secchi depth (SD), and Trophic Class ¹ and Trophic State Adjustment Factor (a)							
TI	TI Chl-a TP TN SD Trophic Class Trophic State Adjustment Factor						
(μg/L) (μg/L) (μg/L		(µg/L)	(m)		Qi		
						Range and (recommended value)	
<30 - 40	0 - 2.6	0 - 12	-<350	>4	Oligotrophic	0.7 (0.7)	
40 - 50	2.6 - 20	12 - 24	-350-650	2 - 4	Mesotrophic	0.7 - 5.3 (3)	
50 - 70	20 - 56	24 - 96	650-1200	0.5 - 2	Eutrophic	5.3 - 14.5 (10)	
70 - 100+	56 - >155	96 - >384	>1200	< 0.5	Hypereutrophic	14.5 - 39.4 (25)	
¹ (Carlson 1977), (Smith et al. 1999)							

Tier 2

Under Tier 2, country-specific emission factors may be developed that take into account national circumstances as well as specific properties of individual reservoirs including: reservoir operation, size, and depth; relative locations of oxic/anoxic water and water intakes; trophic status; sedimentation and sequestration of carbon; and other environmental (e.g. seasonal ice cover) and management factors. CH₄ emissions due to wastewater inflow

may be estimated using the guidance in Volume 5, Chapter 6 and subtracted from reservoir emissions to avoid double counting (see Box 7.2).

Box 7.2 (NEW)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON EMISSIONS ARISING FROM WASTEWATER WITHIN RESERVOIRS

Emissions of CH₄ from both *Land Converted to Flooded Land* and *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land* result from the degradation of autochthonous and allochthonous organic carbon in anoxic conditions (Bastviken et al. 2004). Allochthonous organic carbon from treated and/or untreated wastewater may reach the flooded land area and be converted to CH₄ (Deemer et al., 2016). At Tier 2 and 3 it is a *good practice* to estimate CH₄ emission from wastewater treatment and discharge using the guidance in Volume 5, Chapter 6 and subtract them from reservoir emissions, to avoid double counting.

Tier 3

Under Tier 3, emission factors derived from models (mechanistic or statistical) or measurement campaigns may be used instead of the default equations and/or default factors (see Annex 7.1). It is anticipated that a mix of country-specific emission factors and modelled values will be used when the latter do not cover the full range of environmental and management conditions within a country. The development of reservoir- or region-specific emission factors that are influenced by eutrophication is discussed below. CH_4 emissions due to wastewater inflow may be estimated using guidance provided in Chapter 6, Volume 5 of the 2006 *IPCC Guidelines* and subtracted from the reservoir emissions to avoid double counting (see Box 7.2). The derivation of reservoir or region-specific factors should be clearly documented.

Reservoirs or other constructed wetlands cause a perturbation of the natural processes of decay to the atmosphere of the organic matter contained in the water, so altering the natural pathway to GHG emissions of such organic matter when stored in such flooded land. The perturbation effect can be considered the anthropogenic component of the GHG emissions from the reservoirs. Approaches based on the mass balance of the organic carbon inputs and its decay also qualify as Tier 3 methods to estimate the emissions from reservoirs or other constructed waterbodies based on the Managed Land Proxy, caused by conveying freshwaters into reservoirs or other constructed wetlands.

Choice of Activity Data

Several different types of activity data may be needed to estimate Flooded Land emissions, depending on the Tier and the known sources of spatial and temporal variability within the national territory.

Tier 1

Country-specific data on the area of reservoirs within each climate zone are required to estimate CH_4 emissions from flooded land. Estimates of flooded land area for reservoirs behind large dams can be obtained from the International Commission on Large Dams (ICOLD 1988), from the World Commission on Dams report (WCD 2000), or from the Global Reservoir and Dam (GRanD) database (Lehner et al. 2011b). However, country-specific datasets are likely to be more complete.

Tier 2 and 3

Estimates of flooded land area for reservoirs can be obtained from a drainage basin cover analysis or from a national dam database. Because flooded land area could change over time due to climate variation and change and management activities, countries should use updated and recent data from national databases in order to obtain more accurate emission estimates. Water withdrawal depths and anoxic zone depths are required for estimating downstream emissions at the Tier 2 level. These data can be obtained from water utilities responsible for dam operation and maintenance as well as from national dam operation databases. Tier 3 approaches can also include more detailed activity data on, for example, effects of climate variability on water surface area and reservoir management, but the exact requirements will depend upon the model or measurement design.

Data to directly calculate the trophic status adjustment, α_i , (Eq 7.11, Table 7.11) can usually be sourced from water quality databases held by the relevant water authorities. Remote sensing of Chl-*a* concentrations may also be possible for larger reservoirs.

OTHER CONSTRUCTED WATERBODIES (FRESHWATER PONDS, SALINE PONDS, CANALS AND DITCHES)

The procedure presented here expands the methodology developed for quantifying CH_4 emissions from drainage ditches in organic soils described in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement, to include all other constructed waterbodies apart from reservoirs, which are considered separately in the previous section. The approach described here allows

for the reporting of emissions from other Flooded Lands including constructed freshwater and saline ponds used for agriculture, aquaculture or other activities (e.g. recreation), and canals and ditches. This includes ponds within settlements; however, note that CH₄ emissions associated with wastewater are considered elsewhere (Volume 5, Chapter 6, 2019 Refinement). For Managed Land categories on organic soils inventory compilers may choose to 'embed' emissions from small channels such as drainage ditches within their reporting of other Managed Land categories (using Equation 2.4, Section 2.2.2.1 of Chapter 2, Drained Inland Organic Soils, of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement¹). The same emissions should however not be included in Flooded Lands if they are included other Managed Land categories.

Choice of Method

Methodology is provided for estimating CH₄ emissions from all other constructed waterbodies, including ditches and ponds. If CH₄ emissions from other constructed waterbodies are a *key category*, then it is *good practice* for the compiler to develop country-specific emission factors with application of a Tier 2 method or develop a country specific method with a Tier 3 approach to reduce overall uncertainty, incorporating variations in inundation regimes due to inter-annual and seasonal variation in water levels, management or other factors. All other constructed waterbodies are assumed to emit CH₄ at a constant average rate for as long as the land remains flooded. However, waterbodies may move between emission categories as a function of changes in site factors if higher tier approaches are applied. Compilers could use different tiers for subcategories within the *Other constructed waterbodies* category, depending on the importance of different waterbodies and the availability of activity data. Guidance on the development of country-specific factors or methods is provided below in Tier 2 and Tier 3 approaches.

Tier 1

The Tier 1 method extends the methodology developed for quantifying CH_4 emissions from drainage ditches in organic soils for the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Section 2.2.2.1) to include a wider range of constructed waterbodies. At Tier 1, emission factors are not stratified by climate zone or trophic status, but this can be incorporated at Tier 2 and 3. See Annex 7.1 for details of how default emissions factors were derived.

Total emissions are calculated for a given waterbody type using Equation 7.12.

EQUATION 7.12 (NEW)

ANNUAL CH4 EMISSION FROM OTHER CONSTRUCTED WATERBODIES

$$F_{CH_4 other} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{w=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{nother_{w,j}} \left(A_{j,w,i} \bullet EF_{CH4,w} \bullet \alpha_{j,w,i} \right)$$

Where:

$F_{CH_4 other}$	= Total annual flux of CH_4 from ponds and ditches [kg CH_4 yr ⁻¹]
$A_{j,w,i}$	= Area of other waterbody ' <i>i</i> ' of type 'w' in climate zone ' <i>j</i> ' [ha].
$\alpha_{_{j,w,i}}$	= Emission factor adjustment for trophic state other waterbody ' <i>i</i> ' of type ' <i>w</i> ' located in climate zone ' <i>j</i> '. Currently = 1 for all tiers. [dimensionless] Refer to Eq. 7.11, Table 7.11.
$EF_{CH4,w}$	= Emission factor for other waterbody of type 'w' [kg CH_4 ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹]. Refer to Table 7.15.
$nother_{w,j}$	= Number of other waterbodies of type 'w' in climate zone 'j'
i	= Summation index for the number of other waterbodies of type 'w' in climate zone 'j'
j	= Summation index for climate zones ($j = 1-6$, e.g. Table 7.12)
w	= Summation index for waterbody classes (Table 7.12).

Tier 2

The Tier 2 approach for CH_4 emissions from constructed agriculture and aquaculture ponds, and from canals and ditches, incorporates country-specific information in Equation 7.19 to estimate the emissions. Tier 2 emission

¹ Note that the approach described to estimate ditch CH_4 emissions in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement combined these emissions with those from adjacent terrestrial areas, to provide a single emission estimate. Implicitly, this approach considered ditches to form part of the terrestrial land-use category, rather than as a separate *Flooded Land* category. Either approach may be used, but not both.

factors may be further stratified by sub-classifying waterbodies according to type (w) and trophic status ($\alpha_{j,w,i}$). In addition, it may be possible to incorporate additional modifiers such as soil type (e.g. mineral versus organic); water flow rate; inter-annual and seasonal variation in water levels; salinity; presence of emergent vegetation (which may increase emissions) and species (for aquaculture); or take account of site management activities that may increase or decrease overall CH₄ emissions (e.g., controlling organic matter loadings or aeration, including pond drainage).

Tier 3

A Tier 3 approach for constructed ponds and ditches may specifically address the influence of different soils and land-uses within the catchment area of each waterbody as controls on organic matter and nutrient inputs. It could also disaggregate the different components of CH₄ emissions (diffusive flux across the water surface, ebullition and plant-mediated emissions) and the associated controlling factors in order to provide more site-specific emission estimates. Compilers may also consider use of models that incorporate within-year and between-year variation in emissions as a function of climatic or land-management variability, water level variability or maintenance activities such as dredging and the duration of periodic drainage when sediments are exposed to air. Tier 3 approaches are likely to require the development of a process-based model to address these additional variables and activities influencing emissions as the small size and large number of waterbodies in some countries may make measurement-based approaches infeasible. For aquaculture ponds, Tier 3 approaches could also include models incorporating management practices (e.g. species, yield, aeration, drainage regimes).

Choice of Emission Factors

Tier 1

Tier 1 emission factors for agriculture and aquaculture ponds, and from canals and ditches, are provided in Table 7.12. Emissions from ponds are separated into Freshwater Ponds with water column salinity < 18 ppt and Saline Ponds with salinity of > 18 ppt, consistent with the *2013 Wetlands Supplement* (Chapter 4, Annex 4A.1 salinity-based definitions). At present, available data are not sufficient to derive emission factors for any category by climate zone, or to disaggregate emissions from canals, drainage channels and ditches, which are therefore considered as a single Tier 1 category. Disaggregation by surrounding land-use, nutrient loading and/or yield is also not currently possible at Tier 1. For ditches in organic soils, the Tier 1 emissions factors presented in Table 2.4 of the *2013 Wetlands Supplement* may be used.

TABLE 7.12 (NEW) CH4 EMISSION FACTORS FOR OTHER CONSTRUCTED WATERBODIES (FRESHWATER PONDS, SALINE PONDS, CANALS, DRAINAGE CHANNELS AND DITCHES)					
Waterbody type	w	Climate zone	EF _{CH4} ^a (kg CH4 ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	95% confidence intervals ^b (kg CH ₄ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	No. of sites
Saline ponds	1	All	30	16-55	15
Freshwater and brackish ponds	2	All	183	118-228	68
Canals and ditches ^c	3	All	416	259-669	24 ^d

^a Emissions factors for each category were calculated from the mean of log₁₀-transformed values, because untransformed observations showed a positively skewed distribution in all cases

^b 95% confidence intervals shown are derived from standard errors, and thus represent the uncertainty in the mean emission factor rather than the variability of the original measurements.

^c For Emission Factor for ditches in organic soils refer to Table 2.4, 2013 Wetlands Supplement.

^dDitch data are mostly aggregated to study level, where studies reported multiple measurements from the same ditch network or from sites in close proximity; therefore the total number of individual ditches used to derive the emission factor exceeds the number shown.

References. Saline ponds: (Cameron et al. 2016), (Castillo et al. 2017), (Chen et al. 2015), (Hai et al. 2013), (Strangmann et al. 2008), (Vasanth et al. 2016), (Yang et al. 2015). Freshwater and brackish ponds: (Baker-Blocker et al. 1977), (Casper et al. 2000), (Grinham 2018), (Hu et al. 2016), (Huang 2016), (Liu et al. 2017), (Merbach et al. 1996), (Natchimuthu et al. 2014), (Selvam et al. 2014), (Stadmark & Leonardson 2005), (van Bergen 2015), (Singh et al. 2000), (Xiong et al. 2017), (Yang et al. 2017), (Zhu et al. 2016). Canals and ditches: (Best & Jacobs 1997), (Chamberlain et al. 2015), (Chistotin 2006; Chistotin et al. 2006), (Evans et al. 2017), (Harrison 2003), (Hendriks et al. 2007), (Kosten et al. 2018), (McPhillips et al. 2016), (McNamara 2013), (Peacock et al. 2017), (Schrier-Uijl et al. 2010), (Schrier-Uijl et al. 2011), (Selvam et al. 2014), (Sirin et al. 2012), (Teh et al. 2011), (Van Den Pol-Van Dasselaar et al. 1999), (Vermaat et al. 2011), (Wang et al. 2009), (Yu et al. 2017).

Tier 2

At Tier 2, country-specific emission factors may be further stratified according to waterbody type, nutrient status, water levels or other potential explanatory factors (e.g. management practices or yield for aquaculture), as described in the preceding section.

Tier 3

To develop a model-based Tier 3 approach, additional empirical data are needed to define relationships between each component of the CH_4 emission and the relevant explanatory variables. These components could include the effects of temperature, organic matter and nutrient supply and management processes such as periodic drainage; effects of salinity, water depth and flow on CH_4 production in the sediment and oxidation within the water column; relationships between sediment composition and bubble production; and influence of vegetation type and cover on plant-mediated emissions.

Choice of Activity Data

Activity data consist of the total area of (non-reservoir) constructed waterbodies, stratified according to the waterbody type and any additional factors used to estimate emissions. Since flooded land area could change over time, countries should consider this in developing their time series of activity data, attributing land cover to the appropriate category. Countries may use older data sources to establish time series data as well as updated and recent data. Tier 2 and Tier 3 approaches are preferably based on national databases to track flooded land surface area in order to obtain more accurate emission estimates. For aquaculture ponds, additional data on product yields from ponds (FAO data) or management could be collected and related to CH₄ emissions to derive more accurate emission estimates.

Tier 1

Activity data required to support Tier 1 reporting are either complete mapping data for all constructed waterbodies, or alternatively a reliable estimate of the proportion of land area occupied by each waterbody type, such as estimates derived from a land use survey. For agricultural ponds, it may be possible to evaluate small representative areas within a larger land category in order to estimate the total proportion (and therefore total area) of ponds present (Lowe et al. 2005). The Ramsar Convention (Ramsar 2005) provides guidance on mapping of wetlands (Annex III) which can be used to determine the area of Other constructed waterbodies. Additional guidance for mapping agricultural ponds can be found in (Shaikh et al. 2011) and MDBC (2009) (Cunningham et al. 2009). The minimum recommended scale of mapping is 1:5000 (50m x 50m or 0.25 ha), which could be used if appropriate data are available, for example from Landsat remotely sensed imagery (Pekel et al. 2016). Other satellite imagery has a higher resolution, for example Sentinel 2 data have a resolution of 10 m, sufficient to detect many smaller ponds, and are freely available. In many cases, drainage occurs at regular spacing within agricultural landscapes, such that the proportion of ditches in an area can be estimated from data on mean ditch width and spacing, as described in Section 2.2.2.1 of the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (the Fracditch calculation). For these areas, inventory compilers may choose to report these emissions within the appropriate land category, or separately in the Flooded Lands category. For irregularly distributed ditches or other constructed channels such as canals, it may be possible to estimate overall extent and area by digitizing or estimating total channel length within representative areas. For area of aquaculture ponds, estimates of area may be available from remote sensing imagery (Ottinger et al. 2017) or national databases. If waterbodies vary substantially in their spatial extent through the year, the annual average (rather than annual maximum) inundated area may provide the most appropriate basis for flooded land area estimation.

Tier 2

Additional activity data required to apply a Tier 2 approach are likely to include information on waterbody distribution (e.g. from remotely sensed imagery), waterbody type, nutrient status, flow rates, vegetation and other factors as described in the *Choice of Method* section. Additional management-related factors may be considered if these affect emissions, for example if waterbodies are subject to large seasonal or short-term changes in water level and area, this may produce different CH_4 emissions that a waterbody with the same average surface area but more constant water levels. For aquaculture ponds national databases of pond area or pond yields on an area basis, disaggregated by region or species cultivated could be used to increase accuracy of CH_4 emission estimates.

Tier 3

Tier 3 approaches could include dynamic modelling of emissions evaluated from monitoring of greenhouse gas concentrations and fluxes in representative systems or measurements of emissions on fine spatial and temporal scales. Additional activity data required to apply a Tier 3 approach are likely to include information on waterbody distribution from remotely sensed imagery (which for drainage ditches could include high resolution aerial photography), waterbody type, nutrient status, flow rates, vegetation and other factors as described above. National level information capturing differing pond management (e.g. whether ponds are intensively managed or abandoned

(Gusmawati et al. 2016), particularly where pond management influences CH_4 emissions (e.g. through drainage, (Yang et al. 2015)) may also be appropriate to incorporate within a Tier 3 method.

7.3.2 Land Converted to Flooded Land

7.3.2.1 TOTAL CO₂ Emissions from Land Converted to Flooded Land

RESERVOIRS

Conversion of land to Flooded Land is a disturbance that affects all five terrestrial C pools in the area impounded (above-ground biomass, below-ground biomass, litter, dead wood and soil organic matter; see 2006 IPCC Guidelines (Volume 4 Chapter 2, Fig. 2.1). The 2006 IPCC Guidelines and 2013 Wetlands Supplement, in addition to Chapter 2 of this volume, give guidance on how to estimate the five carbon pools in the land to be flooded and guidance is provided in Chapter 12 for estimating harvested wood products (HWP). This Chapter gives guidance on emissions related to land use conversion and the subsequent emissions.

Carbon stock changes in the five pools that occur prior to *Land Converted to Flooded Land* need to be estimated using the guidance in other chapters (See Volume 4, Chapter 2; Equation 2.3). The amount and fate of flooded biomass depends largely on management decisions prior to flooding. The area to be impounded may be totally or partially cleared of biomass including vegetation and the organic matter in soils prior to flooding. Another management procedure may be the burning of the biomass. If the pre-impoundment area was forested, and the forest was harvested before flooding, part of the biomass removed can go to HWP, but organic matter from grassland or cropland most likely remains.

The time elapsed since flooding has a significant influence on greenhouse gas fluxes from *Flooded Lands* and also on the partitioning of the gases. Statistical analyses on reservoirs worldwide indicate that there is a rapid surge of emissions immediately following flooding, after which emissions return to a relatively stable level. The rate of the post-flooding decrease in emissions may depend on the region in which a reservoir is located and can differ between CO_2 and CH_4 , but seems to occur mainly during the initial decade following flooding.

Evidence suggests that CO₂ emitted during approximately the first decade after flooding results from decay of some of the organic matter on the land prior to flooding. Upon flooding, the easily degradable carbon and nutrients are made available to the microbial community and metabolized. Beyond this time period, CO₂ emissions are sustained by the input of organic material transferred into the flooded area from the watershed, (Houel 2003), (Hélie 2004), (Cole & Caraco 2001), and would have occurred in the absence of flooding, albeit displaced in space.

In addition to managed lands, unmanaged lands such as natural forests and peatlands, existing (smaller) waterbodies and other land cover types not considered to be managed land may be converted to *Flooded Land*. This guidance describes methods for reporting emissions from each land use / land cover type converted to *Flooded Land*.

Choice of Method

Organic matter is subject to decay after flooding and the rate of decay diminishes over time following initial inundation. Therefore, it is not appropriate to report all C losses from biomass, dead wood, litter and soil organic matter in the first year after land is converted to *Flooded Land*. Because *Land Converted to Flooded Land* is defined as the first 20 years after flooding, the expected total CO_2 emissions during the 100-year lifespan of the reservoir from the flooded stock of organic matter are allocated to these 20 years (see below and Annex 7.1 Fig A4). C stocks are estimated using existing methodologies when possible (e.g., Volume 4, Chapter 2).

Organic C pools that remain in the impoundment area after flooding are subject to slow decomposition constrained by reduced presence of oxygen. The fate of organic matter removed from the area prior to flooding can vary. For example, biomass removed from the impoundment area prior to impoundment, e.g., by harvesting of timber, slash or stumps, is reported according to the guidance for CO_2 emissions and removals (Volume 4, Chapter 2.3). The CO_2 and non- CO_2 emissions of deliberately burned biomass are reported according to guidance in other chapters (See Volume 4, Chapter 2). The biomass remaining in the impoundment area after flooding becomes submerged (except for that in the drawdown zone) and a fraction of this organic matter is subsequently decomposed to CO_2 (for more details, see Annex 7.1).

Annex 7.1 explains how the G-res model estimates CO_2 emissions for land converted to *Flooded Land* using average organic carbon stock in the top 30 cm soil layer as an empirically-based approximation for the total flooded organic matter decay (Annex 7.1, Section 1.5). Tier 1 emission factors are derived by determining the average,

spatially interpolated soil organic C stock for the flooded landscape area from a global soil carbon map (FAO, or default reference soil organic C stocks from Volume 4, Chapter 2. Table 2.3).

Tier 1

Emission factors for CO₂ from the reservoir surface, $EF_{CO2,j}$, in the six aggregated climate zones are provided in Table 7.13. The emission factors correspond to the total CO₂ emission attributable to the reservoir and integrate both spatial and temporal variations and have been derived from the application of empirical models to a large (>6000) number of reservoirs with a worldwide distribution (see Annex 7.1 for details and (Prairie et al. 2017a)) and are averaged per climate zone.



Where:

$F_{CO_2 tot}$	= Total annual emission (removal) of CO ₂ from Land Converted to Flooded Land (Reservoirs
	\leq 20 years old), tonnes CO ₂ -C yr ⁻¹ .
$A_{total,j,i}$	= Total area of reservoir water surface for reservoir ' i ' located in climate zone ' j ', ha.
$EF_{CO_2age \le 20, j}$	= Emission factor for CO_2 for reservoir ≤ 20 years old in climate zone 'j', tonnes CO_2 -C ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹ . Refer to Table 7.13.
<i>nres</i> _j	= Number of reservoirs ≤ 20 years old in climate zone 'j'
i	= Summation index for the number of waterbodies of same type in same climate zone
j	= Summation index for climate zones ($j = 1-6$, see Table 7.13)

Tier 2

The methodology for estimating Tier 2 annual carbon loss as CO_2 on recently flooded land (<20 years old) uses Equation 7.13 substituting in the emission factor calculated using Equation 7.14. Tier 2 methods for determining annual CO_2 emissions from land converted to Flooded Land use knowledge about climate zone and distribution of soil organic carbon stock of the land prior to flooding in order to develop country-specific factors.



Where:

$EF_{CO_2j,i}$	= Emission factor for CO ₂ for reservoir ' <i>i</i> ' climate zone ' <i>j</i> ', tonnes CO ₂ -C ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹ .
$SOC_{j,k}$	= Soil C stock (tonnes C ha ⁻¹ in 0-30 cm depth) values per climate zone 'j' and mineral soil
	type (k) from Table 2.3 (Volume 4, Chapter 2), for undrained and drained peatlands using Table 2.6 (<i>2013 Wetlands Supplement</i>) with conversion from dry organic matter to organic carbon (see A7.1.2.2), or from FAO Global Soil organic C map (http://www.fao.org/global-soil-partnership/resources/highlights/detail/en/c/1070492/), or country specific SOC stocks.
i	= Summation index for the number of waterbodies of same type in same climate zone
j	= Summation index for climate zones ($j = 1-6$, see Table 7.13)
k	= Summation index for soil type
$\phi_{i,k}$	= The fraction of reservoir 'i' area with soil type k , dimensionless

 M_j = Scaling factor per climate zone to convert SOC stocks based on empirical relationships between emissions estimated from G-res (integrated 100 year emissions post-flooding reported as a constant yearly flux for the first 20-year post-flooding) and soil C stocks and climate. (see Annex 7 for more explanations), y⁻¹. Values in Table 7.14.

nsoil = Number of soil types (= 6, see Volume 2, Table 2.3)

Note that $\sum_{k=1}^{nool} \phi_{i,k} \leq 1$ will be nearly 1 if only a river existed prior to inundation of a large reservoir. In contrast,

the value will be close to 0 if the reservoir is a small expansion of a natural lake.

Tier 2 may include: 1) a derivation of country-specific emission factors; 2) specification of climate sub-zones considered suitable for refinement of emission factors; 3) a finer, more detailed classification of management systems with a differentiation of pre-flooding land-uses; 4) differentiation of emission factors by time since flooding, and 5) a finer, more detailed classification of nutrient status or other water quality attributes, e.g. nitrogen, phosphorus, and chlorophyll.

For compatibility of approach, country-specific Tier 2 factors for CO_2 emissions and removals that are compiled using domestic flux data measured at the water-atmosphere boundary should follow a similar general concept to the G-res model, which is used in this guidance for generating Tier 1 emission factors (see details in Annex 7.1).

An alternative method can use observed data on the decay curve of CO_2 release to the atmosphere from the surface of the waterbody. These observations include a declining annual CO_2 emission due to the newly flooded organic matter, and a natural annual background release of CO_2 that is associated with catchment inputs and should not be included in the annual emissions. Instead, the natural emissions should be subtracted from the declining emissions in order to obtain the apparent CO_2 release from the land converted to *Flooded Land*. The shape of the declining curve of annual CO_2 release does not need to follow a specific equation, as long as it asymptotically declines as reservoirs age and can be integrated.

It is *good practice* to derive country-specific emission factors if measurements representing the national circumstances are available. Countries need to document that methodologies and measurement techniques are consistent with the scientific background for Tier 1 emission factors in Annex 7.1. Moreover, it is *good practice* for countries to use a finer classification for climate and management systems. Note that any country-specific emission factor must be accompanied by sufficient national or regional land-use/management activity and environmental data to represent the appropriate climate sub-domains and management systems for the spatial domain for which the country-specific emission factor is applied.

Tier 3

 CO_2 emissions/removals at Tier 3, compared to those at Tier 2, would use detailed data and models of soil carbon and other remaining carbon pools prior to flooding and time series of CO_2 emissions after flooding for a range of reservoirs that encompass an appropriate range of environmental conditions. Details for the development of measurement and model-based methods are discussed in Annex 7.1.

Choice of Emission Factor

Tier 1

 CO_2 emissions are calculated using the emission factors in Table 7.13.

TABLE 7.13 (New) CO ₂ -C emission factors for reservoirs ≤ 20 years old – Land converted to Flooded Land				
Climate Zone		CO ₂ -C Emission Factors <i>EF</i> _{CO2} age<20,j (tonnes CO ₂ -C ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)		
	j	Average	Lower and upper 95% CI of mean	
Boreal	1	0.94	0.84 -1.05	
Cool Temperate	2	1.02	1.00–1.04	
Warm temperate dry	3	1.70	1.66 –1.75	
Warm Temperate moist	4	1.46	1.44–1.48	
Tropical dry/montane	5	2.95	2.86–3.04	
Tropical moist/wet	6	2.77	2.71–2.84	
The emission factors are derived from model outputs for each climate zone (Annex A7.1.2.1). The aggregation into 6 climate zones is described in Annex section A7.1.2.1.				

Tier 2 and 3

The Tier 2 approach for estimating total CO_2 emissions from Flooded Land incorporates country-specific information with derivation of country-specific scaling factors. The compiler may address other drivers of emissions including: 1) specification of climate sub-zones considered suitable for refinement of emission factors; 2) a finer, more detailed classification of management systems including estimation of emissions associated with drawdown zones during the time period of low water level in reservoirs; 3) time-series data that incorporate seasonal/annual variation in CO_2 emissions. Country-specific soil maps, measured in situ data, or updated versions of global soil databases that can be used in estimating the soil organic carbon stocks for 0-30 cm top soil layer within the flooded area using GIS tools. Table 7.14 provides scaling factor values that may be used with the Tier 2 method.

Choice of Activity Data

Tier 1

Areas of newly flooded lands are available from dam operators such as hydropower companies or responsible government agencies. In many cases recent impoundments have been extensively described in Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) documents of specific projects. Those documents are often publicly available. In absence of such information sources, satellite images and aerial images taken during the past 20 years are commonly available and allow determination of flooded land areas by comparison of pre-impoundment and post-impoundment images.

Tiers 2 and 3

Detailed area information is needed for Tier 2 and 3 approaches, and can be found in geographic information products, reservoir statistics, or remote sensing products. Management systems for pre-impoundment land use characteristics of the flooded land may be derived from project-specific EIA documents, forest surveys from the pre-impoundment period, or remotely-sensed land cover assessments.

Countries could consider differentiating the fluxes from the drawdown zone. Estimation of drawdown zone areas can be done using remote sensing images taken during the time period of low water level in reservoirs or from reservoir managers.

Many countries also monitor water quality parameters from watercourses impacted by management activities. These include industrial effluent disposal, mining, land drainage, and wastewater treatment. In the best cases, time series of water quality parameters are available in national registers for over 20 years and may be useful for applying Tier 3 emission factors differentiated by those parameters.

Table 7.14 (New) Scaling factor value M [y ⁻¹] for equation 7.14, Annual on-site CO ₂ -C emissions/removals from Land Converted to Flooded Land.						
	Aggregated climate zo	ne				
IPCC climate zones		j	Average	Lower and upper 95% CI	Number of reservoirs	
Boreal dry						
Boreal moist	Boreal	1	0.0091	0.0075-0.0107	118	
Polar dry						
Polar moist						
Cool temperate dry	Cool tomporate	2	0.0146	0.0141-0.0151	2103	
Cool temperate moist	Coortemperate					
Warm temperate dry	Warm temperate dry	3	0.0568	0.0541-0.0595	679	
Warm temperate moist	Warm temperate moist	4	0.0302	0.0291-0.0312	2095	
Tropical dry	Tranical dry/montana	5	0.0900	0.0846-0.0954	902	
Tropical montane	ropical dry/montane					
Tropical moist	Tropical moist/wet	6	0.0668	0.0628-0.0708	920	

Note: Scaling factors were derived from the integrated CO_2 emissions attributable to the reservoir estimated from the G-res model (see Annex 7.1 for details, (Prairie et al. 2017b) expressed as a fraction of soil organic carbon content (SOC) and applied to the first 20 years post-impoundment. The aggregation into 6 climate zones is described in Annex 1, section A7.1.2.1.

OTHER CONSTRUCTED WATERBODIES (DITCHES, CANALS, FARM PONDS AND AQUACULTURE PONDS)

No specific methodologies are provided to estimate CO_2 emissions resulting from land conversion to other constructed waterbodies as there are insufficient CO_2 emission data. However, compilers may estimate CO_2 emissions for coastal wetlands converted to aquaculture ponds by excavation based on guidance in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement (Chapter 4, Coastal Wetlands). For all types of pond created by damming, the methodology described above to estimate CO_2 emissions from land converted to reservoirs may be used.

7.3.2.2 TOTAL NON-CO₂ Emissions from Land Converted to Flooded Land

RESERVOIRS

In reservoirs, high levels of CH_4 emissions can occur in the first 20 years following flooding (see Annex 7.1). No guidance on estimating N_2O emissions from flooded land is provided here because N_2O emissions from aquatic systems are indirect N_2O emissions from managed land that are addressed in other sections of this guidance (e.g. Volume 4, Chapter 11).

Choice of Method

Tier 1

For Tier 1, guidance can be found in section 7.3.1 Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*. The Tier 1 approach to calculate CH₄ emissions from *Land Converted to Flooded Land* (flooded \leq 20 years prior to reporting year) is based on Equation 7.15, which differs from Equation 7.10 only in the values of the emission factors, *EF*_{CH4 age<20,j}.

EQUATION 7.15 (New) ANNUAL CH4 EMISSIONS FOR RESERVOIRS \leq 20 years old for Land Converted to Flooded Land

$$F_{CH_4 tot} = F_{CH_4 res} + F_{CH_4 downstream} \tag{A}$$

$$F_{CH_4 res} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{i=1}^{nres_j} \alpha_i (EF_{CH_4 age \le 20, j} \bullet A_{tot j, i})$$
(B)

$$F_{CH_{4}downstream} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{i=1}^{nres_{j}} \alpha_{i} (EF_{CH_{4} age \leq 20, j} \bullet A_{tot j, i}) \bullet R_{d, i}$$
(C)

Where:

$F_{CH_4 tot}$	= Total annual emission (removal) of CH ₄ from all reservoirs \leq 20 years old, kg CH ₄ yr ⁻¹
$F_{CH_4 res}$	= Annual reservoir surface emissions of CH_4 from all reservoirs ≤ 20 years old, kg CH_4 yr ⁻¹
$F_{CH_4 downstream}$	= Annual emissions of CH ₄ originating from the reservoir but emitted downstream of dam. For Tier 1, equation 7.15 (C) simplifies to $F_{CH_4 downstream} = F_{CH_4 res} \bullet R_d$, kg CH ₄ yr ⁻¹
A _{tot j,i}	= Total area of reservoir water surface for reservoir ≤ 20 years old ' <i>i</i> ' located in climate zone ' <i>j</i> ', ha
EF _{CH₄} age≤20, j	$_{j}$ = Emission factor for CH ₄ emitted from the reservoir surface for reservoir ≤ 20 years old located in climate zone ' <i>j</i> ', kg CH ₄ ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹ (Refer Table 7.15)
R _d	= A constant equal to the ratio of total downstream emission of CH_4 to the total flux of CH_4 from the reservoir surface, dimensionless. Equals 0.09 by default for Tier 1 (Table 7.10) and zero for all other reservoirs. See text below for Tiers 2 & 3 R_d values.
$lpha_i$	= Emission factor adjustment for trophic state in reservoir ' <i>i</i> ' within a given climate zone, dimensionless. Equals 1.0 by default for Tier 1. See Equation 7.11 for Tiers 2 & 3.
Ι	= Summation index for the number of reservoirs of ≤ 20 years in climate zone 'j'
j	= Summation index for climate zones ($j = 1-6$, see table 7.15)
nres _i	= Number of reservoirs ≤ 20 years old in climate zone 'j'

Tiers 2 and 3

For Tiers 2 and 3, refer to guidance in section 7.3.1, Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*.

Choice of Emission Factor

Tier 1

Emission factors for CH₄ via diffusion and ebullition for *Land Converted to Flooded Land* in the six aggregated climate zones are provided in Table 7.15. As for *Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land* (Table 7.9), the emission factors integrate both spatial and temporal variations and have been derived from the application of empirical models to a large (>6000) number of reservoirs with a worldwide distribution (see Annex 7.1 for details) and are averaged per climate zone.

Tiers 2 and 3

For Tiers 2 and 3, refer to guidance in section 7.3.1, Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*.

TABLE 7.15 (NEW) CH4 EMISSION FACTORS FOR RESERVOIRS ≤ 20 YEARS OLD – LAND CONVERTED TO FLOODED LAND				
Aggregated Climate Zone		CI	əj	
	j	Average	Lower and upper 95% CI of the mean	Ν
Boreal	1	27.7	20.8–34.7	96
Cool Temperate	2	84.7	78.8-90.6	1879
Warm temperate dry	3	195.6	176.9-214.7	578
Warm Temperate moist	4	127.5	121.5-133.4	1946
Tropical dry/montane	5	392.3	366.5-417.7	710
Tropical moist/wet	6	251.6	236.6-266.7	805

Note: The Emission Factors are derived from model outputs from N reservoirs in each climate zone. The aggregation into 6 climate zones is described in Annex 1, section A7.1.2.1.

Choice of Activity Data

Tier 1

For Tier 1, refer to guidance refer in section 7.3.1, Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*.

Tiers 2 and 3

For Tiers 2 and 3, refer to guidance in section 7.3.1, Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*.

OTHER CONSTRUCTED WATERBODIES (DITCHES, CANALS, FARM PONDS AND AQUACULTURE PONDS)

Refer to guidance in section 7.3.1, Non-CO₂ emissions from *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land*. There is insufficient information to derive separate emission factors for CH_4 emissions for recently constructed ponds, canals and ditches.

7.3.3 Approach to provide indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions (optional)

A method for estimating the contribution of human activities to total emissions from *Flooded Land* is provided that uses the area of Managed Land and Unmanaged non-Wetland categories converted to Flooded Land to develop indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CO₂ and non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions. This method includes the area that was not previously (before flooding) unmanaged lakes, rivers/streams and unmanaged wetlands, on the basis that emissions from these unmanaged lands are not reported in national greenhouse gas inventories. For unmanaged lakes and rivers, which have similar CH4 emissions to reservoirs, this method is robust. When unmanaged wetlands are flooded this method could under- or over-estimate anthropogenic CH₄ and CO₂ emissions because flooding may alter the greenhouse gas emissions and removals from these unmanaged lands due to changes in biogeochemical processes (see Annex 7.1.1). However, there are insufficient empirical data to provide guidance to estimate the changes in emissions from land that was unmanaged wetlands after it is flooded. Additionally, CH₄ emission factors from unmanaged wetlands, reservoirs and other constructed waterbodies in many climate zones are broadly *similar* and thus when unmanaged wetlands are a small component of the land surface before the area was converted to Flooded Land this method is robust. If unmanaged wetlands occupy a high proportion of the surface of the land prior to flooding then countries may choose to better understand anthropogenic emissions at Tier 2 or 3 using methods described in section 7.3.1 and 7.3.2. However, previously flooded lands where changes in hydrology lead to substantial changes in the characteristics and ecological function of the area, or emissions and removals per unit area, may not be excluded from the calculation of indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions.

An analogous approach to develop indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions, following the same principles, could also be applied to other constructed waterbodies. Developing these estimates will require a Tier 2 or 3 method.

INDICATIVE ESTIMATES OF THE ANTHROPOGENIC COMPONENT OF TOTAL CH₄ EMISSIONS IN *FLOODED LAND REMAINING FLOODED LAND*

Indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CH_4 emissions for *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land* are estimated with the following equation (flooded > 20 years prior to reporting year) by using the area of flooded land that was not an unmanaged waterbody prior to flooding:

EQUATION 7.16 (NEW) INDICATIVE ESTIMATE OF THE ANTHROPOGENIC COMPONENT OF TOTAL ANNUAL CH4 EMISSIONS IN *FLOODED LAND REMAINING FLOODED LAND*

$$F_{CH_{4}anthrop} = \sum_{j=1}^{6} \sum_{i=1}^{nres_{j}} \alpha_{i} \left(EF_{CH_{4}age>20, j} \bullet A_{anthrop, j, i} \right) + F_{CH_{4}downstream}$$

Where:

- $F_{CH_4anthrop}$ = Indicative estimate of the anthropogenic component of total annual emissions of CH₄ from flooded land, kg CH₄ yr⁻¹
- $A_{anthrop, j,i}$ = Area associated with the anthropogenic component of emissions and comprises all areas of reservoir water surface for reservoir > 20 years old 'i' located in climate zone 'j', but excluding areas that were unmanaged waterbodies (lakes and rivers), ha
- $F_{CH_{a}downstream}$ = Annual downstream CH₄ emissions, estimated above (Equation 7.15), kg CH₄ yr⁻¹
- α_i = Emission factor adjustment for trophic state in reservoir '*i*' within a given climate zone. [dimensionless] Equals 1.0 by default for Tier 1. See Equation 7.11 for Tiers 2 & 3.
- $EF_{CH_4age>20,j}$ = Emission factor for CH₄ emitted from the reservoir surface for reservoir > 20 years old located in climate zone 'j', kg CH₄ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Table 7.9).

In general, other Unmanaged Lands, including forest land and grassland, are not considered a significant source of CH_4 emissions, and removals of CH_4 are not recognized as an anthropogenic source category in the AFOLU sector guidance. However some removal of CH_4 can occur through oxidation of atmospheric CH_4 by methanotrophic microorganisms in aerated soils, but this flux is typically small when expressed per unit land area (Oertel et al. 2016). Regardless, no guidance is provided to estimate CH_4 removal from unmanaged forest land and grassland.

INDICATIVE ESTIMATES OF THE ANTHROPOGENIC COMPONENT OF TOTAL CO₂ EMISSIONS IN *LAND CONVERTED TO FLOODED LAND*

Indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CO_2 emissions in *Land Converted to Flooded Land* (i.e. Reservoirs ≤ 20 years old) are calculated following the method described in section 7.3.1.1 but using Eq. 7.17 to calculate.



Where

 $F_{CO_2anthrop}$

= Indicative estimate of the anthropogenic component of total annual emission of CO_2 from Land Converted to Flooded Land (reservoirs ≤ 20 years old), tonnes CO_2 -C yr⁻¹.

- $A_{anthrop,j,i}$ = Area associated with the anthropogenic component of emissions and comprises all areas of reservoir water surface for reservoir ≤ 20 years old '*i*' located in climate zone '*j*', but excluding areas that were unmanaged waterbodies (lakes and rivers) or unmanaged wetlands prior to flooding [ha]. Note: previously flooded lands where changes in hydrology lead to substantial changes in the characteristics and ecological function of the area, or emissions and removals per unit area, may not be excluded from the calculation of indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions.
- $EF_{CO_2age\leq 20,j}$ = Emission factor for CO₂ for reservoir ≤ 20 years old in climate zone 'j', tonnes CO₂-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. Refer to Table 7.13.

INDICATIVE ESTIMATES OF THE ANTHROPOGENIC COMPONENT OF TOTAL CH₄ EMISSIONS IN *LAND CONVERTED TO FLOODED LAND*

Indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total CH₄ emissions for *Land Converted to Flooded Land* can be derived with the following equation (flooded \leq 20 years prior to reporting year) by using the area of flooded land that was not an unmanaged waterbody or unmanaged wetlands prior to flooding:



Where:

- $F_{CH_4anthrop}$ = Indicative estimate of the anthropogenic component of total annual emissions of CH₄ from flooded land, kg CH₄ yr⁻¹
- $A_{anthrop,j,i}$ = Area associated with the anthropogenic component of emissions and comprises all areas of reservoir water surface for reservoir ≤ 20 years old '*i*' located in climate zone '*j*', but excluding areas that were unmanaged waterbodies (lakes and rivers) or unmanaged wetlands prior to flooding, ha. Note: previously flooded lands where changes in hydrology lead to substantial changes in the characteristics and ecological function of the area, or emissions and removals per unit area, may not be excluded from the calculation of indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total greenhouse gas emissions.
- $F_{CH_{4}downstream}$ = Annual downstream CH₄ emissions, estimated above (Equation 7.15(C), kg CH₄ yr⁻¹
- α_i = Emission factor adjustment for trophic state in reservoir '*i*' within a given climate zone, dimensionless. Equals 1.0 by default for Tier 1. See Equation 7.11 for Tiers 2 & 3.
- $EF_{CH_4age\leq 20,j}$ = Emission factor for CH₄ for Land Converted to Flooded Land, kg CH₄ ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. Refer to Table 7.15.
- *i* = Summation index for all reservoirs of age ≤ 20 years in climate zone '*j*'
- j = Summation index for climate zones (j = 1-6, e.g. Table 7.15)

Choice of Activity Data

Activity data needed include area of Unmanaged Wetlands (Note: previously flooded lands where changes in hydrology lead to substantial changes in the characteristics and ecological function of the area, or emissions and removals per unit area, may not be excluded from the calculation of indicative anthropogenic emissions) and natural lakes that become a managed flooded land, and the final flooded land area in each climate zone. Activity data required to support Tier 1 calculations are complete mapping for pre-flooding wetland and lake area estimated from a land use survey, remotely sensed imagery (e.g. Landsat data) or other national maps and data bases.

7.3.4 Uncertainty Assessment

The two largest sources of uncertainty in the estimation of CH₄ emissions from Flooded Land are the quality of emission factors and estimates of the flooded land areas.

Flooded Land surface area

For reservoirs, national statistical information on the flooded area behind large dams (> 100 km²) should be available and will probably be accurate to within 10 percent. Where national databases on dams are not available, and other information is used, the Flooded Land areas retained behind dams will probably have an uncertainty of more than 50 percent, especially for countries with large Flooded Land areas. Detailed information on the location, type and function of smaller dams may be difficult to obtain, though statistical inference may be possible based on the size distribution of reservoirs for which data are available. Reservoirs are created for a variety of reasons, and this will influence the availability of data. Consequently, uncertainty regarding surface area is dependent on country specific conditions.

Uncertainties in estimating emissions and removals from other constructed waterbodies (ditches, canals, farm ponds and aquaculture ponds) are to a large extent derived from assumptions and uncertainties in the area to which the EFs are applied. Variation in salinity of aquaculture ponds may also contribute to uncertainty in CH_4 emissions.

Emission factors

As shown in Tables 7.9 and 7.15, average emissions can vary both within and among climate regions. Therefore, the use of any default emission factor will result in high uncertainty as reflected in the 95% confidence intervals as discussed in Annex 7.1.

Downstream CH₄ emissions occur primarily when anoxic and methane-rich hypolimnetic water (i.e. the lower water layer in a stratified water column) is withdrawn from a reservoir and passed through the dam structure, including turbines in hydropower reservoirs, and discharged to a downstream river (see Annex 7.1 for a more detailed description). Accordingly, downstream emissions are typically negligible in well-oxygenated reservoirs (Diem et al. 2012) or those with epilimnetic withdrawal (Beaulieu et al. 2014b), but can exceed emissions from the reservoir surface in thermally stratified systems with hypolimnetic withdrawal (Kemenes et al. 2007), (Abril et al. 2005). At the Tier 1 level, downstream emissions are estimated from R_d , defined as the average ratio of downstream to surface emissions. Sources of uncertainty in R_d include differences among studies in how fluxes from the reservoir surface and downstream or the reservoir were measured. Uncertainty can be reduced at the Tier 2 and 3 levels by accounting for the reservoir mixing patterns and withdrawal depths on a case-by-case basis.

To reduce the uncertainties on emissions factors, countries should develop appropriate, statistically-valid sampling strategies that take into account natural variability of the ecosystem under study. When applicable, the distinction between ice-free and ice-covered periods may be a significant improvement in accuracy (Duchemin et al. 2006). Those sampling strategies should include enough sampling stations per reservoir, enough reservoirs and sampling periods. The number of sampling stations should be determined using a recognized statistical approach (see (Goldenfum 2010) (UNESCO/IHA for measurement guidelines).

The EF values in Table 7.9 represent global averages and have large uncertainties due to variability in climate and management practices, including depth of the waterbody, salinity of water, presence of emergent vegetation, recharge rate and (for aquaculture) the intensity of management, including fish feeding characteristics and pond aeration.

Uncertainties associated with the indicative estimates of anthropogenic component of total emissions

The methods to produce the indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total emissions from managed flooded lands have additional uncertainties beyond the estimation of total emissions. The key uncertainty is determining the excluded areas that were unmanaged waterbodies (lakes and rivers) or unmanaged wetlands prior to flooding. The unmanaged river and possibly lake area is particularly challenging to estimate if there is large intra- or inter-annual variability in river water level, resulting in a highly variable river area over time. To address this uncertainty, compilers may use the long-term mean river and lake area, but it should be highlighted that there is a risk for higher uncertainty where the average area is challenging to assess.

7.4 INLAND WETLAND MINERAL SOILS

No refinement.

7.5 COMPLETENESS, TIMES SERIES CONSISTENCY, AND QA/QC

No refinement.

Annex 7A.1 Estimation of Default Emission Factor(s) for greenhouse gas emissions from Flooded Lands

7A.1.1 Background on CH4 cycling in Flooded Land

 CH_4 emissions from aquatic environments are the combined result of CH_4 production, oxidation and transport processes, which are described in e.g. (Bastviken 2009), (Bridgham et al. 2013), (Duc et al. 2010), and (Bogard et al. 2014) (the two former being reviews and the two latter describing updates). A summary is provided below:

Production and oxidation of CH₄

Methane production is a microbially-mediated process that primarily occurs in anoxic sediment. Sediment methanogenesis represents the terminal step in the anaerobic degradation of organic matter, and is strongly stimulated by temperature, anoxic conditions, and high sedimentation rates. The last of these, sedimentation, provides organic matter and promotes anoxia. Inhibition is induced by the presence of molecular oxygen (O_2) and other alternative electron acceptors in organic matter degradation, such as nitrate, iron (III), manganese (IV) and sulphate. Because sulphate is common in waters with high salinity, methanogenesis in the upper sediments is often low under saline conditions (Reeburgh 2007).

Methane oxidation in aquatic environments is primarily a microbial process in which dissolved CH₄ is used as a carbon and energy source. Therefore, CH₄ oxidation takes place at redox gradients where both CH₄ and suitable electron accepting compounds are present. Anaerobic CH₄ oxidation using e.g. nitrate and sulphate has been observed and sulphate-dependent CH₄ oxidation can be important in saline sediments. In freshwater environments, O₂ dependent CH₄ oxidation is considered to dominate (Bogard et al. 2014). By being confined to redox gradients, CH₄ oxidation is therefore often most intense in spatially restricted zones near the interface between anoxic and oxic conditions in water columns, or in the top millimetres of sediments overlain with oxic water (below a few mm depth most sediments are anoxic). The oxidation of CH₄ can be extensive and reported removal of dissolved CH₄ during passage through a zone with oxidation often range from 50 to >95% (Bastviken 2009). Aerobic CH₄ oxidation *in situ* is considered to be primarily substrate dependent, i.e. to depend largely on concentrations and supply rates of CH₄ and O₂.

The transport of CH₄ through waterbodies

With reference to processes numbered in Figure 7A1, the transport of CH₄ through a reservoir can be described as follows (Bastviken 2009):

CH₄ produced in anoxic sediments, and subsequently dissolved in the water, is transported along the concentration gradient by Fickian transport (molecular diffusion or eddy diffusion) and, at times advection, into the hypolimnion water (1). The transport of CH_4 from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion is often very small due to limited mixing between water layers and because extensive microbial CH₄ oxidation occurs at the interface where both CH₄ and O_2 are present (Bastviken et al. 2008) (2). The release of CH_4 from epilimnetic sediments is also constrained by CH₄ oxidation, similarly occurring at the oxycline in the top several mm of the sediment (3). However, water movements such as waves can speed up CH4 transport across the epilimnetic sediment-water interface (Bussmann 2005), reducing the fraction being oxidized. Additional epilimnetic CH_4 can be sustained by production in oxic water (Bogard et al. 2014) (4). The dissolved CH_4 in surface water is emitted across the diffusive boundary layer at the water-atmosphere interface (diffusive emission). The diffusive emission rates are stimulated by high CH4 concentrations and high turbulence in the water (5). The solubility of CH_4 in water is rather low, and therefore CH₄ bubbles are formed in the sediment. Emissions to the atmosphere by ebullition occur when such CH₄-rich bubbles are released and rapidly rise through the water column into the atmosphere (6). Ebullition can be the dominant flux pathway, and is influenced by CH_4 production rates in the sediment, physical triggers releasing bubbles such as drops in barometric pressure, changes in the water level or waves. CH₄ emissions can also occur via rooted emergent aquatic plants with gas transporting aerenchyma tissue. These structures can function as gas conduits between sediments and the atmosphere. Such plant-mediated emission can be substantial and depends on CH₄ production, plant abundance, activity and species composition. In reservoirs, water, with its dissolved CH₄, is withdrawn into the dam structure (D) inlet and released to the outlet river (7a and 7b). The dissolved CH_4 can then be degassed to the atmosphere upon passage through dam structures or emitted after release to the outlet river (8). Both degassing and reservoir-related emissions from the outlet river are a result of the reservoir, but occur downstream of the reservoir surface and are collectively referred to in this chapter as downstream emissions. Downstream emissions are low if oxic epilimnetic water with low CH_4 concentrations is withdrawn (7a), but can be high if anoxic, CH₄ rich hypolimnetic water is withdrawn (7b).

The degassing of the water in the turbines is relevant in hydroelectric reservoirs only, but the other parts of the description in Figure A1 are valid for non-hydroelectric reservoirs and for non-reservoir waterbodies.

Figure 7A.1 (New) Methane related transport within and from waterbodies, exemplified with a reservoir with an anoxic hypolimnion.



For explanations of numbered processes, see text.

Emissions of CH₄

Aquatic CH₄ emissions are favoured by high CH₄ production and by conditions facilitating transport pathways where most CH₄ escapes oxidation. Conditions leading to high whole-system CH₄ production rates include low salinity (Camacho et al. 2017), high temperatures (Yvon-Durocher et al. 2014), (Deemer et al. 2016), (DelSontro et al. 2016), and a high load of labile organic matter (DelSontro et al. 2016), (DelSontro et al. 2018), (Deemer et al. 2016). The overall CH₄ production potential in freshwaters in a given climate zone is also positively related to the flooded area. In this guidance: estimation of emissions from coastal aquaculture ponds (Tier 1) is improved by consideration of salinity of the water as sulphides in seawater supress methanogenesis (Poffenbarger et al. 2011); temperature is considered by separating emission factors by climate zone and including temperature seasonality when generating emission factors (Tier 1); methanogenic habitat extent is considered by including the area of the flooded land in calculations (Tier 1); and the supply of labile organic matter is considered via a trophic state adjustment option (Tier 2; see also below).

Conditions favouring rapid transport from sediments to the atmosphere by ebullition or via plants, bypassing CH_4 oxidation zones, include shallow water depth and a high abundance of emergent aquatic plants. These conditions are indirectly considered at the whole climate zone level at the Tier 1 via validation to available data, but are highly variable among waterbodies and consideration for individual waterbodies can therefore only be performed at the Tier 3 level. Downstream emissions also represent situations where high water turbulence causes rapid emission of CH_4 with little time for oxidation. Downstream emissions are considered at Tier 1, and are estimated using empirical relationships between CH_4 fluxes from waterbody surfaces and observed downstream emissions.

Trophic status and greenhouse gas emissions from Flooded Lands

Flooded lands with high inputs of nutrients and high rates of biological production (eutrophic systems) generally emit CH_4 to the atmosphere more rapidly on a per-area basis than less productive (meso- or oligotrophic) systems. This relationship is seen in meta-analyses examining fluxes from many reservoirs (Narvenkar et al. 2013), (Deemer et al. 2016), and a positive relationship between local primary production and CH_4 emission has also been demonstrated in laboratory assays using sediments from individual lakes (West et al. 2016). One recent review of available data found that, on average globally, per-area CH_4 fluxes are 8.0 times higher for eutrophic reservoirs than for mesotrophic reservoirs, which in turn have CH_4 fluxes that are, on average, 1.7 times as high as those from oligotrophic systems (Deemer et al. 2016). Therefore, when possible, we recommend that countries include an estimate of trophic status in their estimates of reservoir CH_4 emissions allowing adjustment of emission factors at Tier 2. Trophic status designation is generally achieved using either total phosphorus or chlorophyll *a* data and latitude-specific classification cut-offs (Carlson 1977).

It has been suggested that eutrophication can enhance CO_2 uptake and burial (Pacheco et al. 2015), but there is no evidence that this occurs consistently, and, when it does occur, the magnitude of this effect on CO_2 is generally much smaller (in overall greenhouse gas flux terms) than the effect of eutrophication on CH_4 emissions (Deemer et al. 2016).

Estimating the indicative anthropogenic component of total emissions

Estimation of the indicative anthropogenic component of total emissions or removals reflects the changes in greenhouse gas fluxes to the atmosphere resulting from the landscape transformation into a reservoir or other flooded lands. Unmanaged wetlands (e.g. peatlands) emit CH_4 and sequester soil carbon and unmanaged lakes can also be a source of CH_4 prior to their conversion to a reservoir, but these are not estimated in national greenhouse

gas inventories. The calculations allow for estimation of the anthropogenic component of emissions when these unmanaged lands are converted to a reservoir by only considering the flooded land that was not previously unmanaged lakes or wetlands. Box 7A.1 describes the general approach for estimating anthropogenic emissions, based on the area of Managed Land and unmanaged non-Wetland categories, which is used in this Guidance.

Box 7A.1 (New) Approach for developing indicative estimates of the anthropogenic component of total emissions from flooded land

The diagram below shows the rationale for indicative estimation of the anthropogenic component of total emissions using the example of CH_4 and CO_2 fluxes from a reservoir where land is either unmanaged (left) or managed (right) prior to flooding. CH_4 and CO_2 fluxes after flooding are shown (green arrows) compared to before flooding and the anthropogenic component, the newly flooded land (red arrows) for *Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land* (FLRFL) and *Land converted to Flooded Land* (LCFL). CH_4 emissions/removals from the original water surface area and from unmanaged wetlands are not considered in this approach by subtracting their area from the total surface area of the reservoir.

For estimating anthropogenic CO_2 emissions/removals from the reservoir, CO_2 fluxes from unmanaged lands in both FLRFL and LCFL are assumed zero. Changes in soil carbon stocks during the first 20 years after flooding (LCFL) are provided in the guidance. For both FLRFL and LCFL, long-term CO_2 fluxes arising from the decomposition of catchment-derived organic matter are considered natural in this guidance and are not incorporated into the CO_2 emission factors. For managed land (e.g. forest, croplands or grasslands), CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes prior to flooding, guidance is provided in other Chapters and not considered here.



7A.1.2 Reservoirs

Introduction

Correctly estimating the anthropogenic component of greenhouse gas emissions from reservoirs requires a careful assessment of the source and fate of reservoir carbon fluxes as such estimates are prone to double counting and inappropriate attribution of fluxes to human activity (Prairie et al. 2017a). The greenhouse gas emission factors from Flooded Lands presented in this methodology report are composited output from an empirical model (Prairie et al. 2017b), developed and calibrated with field measurements from diverse types of reservoirs located in various regions of the world (see section 7A.1.2.3 Data Sources). The model allows us to annualize emissions that are often measured over short periods (e.g. during the ice-free period for boreal systems) and estimate changes in reservoir greenhouse gas activity that have been observed to occur as reservoirs age. We anticipate that the models will continue to improve over time as more measurements are made and additional models become available.

7A.1.2.1DEVELOPING TIER 1 EMISSION FACTORS FOR CO₂ and non-CO₂ EMISSIONS FROM FIELD MEASUREMENTS

Recent, largely overlapping, literature compilations of field greenhouse gas measurements from over 220 distinct reservoirs (Deemer et al. 2016), (Prairie et al. 2017b) form the basis of the emissions factors listed in Tables 7.9 and 7.15. The field measurements are a mixture of diffusive CO_2 , CH_4 diffusive and/or bubble emissions and, for a new but smaller subset, downstream emissions for either or both gases. The method used to estimate greenhouse gas fluxes from reservoirs is critical because different techniques can give quite different flux estimates (Schubert et al. 2012), (Deemer et al. 2016), and because techniques integrate spatial and temporal variability to different degrees (Wik et al. 2016). Flux estimates used to derive reservoir EFs in Chapter 7 were attained in a variety of ways. For CO_2 , diffusive fluxes were estimated using near-surface concentrations in combination with a thin boundary layer model for the majority of systems (Deemer et al. 2016), floating chambers, or, in a minority of cases, eddy flux measurements. For CH_4 , diffusive fluxes were estimated using near-surface concentrations in combination sin combination with a thin boundary layer model or chamber flux measurements. Ebullition fluxes of CH_4 were estimated using floating chambers or eddy flux techniques, or a combination of available methods. Downstream emissions for gases were available for only a subset of the studied reservoirs.

Deriving Emission Factors directly from the compiled data is subject to a number of assumptions that can lead to potential biases. First, it requires an assumption that sampled systems are statistically representative of overall reservoir distribution, a potentially problematic assumption given that measurement campaigns may occur in systems and periods in time where or when greenhouse gas emissions are high (e.g. where CH_4 bubbling is visible) or low. Second, it assumes that sampling of reservoirs is representative in time, potentially leading to biases as there is considerable evidence that greenhouse gas emissions decrease markedly as reservoirs age (Abril et al. 2005), (Barros et al. 2011), (Teodoru et al. 2012), (Serça et al. 2016).

The Emissions Factors from reservoirs presented for this methodology were derived from the application of the Greenhouse Gas Reservoir (G-res) model (Prairie et al. 2017b). The G-res model is currently the only easily and widely applicable model and was developed to account for the potential biases described above. It uses empirical relationships between environmental drivers and emissions to estimate reservoir greenhouse gas fluxes. Depending on available input data, the G-res model can also be used to make Tier 2 or Tier 3 estimates.

The methodology used to develop the G-res model and its usage to estimate reservoir greenhouse gas emissions is described in detail in (Prairie et al. 2017b) but, briefly, consists of the following steps:

- 1. Data annualization: field sampling campaigns reported in the literature are rarely carried through the entire annual cycle. For this reason, greenhouse gas data obtained over sub-annual time periods were annualized by taking into account the annual temperature cycle at the reservoir site and the known temperature dependence of processes leading to the production of CO₂ and CH₄.
- 2. Identifying relationships between annualized flux estimates and environmental variables: environmental characteristics for each reservoir where greenhouse gas fluxes have been measured were extracted using available global databases (GIS layers) and used as input variables for predictive models with an elastic net variable selection procedure. This statistical analysis of the relevant data yielded the following model equations:

Equation 7A.1 (New) CH4 diffusive emission (Mg C $\rm M^{-2}\,D^{-1})$

 $\log_{10} \left(CH_{4, diff} \right) = 0.88(\pm 0.16) - 0.012(\pm 0.002) Age + 0.048(\pm 0.006) T_{factor} + 0.61(\pm 0.706) \log_{10} \left(pcA_{latoral} \right)$

EQUATION 7A.2 (NEW) CH4 BUBBLING EMISSION (MG C M-² d-¹)

 $\log_{10} \left(CH_{4, chul} \right) = -0.99(\pm 0.63) + 0.049(\pm 0.011)Q_{rad} + 1.01(\pm 0.028)\log_{10} \left(pcA_{littoral} \right)$

EQUATION 7A.3 (NEW)
CO ₂ DIFFUSIVE EMISSION (MG C M ⁻² D ⁻¹)
$\log_{10} \left(CO_{2_diff} \right) = c_1 + c_2 T_{factor} - c_3 \log_{10} \left(Age \right) + c_4 SOC + c_5 \log_{10} \left(A_{res} \right)$
$c_1 = 2.035 \pm 0.19$
$c_{_2} = 0.033 \pm 0.005$
$c_{_3} = 0.29 \pm 0.06$
$c_{_4} = 0.00178 \pm 0.006$
$c_{\rm s} = 0.076 \pm 0.03$

Where:

Age	= G-res Reservoir age since construction, yr
$A_{_{res}}$	= G-res Surface area of reservoir, km ²
<i>pcA</i> _{littoral}	= G-res percentage of reservoir area, $A_{res}{<}3$ m deep, $\%$
$CH_{_{4_diff}}$	= Diffusive emission of CH ₄ used in G-res, mg-C $m^{-2} d^{-1}$
$CH_{_{4_ebul}}$	= Ebullitive (bubble) emission of CH_4 used in G-res, mg-C m ⁻² d ⁻¹
CO_{2_diff}	= Diffusive emission of CO ₂ used in G-res, mg-C $m^{-2} d^{-1}$
$Q_{_{rad}}$	= G-res mean daily solar irradiance, kWh $m^{-2} d^{-1}$
SOC	= G-res Soil organic carbon from (0-30 cm), kg m ⁻²
$T_{_{factor}}$	= G-res temperature factor derived from air temperature, $^{\circ}C$

Here, Age is reservoir age (years since construction), pcA_{mond} area was operationally defined as the percent reservoir surface area shallower than 3m as derived from modelled reservoir bathymetry, SOC is surface Soil Organic Carbon (0-30cm), T_{factor} is a temperature factor that corrects for the non-linearity in the temperature response of CH₄ emissions, and Q_{rad} is the mean daily solar irradiance averaged over a latitude-dependent period (see G-res documentation for details), and A_{res} is reservoir area, the surface area of the reservoir (km²). Further details on the statistical analysis, the input environmental variables, their definition and sources can be found in (Prairie et al. 2017b). All resulting empirical models (Equation 7A.1 to 7A.3) were statistically highly significant and explained between 37 and 47% of the variation in the greenhouse gas flux component (log scale).

1. Application of the models to larger database:

The empirical models described above were applied to the larger Global Reservoir and Dam (GRanD) database, (Lehner et al. 2011a) consisting of 6684 reservoirs with capacity >0.1 Mm³ located worldwide as shown in the map in Figure 7A.2. These reservoirs are estimated to comprise collectively over 75% of the global surface area of reservoirs and are distributed in all climate zones (Table 7A.1, Figure 7A.2). The environmental variables required by the models were extracted for each reservoir as previously described and were used as inputs in Equations 7A.1 to 7A.3 to estimate the various components of greenhouse gas emissions. In total, greenhouse gas emissions could be estimated for more than 6000 reservoirs worldwide.

Figure 7A.2 (New) Location of the reservoirs in the GranD database and shadowgram of their latitudinal distribution.



Table 7A.1 (New) Number of reservoirs in the Grand database in each IPCC climate zone.			
IPCC Climate zone	Number of Reservoirs		
Boreal dry	3		
Boreal moist	87		
Cool temperate dry	333		
Cool temperate moist	1746		
Polar moist	27		
Tropical dry	625		
Tropical moist	793		
Tropical montane	227		
Tropical wet	126		
Warm temperate dry	623		
Warm temperate moist	2072		

2. Derivation of CH₄ Emissions Factors:

CH₄ emission is the sum of reservoir-wide ebullitive and diffusive emissions (Equations 7A.1 and 7A.2). However, because the diffusive component is not constant in time but declines with age, Equation A.1 was integrated to estimate the average annual emission over different periods. Based on the available literature, much of the initial greenhouse gas pulse occurs within the first 20 years following impoundment and this time interval was assumed to represent *Land converted to Flooded Land*. The emission factor of CH₄ in this time interval can be derived with Equation 7A.4. For *Flooded Land remaining Flooded Land*, the integration period was from 20 to 100 years post-impoundment. The emission factor of CH₄ in this time interval can be derived with Equation 7A.5.



$$EF = \left| \frac{\int_{0}^{2\pi} CH_{4-diff} \ dAge}{20} + CH_{4-bubbling} \right|$$



Where

EF Emission Factor

 $CH_{4 \text{ diff}}$ Diffusive emission of CH4, Mg-C m⁻² d⁻¹

 CH_4 bubbling Ebullitive (bubble) emission of CH₄, Mg-C m⁻² d⁻¹

Application of Equations 7A.4 and 7A.5 to the reservoirs described in Table 7A.1 were averaged according the aggregated climate zones defined in Table 7A.2 to produce the final Emission Factor (EF) tables for *Flooded Land Remaining Flooded Land* (Table 7.9) and *Land Converted to Flooded Land* (Table 7.15). Emissions factors (EFs) are expressed as kg CH₄ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

In addition to the diffusive and ebullitive emissions from reservoir surfaces, downstream CH₄ emissions are estimated. These downstream emissions are estimated by multiplying reservoir emissions by a fraction (R_d), which is the ratio of total CH₄ emissions (kg CH₄-C y⁻¹) downstream of the reservoir (i.e. degassing at the dam and emissions from the downstream river) to CH₄ emissions from the surface of the reservoir (diffusion + ebullition; kg CH₄-C y⁻¹). Downstream emissions are influenced by local climate, reservoir morphology, and design features of the dam and spillway (Deemer et al. 2016). In general, these emissions will be large in thermally stratified reservoirs with anoxic, CH₄-rich bottom waters and hypolimnetic withdrawal (dos Santos et al. 2017). These emissions can be further enhanced by high air-water gas exchange rates at the dam or spillway that promote the rapid evasion of CH₄ to the atmosphere before it can be oxidized to CO₂ in the downstream river (Abril et al. 2005). Accurately predicting downstream emissions requires detailed knowledge of dam design (i.e. withdrawal depth) and operating conditions (i.e. withdrawal rates) and is beyond the scope of the Tier 1 methodology. However, if appropriate at a higher tier, downstream emissions may be estimated using climate zone specific R_d values in Table 7.10 derived from a literature compilation listed in section 7A.1.2.3 Data Sources.

Downstream emissions have received much less attention than emissions from reservoir surfaces, but have been reported for 36 reservoirs distributed across the 6 aggregated IPCC climate zones (see section 7A.1.2.3 Data Sources, Table 7A.5). It should be noted, however, that reported downstream emissions can be biased high or low, depending on study-specific methodological details. For example, several studies assumed that all excess dissolved CH_4 (i.e. the difference between actual dissolved CH_4 concentration and atmospheric equilibrium) entering the dam would evade to the atmosphere via a combination of degassing at the dam and diffusion from the river surface (Beaulieu et al. 2014a), (Teodoru et al. 2012). This approach will overestimate downstream emissions because up to 85% the CH₄ that enters the downstream waterbodies can be oxidized to CO₂ (Kemenes et al. 2007). Other studies only reported degassing in turbines (i.e. did not estimate downstream waterbody emissions), thereby biasing downstream emissions low (Maeck et al. 2013). Although methodological differences can bias downstream emission values, the effect of methodology was not apparent in the pooled data, likely because other factors, such as the depth of water withdrawal relative to the oxycline, were more important drivers. Similarly, differences among climate zones were not apparent in the data, therefore the Tier 1 R_d value was not disaggregated by climate zone. Due to the highly skewed distribution of reported R_d values, the Tier 1 R_d value is based on the median value (see 7A.1.2 "Validation of the data-model approach"). At the Tier 2 level the downstream emission term in Equation 7.10 can be set to zero in reservoirs where epilimnetic water is withdrawn and discharged to the river downstream. Countries can directly measure downstream emissions at the Tier 3 level using the methods discussed in the references cited in section A7.1.2.3 Data Sources (Table A5).
3. Grouping of reservoirs according to IPCC climate zones

The 6014 estimates of CH_4 emissions (diffusive + ebullitive) from worldwide reservoirs generated by the G-res tool were grouped according to the IPCC climate regions. A regression tree approach was used to lump certain climate categories together based on their abilities to separate groups with different CH_4 emissions. The final grouping comprised 6 aggregated climate zones (Table 7A.2) and these were applied throughout this Methodology Report.

Table 7A.2 (New) Aggregated climate zones based on differences in CH4 emissions between categories			
IPCC Climate zone	Aggregated climate zone		
Boreal dry	Boreal		
Boreal moist			
Polar dry			
Polar moist			
Cool temperate dry			
Cool temperate moist	Cool temperate		
Warm temperate dry	Warm temperate dry		
Warm temperate moist	Warm temperate moist		
Tropical dry	Tropical dry/montane		
Tropical montane			
Tropical moist	Tropical moist/wet		
Tropical wet			

Validation of the data-model approach

Surface Emissions

Model estimations and direct measurements are not strictly comparable in that the former have been annualized and represent the integrated average annual emissions of the first 20 years post-impoundment (plus ebullitive emissions) while the latter are point measurements encompassing varying degrees of spatial and temporal integration depending on the study. Nevertheless, it is informative to compare the central tendency and variability in CH_4 emissions among reservoirs in each of the climate zones. Both model estimations and field measurements were highly variable and positively skewed in each climate zone (Figure 7A.3).

Figure 7A.3 (New)

Box plots of model estimates (empty) and Field measurements (filled) of CH₄ emissions (note logarithmic scale) in aggregated IPCC climate zones.



Field measurements are from (Deemer et al. 2016) while modelled estimates are derived from G-res model applied to about 6000 reservoirs worldwide. Exact correspondence between measured and modelled ranges is not expected given that the models were applied to a large number of reservoirs of different configurations. Numbers in box plots correspond to the number of observations in each climate zone.

While the distribution of modelled and measured greenhouse gas emission estimates generally overlapped in each climate zone, a more direct measure of correspondence is shown by the relationship between field measurements versus model estimates of CH_4 emissions (Figure 7A.4). CH_4 emissions from individual reservoirs predicted using the Tier 1 approach agreed reasonably well with measured CH_4 emissions (Nash-Sutcliffe Efficiency: 0.8, with no detectable bias in either slope or intercept of least-squares regression; Figure 7A.4). These comparisons collectively provide evidence that the model estimates capture both the variability and central tendency in CH_4 emission rates.

Figure 7A.4 (New) Comparison of measure CH₄ emissions with estimates based on the Emission Factors (EFs, Tables 7.9 and 7.15) of Tier 1 methodology.

Modeled vs Measured CH₄ Flux Per Reservoir (Ton CH₄ /Yr)



Figure 7A.4 re-drawn using final approved Tier-1 method. NSE=0.83; no evident bias for any climate category. No chlorophyll correction used (alpha=1 in all cases). 1:1 line (black), best-fit linear regression line (blue) with 95% confidence intervals for slope (grey shading) are shown.

Downstream Emissions

Downstream emissions estimated using the median of the literature R_d values (0.09), combined with model estimated surface emission rates, agree well with observed downstream emission rates (Figure 7A.5). Downstream emissions estimated using the mean Rd literature value (0.60) systematically overestimate downstream emissions (Figure 7A.5), lending additional support for the use of the median Rd value for estimating downstream emissions.



The left and right panels model downstream emissions using the median and mean Rd values collected from the literature, respectively. Because using the mean produced consistent overestimates (right panel), the use of the median is preferred.

7A.1.2.2CO₂ Emission factors for Land Converted to Flooded Land.

The creation of reservoirs as well as other Flooded Lands often involves the flooding of terrestrial ecosystems and their organic matter pools. A portion of these pools is rapidly degraded by microbial activity generating a CO_2 pulse that diminishes steadily during the 10-20 years following flooding until the Flooded Land attains a new steady state emission rate (Abril et al. 2005), (Barros et al. 2011), (Teodoru et al. 2012). The new steady state emission rate generally falls in the range typical of other freshwater ecosystems that have remained flooded for > 20 years (Prairie et al. 2017b). Meta-analyses of published emission studies (Barros et al. 2011), (Prairie et al. 2017b) suggest that the rate of decline decreases with time (faster in the early years, slower later on) and that the temporal evolution of CO_2 emissions is expressed as a general negative power function. The literature suggests that a decade is a realistic period for the return to a quasi-equilibrium (e.g.(Tremblay et al. 2005), reflecting the new balance between primary production and respiration of the reservoir ecosystem. A more conservative approach assumes, instead, that this new equilibrium is reached only after 100 years - a value that is often used to represent the expected lifetime of reservoirs in life-cycle analysis (e.g. (Gagnon et al. 2002). Over such a period, integration of the emissions above the modelled new equilibrium value at 100 years (upper panel of Figure A6) suggests that about 75% of the cumulative CO_2 flux is natural, i.e. that only 25% can be considered the result of the impoundment process (Prairie et al. 2017a).

The carbon stocks of the land prior to impoundment are specific for each land use / land cover, and the default Tier 1 estimates for these pools can be derived from the 2006 IPCC Guidelines, FAO 2017 database as refined in this volume, and the 2013 Wetlands Supplement, while masses for dry matter in undrained and drained peatlands are given in the 2013 Wetlands Supplement Table 2.6. The guidelines recognize five terrestrial C pools: above-ground biomass, below-ground biomass, dead wood, litter and soil organic matter. In preparation of the impoundment area, the carbon losses from harvested biomass and the emissions from deliberately burned biomass are reported according to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines as refined in this volume. The CO₂ emissions from the decay of dead organic matter in the newly flooded land is described below.

The easily decomposable organic matter fractions (litter, foliage, twigs, fine roots, organic soils) contribute to the post-flooding CO_2 pulse, while the more recalcitrant fractions (tree boles, mineral soils) are for the most part preserved. However, it is noteworthy that following flooding, the mineral soil layer rapidly becomes (and remains indefinitely) anoxic below a depth of a few mm (Lorke et al. 2003). Anaerobic remineralisation occurs very slowly and below this depth, organic carbon can be considered permanently buried for practical inventory estimation purposes. In organic soils and in humus layers, flooding may produce an analogous anaerobic zone. In thermally stratified reservoirs, mineralisation of organic matter will be retarded in anoxic hypolimnia.

The surge in CO_2 emission post-flooding is caused by the remineralisation of pre-flooding organic matter pools and it can be considered as a net loss of the carbon stock from the previous land use. At the moment, there is little information to quantify how individual terrestrial organic carbon pools contribute to the post-flooding CO_2 surge. Nevertheless, the abundant amount of reservoir emission measurements for young (< 20 y) reservoirs (Deemer et al. 2016) has made possible the development of models such as G-res that can be used to estimate net post-flooding CO_2 -C emissions (Table 7.13).

The approach used to derive net CO_2 emissions from reservoirs is the same as that used to derive emissions of CH_4 (section 7A.1.2.1) and is based on the greenhouse gas reservoir (G-res) model (Prairie et al. 2017b) which uses empirical relationships between environmental drivers and greenhouse gas emissions to estimate reservoir greenhouse gas fluxes from a large, diverse set of reservoirs (>6000 reservoirs with global distribution). Instantaneous greenhouse gas flux measurement data are annualized to take into consideration seasonal changes in temperature that may be different from the moment when empirical measurements were conducted in the field.

An example where annual fluxes are generated from point measurements is described in the technical documentation of the IHA G-Res tool (Prairie et al. 2017b). There are two approaches to derive emissions. In one, a power function for annual flux, $CO_2 = C \cdot Age^{-b}$ where C is a reservoir specific constant depending on nutrients, temperature, reservoir area etc. and b is estimated by fitting to the data, is assumed to reach the natural equilibrium level of CO_2 flux at the reservoir age of 100 years. That level determines how much of the annual CO_2 flux should be subtracted each year from the integrated area under the flux CO_2 curve, see (Prairie et al. 2017a). Another approach, which is applied to derive Tier 1 emission factors, uses an empirical relationship between the derived integrated decay curve and soil organic carbon stock as well as climate under the newly flooded area (Fig. 7A.6 and Equation 7A.3). The emissions attributable to the creation of the reservoir over a 100-year period are reported as a constant rate over the first 20 years post-flooding. Accordingly, the rates of emissions are dependent on climate and soil C content (to 30 cm depth) for the flooded area (see text in 7A.1.2 and Equation 7A.3 and section 7.3.2, Equation 7.14).



Relationship between CO₂ surge estimates from the newly flooded lands using the decay curve approach and the flooded soil organic carbon stock approach.



7A.1.2.3DATA SOURCES

Data sources and range of emission values (mg C-CH₄ m⁻² d⁻¹) for directly measured CH₄ emissions are in Table 7A.3. Data sources used to develop models (Equations 7A.1, 7A.2 and 7A.3) are largely overlapping and are in Annex VI of Prairie et al. 2017b. These were used in section 7A.1.2.2 of this Annex to validate the Emission Factors provided in Tables 7.9 and 7.15.

Data sources (including systems assessed and citations) for estimating the multiplier (R_D , Table 7.10) which is the ratio of total CH₄ emissions (kg CH₄-C yr⁻¹) downstream of the reservoir (i.e. degassing at the dam and emissions from the downstream river) to CH₄ emissions from the surface of the reservoir (diffusion + ebullition; kg CH₄-C yr⁻¹) are in Table 7A.4.

TABLE 7A.3 (NEW) Data sources used for modelling CH4 emissions from reservoirs within different climate zones.				
Grouped IPCC Climate Zone	Number of systems with CH4 measurements in category	Range of reported emissions values (mg C-CH4 m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	References	
Polar moist, boreal dry and moist	б	0.4-13	(Tremblay et al. 2005), (Teodoru et al. 2012), (Demarty et al. 2011), (Demarty et al. 2009), (Brothers et al. 2012), (Kelly et al. 1994), (Roehm & Tremblay 2006), (Tadonléké et al. 2012), (Duchemin et al. 1995), (Huttunen et al. 2002), (Fedorov et al. 2015)	
Cool temperate moist and dry*	16	0-360.7	(Harrison et al. 2017), (Matthews et al. 2005), (Hendzel et al. 2005), (Venkiteswaran Jason et al. 2013; Venkiteswaran et al. 2013), (Kelly et al. 1997), (Deemer et al. 2011), (Maeck et al. 2013), (Huttunen et al. 2002), (Gruca-Rokosz et al. 2011), (Gruca-Rokosz et al. 2010), (Beaulieu et al. 2014a), (Beaulieu et al. 2014b)	
Warm temperate moist	14	2.5-176.0	(Rosa et al. 2004), (dos Santos et al. 2006), (Harrison et al. 2017), (Li et al. 2015), (Maeck et al. 2013), (Gruca-Rokosz et al. 2010), (Zhao et al. 2013), (Wu 2012), (Yang et al. 2013), (Chen et al. 2011), (Lu et al. 2011), (Zhao 2012), (Xiao et al. 2013), (Zhu et al. 2013), (Zhao et al. 2015), (Li et al. 2014), (Bevelhimer et al. 2016), (Mosher et al. 2015)	
Tropical dry and montane	13	0.5-582.3	(Diem et al. 2012), (Ometto et al. 2013), (Pacheco et al. 2015), (Roland et al. 2010), (Sturm et al. 2014), (DelSontro et al. 2011), (Selvam et al. 2014), (Bansal et al. 2015), (DelSontro et al. 2010), (Eugster et al. 2011), (Kumar & Sharma 2012), (Teodoru et al. 2015), (Almeida et al. 2016)	
Tropical wet and moist	26	3.6-258.3	(Therrien et al. 2005), (Tremblay et al. 2005), (Bergström et al. 2004), (Guérin et al. 2006), (Kemenes et al. 2007), (Kemenes et al. 2011), (Musenze et al. 2014), (Rosa et al. 2004), (dos Santos et al. 2006), (St. Louis et al. 2000), (Ometto et al. 2013), (Bergier et al. 2011), (Duchemin et al. 2000), (Roland et al. 2010), (Keller & Stallard 1994), (Joyce & Jewell 2003), (Selvam et al. 2014), (Deshmukh 2013), (Deshmukh et al. 2014), (Abril et al. 2005), (Rosa et al. 2003), (Lima 2005), (Lima et al. 2002), (Lima et al. 1998), (Marcelino et al. 2015)	

TABLE 7A.4 (NEW)Reservoirs and citations for measured R_D values				
System Name	IPCC climate zone	*Citation		
Eastmain-1	Boreal	(Teodoru et al. 2012)		
Gruyere, Lake Grimsel, Lake Luzzone, Lake Sihl, Wohlen, Serrig, Dworshak	Cool temperate	(Diem et al. 2012), (DelSontro et al. 2016), (Maeck et al. 2013), (Soumis et al. 2004)		
F.D. Roosevelt, New Melones, Wallula	Warm temperate dry	(Soumis et al. 2004)		
William H Harsha Lake, Allatoona, Douglas, Fontana, Guntersville, Hartwell, Watts Bar, Eguzon, Oroville, Shasta	Warm temperate moist	(Beaulieu et al. 2014b), (Bevelhimer et al. 2016), (Descloux et al. 2017), (Soumis et al. 2004)		
Lake Kariba, Xingó, Tehri	Tropical dry/montane	(DelSontro et al. 2011), (dos Santos et al. 2017), (Kumar & Sharma 2016)		
Nam Leuk, Nam Ngum, Funil, Itaipu, Segredo, Serra da Mesa, Três Marias, Petit Saut, Koombooloomba, Nam Theun 2, Tucuruí, Samuel, Balbina	Tropical moist/wet	(Chanudet et al. 2011), (dos Santos et al. 2017), (Abril et al. 2005), (Bastien & Demarty 2013), (Deshmukh et al. 2016), (Serça et al. 2016), (Guérin et al. 2006), (Kemenes et al. 2007)		
*See references section for full citations.	•	·		

7A.1.3 Other constructed waterbodies (agricultural ponds, aquaculture ponds, canals and ditches)

Many forms of agricultural and silvicultural land management involve the creation of artificial waterbodies. For example, ditches are often used for land drainage or irrigation; small constructed ponds are used for small scale irrigation or as a water source for livestock; and canal systems are used for water level management, water transfers and navigation. Aquaculture ponds and flooded pastures can occupy extensive areas on the landscape (Yang et al. 2017), (Kroeger et al. 2017). In settlements ponds may be created for recreation, aesthetics or stormwater management.

Similar to reservoirs, CO_2 emissions from smaller volume constructed waterbodies including ditches, canals, farm ponds and aquaculture ponds, are the result of decomposition of soil organic matter and other organic matter within the waterbody or entering the water from the catchment, as well as from biological components (e.g. fish). No guidance is provided here since these emissions are either estimated elsewhere (e.g. as soil carbon loss) or represent short-term natural carbon cycling (e.g. biological turnover).

 CH_4 emissions from small constructed waterbodies are primarily the result of new methanogenic production of CH_4 induced by anoxic conditions, which occurs when waterbodies have high organic matter loading and low oxygen status. These conditions often occur in small constructed waterbodies, such as slow-flowing ditches (Evans et al. 2016), agricultural ponds (Selvam et al. 2014) and aquaculture ponds (Robb et al. 2017), but may be lower where mixing or aeration occurs as part of aquaculture management (e.g. (Vasanth et al. 2016) and are sensitive to temperatures (Davidson et al. 2011). Area-specific emissions from these constructed waterbodies may equal or exceed those observed in small lakes and reservoirs (Bastviken et al. 2010); see above). Furthermore, the CH_4 emissions from small constructed waterbodies are a direct consequence of the construction of the waterbody.

 CH_4 emission factors from small constructed waterbodies (Section 7.3.1.2, Table 7.12) are based on review of the peer reviewed literature using appropriate search terms. Literature was obtained using Web of Science and Google Scholar. In some cases (e.g. PhD Theses), data were obtained directly from authors. For each study or sites within studies, a mean CH_4 flux was extracted from tables, figures or text. Fluxes were converted to annual fluxes by simple scaling (e.g. multiplying per day rates by 365 days), or if more information was provided (e.g. days per aquaculture production cycle and production cycles per year), data were annualized using this additional information. Methane emissions from land and water surfaces are rarely normally distributed within datasets due to the heterogeneity of emission pathways and controlling factors, and data were therefore log-transformed during the calculation of mean emission factors. The high variability and relatively small number of observations also precluded estimation of separate Tier 1 EFs by climate zone or other factors (apart from waterbody type and (for ponds) salinity), and 95% confidence intervals are correspondingly large.

References

REFERENCES NEWLY CITED IN THE 2019 REFINEMENT

- Abril G, Guérin F, Richard S, Delmas R, Galy-Lacaux C, Gosse P, Tremblay A, et al. (2005) Carbon dioxide and methane emissions and the carbon budget of a 10-year old tropical reservoir (Petit Saut, French Guiana). *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 19: n/a-n/a.
- Almeida RM, Nóbrega GN, Junger PC, Figueiredo AV, Andrade AS, de Moura CGB, Tonetta D, et al. (2016) High Primary Production Contrasts with Intense Carbon Emission in a Eutrophic Tropical Reservoir. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7: 717.
- Avnimelech Y, Ritvo G (2003) Shrimp and fish pond soils: processes and management. *Aquaculture* 220: 549-567.
- Baker-Blocker A, Donahue TM, Mancy KH (1977) Methane flux from wetlands areas. Tellus 29: 245-250.
- Bansal S, Chakraborty M, Katyal D, Garg JK (2015) Methane flux from a subtropical reservoir located in the floodplains of river Yamuna, India. *Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res.* 13.
- Barros N, Cole JJ, Tranvik LJ, Prairie YT, Bastviken D, Huszar VLM, del Giorgio P, et al. (2011) Carbon emission from hydroelectric reservoirs linked to reservoir age and latitude. *Nature Geoscience* 4: 593.
- Bastien J, Demarty M (2013) Spatio-temporal variation of gross CO and CH diffusive emissions from Australian reservoirs and natural aquatic ecosystems, and estimation of net reservoir emissions. *Lakes Reserv Res Manage* 18: 115-127.
- Bastviken D (2009) Methane. In: Methane, pp. 783-805. Elsevier.
- Bastviken D, Cole J, Pace M, Tranvik L (2004) Methane emissions from lakes: Dependence of lake characteristics, two regional assessments, and a global estimate. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 18.
- Bastviken D, Cole JJ, Pace ML, Van de Bogert MC (2008) Fates of methane from different lake habitats: Connecting whole-lake budgets and CH₄ emissions. *J Geophys Res Biogeosciences* 113.
- Bastviken D, Santoro AL, Marotta H, Pinho LQ, Calheiros DF, Crill P, Enrich-Prast A (2010) Methane Emissions from Pantanal, South America, during the Low Water Season: Toward More Comprehensive Sampling. *Environmental Science & Technology* 44: 5450-5455.
- Bastviken D, Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Crill PM, Enrich-Prast A (2011) Freshwater Methane Emissions Offset the Continental Carbon Sink. *Science* 331: 50-50.
- Beaulieu JJ, Smolenski RL, Nietch CT, Townsend-Small A, Elovitz Michael S, Schubauer-Berigan JP (2014a) Denitrification alternates between a source and sink of nitrous oxide in the hypolimnion of a thermally stratified reservoir. *Limnology and Oceanography* 59: 495-506.
- Beaulieu JJ, Smolenski RL, Nietch CT, Townsend-Small A, Elovitz MS (2014b) High methane emissions from a midlatitude reservoir draining an agricultural watershed. *Environ Sci Technol* 48: 11100-11108.
- Bergier I, Novo EMLM, Ramos FM, Mazzi EA, Rasera MFFL (2011) Carbon dioxide and methane fluxes in the littoral zone of a tropical savanna reservoir (Corumbá, Brazil). *Oecologia Australis* 15: 666-681.
- Bergström A-K, Algesten G, Sobek S, Tranvik L, Jansson M (2004) Emission of CO₂ from hydroelectric reservoirs in northern Sweden. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie* 159: 25-42.
- Best EPH, Jacobs FHH (1997) The influence of raised water table levels on carbon dioxide and methane production in ditch-dissected peat grasslands in the Netherlands. *Ecological Engineering* 8: 129-144.
- Bevelhimer MS, Stewart AJ, Fortner AM, Phillips JR, Mosher JJ (2016) CO₂ is Dominant Greenhouse Gas Emitted from Six Hydropower Reservoirs in Southeastern United States during Peak Summer Emissions. *Water* 8.
- Bogard MJ, del Giorgio PA, Boutet L, Chaves MCG, Prairie YT, Merante A, Derry AM (2014) Oxic water column methanogenesis as a major component of aquatic CH₄ fluxes. *Nature Communications* 5: 5350.
- Bridgham SD, Cadillo-Quiroz H, Keller JK, Zhuang Q (2013) Methane emissions from wetlands: biogeochemical, microbial, and modeling perspectives from local to global scales. *Global Change Biology* 19: 1325-1346.
- Brothers Soren M, del Giorgio Paul A, Teodoru Cristian R, Prairie Yves T (2012) Landscape heterogeneity influences carbon dioxide production in a young boreal reservoir. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 69: 447-456.
- Bussmann I (2005) Methane Release through Resuspension of Littoral Sediment. Biogeochemistry 74: 283-302.

- Camacho A, Picazo A, Rochera C, Santamans CA, Morant D, Miralles-Lorenzo J, Castillo-Escrivà A (2017) Methane Emissions in Spanish Saline Lakes: Current Rates, Temperature and Salinity Responses, and Evolution under Different Climate Change Scenarios. *Water* 9.
- Cameron C, Hutley L, Friess D, McGuiness K. (2016) TAKING STOCK: Results from a carbon stock analysis of natural and rehabilitated mangroves, Tiwoho (North Sulawesi). In.
- Carlson RE (1977) A trophic state index for lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 361-369.
- Casper P, Maberly SC, Hall GH, Finlay BJ (2000) Fluxes of methane and carbon dioxide from a small productive lake to the atmosphere. *Biogeochemistry* 49: 1-19.
- Castillo JAA, Apan AA, Maraseni TN, Salmo SG (2017) Soil greenhouse gas fluxes in tropical mangrove forests and in land uses on deforested mangrove lands. *Catena* 159: 60-69.
- Chamberlain SD, Boughton EH, Sparks JP (2015) Underlying Ecosystem Emissions Exceed Cattle-Emitted Methane from Subtropical Lowland Pastures. *Ecosystems* 18: 933-945.
- Chanudet V, Descloux S, Harby A, Sundt H, Hansen BH, Brakstad O, Serca D, et al. (2011) Gross CO₂ and CH4 emissions from the Nam Ngum and Nam Leuk sub-tropical reservoirs in Lao PDR. *Sci Total Environ* 409: 5382-5391.
- Chen H, Yuan X, Chen Z, Wu Y, Liu X, Zhu D, Wu N, et al. (2011) Methane emissions from the surface of the Three Gorges Reservoir. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 116.
- Chen Y, Dong S, Wang Z, Wang F, Gao Q, Tian X, Xiong Y (2015) Variations in CO₂ fluxes from grass carp Ctenopharyngodon idella aquaculture polyculture ponds. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions* 8: 31-40.
- Chistotin MV, Sirin, A. A., Dulov, L. E. (2006) Seasonal dynamics of carbon dioxide and methane emissions from peatland of Moscow Region drained for peat extraction and agruculture use (in Russian). Agochemistry 6: 32-41.
- Clow DW, Stackpoole SM, Verdin KL, Butman DE, Zhu Z, Krabbenhoft DP, Striegl RG (2015) Organic Carbon Burial in Lakes and Reservoirs of the Conterminous United States. *Environmental Science & Technology* 49: 7614-7622.
- Cole JJ, Caraco NF (2001) Carbon in catchments: connecting terrestrial carbon losses with aquatic metabolism. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 52: 101-110.
- Cunningham S, Mac Nally R, Griffioen P, White M. (2009) Mapping the Condition of River Red Gum and Black Box Stands in The Living Murray Icon Sites. A Milestone Report to the Murray-Darling Basin Authority as part of Contract MD1114. In.
- Davidson EA, Samanta S, Caramori SS, Savage K (2011) The Dual Arrhenius and Michaelis–Menten kinetics model for decomposition of soil organic matter at hourly to seasonal time scales. *Global Change Biology* 18: 371-384.
- Deemer BR, Harrison JA, Li SY, Beaulieu JJ, Delsontro T, Barros N, Bezerra-Neto JF, et al. (2016) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Reservoir Water Surfaces: A New Global Synthesis. *Bioscience* 66: 949-964.
- Deemer BR, Harrison JA, Whitling EW (2011) Microbial dinitrogen and nitrous oxide production in a small eutrophic reservoir: An in situ approach to quantifying hypolimnetic process rates. *Limnology and Oceanography* 56: 1189-1199.
- DelSontro T, Beaulieu JJ, Downing JA (2018) Greenhouse gas emissions from lakes and impoundments: Upscaling in the face of global change. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters* 3: 64-75.
- DelSontro T, Kunz MJ, Kempter T, Wüest A, Wehrli B, Senn DB (2011) Spatial Heterogeneity of Methane Ebullition in a Large Tropical Reservoir. *Environmental Science & Technology Environ. Sci. Technol.* Environmental Science & Technology 45: 9866-9873.
- DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Sobek S, Ostrovsky I, Wehrli B (2010) Extreme Methane Emissions from a Swiss Hydropower Reservoir: Contribution from Bubbling Sediments. *ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY* 44: 2419-2425.
- DelSontro T, Perez KK, Sollberger Sb, Wehrli B (2016) Methane dynamics downstream of a temperate run-ofthe-river reservoir. *Limnology and Oceanography Limnol. Oceanogr.* 61: S188-S203.
- Demarty M, Bastien J, Tremblay A (2011) Annual follow-up of gross diffusive carbon dioxide and methane emissions from a boreal reservoir and two nearby lakes in Quebec, Canada. *Biogeosciences* 8: 41-53.

- Demarty M, Bastien J, Tremblay A, Hesslein RH, Gill R (2009) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Boreal Reservoirs in Manitoba and Quebec, Canada, Measured with Automated Systems. *Environmental Science & Technology* 43: 8908-8915.
- Descloux S, Chanudet V, Serça D, Guérin F (2017) Methane and nitrous oxide annual emissions from an old eutrophic temperate reservoir. *Science of The Total Environment* 598: 959-972.
- Deshmukh C (2013) Greenhouse gas emissions (CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O) from a newly flooded hydroelectric reservoir in subtropical South Asia: The case of Nam Theun 2 Reservoir, Lao PDR. PhD Thesis. Université Paul Sabatier- Toulouse III
- Deshmukh C, Guérin F, Labat D, Pighini S, Vongkhamsao A, Guédant P, Rode W, et al. (2016) Low methane (CH₄) emissions downstream of a monomictic subtropical hydroelectric reservoir (Nam Theun 2, Lao PDR). *Biogeosciences* 13: 1919-1932.
- Deshmukh C, Guérin F, Vongkhamsao A, Pighini S, Oudone P, Sopraseuth S, Godon A, et al. (2018) Carbon dioxide emissions from the flat bottom and shallow Nam Theun 2 Reservoir: drawdown area as a neglected pathway to the atmosphere. *Biogeosciences* 15: 1775-1794.
- Deshmukh C, Serça D, Delon C, Tardif R, Demarty M, Jarnot C, Meyerfeld Y, et al. (2014) Physical controls on CH₄ emissions from a newly flooded subtropical freshwater hydroelectric reservoir: Nam Theun 2. *Biogeosciences* 11: 4251-4269.
- Diem T, Koch S, Schwarzenbach S, Wehrli B, Schubert CJ (2012) Greenhouse gas emissions (CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O) from several perialpine and alpine hydropower reservoirs by diffusion and loss in turbines. *Aquatic Sciences* 74: 619-635.
- dos Santos MA, Damázio JM, Rogério JP, Amorim MA, Medeiros AM, Abreu JLS, Maceira MEP, et al. (2017) Estimates of GHG emissions by hydroelectric reservoirs: The Brazilian case. *Energy* 133: 99-107.
- dos Santos MA, Rosa LP, Sikar B, Sikar E, dos Santos EO (2006) Gross greenhouse gas fluxes from hydro-power reservoir compared to thermo-power plants. *Energy Policy* 34: 481-488.
- Duc NT, Crill P, Bastviken D (2010) Implications of temperature and sediment characteristics on methane formation and oxidation in lake sediments. *Biogeochemistry* 100: 185-196.
- Duchemin É, Lucotte M, Canuel R, Chamberland A (1995) Production of the greenhouse gases CH₄ and CO₂ by hydroelectric reservoirs of the boreal region. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 9: 529-540.
- Duchemin E, Lucotte M, Canuel R, Queiroz AG, Almeida DC, Pereira HC, Dezincourt J (2000) Comparison of greenhouse gas emissions from an old tropical reservoir with those from other reservoirs worldwide. SIL Proceedings, 1922-2010 27: 1391-1395.
- Duchemin É, Luotte M, Canuel R, Soumis N (2006) First assessment of methane and carbon dioxide emissions from shallow and deep zones of boreal reservoirs upon ice break-up. *Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management* 11: 9-19.
- Eugster W, DelSontro T, Sobek S (2011) Eddy covariance flux measurements confirm extreme CH₄ emissions from a Swiss hydropower reservoir and resolve their short-term variability. *Biogeosciences Discussions* 8: 5019-5055.
- Evans C, Morrison R, Burden A, Williamson J, Baird A, Brown E, Callaghan N, et al. (2017) Lowland peatland systems in England and Wales evaluating greenhouse gas fluxes and carbon balances. Final report on project SP1210. In.
- Evans CD, Renou-Wilson F, Strack M (2016) The role of waterborne carbon in the greenhouse gas balance of drained and re-wetted peatlands. *Aquatic Sciences* 78: 573-590.
- Fedorov MP, Elistratov VV, Maslikov VI, Sidorenko GI, Chusov AN, Atrashenok VP, Molodtsov DV, et al. (2015) Reservoir Greenhouse Gas Emissions at Russian HPP. *Power Technology and Engineering* 49: 33-39.
- Gagnon L, Bélanger C, Uchiyama Y (2002) Life-cycle assessment of electricity generation options: The status of research in year 2001. *Energy Policy* 30: 1267-1278.
- Goldenfum JA. (2010) GHG Measurement Guidelines for Freshwater Reservoirs. In: p. 138. London: The International Hydropower Association (IHA).
- Grinham A, Albert, S., Deering, N. (2018) Quantifying natural GHG sources and sinks: The role of regional small water bodies. Review report. In: The University of Queensland.
- Gruca-Rokosz, R. Czerwieniec, E., Tomaszek, A. J (2011) Methane emission from the Nielisz Reservoi. *Environment Protection Engineering* 37: 101-109.

- Gruca-Rokosz R, Tomaszek J, Koszelnik P, Czerwieniec E (2010) Methane and carbon dioxide emission from some reservoirs in SE Poland. *Limnological Review* 10: 15-21.
- Gusmawati NF, Zhi C, Soulard B, Lemonnier H, Selmaoui-Folcher N (2016) Aquaculture Pond Precise Mapping in Perancak Estuary, Bali, Indonesia. *Journal of Coastal Research* 75: 637-641.
- Guérin F, Abril G, Richard S, Burban B, Reynouard C, Seyler P, Delmas R (2006) Methane and carbon dioxide emissions from tropical reservoirs: Significance of downstream rivers. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33.
- Hai L, Gang Z, Xuguang L, Jun Z, Tongqing Z, Guimin W (2013) Greenhouse gases emissions from pond culture ecosystem of Chinese mitten crab and their comprehensive gloglobal warming potentials in summer. *Journbal of Fisheries in China* 37: 417-424.
- Harrison JA (2003) Nitrogen dynamics and greenhouse gas production in Yaqui Valley surface drainage waters. PhD Thesis. Standford University.
- Harrison JA, Deemer BR, Birchfield MK, O'Malley MT (2017) Reservoir Water-Level Drawdowns Accelerate and Amplify Methane Emission. *Environmental Science & Technology* 51: 1267-1277.
- Hélie J-F (2004) Géochimie et flux de carbone organique et inorganique dans les milieux aquatiques de l'est du Canada : exemples du Saint-Laurent et du réservoir Robert-Bourassa : approche isotopique.
- Hendriks DMD, van Huissteden J, Dolman AJ, van der Molen MK (2007) The full greenhouse gas balance of an abandoned peat meadow. *Biogeosciences* 4: 411-424.
- Hendzel LL, Matthews CJD, Venkiteswaran JJ, St. Louis VL, Burton D, Joyce EM, Bodaly RA (2005) Nitrous Oxide Fluxes in Three Experimental Boreal Forest Reservoirs. *Environmental Science & Technology* 39: 4353-4360.
- Holgerson MA, Raymond PA (2016) Large contribution to inland water CO₂ and CH₄ emissions from very small ponds. *Nature Geoscience* 9: 222-226.
- Houel S (2003) Dynamics of terrigenous organic matter in boreal reservoirs. PhD Thesis. University of Québec in Montréal (UQAM).
- Hu Z, Wu S, Ji C, Zou J, Zhou Q, Liu S (2016) A comparison of methane emissions following rice paddies conversion to crab-fish farming wetlands in southeast China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 23: 1505-1515.
- Huang K-h (2016) Fluxes of methane in aquaculture ponds in southern Taiwan. Master Thesis. Master. University of Taiwan.
- Huttunen JT, Väisänen TS, Hellsten SK, Heikkinen M, Nykänen H, Jungner H, Niskanen A, et al. (2002) Fluxes of CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O in hydroelectric reservoirs Lokka and Porttipahta in the northern boreal zone in Finland. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 16: 3-1-3-17.
- ICOLD. (1988) International Commission on Large Dams, (1984) Word Register of Dams. 1984 Full Edition and 1988 Updating. In: Paris.
- IPCC. (2014) 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands. Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M. and Troxler, T.G. (eds). In: IPCC, Switzerland.
- Isidorova A, Mendonça R, Sobek S (2019) Reduced Mineralization of Terrestrial OC in Anoxic Sediment Suggests Enhanced Burial Efficiency in Reservoirs Compared to Other Depositional Environments. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 124: 678-688.
- Joyce J, Jewell PW (2003) Physical Controls on Methane Ebullition from Reservoirs and Lakes. *Environmental and Engineering Geoscience* 9: 167-178.
- Keller M, Stallard RF (1994) Methane emission by bubbling from Gatun Lake, Panama. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 99: 8307-8319.
- Kelly CA, Rudd JWM, Bodaly RA, Roulet NP, St.Louis VL, Heyes A, Moore TR, et al. (1997) Increases in Fluxes of Greenhouse Gases and Methyl Mercury following Flooding of an Experimental Reservoir. *Environmental Science & Technology* 31: 1334-1344.
- Kelly CA, Rudd JWM, St. Louis VL, Moore T (1994) Turning attention to reservoir surfaces, a neglected area in greenhouse studies. *Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union* 75: 332-333.
- Kemenes A, Forsberg BR, Melack JM (2007) Methane release below a tropical hydroelectric dam. *Geophys Res* Lett 34: n/a.

- Kemenes A, Forsberg Bruce R, Melack John M (2011) CO₂ emissions from a tropical hydroelectric reservoir (Balbina, Brazil). *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 116.
- Kosten S, Weideveld S, Stepina T, Fritz C. (2018) Mid-term report. Monitoring Greenhouse gas emissions from ditches in the Netherlands. In: Radboud Universiteit Nijmegen, Afdeling Aquatische Ecologie & Milieubiologie, Institute for Water & Wetland Research (IWWR.
- Kroeger KD, Crooks S, Moseman-Valtierra S, Tang J (2017) Restoring tides to reduce methane emissions in impounded wetlands: A new and potent Blue Carbon climate change intervention. *Scientific Reports* 7: 11914.
- Kumar A, Sharma MP (2012) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Hydropower Reservoirs. Hydro Nepal: Journal of Water, Energy and Environment 11: 37-42.
- Kumar A, Sharma MP (2016) Assessment of risk of GHG emissions from Tehri hydropower reservoir, India. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal* 22: 71-85.
- Lehner B, Liermann, R. C, Revenga C, Vörösmarty, C., Fekete B, et al. (2011a) High-resolution mapping of the worldÕs reservoirs and dams for sustainable river-flow management. *Front Ecol Environ* 9: 494-502.
- Lehner B, Reidy Liermann C, Revenga C, Vorosmarty C, Fekete B, Crouzet P, Doll P, et al. (2011b) Global Reservoir and Dam Database, Version 1 (GRanDv1): Dams, Revision 01. In: Palisades, NY: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC).
- Li G, Wang XT, Yang Z, Mao C, West AJ, Ji J (2015) Dam-triggered organic carbon sequestration makes the Changjiang (Yangtze) river basin (China) a significant carbon sink. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci.* 120: 39-53.
- Li Z, Zhang Z, Xiao Y, Guo J, Wu S, Liu J (2014) Spatio-temporal variations of carbon dioxide and its gross emission regulated by artificial operation in a typical hydropower reservoir in China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 186: 3023-3039.
- Lima IBT (2005) Biogeochemical distinction of methane releases from two Amazon hydroreservoirs. *Chemosphere* 59: 1697-1702.
- Lima IBT, de Moraes Novo EML, Ballester MVR, Ometto JP. (1998) Methane production, transport and emission in Amazon hydroelectric plants. in in Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium Proceedings (IGARSS'98). In: 1998 IEEE International 5, 2529–2531: IEEE.
- Lima IBT, Victoria RL, Novo EMLM, Feigl BJ, Ballester MVR, Ometto JP (2002) Methane, carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions from two Amazonian Reservoirs during high water table. *SIL Proceedings*, 1922-2010 28: 438-442.
- Liu H, Wu X, Li Z, Wang Q, Liu D, Liu G (2017) Responses of soil methanogens, methanotrophs, and methane fluxes to land-use conversion and fertilization in a hilly red soil region of southern China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 24: 8731-8743.
- Lorke A, Müller B, Maerki M, Wüest A (2003) Breathing sediments: The control of diffusive transport across the sediment-water interface by periodic boundary-layer turbulence. *Limnology and Oceanography Limnol. Oceanogr.* 48: 2077-2085.
- Lowe L, Nathan R, Morden R (2005) Assessing the impact of farm dams on streamflows, Part II: Regional characterisation. *Australasian Journal of Water Resources* 9: 13-26.
- Lu F, Yang L, Wang X, Duan X, Mu Y, Song W, Zheng F, et al. (2011) Preliminary report on methane emissions from the Three Gorges Reservoir in the summer drainage period. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* 23: 2029-2033.
- Maeck A, DelSontro T, McGinnis DF, Fischer H, Flury S, Schmidt M, Fietzek P, et al. (2013) Sediment Trapping by Dams Creates Methane Emission Hot Spots. *Environmental Science & Technology* 47: 8130-8137.
- Marcelino AA, Santos MA, Xavier VL, Bezerra CS, Silva CRO, Amorim MA, Rodrigues RP, et al. (2015) Diffusive emission of methane and carbon dioxide from two hydropower reservoirs in Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* 75: 331-338.
- Matthews CJD, Joyce EM, Louis VLS, Schiff SL, Venkiteswaran JJ, Hall BD, Bodaly RA, et al. (2005) Carbon Dioxide and Methane Production in Small Reservoirs Flooding Upland Boreal Forest. *Ecosystems* 8: 267-285.
- McNamara NP. (2013) CH₄ emissions from ditches in a drained lowland peat Grassland, Somerset, UK. In: Greenhouse gas emissions associated with non gaseous losses of carbon from peatlands – Fate of particulate and dissolved carbon. Final Report to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Project SP1205. In.

- McPhillips LE, Groffman PM, Schneider RL, Walter MT (2016) Nutrient Cycling in Grassed Roadside Ditches and Lawns in a Suburban Watershed. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 45: 1901-1909.
- Merbach W, Augustin J, Kalettka T, Jacob HJ (1996) Nitrous oxide and methane emissions from riparian areas of ponded depressions of northeast Germany. *Angewandte Botanik (Germany)* 70: 134-136.
- Mosher JJ, Fortner MA, Phillips RJ, Bevelhimer SM, Stewart JA, Troia JM (2015) Spatial and Temporal Correlates of Greenhouse Gas Diffusion from a Hydropower Reservoir in the Southern United States. *Water* 7.
- Musenze RS, Grinham A, Werner U, Gale D, Sturm K, Udy J, Yuan Z (2014) Assessing the Spatial and Temporal Variability of Diffusive Methane and Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Subtropical Freshwater Reservoirs. *Environmental Science & Technology* 48: 14499-14507.
- Narvenkar G, Naqvi SWA, Kurian S, Shenoy DM, Pratihary AK, Naik H, Patil S, et al. (2013) Dissolved methane in Indian freshwater reservoirs. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 185: 6989–6999.
- Natchimuthu S, Selvam BP, Bastviken D (2014) Influence of weather variables on methane and carbon dioxide flux from a shallow pond. *Biogeochemistry* 119: 403-413.
- Oertel C, Matschullat J, Zurba K, Zimmermann F, Erasmi S (2016) Greenhouse gas emissions from soils—A review. *Chemie der Erde Geochemistry* 76: 327-352.
- Ometto JP, Cimbleris ACP, dos Santos MA, Rosa LP, Abe D, Tundisi JG, Stech JL, et al. (2013) Carbon emission as a function of energy generation in hydroelectric reservoirs in Brazilian dry tropical biome. *Energy Policy* 58: 109-116.
- Ottinger M, Clauss K, Kuenzer C (2017) Large-Scale Assessment of Coastal Aquaculture Ponds with Sentinel-1 Time Series Data. *Remote Sensing* 9.
- Pacheco FS, Soares MCS, Assireu AT, Curtarelli MP, Roland F, Abril G, Stech JL, et al. (2015) The effects of river inflow and retention time on the spatial heterogeneity of chlorophyll and water–air CO₂ fluxes in tropical hydropower reservoir. *Biogeosciences* 12: 147-162.
- Peacock M, Ridley LM, Evans CD, Gauci V (2017) Management effects on greenhouse gas dynamics in fen ditches. *Science of The Total Environment* 578: 601-612.
- Pekel JF, Cottam A, Gorelick N, Belward AS (2016) High-resolution mapping of global surface water and its longterm changes. *Nature* 540: 418-422.
- Poffenbarger HJ, Needelman BA, Megonigal JP (2011) Salinity Influence on Methane Emissions from Tidal Marshes. *Wetlands* 31: 831-842.
- Prairie Y, Alm J, Beaulieu J, Barros N, Battin T, Cole J, del Giorgio P, et al. (2017a) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Freshwater Reservoirs: What Does the Atmosphere See? *Ecosystems*.
- Prairie Y, Alm J, Harby A, Mercier-Blais S, Nahas R. (2017b) The GHG Reservoir Tool (G-res) Technical documentation, UNESCO/IHA research project on the GHG status of freshwater reservoirs. Version 1.12. In: p. 76.
- Ramsar. (2005) Information Sheet on Ramsar Wetlands (RIS) 2009-2014 version. Categories approved by Recommendation 4.7 (1990), as amended by Resolution VIII.13 of the 8 th Conference of the Contracting Parties (2002) and Resolutions IX.1 Annex B, IX.6, IX.21 and IX. 22 of the 9th Conference of the Contracting Parties (2005). In.
- Ramsar. (2014) Ramsar COP11 Resolution XI.8, Annex 2, amended August 2014. Strategic Framework and guidelines for the future development of the List of Wetlands of International Importance of the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar, Iran, 1971). 2012 edition adopted as Annex 2 to Resolution XI.8 at COP11, July 2012, adapted to reflect the structure and numbering of the online version of the Ramsar Information Sheet (RIS), August 2014. In.
- Reeburgh WS (2007) Oceanic methane biogeochemistry. Chem Rev 107: 486-513.
- Robb DHF, MacLeod M, Hasan MR, Soto D. (2017) Greenhouse gas emissions from aquaculture. A life cycle assessment of three Asian systems. In: p. 101 pp. Rome: Food And Agriculture Organization Of The United Nations.
- Roehm C, Tremblay A (2006) Role of turbines in the carbon dioxide emissions from two boreal reservoirs, Québec, Canada. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 111.
- Roland F, Vidal LO, Pacheco FS, Barros NO, Assireu A, Ometto JPHB, Cimbleris ACP, et al. (2010) Variability of carbon dioxide flux from tropical (Cerrado) hydroelectric reservoirs. *Aquatic Sciences* 72: 283-293.

- Rosa LP, dos Santos MA, Matvienko B, dos Santos EO, Sikar E (2004) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Hydroelectric Reservoirs in Tropical Regions. *Climatic Change* 66: 9-21.
- Rosa LP, Dos Santos MA, Matvienko B, Sikar E, Lourenço Ronaldo Sérgio M, Menezes CF (2003) Biogenic gas production from major Amazon reservoirs, Brazil. *Hydrological Processes* 17: 1443-1450.
- Schrier-Uijl AP, Kroon PS, Leffelaar PA, van Huissteden JC, Berendse F, Veenendaal EM (2010) Methane emissions in two drained peat agro-ecosystems with high and low agricultural intensity. *Plant and Soil* 329: 509-520.
- Schrier-Uijl AP, Veraart AJ, Leffelaar PA, Berendse F, Veenendaal EM (2011) Release of CO₂ and CH₄ from lakes and drainage ditches in temperate wetlands. *Biogeochemistry* 102: 265-279.
- Schubert CJ, Diem T, Eugster W (2012) Methane Emissions from a Small Wind Shielded Lake Determined by Eddy Covariance, Flux Chambers, Anchored Funnels, and Boundary Model Calculations: A Comparison. *Environmental Science & Technology* 46: 4515-4522.
- Selvam P, Natchimuthu S, Arunachalam L, Bastviken D (2014) Methane and carbon dioxide emissions from inland waters in India implications for large scale greenhouse gas balances. *Global Change Biology* 20: 3397-3407.
- Serça D, Deshmukh C, Pighini S, Oudone P, Vongkhamsao A, GuŽ dant P, Rode W, et al. (2016) Nam Theun 2 Reservoir four years after commissioning: significance of drawdown methane emissions and other pathways. *Hydroecol. Appl.* 19: 119-146.
- Shaikh M, Whyte J, Pobre L (2011) *Desktop surveillance of farm dams Đ areas covered by Parkes and Braidwood* 1:100,000 scale maps. Sydney: NSW Dept of Primary Industries, Office of Water.
- Sherman B, Ford P, Hunt D, Drury C (2012) *Reservoir Methane Monitoring and Mitigation Little Nerang and Hinze Dam Case Study*. Brisbane: Urban Water Security Research Alliance.
- Singh SN, Kulshreshtha K, Agnihotri S (2000) Seasonal dynamics of methane emission from wetlands. *Chemosphere Global Change Science* 2: 39-46.
- Sirin AA, Suvorov GG, Chistotin MV, Glagolev MV (2012) Values of methane emission from drainage ditches. *Environmental Dynamics and Global Climate Change* 3: 1-10.
- Smith VH, Tilman GD, Nekola JC (1999) Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution* 100: 179-196.
- Soumis N, Duchemin É, Canuel R, Lucotte, Marc (2004) Greenhouse gas emissions from reservoirs of the western United States. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 18.
- St. Louis VL, Kelly CA, Duchemin É, Rudd JWM, Rosenberg DM (2000) Reservoir Surfaces as Sources of Greenhouse Gases to the Atmosphere: A Global EstimateReservoirs are sources of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere, and their surface areas have increased to the point where they should be included in global inventories of anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases. *BioScience* 50: 766-775.
- Stadmark J, Leonardson L (2005) Emissions of greenhouse gases from ponds constructed for nitrogen removal. *Ecological Engineering* 25: 542-551.
- Strangmann A, Bashan Y, Giani L (2008) Methane in pristine and impaired mangrove soils and its possible effect on establishment of mangrove seedlings. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 44: 511.
- Sturm K, Yuan Z, Gibbes B, Werner U, Grinham A (2014) Methane and nitrous oxide sources and emissions in a subtropical freshwater reservoir, South East Queensland, Australia. *Biogeosciences* 11: 5245-5258.
- Tadonléké RD, Marty J, Planas D (2012) Assessing factors underlying variation of CO₂ emissions in boreal lakes vs. reservoirs. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 79: 282-297.
- Tangen BA, Finocchiaro RG, Gleason RA (2015) Effects of land use on greenhouse gas fluxes and soil properties of wetland catchments in the Prairie Pothole Region of North America. *Sci Total Environ* 533: 391-409.
- Teh YA, Silver WL, Sonnentag O, Detto M, Kelly M, Baldocchi DD (2011) Large Greenhouse Gas Emissions from a Temperate Peatland Pasture. *Ecosystems* 14: 311-325.
- Teodoru CR, Bastien J, Bonneville MC, Giorgio PA, Demarty M, Garneau M, Hélie JF, et al. (2012) The net carbon footprint of a newly created boreal hydroelectric reservoir. *Global Biogeochem Cycles* 26.
- Teodoru CR, Borges AV, Nyambe I (2015) Dynamics of greenhouse gases (CO₂, CH₄, N₂O) along the Zambezi River and major tributaries, and their importance in the riverine carbon budget. *Biogeosciences* 12: 2431-2453.

- Therrien J, Tremblay A, Jacques RB (2005) CO₂ Emissions from Semi-Arid Reservoirs and Natural Aquatic Ecosystems. In. Greenhouse Gas Emissions- Fluxes and Processes: Hydroelectric Reservoirs and Natural Environments (eds. Tremblay, A., Varfalvy, L., Roehm, C. & Garneau, M.).
- Tremblay A, Varfalvy L, Roehm C, Garneau M, Blain D (2005) GHG Emissions from Boreal Reservoirs and Natural Aquatic Ecosystems. In: pp. 209-231. Tremblay, A., L. Varfalvy, C. Roehm & M. Garneau (Eds.). Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Fluxes and Processes, Hydroelectric Reservoirs and Natural Environments. Environmental Science Series, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer.
- van Bergen TJHM (2015) Empirical modelling of temperature effects on the carbon metabolism of a eutrophic city pond. Radboud University Nijmegen.
- Van Den Pol-Van Dasselaar A, Van Beusichem ML, Oenema O (1999) Methane emissions from wet grasslands on peat soil in a nature preserve. *Biogeochemistry* 44: 205-220.
- Vasanth M, Muralidhar M, Saraswathy R, Nagavel A, Dayal JS, Jayanthi M, Lalitha N, et al. (2016) Methodological approach for the collection and simultaneous estimation of greenhouse gases emission from aquaculture ponds. *Environ Monit Assess* 188: 671.
- Venkiteswaran Jason J, Schiff Sherry L, St. Louis Vincent L, Matthews Cory JD, Boudreau Natalie M, Joyce Elizabeth M, Beaty Kenneth G, et al. (2013) Processes affecting greenhouse gas production in experimental boreal reservoirs. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 27: 567-577.
- Vermaat JE, Hellmann F, Dias ATC, Hoorens B, van Logtestijn RSP, Aerts R (2011) Greenhouse Gas Fluxes from Dutch Peatland Water Bodies: Importance of the Surrounding Landscape. *Wetlands* 31: 493.
- Wang D, Chen Z, Sun W, Hu B, Xu S (2009) Methane and nitrous oxide concentration and emission flux of Yangtze Delta plain river net. *Science in China Series B: Chemistry* 52: 652-661.
- WCD (2000) Dams and Development: A New Framework for Decision-Making (World commission on Dams). London: Earthscan.
- West WE, Creamer KP, Jones SE (2016) Productivity and depth regulate lake contributions to atmospheric methane. *Limnology and Oceanography* 61.
- Wik M, Thornton BF, Bastviken D, Uhlbäck J, Crill PM (2016) Biased sampling of methane release from northern lakes: A problem for extrapolation. *Geophysical Research Letters* 43: 1256-1262.
- Wu Y (2012) Greenhouse gas flux from newly created marshes in the drawdown area of the Three Gorges Reservoir. Master Thesis.
- Xiao S, Wang Y, Liu D, Yang Z, Lei D, Zhang C (2013) Diel and seasonal variation of methane and carbon dioxide fluxes at site Guojiaba, the Three Gorges Reservoir. *J Environ Sci (China)* 25: 2065-2071.
- Xiong Y, Wang F, Guo X, Liu F, Dong S (2017) Carbon dioxide and methane fluxes across the sediment-water interface in different grass carp Ctenopharyngodon idella polyculture models. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions* 9: 45-56.
- Yang L, Lu F, Wang X, Duan X, Song W, Sun B, Chen S, et al. (2012) Surface methane emissions from different land use types during various water levels in three major drawdown areas of the Three Gorges Reservoir. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 117.
- Yang L, Lu F, Wang X, Duan X, Song W, Sun B, Zhang Q, et al. (2013) Spatial and seasonal variability of diffusive methane emissions from the Three Gorges Reservoir. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 118: 471-481.
- Yang P, Bastviken D, Lai DYF, Jin BS, Mou XJ, Tong C, Yao YC (2017) Effects of coastal marsh conversion to shrimp aquaculture ponds on CH₄ and N₂O emissions. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*.
- Yang P, He Q, Huang J, Tong C (2015) Fluxes of greenhouse gases at two different aquaculture ponds in the coastal zone of southeastern China. *Atmos Environ* 115: 269-277.
- Yu Z, Wang D, Li Y, Deng H, Hu B, Ye M, Zhou X, et al. (2017) Carbon dioxide and methane dynamics in a human-dominated lowland coastal river network(Shanghai, China). *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 122: 1738-1758.
- Yvon-Durocher G, Allen AP, Bastviken D, Conrad R, Gudasz C, St-Pierre A, Thanh-Duc N, et al. (2014) Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. *Nature* 507: 488-491.
- Zhao Y, Sherman B, Ford P, Demarty M, DelSontro T, Harby A, Tremblay A, et al. (2015) A comparison of methods for the measurement of CO₂ and CH₄ emissions from surface water reservoirs: Results from an international workshop held at Three Gorges Dam, June 2012. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods* 13: 15-29.

- Zhao Y, Wu BF, Zeng Y (2013) Spatial and temporal patterns of greenhouse gas emissions from Three Gorges Reservoir of China. *Biogeosciences* 10: 1219-1230.
- Zhen F. (2012) Greenhouse gas emisison from Three Gorges Reservoir (upper Zhongxian County). Postdoctoral report. In: University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, China.
- Zhu D, Chen H, Yuan X, Wu N, Gao Y, Wu Y, Zhang Y, et al. (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions from the surface of the Three Gorges Reservoir. *Ecological Engineering* 60: 150-154.
- Zhu L, Che X, Liu H, Liu X, Liu C, Chen X, Shi X (2016) Greenhouse gas emissions and comprehensive greenhouse effect potential of Megalobrama amblycephala culture pond ecosystems in a 3-month growing season. *Aquaculture International* 24: 893-902.

References copied from the 2006 IPCC Guidelines

- Duchemin É, Luotte M, Canuel R, Soumis N (2006) First assessment of methane and carbon dioxide emissions from shallow and deep zones of boreal reservoirs upon ice break-up. *Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management* 11: 9-19.
- Goldenfum JA. (2010) GHG Measurement Guidelines for Freshwater Reservoirs. In: p. 138. London: The International Hydropower Association (IHA).